Mansour Ghorbanpour Ajit Varma *Editors*

Medicinal Plants and Environmental Challenges



Medicinal Plants and Environmental Challenges

Mansour Ghorbanpour · Ajit Varma Editors

Medicinal Plants and Environmental Challenges



Editors Mansour Ghorbanpour Department of Medicinal Plants Arak University Arak Iran

Ajit Varma Amity Institute of Microbial Technology Amity University Noida, Uttar Pradesh India

ISBN 978-3-319-68716-2 ISBN 978-3-319-68717-9 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-68717-9

Library of Congress Control Number: 2017954481

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017, corrected publication 2018

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Printed on acid-free paper

This Springer imprint is published by Springer Nature The registered company is Springer International Publishing AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland The original version of the book was revised: New chapter has been added at the end. The erratum to this book is available at https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-68717-9_22

Contents

Importance of Medicinal and Aromatic Plants in Human Life Mansour Ghorbanpour, Javad Hadian, Shahab Nikabadi and Ajit Varma	1
Introduction to Environmental Challenges in All Over the World Azadeh Kazemi and Mansour Ghorbanpour	25
Rarity of Endemic Medicinal Plants and Role of Herbaria for Their Conservation Against Environmental Challenges Rizwana Khanum	49
Metabolic Responses of Medicinal Plants to Global Warming, Temperature and Heat Stress Shabir H. Wani, Nisha Kapoor and Ritu Mahajan	69
Effects of Toxic Gases, Ozone, Carbon Dioxide, and Wastes on Plant Secondary Metabolism Vinay Kumar, Tushar Khare, Sagar Arya, Varsha Shriram and Shabir H. Wani	81
Plant Secondary Metabolites and Some Plant Growth Regulators Elicited by UV Irradiation, Light And/Or Shade Zornitsa Katerova, Dessislava Todorova and Iskren Sergiev	97
Effect of Climate Change on Algae Valuable Source of Medicinal Natural Compounds Morteza Yousefzadi and Mohammad Hossein Mirjalili	123
Metabolic and Hormonal Responses of Plants to Cold Stress Joanna Lado and Matías Manzi	137
The Impact of Drought Stress on the Quality of Spice and Medicinal Plants Dirk Selmar, Maik Kleinwächter, Sara Abouzeid, Mahdi Yahyazadeh and Melanie Nowak	159

Effect of Salinity Stress on Growth and Physiology of Medicinal Plants	177
Aditya Banerjee and Aryadeep Roychoudhury	
Heavy Metal-Mediated Changes in Growth and Phytochemicals of Edible and Medicinal Plants Shohreh Fahimirad and Mehrnaz Hatami	189
Horizontal Natural Product Transfer: A so Far Unconsidered Source of Contamination of Medicinal Plants	215
Strategies for Enhancing Artemisinin Production in Artemisia annuaUnder Changing EnvironmentM. Naeem, Tariq Aftab and M. Masroor A. Khan	227
Plant Nanobionics a Novel Approach to Overcome the Environmental Challenges	247
Medicinal Plants: Influence of Environmental Factors on the Content of Secondary Metabolites Cristine Vanz Borges, Igor Otavio Minatel, Hector Alonzo Gomez-Gomez and Giuseppina Pace Pereira Lima	259
The Most Important Fungal Diseases Associated with Some Useful Medicinal Plants Faezehossadat Abtahi and Seydeh Lavin Nourani	279
Weed and Weeding Effects on Medicinal Herbs	295
Medicinal Plant Diseases Caused by Nematodes Faezehossadat Abtahi and Mansoureh Bakooie	329
Plant Derived Essential Oils Against Aedes aegypti L. and TheirBiotechnological ProductionClarice Noleto Dias, Ludmilla Santos Silva de Mesquita,Denise Fernandes Coutinho and Sonia Malik	345
Adaptation Strategies and Defence Mechanisms of Plants DuringEnvironmental StressE. Lamalakshmi Devi, Sudhir Kumar, T. Basanta Singh,Susheel K. Sharma, Aruna Beemrote, Chingakham Premabati Devi,S.K. Chongtham, Chongtham Henary Singh, Rupert Anand Yumlembam,A. Haribhushan, N. Prakash and Shabir H. Wani	359

Contents

Biotechnological Approaches for In Vitro Conservation of Picrorhiza	
kurroa Royle ex Benth	415
Ritu Mahajan and Nisha Kapoor	
Erratum to: Medicinal Plants and Environmental Challenges	E1
Mansour Ghorbanpour and Ajit Varma	

Importance of Medicinal and Aromatic Plants in Human Life

Mansour Ghorbanpour, Javad Hadian, Shahab Nikabadi and Ajit Varma

Abstract The plant kingdom includes a high number of species, producing a diversity of bioactive molecules with different chemical scaffolds. Over the centuries, the use of medicinal and aromatic plants has become an important part of daily life despite the progress in modern medical and pharmaceutical industry. They are now being progressively cosmetics, foods and teas, as well as alternative medicines. The growing interest in herbs and their ability to offer economical uses is a part of the movement towards greener economics and life styles. This movement is based on the belief that the plants have a vast potential for their use as a curative medicine. Medicinal and aromatic plants will also maintain their importance in the search for new, valuable sources of drugs and lead compounds. In view of the steadily rising demands on these important natural resources, attention should be paid to the sustainable forms of production and utilization.

Keywords Medicinal and aromatic plants • Phytochemicals • Traditional-/modern medicine

M. Ghorbanpour (🖂)

J. Hadian Medicinal Plants and Drugs Research Institute, ShahidBeheshti University, G. C., Evin, Tehran, Iran

S. Nikabadi

A. Varma Amity Institute of Microbial Technology, Amity University Uttar Pradesh, Fourth Floor, E-3 Block, Sector 125, Noida 201303, UP, India e-mail: ajitvarma@amity.edu

Department of Medicinal Plants, Faculty of Agriculture and Natural Resources, Arak University, 38156-8-8349 Arak, Iran e-mail: m-ghorbanpour@araku.ac.ir

School of Plant Biology, Faculty of Natural and Agricultural Science, University of Western Australia, Crawley, WA 6009, Australia

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017 M. Ghorbanpour and A. Varma (eds.), *Medicinal Plants and Environmental Challenges*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-68717-9_1

Introduction

With the emergence of human civilization, plants have been the main source to cure, heal and alleviate various diseases. Medicinal plants belong to a big plant group with a great interest due to its pharmaceutical, cosmetic and nutritional values (Abdul Rasool Hassan 2012). The synthesize compounds of these plants are useful to preserve the health in humans and animals. These include aromatic substances, such as phenols or their oxygen-substituted derivatives which is called tannins. Plants have an almost limitless ability to synthesize aromatic substances mainly secondary metabolites, of which at least 12,000 have been isolated, a number estimated to be less than 10% of the total. These compounds are usually served as the molecules of plant defense against predation by microorganisms, insects, and herbivores.

Many of the herbs and spices used by humans to season food yield useful medicinal compounds. The demand for medicinal plants is currently increasing in both developed and developing countries for various reasons.

In some, it would be the growing recognition that natural products have fewer or even no side effects; for others, however it would be their accessibility and affordable costs that would tip the scales. Medicinal and aromatic plants can be processed to become essential oils through distillation, however, their cut flower marketing and the plants parts are in demand.

They are used in pharmacy, cosmetology, perfumes and the food industry among others. With increased demands for the available resources, a number of important plant species have become scarce in areas where they were previously abundant. When the collection and use is not regulated, some species may become threatened with extinction. In recent years, the use of medicinal and aromatic plants has increased greatly in western countries, India and China. In Europe, at least 2000 medicinal and aromatic plants species are traded commercially.

Medicinal plants have a promising future because there are about half million plants around the world, and most of their pharmaceutical capability have not investigated yet, which should be in demand of the present and future studies.

Therapeutic Importance of Phytochemicals

Plants have evolved to synthesize an extremely diverse range of chemical compounds known as secondary metabolites. These secondary metabolites have no apparent role in primary plant growth and development processes, so they are unique to plants from a single species and increase during times of high stress such as drought, temperature and bacterial infection (Taiz and Zeiger 2006). Many of these compounds exhibit anti-microbial, anti-oxidant, cytotoxic and other medicinally useful properties (Taiz and Zeiger 2006). These activities can be attributed to the presence of a variety of phytochemical constituents, which can be divided into three main chemically distinct groups: terpenes, phenolics and nitrogen containing compounds (alkaloids). The following is a brief presentation of the main chemical compositions of medicinal plants.

Glycosides

The glycosides are the products of secondary metabolism including various categories of secondary metabolites which bounded to mono or oligosaccharide and to uronic aid. The saccharide or uronic acid part is called glycone, and the other part is aglycone. The aglycon may be a terpene, flavonoid, coumarine or any other natural products. The main groups of glycosides (based on chemical nature of aglycon and pharmacological activity) are cardiac glycosides, cyanogenic glycosides, glucosinolates, saponins and anthraquinone glycosides. However, flavonoids are frequently occurred as glycosides.



The cardiac glycosides or cardenolides are a family of steroids that bind and inhibit the intracellular Na^+/K^+ -ATPase pumps in the membrane of cells with high selectivity and affinity. These intracellular pumps are critical for the cardiac cells' function and their effects are really remarkable on the heart which leads to contractility increase and rate reduction.

Thus, cardio glycosidic plants are commonly used in the treatment of heart failure and cardiac arrhythmia. Cardioactive glycosides are found in a diverse group of plant species including *Digitalis purpura* and *D. lanata* (Scrophulariaceae), *Nerium oleander* (Apocynaceae) and *Convallaria majalis* (Convallariaceae) (Oerther 2011; Bernhoft 2010).

The cyanogenic glycosides or cyanoglycosides have aglycones derived from amino acids. These compounds are usually interfered with the iodine utilization and result in hypothyroidism. Cyanogenic glycosides can become very toxic and lethal in high dosage, when hydrogen cyanide (HCN) release. Cyanogenic glycosides with at least 2500 taxa are relatively id in plant kingdom. Most of the taxa belong to families Fabaceae, Rosaceae (in particular in *Prunus* spp.), Linaceae, Compositae and others (Vetter 2000).

The glucosinolates (*S*-glucopyranosylthiohydroximates) contain sulphurcontaining, pungent amino acid-derived a glycones. They are enzymatically hydrolyzed to produce sulfate ions, D-glucose, and characteristic degradation products such as isothiocyanates (Ishida et al. 2014). The compounds show a complex set of effects on cytochrome P450 isoforms in various cells and tend to decrease hepatic bioactivation of environmental procarcinogens. The glucosinolates cause skin irritation and also induce hypothyroidism and goitre. The Brassicaceae, Capparidaceae and Resedaceae are the main family associated with glucosinolate production.

The saponin glycosides are large molecules with a hydrophilic glycone and a hydrophobic aglycone, which give emulsifying properties and can be used as detergents. In addition, saponins exert a wide range of pharmacological activities including expectorant, anti inflammatory, vasoprotective, hypocholesterolemic, immunomodulatory, hypoglycemic, molluscicidal, antifungal, antiparasitic and many others (Sparg et al. 2004; Sahu et al. 2008). Plants rich in saponins, like *Panax ginseng* or *Glycyrrhiza glabra*, have been used for medicinal purposes since ancient times (Fiore et al. 2005) and to date continue to play a significant role not only in medicine but also in food and cosmetic industry, where they are utilized as emulsifiers or sweeteners (Guçlu-Ustundag and Mazza 2007). Saponins are also use as adjuvants in the production of vaccines (Sun et al. 2009). Aglycone component of anthraquinone glycosides is a polyhydroxyanthraquinone derivative.

Anthraquinone glycosides are generally orange, red, or brown-red compounds found in fairly limited distribution within the plant kingdom. In Polygonaceae (dock family) for instance, they could be found in *Rumex crispus* (curly dock) and *Rheum* spp. (rhubarbs). Their primary effect is induction of water and electrolyte secretion as well as peristalsis in colon.

Flavonoids and Proanthocyanidins

Flavonoids consist of a large group of polyphenolic compounds with a benzo- γ pyrone structure, which are ubiquitously observed in plants. Proanthocyanidins are oligomers of flavonoids. Both groups of compounds can occur as glycosides and methylated derivatives. Flavonoids are the most common and widely distributed group of plant phenolic compounds, occurring virtually in all plant parts, particularly the photosynthesis plant cells (Kumar and Pandey 2013). All compounds contain phenol-groups involved in an effect as general antioxidant. Other actions are diverse-several structures reduce inflammation or carcinogenicity. The group isoflavones are primarily known as phytoestrogens. Flavonoids and proanthocyanidins are all pigments occurring in a long range of plant families. Isoflavones are produced by species of Fabaeceae (bean family).



Tannins

Tannins are distinctive group of polyphenolic polymers found widely in the plant kingdom. They are usually classified into two categories (on the basis of their structure and reactivity).

The first group is condensed tannins which have no carbohydrate core and comprise a group of polyhydroxy-flavan-3-ol oligomers and polymers linked by carbon-carbon bonds between flavanol subunits. The second group are hydrolysable tannins which are polyesters of gallic acid (gallo tannins) and hexahydroxy-diphenic acid (ellagitannins) with a central polyols such as sugars/glucose and phenolic such as catechin. The two types of tannins have most properties in common, but hydrolysable tannins are less stable and have greater potential to cause toxicity. The water solubility is restricted and decrease in general with the size of the tannin molecule. Tannins indiscriminately bind to proteins and larger tannins are used as astringents in cases of diarrhoea, skin bleedings and transudates. Condensed tannins are the most widely distributed tannins in vascular plants. However, hydrolyzable tannins are restricted to the dicotyledons (Bernays et al. 1989). Examples of plant families associated with presence of tannins are Fagaceae (beech family) and Polygonaceae (knotweed family).



Terpenoids and Phenylpropanoids

Terpenoids, also referred to as isoprenoids or isopentenoids, represent the largest and most diverse category of chemicals among the myriad compounds produced by plants (Tholl 2015). The terpenoids are synthesized via the five-carbon building block isoprene. Based on the number of the building blocks, terpenoids are commonly classified as hemiterpenes (C_5), monoterpenes (C_{10}), sesquiterpenes (C_{15}), diterpenes (C_{20}), sesterpenes (C_{25}), triterpenes (C_{30}), tetraterpenes (C_{40}), polyterpenes (> C_{40}) (Ashour et al. 2010; Martin et al. 2003). The less diverse phenylpropanoid are based on a nine carbon skeleton and are synthesized via another pathway. Plant-based terpenoids are very lipophilic and tend to have strong flavors, which traditionally have been used by humans in the food, pharmaceutical, and chemical industries, and more recently exploited for development of biofuel products. Among these terpenoids, taxol (diterpene) of *Taxus baccata* and artemisinin (sesquiterpene lactone) from *Artemisia annua* are well known antineoplastic and antimalarial agents (Croteau et al. 2006; Pollier et al. 2011).



Resins

The resins are complex lipid-soluble mixtures-usually both non-volatile and volatile compounds (Langenheim 2003). The non-volatile fraction may consist of diterpenoid and triterpenoid compounds, and mono- and sequiterpenoids predominate in the volatile fraction. Resins are poorly defined chemically, however, isoprene (C₅H₈) units are the fundamental building blocks of all true resins. Most typical resins are secreted by a number of plants, especially pines and other conifers and are a major non-wood product of forests, but resins are also present in herbaceous plants (mainly in seed bearing plants). They are all sticky and the fluidity depends on their contents of volatile compounds. The plant resins are used widespread as adhesives, ingredients of cosmetic preparations, as fragrances in daily rituals and religious ceremonies, as coating materials and as remedies in folk medicine (Langenheim 2003; Bernhoft 2010). Most resins are antimicrobial and wound healing, but their actions depend on the composition of the chemical mixture. Today resins are used in the manufacture of a wide range of products including paints and lacquers, rubber, soaps, linoleum, essential oils, furniture polishes and pesticides.

Lignans

Lignans are a class of secondary plant metabolites produced by oxidative dimerization of two phenylpropanoid units at the β and β' carbon atoms. Although their molecular backbone consists only of two phenylpropanoid (C6-C3) units, lignans show an enormous structural diversity (Saleem et al. 2005). They are derived from the shikimic acid biosynthetic pathway (Imai et al. 2006). Lignans are present at highest concentrations in oil seeds (e.g., flax, soy, rapeseed and sesame), but are also found in other parts of a long range of plants of different families. Several lignans show clinical activity as phytoestrogenic, cathartic or antineoplastic effects. The plant lignans most commonly detected in foods are lariciresinol, matairesinol, pinoresinol and secoisolariciresinol (Thompson et al. 2006).

Alkaloids

The alkaloids are a diverse group of low-molecular-weight, nitrogen-containing compounds, usually with potent activity and bitter taste found in about 20% of flowering plants, and are especially common in some families such as Fabaceae,

Liliaceae, Solanaceae and Ranunculaceae. Compared with other classes of natural compounds, alkaloids are characterized by a great structural diversity and there is no uniform classification of alkaloids. The various groups of alkaloids have diverse biological and pharmacological properties.

Tropane alkaloids consist of over 200 known compounds with a tropane ring in their structures, such as the anticholinergic drugs atropine and scopolamine and the stimulant cocaine (Lounasmaa and Tamminen 1993). Poisonous Solanaceae family plants, presently classified as genera: Atropa, Brugmansia, Datura, Duboisia, Hyoscyamus and Scopolia, with many alkaloid-containing species (Griffin and Lin 2000; Ghorbanpour et al. 2013), were well known already in ancient times, and records of their employment in folk medicine of various ethnic groups are abundant (Sneader 2005a, b). The compounds have anticholinergic activity (muscarine receptor antagonists) and are used medically to reduce smooth muscle spasms, hypersecretion and pain.

Pyrrolizidine alkaloids are considered to be important secondary metabolites largely on account of their biological activities, which include acute hepatotoxic, mutagenic, carcinogenic, teratogenic, anticancer properties and neuroactive properties (Asres et al. 2004). Pyrrolizidine alkaloids are produced in Asteraceae (daisy family), particularly in *Senecio* spp. (Ragworts) and in Boraginaceae (borage family).

The isoquinoline alkaloids are a large class of medicinally active alkaloids whose properties are variable. Their properties include being antispasmodic, antimicrobial, antitumour, antifungal, anti-inflammatory, cholagogue, hepatoprotective, antiviral, amoebicidal, anti-oxidant and can act as enzyme inhibitors. This class notably includes morphine and codeine. They are typically found in the Papaveraceae, Berberidaceae and Ranunculaceae families. They are derived from the amino acids phenylalanine or tyrosine.

Compared with other plant alkaloids, purine alkaloids are distributed widely throughout the plant kingdom although accumulation of high concentrations is restricted to a limited number of species, including *Coffea arabica* (coffee), *Camellia sinensis* (tea) and *Theobroma cacao*(cacao) (Ashihara and Crozier 1999).

Compounds called pseudoalkaloids most often have all of the chemical characteristics of the true alkaloids, however, they are not derived from amino acids. They are produced by species in Apiaceae (carrot family) for instance *Cicuta virosa* (cowbane), *Conium maculatum* (hemlock), and in Taxaceae (yew family) for instance *Taxus baccata* (yew). The pseudoalkaloids in *Cicutavirosa* and *Conium maculatum* have effects on the central nervous system and taxine in yews like *T. baccata* inhibits the ion transport of the hearth.



Important Plant Families Having Given Molecules/Drugs of Importance

Plants of commercial importance (e.g. Apiaceae, Apocynaceae, Araliaceae, Araceae, Asphodelaceae, Asteraceae, Ginkgoaceae, Hypericaceae, Lamiaceae, Papaveraceae, Piperaceae, Rhamnaceae, Rubiaceae, Rutaceae, Solanaceae and Zingiberaceae) serve as main sources of pharmaceutically active compounds (Gurib-Fakim 2006). In this chapter, the pharmaceutically most important families are highlighted, especially those that have yielded many, or very important, botanical drugs.

Apiaceae (Umbelliferae)

The flowering plant family Apiaceae (Umbelliferae) comprises 300–455 genera and some 3000–3750 species (Pimenov and Leonov 1993). It is cosmopolitan, being particularly abundant in the northern hemisphere. Members of this family are often rich in essential oil, which is one of the main reasons for the pharmaceutical importance for many of the apiaceous drugs.

Important medicinal plants in the family and their uses are the following (Gurib-Fakim 2006):

- Carum carvi L. (caraway), a carminative and also important as a spice.
- Coriandrum sativum L. (coriander), a carminative and also important as a spice.
- Foeniculum vulgare Miller (fennel), a mild carminative.
- Levisticum officinale Koch (lovage), a carminative and antidyspeptic.
- Pimpinella anisum L. (anise-fruit), an expectorant, spasmolytic and carminative.

Apocynaceae

Apocynaceae is a family of flowering plants that includes trees, shrubs, herbs, stem succulents, and vines, commonly called the dogbane family (Endress and Bruyns 2000). This family has wide distribution both in temperate and tropical regions of the world. Among the world famous species is the Rosy Periwinkle (*Catharanthus roseus*). Members of this family are well known for their alkaloidal contents with potent pharmacological activity.

Araliaceae

Araliaceae include 43 genera and almost 1400 species. Majority of them are prone to be grown in the tropical zones of both hemisphere, and are rarely observed in temperate climates.

Important medicinal plants from the family:

- *Hedera helix* L. [(common) ivy], used as a cough remedy. The *H. helix* leaves contain saponins, flavonoids, phenolic acids, emetine alkaloid, amino acids, sterols, proteins, vitamins, polyacetylenes, etc. (Parvu et al. 2015).
- *Panax ginseng* C.A. Meyer (ginseng), used as an adaptogene (a very ill-defined category) to combat mental and physical stress [and sometimes replaced by *Eleutherococcus (Acanthopanax) senticosus* (Rupr and Maxim) Maxim from the same family]. The triterpenoids (ginsengosides) are implicated in the pharmacological effects of *P. ginseng*, while saponins (hederasaponins) are used for the secretolytic effect of *H. helix*.

Palmaceae (Arecaceae)

The palms which comprises of approximately 2700 species are almost exclusively woody and is an important family as it includes many species widely used as food, and over the past years at least one of its members has become medicinally important.

The *Serenoa repens* (Sawpalmetto) is now being used for difficulty in micturition in benign prostate hyperplasia in the early stages. The accumulation of polyphenols, some relatively simple alkaloids (especially pyridine derivatives), steroidal saponins, fatty acids [coconut (*Cocos nucifera* L.) and oil palm (*Elaeis guineensis* Jacq.)] is typical. The pharmaceutical use of the Sawpalmetto seems to be due to the presence of a relatively large amount of the triterpenoid- β -sitosterol (Gurib-Fakim 2006).

Asphodelaceae

This family are often included in the Liliaceae (lily family). This family, with about 600 species, are widely distributed in South Africa and some species occur in the Mediterranean regions (Gurib-Fakim 2006). The best-known members in this family are *Aloe vera* (L.) Burman f. (syn. *Aloe barbadensis*, Barbardos aloe) and *A. ferox* Miller (Cape aloe), both strong purgatives. The genus Aloe is characterized by the presence of polysaccharides accumulating in the leaves as well as anthranoids and anthraglycosides (aloe-emodin), which are responsible for the species' laxative effects.

Asteraceae (Compositae)

This large family comprises of some 25,000 species and 1400 genera and is distributed and well represented in most ecosystems except for Antarctica (Gurib-Fakim 2006). A typical chemical trait of this family is the presence of polyfructanes (especially inulin) as storage carbohydrates (instead of polysaccharides) in perennial taxa. Important medicinal plants from the family are the following:

- Arnica Montana L. (arnica), used topically, especially for bruises.
- *Artemisia absinthum* L. (wormwood or absinthium), used as a bitter tonic and choleretic.
- *Calendula officinalis* L. (marigold), used topically, especially for some skin afflictions.
- *Cnicus benedictus* L. (cnicus), used as a cholagogue (a bitter aromatic stimulant).
- *Cynara scolymus* L. (artichoke), used in the treatment of liver and gallbladder complaints and several other conditions.
- *Echinacea angustifolia* DC., *E. pallid* Nuttall and *E. purpurea* (L.) Moench (Cone flower), now commonly used as an immunostimulant.
- *Matricaria recutita* L. (chamomille/camomille; several botanical synonyms are also commonly used, including *Chamomilla recutita* and *Matricaria chamomilla*).
- Tussilago farfara L. (coltsfoot), a now little used expectorant and demulcent.

Ginkgoaceae

This is one of the most ancient families of the seed bearing plants and had been widely distributed during the Mesozoic (180 million years ago). Only one species namely *Ginkgo biloba* L. has survived phytochemically, this plant is characterized by the presence of the gingkolides, which are unusual two-ringed diterpenoids with three lactone functions. Biflavones and glycosylated flavonoids are other groups of typical natural products.



Hypericaceae

This family of some 900 species, are pharmaceutical importance because of St. John's wort (*Hypericum perforatum* L.), which in the last decade of the 20th century became one of the most important medicinal plants in modern medicine.

The former name Guttiferae is an important indicator of a characteristic chemical feature: the presence of resins, balsam and other glands containing excretory products. For example, the hypericin glands, with red colour, are present especially in the flowers and contain naphthodianthrones, including hypericin (a naphthodianthrone) and pseudohypericin, which are characteristic for some sections of the genus. Typical for the family in general are also xanthones (found nearly exclusively in this family and in the Gentianaceae). The genus is known to accumulate flavonoids and their glycosides (rutoside, hyperoside), as well as hyperforin (a lipophilic phloroglucinol) and its derivatives (Barnes et al. 2001), which are derived from the terpenoid pathway.



Lamiaceae

The Lamiaceae is a family yielding a high number of medicinal taxa (over 5000 species), especially due to their high content of essential oil. Important medicinal plants from the family are as below:

- Lavandula angustifolia Miller (lavender), a mild carminative and spasmolytic.
- Melissa officinalis L. (balm), a mild sedative, carminative and spasmolytic.
- *Mentha arvensis* L. var. *piperascens* Malinvaud (Japanese mint), yields a commonly used essential oil (e.g. for respiratory problems).
- *Mentha piperita* L. (peppermint), a commonly used carminative and spasmolytic and a hybrid between *M. spicata* L. and *M. aquatic* L.
- *Mentha spicata* L. (spearmint), commonly used in toothpaste and chewing gum, with mild carminative effects.
- Rosmarinus officinalis L. (rosemary), a carminative and spasmolytic.
- *Salvia officinalis* L. (sage), used as a topical antiseptic (gargling) and orally as a carminative and spasmolytic.
- Thymus vulgaris L. (thyme), a carminative and spasmolytic.

Some segments of the family are known to accumulate monoterpenoid glycosides. Many species also accumulate rosmarinic acid (and other derivatives of caffeic acid. Besides the antioxidant potential, rosmarinic acid has been reported to present a multitude of pharmacological and biological activities (Amoah et al. 2016).

Papaveraceae

The Papaveraceae are an economically important family of about 42 genera and approximately 775 known species, has produced a multitude of pharmacologically or toxicologically important genera (e.g. chelidonium, glaucium, papaver). This family is particularly rich in the isoquinoline alkaloids including morphine, papaverine, codeine, thebaine and noscapine. Other alkaloids present include the benzylisoquinoline such as papaverine (vasodilator and smooth muscle relaxant) and noscapine (antitussive and antitumorogenic) (Dewick 2002; Schmeller and Wink 1998). The two most important medicinal plants from the family are:

- *Chelidonium majus* L. (greater celandine), which yields the alkaloid chelidonine, employed as a cholagogue.
- *Papaver somniferum* L. [(opium) poppy], which yields a multitude of pharmacologically active alkaloids and is a well-known and dangerous narcotic.



Noscapine

Piperaceae

The Pepper family consists of herbs and shrubs comprise some 2000 species is mostly restricted in the tropics.

Important medicinal plants from the family are the following:

- *Piper methysticum* Forster f. (kava-kava), traditionally used as a mild stimulant in Oceania and now used for conditions of nervous anxiety; recent reports of liver toxicity has resulted in withdrawal in many countries.
- *Piper nigrum* L. (black and white pepper), occasionally used in rubefacient preparations and as a spice.

Some of the isolated molecules from the family are:

Pungent acidic amides, such as piperine, are known from several members of this family, and sometimes essential oil is present. The α -pyrone derivatives (e.g. kavain) from *P. methysticum* are another group of commonly found compounds known from species of Piper.

Rhamnaceae

This family consists of 50 genera and more than 900 species. This family has a worldwide distribution but is more common in the tropical and subtropical regions of the world. The family is best known pharmaceutically because some taxa accumulate anthraquinones. Also alkaloids of the benzylisoquinoline type and the cyclo-peptide type are known from many taxa.

Important medicinal plants from the family are:

• *Rhamnus purshiana* DC. (American cascara) and *R. frangula* L. (syn. *Frangula alnus*, European alder, buckthorn), both used as strong purgatives (Gurib-Fakim 2006).

Rubiaceae

This large family of over 10,000 species has yielded one of the most important stimulants, coffee (*Coffea arabica* L. and *C. canephora* Pierre ex Froehner) and one of the first and most important medicinal plants brought over from the 'New World', cinchona bark.

The family is known for a large diversity of classes of natural products, including iridoids (a group of monoterpenoids), alkaloids (including indole alkaloids such asquinine from *Cinchona* spp.), methylxanthines such as caffeine, theobromine and theophylline, and anthranoidsin some taxa (e.g. the now obsolete medicinal plant *Rubia tinctorum*, which was withdrawn because of its genotoxic effect).

Important medicinal plants from the family are:

• *Cinchona succirubra* Weddell, *C. calisaya* Weddell and *Cinchona* spp. (cinchona, Peruvian bark), used as a bitter tonic, febrifuge and against malaria.

Rutaceae

This family comprises of 1700 species distributed throughout the world however the tropics are particularly rich in them (Gurib-Fakim 2006). The family includes some of the most important fruit bearing plants known: the genus Citrus with orange, lemon, lime, mandarin, grapefruit, etc.

Essential oil is common in many taxa (Citrus, Ruta) and can be found in lysigenous secretory cavities in the parenchyma and pericarp. Alkaloids are also frequently found, especially benzyl tetrahydroisoquinoline, acridone and imidazole types (pilocarpine). The acridone alkaloids have so far only been reported from the Rutaceae. Other groups of natural products typically encountered are furano- and pyranocoumarins (e.g. bergapten from *Citrus aurantium* sub sp. *bergamia*, used to flavour Earl Grey tea), as well as simple coumarins.

Important medicinal plants from the family are:

- *Pilocarpus jaborandi* Holmes and *Pilocarpus* spp. (pilocarpus), for the isolation of pilocarpine, which is used in ophthalmology.
- *Ruta graveolens* L., formerly widely used as an emmenagogue and spasmolytic, shows strong phototoxic side effects. Many species (especially of the genus *Citrus*) are aromatic and used in foods, pharmacy and perfumery.

Solanaceae

Solanaceae with 2600 species includes some of the most important staples-the Potato (*Solanum tuberosum*) and several other medicinal and toxic plants, known for the highly active natural products. Typical for the family are alkaloids, especially of the tropane, nicotine and steroidal type. Many taxa are characterized by oxalic acid, which often forms typical structures (e.g. sand-like in *Atropa belladonna*, irregular crystals in *Datura stramonium*).

Important medicinal plants from the family are:

• Atropa belladonna L. (deadly nightshade, atropa), Datura stramonium L. (stramonium) and Hyoscyamus niger L. (henbane), which yield alkaloids with spasmolytic and anticholinergic properties; atropine is used in ophthalmology.

Zingiberaceae

This family are distributed in tropical regions and rich in essential oils with terpenes (borneol, camphene and cineole (all oxygenated monoterpenes), sesquiterpenes (zingiberene) and phenyl propanoid derivatives (cinnamic acid derivatives). Important medicinal plants from this family are as follows (Gurib-Fakim 2006):

- Curcuma zanthorrhiza Roxburgh (Temulawak, Javanese turmeric).
- *Curcuma longa* L. (syn. *C. domestica*, turmeric), a commonly used spice and popular remedy used, for example, for inflammatory, liver diseases, and in most Asian medical systems for a large variety of illnesses.
- *Elettaria cardamomum* (L.) Maton (cardamom), which is mostly used as a spice but also as a medicine.
- Zingiber officinale Roscoe (ginger), used for a large variety of illnesses, including travel sickness, respiratory and gastrointestinal disorders.

Medicinal, Pharmacological and Industrial Applications of Medicinal Plants

The fact that plant organisms produce chemical substances cause a positive or negative interfere with plant's processes which can regulate human life based on what has been reported since ancient time. The value of medicinal plants and their molecules with therapeutic potential have historically proven, and nowadays still represent an important pool for the identification of novel drug leads.

Traditional Medicine

Traditional medicine refers to health practices, approaches, skills, knowledge and beliefs incorporating plant, animal and mineral based medicines, spiritual therapies, manual techniques and exercises, applied singularly or in combination of treat, diagnose and prevent illnesses or maintain well-being.

The first written records on medicinal applications of plants date back to 2600 BC which report the existence of a sophisticated medicinal system in Mesopotamia, comprising about 1000 plant-derived medicines. Egyptian medicine dates back to about 2900 BC, however, its most useful preserved record is the "Ebers Papyrus" from about 1550 BC, containing more than 700 drugs, mainly of plant origin (Borchardt 2002; Cragg and Newman 2013; Sneader 2005a, b). Traditional Chinese medicine has been extensively documented over thousands of years (Unschuld 1986), and the documentation of the Indian Ayurveda system dates back to the 1st millennium BC (Patwardhan 2005).

Up to know, millions of people around the world consume plant-based medicines as part of traditional medicine for a range of medical disorders. The use of traditional medicine in developing countries contributes directly to the socio-economic status and well-being of the rural communities (Tabuti et al. 2003; Chiranjibi et al. 2006). People especially herbalists and traditional healers generate income from medicinal plants.

Countries in Africa, Asia and Latin America use traditional medicine to help meet some of their primary health care needs. In Africa, up to 80% of the population uses traditional medicine for primary health care. In industrialized countries, adaptations of traditional medicine are termed "complementary" or "alternative".

To promote the proper use of traditional medicine/complementary or alternative, WHO has elaborated a Traditional Medicine Strategy (WHO 1998, 2002) that focuses on Policy, Safety/Quality/Efficacy, Access and Rational use of traditional medicine/complementary or alternative. The strategy aims to support Member States in developing proactive policies and implementing action plans that will strengthen the role traditional medicine plays in keeping populations healthy.

Traditional medicine has maintained its popularity in all regions of the developing world and its use is rapidly spreading in industrialized countries:

- In China, traditional herbal preparations account for 30–50% of the total medicinal consumption.
- In Ghana, Mali, Nigeria and Zambia, the first line of treatment for 60% of children with high fever resulting from malaria is the use of herbal medicines at home.
- WHO estimates that in several African countries traditional birth attendants assist in the majority of births.
- In Europe, North America and other industrialized regions, over 50% of the population have used complementary or alternative medicine at least once.
- In San Francisco, London and South Africa, 75% of people living with HIV/AIDS use TM/CAM.
- 70% of the population in Canada has used complementary medicine at least once.
- In Germany, 90% of the population has used a natural remedy at some point in their life. Between 1995 and 2000, the number of doctors who had undergone special training in natural remedy medicine had almost doubled to 10,800.
- In the United States, 158 million of the adult population use complementary medicines and according to the USA Commission for Alternative and Complementary medicines, US\$17 billion was spent on traditional remedies in 2000.
- In the United Kingdom, annual expenditure on alternative medicine is US\$230 million.
- The global market for herbal medicines currently stands at over US\$60 billion annually and is growing steadily (http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/ 2003/fs134/en/).

Phytotherapy

Herbalism (also herbal medicine or phytotherapy) is the study of botany and use of plants intended for medicinal purposes or for supplementing a diet. Plants have been the basis for medical treatments through much of human history, and such traditional medicine is still widely practiced today. Modern medicine recognizes herbalism as a form of alternative medicine, as the practice of herbalism is not strictly based on evidence gathered using the scientific method. Modern medicine makes use of many plant-derived compounds as the basis for evidence-based pharmaceutical drugs.

Closely related to herbalism, phytotherapy is the intended medical use of plants and plant extracts for therapeutic purposes (Heinrich 2016; Capasso et al. 2003). A possible differentiation with herbalism is that phytotherapy may require constituents in the plant extract be standardized by adhering to a minimum content of one or several active compounds in the therapeutic product (Heinrich 2016).

Modern phytotherapy may use conventional methods to assess herbal drug quality, although more typically relies on modern processes like high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC), gas chromatography (GC), ultraviolet/visible spectrophotometry or atomic absorption spectroscopy to identify species, measure bacteriological contamination, assess potency, and create certificates of analysis for the material (Gad et al. 2013). Phytotherapy is distinct from homeopathy and anthroposophic medicine, and avoids mixing plant and synthetic bioactive substances.

Aromatherapy

The use of plants for therapeutic purposes has always been in human life, and is still valid despite the vast power and responsibility of the pharmaceutical chemistry, mainly based on the active principles of synthesis.

Nowadays, use of alternative and complementary therapies with mainstream medicine has gained the momentum. Aromatherapy is one of the complementary therapies which use essential oils as the major therapeutic agents to treat several diseases. The essential or volatile oils are extracted from the flowers, barks, stem, leaves, roots, fruits and other parts of the plant by various methods. This therapy is a natural way of healing a person's mind, body and soul (Worwood 2000). Literature survey reveals that this therapy has gained a lot of attention in the late 20th century and has become very popular in the 21st century due to its importance, popularity and widespread use, it is recognized as aroma science therapy (Esposito et al. 2014). These aroma molecules are very potent organic plant chemicals that make the surroundings free from disease, bacteria, virus and fungus (Liu et al. 2013). The penetration potential of these oils to reach the subcutaneous tissues is one of the important characters of this therapy.

Food Additives

Food safety is a global issue with significant implications for human health. The WHO annually reports that unsafe food results in the illnesses of at least 2 billion people worldwide which can be deadly.

Food additives are substances added to foods to keep them fresh or to enhance their colour, flavour or texture. Some additives have been used for centuries; for example, preserving food by pickling (with vinegar), salting, as with bacon, preserving sweets or using sulfur dioxide as with wines. With the advent of processed foods in the second half of the twentieth century, many more additives of plant-based origin have been introduced to food industry. The significance of medicinal aromatic and spice plants in food additives is raised by their antimicrobial (bactericidal and fungicidal) properties, owing to which they make highly valued preservatives for fresh vegetable or meat preparations as well as canned products (Davidson et al. 2005). Given the consumer demand for natural preservatives and/or consumer negative response to chemical compounds, it is imperative that more research is focused on the application of plant antimicrobials to food safety.

Cosmetic Products

The knowledge of herbal cosmetics is represented now-a-days by both orally transmitted folk information and newer information generated by modern scientific studies. Herbal products like extracts; oils and powders have been used in cosmetics as either active moieties or as excipients. Herbal extracts are primarily added to the cosmetic preparations due to several associated properties such as antioxidant (e.g. carotenoids, flavonoids and polyphenols) and anti-inflammatory characteristics (Glaser 2004; Draelos 2003).

The name itself suggests that herbal cosmetics are natural and free from all the harmful synthetic chemicals however it has proved to be toxic for skin. Instead of traditional synthetic products different plant parts and plant extracts are used in these products, e.g. aloe-vera gel and coconut oil. They also consist of natural nutrients like vitamin E that keeps skin healthy, glowing and beautiful (Akinyele and Odiyi 2007).

Medicinal Plants as a Future Source of New Drugs

The process of drug discovery is so long involves the identification of candidates, synthesis, characterization, screening, and assays for therapeutic efficacy. Despite competition from different drug discovery methods, natural products are still providing their fair share of new clinical candidates, new drugs and new drug leads.

These compounds were still a significant source of new drugs, especially in the anticancer, antihypertensive, anti-infectives, immuno-suppression, and neurological disease therapeutic areas, and some of them have since progressed further into clinical trials or onto the market (Butler 2004).

It is considered that because of the structural and biological diversity of their constituents, medicinal plants offer a unique and renewable resource for the discovering of potential new drugs and biological entities (Lahlou 2007). Therefore, plant-based metabolites can be predicted to remain an essential component in the search and development for new, safe and economical medicaments.

Unfortunately, as a result of ongoing climate changes and anthropogenic factors, a significant decrease in global vegetative species in future is predicted (Maclean and Wilson 2011; Thomas et al. 2004), endangering the sources of potential new drugs from nature and prompting urgent actions.

References

- Abdul Rasool Hassan B (2012) Medicinal plants (importance and uses). Pharmaceut Anal Acta 3:10
- Akinyele BO, Odiyi AC (2007) Comparative study of the vegetative morphology and the existing taxonomic status of Aloe vera. J Plant Sci 2:558–563
- Ashihara H, Crozier A (1999) Biosynthesis and metabolism of caffeine and related purine alkaloids in plants. Adv Bot Res 30:117–205
- Ashour M, Wink M, Gershenzon J (2010) Biochemistry of terpenoids: monoterpenes, sesquiterpenes and diterpenes. In: Wink M (ed) Annual plant reviews: biochemistry of plant secondary metabolism, 2nd edn. Wiley, New York
- Asres K, Sporer F, Michael Wink M (2004) Patterns of pyrrolizidine alkaloids in 12 Ethiopian Crotalaria species. Biochem Syst Ecol 32:915–930
- Barnes J, Anderson LA, Phillipson JD (2001) St. John's wort (Hypericum perforatum L.): a review of its chemistry, pharmacology, and clinical properties. J Pharm Pharmacol 53:583–600
- Bernays EA, Cooper Driver G, Bilgener M (1989) Herbivores and plant tannins. Adv Ecol Res 19:263–302
- Bernhoft A (2010) Bioactive compounds in plants; benefits and risks for man and animals. The Norwegian Academy of Science and Letters, Oslo
- Borchardt JK (2002) The beginnings of drug therapy: ancient Mesopotamian medicine. Drug News Perspect 15:187–192
- Butler MS (2004) The role of natural product chemistry in drug discovery. J Nat Prod 67: 2141–2153
- Capasso F, Gaginella TS, Grandolini G, Izzo AA (2003) Phytotherapy a quick reference to herbal medicine. Springer. ISBN 978-3-540-00052-5
- Chiranjibi P, Sudhakar R, Dhal NK, Rashmita D (2006) Some phytotherapeutic claims by tribals of Rayagada district, Orissa, India. Ethnobotanical Leaflets 10:189–197
- Cragg GM, Newman DJ (2013) Natural products: a continuing source of novel drug leads. Biochim Biophys Acta 1830:3670–3695
- Croteau R, Ketchum RE, Long RM, Kaspera R, Wildung MR (2006) Taxol biosynthesis and molecular genetics. Phytochem Rev 5:75–97
- Davidson MP, Sofos JN, Branen AL (2005) Antimicrobials in food, 3rd edn. Taylor & Francis, Boca Raton, p 720

- Dewick PM (2002) Medicinal natural products: a biosynthetic approach, 2nd edn. Wiley, Chichester
- Draelos ZD (2003) Topical anti-inflammatory agents. Cosmetic Dermatol 16(10):41-42
- Endress ME, Bruyns PV (2000) A revised classification of the Apocynaceae. Bot Rev 66(1):1–56 Esposito ER, Bystrek MV, Klein JS (2014) An elective course in aromatherapy science. Am J Pharm Educ 78(4):79
- Fiore C, Eisenhut M, Ragazzi E et al (2005) A history of the therapeutic use of liquorice in Europe. J Ethnopharmacol 99:317–324
- Gad HA, El-Ahmady SH, Abou-Shoer MI, Al-Azizi MM (2013) Application of chemometrics in authentication of herbal medicines: a review. Phytochem Anal 24(1):1–24
- Ghorbanpour M, Hatami M, Khavazi K (2013) Role of plant growth promoting rhizobacteria on antioxidant enzyme activities and tropane alkaloids production of *Hyoscyamusniger* under water deficit stress. Turk J Biol 37:350–360
- Glaser DA (2004) Anti-aging products and cosmeceuticals. Facial Plast Surg Clin North Am 12:363–372
- Griffin WJ, Lin GD (2000) Chemotaxonomy and geographical distribution of tropane alkaloids. Phytochemistry 53:623-637
- Guçlu-Ustundag O, Mazza G (2007) Saponins: properties, applications and processing. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 47:231–258
- Gurib-Fakim A (2006) Medicinal plants: traditions of yesterday and drugs of tomorrow. Mol Aspects Med 27(1):1–93
- Heinrich M (2016) Phytotherapy. Encyclopaedia Britannica Inc
- Imai T, Nomura M, Fukushima K (2006) Evidence for involvement of the phenylpropanoid pathway in the biosynthesis of the norlignan agatharesinol. J Plant Physiol 163:483–487
- Ishida M, Hara M, Fukino N, Tomohiro Kakizaki T, Morimitsu Y (2014) Glucosinolate metabolism, functionality and breeding for the improvement of Brassicaceae vegetables. Breed Sci 64(1):48–59
- Kumar S, Pandey AK (2013) Chemistry and Biological activities of flavonoids: an overview. Sci World J (162750): 16
- Lahlou M (2007) Screening of natural products for drug discovery. Expert Opin Drug Discov 2:697–705
- Langenheim J (2003) Plant resins: chemistry, evolution, ecology, and ethnobotany. Timber Press, Portland, p 586
- Liu SH, Lin TH, Chang KM (2013) The physical effects of aromatherapy in alleviating work-related stress on elementary school teachers in Taiwan. Evid Based Complement Altern Med. doi:10.1155/2013/853809
- Lounasmaa M, Tamminen T (1993) The tropane alkaloids. In: Cordell GA (ed) The alkaloids, vol 44. Academic, New York, pp 1–114
- Maclean IM, Wilson RJ (2011) Recent ecological responses to climate change support predictions of high extinction risk. Proc Natl Acad Sci U.S.A. 108:12337–12342
- Martin JJ, Pitera DJ, Withers ST, Newmann JD, Keasling JD (2003) Engineering a mevalonate pathway in *Escherichia coli* for production of terpenoids. Nat Biotechnol 21:796–802
- Oerther SE (2011) Plant poisonings: common plants that contain cardiac glycosides. J Emerg Nurs 37(1):102–103
- Parvu M, Vlase L, Parvu AE, Rosca-casian O, Gheldiu AM, Parvu O (2015) Phenolic compounds and antifungal activity of *Hedera helix* L. (Ivy) flowers and fruits. Not Bot Horti Agrobo 43 (1):53–58
- Patwardhan B (2005) Ethnopharmacology and drug discovery. J Ethnopharmacol 100:50-52
- Pimenov MG, Leonov MV (1993) The genera of the Umbel- liferae. Royal Botanic Gardens, Kew, Richmond, Surrey, UK
- Pollier J, Moses T, Goossens A (2011) Combinatorial biosynthesis in plants: a (p) review on its potential and future exploitation. Nat Prod Rep 28:1897–1916

- Sahu NP, Banerjee S, Mondal NB, Mandal D (2008) Steroidal saponins. Fortschritte der Chemie Organischer Naturstoffe/progress in the chemistry of organic natural products, vol 89. Springer, Vienna, pp 45–141
- Saleem M, Kim HJ, Ali MS, Lee YS (2005) An update on bioactive plant lignans. Nat Prod Rep 22(6):696–716
- Schmeller T, Wink M (1998) Utilization of alkaloids in modern medicine In: Roberts MF, Wink M (eds) Alkaloids-biochemistry, ecology and medicinal applications. Plenum Press, New York, pp: 435–459
- Sneader W (2005) Plant products analogues and compounds derived from them. In: Sneader W (ed), Drug discovery; a history. Wiley & Sons, Ltd, Chichester, pp 115–150
- Sneader, W (2005) Drug discovery: a history. Wiley
- Amoah SKS, Sandjo LP, Kratz JM, Biavatti MW (2016) Rosmarinic acid-pharmaceutical and clinical aspects. Planta Med 82(5):388–406
- Sparg SG, Light ME, Staden J (2004) Biological activities and distribution of plant saponins. J Ethnopharmacol 94:219–243
- Sun HX, Xie Y, Ye YP (2009) Advances in saponin-based adjuvants. Vaccine 27:1787-1796
- Tabuti JRS, Dhillion SS, Lye KA (2003) Traditional medicine in Bulamogi County, Uganda. its practitioners, users & viability. J Ethnopharmacol 85:119–129
- Taiz L, Zeiger E, (2006) Plant physiology. Sinauer Associates Inc., Sunderland, Massachusetts, USA. [A general text of plant physiology]
- Tholl D (2015) Biosynthesis and biological functions of terpenoids in plants. Adv Biochem Eng Biotechnol 148:63–106
- Thomas CD, Cameron A, Green RE, Bakkenes M, Beaumont LJ, Collingham YC et al (2004) Extinction risk from climate change. Nature 427:145–148
- Thompson LU, Boucher BA, Liu Z, Cotterchio M, Kreiger N (2006) Phytoestrogen content of foods consumed in Canada, including isoflavones, lignans and coumestan. Nutr Cancer 54:184–201
- Unschuld PU (1986) Medicine in China: a history of Pharmaceutics. University of California Press Vetter J (2000) Plant cyanogenic glycosides. Toxicon 38:11–36
- WHO (1998) General guidelines for methodologies on research and evaluation of traditional medicine. WHO/EDM/TRM/2000.1, Geneva, pp 128
- WHO (2002) Traditional medicine strategy 2014–2023. http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/ 92455/1/9789241506090
- Worwood VA (2000) Aromatherapy for the healthy child: more than 300 natural, non-toxic, and fragrant essential oil blends. New World Library, Novato

Introduction to Environmental Challenges in All Over the World

Azadeh Kazemi and Mansour Ghorbanpour

Abstract The environment that we live in and make use of is being stripped off its precious components day by day. There are many angles from which the problem of environmental challenge can be studied. Similarly, many different views come into play if we need to find practical solutions to these challenges. There are innumerable factors associated with conservation of environment and also these challenges are interrelated. Different factors affected the environment of the Earth as it is in constant conflict with it. In this chapter we explain the most important challenges and the causes and effects of them on human, animal and plant life.

Keywords Environmental perturbations • Ecosystem • Living organisms • Pollution

Introduction

Definition of the environment is the complex of physical, chemical, and biotic factors (as climate, soil, and living things) that act upon an organism or an ecological community and ultimately determine its form and survival. Our environment in the world is constantly changing. There is no denying that. However, as our environment changes, so does the need to become increasingly aware of the problems that surround it. All across the world, people are facing a wealth of new and challenging environmental problems every day. Some of them are small and

A. Kazemi (🖂)

M. Ghorbanpour (🖂)

Department of Environment, Faculty of Agriculture and Natural Resources, Arak University, 38156-8-8349 Arak, Iran e-mail: a_kazemi@alumni.ut.ac.ir

Department of Medicinal Plants, Faculty of Agriculture and Natural Resources, Arak University, 38156-8-8349 Arak, Iran e-mail: m-ghorbanpour@araku.ac.ir

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017 M. Ghorbanpour and A. Varma (eds.), *Medicinal Plants and Environmental Challenges*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-68717-9_2

only affect a few ecosystems, but others are drastically changing the landscape of what we already know. The earth planet is poised at the brink of a severe environmental crisis. Current environmental problems make us vulnerable to disasters and tragedies, now and in the future. We are in a state of planetary emergency, with environmental problems piling up high around us. Unless we address the various issues prudently and seriously we are surely doomed for disaster. Current environmental problems require urgent attention.

The Major Current Environmental Problems

Environment Pollution

Environmental pollution has existed for centuries but only started to be significant following the industrial revolution in the 19th century. Pollution occurs when the natural environment cannot destroy an element without creating harm or damage to itself. The elements involved are not produced by nature, and the destroying process can vary from a few days to thousands of years (that is, for instance, the case for radioactive pollutants). In other words, pollution takes place when nature does not know how to decompose an element that has been brought to it in an unnatural way. Pollution must be taken seriously, as it has a negative effect on natural elements that are an absolute need for life to exist on earth, such as water and air. Indeed, without it, or if they were present on different quantities, animals—including humans—and plants could not survive. We can identify several types of pollution on Earth: air pollution, water pollution and soil pollution (Shafi 2005).

Causes of Environmental Pollution

1. Industries: Industries have been polluting our environment especially since the beginning of the industrial revolution, as mentioned above, notably due to the increasing use of fossil fuels. In the 19th century and for a significant part of the 20th century, coal has been use to make machines work faster, replacing human force. Though pollution by industries mainly causes air pollution, soil and water contamination can also occur. This is particularly the case for power-generating industries, such as plants producing electricity (May they be a dam, a nuclear reactor or some other type of plant). Also, the transportation of this energy can be harmful to the environment. We can take as an example the transportation of petrol through pipelines; if there is a leak in the pipeline, soil will automatically be polluted. At the same time, if the tanker transporting the petrol from its production plant to the place where it will be consumed leaks or sinks, the water will get contaminated.

- 2. Transportation: Ever since men abandoned animal power to travel, pollution of the environment has become higher and higher. Its levels have only been increasing until now. Similarly to industries, pollution caused by transport can mainly be attributed to fossil fuels. Indeed, humans went from horse carriages to cars, trains (which, before electricity, used to be propelled by coal), and airplanes. As the traffic is increasing every day, pollution follows that evolution.
- 3. Agricultural Activities: Agriculture is mainly responsible for the contamination of water and soil. This is caused by the increased use of pesticides, as well as by the intensive character of its production. Almost all pesticides are made from chemical substances and are meant to keep diseases and threatening animals away from the crops. However, by keeping these forms of life away, harm is almost always made to the surrounding environment as well. Furthermore, as agriculture gets more and more intensive to feed the increasing world population, more environments and ecosystems are destroyed to make space for the crops. Some of them like rapeseed-used to make oil-demand a lot of space for a relatively small output.
- 4. Trading Activities: Trading activities including the production and exchange of goods and services. Concerning goods, pollution can be caused by packaging (which often involves the use of plastic, which is made from fossil fuels) or transport, mainly.
- 5. Residences: Finally, residential areas provide their fair share of pollution as well. First, to be able to build homes, natural environment has to be destroyed in one way or another. Wildlife and plants are driven away and replaced by human constructions. As it requires the work of industries, construction itself is also a source of contamination of the environment. Then, when people settle in, they will produce waste every day, including a part that cannot be processed by the environment without harm yet (Harrison 2001).

Effects of Environmental Pollution

Now that we have identified the main causes of environmental pollution, let us study the negative effects it has:

1. Effects on Humans: The effects of environmental pollution on humans are mainly physical, but can also turn into neuron-affections in the long term. The best-known troubles to us are respiratory, in the form of allergies, asthma, irritation of the eyes and nasal passages, or other forms of respiratory infections. Notably, these well spread affections can be observed when air pollution is high in cities, when the weather gets hot, for instance. On top of that, environmental pollution has been proven to be a major factor in the development of cancer. This can happen for example when we eat reminiscences of pollutants used in the production of processed foods, or pesticides from the crops. Other, rarer, diseases include hepatitis, typhoid affections, diarrhea and hormonal disruptions.

- 2. Effects on Animals: Environmental pollution mainly affects animal by causing harm to their living environment, making it toxic for them to live in. Acid rains can change the composition of rivers and seas, making them toxic for fishes, an important quantity of ozone in the lower parts of the atmosphere can cause lung problems to all animals. Nitrogen and phosphates in water will cause overgrowth of toxic algae, preventing other forms of life to follow their normal course. Eventually, soil pollution will cause harm and sometimes even the destruction of microorganisms, which can have the dramatic effect of killing the first layers of the primary food chain.
- 3. Effects on Plants: As for animals, plants, and especially trees, can be destroyed by acid rains (and this will also have a negative effect on animals as well, as their natural environment will be modified), ozone in the lower atmosphere block the plant respiration, and harmful pollutants can be absorbed from the water or soil.
- 4. Effects on the Ecosystem: In short, environmental pollution, almost exclusively created by human activities, has a negative effect on the ecosystem, destroying crucial layers of it and causing an even more negative effect on the upper layers (Spellman 2009).

Types of Pollution

Air Pollution

The air that we breathe today is full of toxic and hazardous pollutants. Pollution in the environment could leave mother Earth sapped of its beauty and biodiversity. Each year millions of people die all around the world due to different pollution related problems. The key to live a healthy life is to identify the sources of air pollution and implement practical ways so that you can help stop air pollution.

Many people, when they think of air pollution, they think about smog and car emissions. This is what is called outdoor air pollution but it is more dangerous when it becomes indoor air pollution. Indoor air pollution occurs when certain air pollutants from particles and gases contaminate the air of indoor areas. These air pollutants can cause respiratory diseases or even cancer. Removing the air pollutants can improve the quality of your indoor air. Millions of people around the world prepare their meals using traditional methods (i.e. wood, charcoal, coal, dung, crop wastes) on open fires. Such inefficient practices can increase the amount of air pollutants inside the home and can also cause serious health problems. According to WHO, 4.3 million people a year die from the exposure to household air pollution. This type of pollution is significantly more dangerous due to how concentrated the air is in indoor environments. According to recent findings, over 2 million deaths occur every single year due to indoor air pollution. So what can we do about it? That is the question that many ask themselves every single day. Before you can fully comprehend the effects of indoor air pollution you must first be able to understand the causes of it as well as what we can do to improve our quality of air both indoors and outdoors (Agarwal 2005).

Water Pollution

Water is the greatest gift of nature. Humans have exploited this natural resource to a level where controlling water pollution is impossible. Here are some important reasons why water is considered as a precious natural resource. The misuse of this can cause damaging consequences and a threat to human life. Here is an interesting way to analyze how water pollution is gradually causing so many deaths worldwide. The use of hazardous chemicals in manufacturing industries and agriculture cause severe water pollution as waste from these industries goes directly into nearby rivers, lakes and ponds without getting treated to remove harmful toxins and compounds. This not only affects the quality of water but also pose danger to several endangered aquatic species. Increase in the water pollution can badly affect marine life and their habitats. Poor people who do not have access to clean drinking water are forced to drink untreated water which makes them prone to water related diseases which directly affects their health (Goel 2006). According to Wikipedia, "Water pollution is the contamination of water bodies (e.g. lakes, rivers, oceans, aquifers and groundwater). Water pollution occurs when pollutants are directly or indirectly discharged into water bodies without adequate treatment to remove harmful compounds. Water pollution affects plants and organisms living in these bodies of water. In almost all cases the effect is damaging not only to individual species and populations, but also to the natural biological communities."

Soil Pollution

With the rise of concrete buildings and roads, one part of the Earth that we rarely see is the soil. It has many different names, such as dirt, mud and ground. However, it is definitely very important to us. The plants that feed us grow in soil and keeping it healthy is essential to maintaining a beautiful planet. However, like all other forms of nature, soil also suffers from pollution. The pollution of soil is a common thing these days, and it happens due to the presence of man-made elements. The main reason why the soil becomes contaminated is due to the presence of manmade waste. The waste produced from nature itself such as dead plants, carcasses of animals and rotten fruits and vegetables only adds to the fertility of the soil. However, our waste products are full of chemicals that are not originally found in nature and lead to soil pollution (Mani and Misra 2009).
Global Warming and Climate Change

Climate change is yet another environmental problem that has surfaced in last couple of decades. It occurs due to rise in global warming which occurs due to increase in temperature of atmosphere by burning of fossil fuels and release of harmful gases by industries. Climate change has various harmful effects but not limited to melting of polar ice, change in seasons, occurrence of new diseases, frequent occurrence of floods and change in overall weather scenario. For the purpose of current and future impacts, the term "climate change" has become synonymous with modern global warming (Demeritt 2001). The latter, in turn, refers to post-Industrial Revolution changes in global mean surface-air temperature that are hypothesized to have been caused by increased atmospheric concentrations of carbon dioxide (CO₂) Fan active greenhouse gas F during the eighteenth, nineteenth, and twentieth centuries. In 1765, the CO₂ atmospheric concentration was about 280 parts per million by volume (ppmv); in 2000, it is near 364 (ppmv). The atmospheric concentrations of other greenhouses gases (methane, nitrous oxide, chlorofluorocarbons) have also risen as a result of accelerated economic activity and energy use in the last two centuries. The mean concentration of water vapor F another key greenhouse gas F in the atmosphere has remained at a level of about 3000 (ppmv) throughout the Holocene period (the last 10,000 years). The rapid rise in fossil-fuel combustion as an energy source since the late eighteenth century has caused the observed increase in the atmospheric concentration of 20 CO₂. While the post–Industrial Revolution rise in CO₂ atmospheric concentration is beyond doubt, the question of whether or not the earth's mean surface-air temperature has increased relative to the pre-Industrial Revolution level is the focus of intense research. Recent estimates indicate that it has increased between 0.31 and 0.61 °C during the last 150 years (Hansen et al. 2002). A cause-effect linkage between the rise in key greenhouse gases and the estimated increase in the global mean surface-air temperature remains shrouded in uncertainty. This is due to the complex variability of the earth's climate and its interdependence with multiple terrestrial and extraterrestrial phenomena (Loáiciga 2003).

Overpopulation

The population of the planet is reaching unsustainable levels as it faces shortage of resources like water, fuel and food. Population explosion in less developed and developing countries is straining the already scarce resources. Intensive agriculture practiced to produce food damages the environment through use of chemical fertilizer, pesticides and insecticides. Overpopulation is one of the crucial current environmental problems.

Overpopulation is already affecting the 750 million people worldwide who have no access to potable water sources, and 2.5 billion are without proper sanitation. Many believe we've passed or are in the throes of a peak-water situation, meaning voracious demand has outpaced renewable supply, and ecological costs outweigh benefits of extraction. Besides industrial pollution, much of the water crisis is due to intensive agriculture designed to feed a growing number of humans: the latter half of the twentieth century saw irrigation systems nearly triple worldwide, from 100 million ha in 1950 to 280 million ha in 2000, to feed the burgeoning population. Consequently, many nations have dipped into non-renewable underground aquifers as global water supplies have been polluted or strained. The United Nations states that by 2025, 1.8 billion people may inhabit areas of "absolute water scarcity" (less than 1000 m^3 of water available per person per year), while two-thirds of the global population may be living in "water-stressed" regions (less than 1700 m³ of water available per person per year). To put Western water consumption into perspective: sustaining the global population on average European or North American water habits would require water from 3.5 Earths.

Natural Resource Depletion

Natural resource depletion is another crucial current environmental problem. Fossil fuel consumption results in emission of Greenhouse gases, which is responsible for global warming and climate change. Globally, people are taking efforts to shift to renewable sources of energy like solar, wind, biogas and geothermal energy. The cost of installing the infrastructure and maintaining these sources has plummeted in the recent years.

What Causes Natural Resource Depletion?

One of the central causes to natural resource depletion is human activity, particularly as it relates to economic growth. Given the rise of the world population, Humans are becoming more and more reliant on food production for daily nutritional needs, which in turn is causing serious stress to the land and the environment. The main driving force leading to pressure on land resources has been increasing food production. Today food is needed for two billion more people than lived on the Earth three decades ago. Inefficient irrigation schemes can cause salinization and alkalization of soil, resulting in an estimated ten million hectares (38,610 square miles) of irrigated land abandoned annually. Humans also contribute to land degradation through poor soil management practices, deforestation, removal of natural vegetation, use of heavy machinery, overgrazing of livestock, and improper crop rotation" (Viotti and Kauppi 2013). Humans have been cutting trees for agriculture at very high rates. In addition, the increased uses of wood have continued to reduce the size of forests. As we are becoming more careless with our practices, as well as demanding more and more food, this in turn will continue to lead to natural resource depletion. As scholars point out, some of the underlying causes of natural resource depletion are the conditions facing humans. When humans need food, when they are in poverty (Viotti and Kauppi 2013), when they need employment, or ways to bring in income, they may look towards these practices such as deforestation, or agriculture without correct crop rotation, which in turn can and will continue to deplete the earth.

Forest Depletion

When looking at the world's forests, one finds a depletion of natural resources; "The net loss of the global forest area (deforestation plus reforestation) in the last decade of the 20th century was about 94 million ha (363,000 square miles), the equivalent of 2.4% of total world forests. Deforestation of tropical forests is almost 1% annually" (Viotti and Kauppi 2013). When looking at natural resource depletion in places such as Latin America, one will find that issues such as tropical deforestation is a very real and continued threat to natural resources and the environment as a whole (Rowntree et al. 2015).

In fact, tropical forests are among the most at risk areas of earth as it pertains to deforestation. Thus, not only are plant and animal life affected with this tropical deforestation, but these actions also lead to an increase of additional $CO_{2}s$. According to scholars, "Current estimates suggest that fully 20% of all human-causes GHG emissions result from cutting and burning tropical forests" (Rowntree et al. 2015). But, as people continue to harm the forests for wood, palm oil, or other resources, it is expected that the negative effects on natural resource depletion related to forests and tropical forests will continue. And because of the human causes of natural resource depletion, many have asked whether current behaviors towards natural resources can continue the way that they are going, and if so, what the effects of this behavior will be.

What Are the Effects of Natural Resource Depletion?

Current patterns of energy and natural resource use, agricultural practices, and urbanization appear to be largely unsustainable and require urgent remediation. Left unchecked, these patterns will lead to dangerous climate change and reduced economic growth, as a result of increased economic, social, and environmental costs and decreased productivity. Many of the world's natural resources have been greatly reduced do to human economic development in recent decades. In fact, the pace and scale of environmental damage has been well documented. More than one quarter of the world's land surface has been degraded as a result of soil erosion, salinization, nutrient depletion, and. Water withdrawals tripled in the past 50 years, leading to water scarcity and groundwater depletion. In developing countries, withdrawals are projected to increase by another 50% by 2030, by which time more than 5 billion people-two-thirds of the world's people-could be living in areas facing moderate to severe water stress (WRI forthcoming). Growth has also strained ecosystems. Roughly 60% of the world's ecosystem services are now of lower quality than they were 50 years ago, the current rate of species extinction is 100–1000 times higher than in prehuman days, and all of the planet's 13 hottest years on record have occurred since 1997 (Steer 2013).

There are also many economic effects as a result of current and historical natural resource depletion. For example, if one of the natural resources that are depleted is soil, then this will impact the agricultural output by those who are reliant on healthy soil for their income and economic livelihood. If individuals have depleted the soil, and the proper conditions no longer exist for efficient crop growth, then this will lead to lower output, and in turn will bring an individual, society, or state less income. In addition, from an international relations perspective, one also has to think about the effects of natural resources may increase and significantly endanger development efforts in contexts where increased competition over natural resources spills over into the political sphere and leads to political violence" (Inforesources 2005).

Waste Disposal

Waste disposal is one of urgent current environmental problem. Waste management is the handling of discarded materials. Recycling and composting, which transform waste into useful products, are forms of waste management. The management of waste also includes disposal, such as landfilling. Waste can be almost anything, including food, leaves, newspapers, bottles, construction debris, and chemicals from a factory, candy wrappers, disposable diapers, old cars, or radioactive materials. People have always produced waste, but as industry and technology have evolved and the human population has grown, waste management has become increasingly complex. A primary objective of waste management today is to protect the public and the environment from potentially harmful effects of waste. Some waste materials are normally safe, but can become hazardous if not managed properly. For example, 1 gal (3.75 l) of used motor oil can potentially contaminate one million gal (3,790,000 l) of drinking water. Every individual, business, or organization must make decisions and take some responsibility regarding the management of his or her waste. On a larger scale, government agencies at the local, state, and federal levels enact and enforce regulations governing waste management. These agencies also educate the public about proper waste management. In addition, local government agencies may provide disposal or recycling services, or they may hire or authorize private companies to perform those functions (Guerrero et al. 2013).

Throughout history, there have been four basic methods of managing waste: dumping it, burning it, finding another use for it (reuse and recycling), and not creating the waste in the first place (waste prevention). How those four methods are utilized depends on the wastes being managed. Municipal solid waste is different from industrial, agricultural, or mining waste. Hazardous waste is a category that should be handled separately, although it sometimes is generated with the other types (Tchobanoglous and Kreith 2002).

The first humans did not worry much about waste management. They simply left their garbage where it dropped. However, as permanent communities developed, people began to dispose of their waste in designated dumping areas. The use of such "open dumps" for garbage is still common in many parts of the world. Open dumps have major disadvantages, however, especially in heavily populated areas. Toxic chemicals can filter down through a dump and contaminate groundwater. The liquid that filters through a dump or landfill is called leachate. Dumps may also generate methane, a flammable and explosive gas produced when organic wastes decompose under anaerobic (oxygen-poor) conditions (Tchobanoglous and Kreith 2002).

The landfill, also known as the "sanitary landfill," was invented in England in the 1920s. At a landfill, the garbage is compacted and covered at the end of every day with several inches of soil. Landfilling became common in the United States in the 1940s. By the late 1950s, it was the dominant method for disposing municipal solid waste in the nation. Early landfills had significant problems with leachate and methane, but those have largely been resolved at facilities built since about the early 1970s. Well-engineered landfills are lined with several feet of clay and with thick plastic sheets. Leachate is collected at the bottom, drained through pipes, and processed. Methane gas is also safely piped out of many landfills. The dumping of waste does not just take place on land. Ocean dumping, in which barges carry garbage out to sea was once used as a disposal method by some United States coastal cities and is still practiced by some nations. Sewage sludge, or waste material from sewage treatment, was dumped at sea in huge quantities by New York City as recently as 1992, but this is now prohibited in the United States. Also called bio solids, sewage sludge is not generally considered solid waste, but it is sometimes composted with organic municipal solid waste (Christensen 1989).

Burning has a long history in municipal solid waste management. Some American cities began to burn their garbage in the late nineteenth century in devices called cremators. These were not very efficient, however, and cities went back to dumping and other methods. In the 1930s and 1940s, many cities built new types of more-efficient garbage burners known as incinerators. The early incinerators were rather dirty in terms of their emissions of air pollutants, and beginning in the 1950s they were gradually shut down. However, in the 1970s, waste burning enjoyed another revival. These newer incinerators, many of which are still in operation, are called "resource recovery" or "waste-to-energy" plants. In addition to burning garbage, they produce heat or electricity that can be used in nearby buildings or

residences, or sold to a utility. Many local governments became interested in waste-to-energy plants following the energy crisis in 1973. However, since the mid-1980s, it became difficult to find locations to build these facilities, mainly because of public opposition focused on air-quality issues. Another problem with incineration is that it generates ash, which must be landfilled. Incinerators usually reduce the volume of garbage by 70-90%. The remainder of the incinerated waste comes out as ash that often contains high concentrations of toxic substances. Municipal solid waste will likely always be landfilled or burned to some extent. In the past 25 years, however, non-disposal methods such as waste prevention and recycling have become more common. Because of public concerns and the high costs of landfilling and burning (especially to build new facilities), local governments want to reduce the amount of waste that must be disposed in these ways. Municipal solid waste is a relatively small part of the overall waste generated in the United States. More than 95% of the total 4.5 billion tons of solid waste generated in the United States each year is agricultural, mining, or industrial waste. These wastes do not receive nearly as much attention as municipal solid waste, because most people do not have direct experience with them. Also, agricultural and mining wastes, which make up 88% of the overall total of solid waste, are largely handled at the places they are generated, that is, in the fields or at remote mining sites. Mining nearly always generates substantial waste, whether the material being mined is coal, clay, sand, gravel, building stone, or metallic ore. Early mining concentrated on the richest lodes of minerals. Because modern methods of mining are more efficient, they can extract the desired minerals from veins that are less rich. However, much more waste is produced in the process (Tchobanoglous and Kreith 2002).

Many of the plant and animal wastes generated by agriculture remain in the fields or rangelands. These wastes can be beneficial because they return organic matter and nutrients to the soil. However, modern techniques of raising large numbers of animals in small areas generate huge volumes of animal waste, or manure. Waste in such concentrated quantities must be managed carefully, or it can contaminate groundwater or surface water (Tchobanoglous and Kreith 2002).

Industrial wastes that are not hazardous have traditionally been sent to landfills or incinerators. The rising cost of disposal has prompted many companies to seek alternative methods for handling these wastes, such as waste prevention and recycling. Often a manufacturing plant can reclaim certain waste materials by feeding them back into the production process (Tchobanoglous and Kreith 2002).

Hazardous wastes are materials considered harmful or potentially harmful to human health or the environment. Wastes may be deemed hazardous because they are poisonous, flammable, or corrosive, or because they react with other substances in a dangerous way. Industrial operations have produced large quantities of hazardous waste for hundreds of years. Some hazardous wastes, such as mercury and dioxins, may be released as gases or vapors. Many hazardous industrial wastes are in liquid form. One of the greatest risks is that these wastes will contaminate water supplies. An estimated 60% of all hazardous industrial waste in the United States is disposed using a method called deep-well injection. With this technique, liquid wastes are injected through a well into an impervious rock formation that keeps the waste isolated from groundwater and surface water. Other methods of underground burial are also used to dispose hazardous industrial waste and other types of dangerous material. Pesticides used in farming may contaminate agricultural waste. Because of the enormous volumes of pesticides used in agriculture, the proper handling of unused pesticides is a daunting challenge for waste managers. Certain mining techniques also utilize toxic chemicals. Piles of mining and metal-processing waste, known as waste rock and tailings, may contain hazardous substances. Because of a reaction with the oxygen in the air, large amounts of toxic acids may form in waste rock and tailings and leach into surface waters (Tchobanoglous and Kreith 2002).

Public attitudes also play a pivotal role in decisions about waste management. Virtually every proposed new landfill or waste-to-energy plant is opposed by people who live near the site. Public officials and planners refer to this reaction as NIMBY, which stands for "Not in My Backyard." If an opposition group becomes vocal or powerful enough, a city or county council is not likely to approve a proposed waste-disposal project. The public also wields considerable influence with businesses. Recycling and waste prevention initiatives enjoy strong public support. About 19% of United States municipal solid waste was recycled or composted in 1994, 10% was incinerated, and 71% was landfilled. Preventing or reducing waste is typically the least expensive method for managing waste. Waste prevention may also reduce the amount of resources needed to manufacture or package a product. For example, most roll-on deodorants once came in a plastic bottle, which was inside a box. Beginning about 1992, deodorant manufacturers redesigned the bottle so that it would not tip-over easily on store shelves, which eliminated the need for the box as packaging. This is the type of waste prevention called source reduction. It can save businesses money, while also reducing waste. Waste prevention includes many different practices that result in using fewer materials or products, or using materials that are less toxic. For example, a chain of clothing stores can ship its products to its stores in reusable garment bags, instead of disposable plastic bags. Manufacturers of household batteries can reduce the amount of mercury in their batteries. In an office, employees can copy documents on both sides of a sheet of paper, instead of just one side. A family can use cloth instead of paper napkins (Tchobanoglous and Kreith 2002).

Composting grass clippings and tree leaves at home, rather than having them picked up for disposal or municipal composting is another form of waste prevention. A resident can leave grass clippings on the lawn after mowing (this is known as grass-cycling), or can compost leaves and grass in a backyard composting bin, or use them as mulch in the garden (Tchobanoglous and Kreith 2002).

When the current recycling boom began in the late 1980s, markets for the recyclables were not sufficiently considered. A result was that some recyclable materials were collected in large quantities but could not be sold, and some ended up going to landfills. Today, the development of recycling markets is a high priority. "Close the loop" is a catch-phrase in recycling education; it means that true recycling (i.e., the recycling loop) has not taken place until the new product is

purchased and used. The high cost of government-created recycling programs is often criticized. Supporters of recycling argue it is still less expensive than landfilling or incineration, when all costs are considered. Another concern about recycling is that the recycling process itself may generate hazardous wastes that must be treated and disposed. Recycling of construction and demolition (C&D) debris is one of the growth areas for recycling. Although C&D debris is not normally considered a type of municipal solid waste, millions of tons of it have gone to municipal landfills over the years. If this material is separated at the construction or demolition site into separate piles of concrete, wood, and steel, it can usually be recycled. Composting is considered either a form of recycling, or a close relative. Composting occurs when organic waste-such as yard waste, food waste, and paper-is broken down by microbial processes. The resulting material, known as compost, can be used by landscapers and gardeners to improve the fertility of their soil. Yard waste, primarily grass clippings and tree leaves, makes up about one-fifth of the weight of municipal solid waste. Some states do not allow this waste to be disposed. These vard-waste bans have resulted in rapid growth for municipal composting programs. In these programs, yard waste is collected by trucks (separately from garbage and recyclables) and taken to a composting plant, where it is chopped up, heaped, and regularly turned until it becomes compost (Tchobanoglous and Kreith 2002).

Biological treatment, a technique for handling hazardous wastes, could be called a high-tech form of composting. Like composting, biological treatment employs microbes to break down wastes through a series of metabolic reactions. Many substances that are toxic, carcinogenic (cancer-causing), or undesirable in the environment for other reasons can be rendered harmless through this method. Extensive research on biological treatment is in progress. Genetic engineering, a controversial branch of biology dealing with the modification of genetic codes, is closely linked with biological treatment, and could produce significant advances in this field. Waste management became a particularly expensive proposition during the 1990s, especially for disposal. Consequently, waste managers constantly seek innovations that will improve efficiency and reduce costs. Several new ideas in land-filling involve the reclamation of useful resources from wastes.

For example, instead of just burning or releasing the methane gas that is generated within solid-waste landfills, some operators collect this gas, and then use it to produce power locally or sell it as fuel. At a few landfills, managers have experimented with a bold but relatively untested concept known as landfill mining. This involves digging up an existing landfill to recover recyclable materials, and sometimes to re-bury the garbage more efficiently. Landfill mining has been criticized as costly and impractical, but some operators believe it can save money under certain circumstances. In the high-tech world of incineration, new designs and concepts are constantly being tried. One waste-to-energy technology for solid waste being introduced to the United States is called fluidized-bed incineration. About 40% of incinerators in Japan use this technology, which is designed to have lower emissions of some air pollutants than conventional incinerators.

A 1994 United States Supreme Court ruling could increase the cost of incineration significantly. The Court ruled that some ash produced by municipal solid-waste incinerators must be treated as a hazardous waste, because of high levels of toxic substances such as lead and cadmium. This means that incinerator ash now has to be tested, and part or all of the material may have to go to a hazardous waste landfill rather than a standard landfill. A much smaller type of incinerator is used at many hospitals to burn medical wastes, such as blood, surgical waste, syringes, and laboratory waste. The safety of these medical waste incinerators has become a major issue in some communities. A study by the Environmental Protection Agency released in 1994 found that medical waste incinerators were leading sources of dioxin emissions into the air. The same study warned that dioxins, which can be formed by the burning of certain chemical compounds, pose a high risk of causing cancer and other health hazards in humans. As a hazardous waste, because of high levels of toxic substances such as lead and cadmium. This means that incinerator ash now has to be tested, and part or all of the material may have to go to a hazardous waste landfill rather than a standard landfill.

A much smaller type of incinerator is used at many hospitals to burn medical wastes, such as blood, surgical waste, syringes, and laboratory waste. The safety of these medical waste incinerators has become a major issue in some communities. A study by the Environmental Protection Agency released in 1994 found that medical waste incinerators were leading sources of dioxin emissions into the air. The same study warned that dioxins, which can be formed by the burning of certain chemical compounds, pose a high risk of causing cancer and other health hazards in humans (Giusti 2009).

Loss of Biodiversity

Biodiversity means the variety of life, including variation among genes, species, and functional traits.

- Richness: number of unique life forms
- Evenness: equitability among life forms
- Heterogeneity: dis-similarity among life forms.

Ecosystem functions are ecological processes that control the fluxes of energy, nutrients, and organic matter through an environment. Examples include ...

- Primary production: the process by which plants use sunlight to convert inorganic matter into new biological tissue
- Nutrient cycling: the process by which biologically essential nutrients are captured, released, and then recaptured
- Decomposition: the process by which organic wastes like dead plants and animals are broken-down and recycled.

Ecosystem Services are the suite of benefits that ecosystems provide to humanity

- Provisioning services: Production of renewable resources (e.g., food, wood, freshwater)
- Regulating services: Processes that lessen environmental change (e.g., climate regulation, pest/disease control).

Loss of diversity across trophic levels has the potential to influence ecosystem functions even more Loss of diversity across trophic levels has the potential to influence ecosystem functions even more strongly than diversity loss within trophic levels Much work has shown that food web interactions are key mediators of ecosystem functioning, and that loss of higher consumers can cascade through a food web to influence plant biomass. Loss of one or a few top predator species can reduce plant biomass by at least as much as does the transformation of a diverse plant assemblage into a species monoculture. Loss of consumers can also alter vegetation structure, fire frequency, and even disease epidemics in a range of ecosystems 51. Strongly than diversity loss within trophic levels much work has shown that food web interactions are key mediators of ecosystem functioning, and that loss of higher consumers can cascade through a food web to influence plant biomass. Loss of one or a few top predator species can reduce plant biomass by at least as much as does the transformation of a diverse plant assemblage into a species monoculture. Loss of consumers can also alter vegetation structure, fire frequency, and even disease epidemics in a range of ecosystems. We can find the very complex relationship between ecosystem, Biodiversity and global change (Fig. 1).

Human activity is leading to the extinction of species and habitats and loss of bio-diversity. Eco systems, which took millions of years to perfect, are in danger when any species population is decimating. Balance of natural processes like



Fig. 1 Relationship between ecosystem, biodiversity and global change

pollination is crucial to the survival of the eco-system and human activity threatens the same. Another example is the destruction of coral reefs in the various oceans, which support the rich marine life (Cardinale 2012).

Ozone Layer Depletion

The ozone layer is not really a layer at all, but has become known as such because most ozone particles are scattered between 19 and 30 km (12-30 miles) up in the Earth's atmosphere, in a region called the stratosphere. The concentration of ozone in the ozone layer is usually under 10 parts ozone per million. Without the ozone layer, a lot of ultraviolet (UV) radiation from the Sun would not be stopped reaching the Earth's surface, causing untold damage to most living species. In the 1970s, scientists discovered that chlorofluorocarbons (CFCs) could destroy ozone in the stratosphere. Ozone is created in the stratosphere when UV radiation from the Sun strikes molecules of oxygen (O_2) and causes the two oxygen atoms to split apart. If a freed atom bumps into another O_2 , it joins up, forming ozone (O_3) . This process is known as photolysis. Ozone is also naturally broken down in the stratosphere by sunlight and by a chemical reaction with various compounds containing nitrogen, hydrogen and chlorine. These chemicals all occur naturally in the atmosphere in very small amounts. In an unpolluted atmosphere there is a balance between the amount of ozone being produced and the amount of ozone being destroyed. As a result, the total concentration of ozone in the stratosphere remains relatively constant. At different temperatures and pressures (i.e. varying altitudes within the stratosphere), there are different formation and destruction rates. Thus, the amount of ozone within the stratosphere varies according to altitude. Ozone concentrations are highest between 19 and 23 km. Most of the ozone in the stratosphere is formed over the equator where the level of sunshine striking the Earth is greatest. It is transported by winds towards higher latitudes. Consequently, the amount of stratospheric ozone above a location on the Earth varies naturally with latitude, season, and from day-to-day. Under normal circumstances highest ozone values are found over the Canadian Arctic and Siberia, whilst the lowest values are found around the equator. The ozone layer over Canada is normally thicker in winter and early spring, varying naturally by about 25% between January and July. Weather conditions can also cause considerable daily variations.

Ultraviolet radiations (UVR), are high energy electromagnetic waves emitted from the Sun. UV radiation includes UV-A, the least dangerous form of UV radiation, UV-B, and UV-C, which is the most dangerous. UV-C is unable to reach the Earth's surface due to stratospheric ozone's ability to absorb it. The real threat comes from UV-B, which can enter the Earth's atmosphere, and has adverse effects (Fig. 2).

Ozone layer depletion first captured the attention of the whole world in the latter half of 1970, and since then, a lot of research has been done to find its possible effects and causes. Various studies have been undertaken to find out possible solutions. Let us take a look at some of the causes and effects of ozone layer depletion.









Causes of Ozone Depletion Ozone is a triatomic form of oxygen (O_3) , found in the Earth's atmosphere. A combination of low temperatures, elevated chlorine, and bromine concentrations in the upper stratosphere are responsible for the destruction of ozone. The production and emission of chlorofluorocarbons (CFCs), is the leading cause of ozone layer depletion. CFC's account for almost 80% of the total depletion of ozone. Other ozone-depleting substances (ODS), include hydro chlorofluorocarbons (HCFCs), and volatile organic compounds (VOCs). These are often found in vehicle emissions, byproducts of industrial processes, refrigerants, and aerosols. ODS are relatively stable in the lower atmosphere of the Earth, but in the stratosphere, they are exposed to ultraviolet radiation and thus, they break down to release a free chlorine atom. This free chlorine atom reacts with an ozone molecule (O₃), and forms chlorine monoxide (ClO), and a molecule of oxygen. Now, CIO reacts with an ozone molecule to form a chlorine atom, and two molecules of oxygen. The free chlorine molecule again reacts with ozone to form chlorine monoxide. The process continues, and this results in the depletion of the ozone layer (Fig. 3).

Fig. 4 Effects of ozone depletion on Humans, Amphibians, Marine Ecosystemsand Plants



As ozone depletes in the stratosphere, it forms a 'hole' in the layer. This hole enables harmful ultraviolet rays to enter the Earth's atmosphere. Ultraviolet rays of the Sun are associated with a number of health-related and environmental issues. Let us take a look at how ozone depletion affects different life forms (Fig. 4).

Impact on Humans

- Skin cancer: Exposure to ultraviolet rays poses an increased risk of developing several types of skin cancers, including malignant melanoma, and basal and squamous cell carcinoma.
- Eye damage: Direct exposure to UV radiations can result in photo keratitis (snow blindness), and cataracts.
- Immune system damage: Effects of UV rays include impairment of the immune system. Increased exposure to UV rays weakens the response of the immune system.
- Accelerated aging of skin: Constant exposure to UV radiation can cause photo allergy, which results in the outbreak of rashes in fair-skinned people.
- Other effects: Ozone chemicals can cause difficulty in breathing, chest pain, throat irritation, and hamper lung functioning.

Effects on Amphibians

Ozone depletion is listed as one of the causes for the declining numbers of amphibian species. Ozone depletion affects many species at every stage of their life cycle. Some of the effects are mentioned below. Hampers growth and development in larvae

- Changes behavior and habits
- · Causes deformities in some species
- Decreases immunity. Some species have become more vulnerable to diseases and death
- Retinal damage and blindness in some species.

Effects on Marine Ecosystems

Plankton (phytoplankton and bacteriaplankton) is threatened by increased UV radiation. Marine phytoplankton plays a fundamental role in both the food chain as well as the oceanic carbon cycle. It plays an important role in converting atmospheric carbon dioxide into oxygen. Ultraviolet rays can influence the survival rates of these microscopic organisms, by affecting their orientation and mobility. This eventually disturbs and affects the entire ecosystem.

Impact on Plants

- In some species of plants, UV radiation can alter the time of flowering, as well as the number of flowers produced by a plant.
- Plant growth can be directly affected by UV-B radiation. Despite mechanisms to reduce or repair these effects, physiological and developmental processes of plants are affected.

Other Effects

Another observation is an increase in the ozone present in the lower atmosphere due to the decrease in the ozone in the stratosphere. Ozone present in the lower atmosphere is regarded as a pollutant and a greenhouse gas that can contribute to global warming and climate change. However, studies have pointed out that the lifespan of lower atmospheric ozone is quite less, compared to stratospheric ozone. At the same time, increase in the level of ozone in the lower atmosphere can enhance the ability of sunlight to synthesize vitamin D, which can be regarded as an important beneficial effect of ozone layer depletion.

Growing concern for ozone depletion led to the adoption of the Montreal Protocol in 1987, in order to reduce and control industrial emission of chlorofluorocarbons (CFCs). Such international agreements have succeeded to a great extent in reducing the emission of these compounds. However, more cooperation and understanding among all the countries is required to solve the problem completely. You too can do your bit to save the ozone. Use/buy more recycled products, save energy, use public transport, and most importantly, spread awareness. Our individual efforts can go a long way in saving the Earth's blanket.

This is one of the most important current environmental problems (Sivasakthivel and Reddy 2001).

Acid Rain

Acid rain, or acid deposition, is a broad term that includes any form of precipitation with acidic components, such as sulfuric or nitric acid that fall to the ground from the atmosphere in wet or dry forms. This can include rain, snow, fog, hail or even dust that is acidic.

Causes of Acid Rain

Acid rain results when sulfur dioxide (SO_2) and nitrogen oxides (NO_X) are emitted into the atmosphere and transported by wind and air currents. The SO_2 and NO_X react with water, oxygen and other chemicals to form sulfuric and nitric acids. These then mix with water and other materials before falling to the ground.

While a small portion of the SO_2 and NO_X that cause acid rain is from natural sources such as volcanoes, most of it comes from the burning of fossil fuels. The major sources of SO_2 and NO_X in the atmosphere are:

- Burning of fossil fuels to generate electricity. Two thirds of SO₂ and one fourth of NO_X in the atmosphere come from electric power generators.
- Vehicles and heavy equipment.
- · Manufacturing, oil refineries and other industries.

Winds can blow SO_2 and NO_X over long distances and across borders making acid rain a problem for everyone and not just those who live close to these sources.

Forms of Acid Deposition

Wet Deposition

Wet deposition is what we most commonly think of as acid rain. The sulfuric and nitric acids formed in the atmosphere fall to the ground mixed with rain, snow, fog, or hail.

Dry Deposition

Acidic particles and gases can also deposit from the atmosphere in the absence of moisture as dry deposition. The acidic particles and gases may deposit to surfaces (water bodies, vegetation, buildings) quickly or may react during atmospheric transport to form larger particles that can be harmful to human health. When the accumulated acids are washed off a surface by the next rain, this acidic water flows over and through the ground, and can harm plants and wildlife, such as insects and fish.

The amount of acidity in the atmosphere that deposits to earth through dry deposition depends on the amount of rainfall an area receives. For example, in desert areas the ratio of dry to wet deposition is higher than an area that receives several inches of rain each year.

Measuring Acid Rain

Acidity and alkalinity are measured using a pH scale for which 7.0 is neutral. The lower a substance's pH (less than 7), the more acidic it is; the higher a substance's pH (greater than 7), the more alkaline it is. Normal rain has a pH of about 5.6; it is slightly acidic because carbon dioxide (CO_2) dissolves into it forming weak carbonic acid. Acid rain usually has a pH between 4.2 and 4.4 (Fig. 5).

Policymakers, research scientists, ecologists, and modelers rely on the National Atmospheric Deposition Program's (NADP) National Trends Network (NTN) for measurements of wet deposition. The NADP/NTN collects acid rain at more than 250 monitoring sites throughout the US, Canada, Alaska, Hawaii and the US Virgin Islands. Unlike wet deposition, dry deposition is difficult and expensive to measure. Dry deposition estimates for nitrogen and sulfur pollutants are provided by the Clean Air Status and Trends Network (CASTNET). Air concentrations are measured by CASTNET at more than 90 locations.



Fig. 5 The pH scale

When acid deposition is washed into lakes and streams, it can cause some to turn acidic. The Long-Term Monitoring (LTM) Network measures and monitors surface water chemistry at over 280 sites to provide valuable information on aquatic ecosystem health and how water bodies respond to changes in acid-causing emissions and acid deposition (EPA 2008).

Genetic Engineering

Genetic modification of food using biotechnology is called genetic engineering. Genetic modification of food results in increased toxins and diseases as genes from an allergic plant can transfer to target plant. Genetically modified crops can cause serious environmental problems as an engineered gene may prove toxic to wildlife. Another drawback is that increased use of toxins to make insect resistant plant can cause resultant organisms to become resistant to antibiotics.

Genetic Engineering Risks and Impacts

Any technology that offers benefits will usually come with risks as well. In order to make wise decisions about using a technology, we must understand its potential impacts well enough to decide whether the risks are acceptably low.

What are the risks posed by the use of genetic engineering (GE) in agriculture? The answers fall mostly into two categories: risks to human health, and environmental impacts.

GE Health Risks

Health risks of genetic engineering have sometimes been described in exaggerated, alarmist terms, implying that foods made from GE crops are inherently unsafe. There is no evidence, for instance, that refined products derived from GE crops, such as starch, sugar and oils, are different than those derived from conventionally bred crops. It is also an exaggeration, however, to state that there are no health risks associated with GE. For one thing, not enough is known: research on the effects of specific genes has been limited-and tightly controlled by the industry. But we do know of ways in which genetically engineered crops could cause health problems. For instance, genes from an allergenic plant could transfer this unwanted trait to the target plant. This phenomenon was documented in 1996, as soybeans with a Brazil nut gene-added to improve their value as animal feed-produced an allergic response in test subjects with Brazil nut allergies. Unintended consequences like these underscore the need for effective regulation of GE products. In the absence of a

rigorous approval process, there is nothing to ensure that GE crops that cause health problems will always be identified and kept off the market.

GE Environmental Impacts

Genetically engineered crops can potentially cause environmental problems that result directly from the engineered traits. For instance, an engineered gene may cause a GE crop (or a wild relative of that crop) to become invasive or toxic to wildlife. But the most damaging impact of GE in agriculture so far is the phenomenon of pesticide resistance. Millions of acres of U.S. farmland are now infested by weeds that have become resistant to the herbicide glyphosate. Overuse of Monsanto's "Roundup Ready" trait, which is engineered to tolerate the herbicide, has promoted the accelerated development of resistance in several weed species. Looking for ways to fight back against these "super weeds," farmers are now turning to older, more toxic herbicides such as 2.4-D and dicamba. As if on cue, agribusiness companies have begun to develop new GE crops engineered to tolerate these older herbicides-with no guarantee that the Roundup Ready story will not repeat itself, producing a new wave of resistant weeds. And this issue is not confined to herbicides: recent reports suggest a growing problem of corn rootworms resistant to the insecticide Bt, which some corn varieties have been engineered to produce.

GE and Industrial Agriculture

As the super weed crisis illustrates, current applications of genetic engineering have become a key component of an unsustainable approach to food production: industrial agriculture, with its dependence on monoculture-supported by costly chemical inputs-at the expense of the long-term health and productivity of the farm.

A different approach to farming is available-what UCS calls "healthy farms." This approach is not only more sustainable than industrial agriculture, but often more cost-effective. Yet as long as the marketplace of agricultural products and policies is dominated by the industrial model, prioritizing expensive products over knowledge-based agro ecological approaches, healthy farm solutions face an uphill battle.

In the case of GE, better solutions include crop breeding (often assisted by molecular biology techniques) and agro ecological practices such as crop rotation, cover crops, and integrated crop/livestock management.

Such healthy farm practices are the future of U.S. agriculture-and policymakers can help speed the transition by supporting research and education on them. In the meantime, stronger regulation of the biotechnology industry is needed to minimize health and environmental risks from GE products (Nicholl 2008).

References

Agarwal SK (2005) Air pollution. APH Publishing, 323 pp

- Cardinale BJ, Duffy E, Gonzalez A, Hooper DU, Perrings C, Venail P, Narwani A, Mace GM, Tilman D, Wardle DA, Kinzig AP, Daily GC, Loreau M, Grace JB, Larigauderie A, Srivastava D, Naeem S (2012) Biodiversity loss and its impact on humanity. Nature 486 (7401):59–67
- Christensen T (1989) Sanitary landfilling: process, technology and environmental impact. Academic Press, 602 pp
- Demeritt D (2001) The construction of global warming and the politics of science. Ann Assoc Am Geogr 91(2):307–372
- Giusti L (2009) A review of waste management practices and their impact on human health. Waste Manag 29(8):2227–2239
- Goel PK (2006) Water pollution: causes, effects and control. New Age International, 418 pp

Guerrero LA, Maas G, Hogland W (2013) Solid waste management challenges for cities in developing countries. Waste Manag 33(1):220–232

Hansen J, Ruedy R, Sato M, Lo K (2002) Global warming continues. Science 295

Harrison RM (2001) Pollution: causes, effects and control, 4th edn. Royal Society of Chemistry, 579 pp

http://www.buzzle.com/articles/ozone-layer-depletion-effects-and-causes-of-ozone-depletion.html http://www.conserve-energy-future.com/causes-and-effects-of-urban-sprawl.php

http://eluxemagazine.com/magazine/human-overpopulation

https://www.epa.gov/acidrain/what-acid-rain

- http://www.ucsusa.org/food_and_agriculture/our-failing-food-system/genetic-engineering/risksof-genetic-engineering.html
- Inforesources (2005) Depletion of natural resources-implications for development: an assessment by experts
- Loáiciga HA (2003) Climate change and ground water. Ann Assoc Am Geogr 93(1):30-41

Mani D, Misra SG (2009) Soil pollution. APH Publishing, 209 pp

- Nicholl DST (2008) An introduction to genetic engineering, 3rd edn. Cambridge University Press, 350 pp
- Rowntree L, Lewis M, Price M, Wyckoff W (2015) Globalization and diversity: geography of a changing world, 4th edn. Pearson, New York
- Shafi SM (2005) Environmental pollution. Atlantic Publishers, 456 pp
- Sivasakthivel T, Reddy KKSK (2001) Ozone layer depletion and its effects: a review. Int J Environ Sci Dev 2(9):30–37
- Spellman FR (2009) The science of environmental pollution. CRC Press, 512 pp
- Steer A (2013) Resource depletion, climate change, and economic growth. The Global Citizen Foundation, Working Paper 5
- Tchobanoglous G, Kreith F (2002) Handbook of solid waste management, 2nd edn. McGraw-Hill, 834 pp
- United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) (2008) Learning about acid rain
- Viotti PR, Kauppi MV (2013) International relations and world politics, 5th edn. Pearson, New York
- World of Earth Science. Encyclopedia.com. 2017

Rarity of Endemic Medicinal Plants and Role of Herbaria for Their Conservation Against Environmental Challenges

Rizwana Khanum

Abstract Endemic plants are restricted to particular place, topography and climate. There are about 34 hotspot range from Tropical Andes with 15,000 endemic plants and covering 5.0% of total endemic flora Atlantic forest with 8000 endemic plants and covering 2.7% of total endemic World flora etc. The small population size and distribution range of endemic species, their unique biological features, especially the loss of dispersal ability, tough ecological specialization, and predicted low genetic diversity, render them extremely vulnerable to environmental changes. Because population size and population identity can influence growth and survival differently across environmental stress gradients. But endemic species grows naturally in a single geographical area, the size of which could be either narrow or relatively large and not all endemic species are rare, just as not all rare species must necessarily be endemic. Serious consequences for biodiversity/deforestation and forest degradation are the habitat loss mainly due to climatic changes for vegetation clearing, mostly for agricultural expansion and thus considered to be the most important driver of population decline and species extinctions worldwide. The impact of deforestation is more severe in hotspots containing high concentrations of globally endemic species. Other than climate change herbarium collections used for investigations include documentation of shifts in plant biodiversity with increasing urbanization, population extinction of environmentally sensitive plants, conservation priorities for taxa in endangered habitats, and human-induced reductions in individual plant size. The Pakistan Museum of Natural History (PMNH) being unique of its kind and paying major role for combating most of the issues for endemic plants.

Keywords Endemic plants \cdot Environmental changes \cdot Pakistan \cdot PMNH \cdot Conservation

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

R. Khanum (\boxtimes)

Pakistan Museum of Natural History, Garden Avenue Shakarparain Road, Islamabad 44000, Pakistan e-mail: Rizvana.khan@gmail.com; Rizwana@pmnh.gov.pk

M. Ghorbanpour and A. Varma (eds.), *Medicinal Plants and Environmental Challenges*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-68717-9_3

Introduction

More than 270,000 vascular plant species reported in whole World (Walter and Gillet 1998). Endemic taxa are those which occur in restricted geographical region (Stace 1989).

This sort of changeability is the consequence of complex interactions of different features of life history of local environmental conditions, populations and ecological and physiological requirements of particular species (Barnett and Kohn 1991). Mostly rare and endangered species confined to small populations in geographically isolated places. Rare or endemic plants may be locally common but occur in only few habitats that are geographically restricted (Kruckeberg and Rabinowitz 1985). We can say that they may also be both limited and geographically restricted, indicating specific adaptation to habitats that are rare (Rabinowitz 1981). All locally rare plants don't exhibit the same patterns due to differences of ecological and evolutionary processes that give rise to rarity (Kruckeberg and Rabinowitz 1985). The limitation of genetic diversity within and among populations of locally rare plants depends on whether a species is rare naturally or it has recently become rare as a consequence of stochastic events. Stochastic events may be anthropogenic or environmental. Naturally small plant populations may show genetic systems adjusted to close inbreeding and adaptations that counteract the disadvantage of rarity, contrary to species that have experienced severe reductions in population through anthropogenic activities like habitat destruction, fragmentation, or degradation (Barnett and Kohn 1991). Cain (1944) describes that plant endemics are usually considered to have one of two distinct historical origins.

In the first treatment of the subject, Cain classified endemics as being either "new" or "old." New endemics are recently formed species confined to a region by geographic barriers; old endemics are formerly widespread species capable of spreading again (Cain 1944).

The major factors determining the stability between new and old endemics are the age and isolation of an area. This definition would be later refined for the California flora by Stebbins and Major (1965), who classified

Species as neo- or paleoendemics. Neoendemics originate after a single founder event and have had inadequate time to spread; such taxa are also referred to as "insular endemics." Paleoendemics form via a pathway of biotype depletion, where environmental changes may lead to altered competitive regimes and habitat-specific population extirpation. As a result, paleoendemics now occupy a small subset of their former range.

Distribution and Significance of Endemic Plants

According to Kier et al. (2009) estimated endemism richness of vascular plants for 90 biogeographic regions covering the whole terrestrial area (except for Antarctica). The data shows that range equivalents of vascular plants for all 90 regions yield a



Fig. 1 Distribution of vascular plants in World. Source Kier et al. (2009)

total of 315,903. The island regions spanned a smaller latitudinal extent and were closer to the equator; possibly deform the overall representation as species richness increases and average range size decreases toward the equator. Thus that's why half of the top 20 regions in terms of endemism richness per standard area were island regions (Kier et al. 2009, Fig. 1).

The hotspots of World hold at least 150,000 plants as endemics, representing a remarkable 50% of the world's vascular plant species. This is an absolute not an accurate figure because it does not include species that are endemic to the combined area of two or more hotspots. The hotspot is an area must have at least 1500 species of endemic plants. There are about 34 hotspot range from Tropical Andes with 15,000 endemic plants and covering 5.0% of total endemic flora Atlantic forest with 8000 endemic plants and covering 2.7% of total endemic World flora etc. (CPEF Initiative).

Endemic plants are restricted to particular place, topography and climate (Kruckeberg and Rabinowitz 1985) (Fig. 2). Such native unique plants and animals that have evolved together depend upon each other for survival (Peirson 2010). These plants and animals form a complex network of relationships, an intricate web of life with each species' life cycle highly dependent on the others, also known as an ecosystem (Bascompte and Jordano 2006). For example, native plants do a better job of providing food and shelter for native wild animals than do introduced plants. Native plants are the foundation of our natural ecosystems and protect biodiversity. Biodiversity, short for biological diversity, describes the variety of life found in an ecosystem. These endemic plants are used in the development of new foods, medicines and industrial products. These plants have developed their own natural defenses against many pests and diseases, requiring less pesticide use. Reducing or eliminating the use of pesticides keeps these toxins out of our watersheds (Mahomoodally et al. 2005; Balick et al. 1996; Barik et al. 2007; Bibi et al. 2015).



Fig. 2 The-ten-families-with-the-largest-number-of-endemic-species-in-the-Malagasy [ORC: Orchidaceae (862 Species), RUB: Rubiaceae (660 species), ACA: Acanthaceae (512 species), EUP: Euphorbiaceae (504 species), FAB: Fabaceae (592 species), AST: Asteraceae (540 species), MLV: Malvaceae (466 species), APO: Apocynaceae (371 species), POA: Poaceae (536 species), LAM: Lamiaceae (240 species)]. *Source* Callmander et al. (2011)

Major Threats

The endemic plants affected by various natural and anthropogenic factors. These will be discussed below.

Small Population Size

The small population size and distribution range of endemic species, their unique biological features, especially the loss of dispersal ability, tough ecological specialization, and predicted low genetic diversity, render them extremely vulnerable to environmental changes (Whittaker and Fernández-Palacios 2007; Patiño et al. 2013; Sonne et al. 2016). Because population size and population identity can influence growth and survival differently across environmental stress gradients. Small populations are more exposed than large ones to extinction because of environmental stochasticity, genetic drift and inbreeding. (Frankham 2005; Lande 1993; Kaljund and Jaaska 2010). But endemic species, grows naturally in a single geographical area, the size of which could be either narrow or relatively large and not all endemic species are rare, just as not all rare species must necessarily be endemic (Isik 2011; Oakley and Winn 2012). Further the studies showed that the pollination limitation is likely to be the main limiting factor in size of population of

these endemic (Machaka-Houri et al. 2012; Ashman et al. 2004; Franzén et al. 2009; Knight et al. 2006). The small population because of a reduction of species richness and abundance of pollinators, a change in the pattern of foraging behaviour of flower-visiting insects, a reduction in pollinator visits per flower or average pollen loads per visit (Lamont et al. 1993; Jennersten 1988; Didham et al. 1996; Aizen and Feinsinger 1994a, b).

Habitat Fragmentation

The habitat fragmentation will disturb interactions between plant–pollinator resulting declines in plant reproduction. Additionally loss of one mutualistic partner in fragmented parts of the habitat has been predicted to causing extinctions within the fragment (Rathcke and Jules 1993; Kearns et al. 1998).

We predict high levels of pollination failure in rare plants with combinations of these characteristics as, for example, in dioecious species with fragmented populations pollinated by insects with a small foraging range. Spira (2001) considers that insurance traits such as wind pollination, self pollination and asexual reproduction are unlikely to compensate rare plants in the long term for a continuous decline in pollination and argues that the key to slowing the rate of species loss is habitat preservation. Of more immediate extinction threat are those rare plants without compensation for pollination failure (importantly those requiring regular or high levels of seed recruitment for survival), especially if reductions in pollination levels have been brought about by recent environmental change. Pollination and seed levels among plants in a community must reach a high enough threshold to account for reductions as a result of, for example, herbivory and loss of seed viability. Observations of successful pollination among threatened or rare plants alone, although providing evidence of viability, need to be accompanied by evidence of recruitment from seed, because pollination levels recorded might not be sufficient to achieve population replacement (Wilcock 2002; Spira 2001; Weekley and Race 2001; Warburton et al. 2000; Bakker and Berendse 1999; Wilcock and Neiland 1998).

Thus the understanding of the interactions between the levels of selfcompatibility and patterns of pollinator activity are mandatory to predict the impacts of habitat fragmentation. The reproductive success is affected by fragmentation depends upon interaction between the quantity and quality of pollen a plant receives and the level of self-compatibility (Aizen et al. 1994a, 2002). Repeated fires may affect population sizes and reduced plant densities, increased population fragmentation and even localized extinctions, especially for obligate seeders (Bradstock et al. 1996).

Thus we can say that habitat fragmentation includes three components (1) pure loss of habitat, (2) reduced fragment size, and (3) increased spatial isolation of remnant fragments. In addition, small populations may be more prone to extinction due to the loss of genetic variation. A decreasing population size may result in erosion of genetic variation through the loss of alleles by random genetic drift. In addition, increased selfing (in plants) and mating among closely related individuals in small populations may result in inbreeding and a reduction of the number of heterozygotes (Andren 1994; Berge et al. 1998; Schaal and Leverich 1996; Booy et al. 2000; Buza et al. 2000; Cruzan 2001; Culley and Grubb 2003).

Clearance of Native Forest

The loss of forest between 2000 and 2005 is about 7.3 million ha annually (FAO 2006, 2009) Serious consequences for biodiversity/deforestation and forest degradation are the habitat loss for vegetation clearing, mostly for agricultural expansion and thus considered to be the most important driver of population decline and species extinctions worldwide (Gibbs et al. 2010). The impact of deforestation is more severe in hotspots containing high concentrations of globally endemic species. With the current level of deforestation, most of the land area of forest supporting endemic have wiped out and much of the remaining native vegetation is highly fragmented (Pandit et al. 2007; Laurance 1991; Myers 1998; Ross et al. 2002; Allison and Hobbs 2006; Debuse et al. 2007; Ford 2011; Gibbs et al. 2010). The land-use change and their consequences for deforestation are important aspects for forest degradation (Singh et al. 2001; Sodhi et al. 2009; Echeverria et al. 2006).

Spread of Invasive Species

Invasive species as any species that successfully invades a forest type (ecosystem) where it was previously unknown, causing biological change or economic harm in that ecosystem. Those invasive species that originate from outside the ecosystem are a major cause of species extinction (Levine et al. 2002; Norton 2009). Most introductions of invasive alien species come due to human actions (Mack et al. 2000). Further, the success of invasive species depends upon series of factors like habitat alteration and degradation, community structure alteration, and over-exploitation. The systems by which invasive species effect local ecosystem functioning, and even genetic contamination. As a consequence, it altered community structure, altered biodiversity (including extinctions), homogenization of flora and/or fauna, and, ultimately, reduced ecosystem services (Diamond 1989; Chapin et al. 2000; Shea and Chesson 2002; Hooper et al. 2005; Thompson et al. 2009) The examples of the loss of native flora and fauna due to invasive species are numerous (Aarssen and Turkington 1985; Batten et al. 2006, 2008) and comparative studies like *Lolium*

perenne and Trifolium repens (Aarssen and Turkington 1985), Taraxacum ceratophorum and its invasive congener T. officinale (Brock et al. 2005), native perennial and exotic annual grasses, invasive tropical shrub Clidemia hirta (DeWalt et al. 2004), Centaurea solstitialis invasion success is influenced by Nassella pulchra (Morghan and Rice 2005), Lythrum salicaria (Lythraceae) with co-occurring native species (Nagel and Griffin 2001) etc.

Exploitation

Over-exploitation occurs when the number of individuals that are removed annually from a population exceeds the natural annual increment of that population so that it can no longer sustain itself without intervention, which leads to decline and threatens its existence. While over-exploitation affects many renewable natural resources (e.g., over-harvesting of timber, fuelwood, grazing areas, hunting, fishing), it has been severe in tropical grasslands and savannahs, and in marine ecosystems, while it is increasingly having a negative impact in tropical forests and coastal areas (MEA 2005). Over-exploitation of species may result in degradation of the ecosystems followed by the loss of genetic diversity and the extinction of species.

Environmental Challenges

Climate change considered to be as one of the utmost challenges to humankind and all other life. Medicinal plants and more precisely endemic medicinal plants are highly valuable to human livelihood (Anderson et al. 2005; Bajracharya et al. 2007; Calinger et al. 2013; Salick et al. 2014). According to the assessment of WHO about 60% of the world population and 80% of the population of developing countries depends on traditional medicine mainly derived from plants (WHO 2002). Medicinal plants are already affected by anthropogenic climate changes around the world. According to reports of Intergovernmental panel on climate change (IPCC 2007), there will be further increase in temperatures from 1.4 to 5.8 °C by the year 2100 and by 2033 there will be extreme and unpredictable weather incidents. For example more frequent and heavier monsoon rainfall, frequent and hotter summer days, less frequent and lower dry season rainfall, Stronger and more frequent storms with high winds etc. Key factors affecting endemic populations are climate change, habitat destruction, overharvesting and decline in natural pollinators resulting from the use of insecticides (Koopowitz 2001; Vaasa and Rosenberg 2004; Byg and Salick 2009).

The endemic plant species are considered more prone to extinction as more vulnerable to climate change and thus face high risk. Therefore, an improved knowledge of the factors responsible for such change requires intensive and

continuous field survey. Further research on threatened endemic medicinal plant under climate change scenario is fundamental for developing conservation strategies as well as practicing of cultivating medicinal plants through the involvement of local communities with the traditional indigenous knowledge can prevent the impact of climate change (Parmesan 2006; Benning et al. 2002; Keutgen et al. 1997; Mooney et al. 1991). Thus may be presumed that endemic plants face extraordinarily high risk from climate change because their narrow edaphic niches limit their possibilities to adapt through migration (Harrison et al. 2009).

Thus species endemic to regions or ecosystems that are especially susceptible to climate change, for example *Rhodiola rosea* of the Canadian Arctic an snow lotus (*Saussurea laniceps*, right—in the wild, for sale and drying) (Susan 2009) of the Tibetan mountains are specifically identified as medicinal species that could face significant threats from climate change, *Tylophora hirsuta* in Northern parts of Pakistan (Sauve 2004; Brown et al. 2002; Lutz 2009; Eklabya et al. 2010; Khanum et al. 2013).

There are various indirect factors like people's livelihoods, population growth, governance limitations, lack of transparency in decision-making, deficient normative frameworks, insufficient resources for implementation and enforcement of laws and regulations, growing international demand for agricultural products, increasing interest in biofuels, confused sector policies, local cultural and demographic factors, climate change, and perverse subsidies.. These complex interactions of factors have made it difficult to change the course of deforestation, particularly in developing countries apart from direct driver of agriculture for deforestation (MEA 2005; FAO 2006, 2009; Kanninen et al. 2007; Flynn et al. 2009; Laliberté et al. 2010).

Conservational Implications (Policy Initiative)

The Sixth Conference of the Parties (COP6) to the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) held in April, 2002 adopted the Global Strategy for Plant Conservation (GSPC), which includes 16 outcome-oriented targets for 2010. The long-term objective of the GSPC is to halt the continuing loss of plant diversity. At COP7 held last year in Kuala Lumpur, the CBD moved to integrate the targets of the GSPC into all its relevant thematic and cross-cutting programs. A move to integrate the GTI and the GSPC is reflected in a growing trend to include conservation assessments in taxonomic works. The conservation community urgently needs input from taxonomists; P. Raven has pointed out that "The GSPC is the greatest opportunity so far for plant conservation" (Bramwell et al. 2002). Mainly IUCN develop criteria in 1994 and revised in 2001 and based on risk of extinction can classify (IUCN 1994, 2001). However Red Lists for tropical countries are incomplete and it is nearly impossible to assess how many species are truly threatened at a global scale or at a regional/hot spot level. All species must be assessed (or reassessed) using the most recent Red List criteria (IUCN 2001) to determine those that are "threatened", whether critically Endangered (CR),

Endangered (EN), or Vulnerable (VU) (i.e., those facing an "extremely high risk" of extinction, a "very high risk", or a "high risk") (IUCN 2004; IUCN & SSC 2004).

In addition to this, strengthening of a protectionist policy is clearly the most practical means to enhance the value of remaining native forests. Focusing on the most damaged ecosystems, is likely where we will observe our greatest achievement. Similarly increasing popularity of private agreements between landholders and governments for the gazetting of privately owned native vegetation remnants, private acquisition of large tracts of land by non-governmental organizations, replanting schemes funded, biodiversity corridor plans etc. (Sodhi et al. 2009; Ford 2011).

Thus policies to achieve a forest transition include measures to develop the supply of wood and to manage the demand for it. So investments in the area and productivity of plantations, as well as in the adoption of sustainable forest management practices in natural forests require for rising wood supply without declining forest area requires. Interventions from demand-side include institutions that promote ecoconsumerism, like through certification schemes, substitution of wood by other products and recycling and reuse efforts etc. A forest transition can be enhanced by policies that increase the value of intact forests through a combination of payments for ecosystem services and land-use zoning schemes, including protected areas. These policies are reviewed elsewhere (Auld et al. 2008; Dauvergne and Lister 2010; Lambin and Meyfroidt 2011). The most important implications of the degree to which Worlds native forests have disappeared or been degraded are that management must emphasize the maintenance of existing primary forest patches, as well as focus on the regeneration of matrix areas between fragments to increase native habitat area, connectivity and ecosystem functions (Newton and Oldfield 2008).

Ramsar Convention, CITES, Convention on Biological Diversity, The United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC or FCCC), The United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification (UNCCD), Kyoto Protocol are also develop for various inquiry based issues for terrestrial to wetland plants including endemic medicinal ones (Matthews 1993; Yadab 2008; http://unfccc.int/press/fact_sheets/items/4977.php; http://www.cbd.int/history/; http://www.unccd. int/convention/menu.php).

Role of Herbaria for Conservation of Medicinal Endemic and Pakistan' Overview

A voucher can be broadly defined as a representative sample of an expertly identified organism that is deposited and stored at a facility from which researchers may later obtain the specimen for examination and further study (Culley 2013).

The distribution of a plant species is typically plotted from locality data on herbarium specimens in floristic and taxonomic studies, which typically provide the best existing information regarding distribution. Herbarium specimens are also frequently used to assess changes usually expansions, in the range of a species over time (e.g., Stuckey 1980; Pyšek 1991; Weber 1998; Delisle et al. 2003), study the occurrence and distribution of plant pathogens (e.g., Ristaino 1988; Koponen et al. 2000: Antonovics et al. 2003: Applequist et al. 2007), and sometimes to identify temporal changes in phenotype, genotype or phenology within a specified range (e.g., Parkhurst 1978; Saltonstall 2002; Primack et al. 2004). In addition to these uses, herbarium records may play a significant role in evaluation of conservation status, conservation priorities or changes over time in species frequency (e.g., Burgman et al. 1995; MacDougall et al. 1998; Funk et al. 1999; Ter Steege et al. 2000; Golding 2001; Hedenas et al. 2002; Schatz 2002; Willis et al. 2003; Ungricht et al. 2005). But inadequate geographic coverage or various collection biases resulted in limited accuracy in predicting distribution (e.g., Rich and Woodruff 1992; Heyligers 1998; MacDougall et al. 1998; Ungricht et al. 2005). An additional source of error may be that previously documented populations are no longer present; Kropf and Bernhardt (2004) found that of 13 populations of Anthyllis montana subsp. jacquinii, documented by 305 herbarium collections, seven were apparently extinct. As the assumption may be made by potential end users that a dot map based on herbarium specimens represents current presence at the indicated localities, especially for conservation purposes it would be valuable to have some estimate of the validity of historical data in predicting current distributions. Furthermore, even if a previously existing species does not occur in later collections from the same locality, this may specify not actual loss of the population but chance failure to relocate it, collection at the wrong time of the year, etc. (Markos et al. 2016; Ames and Spooner 2008).

Example The herbarium data collections indicate various trends including species population status. For example, Nilsson and Nilsson (1983) determined that the noticeable rate of species turnover on six carefully surveyed small islands was up to three times the actual rate. The basic purpose of the study was to analyze the predictive value of herbarium collections by attempting to relocate historical populations of Echinacea that were documented in herbarium collections from the state of Missouri. Echinacea is endemic to North America; the most recent revision recognized four species (Binns et al. 2002), most including multiple varieties that correspond to the nine species in the treatment by McGregor (1968). Thus, the four taxa native to Missouri are *E. atrorubens* (Nutt.) Nutt. var.paradoxa (J.B. Norton) Cronq., *E. pallida* (Nutt.) Nutt. var. *pallida*, *E. pallida* var. *simulata* (McGregor) Binns, and *E. purpurea* (L.) Moench. According to Binns et al.'s (2002) classification, but *E. paradoxa* (J.B. Norton) Britton, *E. pallida*, *E. simulata* McGregor,

and *E. purpurea* according to McGregor's (1968) classification, which remains the more commonly used at present. Among them two species like *Echinacea pallida* var. *pallida* and *E. purpurea* are in commercial demand for their medicinal value.

Similarly, impacts of climate change on plants using herbarium specimens to show how temperature variation causes changes in geographic distributions (Feeley 2012) and flowering times (Primack et al. 2004; Lavoie and Lachance 2006; Miller-Rushing et al. 2006; Robbirt et al. 2011; Panchen et al. 2012; Calinger et al. 2013). Furthermore, herbarium data have been used to locate alpine areas for monitoring of especially sensitive native plants (Gallagher et al. 2009), and evaluate diversity gradients in different areas of the world in relation to climate change (Droissart et al. 2012). Historical specimens also been used to observe the relation of plants with their changing air quality and alterations in nutrient cycling. For example, Lewis and Clark were analyzed using carbon isotope ratios to generate baseline data on the amount of carbon present in the atmosphere over 200 year ago in herbarium specimens (Teece et al. 2002). In addition, it was proved that reduction of stimatatl density of leaves is related to rising CO₂ levels over the past 200 year (Woodward 1987; Beerling and Chaloner 1993), and human activities within the past 100 year resulted in increasing levels of nitrogen and other nutrients in bryophytes (Peñuelas and Filella 2001).

Other than climate change herbarium collections used for investigations include documentation of shifts in plant biodiversity with increasing urbanization (Dolan et al. 2011), population extinction of environmentally sensitive plants (Lienert et al. 2002), conservation priorities for taxa in endangered habitats (MacDougall et al. 1998), and human-induced reductions in individual plant size (Law and Salick 2005). The specimens have also been used to examine the invasive species across a region, as in the cases of the ornamental Callery pear tree (*Pyrus calleryana* Decne.) following its commercial introduction in the United States in 1962 (Vincent 2005), and *Typha* species, which have been spreading across North America for well over 100 year (Shih and Finkelstein 2008).

Although the prospective for degradation due to age and storage conditions, DNA can sometimes be obtained from historical and modern herbarium specimens thus allowing genetic comparisons across time to examine population bottlenecks and other processes (e.g., Wandeler et al. 2007; Lister et al. 2010; Zuntini et al. 2013; Khanum et al. 2016).

Role of Pakistan Museum of Natural History

Endemic plants have special importance and give uniqueness to a region. Pakistan has also rich in endemic plants and 7.8% flora containing 400 species belonging to c. 169 genera and 45 families are endemic in Pakistan (Ali 2008). Regarding the





regional distribution most of endemic plants restricted to north of the country including Kashmir mountains. According to Ali and Qaiser (1986) Leguminoseae, Asteraceae, Apiaceae, Poaceae and Brassicaceae are among the families having more of endemic plants (Fig. 3). Among these the genus "*Astragalus*" contains 37 the largest recorded endemic species. North of country include most of flora from Hindukush and Himalayan region like Chitral and Kararkorum range like Gilgit & Baltistan.

Pakistan Museum of Natural History (PMNH) is unique one representing most of floral specimens from various geographic regions and established in 1976 (www. pmh.gov.pk). Apart from PMNH, several universities are also collecting plants like KAR in University of Karachi, IBD in Qiad I Azam University etc. But the uniqueness of PMNH makes it prominent with all facilities that could be provided to researcher, scholar and other students.

Now the collection/section for endemic plants is underway through the funding of Rufford, through which each of the unique plant could be assessable and explored for various studies range from conservation (In situ or ex situ), phonological changes, population size etc.

Endemic medicinal plants of Pakistan and climate change.

According to assessment based on herbarium (PMNH, NARC, KAR) as well as field data medicinal plants like *Pentatropis spiralis*, *Tylophora hirsuta*, and *Vincetoxicumarnottianum* under the future climate change scenario, the Maxent model predicted habitat gains for *P. spiralis* in southern Punjab and Balochistan, **BUT** loss of habitat in south-eastern Sindh. *Vincetoxicum arnottianum* as well as *T. hirsuta* would gain new habitat in upper Peaks of northern parts of Pakistan. *T. hirsuta* is predicted to lose most of the habitats in northern Punjab and in parches from lower peaks of Galliat, Zhob, Qalat etc. (Khanum et al. 2013, Fig. 4).



Fig. 4 Effect of climate change on medicinal endemic plants of Pakistan (Khanum et al. 2013)

References

- Aarssen LW, Turkington R (1985) Biotic specialization between neighboring genotypes in *Lolium* perenne and *Trifolium repens* from a permanent pasture. J Ecol 73:605–614
- Aizen MA, Feinsinger P (1994a) Forest fragmentation, pollination, and plant reproduction in a Chaco dry forest in Argentina. Ecology 75:330–351
- Aizen MA, Feinsinger P (1994b) Habitat fragmentation, native insect pollinators, and feral Honey-bees in Argentine Chaco Serrano. Ecol Appl 4:378–392

- Aizen MA, Ashworth L, Galetto L (2002) Reproductive success in fragmented habitats: do compatibility systems and pollination specialization matter? J Veg Sci 13:885–892
- Ali SI (2008) Significance of flora with special reference to Pakistan. Pak J Bot 40(3):967-971
- Ali SI, Qaiser M (1986) A phytogeographic analysis of the phanerogams of Pakistan and Kashmir. Proc R Soc Edinb 89B:89–101
- Allison HE, Hobbs RJ (2006) Science and policy in natural resource management: understanding system complexity. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, p 241
- Ames M, Spooner DM (2008) DNA from herbarium specimens settles a controversy about origins of the European potato. Am J Bot 95:252–257
- Anderson D, Salick J, Moseley RK, Ou XK (2005) Conserving the sacred medicine mountains: a vegetation analysis of Tibetan sacred sites in Northwest Yunnan. Biodivers Conserv 14:3065– 3091
- Andren H (1994) Effects of habitat fragmentation on birds and mammals in landscapes with different proportions of suitable habitat: a review. Oikos 71:355–366
- Antonovics J, Hood ME, Thrall PH, Abrams JY, Duthie GM (2003) Herbarium studies on the distribution of anther-smut fungus (*Microbotryum violaceum*) and *Silene* species (*Caryophyllaceae*) in the eastern United States. Am J Bot 90:1522–1531
- Applequist WL, Mcglinn DJ, Miller M, Long QG, Miller JS (2007) How well do herbarium data predict the location of present populations? A test using *Echniacea* species in Missouri. Biodivers Conserv 16:1397–1407
- Ashman TL, Knight TM, Steets JA, Amarasekare P, Burd M, Campbell DR, Dudash MR, Johnston MO, Mazer SJ, Mitchell RJ, Morgan MT, Wilson WG (2004) Pollen limitation of plant reproduction: ecological and evolutionary causes and consequences. Ecology 85:2408– 2421
- Auld G, Guldbrandsen LH, McDermott CL (2008) Certification schemes and the impacts of forests and forestry. Annu Rev Environ Resour 33:187–211
- Bajracharya S R, Mool P K, Shrestha B R (2007) Impact of climate change on Himalayan Glaciers and Glacial Lakes: case studies on GLOF and associated hazards in Nepal and Bhutan. Intergrated Centre for International Mountain Development, Kathmandu, 230p
- Bakker JP, Berendse F (1999) Constraints in the restoration of ecological diversity in grasslands and heathland communities. Trends Ecol Evol 14:63–68
- Balick MJ, Elisabetsky E, Laird SA (eds) (1996) Medicinal resources of the tropical forest: biodiversity and its importance to human health. Columbia University Press, New York
- Barik SK, Haridasan K, Lakadong NJ (2007) Medicinal plant resources of Meghalaya: endemism, threat status and consumption pattern. ENVIS Forestry Bull 7:17–26
- Barnett SC, Kohn JR (1991) Genetic and evolutionary consequences of small population size in plants. In: Falk DA, Holsinger KE (eds) Genetic and conservation of rare plants. Oxford University Press, New York, p 283
- Bascompte J, Jordano P (2006) The structure of plant-animal mutualistic networks. In: Pascual M, Dunne J (eds) Ecological networks. Oxford University Press, Oxford, pp 143–159
- Batten KM, Scow KM, Davies KF, Harrison SP (2006) Two invasive plants alter soil microbial community composition in serpentine grasslands. Biol Invasions 8:217–230
- Batten KM, Scow KM, Espeland EK (2008) Soil microbial community associated with an invasive grass differentially impacts native plant performance. Microb Ecol 55:220–228
- Beerling DJ, Chaloner WG (1993) Evolutionary responses of stomatal density to global CO_2 change. Biol J Lin Soc 48:343–353
- Benning TL, LaPointe D, Atkinson CT, Vitousek PM (2002) Interactions of climate change with biological invasions and land use in the Hawaiian Islands: modelling the fate of endemic birds using a geographic information system. PANS 99(22):14246–14249
- Berge G, Nordal I, Hestmark G (1998) The effect of breeding systems and pollination vectors on the genetic variation of small plant populations within an agricultural landscape. Oikos 81:17–29

- Bibi T, Ahmad M, Mohammad TN, Jabeen R, Sultana S, Zafar M, Zain-ul-Abidin S (2015) The endemic medicinal plants of Northern Balochistan, Pakistan and their uses in traditional medicine. J Ethnopharmacol. doi:10.1016/j.jep.2015.06.050
- Binns SE, Baum BR, Arnason JT (2002) A taxonomic revision of *Echinacea* (Asteraceae). Syst Bot 27:610–632
- Booy G, Hendriks RJJ, Smulders MJM, Van Groenendael J M, Vosman B (2000) Genetic diversity and the survival of populations. Plant Biol 2:379–395
- Bradstock RA, Bedward M, Scott J, Keith DA (1996) Simulation of the effect of spatial and temporal variation in fire regimes on the population viability of a *Banksia* species. Conserv Biol 10:776–784
- Bramwell D, Raven PH, Synge H (2002) Implementing the global strategy for plant conservation. Plant Talk 30:32–37
- Brock MT, Weinig C, Galen C (2005) A comparison of phenotypic plasticity in the native dandelion *Taraxacum ceratophorum* and its invasive congener *T. officinale*. New Phytol 166:173–183
- Brown RP, Gerbarg PL, Ramazanov Z (2002) *Rhodiola rosea*: a phytomedicinal overview. HerbalGram 56:40–52
- Burgman MA, Grimson RC, Ferson S (1995) Inferring threat from scientific collections. Conserv Biol 9:923–928
- Buza L, Young A, Thrall P (2000) Genetic erosion, inbreeding and reduced fitness in fragmented populations of the endangered tetraploid pea *Swaisonia recta*. Biol Conserv 93:177–186
- Byg A, Salick J (2009) Local perspectives on a global phenomenon—climate change in Eastern Tibetan villages. Glob Environ Change 19:156–166
- Cain SA (1944) Foundations of plant geography. Harper, New York
- Calinger KM, Queenborough S, Curtis PS (2013) Herbarium specimens reveal the footprint of climate change on flowering trends across north-central North America. Ecol Lett 16:1037–1044
- Callmander MW, Phillipson PB, Schatz GE et al (2011) The endemic and non-endemic vascular flora of Madagascar updated. Plant Ecol Evol 144:121–125
- CEPF is a joint initiative of l'Agence Française de Développement, Conservation International, the European Union, the Global Environment Facility, the Government of Japan, the MacArthur Foundation and the World Bank. http://www.cepf.net/resources/hotspots/Hotspots-Revisited/ Key-Findings/Pages/default.aspx
- Chapin FS, Zavaleta ES, Eviner VT et al (2000) Consequences of changing biodiversity. Nature 405:234–242
- Cruzan MB (2001) Population size and fragmentation thresholds for the maintenance of genetic diversity in the herbaceous endemic *Scuttellaria montana* (Lamiaceae). Evolution 55:1569– 1580
- Culley TM (2013) Why vouchers matter in botanical research. Appl Plant Sci. http://www.bioone. org/doi/pdf/10.3732/apps.1300076
- Culley TM, Grubb TC (2003) Genetic effects of habitat fragmentation in *Viola pubescens* (Violaceae), a perennial herb with chasmogamous and cleistogamous flowers. Mol Ecol 12:2919–2930
- Dauvergne P, Lister J (2010) The prospects and limits of eco-consumerism: shopping our way to less deforestation? Organ Environ 23:132–154
- Debuse V, King J, House A (2007) Effect of fragmentation, habitat loss and within-patch habitat characteristics on ant assemblages in semi-arid woodlands of eastern Australia. Landscape Ecol 22:731–745
- Delisle F, Lavoie C, Jean M, Lachance D (2003) Reconstructing the spread of invasive plants: taking into account biases associated with herbarium specimens. J Biogeogr 30:1033–1042
- DeWalt SJ, Denslow JS, Ickes K (2004) Natural-enemy release facilitates habitat expansion of the invasive tropical shrub *Clidemia hirta*. Ecology 85:471–483
- Diamond JM (1989) Overview of recent extinctions. In: Western D, Pearl MC (eds) Conservation for the 21st century. Oxford University Press, Oxford, pp 37–41

- Didham RK et al (1996) Insects in fragmented forests: a functional approach. Trends Ecol Evol 11:255–260
- Dolan RW, Moore MM, Stephens JD (2011) Documenting effects of urbanization on flora using herbarium records. J Ecol 99:1055–1062
- Droissart V, Hardy OJ, Sonké B, Dahdouh-Guebas F, Stévart T (2012) Subsampling herbarium collections to assess geographic diversity gradients: a case study with endemic Orchidaceae and Rubiaceae in Cameroon. Biotropica 44:44–52
- Echeverria C, Coomesa D, Salas J et al (2006) Rapid deforestation and fragmentation of Chilean temperate forests. Biol Conserv 130:481–494
- Eklabya S, Nakul C, Krishna PO (2010) Mountain biodiversity conservation and management: a paradigm shift in policies and practices in the Hindu Kush-Himalayas. Ecol Res 25(5):909–923
- FAO (2006) Global Forest Resources Assessment 2005. Progress towards sustainable forest management. FAO Forestry Paper 147. FAO, Rome, Italy, 320p
- FAO (2009) Situación de los bosques del mundo 2009. FAO, Rome, p 158
- Feeley KJ (2012) Distributional migrations, expansions, and contractions of tropical plant species as revealed in dated herbarium records. Glob Change Biol 18:1335–1341
- Flynn D, Gogol-Prokurat M, Nogeire T et al (2009) Loss of functional diversity under land use intensification across multiple taxa. Ecol Lett 12:22–33
- Ford HA (2011) The causes of decline of birds of eucalypt woodlands: advances in our knowledge over the last 10 years. Emu 111:1–9
- Frankham R (2005) Stress and adaptation in conservation genetics. J Evol Biol 18:750-755
- Franzén M, Larsson M, Nilsson SG (2009) Small localized population sizes and high habitat patch fidelity in a specialized solitary bee. J Insect Conserv 13:89–95
- Funk VA, Zermoglio MF, Nasir N (1999) Testing the use of specimen collection data and GIS in biodiversity exploration and conservation decision making in Guyana. Biodivers Conserv 8:727–751
- Gallagher RV, Hughes L, Leishman MR (2009) Phenological trends among Australian alpine species: using herbarium records to identify climate-change indicators. Aust J Bot 57:1–9
- Gibbs HK, Ruesch AS, Achard F et al (2010) Tropical forests were the primary sources of new agricultural land in the 1980s and 1990s. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:16732–16737
- Golding JS (2001) Southern African herbaria and Red Data Lists. Taxon 50:593-602
- Harrison S, Damschen E, Going BM (2009) Climate gradients, climate change, and special edaphic floras. Northeastern Naturalist 16:121–130
- Hedenas L, Bisang I, Tehler A, Hamnede M, Jaederfelt K, Odelvik G (2002) A herbarium based method for estimates of temporal frequency changes: mosses in Sweden. Biol Conserv 105:321–331
- Heyligers PC (1998) Some New South Wales coastal plant distributions: a comparison of herbarium records with transect survey data. Cunninghamia 5:645–664
- Hooper DU, Chapin FS, Ewel JJ et al (2005) Effects of biodiversity on ecosystem functioning: a consensus of current knowledge. Ecol Monogr 75:3–35

http://unfccc.int/press/fact_sheets/items/4977.php

http://www.cbd.int/history/

http://www.unccd.int/convention/menu.php

- IPCC (2007) Contribution of working group II to the fourth assessment report of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. In: Parry ML, Canziani OF, Palutikof JP, Van der Linden PJ, Hanson CE (eds) Cambridge University Press, Cambridge
- Işık K (2011) Rare and endemic species: why are they prone to extinction? Turk J Bot 35:411–417 IUCN (1994) IUCN Red List categories. IUCN Species Survival Commission, Gland
- IUCN (2001) IUCN Red List categories and criteria: Version 3.1. IUCN Species Survival Commission, Gland
- IUCN (2004) IUCN Red List of threatened species. World Wide Web access: http://www.redlist. org/
- IUCN & SSC (2004) Guidelines for using the IUCN Red List categories and criteria, Gland, Switzerland

- Jennersten O (1988) Pollination in *Dianthus deltoides* (Caryophyllaceae): effects of habitat fragmentation on visitation and seed set. Conserv Biol 2:359–366
- Kaljund K, Jaaska V (2010) No loss of genetic diversity in small and isolated populations of *Medicago sativa* subsp. *falcate*. Biochem Syst Ecol 38:510–520
- Kanninen M, Murdiyarso D, Seymour F et al (2007) Do trees grow on money? The implications of deforestation research for policies to promote REDD. CIFOR, Bogor, p 61
- Kearns CA et al (1998) Endangered mutualisms: the conservation of plant–pollinator interactions. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 29:83–112
- Keutgen N, Chen K, Lenz F (1997) Responses of strawberry leaf photosynthesis, chlorophyll fluorescence and macronutrient contents to elevated CO₂. J Plant Physiol 150:395–400
- Khanum R, Grimm WG, Surveswaran S et al (2016) *Cynanchum* (Apocynaceae: Asclepiadoideae): a pantropical Asclepiadoid genus revisited. Taxon 65(3):467–486
- Khanum R, Mumtaz AS, Kumar S. (2013) Predicting impacts of climate change on medicinal asclepiads of Pakistan using maxent modeling. Acta Oecologica 49:23–31
- Kier G, Holger K, Tien ML et al (2009) A global assessment of endemism and species richness across island and mainland regions. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 3(106):9322–9327
- Knight TM, Steets JA, Ashman TL (2006) A quantitative synthesis of pollen supplementation experiments highlights the contribution of resource allocation to estimates of pollen limitation. Am J Bot 93:271–277
- Koopowitz H (2001) Orchids and their conservation. Batsford, London
- Koponen HS, Hellqvist H, Lindqvist-Kreuze H et al (2000) Occurrence of *Peronospora sparsa* (*P. rubi*) on cultivated and wild *Rubus* species in Finland and Sweden. Ann Appl Biol 137:107–112
- Kropf M, Bernhardt KG (2004) The historical distribution of Anthyllis montana subsp. jacquinii (Fabaceae) in Austria: insights from herbarium material. In: Planta Europa, 4th European conference on the conservation of wild plants, 17–20 Sept 2004, Valencia, Spain. Available on the World Wide Web at http://www.nerium.net/plantaeuropaea/Download/Procedings/Kropf_ Bernhart.pdf. Accessed 2 May 2005
- Kruckeberg AR, Rabinowitz D (1985) Biological aspects of endemism in higher plants. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 16:447–479
- Laliberté E, Wells JA, DeClerck F et al (2010) Land-use intensification reduces functional redundancy and response diversity in plant communities. Ecol Lett 13:76–86
- Lambin EF, Meyfroidt P (2011) Global land use change, economic globalization, and the looming land scarcity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108:3465–3472
- Lamont BB et al (1993) Population fragmentation may reduce fertility to zero in *Banksia goodii* a demonstration of the Allee effect. Oecologia 94:446–450
- Lande R (1993) Risks of population extinction from demographic and environmental stochasticity and random catastrophes. Am Nat 142:911–927
- Laurance WF (1991) Edge effects in tropical forest fragments: application of a model for the design of nature reserves. Biol Conserv 57:205-220
- Lavoie C, Lachance D (2006) A new herbarium-based method for reconstructing the phenology of plant species across large areas. Am J Bot 93:512–516
- Law W, Salick J (2005) Human induced dwarfing of Himalayan snow lotus, *Saussurea laniceps* (Asteraceae). Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:10218–10220
- Levine JM, Kennedy T, Naeem S (2002) Neighbourhood effects of species diversity on biological invasions and their relationship to community patterns. In: Loreau M, Naeem S, Inchausti P (eds) Biodiversity and ecosystem functioning. Oxford University Press, Oxford, pp 114–125
- Lienert J, Fischer M, Diemer M (2002) Local extinctions of the wetland specialist Swertia perennis L. (Gentianaceae) in Switzerland: a revisitation study based on herbarium records. Biol Conserv 103(1):65–76
- Lister DL, Ower MAB, Jones MK (2010) Herbarium specimens expand the geographical and temporal range of germplasm data in phylogeographical studies. Taxon 59:1321–1323
- Macdougall AS, Loo JA, Clayden SR et al (1998) Defining conservation priorities for plant taxa in southeastern New Brunswick, Canada using herbarium records. Biol Conserv 86:325–338
- Machaka-Houri N, Al-Zein MS, Westbury DB et al (2012) Reproductive success of the rare endemic *Orchis galilaea* (Orchidaceae) in Lebanon. Turk J Bot 36:677–682
- Mack RN, Simberloff D, Lonsdale WM et al (2000) Biotic invasions: causes, epidemiology, global consequences, and control. Ecol Appl 10:689–710
- Mahomoodally MF, Gurib-Fakim A, Subratty AH (2005) Antimicrobial activities and phytochemical profiles of endemic medicinal plants of Mauritius. J Pharma Biol 43(3):237–242. doi:10.1080/13880200590928825
- Markos S, Richard LM, Baxter D (2016) A powerful resource for plant conservation efforts: the consortium of California herbaria reaches two million specimens. Fremontia 44(1):16–19
- Matthews GVT (1993) The Ramsar Convention on Wetlands: its history and development. Ramsar Convention Bureau, Gland
- McGregor RL (1968) The taxonomy of the genus *Echinacea* (Compositae). Univ Kansas Sci Bull 68:113–142
- MEA (Millennium Ecosystem Assessment) (2005) Ecosystem and human well-being. Synthesis. Island Press, Washington D.C., p p137
- Miller-Rushing AJ, Primack RB, Primack D et al (2006) Photographs and herbarium specimens as tools to document phonological changes in response to global warming. Am J Bot 93:1667–1674
- Mooney HA, Winner WE, Pell EJ (1991) Response of plants to multiple stresses. Academic Press, San Diego
- Morghan KJR, Rice KJ (2005) Centaurea solstitialis invasion success is influenced by Nassella pulchra size. Restor Ecol 13:524–528
- Myers N (1998) Threatened biotas: "hot spots" in tropical forests. Environmentalist 8:187-208
- Nagel JM, Griffin KL (2001) Construction cost and invasive potential: comparing Lythrum salicaria (Lythraceae) with co-occurring native species along pond banks. Am J Bot 88:2252– 2258
- Newton AC, Oldfield S (2008) Red Listing the world's tree species: a review of recent progress. Endanger Species Res 6:137–147
- Nilsson SG, Nilsson IN (1983) Are estimated species turnover rates on islands largely sampling errors? Am Nat 121:595–597
- Norton DA (2009) Species invasions and the limits to restoration: learning from the New Zealand experience. Science 325:569–571
- Oakley CG, Winn AA (2012) Effects of population size and isolation on heterosis, mean fitness, and inbreeding depression in a perennial plant. New Phytol 196(1):261–280
- Panchen ZA, Primack RB, Ko TA et al (2012) Herbarium specimens, photographs, and field observations show Philadelphia area plants are responding to climate change. Am J Bot 99:751–756
- Pandit MK, Navjot SS, Koh LP et al (2007) Unreported yet massive deforestation driving loss of endemic biodiversity in Indian Himalaya. Biodivers Conserv 16(1):153–163
- Parkhurst DF (1978) The adaptive significance of stomatal occurrence on one or both surfaces of leaves. J Ecol 66:367–383
- Parmesan C (2006) Ecological and evolutionary responses to recent climate change. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 37:637–639
- Patiño J et al (2013) Baker's law and the island syndromes in bryophytes. J Ecol 101:1245-1255
- Peirson JA (2010) Biogeography, ecology, and evolution of the endemic vascular flora of the glaciated Great Lakes Region: a case study of the Solidago Simplex Species Complex. Ph.D. Dissertation, University of Michigan
- Peñuelas J, Filella I (2001) Herbaria century record of increasing eutrophication in Spanish terrestrial ecosystems. Glob Change Biol 7:427–433
- Primack D, Imbres C, Primack RB et al (2004) Herbarium specimens demonstrate earlier flowering times in response to warming in Boston. Am J Bot 91:1260–1264
- Pyšek P (1991) *Heracleum mantegazzianum* in the Czech Republic: dynamics of spreading from the historical perspective. Folia Geobot Phytotaxon 26:439–454

- Rabinowitz D (1981) Seven forms of rarity. In: Synge H (ed) Biological aspects of rare plant conservation. Wiley, New York, pp 205–218
- Rathcke BJ, Jules ES (1993) Habitat fragmentation and plant–pollinator interactions. Curr Sci 65:273–277
- Rich TCG, Woodruff ER (1992) Recording bias in botanical surveys. Watsonia 19:73-95
- Ristaino JB (1988) The importance of archival and herbarium materials in understanding the role of oospores in late blight epidemics of the past. Phytopathology 88:1120–1130
- Robbirt KM, Davy AJ, Hutchings MJ et al (2011) Validation of biological collections as a source of phenological data for use in climate change studies: a case study with the orchid *Ophrys sphegodes*. J Ecol 99:235–241
- Ross KA, Fox BJ, Fox MD (2002) Changes to plant species richness in forest fragments: fragment age, disturbance and fire history may be as important as area. J Biogeogr 29:749–765
- Salick J, Ghimire KS, Fang Z et al (2014) Himalayan alpine vegetation, climate change and mitigation. J Ethnobiol 34(3):276–293
- Saltonstall K (2002) Cryptic invasion by a non-native genotype of the common reed, *Phragmites australis*, into North America. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:2445–2449
- Sauve M-R (2004) *Rhodiola* (golden root) to the rescue for Inuit (English translation). In: University of Montreal Forum, September 18, vol 41, no. 4
- Schaal BA, Leverich WJ (1996) Molecular variation in isolated plant populations. Plant Species Biol 11:33–40
- Schatz GE (2002) Taxonomy and herbaria in service of plant conservation: lessons from Madagascar's endemic families. Ann Mo Bot Gard 89:145–152
- Shea K, Chesson P (2002) Community ecology theory as a framework for biological invasions. Trends Ecol Evol 17:170–176
- Shih JG, Finkelstein SA (2008) Range dynamics and invasive tendencies in *Typha latifolia* and *Typha angustifolia* in eastern North America derived from herbarium and pollen records. Wetlands 28:1–16
- Singh A, Shi H, Foresman T et al (2001) Status of the world's remaining closed forests: an assessment using satellite data and policy options. Ambio 30:67–69
- Sodhi NS, Brook BW, Bradshaw CJA (2009) Causes and consequences of species extinctions. In: Levin SA (ed) The Princeton guide to ecology. Princeton University Press, Princeton, pp 514– 520
- Sonne J, Ana M, Gonzales M et al (2016) High proportion of smaller ranged hummingbird species coincides with ecological specialization across the Americas. In: Proceedings of Royal Society B, p 283
- Spira TP (2001) Plant–pollinator interactions: a threatened mutualism with implications for the ecology and management of rare plants. Nat Areas J 21:78–88
- Stace CA (1989) Plant taxonomy and biosystematics (2nd edn). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp 74–75
- Stebbins GL, Major J (1965) Endemism and speciation in the California flora. Ecol Monogr 35:1– 35
- Stuckey RL (1980) Distributional history of *Lythrum salicaria* (purple loosestrife) in North America. Bartonia 47:3–20
- Susan L (2009) Tired? Stressed? Have some *Rhodiola rosea*. Renewal Now; Winter: 3. http:// arrgo.ca/article/tired-stressed-have-some-rhodiola-rosea
- Teece MA, Fogel ML, Tuross N et al (2002) The Lewis and Clark Herbarium of the Academy of Natural Sciences, Part 3. Modern environmental applications of a historic nineteenth century botanical collection. Notulae Nat 477:1–16
- Ter Steege H, Jansen-Jacobs MJ, Datadin VK (2000) Can botanical collections assist in a National Protected Area Strategy in Guyana? Biodivers Conserv 9:215–240
- Thompson I, Mackey B, McNulty S et al (2009) Forest resilience, biodiversity, and climate change. A synthesis of the biodiversity/resilience/stability relationship in forest ecosystems. Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity, Montreal. Technical Series no. 43, p. 67

- Ungricht S, Rasplus J-Y, Kjellberg F (2005) Extinction threat evaluation of endemic fig trees of New Caledonia: priority assessment for taxonomy and conservation with herbarium collections. Biodivers Conserv 14:205–232
- Vaasa A, Rosenberg V (2004) Preservation of the rare terrestrial orchids in vitro. Acta Univ Latviensis 676:243–676
- Vincent MA (2005) On the spread and current distribution of *Pyrus calleryana* in the United States. Castanea 70:20–31
- Walter KS, Gillet HJ (eds) (1998) 1997 IUCN Red List of Threatened Plants. World Conservation Monitoring Center. IUCN-The World Conservation Union, Gland
- Wandeler P, Hoeck PEA, Keller LF (2007) Back to the future: museum specimens in population genetics. Trends Ecol Evol 22:634–642
- Warburton CL et al (2000) Clonality and sexual reproductive failure in remnant populations of Santalum lanceolatum (Santalaceae). Biol Conserv 96:45–54
- Weber E (1998) The dynamics of plant invasions: a case study of three exotic goldenrod species (*Solidago* L.) in Europe. J Biogeogr 25:147–154
- Weekley CW, Race T (2001) The breeding system of *Ziziphus celata* Judd and D.W. Hall (Rhamnaceae), a rare endemic plant of the Lake Wales Ridge, Florida, USA: implications for recovery. Biol Conserv 100:207–213
- Whittaker RJ, Fernández-Palacios JM (2007) Island Biogeography. Ecology, evolution and conservation (2nd edn). Oxford University Press
- WHO (2002) WHO traditional medicine strategy 2002-2005
- Wilcock CC (2002) Maintenance and recovery of rare clonal plants: the case of the twinflower (*Linnaea borealis L.*). Bot J Scotl 54:121–131
- Wilcock CC, Neiland MRM (1998) Reproductive characters as priority indicators for rare plant conservation. In: Synge H, Akeroyd J (eds) Planta Europa: Proceedings of the second European conference on the conservation of wild plants, pp 221–230
- Willis F, Moat J, Paton A (2003) Defining a role for herbarium data in Red List assessments: a case study of *Plectranthus* from eastern and southern tropical Africa. Biodivers Conserv 12:1537– 1552
- Woodward FI (1987) Stomatal numbers are sensitive to increases in CO_2 from pre-industrial levels. Nature 327:617–618
- Yadab BR (2008) Managing biodiversity in protected areas of Nepal, pp 91-92
- Zuntini AR, Fonseca LHM, Lohmann LG (2013) Primers for phylogeny reconstruction in Bignoniaea (Bignoniaeae) using herbarium samples. Appl Plant Sci 1(11):1300018. doi:10. 3732/apps.1300076

Metabolic Responses of Medicinal Plants to Global Warming, Temperature and Heat Stress

Shabir H. Wani, Nisha Kapoor and Ritu Mahajan

Abstract Global warming has resulted in strong heat waves which has severely affected the growth and development of the plants. The changes in distinct metabolic pathways have hampered the adaptive responses of plants to different environmental stresses. Extreme variations in temperature during summers have a significant impact on agricultural production worldwide because the heat waves cause yield losses that risks the future global food security. However, the plants have made certain adjustments to cope up with the adverse environmental conditions which includes the production of compatible solutes that could maintain the cell turgor by stabilizing the osmotic regulation. Even at the molecular level, various modifications in the expression of genes protect the plants from heat stress. Further, the collaboration of molecular biologists and plant breeders, to develop new genotypes by identifying and introgressing the tolerance genes that can result in plants with acceptance to wide range of environmental stresses.

Keywords Heat shock • Osmolytes • Phytohormones • Secondary metabolites • Stress tolerance

S.H. Wani

S.H. Wani

Division of Genetics and Plant Breeding, SKUAST-K, Srinagar, Jammu and Kashmir, India

Sher-e-Kashmir, University of Agricultural Sciences and Technology of Kashmir, Srinagar, Jammu and Kashmir, India

N. Kapoor · R. Mahajan (⊠) School of Biotechnology, University of Jammu, Jammu, Jammu and Kashmir, India e-mail: ritufeb@gmail.com

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017 M. Ghorbanpour and A. Varma (eds.), *Medicinal Plants and Environmental Challenges*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-68717-9_4

Introduction

Abiotic stress such as extreme temperatures, drought, flooding, salinity etc., are one of the main outcomes of global climate change (Wani et al. 2008, 2016; Gosal et al. 2009; Wani and Sah 2014). Temperature is an important factor that determines the rate of plant growth and development and each species has a specific temperature requirement. In recent years recurrence of heat waves or tremendous temperature events are predictable (Bhatla and Tripathi 2014). These extreme temperature events are of short-term durations where temperature increases over 5 °C above the normal temperatures. As a result the plants are at high risk due to these climatic changes and strong heat waves whose intensity is very high as observed in recent years. As a result the growth and development of plants is severely affected (Cleland et al. 2012). The effects of increased temperature exhibit a larger impact on vegetative growth and metabolites present in the plants. Higher temperatures associated with climate change have affected the yield responses as different species are based on the plant's cardinal temperature requirements (Hatfield and Prueger 2015). Unfavorable environmental conditions adversely affect the plant growth and different metabolic pathways involved in signaling, physiological regulation and defense responses. The involvement of primary metabolites such as sugars, amino acids and various intermediates of Krebs cycle directly involved in photosynthesis are also affected. Also, the induction of secondary metabolites due to heat stress could act as an effective mechanism of cross-protection against biotic threats, providing a link between abiotic and biotic stress responses (Arbona et al. 2013). The genotypic changes that show more response to elevated climatic changes are adapted better (Springate and Kover 2014). Continuous evolutionary processes have resulted in vast metabolic diversity in plants with infinite reservoir of miscellaneous functions. Metabolic adjustments in response to heat stress involve fine adjustments in amino acid, carbohydrates and amine metabolic pathways. If there is proper activation of early metabolic responses in plants imposed due to stress, then it can help the cells to restore chemical imbalances which are vital for its survival. There are array of mechanisms along with changes in the genetic composition that depends upon the speed with which the temperature changes. Plants that induce changes in morphology or physiology with respect to changing environmental conditions can tolerate extreme stressful environmental conditions.

Change in Flowering Time

As the temperature increases crop flowering and maturing also changes. Wheeler et al. (1996) observed the decline in the yield of wheat by $\sim 5-8\%$ per 1 °C rise in mean seasonal temperature. Also along with elevation in temperature some other factors, such as the enhanced rate of net photosynthesis at elevated CO₂ also decreases the yield.

In the life cycle of most plants, the timing of flowering is a critical stage of development when seed number is determined. It was observed that the temperature (>32-36 °C) greatly reduces the seed set and finally the crop yield, if they coincide with a brief critical period of only 1–3 d around the time of flowering (Jagadish et al. 2008).

Effect of Elevated CO₂ on Plant Development and Morphology

The effect of CO_2 is directly on plants due to photosynthetic gas exchange while the indirect effect of CO₂ it is a potent greenhouse gas that contributes to global warming. Increased CO₂ stimulates photosynthetic carbon assimilation rates by an average of 31% across 40 species (Ainsworth and Long 2005). He also observed that elevated CO_2 in C_3 species results is increase in above ground biomass by an average of 20%. In soybean elevated CO₂ results in an increased number of leaf nodes and increased leaf size (Dermody et al. 2006), increased root length, altered root depth distribution and nodulation (Gray et al. 2016), and increased pod number and seed yield (Bishop et al. 2014). Heat stress hampers photosynthesis due to reduction of soluble proteins and Rubisco binding proteins (Hasanuzzaman et al. 2013). Heat imposes negative impacts on leaf of plant like reduced leaf water potential, reduced leaf area and pre-mature leaf senescence which have negative impacts on total photosynthesis performance of plant. Even the reduced activity of sucrose phosphate synthase, ADP-glucose pyrophosphorylase, and invertase affects starch and sucrose synthesis (Rodríguez et al. 2005). In photosynthesis related processes, where Ribulose-1,5-bisphosphate (RuBP) carboxylase/oxygenase (Rubisco) catalyzes the first step in net photosynthetic CO₂ assimilation and photorespiratory carbon oxidation. The enzyme due to competitive inhibition by O_2 is inefficient as a catalyst for the carboxylation of RuBP. At low temperatures, all the metabolic reactions, including those of sucrose synthesis, are slower (Sage and Kubien 2007). Rubisco helps in protein synthesis which were measured in the leaves of cotton plants under control (28 °C) and also those at heat-stress (41 °C) conditions. In response to high temperature, de novo protein synthesis quickly shifted from mostly expression of Rubisco large and small subunits to the major heat-shock proteins, while de novo synthesis of the constitutively expressed 47- and 43-kDa activase polypeptides was not appreciably altered (Law et al. 2001).

Heat Stress and Secondary Metabolite Production

Plant metabolism contributes towards heat stress tolerance by providing the energy and production of secondary metabolites essential for cellular homeostasis. Temperature has great influence on secondary metabolite production in the plants (Ramakrishna and Ravishankar 2011). Jochum et al. (2007) reported the enhancement of ginsenoside and reduction in photosynthesis in *P. quinquefolius* when there was 5 °C increase in temperature.

Carotenoids are necessary for photoprotection of photosynthesis and play an important role as a precursor in signaling during the plant development under stress conditions. They enhance the nutritional quality and plant yield. Various reports indicate that the plants exposed to high-temperature stress show reduced chlorophyll biosynthesis (Reda and Mandoura 2011) as it is the first process occurring in plastids which is affected or degraded by the high temperature. Mohanty et al. (2006) observed decrease in 5-aminolevulinate dehydratase, the first enzyme of pyrrole biosynthetic pathway in cucumber and wheat under high-temperature. Davison et al. (2002) studied overexpression of the chyB gene that encodes β-carotene hydroxylase in Arabidopsis thaliana. He observed twofold increase in the size of the xanthophyll cycle pool and tolerance of the plants to conditions of high light and high temperature. Similarly, Velikova et al. (2012) studied the increased stability in permeability of the thylakoid membrane in potato exposed to at mild heat treatment of 35 °C for 2 h. This study indicated that thylakoids and thylakoid membranes were maintained by de-epoxidized xanthophylls during heat stress. A remarkable reduction in productivity of anthocycnins was observed in suspension cultures of *Perilla frutescens*, when the high temperature was increased to 28 °C, while the productivity of the pigment was optimal at 25 °C (Zhong and Yoshida 1993). Thimmaraju et al. (2003) observed the influence of different temperatures while studying the kinetics of release of the anthocyanin pigment from hairy root cultures of Beta vulgaris.

High Temperature and Osmolyte Accumulation

The accumulation of low molecular weight water-soluble compounds called "osmolytes" is generally adopted by many plants to fight the environmental stresses. Production and accumulation of compatible solutes in response to high temperature is the most common defensive mechanism adapted by the plants. The chemicals include amino acids (asparagine, proline, serine), amines (polyamines and glycinebetaine), and γ -amino-N-butyric acid (GABA). Even the total sugars, including fructose, sucrose, trehalose, raffinose and proline (Wani and Gosal 2010; Wani et al. 2013; Harsh et al. 2016) as well as pools of anti-oxidants such as glutathione (GSH) and ascorbate (de Leonardis et al. 2015; Ding et al. 2016) accumulate in response to heat stress. This results in overall some of the protective functions of compatible osmoprotectants i.e. preservation of cellular turgor, stabilization of proteins, cellular structures and osmotic balance during environmental stress. The accumulation of aromatic amino acids viz. tryptophan, tyrosine and phenylalanine in shikimic acid in metabolism pathway under stress conditions causes a change in metabolism that results in the secondary metabolite production, thereby providing stress tolerance to the plants (Suguiyama et al. 2014).

Sakamoto and Murata (2002) reported an important role of Glycinebetaine (GB), an amphoteric quaternary amine, in plants under various stresses, such as salinity or high temperature though the capacity to synthesize GB under stress conditions differs from species to species (Ashraf and Foolad 2007). Certain medicinal plants like tobacco (*Nicotiana tabacum*) naturally do not produce GB under stress conditions. However, genetic engineering has allowed the introduction of GB-biosynthetic pathways into such GB-deficit species (Quan et al. 2004). Further, the osmolyte production under heat stress is thought to increase protein stability and stabilize the structure of the membrane bilayer (Mirzaei et al. 2012).

Phytohormones and Thermotolerance

Plants already have sophisticated mechanism that can even sense (even 1 °C) increase or decrease in temperature (Kumar and Wigge 2010; Sanghera et al. 2011; Ahammed et al. 2013). There are several multiple pathways, regulatory networks and cellular compartments involved in the plants against heat stress (Mittler et al. 2012). Many phytohormones like ABA, salicylic acid and ethylene increase their levels under heat stress as they act as strong tools for overcoming the adverse effects of abiotic stresses in plants (Bita and Gerats 2013; Kim et al. 2016). Salicylic acid is involved in the regulation of important plant physiological processes such as photosynthesis, nitrogen metabolism, proline metabolism, antioxidant defense system and plant-water relations under stress conditions (Khan et al. 2015; Gorni and Pacheco 2016) and thereby provides protection in plants against abiotic stresses. Further, requirement for certain hormone and its response to signaling depends and varies upon the kinds of thermotolerance. Salicylic acid improves plant tolerance to heat stress as reported by Clarke et al. (2004) in Ocimum basilicum. Xu et al. (2016) reported that in Aquilaria sinensis heat shock of 50 °C for 30 min resulted in upregulation in the expression of Jasmonic Acid (JA) pathway genes and induced production of JA is mandatory for the enhanced production of agarwood sesquiterpene using suspension cultures. In Capsicum annuum WRKY proteins (CaWRKY6) plays a significant role in response to high temperature response (Cai et al. 2015). Expression of these proteins can be induced by exogenous application of Jasmonic acid, Absicic acid and ethylene. Suppression of WRKY gene by virus-induced gene silencing increases its susceptibility to heat stress which is associated with the downregulation of JA, ethylene, and ABA-induced marker gene expression. However, overexpression of CaWRKY6 improves tolerance to heat stress.

Heat Stress and Reproductive Development

Heat stress has great impact on sexual reproduction and flowering as high temperature is most lethal at the stage of flower bud initiation and hence finally results in reduced crop plant productivity (Thakur et al. 2010). This could be due to reduced water and nutrient transport during reproductive development. Heat stress causes the down-regulation of sucrose synthase, a number of cell wall and vacuolar invertases in the developing pollen grains. This results in the disruption of sucrose and starch turnover and thus accumulatation of soluble carbohydrates is in reduced levels (Sato et al. 2006). In tomato the accumulation of soluble phenolics, increased phenylalanine ammonia-lyase activity and decreased peroxidase and polyphenol oxidase activity was observed in response to heat stress (Rivero et al. 2001).

Physiological Aspects of Heat Stress

Plants respond to heat by a progressive adjustment at physiological status and metabolic level with constant and temporary metabolic alterations. Jin et al. (2015) observed changes in physiological and metabolic levels in *Portulaca oleracea* L. after treatments with drought, heat and combined stresses. These treatments given individually or combined with other stress treatments resulted in increased level of malondialdehyde, electrolyte leakage and activities of superoxide dismutase, per-oxidase, while decline in chlorophyll content was observed. Further, the content of an amino acid asparagine was increased under heat condition. This is due to the association of amino acids with the substrates for protein synthesis and thus could help in quick recovery of the plant metabolism after stress (Fig. 1).

In plants exposed to high temperatures, Glycine betaine plays an important role (Sakamoto and Murata 2002). Glycine betaine is produced in chloroplasts and maintains the activation of Rubisco by sequestering Rubisco activase near thylakoids thereby preventing its thermal inactivation (Allakhverdiev et al. 2008). Sucrose being the principal end product of photosynthesis, translocates from source leaves to sink organs through the phloem. Sucrose and its cleavage products responds to stresses through carbon allocation and sugar signaling thereby regulating the plant development and Roitsch and González (2004). Li et al. (2012) observed high cell wall and vacuolar invertases and increased sucrose content that contributes to heat tolerance in young tomato fruits. It was observed in tomato that at low concentrations sucrose acts as signaling molecule while in high concentrations it becomes a ROS scavenger (Sugio et al. 2009).

Enhanced synthesis of secondary metabolites under heat stress conditions also protects against oxidative damage (Bita and Gerats 2013). It was also suggested that accumulation of anthocyanin under heat stress provide to decrease leaf osmotic potential, which finally results resulting in an increased uptake and reduced transpirational loss of water. Meiri et al. (2010) reported that in *Arabidopsis* plants



Fig. 1 Physiological and molecular aspects of heat stress in the medicinal plants

overexpressing the chyB gene that codes for b-carotene hydroxylase, an enzyme involved in the zeaxanthin biosynthetic pathway, show more tolerance to increased temperatures. It was also suggested that the prevention from oxidative damage to membranes is due to the action of zeaxanthin.

Molecular Aspects of Heat Stress

At the molecular level, heat stress causes modifications in the expression of genes involved in protecting the plants from heat stress (Zhu et al. 2013). These are mostly the genes responsible for the expression of osmoprotectants, detoxifying enzymes, transporter, and regulatory proteins. In such conditions of heat stress, modification of physiological and biochemical processes by gene expression changes slowly leads to the development of heat tolerance in the form of acclimation or adaptation of a plant to high temperature (Hasanuzzaman et al. 2010). Studied have revealed that the exogenous applications of protectants in the form of osmoprotectants phytohormones, signaling molecules, polyamines and trace elements are also effective in mitigating heat stress-induced damage in plants (Asthir 2015).

Studies on epigenetic regulation of heat responses, including DNA methylation, histone modifications, histone variants, ATP-dependent chromatin remodeling, histone chaperones, small RNAs, long non-coding RNAs and other undefined epigenetic mechanisms also play a significant role to prevent heat-related damages (Liu et al. 2015). In cotton anthers, one histone methyltransferase, one histone monoubiquitination gene and two jumonji C (jmjC) domain-containing genes are down-regulated upon high temperature (Min et al. 2014).

The expression profiles of AsA-related genes in response to temperature stress conditions have been reported earlier in apples and tomatoes (Ma et al. 2008; Ioannidi et al. 2009). Heat stress also results in increase or decrease of expression level of certain genes. Li et al. (2016) studied that the expression levels of genes CsMDHAR, CsDHAR1, and CsDHAR2 increased sharply after 1 h, in response to heat stress in 'Yingshuang' variety of *Camellia sinensis*.

Conclusions and Future Prospects

High temperature stress has become the foremost concern for crop production worldwide because it seriously affects the overall growth, development and productivity of the plants. Though in recent years many studies have focused on the response of plants to heat stress but till date a total understanding of thermo tolerance mechanisms remains subtle. Plants exposed to extreme temperatures often show a common response in the form of oxidative stress that cause damage to lipids, proteins, and nucleic acids in plants. Various phytohormones are involved in adapting the plant against heat stress. The high rate of emission of greenhouse gases from different sources is responsible for a gradual increase in the world's ambient temperature, further resulting in global warming. Therefore, the response of plant and the mechanisms underlying for its adaptation to elevated temperatures needs to be better understood for important medicinal plants. Also, the metabolic adjustments to stress are vital for acquiring stress tolerance. Still there is need to study numerous genes that are involved in the synthesis of stress-associated metabolites which get altered as per the requirement of plants under stress conditions.

Acknowledgements SHW thanks University Grants Commission New Delhi, India for Raman Post Doc Fellowship 2016.

References

- Ahammed GJ, Choudhary SP, Chen S, Xia X, Shi K, Zhou Y et al (2013) Role of brassinosteroids in alleviation of phenanthrene-cadmium co-contamination-induced photosynthetic inhibition and oxidative stress in tomato. J Exp Bot 64:199–213
- Ainsworth EA, Long SP (2005) Tansley review: what have we learned from 15 years of free-air CO₂ enrichment (FACE)? A meta-analytic review of the responses of photosynthesis, canopy properties and plant production to rising CO₂. New Phytol 165:351–371
- Allakhverdiev SI, Kreslavski VD, Klimov VV, Los DA, Carpentier R, Mohanty P (2008) Heat stress: an overview of molecular responses in photosynthesis. Photosynth Res 98:541–550
- Arbona V, Manzi M, de Ollas C, Gómez-Cadenas A (2013) Metabolomics as a tool to investigate abiotic stress tolerance in plants. Int J Mol Sci 14:4885–4911
- Ashraf M, Foolad MR (2007) Roles of glycine betaine and proline in improving plant abiotic stress resistance. Environ Exp Bot 59:206–216
- Asthir B (2015) Protective mechanisms of heat tolerance in crop plants. J Plant Interact 10:202-210
- Bhatla R, Tripathi A (2014) The study of rainfall and temperature variability over Varanasi. Int J Earth Atmos Sci 1:90–94
- Bishop KA, Betzelberger AM, Long SP, Ainsworth EA (2014) Is there potential to adapt soybean (Glycine max Merr.) to future [CO₂]? An analysis of the yield response of 18 genotypes in free-air CO₂ enrichment. Plant, Cell Environ 38:1765–1774
- Bita CE, Gerats T (2013) Plant tolerance to high temperature in a changing environment: scientific fundamentals and production of heat stress-tolerant crops. Front Plant Sci 4:273
- Cai H, Yang S, Yan Y, Xiao Z, Cheng J, Wu J, Qiu A, Lai Y, Mou S, Guan D, Huang R, He S (2015) CaWRKY6 transcriptionally activates CaWRKY40, Regulates Ralstonia solanacearum resistance, and confers high-temperature and high-humidity tolerance in pepper. J Exp Bot 66:3163–3174
- Clarke SM, Mur LA, Wood JE, Scott IM (2004) Salicylic acid dependent signaling promotes basal thermo tolerance but is not essential for acquired thermo tolerance in Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant J. 38:432–447
- Cleland EE, Allen JM, Crimmins TM et al (2012) Phenological tracking enables positive species responses to climate change. Ecology 93:1765–1771
- Davison PA, Hunter CN, Horton P (2002) Overexpression of β -carotene hydroxylase enhances stress tolerance in Arabidopsis. Nature 418:203–206
- de Leonardis AM, Fragasso M, Beleggia R, Ficco DBM, de Vita P, Mastrangelo AM (2015) Effects of heat stress on metabolite accumulation and composition, and nutritional properties of durum wheat grain. Int J Mol Sci 16:30382–30404
- Dermody O, Long SP, DeLucia EH (2006) How does elevated CO₂ or ozone affect the leaf-area index of soybean when applied independently? New Phytol 169:145–155
- Ding X, Jiang Y, He L, Zhou Q, Yu J, Hui D, Huang D (2016) Exogenous glutathione improves high root-zone temperature tolerance by modulating photosynthesis, antioxidant and osmolytes systems in cucumber seedlings. Sci Rep 6:35424
- Gorni PH, Pacheco AC (2016) Growth promotion and elicitor activity of salicylic acid in Achillea millefolium L. Afr J Biotechnol 15:657–665
- Gosal SS, Wani SH, Kang MS (2009) Biotechnology and drought tolerance. J Crop Improv 23 (1):19–54
- Gray SB, Siebers M, Locke AM, Rosenthal DR, Strellner RS, Paul RE, Klein SP, Ruiz-Vera UM, McGrath J, Dermody O, Ainsworth EA, Bernacchi CJ, Long SP, Ort DR, Leakey ADB (2016)

Intensifying drought eliminates the expected benefits of elevated (CO₂) for soybean. Plants, Nat. doi:10.1038/NPLANTS.2016.132

- Harsh A, Sharma YK, Joshi U, Rampuria S, Singh G, Kumar S, Sharma R (2016) Effect of short-term heat stress on total sugars, proline and some antioxidant enzymes in moth bean (*Vigna aconitifolia*). Ann Agric Sci 61:57–64
- Hasanuzzaman M, Hossain MA, Fujita M (2010) Physiological and biochemical mechanisms of nitric oxide induced abiotic stress tolerance in plants. Am J Plant Physiol 5:295–324
- Hasanuzzaman M, Nahar K, Alam MM, Roychowdhury R, Fujita M (2013) Physiological, biochemical, and molecular mechanisms of heat stress tolerance in plants. Int J Mol Sci 14:9643–9684
- Hatfield JL, Prueger JH (2015) Temperature extremes: effect on plant growth and development. Weather Clim Extremes 10:4–10
- Ioannidi E, Kalamaki MS, Engineer C, Pateraki I et al (2009) Expression profiling of ascorbic acid-related genes during tomato fruit development and ripening and in response to stress conditions. J Exp Bot 60:663–678
- Jagadish SVK, Craufurd PQ, Wheeler TR (2008) Phenotyping parents of mapping populations of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) for heat tolerance during anthesis. Crop Sci 48:1140–1146
- Jin R, Wang Y, Liu R, Gou J, Chan Z (2015) Physiological and metabolic changes of purslane (*Portulaca oleracea* L.) in response to drought, heat, and combined stresses. Front Plant Sci 6:1123
- Jochum GM, Mudge KW, Thomas RB (2007) Elevated temperatures increase leaf senescence and root secondary metabolite concentrations in the understory herb *Panax quinquefolius* (Araliaceae). Am J Bot 94:819–826
- Khan MI, Fatma M, Per TS, Anjum NA, Khan NA (2015) Salicylic acid-induced abiotic stress tolerance and underlying mechanisms in plants. Front Plant Sci 6:462
- Kim YH, Khan AL, Lee IJ (2016) Silicon: a duo synergy for regulating crop growth and hormonal signaling under abiotic stress conditions. Crit Rev Biotechnol 36:1099–1109
- Kumar SV, Wigge PA (2010) H2A. Z-containing nucleosomes mediate the thermosensory response in *Arabidopsis*. Cell 140:136–147
- Law RD, Crafts-Brandner SJ, Salvucci ME (2001) Heat stress induces the synthesis of a new form of ribulose-1,5-bisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase activase in cotton leaves. Planta 214:117–125
- Li M, Ji L, Yang X, Meng Q, Guo S (2012) The protective mechanisms of CaHSP26 in transgenic tobacco to alleviate photoinhibition of PSII during chilling stress. Plant Cell Rep 31:1969– 1979
- Li KH, Huang W, Wang GL, Wu ZJ, Zhuang J (2016) Expression profile analysis of ascorbic acid-related genes in response to temperature stress in the tea plant, *Camellia sinensis* (L.) O. Kuntze. Genet Mol Res 15:gmr.15048756
- Liu J, Feng LJ, He Z (2015) Genetic and epigenetic control of plant heat responses. Front Plant Sci 6:267
- Ma YH, Ma FW, Zhang JK, Li MJ et al (2008) Effects of high temperature on activities and gene expression of enzymes involved in ascorbate-glutathione cycle in apple leaves. Plant Sci 175:761–766
- Meiri D, Tazat K, Cohen-Peer R, Farchi-Pisanty O, Aviezer-Hagai K, Avni A, Breiman A (2010) Involvement of Arabidopsis ROF2 (FKBP65) in thermotolerance. Plant Mol Biol 72:191–203
- Min L, Li Y, Hu Q, Zhu L, Gao W, Wu Y, Ding Y, Liu S, Yang X, Zhang X (2014) Sugar and auxin signaling pathways respond to high-temperature stress during anther development as revealed by transcript profiling analysis in cotton. Plant Physiol 164:1293–1308
- Mirzaei M, Pascovici D, Atwell BJ, Haynes PA (2012) Differential regulation of aquaporins, small GTPases and V-ATPases proteins in rice leaves subjected to drought stress and recovery. Proteomics 12:864–877
- Mittler R, Finka A, Goloubinoff P (2012) How do plants feel the heat? Trends Biochem Sci 37:118–125

- Mohanty S, Baishna BG, Tripathy C (2006) Light and dark modulation of chlorophyll biosynthetic genes in response to temperature. Planta 224:692–699
- Quan R, Shang M, Zhang H, Zhao Y, Zhang J (2004) Engineering of enhanced glycine betaine synthesis improves drought tolerance in maize. Plant Biotechnol J 2:477–486
- Ramakrishna A, Ravishankar GA (2011) Influence of abiotic stress signals on secondary metabolites in plants. Plant Signal Behav 6:1720–1731
- Reda F, Mandoura HMH (2011) Response of enzymes activities, photosynthetic pigments, proline to low or high temperature stressed wheat plant exogenous proline or cysteine. Int J Acad Res 3:108–116
- Rivero RM, Ruiz JM, García PC, López-Lefebre LR, Sánchez E, Romero L (2001) Resistance to cold and heat stress: accumulation of phenolic compounds in tomato and watermelon plants. Plant Sci 160:315–321
- Rodríguez M, Canales E, Borrás-Hidalgo O (2005) Molecular aspects of abiotic stress in plants. Biotechnol Appl 22:1–10
- Roitsch T, González MC (2004) Function and regulation of plant invertases: sweet sensations. Trends Plant Sci 9:606–613
- Sage RF, Kubien DS (2007) The temperature response of C_3 and C_4 photosynthesis. Plant Cell Environ 30:1086–1106
- Sakamoto A, Murata N (2002) The role of glycine betaine in the protection of plants from stress: clues from transgenic plants. Plant Cell Environ 25:163–171
- Sanghera GS, Wani SH, Hussain W, Singh NB (2011) Engineering cold stress tolerance in crop plants. Curr Genomics 12(1):30
- Sato S, Kamiyama M, Iwata T, Makita N, Furukawa H, Ikeda H (2006) Moderate increase of mean daily temperature adversely affects fruit set of *Lycopersicon esculentum* by disrupting specific physiological processes in male reproductive development. Ann Bot 97:731–738
- Springate DA, Kover PX (2014) Plant responses to elevated temperatures: a field study on phenological sensitivity and fitness responses to simulated climate warming. Glob Change Biol 20:456–465
- Sugio A, Dreos R, Aparicio F, Maule AJ (2009) The cytosolic protein response as a subcomponent of the wider heat shock response in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Cell 21:642–654
- Suguiyama VF, Silva EA, Meirelles ST, Centeno DC, Braga MR (2014) Leaf metabolite profile of the Brazilian resurrection plant *Barbacenia purpurea* Hook. (*Velloziaceae*) shows two time-dependent responses during desiccation and recovering. Front Plant Sci 5:96
- Thakur P, Kumar S, Malik JA, Berger JD, Nayyar H (2010) Cold stress effects on reproductive development in grain crops, an overview. Environ Exp Bot 67:429–443
- Thimmaraju R, Bhagyalakshmi N, Narayan MS, Ravishankar GA (2003) Kinetics of pigment release from hairy root cultures of *Beta vulgaris* under the influence of pH, sonication, temperature and oxygen stress. Process Biochem 8:1069–1076
- Velikova V, Sharkey TD, Loreto F (2012) Stabilization of thylakoid membranes in isoprene-emitting plants reduces formation of reactive oxygen species. Plant Signal Behav 7:139–141
- Wani SH, Gosal SS (2010) Genetic engineering for osmotic stress tolerance in plants-role of proline. IUP J Genet Evol 3(4)
- Wani SH, Sah SK (2014) Biotechnology and abiotic stress tolerance in rice. J Rice Res 2:e105
- Wani SH, Sandhu JS, Gosal SS (2008) Genetic engineering of crop plants for abiotic stress tolerance. In: Malik CP, Kaur B, Wadhwani C (eds) Advanced topics in plant biotechnology and plant biology. MD Publications, New Delhi, pp 149–183
- Wani SH, Singh NB, Haribhushan A, Mir JI (2013) Compatible solute engineering in plants for abiotic stress tolerance—role of glycine betaine. Curr Genomics 14(3):157–165
- Wani SH, Kumar V, Shriram V, Sah SK (2016) Phytohormones and their metabolic engineering for abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants. Crop J 4:162–176
- Wheeler TR, Batts GR, Ellis RH, Hadley P (1996) Growth and yield of winter wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) crops in response to CO₂ and temperature. J Agric Sci 127:37–48

- Xu YH, Liao YC, Zhang Z, Liu J, Sun PW, Gao ZH, Sui C, Wei JH (2016) Jasmonic acid is a crucial signal transducer in heat shock induced sesquiterpene formation in *Aquilaria sinensis*. Sci Rep 6:21843
- Zhong JJ, Yoshida T (1993) Effects of temperature on cell growth and anthocyanin production in suspension cultures of *Perilla frutescen*. J Ferment Bioeng 76:530–531
- Zhu Y, Zhu G, Guo Q, Zhu Z, Wang C, Liu Z (2013) A comparative proteomic analysis of *Pinellia ternata* leaves exposed to heat stress. Int J Mol Sci 14:20614–20634

Effects of Toxic Gases, Ozone, Carbon Dioxide, and Wastes on Plant Secondary Metabolism

Vinay Kumar, Tushar Khare, Sagar Arya, Varsha Shriram and Shabir H. Wani

Abstract Various kinds of human activities along with environmental interactions or changes are occasioning the addition and accumulation of hazardous entities in the environment. The subsequent result of this is negative effects of these factors on living systems including plants. Factors such as heavy metals, toxic gases, ozone, and carbon dioxide have a major impact on plant growth and secondary metabolism of the plants. Secondary metabolites are the key players in plant adaptation to these environmental stresses and play a role in mitigating the negative effects of these stresses. Both primary and secondary metabolisms are altered under these stress environments, however, plants have evolved to endure these conditions through inducing several regulating mechanisms such as per the availability of water, over accumulation of various osmoprotectants and osmoregulators, induction of antioxidant machinery and fine tuning of transcriptional and post-transcriptional regulations of gene expressions. In most of the plants, the ultimate result of these

V. Kumar

S. Arya · V. Shriram Department of Botany, Prof. Ramkrishna More College (Savitribai Phule Pune University), Akurdi, Pune 411044, India

S.H. Wani (⊠) Mountain Research Centre For Field Crops, Khudwani, Anantnag 192101, India e-mail: shabirhussainwani@gmail.com

S.H. Wani

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017 M. Ghorbanpour and A. Varma (eds.), *Medicinal Plants and Environmental Challenges*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-68717-9_5

V. Kumar $(\boxtimes) \cdot T$. Khare

Department of Biotechnology, Modern College (Savitribai Phule Pune University), Ganeshkhind, Pune 411016, India e-mail: vinavmalik123@gmail.com

Department of Environmental Sciences, Savitribai Phule Pune University, Ganeshkhind, Pune 411007, India

Sher-e-Kashmir University of Agricultural Sciences and Technology of Kashmir, Srinagar, Jammu and Kashmir, India

defensive adaptations is regulated production of the secondary metabolites. In this chapter, we have discussed the effects of toxic gases, ozone, carbon dioxide as well as other wastes including the nanoparticles-wastes on plant secondary metabolites.

Keywords Toxic gases • Secondary metabolism • Secondary metabolites • Ozone • Carbon dioxide • Heavy metals • Nanoparticles • Wastes

Abbreviations

- PSM Plant Secondary Metabolites
- CO₂ Carbon Dioxide
- O₃ Ozone
- SO₂ Sulfur Dioxide
- H₂S Hydrogen Sulfide
- Cd Cadmium
- Cr Chromium
- Ni Nickel
- As Arsenic
- Ag Silver
- Au Gold
- NAA Naphthalene acetic acid
- NSC Non-structural Carbohydrates

Introduction

Environmental stresses include drought, salinity, extreme temperatures, toxic gases, ozone, carbon dioxide, and other wastes released into environment because of climatic aberrations (Gosal et al. 2009; Wani et al. 2010; Wani and Gosal 2011; Wani and Hossain 2015). Plants being sessile organisms face several environmental perturbations during their life cycles (Kumar and Khare 2016). These environmental signals induce several changes in plants at physiological, biochemical and molecular levels (Sanghera et al. 2011; Wani et al. 2013, 2017; Khare et al. 2015). Both primary and secondary metabolisms get affected under change in environment or climate, however, plants have evolved to sustain under these conditions via inducing several counter-balancing mechanisms such as regulated use and evapotranspiration of available water, controlled openings and closings of stomata as per the availability of water, overaccumulation of various osmoprotectants and osmoregulators, induction of antioxidant machinery and fine tuning of transcriptional and post-transcriptional regulations of gene expressions (Kumar et al. 2010; Wani and Gosal 2010; Khare et al. 2015; Kumar and Khare 2015; Wani et al. 2016a, b; Wani and Kumar 2015; Shriram et al. 2016). In the past two centuries, air pollution problems have been aggravated due to population burst, rapid industrialization and other related anthropogenic activities to meet the global food and feed demands. There is a threatening increase in the atmospheric concentrations of various greenhouse gases namely carbon dioxide (CO_2), methane (CH_4), and nitrous oxide (N_2O) and toxic gas pollutants like sulfur dioxide (SO_2) nitrogen oxides (NO_x), besides secondary pollutants like ozone (O_3). There is a remarkable increase in the concentrations of greenhouse gases owing to various anthropogenic activities including industrialization in recent past.

Though there is considerable literature indicating the effects of these pollutants on plant growth, development and primary metabolism and metabolites. Though there is enough evidence indicating that plant primary metabolism and secondary metabolism are closely knitted (Fig. 1). Plant secondary metabolites are highly specialized products usually biosynthesized by the plants using their primary



Fig. 1 Generalized biosynthetic relation in plant primary and secondary metabolites

metabolites as substrates. However, there is lack of substantial data and in-depth understanding about the impacts of toxic gases, greenhouse gases and ozone on plant secondary metabolism as a whole and on the production of plant secondary metabolites (PSMs). Nevertheless, there is a recent upsurge on the significance of altered plant secondary metabolism and enhanced production of PSMs under the influence of these gases as well as other wastes including the nanoparticles-wastes released into the environment. We are presenting herein the review of these issues through this chapter.

Effects of CO₂ on Plant Secondary Metabolites

Greenhouse gases together constitute as a major environmental challenge for medicinal plants. Among those, CO_2 is one of the major causes with a tremendous rise since industrialization took place. About half of the anthropogenic CO₂ emission between 1750 and 2011 has occurred in the last 40 years (IPCC 2014) and yet we are not certain about the potential effects of this abrupt change on medicinal plants. Since medicinal plants are potent sources for PSMs, they possess significant plasticity to adapt with the changing environments. Though, this metabolic plasticity conferred due to PSMs may affect other secondary metabolites which are usually the basis for their medicinal activity (Mishra 2016). For example; when Digitalis lanata known for its use in heart failures (Rahimtoola 2004) was treated with elevated CO₂, there was a 3.5-fold increase in digoxin, a cardenolide glycoside. In the same experiment where digoxin showed enhancement, other three glycosides viz. digitoxin, digitoxigenin and digoxin-mono-digitoxoside showed a decline in their concentration (Stuhlfauth et al. 1987; Stuhlfauth and Fock 1990). In addition, time also plays a crucial role in deciding the metabolic flux in relation to PSMs. For instance, in a typical time related experiment on Hymenocallis littoralis whose bulbs are known for their antineoplastic and antiviral properties, the elevated CO₂ resulted in increase in 3 types of alkaloids (pancratistatin, 7-deoxynarciclasine and 7-deoxy-trans dihydronarciclasin) in the first year and decrease in their concentration for the subsequent year (Idso et al. 2000). Similarly, in *Ginkgo biloba* a traditional Chinese medicinal plant used in Alzheimer's disease, vascular or mixed dementia (Weinmann et al. 2010) elevated CO₂ and O₃ together resulted in altered terpenoid content, 15% increase in guercetin aglycon and 10% decrease in keampferol aglycon, 15% in isorhamnetin and bilobalide to some extent (Huang et al. 2010). In a typical study on Papaver setigerum, elevated CO₂ levels from 300-600 µmol mol⁻¹ corresponding roughly to the concentrations that prevailed during middle of the twentieth century, the present concentration, and near and long-term projections for the current century (Ziska et al. 2008) resulted in enhancement of four alkaloids viz. morphine, codeine, papaverine and noscapine. Further, it is also predicted that increase in CO_2 may result in high plant carbon: nutrient ratios producing excess of non-structural carbohydrates (NSCs). These NSCs may be then are accessible for incorporation in C-based secondary metabolites (Heyworth et al. 1998). Pertaining to this prediction, a test carried out on Hypericum perforatum showed that elevated CO₂ resulted in enhancement of hypericin, pseudohypericin and hyperforin belonging to the class of phenolics (Zobayed and Saxena 2004). After observing the potential effects of secondary metabolites from Broccoli on cancer and cardiovascular diseases (Mahn and Reyes 2012), it was essential to evaluate effect of CO_2 on this plant. For this, widely exploited Broccoli (Brassica oleracea) var. italica Plenck was subjected to elevated CO₂, and this experiment showed increase in methylsulfinylalkyl glucosinolates glucoraphanin and glucoiberin derived from Glucosinolates (Schonhof et al. 2007). In a similar experiment on *Catharanthus roseus*, widely known for its anticancerous, anti-viral and diuretic properties (Ezuruike and Prieto 2014) when treated with elevated CO₂ showed increase in almost all of the PSMs viz. alkaloids, flavonoids, phenolic and tannins (Saravanan and Karthi 2014). In Zingiber officinale, elevated CO₂ resulted in increase in Flavonoid and Phenolic content (Ghasemzadeh et al. 2010). It was observed that with elevated CO₂, Quercus ilicifolia showed increase in tannins and phenolic content (Stiling and Cornelissen 2007). Ibrahim and Jaafar (2012) subjected *Eleais guineensis* (Oil Palm) to elevated CO_2 levels (400–1200 µmol mol⁻¹). In this study, the authors observed increase in flavonoids and phenolic contents attributed it to increase in primary metabolite phenylalanine a metabolic precursor for most of the secondary metabolites. Further on identical lines, Ibrahim et al. (2014) working on Labisia pumila showed that there was an increase in flavonoids and phenolics in response to increased artificial atmospheric CO_2 levels. These findings were more inclined towards increase in levels of secondary metabolites as a response to elevated CO₂ as compared to present atmospheric CO₂ concentration. But in a study carried out on *Pseudotsuga manziesii*, it was seen that the level of terpenes specifically monoterpenes decreased significantly (Snow et al. 2003).

Similar studies performed in vitro will play a crucial role in assessing the effect of CO_2 in in vivo conditions. A typical in vitro study has focused on *Panax ginseng* suspension culture of roots, a plant that frequently featured in prescriptions of traditional Chinese, Japanese and Korean medicine for cancer, immunomodulation and other stress related ailments (Wang et al. 2007; Chang et al. 2003). Elevated CO_2 levels in this suspension culture showed increase in phenolic and flavonoid contents (Ali et al. 2005). Thus, such findings are very essential to correlate the effects of CO_2 on in vivo studies with that of in vitro.

By reviewing the overall trend in such findings, it is very essential to focus on entire secondary metabolome of medicinal plants, beside evaluating the effects with respect to time duration, seasonal variation, temperature, nutrient availability etc. since other parameters either singly or in combination are going to play a significant role in altering the metabolic plasticity of medicinal plants. Looking at the paramount productive threshold of such metabolic alterations, appropriate conservatory practices are needed before these plants lose their bioactive components in the long run.

Effects of Ozone on Plant Secondary Metabolites

Ozone is widely known for its bioprotective activity against ultra violet radiations. However, its surface concentration i.e., ground level O_3 is increasing due to the rise in O_3 precursor emission in many pollution prone areas. Ground-level ozone pollution is already decreasing global crop yields (from 2.2–5.5% for maize to 3.9–15% and 8.5–14% for wheat and soybean, respectively), to differing extents depending on genotype and environmental conditions. These ill effects are also seen on medicinal plants. However, due to very limited focus on O_3 related effects on medicinal plants and their PSMs content it has become mandatory to evaluate its potential consequences.

In a study done on Melissa officinalis, a traditional medicinal plant used for treatment in dementia, anxiety and central nervous system (CNS) related disorders with elevated ozone concentrations showed that the total anthocyanins increased to a substantial extent along with phenolics and tannins (Pellegrini et al. 2011; Shakeri et al. 2016). A group of scientists from Brazil conducted an experiment to check effect of chronic ozone exposure on *Capsicum baccatum*. It was found that pericarp of ozone exposed plants showed 50% decrease in capsaicin and dihydrocapsaicin also the seeds showed significant reduction in capsaicin but no change in dihydrocapsaicin as compared to the control plants. Additionally, total carotenoid and phenolic content in the pericarp increased by 52.8 and 17% respectively (Bortolin et al. 2016). A similar study on Ecophysiological and antioxidant traits of Salvia officinalis under ozone stress (120 \pm 13 ppb for 90 consecutive days) showed an increase in phenolic content; notably in Gallic acid (2-fold increase), Catechinic acid (increase was observed once in the total fumigation period of 90 days), Caffeic acid (8-fold increase) and Rosmarinic acid (122% increase on 60th day of treatment) (Pellegrini et al. 2015). Another experiment on Betula pendula with elevated O_3 displayed an increase in hyperoside a flavonoid, with decreased papyriferic acid a triterpenoid and dehydrosalidroside hyperoside, betuloside belonging to phenolics (Lavola et al. 1994). In a similar O₃ elevation experiment on *Pinus taeda* L, unveiled an increasing in condensed tannins without any rise in total concentration of phenols indicating that the O₃ related increase in foliar tannins was due to change in allocation within the phenolic group rather than to increase in total phenolics (Jordan et al. 1991). Albeit O₃ related effects are known on edible crops, similar effects are yet to be diagnosed on medicinal plants on a wide scale and plan proper conservatory policies/practices.

Effect of ozone as an indicator of secondary metabolites alterations in *in vitro* conditions has also studied in recent past. A study on *Pueraria thomsnii* suspension cultures showed an increase in puerarin production by cells treated with ozone, the increase was prominent 20 h after the treatment (Sun et al. 2012). The highest puerarin production was seen about 35 h after ozone treatment, which was 2.6-fold of the control. This outcome indicates that exposure to ozone might be a potential tool to improve puerarin production of *P. thomsnii* cells. Along with puerarin, O_3 exposure also indicated an increase in levels of ABA which was much higher than

that of the control cells. The highest ABA production was observed at about 15 h after ozone treatment, which was about 11 times that of the control (Sun et al. 2012).

On identical lines, a study was carried out about ozone exposure on *Hypericum* perforatum cell suspension culture by Xu et al. (2011). In this experiment 6-day old cell culture were exposed to 30-180 nL L⁻¹ ozone for 0-6 h. It was observed that cell suspension (5-day old) treated with 90 nL L⁻¹ ozone dose showed maximum hypericin production (harvested on 21st day). Also, hypericin produced was maximum when cells were exposed 15th day of the suspension culture and harvested on 21st day. The ozone exposure time was optimized to be 3 h for highest hypericin production keeping the above parameters unchanged (Xu et al. 2011). Various secondary metabolites with altered production under the influence of higher CO₂ and O₃ levels are given in Fig. 2.



Fig. 2 Secondary metabolites altered in selected medicinal plants (covered in the text portion) in response to elevated Carbon dioxide (CO_2) and Ozone (O_3) levels

Effects of Toxic Gases on Plant Secondary Metabolites

Sulfur dioxide is one of the major air pollutants having ability to get enter in the plant system via roots as well as via stomatal opening by means of photosynthesis and respiration. Depending on the type of the plant and different environmental factors, differential responses of the plants against SO₂ exposure have been observed. Some responses include damage to the photosystem (Swanepoel et al. 2007), changes in the stomatal density and perturbations in efficiency of carbon fixation (Chung et al. 2011; Haworth et al. 2012; Silva et al. 2015). The atmospheric SO₂ along with H₂S also acts as sulfur source which can be up-taken through stomata of the plants apart from the sulfate uptake from the roots. Owing to the importance of the sulfur in many important pathways, this stomatal uptake influences the metabolic profile of the plant. Glucosinolates are sulfur containing secondary metabolites which plays significant role in sulfur storage which helps in re-distribution of sulfur during sulfur deprived condition (Falk et al. 2007). Two members from genus *Brassica* have been exposed to the 0.25 μ l l⁻¹ of SO₂ for seven days to investigate the deviations in the glucosinolate content (Aghajanzadeh et al. 2015). The glucosinolate content showed negligible change in the shoot under sulfur deprived as well as sufficient conditions. But under sulfur deprivation environment, when foliarly absorbed sulfur was the only source of sulfur, glucosinolate content in root; notably some fraction of indolic glucosinolates showed reduction. Sulfur plays crucial role in the grapes and wine industry which is applied in several chemical forms. So, the overall plant profile including secondary metabolism alters notably. The SO₂ induced re-programming is observed in grape berry transcriptome allied with biotic defense responses as well as oxidative signaling. The SO₂ induced fumigation showed altered anthocyanin synthesis although the minor abundance of flavon-3-ol transcript after fumigation with SO₂ indicates no rapid degradation of anthocyanin (Giraud et al. 2012).

With respect to the various approaches to supply sulfur to the plants, there is keen interest in understanding the effect of one more sulfur containing gas; hydrogen sulfide (H_2S). The high dosage of H_2S is proved to be responsible for defoliation, leaf lesions, decreased growth rate, and tissue death in some plants (Montesinos-Pereira et al. 2016). But contrastingly, H_2S have also been reported to act as fundamental molecule produced by plants which works to control plant functioning (Zhang et al. 2010). This is also a signaling molecule which is proved to promote the antioxidant activities in many plants against abiotic stresses. The application of H₂S alleviated the antioxidant potential and quality in some plants as well (Montesinos-Pereira et al. 2016). The Bronco cabbage (*Brassica oleracea*) was applied with the incrementing levels of sodium hydrosulfide (as H₂S donor) to check the physiological and antioxidative changes. It was reported that the lower levels of treatment showed increased contents of carotenoids, anthocyanins, flavonols, total phenolics and sinigrin (Montesinos-Pereira et al. 2016). Hydrogen sulfide has been also reported to mediate nicotine biosynthesis in Nicotiana tabacum when the growth of plants is induced under high temperature (Chen et al. 2016).

Effects of Heavy Metal Wastes on Plant Secondary Metabolites

Toxic heavy metals such as cadmium (Cd), chromium (Cr), Nickel (Ni), Arsenic (Ar) etc. have been severely incorporated in the environment via variable sources including industrial effluent, fertilizers, pesticides and metal smelters. In soil they are present as free metal ions, metal complexes in soluble form, exchangeable metal ions, and insoluble or precipitated oxides, carbonates, hydroxides or they may also form a part of structural silicates (Rai et al. 2004). Plants exposed to heavy metal contaminated environment tend to change the secondary metabolite profile. This interaction may lead to either suppression or stimulation of the secondary bioactive compounds. The heavy metal exposure is a cause of induction of oxidative stress triggering formation of highly active signaling molecules which further helps in production of secondary metabolites which affects the medicinal potency of the plant (Nasim and Dhir 2010).

Chromium (Cr) is a carcinogenic heavy metal which is released in the environment via carpet, textile, leather tanning or electroplating industry. Ocimum *tenuiflorum* L. from the family Lamiaceae was cultivated in Hoagland solution (5%) containing variable concentrations of Cr(IV) (0, 10, 20, 50, 100 µM) to analyze the Euginol content, a major component of Ocimum oil. Significant increment in eugenol content up to 100 µM in comparison to control was observed. Approximately 25% increase was observed in eugenol content when plants were exposed to 20 µM chromium for 72 h. Effect of chromium on two therapeutically important secondary metabolites phyllanthin and hypophyllanthin from Phyllanthus amarus was studied by Rai and Mehrotra (2008). Increment in production of both the secondary metabolites was observed under increasing concentrations (20, 50, 100 µM) without much increase in the accumulation of chromium in leaves. Cadmium (Cd) is another non-essential, toxic heavy metal which is widespread in the environment. The constant increase in the cadmium levels is observed in the soil throughout the world. The phyllanthin and hypophyllanthin levels were analyzed in Phyllanthus amarus under various concentrations of cadmium. The quantity of both the secondary metabolites showed increment up to 50 ppm of cadmium treatment which reduced further at 100 ppm of cadmium (Rai et al. 2005). In another experiment, cadmium treatment was proved to improve the biosynthesis of artemisinic acid, arteannuin B and artemisinin in medicinal plant Artemisia annua L. (Zhou et al. 2016). Nickel (Ni) is a heavy metal which is present in industrially contaminated as well as pristine soils. A medicinal plant, St. John's wort (Hypericum perforatum L.) was screened for the effect of nickel on its secondary metabolite profile by Murch et al. (2002). The plants showed 15-20 fold reduction in amount of pseudohypericin and hypericin, whereas ability of plants to synthesize or amass hyperforin was completely vanished. Another heavy metal Arsenic (As) which enters the environment via weathering, biological activities as well as volcanic eruptions is also a component of pesticides/chemical fertilizers and

Component	Treatment	Medicinal Plant	Affected secondary metabolites	References
O ₃	Elevated O ₃	Capsicum baccatum	Capsaicin↓, Dihydrocapsaicin↓, Carotenids↑, Phenolics↑	Bortolin et al. (2016)
O ₃	Elevated O ₃	Salvia officinalis	Gallic acid↑, Catechinic acid↑, Caffeic acid↑, Rosmarinic acid↑	Pellegrini et al. (2015)
CO ₂	Elevated CO ₂ and Light intensity	Labisia pumila	Flavonoids [↑] , Phenolics [↑]	Ibrahim et al. (2014)
CO ₂	Elevated CO ₂	Catharanthus roseus	Phenolics [↑] , Flavonoids [↑] , Tannins [↑] , Alkaloids [↑]	Saravanan and Karthi (2014), Singh and Agarwal (2015)
O ₃	Elevated O ₃	Melissa officinalis	Phenolics↑, Anthocyanins↑, Tannins↑	Tonelli et al. (2015), Pellegrini et al. (2011)
O ₃	Elevated O ₃	Pueraria thomsnii	Puerarin↑, ABA↑	Sun et al. (2011)
O ₃	Elevated O ₃	Hypericum perforatum	Hypericin↑	Xu et al. (2011)
CO ₂	Elevated CO ₂	Zingiber officinale	Flavonoids [↑] , Phenolics [↑]	Ghasemzadeh et al. (2010, 2011)
O_3 and CO_2	Elevated O ₃ and CO ₂	Ginkgo biloba	Tannins↓, Quercetinaglycon↑, Keampferolaglycon↓, Isorhamnetin↓, Bilobalide↓	Huang et al. (2010), He et al. (2009)
CO ₂	Elevated CO ₂	Papaver setigerum	Morphine↑, Codeine↑, Papaverine↑ and Noscapine↑	Ziska et al. (2008)
CO ₂	Elevated CO ₂	Quercus ilicifolia	Tannins↑, Phenolics↑	Stiling and Cornelissen (2007)
CO ₂	Elevated CO ₂	Brassica oleracea var. italica Plenck	Methylsulfinylalkyl glucosinolates glucoraphanin↑, Glucoiberin↑	Schonhof et al. (2007)
CO ₂	Elevated CO ₂	Hypericum perforatum L.	Hypericin↑, Pseudohypericin↑, Hyperforin↑	Mosaleeyanon et al. (2005), Zobayed and Saxena (2004)
CO ₂	Elevated CO ₂	Panax ginseng C. A. Mayer	Phenolics [↑] , Flavonoids [↑]	Ali et al. (2005)

Table 1 Effects of ozone and carbon dioxide on plant secondary metabolite production

(continued)

Component	Treatment	Medicinal Plant	Affected secondary metabolites	References
CO ₂	Elevated CO ₂	Pseudotsuga manziesii	Monoterpenes↓	Snow et al. (2003)
CO ₂	Elevated CO ₂	Hymenocallis littoralis (Bulbs)	Pancratistatin↑, 7-deoxynarciclasine↑, 7-deoxy-trans dihydronarciclasin↑	Idso et al. (2000)
03	Elevated O ₃	Betula pendula	Dehydrosalidroside hyperoside↓, Betuloside↓, Platyfylloside↓, Salidroside↓, papyriferic acid↑, hyperoside↑	Saleem et al. (2001), Lavola et al. (1994)
03	Elevated O ₃	Loblolly pine	Tannins↑	Jordan et al. (1991)
CO ₂	Elevated CO ₂	Digitalis lanata	Digoxin↑, Cardenolide↑	Stuhlfauth and Fock (1990), Stuhlfauth et al. (1987)

Table 1 (continued)

residues from mining (Cao et al. 2009). A traditional Chinese medicinal plant *Sculellaria baicalensis* Georgi was screened accumulation and uptake of arsenic. The experiment concluded that the concentration of five flavone compounds were nor expressively by lower arsenic concentration. But the higher concentration of arsenic showed inhibition of baicalin and wogoninside formation whereas generation of baicalein, wogonin and oroxylin A was accelerated (Cao et al. 2009). Chamomile plant (*Matricaria chamomilla*) was grown in nutrient solution containing copper (Cu) (3, 60, 120 μ M) for ten days (Kováčik et al. 2008). In methanolic extracts total eleven secondary active compounds were examined (protocatechuic, *p*-hydroxybenzoic, vanillic, chlorogenic, salicylic acid, gentisic, syringic, caffeic, sinapic and *o-/p*-coumaric acid). The detected compounds showed increment at 60 μ M copper treatment whereas concentrations of the same were either lower or showed no change compared to the control at 120 μ M (Kováčik et al. 2008) (Table 1).

Nanoparticle Wastes and Plant Secondary Metabolites

The synthesis of numerous types of nanoparticles has gained unprecedented attention in recent years, due to their vast array of applications (Mapara et al. 2015). Nanoparticles are the tiny entities ranging from the size 1 to 100 nm, formed with metal or metal oxides as a base. The waste materials out from industries, medical products and agriculture are emerging as sources for increasing the nano-waste

amount in the environment. As plants are immobile with two foremost sinks of the environment, water and soil; they cannot escape the severe effects and successive metabolism changes due to nano-pollution (Marslin et al. 2017). The induction of reactive oxygen species in plants due to the interaction with nanoparticles alters the secondary metabolism. Increment in important secondary metabolite artemisinin was observed in the hairy root cultures of Artemisia annua treated with 900 mg L^{-1} of silver (Ag) nanoparticles for 20 days. The increase in amount (~ 3.9 folds) can be correlated with signalling molecule production (hydrogen peroxide), lipid peroxidation levels and catalase activity (Zhang et al. 2013). Silver nanoparticles also showed positive growth in anthocyanin and flavonoid synthesis in Arabidopsis as the expression level for the genes responsible for their synthesis showed up-regulation (Garcia-Sanchez et al. 2015). Improvement in content of a steroidal saponin, diosgenin in fenugreek (Trigonella foenum-graecum) was observed under the influence of silver nanoparticles (2 μ g kg⁻¹) (Jasim et al. 2017). In barley plant, treatment with cadmium oxide nanoparticles was proved to be responsible for increment in ferulic acid and isovitexin. The concentration of cadmium oxide nanoparticles in air was approximately 2×10^5 particles cm⁻³. On the similar line, callus tissue of Prunella vulgaris, a plant with important antiviral properties was cultivated in medium fortified with naphthalene acetic acid (NAA) along with gold (Au) and/or silver (Ag) nanoparticles (Fazal et al. 2016). Authors recorded maximum accumulation of phenolics and flavonoids along with the enhanced callus induction (Fazal et al. 2016). A generalized scheme is presented in Fig. 3 to



Fig. 3 Toxic gases (SO₂, H_2S), Ozone (O₃), Carbon dioxide (CO₂) and waste (Heavy metal waste, Nano-waste) mediated alteration in plant secondary metabolism

summarize the effects of toxic gases, O_3 , CO_2 and wastes (heavy metal wastes and nano-wastes) on plant secondary metabolism.

Acknowledgements The research support through the Science and Engineering Research Board (SERB), Department of Science and Technology (DST), Government of India funds (grant number SR/FT/LS-93/2011 and EMR/2016/003896) to VK's lab is gratefully acknowledged. SHW is grateful to University Grants Commission, New Delhi India for providing Raman Post-Doctoral Fellowship.

References

- Aghajanzadeh T, Kopriva S, Hawkesford MJ, Koprivova A, De Kok LJ (2015) Atmospheric H₂S and SO₂ as sulfur source for *Brassica juncea* and *Brassica rapa*: impact on the glucosinolate composition. Front Plant Sci 6:924. doi:10.3389/fpls.2015.00924
- Ali M, Hahn E, Paek K (2005) CO₂-induced total phenolics in suspension cultures of *Panax ginseng* C. A. Mayer roots: role of antioxidants and enzymes. Plant Physiol Biochem 43: 449–457
- Bortolin R, Caregnato F et al (2016) Chronic ozone exposure alters the secondary metabolite profile, antioxidant potential, anti-inflammatory property, and quality of red pepper fruit from *Capsicum baccatum*. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 129:16–24
- Cao H, Jiang Y, Chen J, Zhang H, Huang W, Li L, Zhang W (2009) Arsenic accumulation in *Scutellaria baicalensis* Georgi and its effects on plant growth and pharmaceutical components. J Hazard Mater 171:508–513. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2009.06.022
- Chang Y, Seo E, Gyllenhaal C et al (2003) *Panax ginseng*: a role in cancer therapy? Integr Cancer Ther 2:13–33
- Chen X, Chen Q, Zhang X, Li R, Jia Y, Ef AA, Jia A, Hu L, Hu X (2016) Hydrogen sulfide mediates nicotine biosynthesis in tobacco (*Nicotiana tabacum*) under high temperature conditions. Plant Physiol Biochem 104:174–179. doi:10.1016/j.plaphy.2016.02.033
- Chung CY, Chung PL, Liao SW (2011) Carbon fixation efficiency of plants influenced by sulfur dioxide. Environ Monit Assess 173:701–707
- Ezuruike U, Prieto JM (2014) The use of plants in the traditional management of diabetes in Nigeria: pharmacological and toxicological considerations. J Ethnopharmacol 155:857–924
- Falk KL, Tokuhisa JG, Gershenzon J (2007) The effect of sulfur nutrition on plant glucosinolate content: physiology and molecular mechanisms. Plant Biol 9:573–581. doi:10.1055/s-2007-965431
- Fazal H, Abbasi BH, Ahmad N, Ali M (2016) Elicitation of medicinally important antioxidant secondary metabolites with silver and gold nanoparticles in Callus cultures of *Prunella vulgaris* L. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 180:1076–1092. doi:10.1007/s12010-016-2153-1
- Garcia-Sanchez S, Bernales I, Cristobal S (2015) Early response to nanoparticles in the *Arabidopsis* transcriptome compromises plant defence and root-hair development through salicylic acid signalling. BMC Genom 16:341. doi:10.1186/s12864-015-1530-4
- Ghasemzadeh A, Jaafar HZ (2011) Effect of CO₂ enrichment on synthesis of some primary and secondary metabolites in ginger (Zingiber officinale Roscoe). Int J Mol Sci 12:1101–1114
- Ghasemzadeh A, Jaafar H, Rahmat A (2010) Elevated carbon dioxide increases contents of flavonoids and phenolic compounds, and antioxidant activities in Malaysian young ginger (*Zingiber officinale* Roscoe.) varieties. Molecules 15(7907):7922
- Giraud E, Ivanova A, Gordon CS, Whelan J, Considine MJ (2012) Sulphur dioxide evokes a large scale reprogramming of the grape berry transcriptome associated with oxidative signaling and biotic defense responses. Plant, Cell Environ 35:405–417. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3040.2011. 02379.x

- Gosal SS, Wani SH, Kang MS (2009) Biotechnology and drought tolerance. J Crop Improv 23 (1):19–54
- Haworth M, Elliott-Kingston C, Gallagher A, Fitzgerald A, McElwain JC (2012) Sulphur dioxide fumigation effects on stomatal density and index of non-resistant plants: implications for the stomatal palaeo-[CO₂] proxy method. Rev Palaeobot Palynol 182:44–54
- He XY, Huang W, Chen W, Dong T, Liu CB, Chen ZJ, Xu S, Ruan YN (2009) Changes of main secondary metabolites in leaves of Ginkgo biloba in response to ozone fumigation. J Environ Sci 21:199–203
- Heyworth C, Iason G, Temperton V (1998) The effect of elevated CO₂ concentration and nutrient supply on carbon-based plant secondary metabolites in *Pinus sylvestris* L. Oncologia 115:344–350
- Huang W, He X, Liu C et al (2010) Effects of elevated carbon dioxide and ozone on foliar flavonoids of *Ginkgo biloba*. Adv Mat Res 113:165–169
- Ibrahim M, Jaafar H (2012) Impact of elevated carbon dioxide on primary, secondary metabolites and antioxidant responses of *Eleais guineensis* Jacq. (Oil Palm) seedlings. Molecules 17:5195– 5211. doi:10.3390/molecules17055195
- Ibrahim M, Jaafar H, Karimi E et al (2014) Allocation of secondary metabolites, photosynthetic capacity, and antioxidant activity of Kacip Fatimah (*Labisia pumila* Benth) in response to CO₂ and light intensity. Sci World J. doi:10.1155/2014/360290
- Idso S, Kimball B, Pettit G et al (2000) Effects of atmospheric CO₂ enrichment on the growth and development of *Hymenocallis littoralis* (amaryllidaceae) and the concentrations of several antineoplastic and antiviral constituents of its bulbs. Am J Bot 87(6):769–773
- IPCC (2014) Summary for policymakers: synthesis report. Available from https://www.ipcc.ch/ report/ar5/syr/
- Jasim B, Thomas R, Mathew J, Radhakrishnan EK (2017) Plant growth and diosgenin enhancement effect of silver nanoparticles in Fenugreek (*Trigonella foenum-graecum* L.). Saudi Pharm J 25:443–447. doi:10.1016/j.jsps.2016.09.012
- Jordan D, Green T, Chappelka A (1991) Response of total tannins and phenolics on *Loblolly pine* foliage exposed to ozone and acid rain. J Chem Ecol 17:505–513
- Khare T, Kumar V, Kavi Kishor PB (2015) Na⁺ and Cl⁻ ions show additive effects under NaCl stress on induction of oxidative stress and the responsive antioxidative defense in rice. Protoplasma 252:1149–1165. doi:10.1007/s00709-014-0749-2
- Kováčik J, Grúz J, Bačkor M, Tomko J, Strnad M, Repčák M (2008) Phenolic compounds composition and physiological attributes of *Matricaria chamomilla* grown in copper excess. Environ Exp Bot 62:145–152. doi:10.1016/j.envexpbot.2007.07.012
- Kumar V, Khare T (2015) Individual and additive effects of Na⁺ and Cl⁻ ions on rice under salinity stress. Arch Agron Soil Sci 61:381–395. doi:10.1080/03650340.2014.936400
- Kumar V, Khare T (2016) Differential growth and yield responses of salt-tolerant and susceptible rice cultivars to individual (Na⁺ and Cl[−]) and additive stress effects of NaCl. Acta Physiol Plant 38(7):170. doi:10.1007/s11738-016-2191-x
- Kumar V, Shriram V, Kavi Kishor PB, Jawali N, Shitole MG (2010) Enhanced proline accumulation and salt stress tolerance of transgenic indica rice by over expressing P5CSF129A gene. Plant Biotechnol Rep 4(1):37–48. doi:10.1007/S11816-009-0118-3
- Lavola A, Julkunen-Tiitto R, Pakkonen E (1994) Does ozone stress change the primary or secondary metabolites of Birch (*Betula pendul* Roth.)? New Phytol 126:637–642
- Mahn A, Reyes A (2012) An overview of health-promoting compounds of broccoli (*Brassica oleracea* var. italica) and the effect of processing. Food Sci Technol Int 18:503–514
- Mapara N, Sharma M, Shriram V, Bharadwaj R, Mohite KC, Kumar V (2015) Antimicrobial potentials of *Helicteres isora* silver nanoparticles against extensively drug resistant (XDR) clinical isolates of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 99:10655– 10667. doi:10.1007/s00253-015-6938-x
- Marslin G, Sheeba CJ, Franklin G (2017) Nanoparticles alter secondary metabolism in plants via ROS burst. Front Plant Sci 8:832. doi:10.3389/fpls.2017.00832

- Mishra T (2016) Climate change and production of secondary metabolites in medicinal plants: a review. Int J Herb Med 4:27–30
- Montesinos-Pereira D, Barrameda-Medina Y, Baenas N, Moreno DA, Sanchez-Rodriguez E, Blasco B, Ruiz JM (2016) Evaluation of hydrogen sulfide supply to biostimulate the nutritive and phytochemical quality and the antioxidant capacity of Cabbage (*Brassica oleracea* L. 'Bronco'). J Appl Bot Food Qual 89. doi:10.5073/JABFQ.2016.089.038
- Mosaleeyanon K, Zobayed SMA, Afreen F, Kozai T (2005) Relationships between net photosynthetic rate and secondary metabolite contents in St. John's wort. Plant Sci 169:523–531
- Murch SJ, Saxena PK (2002) Mammalian neurohormones: potential significance in reproductive physiology of St. John's wort (*Hypericum perforatum* L.)? Naturwissenschaften 89:555–560
- Nasim SA, Dhir B (2010) Heavy Metals alter the potency of medicinal plants, In: Whitacre DM (ed) Reviews of environmental contamination and toxicology, reviews of environmental contamination and toxicology 203, doi:10.1007/978-1-4419-1352-4_5
- Pellegrini E, Carucci G, Campanella A et al (2011) Ozone stress in Melissa officinalis plants assessed by photosynthetic function. Environ Exp Bot 73:94–101
- Pellegrini E, Francini A, Lorenzini G et al (2015) Ecophysiological and antioxidant traits of *Salvia* officinalis under ozone stress. Environ Sci Pollu Res 22:13083–13093
- Rahimtoola S (2004) Digitalis therapy for patients in clinical heart failure. Circulation 109:2942–2946. doi:10.1161/01.CIR.0000132477.32438.03
- Rai V, Khatoon S, Bisht SS, Mehrotra S (2005) Effect of cadmium on growth, ultramorphology of leaf and secondary metabolites of *Phyllanthus amarus* Schum. and Thonn. Chemosphere 61:1644–1650. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2005.04.052
- Rai V, Mehrotra S (2008) Chromium-induced changes in ultramorphology and secondary metabolites of *Phyllanthus amarus* Schum & Thonn.—an hepatoprotective plant. Environ Monit Assess 147:307–315. doi:10.1007/s10661-007-0122-4
- Rai V, Vaypayee P, Singh SN, Mehrotra S (2004) Effect of chromium accumulation on photosynthetic pigments, oxidative stress defense system, nitrate reduction, proline level and eugenol content of *Ocimum tenuiflorum* L. Plant Sci 167:1159–1169. doi:10.1016/j.plantsci. 2004.06.016
- Saleem A, Loponen J, Pihlaja K, Oksanen E (2001) Effects of long-term open-field ozone exposure on leaf phenolics of European silver birch (*Betula pendula Roth*). J Chem Ecol 27:1049–1062
- Sanghera GS, Wani SH, Hussain W, Singh NB (2011) Engineering cold stress tolerance in crop plants. Curr Genomics 12(1):30
- Saravanan S, Karthi S (2014) effect of elevated CO₂ on growth and biochemical changes in *Catharanthus roseus*—an valuable medicinal herb. World J Pharm Pharmaceuti Sci 3:411–422
- Schonhof I, Klaring H, Krumbein A et al (2007) Interaction between atmospheric CO₂ and Glucosinolates in Broccoli. J Chem Ecol 33:105–114. Doi:10.1007/s10886-006-9202-0
- Shakeri A, Sahebkar A, Javadi B (2016) Melissa officinalis L.—a review of its traditional uses, phytochemistry and pharmacology. J Ethnopharmacol. doi:10.1016/j.jep.2016.05.010
- Shriram V, Kumar V, Devarumath RM, Khare T, Wani SH (2016) MicroRNAs as potent targets for abiotic stress tolerance in plants. Front Plant Sci 7:817. doi:10.3389/fpls.2016.00817
- Silva LC, Araujo TO, Martinez CA, Lobo F, Azevedo AA, Oliva MA (2015) Differential responses of C₃ and CAM native Brazilian plant species to a SO₂- and SPM_{Fe}- contaminated Restinga. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 22:140007–140017. doi:10.1007/s11356-015-4391-0
- Singh A, Agrawal M (2015) Effects of ambient and elevated CO_2 on growth, chlorophyll fluorescence, photosynthetic pigments, antioxidants, and secondary metabolites of *Catharanthus roseus* (L.) G Don. grown under three different soil N levels. Environ Sci Pollut Res 22:3936–3946
- Snow M, Bard R, Olszyk D et al (2003) Monoterpenes levels in needles of Douglas fir exposed to elevated CO₂ and temperature. Physiol Plant 117:352–358
- Stiling P, Cornelissen T (2007) How does elevated carbon dioxide (CO₂) affect plant-herbivore interactions? a field experiment and meta-analysis of CO₂- mediated changes on plant

chemistry and herbivore performance. Glob Change Biol 13:1823–1842. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2007.01392.x

- Stuhlfauth T, Fock H (1990) Effect of whole season CO₂ enrichment on the cultivation of a medicinal plant, *Digitalis lanata*. J Agro Crop Sci 164: 168–173
- Stuhlfauth T, Klug K, Fock H (1987) The production of secondary metabolites by *Digitalis lanata* during CO₂ enrichment and water stress. Phytochemistry 26(10):2735–2739
- Sun L, Su H, Zhu Y et al (2012) Involvement of abscisic acid in ozone-induced puerarin production of *Pueraria thomsnii* Benth. suspension cell cultures. Plant Cell Rep 31:179–185
- Swanepoel JW, Kruger GHJ, Van Heerden PDR (2007) Effects of sulphur dioxide on photosynthesis in the succulent Augea capensis Thunb. J Arid Environ 70:208–221
- Tonelli M, Pellegrini E, D' Angiolillo F, Petersen M, Nali C, Pistelli L, Lorenzini G (2015) Ozone-elicited secondary metabolites in shoot cultures of *Melissa officinalis* L. Plant Cell, Tissue Organ Cult 120:617–629
- Wang W, Zhao Y, Rayburn E et al (2007) In vitro anti-cancer activity and structure–activity relationships of natural products isolated from fruits of *Panax ginseng*. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 59:589–601. doi:10.1007/s00280-006-0300-z
- Wani SH, Hossain MA (eds) (2015) Managing salt tolerance in plants: molecular and genomic perspectives. CRC Press, USA
- Wani SH, Sofi PA, Gosal SS, Singh NB (2010) In vitro screening of rice (Oryza sativa L) callus for drought tolerance. Commun Biometry Crop Sci 5(2):108–115
- Wani SH, Gosal SS (2011) Introduction of OsglyII gene into Oryza sativa for increasing salinity tolerance. Biol Plant 55(3):536–540
- Wani SH, Singh NB, Haribhushan A, Mir JI (2013) Compatible solute engineering in plants for abiotic stress tolerance—role of Glycine Betaine. Curr Genomics 14(3):157–165
- Wani SH, Gosal SS (2010) Genetic engineering for osmotic stress tolerance in plants-role of Proline. IUP J Genet Evol 3(4):14–25
- Wani SH, Kumar V (2015) Plant stress tolerance: engineering ABA: a potent Phytohormone. Transcriptomics 3(2):1000113. doi:10.4172/2329-8936.1000113
- Wani SH, Kumar V, Shriram V, Sah SK (2016a) Phytohormones and their metabolic engineering for abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants. Crop J 4(3):162–176. doi:10.1016/j.cj.2016.01.010
- Wani SH, Sah SK, Khare T, Shriram V, Kumar V (2016b) Engineering Phytohormones for abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants. In: Ahammed GJ, Yu J (eds) Plant hormones under challenging environmental factors. Springer Science+Business Media, Dordrecht. doi:10.1007/978-94-0177758-2_10
- Wani SH, Dutta T, Neelapu NRR, Surekha C (2017) Transgenic approaches to enhance salt and drought tolerance in plants. *Plant Gene*. doi:10.1016/j.plgene.2017.05.006
- Weinmann S, Roll S, Schwarzbach C et al (2010) Effects of *Ginkgo biloba* in dementia: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Geriatrics 10:14. doi:10.1186/1471-2318-10-14
- Xu M, Yang B, Dong J et al (2011) Enhancing hypericin production of *Hypericum perforatum* cell suspension culture by ozone exposure. Biotechnol Prog 27(4):1101–1106
- Zhang B, Zheng LP, Yi Li W, Wen Wang J (2013) Stimulation of artemisinin production in Artemisia annua hairy roots by Ag–SiO₂ core-shell nanoparticles. Curr Nanosci 9:363–370. doi:10.2174/157341371130903001
- Zhang H, Tan ZQ, Hu LY, Wang SH, Luo JP, Jones RL (2010) Hydrogen sulfide alleviates aluminum toxicity in germinating wheat seedlings. J Integr Plant Biol 52:556–567
- Zhou L, Yang G, Sun H, Tang J, Yang J, Wang Y, Garran TA, Guo L (2016) Effects of different doses of cadmium on secondary metabolites and gene expression in *Artemisia annua* L. Front Med. doi:10.1007/s11684-016-0486-3
- Ziska L, Panicker S, Wojno H (2008) Recent and projected increases in atmospheric carbon dioxide and the potential impacts on growth and alkaloid production in wild poppy (*Papaver* setigerum DC.). Clim Change 91:395–403. doi:10.1007/s10584-008-9418-9
- Zobayed S, Saxena P (2004) Production of St. John's wort plants under controlled environment for maximizing biomass and secondary metabolites. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Plant 40:108–114

Plant Secondary Metabolites and Some Plant Growth Regulators Elicited by UV Irradiation, Light And/Or Shade

Zornitsa Katerova, Dessislava Todorova and Iskren Sergiev

Abstract Classification of plant secondary metabolites and characterization of major plant growth regulators are shortly described. A short account is also given to light, shade and ultraviolet radiation and their impact on plants. Recent investigations regarding secondary metabolite production and alterations in endogenous level of plant growth regulators in medicinal plants grown under light, shade or UV radiation are reviewed and discussed. Some conclusions and future perspectives to enlarge the investigations in this direction are also given.

Keywords Light • Plant growth regulators • Plant secondary metabolites • Shade • UV-irradiation

Abbreviations

- ABA Abscisic acid
- CK Cytokinin
- FR Far red light
- GA Gibberellic acid
- IAA Indole-3-yl acetic acid
- PAR Photosynthetically active radiation
- R Red light
- ROS Reactive oxygen species
- SAR Shade avoidance response
- UV Ultraviolet radiation

Z. Katerova $(\boxtimes) \cdot D$. Todorova $\cdot I$. Sergiev

Institute of Plant Physiology and Genetics, Bulgarian Academy of Sciences, Acad. G. Bonchev Str., Bl. 21, 1113 Sofia, Bulgaria e-mail: zkaterova.landzhova@gmail.com

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

M. Ghorbanpour and A. Varma (eds.), *Medicinal Plants and Environmental Challenges*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-68717-9_6

Light and Shade—Impact on Plants

Photosynthetically active radiation (PAR, 400–700 nm) is part of the visible light (380–760 nm). The predominant wavelengths sensed by plant photoreceptors and pigments corresponds to blue (400–500 nm) and red (R, 600–700 nm) and, to a lesser extent, green (500–600 nm) light. Due to phytochromes, plants perceive a small fraction of near-infrared radiation or far-red (FR) light, with a sensitivity peak at 730 nm, which is important for plant development (reviewed by Huché-Thélier et al. 2016).

Daylight includes nearly equal proportions of R and FR light but their ratio is lowered under the canopy as photosynthetic pigments absorb red light (Ruberti et al. 2012). Plants shaded within a canopy will have reduced R/FR and blue/green ratios, sensed by phytochromes and cryptochromes, respectively. FR photons are not effective to induce photosynthesis, so low R/FR ratio may quickly provoke changes in gene expression and physiological responses, controlling phenotypic plasticity and allowing plants to compete better with surrounding plants (Keuskamp et al. 2010). Foliar shade or reduced PAR can be perceived by cryptochrome and phytochrome photoreceptors due to reduced intensity of blue and R/FR light, respectively. In addition, shade affects environmental conditions as ground and air temperature, humidity, and soil chemistry (Song et al. 2012).

In general, plants developed two opposite strategies in response to competition for light: *shade avoidance* and *shade tolerance* (Ruberti et al. 2012).

Flowering plants sense the reduction in R/FR ratio due to phytochrome photoreceptors which is an early signal of neighbor proximity and activate complex of developmental responses like elongated stems, petioles, hypocotyls and internodes, smaller leaves/reduction in leaf development/, apical dominance, suppression of branching and early flowering (Keuskamp et al. 2010; Ruberti et al. 2012; Gommers et al. 2013; Park and Runkle 2017). Stimulation of elongation growth is the most impressive of shade avoidance responses (SAR). The response is rapid and reversible when returning plants to light with high R/FR ratio.

In contrast to shade avoidance, *shade tolerant plants* (shade-tolerance response) inhibit shade avoidance characteristics and increase leaf expansion causing interception of more radiation and simultaneous chlorophyll reorganization in order to improve photosynthetic efficiency (Gommers et al. 2013; Park and Runkle 2017).

UV Radiation—Classification and Impact on Plants

According to the International Commission on Illumination, Ultraviolet (UV) wavelength (400–200 nm) is a small part of the solar radiation reaching the Earth's surface, which is divided into UV-A (315–400 nm), UV-B (280–315 nm) and UV-C (200–280 nm), and it affects negatively all living organisms. The harmful effect of UV radiation increases towards the shorter wavelengths. UV-C

quickly provokes high levels of injuries because of its highest energy, but due to its absorption by the atmosphere UV-C radiation does not reach the Earth's surface (Häder et al. 2007). UV-B radiation is absorbed by the stratospheric ozone and only small part of it reaches the Earth's surface. Plants sense UV-B radiation with UVR8 photoreceptor but UV-A could be sensed by phototropins and cryptochromes (reviewed by Verdaguer et al. 2017). In addition, UV penetration via plant tissues decreases as wavelength decreases, so UV-B radiation cannot reach such deeper target sites in the leaves as UV-A can. Due to the measures taken through the Montreal Protocol regulating atmosphere pollution with ozone depleting substances, ozone layer started to build up again and the levels of UV-B irradiation on the Earth's surface tend to decrease (Björn 2015). Along with the stratospheric ozone amount, the spectral irradiance of the environmental UV depends on a number of other factors like the angle at which the solar radiation reaches the Earth's atmosphere, i.e., the "solar zenith angle" (including time of day, season and latitude), altitude, clouds, surface reflection, etc. (Barnes et al. 2015). Since there is no selective absorber for the long-wave UV-A radiation, its intensity is much higher than UV-B but it is not so biologically relevant (Vass et al. 2005).

High doses of UV-B and UV-C radiation affect negatively growth, development, photosynthesis, and other important processes in plants; cause overproduction of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and development of oxidative stress; can decrease cell viability and lead to cell death (Barnes et al. 2015). However, low UV-B or UV-C doses may trigger acclimation responses in plants, including induced biosynthesis of secondary metabolites (Kreft et al. 2002; Jansen et al. 2008; Rai et al. 2011; Nadeau et al. 2012; Barnes et al. 2015).

Secondary Metabolites

Secondary metabolites are organic compounds naturally occurring in plants, which derive through methylation, hydroxylation, glycosylation or other biochemical reactions from primary metabolites (carbohydrates, proteins, amino acids, lipids) (Korkina 2007). Secondary metabolites could be classified into several categories according to various features—for example based on their chemical structure, biosynthetic pathway or their solubility in different solvents, etc. Major popular classification is related to the presence or absence of nitrogen in their chemical structure (Gershenzon 2002). Thus secondary metabolites form two major groups: (1) nitrogen containing—alkaloids, non-protein amino acids, amines, cyanogenic glycosides, and glucosinolates; and (2) nitrogen not containing—terpenes (mono-, sesqui-, di-, tri-, tetraterpenes, steroids, saponins), phenolics (phenolic acids and phenylpropanoids), polyketides and polyacetylenes (Fig. 1).

Secondary metabolites are involved in variety of plant physiological and developmental processes like: formation of root nodules; germination of pollens, pigmentation of leaves and petals; contribution in stress responses as signaling molecules or scavengers of free radicals, which are formed after UV irradiation and



Fig. 1 Major secondary metabolites subgroups

invasion of pathogens (Gershenzon 2002; Edreva 2005; Korkina 2007; Edreva et al. 2007, 2008; Buer et al. 2010; Samanta et al. 2011). Plant secondary metabolites possess biological activities, which are important for human life and health and therefore are used in traditional and modern medicine, food industry, perfumery and cosmetics (Havsteen 2002; Korkina 2007; Dinkova-Kostova 2008; Jansen et al. 2008; Zhang and Björn 2009; Caputi and Aprea 2011; Wijesinghe and Jeon 2011). Many alkaloids are neurotransmitters, which are used in medicine as antiarrhythmic, antihypertensive, anesthetic, analgesic, antipyretic compounds. Terpenes, terpenoids, plant-derived phenylpropanoids (especially flavonoids) and their derivatives are among the most common biologically active components in food, wines, beer, spices, aromas, fragrances, and essential oils. Taking in account their protective properties, secondary metabolites are of great medicinal interest, especially as free radical scavengers and antioxidants, anticancer, anti-virus, antibacterial, antiprotozoal, anti-inflammatory agents and UV screeners.

Plant Growth Regulators and Phytohormones

Endogenous plant growth regulators are diverse group of organic compounds, which are synthesized within plant cells. Plant growth regulators function as endogenous stimuli modulating plant responses at molecular and physiological level. Phytohormones as part of the natural plant growth regulators are found in small quantities in plant cells, playing signaling role and mediating plant responses to normal or stressful conditions. Plant hormones act at their site of synthesis or in other plant organs via long distance transport. Some major plant growth regulators are shown on Fig. 2.

Auxins

Auxins are phytohormones consisting of indole or phenyl ring and a carboxylic group. The naturally occurring auxins in plants include indole-3-yl acetic acid, 4-chloroindole-3-acetic acid, phenylacetic acid, indole-3-butyric acid, and indole-3-propionic acid. They positively influence cell division and enlargement, bud formation, root initiation, growth of stems, roots, and fruits, participate in other physiological processes as phototropism, geotropism and hydrotropism. Auxins also contribute in plant adaptive stress responses to different stresses (Kazan 2013), including UV irradiation (Vanhaelewyn et al. 2016).

Cytokinins

Cytokinins are plant hormones that promote cell division, growth and differentiation, control apical dominance, axillary bud growth, retard leaf senescence, and along with auxins they control almost all aspects of plant growth. Naturally occurring cytokinins are structural analogues of adenine, bearing an isoprenoid side chain at N⁶ position. Cytokinins are found in plants as free bases, ribosides and ribotides, and the most active among them are *trans*-Zeatin and N⁶-Isopentenyladenine. There are also a number of highly active synthetic compounds such as Kinetin and N⁶-Benzyladenine. O'Brien and Benkova (2013) have reviewed cytokinin involvement in plant stress responses.

Gibberellins

Gibberellins are tetracyclic diterpenoid carboxylic acids. They can be divided in two classes based on the presence of either 19 or 20 carbons. More than 125 gibberellins are known but only a few of 19-carbon gibberellins like GA_1 , GA_3 , GA_4 and GA_7 have important biological activity and act as phytohormones in higher plants. Gibberellins render positive effects on a number of developmental processes such as seed germination, leaf expansion, stem elongation, flower initiation, flower and fruit development, leaf and fruit senescence. Although limited information exists in relation to UV-induced alteration of gibberellins (Hectors et al.


Fig. 2 Phytohormones and plant growth regulators

2007), there is evidence for their roles in plant abiotic stress response and adaptation (Wani et al. 2016).

Abscisic Acid

Abscisic acid is an isoprenoid plant hormone, which controls important physiological processes like seed dormancy, stomata movements, embryo morphogenesis, and synthesis of storage proteins and lipids. ABA contributes to a number of stress adaptive responses such as drought (Wani et al. 2016) and UV radiation (Tossi et al. 2012).

Ethylene

Ethylene is gaseous phytohormone that is induced during certain stages of plant growth and development such as seed germination, root hair and adventitious root growth induction, ripening of fruits, senescence of leaves and flowers, abscission of leaves, etc. Ethylene can also be induced by a variety of external stimuli such as mechanical wounding, diverse environmental stresses (Wani et al. 2016). Ethylene and/or its biosynthetic precursor 1-aminocyclopropane-1carboxylic acid accumulate after UV irradiance (Katerova et al. 2009; Pan et al. 2014).

Brassinosteroids

Brassinosteroids are a new class of plant hormones that regulate multiple physiological and developmental processes such as cell division, elongation and expansion, vascular differentiation, pollen tube growth, seed germination, reproductive development, and confer resistance of plants against various abiotic stresses (Wani et al. 2016). The most bioactive brassinosteroinds are brassinolide, 28-homobrassinolide, and 24-epibrassinolide.

Jasmonates

Jasmonates are involved in physiological processes such as growth inhibition, flower development, leaf senescence and abscission. Jasmonates possess also signaling functions in direct or indirect plant responses to both abiotic and biotic stresses (Wani et al. 2016) including UV stress (reviewed by Vanhaelewyn et al. 2016).

Polyamines

The tetraamine spermine, triamine spermidine, and diamine putrescine are the major polyamines found among all plant species. They are aliphatic nitrogen-containing compounds. Polyamines contribute to a number of growth and developmental processes like cell division, growth, and differentiation; dormancy breaking of tubers and germination of seeds; morphogenesis; development of flower buds; fruit growth; cell, organ, and tissue senescence. Because of their polycationic nature, polyamines possess antioxidant and free radical scavenging properties and contribute to plant tolerance against different abiotic stresses, including UV-irradiation (Groppa and Benavides 2008; Gill and Tuteja 2010; Todorova et al. 2014).

Salicylic Acid

Salicylic acid is an endogenous growth regulator of phenolic nature, which participates in physiological processes as seed germination, vegetative growth and development, flowering, senescence, photosynthesis, transpiration, ion uptake and transport (Rivas-San Vicente and Plasencia 2011). Salicylic acid is involved mainly in induction of plant reactions against biotic stresses as a part of the signal transduction pathway leading to systemic acquired resistance. Evidence exists that salicylic acid plays an important role in UV stress responses (reviewed by Vanhaelewyn et al. 2016).

Impact of UV Radiation on the Synthesis of Secondary Metabolites in Medicinal Plants

Compared to plants grown under white light, an enhanced production of antioxidants like phenolics (geraniin and ellagic acid) and carotenoids were found in in vitro cultures of *Phyllanthus tenellus* grown under white light plus UV-A radiation (Victório et al. 2011). Additional UV-A radiation had negative effect on branching and number of shoots, which reduced proliferation rate, but the thickness of abaxial epidermis and palisade parenhima were increased as a protective reaction against UV-A. Bernal et al. (2015) reported a reduction in leaf concentration of specific quercitin and kaempferol derivatives in seedlings of *Laurus nobilis* grown under low levels of supplemental UV-A, as compared with plants grown under ambient UV light. The content of total phenolics and total flavonoid in sowthistle (*Ixeris dentata* Nakai) were significantly enhanced after 3d and 5d of continuous exposure to UV-A, compared with control, but plant growth was not inhibited (Lee et al. 2013). On the contrary, the rise in total phenolics and total flavonoid contents found after either continuous or gradual UV-B exposure of sowthistle was

accompanied with growth inhibition. The expression of the majority genes involved in peppermint (Mentha x piperita L.) terpenoid biosynthesis were modulated by exposure to UV-B (7.1 kJm⁻² day⁻¹ UV_{BE}) radiation of plants grown in field and in a growth chamber, but it did not correlate with the amount of most essential oil compounds (Dolzhenko et al. 2010). Authors documented enhanced phenolic compounds like flavonoids eriocitrin, hesperidin and kaempferol 7-O-rutinoside in UV-B treated plants. The interaction between terpenoid and flavonoid production in response to UV-B was proven by the higher essential oils amount in growth chamber plants associated with lower total phenolic contents; and the decreased terpenoid concentrations in field grown peppermint connected with increased content of phenolic compounds. It was concluded that field grown plants were better adapted to increasing UV-B irradiation than peppermints in growth chamber due to enhanced flavonoid concentration. UV-B-induced accumulation of monoterpene *trans*-ocimene was shown in leaves (higher in mature than in developing leaves) of linalool-rich commercial variety of sweet basilicum lacking phenylpropanoids in its essential oil (Ioannidis et al. 2002). Wang et al. (2016) reported that UV-B exposure (40 min at 40 μ W cm⁻²) induced tanshinone accumulation in Salvia miltiorrhiza without inhibition of root growth. Tanshinones are known as major bioactive diterpenoids of S. miltiorrhiza roots used for the treatment of cardiocerebral diseases and authors recommended UV-B irradiation as an effective elicitor of tanshinone production. Other authors revealed that short term high intensity (3d, 1.13 Wm⁻²) and long term low intensity (15d, 0.43 Wm⁻²) UV-B irradiation induced nearly 1.5 fold higher glycyrrhizin (an oleanane-type triterpenoid saponin, natural sweetener possessing anti-tumor and anti-viral activities) production in roots of only 3 month old *Glycyrrhiza uralensis* than in control plants (Afreen et al. 2005). Using similar model system, Afreen et al. (2006), compared concentration of melatonin (N-acetyl-5-methoxytryptamine, an indole amine) in different tissues (seed, root, leaf and stem) of G. uralensis and noted the highest amount in root tissues, which increased with plant development. The highest melatonin concentration in roots was found after exposure to UV-B radiation, as compared with exposure to red, blue or white light, but it decreased under longer exposure period. The authors assumed that melatonin protects G. uralensis plant against UV-B triggered oxidative damage. In addition, Solhaug et al. (2003) showed that induction of melanin and parietin (an anthraquinone, possessing antifungal activity) pigments synthesis in Lobaria pulmonaria and Xanthoria parietina lichens required presence of UV-B light. Spitaler et al. (2006) evaluated the altitudinal variation of phytochemical diversity in flowering heads (mostly unaffected by seasonal variations in regard to secondary metabolite contents) from Arnica montana, grown between 590 and 2230 m (at 9 sites near Innsbruck, Austria). Increased ratio of flavonoids with vicinal free hydroxy groups in ring B of their chemical structure to flavonoids without this trait, and enhanced contents of caffeic acid derivatives (most notably 1-methoxyoxaloyl-3,5-dicaffeoylquinic acid) with elevation was reported. The authors demonstrated for the first time the induction of phenolics as major factor in ROS scavenging system in genetically homogenous populations grown along an altitudinal gradient and most probably linked with augmented UV-B light. In opposite, sesquiterpene lactones were not observed to correlate with altitude, which was explained with the fact they did not absorb UV-B radiation nor possess radical scavenging activity (Spitaler et al. 2006). It was reported that total hypericins content of the plants (defined as the sum of quinones protohypericin, hypericin, protopseudohypericin and pseudohypericin) also has the tendency to increase with altitude in four spontaneously growing Hypericum species collected during the flowering stage on the island of Crete (Xenophontos et al. 2008). The authors had proposed that the reason for the increasing levels of total hypericins with increasing altitude might be a complex of enhanced UV-B radiation accompanied by higher light intensities and lower air temperature. In another study concentration of hyperforin, pseudohypericin and hypericin was reported to alter after exposure to UV-B (single/daily/increasing daily dose) in Hypericum perforatum (St. John's wort) during the vegetative stage of plants (Brechner et al. 2011). Single UV-B exposure led to significant transient production of hyperforin (a terpenoid) which was enhanced to a concentration comparable to the beginning stages of flowering (when the active ingredient concentrations in control plants are highest). The authors stated that the information obtained might be valuable to optimize total product harvest for continuous production in controlled environments (Brechner et al. 2011). Hyperforin and hypericin are the main active ingredients which contribute to the antidepressant action of St. John's wort and hypericin and pseudohypericin possess anti-viral and anti-retroviral activity. Germ et al. (2010) reported UV-B induction of flavonoids and tannins production in leaves of St. John's wort. In opposite to Xenophontos et al. (2008), Germ et al. (2010) noted that hypericin concentration in leaves decreased in plants exposed to enhanced UV-B light and assumed that plants compete for the energy needed for synthesis of flavonoids, hypericin and tannins as the synthesis of UV-B absorbing compound is an energy-consuming process. Similarly, a higher yield of biomass, curcumin and curcuminoid content of rhizome was reported for turmeric grown under UV exclusion conditions compared with full sun (Ferreira et al. 2016). Other authors found that in tarbush (Flourensia cernua DC) UV restriction had positive effect on total volatile concentrations but did not affected total phenolics (Estell et al. 2016). In particular, concentrations of camphene, sabinene, β -pinene, borneol, bornyl acetate, Z-jasmone, α -terpinene, *cis*chrysanthenol + pinocarvone, β-acoradienol, drima-7,9(11)-diene, ledol, flourensadiol were higher for plants grown under UV restricted than under control conditions. Sun et al. (2010) examined the effect of different radiation time applied by device with UV-B intensity of 82.90 μ W cm⁻² on flavonoids concentration in freshlv collected Ginkgo biloba leaves. It was reported that younger leaves and moderate irradiation time of 120 min UV-B significantly enhanced content of quercetin, kaempferol and isorhamnetin as well as total flavonoids concentration. The authors wished to present an innovation method enriching health-related compounds for food and pharmaceutical technology. Similarly, Ning et al. (2012) studied the effect of UV-B or UV-A radiation on secondary metabolites in freshly collected flower buds of medicinal plant Lonicera japonica Thunb. Four kinds of secoiridoid glycoside (secologanic acid, secoxyloganin, secologanin and (E)- aldosecologanin) and three kinds of isochlorogenic acid (3,4-di-*O*-caffeoylquinic acid, 3,5-di-*O*-caffeoylquinic acid and 4,5-di-*O*-caffeoylquinic acid) were reported to rise after UV application. Iridoids or iridoid-rich plants have been noted to possess wide range of biological activities like anti-arthritic, anti-inflammatory, antibacterial, antifungal, anticancer, anticoagulant, antioxidant, antivirus, antispasmodic, immunomodulatory, wound-healing and neuroprotective activities. In addition, antioxidant power measured by DPPH assay showed that methanol extracts of flower buds was higher in UV-B treated flower buds than in UV-A treated.

Study on C. roseus showed that UV-B exposure inhibited growth and caused oxidative damages but induced alkaloids vinblastine, vindoline, and catharanthine, considered to act as UV-B protectants (Guo et al. 2014). Interestingly, simultaneous nitrate nutrition alleviates negative effect of UV-B exposure and increased substantially amounts of three alkaloids studied. Peebles et al. (2009) examined the role of the endogenous production of jasmonic acid via octadecanoid pathway in the production of terpenoid indole alkaloids in C. roseus hairy roots using octadecanoid pathway inhibitors. The results obtained led the authors to assume that the octadecanoid pathway does not actively control generation of terpenoid indole alkaloids under normal or UV-B stress conditions in C. roseus. Leaf concentration of another monoterpene indole alkaloid brachycerine, possessing antioxidant and antimutagenic activities was also noted to enhance significantly in UV-B-treated cuttings of Psychotria brachyceras Müll. Arg. (do Nascimento et al. 2012). The results obtained led the authors to suppose that brachycerine probably participate in acute UV-B responses and at least partially its accumulation might be regulated at transcriptional level. In other study (Kreft et al. 2002), rutin and tannin concentrations were reported to reduce in the following order: under ambient > UV-B enhanced (simulating 17% O₃ depletion) > UV-B depleted (by Mylar foil) conditions in field grown Fagopyrum esculentum Moench (buckwheat). The highest amounts of these compounds were determined in flowers, followed by leaves and stems. Concentration of flavonol conjugates and betacyanins in halophyte Mesembryanthemum crystallinum was also reported to increase even when the plant was exposed to very low wavelength UV-B (like 280 or 295 nm) and the amount of feruloylglucose (the precursor of flavonol conjugates and acylated betacyanins) was much higher in leaves than in leaf tips (Ibdah et al. 2002). The authors reported that accumulation of flavonols and betacyanins could be illustrated by a weakly sigmoid dose function along with an exponential reduction of the response function of the plant with increasing wavelength. Other authors observed that three closely related species of the sub-Arctic dwarf shrubs (Vaccinium myrtillus L., Vaccinium vitisidaea L., and Vaccinium uliginosum L.) grown outdoors showed different strategies in UV-B response concerning the content and distribution of UV-absorbing phenolic compounds in leaves (Semerdjieva et al. 2003). Methanol-extractable UV-B absorbing compound amounts were highest in V. myrtillus, increased with UV-B irradiation, distributed all over the leaf but concentrated in cells containing chlorophyll. The majority of phenolic compounds in V. vitis-idaea were cell-wall bound, concentrated in the walls of epidermis and their pool was enhanced with UV-B dose. The authors assumed that the difference in strategies for UV screening found in those two plants could be connected with leaf longevity. The response of V. uliginosum was found to be flexible. This plasticity in response between the other two plants was explained with the fact that plant is deciduous as V. myrtillus. but possesses leaves with structural similarity to V. vitis-idaea. Kumari and Agrawal (2010) also applied supplemental UV-B radiation (1.8 and 3.6 kJ m⁻² d⁻¹ above ambient) on the aromatic perennial herb Cymbopogon citratus (D.C.) Staph in field conditions and reported that only higher dose inhibited biomass production. A reduction of chlorophyll content without significant alteration in photosynthesis. and induction of carotenoids and phenolic compounds was noted in UV-B treated plants. Authors demonstrated the positive outcome of the supplemental low dose of UV-B radiation on volatile oils production. In addition, dense waxy deposition was observed on the adaxial surface of leaves irradiated with lower UV-B dose. UV-B was reported to be necessary for the normal development of oil glands, in particular for the filling of glandular trichomes of sweet basil (Ioannidis et al. 2002). Lack of significant difference in wax content was shown for UV-B treated (5 and 10 kJm⁻² d⁻¹) and control Stellaria plants, pertaining to "sun" and "shade" ecotypes (Sangtarash et al. 2009). In both ecotypes UV-B reduced growth and dry weight but increased carotenoids and flavonoids. Other authors irradiated white asparagus (Asparagus officinalis L. cv. Gijnlim) spears (apical and basal parts) with UV-B $(0.54 \text{ or } 1.08 \text{ kJ m}^{-2})$ and showed that concentration of flavonol quercetin-4'-O-monoglucoside increased with UV-B dose, which was accompanied with rise in activity of polyphenol-related enzymes (phenylalanine ammonia-lyase and peroxidase) (Eichholz et al. 2012).

Reifenrath and Müller (2007) reported increased relative contents of quercetin flavonols at the cost of kaempferols in Sinapsis alba L. leaves in UV-treated (short term UV-B plus UV-A) plants. Total flavonoid amounts in young leaves of Nasturtium officinale L. exposed to UV were also enhanced but revealed to be much lower when compared to S. alba, which was associated with the shady habitat. In both species hydroxycinnamic acid contents were unaffected, however, as important partners of the Brassicaceae defence system glucosinolates and myrosinases responded in species-specific manner to UV exposure. The authors concluded that compared to old leaves, young leaves (rich in nitrogen and soluble protein) were efficiently protected to UV light due to high flavonoid and glucosinolate amounts in S. alba, or enhanced flavonoid levels and myrosinase activities in N. officinale (Reifenrath and Müller 2007). Other authors explored UV-B elicitor mediated changes on secondary plant metabolites in Vaccinium corymbosum L. (highbush blueberries) after harvest by application of different doses (0.075 and 0.15 Wh m⁻²) and adaptation times (2 and 24 h) (Eichholz et al. 2011). Both UV-B treatments enhanced the relative peak area of volatile secondary metabolites (C6-aldehydes, terpenes and ketones), responsible for the valuable flavor, stress response, environmental interaction (herbivore attack), antimicrobial and anticarcinogenic assets. The rise in volatile secondary metabolites was detected only after 2 h adaptation time but an opposite tendency was reported 22 h later. Expectedly, the degradation products of aldehydes, viz. alcoholic compounds exhibited opposite results. Total phenolic compounds, responsible for the antioxidative properties of bluberries, increased rapidly with UV-B intensity. Similarly, an increment of phenolic compounds (flavonols, anthocyanins, hydroxycinnamic and hydroxybenzoic acids) was shown in UV-B treated Ribes nigrum L. (black currant) irrespective of the adaptation time (Huyskens-Keil et al. 2007). Based on the obtained results the authors suggested that flavonols and phenolic acids have antioxidant protection activity on UV-B mediated tissue damage and concluded that anthocyanins absorbed UV radiation within a short time. Exposure of fresh mulberry leaves in vitro to UV-B light also induced production of two 2-aryl-benzofuran secondary metabolite compounds-chalcomoracin, possessing antibacterial activity, as well as accumulation of its precursor moracin N (Gu et al. 2010). Global metabolite profiling of UV-induced changes showed that phenylpropanoid-related metabolites shikimic acid, quinic acid and phenylalanine were markedly increased in lemon balm (Melissa officinalis) exposed for 2 h to UV-B irradiation as compared with control plants (Kim et al. 2012). Kalanchoe pinnata extracts had higher diversity of phenolic compounds and increased quantity of quercitrin after UV-B irradiation (Nascimento et al. 2015). Interestingly, Hoffmann et al. (2015) reported that pre-acclimation of UV-B stressed pepper (Capsicum annuum) plants with lower PAR or blue (30%) light intensity had poorer photosynthetic performance and lower amount of epidermal flavonols than those pre-acclimated under high PAR (300 umol $m^{-2} s^{-1}$) or blue (62%) light. It was concluded that high amount of blue light resulted in better acclimation and recovery of C. annuum plants to UV-B irradiation and induced accumulation of more epidermal flavonols. Low dose UV-B exposure (3 h, 2.8 Wm⁻²) induced artemisinin (endoperoxide sesquiterpene lactone, an antimalarial drug) and flavonoid yield as well as concentrations of UV-B absorbing anthocyanins and phenolics for in vitro propagated Artemisia annua plantlets (Pandev and Pandev-Rai 2014). Higher artemisinin accumulation was shown to be a result of significant up-regulation of HMGR, DXR, IPPi, FPS, ADS, CYP71AV1 and RED1 gene transcripts. Authors proved that 3 h irradiation period is optimal for artemisinin yield and better plant tolerance to UV-B stress. It was suggested that short-term UV-B irradiation could be a safe way for in vitro grown A. annua to propagate high artemisinin producing plantlets. Low dose of UV-B radiation (1.44 kJm⁻²d⁻¹) also induced artemisinin biosynthesis in A. annua seedlings (Pan et al. 2014). Compared to control, prolonged (14d) and short-term UV-B (4.2 kJ m⁻²d⁻¹) and UV-C (5.7 kJ m⁻²d⁻¹) pre-treatments on A. annua

seedlings (before transplantation to field) augmented artemisinin and flavonoid contents at all developmental stages (Rai et al. 2011). Overexpression of genes associated with artemisinin/isoprenoid biosynthesis (*HMGR*, *CPR*, *ADC*) was noted as well. UV-B and UV-C pre-treatments increased carotenoid but decreased chlorophyll content. Despite the positive alteration in artemisinin and flavonoid contents, the morphological and physiological changes under UV-C pre-treatment revealed significant plant damage. Therefore, authors recommend short-term pre-treatment with UV-B but not UV-C in greenhouse before transplantation to

field as a potential elicitor for sustained production of artemisinin by *A. annua*. Twenty-four hours UV-C irradiation was also effective in the reddening of yellow saffron thistle florets to yield carthamin which is applied as a colour additive for processed foods, in cosmetic and medicinal industry (Saito 2001). Concentrations of calycosin 7-*O*- β -glucoside, pseudobaptigenin and hesperidin were significantly increased by UV-C radiation (for 20d) as compared with white light in *Cyclopia subternata* (honeybush) callus but growth was not affected (Kokotkiewicz et al. 2014). Nadeau et al. (2012) studied the effect of hormetic UV-C dose on glucosinolates (secondary metabolites derived from amino acids, the precursors of bioactive compounds with anti-cancer properties like sulforaphane and indole-3-carbinol) in broccoli florets. It was reported that UV-C tended to enhance 4-methoxyglucobrassicin, 4-hydroxyglucobrassicin and glucoraphanin in broccoli florets. So they suggested that hormetic dose of UV-C had biochemical significance to enlarge potential health effect of broccoli in cancer prevention by increasing bioactive compounds.

Impact of UV Radiation on the Metabolism of Plant Growth Regulators in Medicinal Plants

UV-B treated (5, and 10 kJm⁻² d⁻¹) and control Stellaria plants, pertaining to "sun" and "shade" ecotypes, showed lack of significant difference in ethylene production (Sangtarash et al. 2009). Seedlings of Artemisia annua L, irradiated with low dose of UV-B radiation (1.44 kJ $m^{-2} d^{-1}$) had elevated endogenous content of ABA, ROS and up-regulation of genes responding to stress, ROS generation, hormone (ethylene, ABA) stimulus and cell cycle control (Pan et al. 2014). In comparison with controls, prolonged UV-B exposure (35d, $8hd^{-1}$, 0.029 Jm⁻² s⁻¹) of Trichosanthes kirilowii Maxim seedlings resulted in accumulation of ABA but reduction of IAA and gibberellic acid $(GA_{1/3})$ with time (Liu and Zhong 2009). Leaf zeatin ribozide content gradually increased as the treatment time continued but there was no clear difference with control plants. Compared to full sun, UV exclusion does not alter the content of endogenous spermidine concentration but increased concentration of the diamine putrescine and decreased spermine content in rhizome of turmeric (Ferreira et al. 2016). In addition, turmeric grown under full sun had some degree of UV morphogenic responses, compared with plants grown under UV exclusion which led the authors to the assumption that it was caused by inactivation or blockage of auxin transport. The content of free diamine putrescine increased in the leaves and especially in the roots of Salvia officinalis L. after 10 min irradiation with UV-B (Radyukina et al. 2010). UV-B irradiation induced also the accumulation of soluble conjugates of polyamines spermine and spermidine, which are probably involved in plant defense mechanism against UV-B stress.

Light and Shade—Impact on the Metabolism of Secondary Metabolites and Some Plant Growth Regulators

Using elaborate GC-MS analysis, Carvalho et al. (2016) tested the hypothesis that spectral quality may control vital sensory qualities of basil (Ocimum basilicum L.) herb. LED-based treatment of basil with blue/red/yellow or blue/red/green wavelengths induced production of monoterpenoids and reduced phenylpropanoids but blue/red/far red treatments increased the levels of most sesquiterpenoid volatile molecules. Compared to greenhouse conditions, blue/red/green wavelengths promoted higher amounts of eugenol, linalool and 1,8-cineole. This study shows that specific light irradiation with narrow-bandwidth light could influence important herbal traits like aroma in sweet basil. It was noted that due to the quick adjustment of plants to the new light environment, volatile profiles were maintained for about one week after treatment. Authors speculated that specific light programs might be scheduled to obtain healthier food products decreasing the toxic compounds as methyleugenol in basil. The effect of light quality (white, yellow, blue, red) on camptothecin (quinoline alkaloid) production was studied in Camptotheca acumi*nata* seedlings (Liu et al. 2015). It was reported that compared with white light, red light provoked highest leaf biomass and camptothecin yield, whereas blue light led to highest camptothecin content, higher activities of camptothecin biosynthesisrelated enzymes (TSB, b-subunit of tryptophan synthase and TDC, tryptophan decarboxylase) and corresponding transcript levels of TSB, TDC1, and TDC2 genes, but lowest leaf biomass. Authors concluded that red light had best effect for increasing production of camptothecin in leaves of C. acuminata seedlings and suggested that light quality manipulation could be an effective approach to get high camptothecin yield. Hoffmann et al. (2015) reported that Capsicum annuum plants grown under high PAR (300 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹) intensity or 62% blue light had increased epidermal flavonols as compared with plants grown under lower PAR light intensity (100 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹) or lower levels of blue light (30%). Concentrations of calycosin 7-O-B-glucoside, pseudobaptigenin and hesperidin were significantly increased by blue (on 14d of experiment) as compared with white light but growth was not affected by different wavebands (white, red, blue, yellow, complete darkness) treatment studied in Cyclopia subternata (honeybush) callus (Kokotkiewicz et al. 2014). The highest statistically different result for formononetin accumulation was obtained after 14d irradiation with red and blue light. Ahmad et al. (2016) also demonstrated that blue light augmented total phenolic and total flavonoid contents for callus cultures of Stevia rebaudiana. It was shown that treatment with blue LED spectrum or cool fluorescent lamp with 27 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ was the best for an optimal in vitro growth of Achillea millefolium but there was variation in number, amount and profile of volatile compounds under the influence of quality and light intensity (Alvarenga et al. 2015). Among the major volatile constituents identified (sabinene, 1,8 cineole, borneol, β-caryophyllene and β -cubebene) in A. millefolium, the highest quantities were identified after blue (1,8-cineole and β -caryophyllene), fluorescent (borneol), red (sabinene) and white (β -cubebene) light treatment. The authors suggested that it might be possible to yield the compounds of interest by adjustment of the ambient light quality and/or intensity (Alvarenga et al. 2015).

The amount of scutellarin (flavone glycoside) was shown to be higher in sun-developed leaves than in shade-developed leaves of Erigeron breviscapus (Zhou et al. 2016). Scutellarin is the main active substance of this herbal heliophyte. Its content decreased during the first 10d after transfer from shade to high light but 40d after transfer it had higher amounts than before the transfer. Compared to low light intensity (35 μ mol s⁻¹m⁻², simulating deep shade), high light treatment (175 μ mol s⁻¹m⁻², simulating moderate shade) induced accumulation of foliar verbascoside and iridoid glycosides (aucubin and catalpol) in both above and belowground plant tissue of *Plantago lanceolata* (Miehe-Steier et al. 2015). The highest flavone content of the typical heliophyte *Lithocarpus litseifolius* (sweet tea) was obtained under 40% shading (one shading net) and the lowest was found under 80% (two shading nets) shading (Li et al. 2016). In order to increase flavone content in the leaves, it was suggested that *L. litseifolius* should be sown in lower locations of a sunny slope or the upper location of a shady slope. Partial shade was noted to cause reduction in total phenolics but had no effect on total volatile concentrations of tarbush as compared with control plants (Estell et al. 2016). However, concentrations of camphene, sabinene, β-pinene, borneol, bornyl acetate, and Z-jasmone were higher for plants grown under partial shade than controls. Grbic et al. (2016) explored the effect of natural light and colored plastic films (changing R/FR and blue/R ratios) on secondary metabolite concentrations and some morphometric parameters of *Perilla frutescens*, which is well known for its beneficial medicinal properties. Compared with natural light, colored plastic films used caused significant reduction in polyphenol and anthocyanin concentrations but do not alter flavonoid content in P. frutescens. A 2-year field study exploring the effects of light using cladding materials (polyethylene films named Clarixblue and Patilite, which cut off more than 90% of UV-B waveband, and shade net that reduces solar radiation by 70%) on varrow (Achilea collina cv. SPAK) grown in the Aplps did not observe any SAR effects and the authors hypothesized that it could be a shade-tolerant species (Giorgi et al. 2014). However, phenylpropanoid levels (caffeic acid derivatives as 5-O-caffeoylquinic, 3,5-di-O-caffeoylquinic and 4,5-di-O-caffeoylquinic acids) in inflorescences were reduced significantly in shaded plants compared with full sun. Authors identified switch in carbon allocation between leaves and inflorescences after PAR reduction by shade net. It was reported that UV-B radiation has no significant effect on the biosynthesis of phenylpropanoids in varrow (leaves and inflorescence) because their concentrations under Patilite and Clarixblue films were similar to those measured under full sun. Study of Podyma et al. (2010) on southern sweet-grass (Poaceae) indicated an opportunity to obtain high yield and quality of leaves in the system of organic cultivation. Shading (50 and 70% by shading nets) led to accumulation of coumarin and 3,4-dihydrocoumarin but reduction of bergapten in comparison with non-shaded plants. The highest content of phenolic compounds (astragalin, rutin and chlorogenic, elagic, ferulic, o-coumaric, rosmarinic acids) and cumulative yield of leaves

were found in plants grown under 50% shading. Recent study on Glechoma longituba explored photo-acclimation mechanisms under different light intensities and suggested that it is extremely shade-tolerant plant (Zhang et al. 2015). Ursolic acid and oleanolic acid are the major bioactive compounds in G. longituba which possess various pharmacological activities and are used as markers to estimate medicinal quality of the plant. It was reported that ursolic acid and oleanolic acid vield in G. longituba as well as the vield and qualities of the medicinal plant were maximal at 16 and 33% of sunlight levels. The study confirmed that appropriate light control might be used to improve the yield and medicinal properties of G. longituba. The effects of shade were studied in herbaceous peony (Paeonia lactiflora Pall.), which is high-light demanding plant containing many bioactive compounds with pharmaceutical importance as paeoniflorin, oleanolic acid and ursolic acid (Zhao et al. 2012). Study showed that various morphology parameters were higher in sun-exposed compared to shade grown peony. Shade reduced soluble sugar, soluble protein and malondyaldehyde contents, which caused delayed initial flowering date, lengthened flowering time, reduced flower fresh weight, faded flower color and others. It was found that reduced anthocyanin content was the reason of fading flower color under shade. During the period with highest anthocyanin content (flower-bud stage S1 and initiating bloom stage S2) it was found to be higher in sun exposed plants due to expression of upstream anthocyanin biosynthesis genes (PlPAL and PlCHS) and of downstream (PlF3H) genes. Matos et al. (2009) explored phenotypic plasticity to a wide natural light gradient in leaves from four canopy positions (the intercepted PAR differed by a factor of 25 between the sun-exposed leaves and those in shade) in coffee trees, which are considered to be shade-requiring species. Compared with shaded leaves, sun-exposed leaves had lower content of neoxanthin, violaxanthin and α -carotene but higher concentrations of lutein, antheraxanthin, zeaxanthin and β -carotene. Compared with shaded leaves, sun-exposed leaves had better developed photoprotection mechanisms, including augmentation of zeaxanthin pools and de-epoxidation state of the xanthophyll cycle.

An extensive study of light effects (different R/FR ratio and PAR levels) on plant growth regulators was elaborated for *Stellaria longipes* plants occupying different habitats. One with prairie-origin i.e., 'shade' ecotype (tall phenotype, highly responsive to low R/FR ratio) and another with alpine-origin i.e., 'sun' ecotype (dwarf phenotype, not responsive to low R/FR ratio). Kurepin et al. (2015) quantified ABA, IAA and GA levels for shoots harvested from plants during active stem elongation growth using normal or low R/FR ratio light. Both ecotypes synthesized high amounts of GA₁ under low R/FR light but differ in their catabolism of GA₁. The 'sun' ecotype had very high amounts of GA₈ under both light conditions and lack of increased growth response. IAA concentration in 'shade' ecotype showed stable rise for plants grown under low R/FR compared to sunlight but reduction or no change was observed in 'sun' ecotype. ABA concentration was decreased significantly for both ecotypes grown under low R/FR as compared to normal R/FR light. The result was not surprising as auxin is known to play important role in stem elongation increase observed for SAR. Reduced levels of ABA found for shade-adapted 'shade' ecotype Stellaria plants grown under shade is in line with ABA to IAA and/or ABA to GA antagonism associated with stem elongation. Authors concluded that the low R/FR ratio light-mediated increase in stem elongation, observed for the low R/FR light-adapted 'shade' ecotype Stellaria plants is regulated by enhanced IAA and GA₁ biosynthesis. In addition, rise in endogenous GAs (GA₁₉, GA₂₀, GA₁ and GA₈) concentrations was reported for both ecotypes grown under low PAR, which correlated with enhanced growth (Kurepin et al. 2006a). Authors suggested that low PAR irradiance probably provoke an overall increase in GA biosynthesis pathway in shoots of S. longipes. Under low PAR irradiance only the 'sun' ecotype had altered (decreased) ethylene production but R/FR ratios had no significant effect on ethylene evolution in both ecotypes (Kurepin et al. 2006b). It was concluded that different growth response of 'shade' Stellaria ecotype under low R/FR ratio and irradiance was not mediated by ethylene. Phenotypic responses of the two Stellaria ecotypes seem to be due to different profiles and levels of endogenous CKs in growing tissues (Kurepin et al. 2012a). Under low R/FR ratio 'shade' ecotype had increased total CKs (including bioactive trans-zeatin and dihidrozeatin) and LONELY GUY enzyme activity (converting nucleotide CKs to free base CKs), which was associated with the most rapid shoot growth and increased flowering compared to moderate R/FR ratio. In contrast, 'sun' ecotype plants grown under low R/FR ratios had mainly *cis*-pathway CKs causing no growth or reduced growth. Further, low PAR was found to provoke higher biomass accumulation for both ecotypes, but the response of 'shade' ecotype was faster and stronger than the one of the sun ecotype (Kurepin et al. 2012b). Low PAR led to reduction in salicylic acid concentration, which was more pronounced for 'shade' ecotype. It was not surprising that under low R/FR ratio endogenous salicylic acid levels were changed (increased) only for 'shade' ecotype, which showed noticeable change in biomass. Exogenous salicylic acid treatment supported the abovementioned results. Therefore, it was summarized that endogenous salicylic acid levels might be regulated via alterations in R/FR ratio and PAR levels.

Brassica rapa seedling (7d) subjected to low R/FR shade had gradually increasing concentrations of IAA in basal to apex sections and showed that cotyledon-generated auxin controls hypocotyl elongation (Procko et al. 2014). Authors found that seed oil composition was not affected by simulated shade in mature plants. Compared to normal light, low R/FR increased stem height and ethylene production as well as transpiration and stomatal conductance in evening primrose (*Oenothera bienis* L.) but decreased flavonoids content, photosynthetic pigments and plant biomass (Qaderi et al. 2015).

An increase in spermine concentration was found in turmeric rhizome grown under 70 and 50% of screen shading (Ferreira et al. 2016). In addition, turmeric plants grown under 50% shading had higher yield of curcuminoid, curcumin, demethoxycurcumin and bisdemethoxycurcumin in their rizhomes compared with those grown under full sun.

Concluding Remarks

Current review is an attempt to summarize investigations reporting how an alteration of one specific environmental factor, i.e., light, might be used as elicitor treatment to enhance biosynthesis of bioactive compounds in plants. In addition, UV and PAR depending on their quality and intensity may induce ROS and oxidative stress, affecting plant growth, biomass and biosynthesis of primary and secondary metabolites, as well as phytohormones (Wani et al. 2016). Like UV-B (Jansen et al. 2008), other types of light or shade also induce very complex metabolic acclimation response, including synthesis of new secondary metabolites, which were not found under control conditions and may have positive or negative effect on human health. Therefore, it is important to investigate not only the compounds of interest for particular plant but a maximal set of secondary metabolites in order to find out if there is an induction of harmful metabolites. Unfortunately, such complex studies of the effect of light and shade on secondary metabolites are very rare.

There is vast number of papers discussing the effect of UV-B exposure on secondary metabolites in medicinal plants, while information about the effects of visible light (including narrow band of wavelengths) and shade is rather scarce. Light quality (monochromatic or polychromatic; visible or UV) and quantity as well as plant species used in different studies are various and it is difficult to make a reliable conclusion how they might affect biosynthesis of secondary metabolites and/or phytohormones. Moreover, biosynthesis of both plant secondary metabolites and phytohormones depends on genotype, genetic regulation and environmental factors. Optimal habitat of the plant and complexity of environmental factors also influence biosynthesis of plant secondary metabolites and plant growth regulators (Reifenrath and Müller 2007; Xenophontos et al. 2008; Kurepin et al. 2015). Thus, different plant species have their own optimal light set (quality and quantity) which manage to elicit maximal yield of secondary metabolites (Sun et al. 2010; Rai et al. 2011; Kokotkiewicz et al. 2014; Alvarenga et al. 2015; Zhou et al. 2016). These authors suggested that improving the yield and medicinal properties of plants might be achieved by appropriate adjustment of light quality and quantity. Sometimes light quality and intensity which yield higher accumulation of secondary metabolites have negative impact on growth of medicinal plants but it is well known that plant growth and development is affected by phytohormones. Plant growth regulators like ABA, jasmonic acid and salicylic acid are related with stress response. Phytohormones like cytokinins, auxins, gibberellins are known to manipulate positively plant growth and biomass, which influence the yield of secondary metabolite production. Cytokinins and ethylene play role in ageing process and should influence quality and quantity of secondary metabolites. In general, the effect of any light type on the plant growth regulators was underestimated in comparison with secondary metabolites, which are the active substances in medicinal plants. For example the survey on the literature does not found any recent information about the effect of UV radiation, light or shade on the endogenous brassinosteroid content in medicinal plants. Therefore, it is necessary to expand the research on phytohormones in medicinal plants exposed to different light quality and quantity.

As mentioned above, the changes of stress-induced metabolites are too complex and researchers face the necessity to study them in more details to be able to assess if the altered nutritional and/or pharmaceutical characteristics of medicinal plants acclimated to UV, light or shade would benefit to the consumers. Recently more detailed research appeared in regard to metabolite but not phytohormone profile of plants subjected to UV, artificial light or shade, but the question for medicinal effect on plants still needs to be answered (Kim et al. 2012; Carvalho et al. 2016; Estell et al. 2016). Secondary metabolites accumulation is highly important from biotechnological and pharmacological point of view and further studies including phytohormone profiling with different doses and qualities of light exposure are essential in order to obtain higher yield of these valuable compounds.

References

- Afreen F, Zobayed SMA, Kozai T (2005) Spectral quality and UV-B stress stimulate glycyrrhizin concentration of *Glycyrrhiza uralensis* in hydroponic and pot system. Plant Physiol Biochem 43:1074–1081
- Afreen F, Zobayed SMA, Kozai T (2006) Melatonin in *Glycyrrhiza uralensis*: response of plant roots to spectral quality of light and UV-B radiation. J Pineal Res 41:108–115
- Ahmad N, Rab A, Ahmad N (2016) Light-induced biochemical variations in secondary metabolite production and antioxidant activity in callus cultures of Stevia rebaudiana (Bert). J Photochem Photobiol B 154:51–56
- Alvarenga ICA, Pacheco FV, Silva ST, Bertolucci SKV, Pinto JEBP (2015) In vitro culture of Achillea millefolium L.: quality and intensity of light on growth and production of volatiles. Plant Cell Tiss Org Cult 122:299–308
- Barnes PW, Flint SD, Ryel RJ, Tobler MA, Barkley AE, Wargent JJ (2015) Rediscovering leaf optical properties: new insights into plant acclimation to solar UV radiation. Plant Physiol Biochem 93:94–100
- Bernal M, Verdaguer D, Badosa J, Abadía A, Llusià J, Peñuelas J, Núñez-Olivera E, Llorens L (2015) Effects of enhanced UV radiation and water availability on performance, biomass production and photoprotective mechanisms of *Laurus nobilis* seedlings. Env Exp Bot. 109:264–275
- Björn LO (2015) On the history of phyto-photo UV science (not to be left in skoto toto and silence). Plant Physiol Biochem 93:3–8
- Brechner ML, Albright LD, Weston LA (2011) Effects of UV-B on secondary metabolites of St. John's wort (*Hypericum perforatum* L.) grown in controlled environments. Photochem Photobiol 87:680–684
- Buer CS, Imin N, Djordjevic MA (2010) Flavonoids: new roles for old molecules. J Integr Plant Biol 52:98–111
- Caputi L, Aprea E (2011) Use of terpenoids as natural flavouring compounds in food industry. Recent Pat Food Nutr Agric 3:9–16
- Carvalho SD, Schwieterman ML, Abrahan CE, Colquhoun TA, Folta KM (2016) Light quality dependent changes in morphology, antioxidant capacity, and volatile production in sweet basil (*Ocimum basilicum*). Front Plant Sci 7:1328. doi:10.3389/fpls.2016.01328

- Dinkova-Kostova AT (2008) Phytochemicals as protectors against ultraviolet radiation: versatility of effects and mechanisms. Planta Med 74:1548–1559
- do Nascimento NC, Menguer PK, Sperotto RA, de Almeida MR, Fett-Neto AG (2012) Early changes in gene expression induced by acute UV exposure in leaves of *Psychotria brachyceras*, a bioactive alkaloid accumulating. Plant Mol Biotechnol. doi:10.1007/s12033-012-9546-3
- Dolzhenko Y, Bertea CM, Occhipinti A, Bossi S, Maffei ME (2010) UV-B modulates the interplay between terpenoids and flavonoids in peppermint (*Mentha x piperita* L.). J Photochem Photobiol B 100:67–75
- Edreva A (2005) The importance of non-photosynthetic pigments and cinnamic acid derivatives in photoprotection. Agric Ecosyst Env 106:135–146
- Edreva A, Velikova V, Tsonev T, Dagnon S, Gürel A, Aktaş L, Gesheva E (2008) Stress-protective role of secondary metabolites: diversity of functions and mechanisms. Stress protection by secondary metabolites. Gen Appl Plant Physiol 34:67–78
- Edreva AM, Velikova V, Tsonev T (2007) Phenylamides in plants. Russ J Plant Physiol 54:287– 301
- Eichholz I, Huyskens-Keil S, Keller A, Dulrich, Kroh LW, Rohn S (2011) UV-B-induced changes of volatile metabolites and phenolic compounds in blueberries (*Vaccinium corymbosum* L.). Food Chem 126:60–64
- Eichholz I, Rohn S, Gamm A, Beesk N, Herppich WB, Kroh LW, Ulrichs C, Huyskens-Keil S (2012) UV-B-mediated flavonoid synthesis in white asparagus (*Asparagus officinalis* L.). Food Res Internat 48:196–201
- Estell RE, Fredrickson EL, James DK (2016) Effect of light intensity and wavelength on concentration of plant secondary metabolites in the leaves of *Flourensia cernua*. Biochem Syst Ecol 65:108–114
- Ferreira MI, Uliana MR, Costa SM, Magro M, Vianello F, Ming LC, Lima GPP (2016) Exclusion of solar UV radiation increases the yield of curcuminoid in *Curcuma longa* L. Ind Crops Prod 89:188–194
- Germ M, Stibilj V, Kreft S, Gaberšcík A, Kreft I (2010) Flavonoid, tannin and hypericin concentrations in the leaves of St. John's wort (*Hypericum perforatum* L.) are affected by UV-B radiation levels. Food Chem 122:471–474
- Gershenzon J (2002) Secondary metabolites and plant defence. In: Taiz L, Zeiger E (eds) Plant physiology, 3rd edn. Sinauer Associates Inc. Publ. Sunderland, Massachusetts, pp 283–311
- Gill S, Tuteja N (2010) Polyamines and abiotic stress tolerance. Plant Signal Behav 5:26-33
- Giorgi A, Manzo A, Vagge I, Panseri S (2014) Effect of light environment on growth and Phenylpropanoids of Yarrow (*Achillea collina* cv. SPAK) grown in the Alps. Photochem Photobiol 90:113–120
- Gommers CMM, Visser EJW, St Onge KR, Voesenek LACJ, Pierik R (2013) Shade tolerance: when growing tall is not an option. Trends Plant Sci 18:65–70
- Grbic N, Paschko K, Pinker I, Böhme MH (2016) Effect of different light spectra by using coloured plastic films on growth, fresh and dry matter, nutrient solution uptake and secondarymetabolites of *Perilla frutescens* (L.) Britt. Scientia Horticult 210:93–98
- Groppa MD, Benavides MP (2008) Polyamines and abiotic stress: recent advances. Amino Acids 1:35–45
- Gu X-D, Sun M-Y, Zhang L, Fu H-W, Cui L, Chen R-Z, Zhang D-W, Tian J-K (2010) UV-B induced changes in the secondary metabolites of *Morus alba* L. Leaves Molecules 15:2980– 2993
- Guo X-R, Chang B-W, Zu Y-G, Tang Z-H (2014) The impacts of increased nitrate supply on *Catharanthus roseus* growth and alkaloid accumulations under ultraviolet-B stress. J Plant Interact 9:640–646. doi:10.1080/17429145.2014.886728
- Häder D-P, Kumar HD, Smith RC, Worrest RC (2007) Effects of solar UV radiation on aquatic ecosystems and interactions with climate change. Photochem Photobiol Sci 6:267–285
- Havsteen BH (2002) The biochemistry and medical significance of the flavonoids. Pharmacol Ther 96:67–202

- Hectors K, Prinsen E, De Coen W, Jansen MAK, Guisez Y (2007) Arabidopsis thaliana plants acclimated to low dose rates of ultraviolet B radiation show specific changes in morphology and gene expression in the absence of stress symptoms. New Phytol 175:255–270
- Hoffmann AM, Noga G, Hunsche M (2015) High blue light improves acclimation and photosynthetic recovery of pepper plants exposed to UV stress. Environ Exp Bot 109:254–263
- Huché-Thélier L, Crespel L, Le Gourrierec J, Morel P, Sakr S, Leduc N (2016) Light signaling and plant responses to blue and UV radiations—perspectives for applications in horticulture. Environ Exp Bot 121:22–38
- Huyskens-Keil S, Eichholz I, Kroh LW, Rohn S (2007) UV-B induced changes of phenol composition and antioxidant activity in black currant fruit (*Ribes nigrum* L.). J Appl Bot Food Qual 81:140–144
- Ibdah M, Krins A, Seidlitz HK, Heller W, Strack D, Voght T (2002) Spectral dependence of flavonol and betacyanin accumulation in *Mesembryanthemum crystallinum* under enhanced ultraviolet radiation. Plant Cell Environ 25:1145–1154
- Ioannidis D, Bonner L, Johnson CB (2002) UV-B is required for normal development of oil glands in Ocimum basilicum L. (sweet basil). Ann Bot 90:453–460
- Jansen MAK, Hectors K, O'Brien NM, Guisez Y, Potters G (2008) Plant stress and human health: do human consumers benefit from UV-B acclimated crops? Plant Sci 175:449–458
- Katerova Z, Ivanov S, Prinsen E, Van Onckelen H, Alexieva V, Azmi A (2009) Low doses of ultraviolet-B or ultraviolet-C radiation affect phytohormones in young pea plants. Biol Plant 53:365–368
- Kazan K (2013) Auxin and the integration of environmental signals into plant root development. Ann Bot 112:1655–1665
- Keuskamp DH, Sasidharan R, Pierik R (2010) Physiological regulation and functional significance of shade avoidance responses to neighbors. Plant Sig Behav 5:655–662
- Kim S, Yun EJ, Hossain MdA, Lee H, Kim KH (2012) Global profiling of ultraviolet-induced metabolic disruption in *Melissa officinalis* by using gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. Anal Bioanal Chem 404:553–562
- Kokotkiewicz A, Bucinski A, Luczkiewicz M (2014) Light and temperature conditions affect bioflavonoid accumulation in callus cultures of *Cyclopia subternata* Vogel (honeybush). Plant Cell Tiss Org Cult 118:589–593. doi:10.1007/s11240-014-0502-8
- Korkina LG (2007) Phenylpropanoids as naturally occurring antioxidants: from plant defense to human health. Cell Mol Biol 53:15–25
- Kreft S, Štrukelj B, Gaberščik A, Kreft I (2002) Rutin in buckwheat herbs grown at different UV-B radiation levels: comparison of two UV spectrophotometric and an HPLC method. J Exp Bot 53:1801–1804
- Kumari R, Agrawal SB (2010) Supplemental UV-B induced changes in leaf morphology, physiology and secondary metabolites of an indian aromatic plant *Cymbopogon citrates* (D.C.) Staph under natural field conditions. Int J Environ Stud 67:655–675
- Kurepin LV, Walton LJ, Hayward A, Emery RJN, Reid DM, Chinnappa CC (2012a) Shade light interaction with salicylic acid in regulating growth of sun (alpine) and shade (prairie) ecotypes of *Stellaria longipes*. Plant Growth Regul 68:1–8
- Kurepin LV, Pharis RP, Emery RJN, Reid DM, Chinnappa CC (2015) Phenotypic plasticity of sun and shade ecotypes of Stellaria longipes in response to light quality signaling, gibberellins and auxin. Plant Physiol Biochem 94:174–180
- Kurepin LV, Farrow S, Walton LJ, Emery RJN, Pharis RP, Chinnappa CC (2012b) Phenotypic plasticity of sun and shade ecotypes of Stellaria longipes in response to light quality signaling: Cytokinins. Environ Exp Bot 84:25–32
- Kurepin LV, Pharis RP, Reid DM, Chinnappa CC (2006a) Involvement of gibberellins in the stem elongation of sun and shade ecotypes of *Stellaria longipes* that is induced by low light irradiance. Plant Cell Environ 29:1319–1328
- Kurepin LV, Walton LJ, Reid DM, Pharis RP, Chinnappa CC (2006b) Growth and ethylene evolution by shade and sun ecotypes of Stellaria longipes in response to varied light quality and irradiance. Plant Cell Environ 29:647–652

- Lee M-J, Son JE, Oh M-M (2013) Growth and phenolic content of sowthistle grown in a closed-type plant production system with a UV-A or UV-B lamp. Hort Environ Biotechnol 54:492–500
- Li AM, Li SH, Wu XJ, Zhang J, He AN, Zhao G, Yang X (2016) Effect of light intensity on leaf photosynthetic characteristics and accumulation of flavonoids in *Lithocarpus litseifolius* (Hance) Chun. (Fagaceae). Open J Forestry 6:445–459. doi:10.4236/ojf.2016.65034
- Liu Y, Song L, Yu W, Hu Y, Ma X, Wu J, Ying Y (2015) Light quality modifies camptothecin production and gene expression of biosynthesis in *Camptotheca acuminata* Decne seedlings. Ind Crops Prod 66:137–143
- Liu Y, Zhong Z-C (2009) Interactive effects of α-NAA and UV-B radiation on the endogenous hormone contents and growth of *Trichosanthes kirilowii* Maxim seedlings. Acta Ecol Sin 29:244–248
- Matos FS, Wolfgramm R, Gonçalves FV, Cavatte PC, Ventrella MC, DaMatta FM (2009) Phenotypic plasticity in response to light in the coffee tree. Environ Exp Bot 67:421–427
- Miehe-Steier A, Roscher C, Reichelt M, Gershenzon J, Unsicker SB (2015) Light and nutrient dependent responses in secondary metabolites of *Plantago lanceolata* offspring are due to phenotypic plasticity in experimental grasslands. PLoS One 10:e0136073. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0136073
- Nadeau F, Gaudreau A, Angers P, Arul J (2012) Changes in the level of glucosinolates in broccoli florets (*Brassica oleracea* var. Italica) during storage following postharvest treatment with UV-C. Acta Hort 945:145–148. doi:10.17660/ActaHortic.2012.945.19
- Nascimento LBDS, Leal-Costa MV, Menezes EA, Lopes VR, Muzitano MF, Costa SS, Tavares ES (2015) Ultraviolet-B radiation effects on phenolic profile and flavonoid content of Kalanchoe pinnata. J Photochem Photobiol B 148:73–81
- Ning W, Peng X, Ma L, Cui L, Lu X, Wang J, Tian J, Li X, Wang W, Zhang L (2012) Enhanced secondary metabolites production and antioxidant activity in postharvest *Lonicera japonica* Thunb. In response to UV radiation. Innovative Food Sci Emerg Technol 13:231–243
- O'Brien JA, Benkova E (2013) Cytokinin cross-talking during biotic and abiotic stress responses. Front Plant Sci 4:451. doi:10.3389/fpls.2013.00451
- Pan WS, Zheng LP, Tian H, Li WY, Wang JW (2014) Transcriptome responses involved in artemisinin production in *Artemisia annua* L. under UV-B radiation. J Photochem Photobiol B 140:292–300
- Pandey N, Pandey-Rai S (2014) Short term UV-B radiation-mediated transcriptional responses and altered secondary metabolism of in vitro propagated plantlets of *Artemisia annua* L. Plant Cell Tissue Org Cult 116:371–385. doi:10.1007/s11240-013-0413-0
- Park Y, Runkle ES (2017) Far-red radiation promotes growth of seedlings by increasing leaf expansion and whole-plant net assimilation. Environ Exp Bot 136:41–49
- Peebles CAM, Shanks JV, San K-Y (2009) The role of the octadecanoid pathway in the production of terpenoid indole alkaloids in *Catharanthus roseus* hairy roots under normal and UV-B stress conditions. Biotechnol Bioeng 103:1248–1254
- Podyma W, Bączek K, Angielczyk M, Przybył JL, Węglarz Z (2010) The influence of shading on the yield and quality of southern sweet-grass (*Hierochloë australis* (Schrad.) Roem. & Schult.) raw material. Herba Polonica 56:14–19
- Procko C, Crenshaw CM, Ljung K, Noel JP, Chory J (2014) Cotyledon-generated auxin is required for shade-induced hypocotyl growth in *Brassica rapa*. Plant Physiol 165:1285–1301
- Qaderi MM, Godin VJ, Reid DM (2015) Single and combined effects of temperature and red: far-red light ratio on evening primrose (*Oenothera biennis*). Botany 93:475–483. doi:10.1139/ cjb-2014-0194
- Radyukina NL, Shashukova AV, Mapelli S, Shevyakova NI, Kuznetsov VV (2010) Proline controls the level of polyamines in common sage plants under normal conditions and at UV-B irradiation. Russ J Plant Physiol 57:422–429
- Rai R, RP Meena, Smita SS, Shukla A, Rai SK, Pandey-Rai S (2011) UV-B and UV-C pre-treatments induce physiological changes and artemisinin biosynthesis in *Artemisia annua* L.—an antimalarial plant. J Photochem Photobiol B 105:216–225

- Reifenrath K, Müller C (2007) Species-specific and leaf-age dependent effects of ultraviolet radiation on two Brassicaceae. Phytochem 68:875–885
- Rivas-San Vicente M, Plasencia J (2011) Salicylic acid beyond defence: its role in plant growth and development. J Exp Bot 62:3321–3338
- Ruberti I, Sessa G, Ciolfi A, Possenti M, Carabelli M, Morelli G (2012) Plant adaptation to dynamically changing environment: the shade avoidance response. Biotechnol Adv 30:1047–1058
- Saito K (2001) A new technique for reddening florets: UV-light irradiation on saffron thistle (*Carthamus tinctorius* L.) flowers. LWT—Food Sci Technol 34:111–112
- Samanta A, Das G, Das SK (2011) Roles of flavonoids in plants. Int J Pharm Sci Tech 6:12-35
- Sangtarash MH, Qaderi MM, Chinnappa CC, Reid DM (2009) Differential responses of two Stellaria longipes ecotypes to ultraviolet-B radiation and droughtstress. Flora 204:593–603
- Semerdjieva SI, Sheffield E, Phoenix GK, Gwynn-Jones D, Callaghan TV, Johnson GN (2003) Contrasting strategies for UV-B screening in sub-Arctic dwarf shrubs. Plant Cell Environ 26:957–964
- Solhaug KA, Gauslaa Y, Nybakken L, Bilger W (2003) UV-induction of sun-screening pigments in lichens. New Phytol 158:91–100
- Song R, Kelman D, Johns KL, Wright AD (2012) Correlation between leaf age, shade levels, and characteristic beneficial natural constituents of tea (*Camellia sinensis*) grown in Hawaii. Food Chem 133:707–714
- Spitaler R, Schlorhaufer PD, Ellmerer EP, Merfort I, Bortenschlager S, Stuppner H, Zidorn C (2006) Altitudinal variation of secondary metabolite profiles in flowering heads of *Arnica montana* cv. ARBO. Phytochem 67:409–417
- Sun M, Gu X, Fu H, Zhang L, Chen R, Cui L, Zheng L, Zhang D, Tian J (2010) Change of secondary metabolites in leaves of *Ginkgo biloba* L. in response to UV-B induction. Innov Food Sci and Emerg Technol 11:672–676
- Todorova D, Katerova Z, Sergiev I, Alexieva V (2014) Polyamines–involvement in plant tolerance and adaptation to stress. In: Anjum A, Gill SS, Gill R (eds) Plant adaptation to environmental changes. Significance of amino acids and their derivatives. CABI, UK, pp 194–221
- Tossi V, Cassia R, Bruzzone S, Zocchi E, Lamattina L (2012) ABA says NO to UV-B: a universal response? Trends Plant Sci 17:510–517
- Vanhaelewyn L, Prinsen E, Van Der Straeten D, Vandenbussche F (2016) Hormone-controlled UV-B responses in plants. J Exp Bot 67:4469–4482
- Vass I, Szilárd A, Sicora C (2005) Adverse effects of UV-B light on the structure and function of the photosynthetic apparatus. In: Pessarakli M (ed) Handbook of photosynthesis, 2nd edn. CRC Press, pp 827–43. doi:10.1201/9781420027877.ch43
- Verdaguer D, Jansen MAK, Llorens L, Morales LO, Neugart S (2017) UV-A radiation effects on higher plants: exploring the known unknown. Plant Sci 255:72–81
- Victório CP, Leal-Costa MV, Tavares ES, Kuster RM, Salgueiro Lage CL (2011) Effects of Supplemental UV-A on the development, anatomy and metabolite production of Phyllanthus tenellus Cultured *In Vitro*. Photochem Photobiol 87:685–689
- Wang CH, Zheng LP, Tian H, Wang JW (2016) Synergistic effects of ultraviolet-B and methyl jasmonate on tanshinone biosynthesis in Salvia miltiorrhiza hairy roots. J Photochem Photobiol B 159:93–100
- Wani SH, Kumar V, Shriram V, Sah SK (2016) Phytohormones and their metabolic engineering for abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants. Crop J 4:162–176
- Wijesinghe WAJP, Jeon Y-J (2011) Biological activities and potential cosmeceutical applications of bioactive components from brown seaweeds: a review. Phytochem Rev 10:431–443
- Xenophontos M, Stavropoulos I, Avramakis E, Navakoudis E, Dörnemann D, Kotzabasis K (2008) Influence of the habitat altitude on the (proto)hypericin and (proto)pseudohypericin levels of *Hypericum* plants from Crete. Planta Med 74:1496–1503
- Zhang LX, Guo QS, Chang QS, Zhu ZB, Liu L, Chen YH (2015) Chloroplast ultrastructure, photosynthesis and accumulation of secondary metabolites in *Glechoma longituba* in response to irradiance. Photosynthetica 53:144–153. doi:10.1007/s11099-015-0092-7

- Zhang WJ, Björn LO (2009) The effect of ultraviolet radiation on the accumulation of medicinal compounds in plants. Fitoterapia 80:207–218
- Zhao D, Hao Z, Tao J (2012) Effects of shade on plant growth and flower quality in the herbaceous peony (*Paeonia lactiflora* Pall.). Plant Physiol Biochem 61:187–196
- Zhou R, Su WH, Zhang GF, Zhang YN, Guo XR (2016) Relationship between flavonoids and photoprotection in shade-developed *Erigeron breviscapus* transferred to sunlight. Photosynthetica 54:201–209

Effect of Climate Change on Algae Valuable Source of Medicinal Natural Compounds

Morteza Yousefzadi and Mohammad Hossein Mirjalili

Abstract The word algae represent a large group of different organisms from different phylogenetic groups, representing many taxonomic divisions. They are distributed worldwide in the sea, in freshwater and in moist situations on land. Algae grow rapidly, produce useful products, and provide environmental benefits. Algae have potential as foods, and vitamins, bioactive substances, polysaccharides and other valuable commercial products and also are useful as raw material for future biofuel production and liquid fertilizer. Algae can be classified into two main groups; first one is the microalgae, which includes blue green algae, dinoflagellates, bacillariophyta (diatoms) etc., and second one is macroalgae (seaweeds) which includes green, brown and red algae. Changes in global temperature and ocean chemistry associated with increasing greenhouse gas concentrations are forcing widespread shifts in biological systems. In response to warming, species ranges are shifting toward the poles, up mountainsides, and to deeper ocean depths. Concern for the environment and global climate change has increased in recent years, and algae can provide a number of significant environmental benefits. They remove carbon dioxide from the atmosphere, helping to reduce the harmful effects of the gas on climate change and the health of the environment. The aim of this chapter is to provide an overview of the current knowledge on these photosynthetic organisms regarding their environmental and pharmaceutical benefits.

Keywords Seaweed · Microalgae · Natural product · Greenhouse gas

M. Yousefzadi (🖂)

M.H. Mirjalili

Department of Marine Biology, Faculty of Marine Science and Technology, University of Hormozgan, Bandar Abbas, Iran e-mail: morteza110110@gmail.com

Medicinal Plants and Drugs Research Institute, Shahid Beheshti University, G. C., Evin, Tehran, Iran

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017 M. Ghorbanpour and A. Varma (eds.), *Medicinal Plants and Environmental Challenges*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-68717-9_7

Introduction

In the last decades, the attention of the natural product researchers has been focused on the marine environment. It is a wealthy source of plants, animals and micro-organisms, which due to their adaptation to this unique habitat, produce a wide variety of bioactive molecules, which can be developed as nutraceuticals and pharmaceuticals for human nutrition supplementation and disease therapy. The specific habitat where an organism is growing has influence on the chemical nature of the marine primary and secondary metabolites. The intraspecific variation can produce differences in the chemical structures of compounds and their concentrations in different marine environments (Fan et al. 2014; Kiuru et al. 2014).

The word algae represent a large group of different organisms from different phylogenetic groups, representing many taxonomic divisions. In general algae can be referred to as plant-like organisms that are usually photosynthetic and aquatic, but do not have true roots, stems, leaves, vascular tissue and have simple reproductive structures. They are distributed worldwide in the sea, in freshwater and in moist situations on land. Most are microscopic, but some are quite large, e.g., some marine macroalgae that can exceed 50 m in length. Algae grow rapidly, produce useful products, and provide environmental benefits. Algae have potential as foods, and vitamins, bioactive substances, polysaccharides and other valuable commercial products and also are useful as raw material for future biofuel production and liquid fertilizer. Furthermore, algal products can be produced sustainably. With the great diversity of algae, there is great promise that algal features may serve to enhance a large variety of current products, and produce new ones. As the currently expanding market for algae-based goods indicates, the future is bright for the research and development of algal products. Algae also contribute to increased sustainable practices. In the last 500 years, agricultural production processes on land have advanced, and there are now new and well-developed approaches to conventional farming operations. Significant progress also stems from the production of commercial products in water. As an aquatic organism, algae can be grown to produce useful products without using very much land (Hudek et al. 2014).

Algae can be classified into two main groups; first one is the microalgae, which includes blue green algae, dinoflagellates, bacillariophyta (diatoms)... etc., and second one is macroalgae (seaweeds) which includes green, brown and red algae.

Microalgae are important sources of commercially produced high-value unique chemicals including carotenoids, antioxidants, fatty acids, enzymes, polymers, peptides, toxins and sterols. They are also the first step in the aquatic food chain. Moreover, microalgae are considered as the actual producers of some highly bioactive compounds found in marine resources. Attempts to develop commercial products from microalgae are not new, with the earliest being the proposal to use microalgae as a source of lipids, carotenoids and the extensive work done in the 1970s on microalgae as a source of single-cell protein (Borowitzka 2013).

Macroalgae are used for great number of application by man. The principal use of seaweeds as a source of human food and as a source of gums (phycocollides).

Gums like agar, alginic acid and carrageenan are primarily constituents of brown and red algal cell walls and are widely used in industry. An increasing attention to macroalgae metabolites of industries from different branches (textile, fuel, plastics, paint, varnish, cosmetics, pharmaceutical and food) was noticed in the last years. Seaweeds are being used in cosmetics, and as organic fertilizers. They have the potential to be much more widely used as a source of long- and short-chained biochemical with medicinal and industrial uses. From human health point, macroalgae rich in unique bioactive compounds not present in terrestrial food sources, including different proteins (lectins, phycobili proteins, peptides, and amino acids), polyphenols, and polysaccharides and a novel source of compounds with potential to be exploited in human health application. Macroalgae are part of the diet in different countries and constitute a source of beneficial nutrients, such as vitamins, trace minerals, lipids, amino acids and dietary fibers, its use as a low-calorie food should be investigated, as it might be important in body weight control and cardiovascular health. The metabolites found in macroalgae are described as having anti-inflammatory, antimutagenic, antitumor, antidiabetic, and antihypertensive properties. In addition, they are hepato protections, and can also inhibit the lipoxygenase, aldose reductase and cholinesterase's (Zubia et al. 2009; Lopes et al. 2012; Andrade et al. 2013).

Changes in global temperature and ocean chemistry associated with increasing greenhouse gas concentrations are forcing widespread shifts in biological systems. In response to warming, species ranges are shifting toward the poles, up mountainsides, and to deeper ocean depths. Factors including warming and ocean acidification are causing the reorganization of local communities as species are added or deleted and as interactions among species change in importance. Because greenhouse gas emission rates continue to accelerate, the climatically forced ecological changes that have been documented over the past half century will likely pale in comparison to changes in the coming decades (Harley et al. 2012).

Concern for the environment and global climate change has increased in recent years, and algae can provide a number of significant environmental benefits. They remove carbon dioxide from the atmosphere, helping to reduce the harmful effects of the gas on climate change and the health of the environment.

Climate Change and Marine Organisms

Rising atmospheric carbon dioxide (CO_2) is one of the most critical problems because its driving a number of important physical and chemical changes. The primary direct consequence of global warming is thermal expansion of water and global-scale trends ocean acidification, Climbing temperatures create a host of additional changes, such as sea level increase, increased ocean stratification, decreased sea-ice extent, and change patterns of ocean circulation, precipitation. Both warming and altered ocean circulation act to reduce subsurface oxygen (O_2) concentrations, along with regionally specific increases or decreases in wave heights, upwelling, terrigenous nutrient runoff, and coastal salinity, all of which in turn impact the health of marine species, ecosystems, and our coastal communities (Harley et al. 2012; Keeling et al. 2010; Zacharioudaki et al. 2011; Doney et al. 2012).

Studies on the global response of a wide variety of marine and terrestrial species to climate change conclude that the planet is facing drastic ecosystem shifts and numerous extinctions. Species that fail to acclimatize physiologically or evolve genetically to increasing temperatures will either move northwards into cooler habitats or become extinct (Jueterbock et al. 2013).

Marine ecosystems cover 71% of the Earth's surface, our knowledge of the effects of climate change in oceans is limited compared to terrestrial ecosystems.

Responses to climate change are particularly rapid and strong in marine ecosystems, especially in the marine intertidal where species often live at their upper temperature tolerance limits. Global warming-related range shifts of marine species exceed those of terrestrial species by an order of magnitude. Furthermore, climate-change induced range shifts are more predictable for marine than for terrestrial species, since the distributional limits of marine species are usually directly correlated with their thermal tolerance limit. Range shifts of key or foundation species are of central importance, since by definition these species play a crucial role in, and can trigger changes throughout, the entire web of interactions within an ecological community (Jueterbock et al. 2013; Sunday et al. 2012).

In recent decades, the rates of change have been rapid and may exceed the current and potential future tolerances of many organisms to adapt. Further, the rates of physical and chemical change in marine ecosystems will almost certainly accelerate over the next several decades in the absence of immediate and dramatic efforts toward climate mitigation. However, there is increasing evidence suggesting that marine plants and animals could respond as fast or faster than their terrestrial counterparts, from both observations and theory (Keeling et al. 2010; Doney et al. 2012).

Cyanobacteria in a Changing Climate

Cyanobacteria are the Earth's oldest known oxygen evolving photosynthetic microorganisms, and they have had major impacts on shaping our current atmosphere and biosphere. Their long evolutionary history has enabled cyanobacteria to develop survival strategies and persist as important primary producers during numerous geochemical and climatic changes that have taken place on Earth during the past 3.5 billion years (Paerl and Huisman 2009a, b).

Cyanobacteria are predicted to increase due to climate and land use change. biospheric environmental perturbations, including nutrient enrichment and climatic changes strongly affect cyanobacterial growth and bloom potentials in freshwater and marine ecosystems. Since the 1960s, however, there has been a dramatic global increase in the number of publications and reports of cyanobacterial blooms. While increased reports may to some extent be due to increased monitoring efforts, there is substantial evidence that blooms are increasing not only in frequency, but also in biomass, duration and distribution. Furthermore, it has been hypothesised that cyanobacteria may continue to increase in response to global climate change (Paerl et al. 2011; Carey 2012).

Cyanobacterial blooms present major challenges for the management of rivers, lakes and reservoirs. Blooms have adverse impacts on aquatic ecosystems and human health, with wide-ranging economic and ecological consequences. Toxic cyanobacterial blooms present a considerable risk to drinking water and have major public health, ecological, and economic effects. The increased frequency and intensity of blooms have been attributed to changing precipitation patterns, melting glaciers and intensifying storms result in the escalation of nutrient's input and promote eutrophication. Eutrophication is a process induced by increased nutrients, especially nitrogen and phosphorus, in water bodies resulting in growth of algae and plants. More recently, it has been predicted that a changing climate associated with rising levels of atmospheric CO_2 will increase the occurrence of blooms, or at least favour cyanobacterial dominance of phytoplankton communities (Carey 2012; Paerl and Huisman 2009a, b).

Climate change, including global warming, is causing changes to regional hydrology, which will have cumulative effects rainfall and with nutrient-over-enrichment in modulating cyanobacterial harmful algal blooms. Regional and global warming enhances the initiation, magnitude, duration, and distribution of cyanobacterial harmful algal blooms. Furthermore, increasing variability in rainfall patterns impacts nutrient and sediment delivery, sediment-water exchange and metabolism, flushing and water residence time, and vertical stratification, which, in turn, may affect cyanobacterial harmful algal blooms dominance and persistence (Paerl et al. 2016).

Temperature is an all-pervasive environmental parameter that affects the metabolism, growth, reproduction, and survival of living organisms, as well as the interactions among species. As a consequence, climate warming will result in shifts in phytoplankton community composition, including shifts between cyanobacteria. In natural systems, it has been shown that warmer water temperatures do favour cyanobacterial dominance in phytoplankton communities. Similarly, it has been proposed that warmer temperatures will mean earlier and longer potential bloom periods, as well as lead to possible range expansions. warming on cyanobacteria are increased occurrence of cyanobacterial blooms with ongoing climate warming (Carey 2012; Kingsolver 2009).

Many species of planktonic cyanobacteria produce gas vesicles, which provide buoyancy and allow access to well-lit surface waters. The regulation of buoyancy, which allows migration in stratified lakes between illuminated surface waters and nutrient rich bottom waters, occurs as cells accumulate carbohydrates when exposed to light and respire these products of photosynthesis in the dark. Changes in climate, such as increased temperatures, prolonged droughts and longer water residence times, are predicted to promote cyanobacterial bloom establishment by increasing the strength and duration of stratification. Increased stratification will favor the fast-migrating buoyant cyanobacteria. As nutrient loading and stratification increase, there will tend to be a shift towards buoyant species that can access both the well-lit surface waters and hypolimnetic nutrient pool (Carey 2012; Rinke et al. 2010).

Fundamentally, cyanobacteria are an extremely diverse group with different sets of traits, and will respond to different aspects of climate change (e.g., increased stratification, altered nutrient availability). The ability of cyanobacteria to response to environmental conditions associated to climate change has been documented since the first occurrence of cyanobacteria around 3.5 million years ago. Thus, looking into the evolutionary history, cyanobacteria has been adapted to extreme conditions such as temperature fluctuation, exposure to high UV radiation, abundance and scarcity of nutrients. cyanobacterial blooms are favored not by an individual environmental factor, but by a combination of multiple interacting physical, chemical, and biotic drivers. It is evident that although cyanobacterial blooms can be enhanced by increasing temperature, there must be sufficient phosphorus and nitrogen to sustain high populations. There will most likely also be regional differences in which cyanobacterial taxa dominate, depending on how future climate, hydrology, and nutrient loading vary geographically (Carey 2012).

In general, Climate change alters local hydrologic and biogeochemical processes, including rainfall and runoff (amount and temporal dynamics), nutrient export from watersheds, mixing regimes, internal nutrient cycling, and food web dynamics. These changes present a significant challenge to resource managers aiming to control cyanobacterial harmful algal blooms in a future favoring bloom occurrence. A research program that focuses on how extant strategies will be influenced by climate change is needed to support effective cyanobacterial harmful algal blooms control programs (Paerl et al. 2016).

Climate Change Effects on Phytoplankton

Every day, more than 100 million tons of carbon dioxide are drawn from the atmosphere into the ocean by billions of microscopic ocean plants called phytoplankton during photosynthesis. In addition to playing a big role in removing greenhouses gases from the atmosphere, phytoplankton are the foundation of the ocean food chain (Behrenfeld et al. 2006).

Phytoplankton account for <1% of the photosynthetic biomass on Earth, but are nevertheless responsible for nearly 50% of global net primary production and are the primary energy source for aquatic ecosystems. Climate modifications, such as the rise in atmospheric CO₂ and warming, affect the marine biosphere through modifications in pH, carbonate availability, water column stability, nutrient and light regimes. These changes directly impact small-sized (*ca.* <1–>100 μ m) phytoplankton organisms, whose short-term life cycles make them amenable to quickly respond to subtle environmental variations. Phytoplankton response can be both directly through physiology and indirectly mediated through effects on environmental factors limiting primary production most notably light and nutrients. Changing climatic conditions can modify these environmental factors and alter phytoplankton structure and taxonomic composition. Therefore, tracking changes in the phytoplankton community structure can be an accurate indicator of ecosystem perturbations (Winder and Sommer 2012; Guinder and Molinero 2013).

Interactions between climate and phytoplankton are complex, because other factors such as resource availability, density dependence, and predation strongly control the abundance, distribution, and size structure of the community. Despite these complexity of interacting processes, some widespread climate related responses have emerged, and the mechanisms involved in climate-related changes are becoming better understood. Impacts of climate change on plankton are mainly manifested as shifts in seasonal dynamics, species composition, and population size structure (Winder and Sommer 2012; Adrian et al. 2009).

Temperature is a key parameter that directly affects physiological rates of phytoplankton at multiple scales, e.g., enzymatic reactions, respiration, body size, generation time, ecological interactions, community metabolism. Phytoplankton experience an increase in enzymatic activity and growth rates over a moderate range of temperature rise with an average $Q_{10} = 1.88$ (photosynthesis and respiration rate increase resulting from a 10 °C rise in temperature). As a result, a temperature increase should lead to greater phytoplankton growth rates and biomass accumulation under adequate resource supply. Enhanced growth of primary producers is expected under future trends of temperature increase. The projected scenario, however, becomes complex when considering indirect effects of warming, such as grazing acceleration, which play key modulating roles of phytoplankton biomass accumulation. However, compared to photosynthesis rates, the metabolism of heterotrophic organisms is more sensitive to temperature Consequently, warming should increase consumption by herbivores more strongly than primary production. This can strengthen top-down control over primary production by increasing grazing rates and thus affect phytoplankton production and taxonomic composition (Winder and Sommer 2012; Guinder and Molinero 2013; Sommer and Lewandowska 2011). Salinity closely co-varies with temperature and also has important implications in plankton physiology, affecting germination of resting stages, growth rates and development of blooms in coastal waters (Guinder and Molinero 2013).

The most significant climatic effects on phytoplankton species composition will very likely be mediated through changes in thermal stratification patterns such as the extent of the growing season and vertical mixing processes. Vertical mixing is one of the key variables that conditions the growth performance of phytoplankton within the water column. because mixing processes are usually accompanied by changes in resource availability of light and nutrients (Winder and Sommer 2012).

Increasing evidence of changes in plankton size structure has been reported worldwide in relation to global warming. Temperature effects on the size structure of the phytoplankton community composition toward a dominance of small species The reduction in cell/body size of planktonic organisms and displacements of species ranging to higher latitudes have been mainly ascribed to global warming. Phytoplankton cell size follows biophysical rules (e.g., nutrient uptake, motion, sinking rates, kinetics of metabolism) that affect growth rates, the biogeochemical cycling and trophodynamics. The replacement of large cells by smaller ones under warming conditions is likely related to shifts of the species' environmental optimum growth and the higher competitive skills of small cells (Winder and Sommer 2012; Beaugrand et al. 2010).

Finally, Climate-driven modifications in marine water physics and chemistry impact phytoplankton from the individual to ecosystem levels through alterations in both bottom-up and top-down controls, namely resources availability-light and nutrients- and zooplankton grazing pressure and selectivity. At the individual level phytoplankton is affected via changes in physiology, morphology and behavior and the community level is affected by changes in structure (size, composition, diversity), phenology and the biogeographical distribution of species that derive in new interspecific interactions and trophodynamics. Among the most common direct and indirect universal responses of phytoplankton to climate change are alterations in growth and photosynthesis rates and in calcification processes related to CO_2 rise and ocean acidification, dominance of smaller species under warmer conditions (related to both water stability and/or grazing pressure) and changes in the phenology, magnitude and species composition of phytoplankton spring bloom due to earlier thermal stratification, overwintering and/or enhanced zooplankton activity (Guinder and Molinero 2013).

Effects of Climate Change on Seaweed

Seaweeds are ecologically important primary producers, competitors, and ecosystem engineers that play a central role in coastal habitats ranging from kelp dforests to coral reefs. Although seaweeds are known tobe vulnerable to physical and chemical changes in the marine environment, Less attention has been paid to seaweed even though they constitute some of the most significant biogenic producers of calcium carbonate (CaCO₃) and contribute to deep-sea productivity. Seaweeds are key habitat structuring agents that harbor incredible biodiversity. Seaweeds form the base of productive food webs that include economically valuable species and extend well beyond the shallow waters in which seaweeds dwell. Seaweeds are intimately linked to human cultural and economic systems via the provision of ecosystem goods and services ranging from food to medicine to storm protection (Harley et al. 2012; Christie et al. 2009; Koch et al. 2012).

Seaweed survival, growth, and reproduction are known to vary with numerous climatically sensitive environmental variables including temperature, desiccation, salinity, wave heights, nutrient supply via upwelling and run-off, pH, and carbon dioxide concentration itself (Harley et al. 2012; Chu et al. 2012).

Temperature determines the performance of seaweeds, and indeed all organisms, at the fundamental levels of enzymatic processes and metabolic function. Seaweeds have evolved biochemical and physiological adaptations, including variation in the identity and concentration of proteins and the properties of cell membranes, that enable them to optimize their performance with respect to the temperatures they encounter. In response to increase temperature, seaweeds can produce heat shock proteins that repair or remove damaged proteins However, protein thermal physiology is not well understood in macroalgae. and the upregulation of heat shock protein production is only one of many transcriptional changes that occur in seaweeds during periods of thermal stress. As a result of non-stressful conditions at intermediate temperatures and stress at the extremes, the relationship between temperature and most subcellular, tissue-level, or whole-organism processes is described by a hump-shaped thermal performancecurve. From colder to warmer, these curves generally rise exponentially as rates of biochemical reactions increase, peak at some optimum temperature, and then fall rapidly as the biological components of the system become less efficient or damaged. The effect of a small increase in thallus temperature will be beneficial when the initial temperature is cooler than optimal and detrimental when it is warmer than optimal, and the precise change in performance can be predicted from the starting and ending temperature values along the curve. Unfortunately, the shapes of thermal performance curves and the positions of their optima are poorly described in most seaweeds (Harley et al. 2012; Kordas et al. 2011; Kim et al. 2011; Eggert 2012).

Increased temperature is generally thought to have negative effects on spore production, germination, recruitment, and sporophyte growth and context-specific effects on gametogenesis depending on the source population and degree of warming has also been linked to mortality of spores, gametophytes, eggs, and sporophytes. Much less is known about the effects of increasing CO_2 concentrations. On the basis of current knowledge, we can expect positive effects on gametogenesis and variable effects (e.g., positive effect of increasing CO2, but negative effect of decreasing pH) on germination (Harley et al. 2012; Buschmann et al. 2004).

Carbon dioxide concentrations in seaweed habitats are increasing with anthropogenic emissions and, in some regions, with intensified upwelling of CO_2 -enriched water. As with terrestrial plants, it is tempting to predict that sea weedswill benefit from the increase in inorganic carbonconcentration. Because CO_2 diffusion rates are much higher in air than in water, seaweeds that are exposed at low tide and those with floating canopies at the sea-air interface have greater access to CO_2 . However, aerial exposure does not necessarily reduce the probability of carbon limitation, as exposure at low tide can dramatically reduce rates of carbon acquisition and even immersed seaweeds can benefit from increasing atmospheric CO_2 concentrations. Most green and brown algae (and many red algae) can also utilize bicarbonate by converting it to CO_2 intracellularly Just as terrestrial C_3 plants are more likely to be CO_2 limited and therefore more likely to benefit from elevated CO_2 than C_4 plants, seaweeds lacking CCMs are more likely to be carbon-limited and thus more likely to benefit from additional CO_2 (Harley et al. 2012; Long et al. 2004; Williams and Dethier 2005).

In addition to providing carbon for photosynthesis, anthropogenic CO_2 emissions reduce seawater pH and the saturation state of calcium carbonate. As this

increases the cost of calcification and the likelihood of dissolution, calcifying organisms are particularly sensitive to elevated CO_2 in seawater. Ocean acidification is consistently related to reduced growth rates in calcified macroalgae (Harley et al. 2012; Kroeker et al. 2010).

All of the anthropogenically forced changes in the physical and chemical environment are occurring simultaneously, and in many cases, the impact of any particular stressor on the physiology and performance of marine macrophytes will depend upon the presence and magnitude of additional limiting or disruptivestressors. the enhancement of photosynthesis by elevated CO₂ varying with nutrient availability. The percent cover of algal turfs decreased with increasing CO₂ under ambient nutrients, but the reverse was true under elevated nutrients. There are also many interactions among disruptive stressors, including temperature, desiccation, pH, salinity, and ultraviolet radiation. For example, in tropical and warm-temperate crustose coralline algae, the negative effect of warmer temperatures on bleaching, growth rates, calcification rates, and survival were significantly greater under conditions of elevated CO2/reduced pH. As of yet, it is difficult to predict when one stressor will increase or decrease the effect of another. There are also no known biases toward synergistic or antagonistic effects; in a meta-analysis of multi-stressor studies on Fucus spp., synergistic, additive, and antagonistic outcomes were all equally prevalent. We desperately need to incorporate more ecophysiological research into a multi-stressor framework to improve our understanding of when, where, and why important context-dependent outcomes emerge (Harley et al. 2012).

Linkages Between Harmful Algal Blooms and Climate Change

Increasing human settlements in the near-shore modify the environment through eutrophication and pollution processes, and significantly affect the marine biota and human health. The synergistic effects of anthropogenically driven temperature rise and eutrophication can enhance the occurrence of harmful algae blooms (HABs) in the coasts. HABs have significant negative implications for the marine ecosystem functioning, as they can cause detriment to biodiversity and eventual death of predators, causing severe impacts on fi sheries and resource availability with serious repercussion for human health and economy (Guinder and Molinero 2013).

Temperature is one of the main environmental factors affecting physiological processes in phytoplankton, acting at many different stages of growth and bloom development. It not only is one of the most important environmental drivers expected to change with climate, but also is the least contentious, since there already has been measurable warming of the surface mixed layer and the upper several hundred meters of the oceans (Wells et al. 2015).

The link between increasing water temperatures and phytoplankton growth rates has long been recognized, and it is expected that increased potential growth rates will accompany warming. Temperature influences motility, germination, nutrient uptake, photosynthesis, and other physiological processes. Optimal and inhibitory threshold temperatures differ among metabolic processes. The optimal temperature for photosynthesis is generally greater than the optimum for growth. Indeed, the biogeography of phytoplankton species boundaries is determined in large part by temperature regimes, as is almost certainly is true for HAB species. But phytoplankton, including HAB species, can show strong intraspecific differences in temperature tolerance and responses. The chemical composition of a species' (e.g., lipids, fatty acids, and toxicity) also is a function of temperature. While higher toxicity (i.e., toxin accumulation) of some species can occur with slowing growth, temperature and toxin production appear to be directly linked in some species but not others. Much of the basic information needed to generate a preliminary forecast of which regions or habitats (poles vs. tropics, estuaries vs. coasts) HAB species will be the most resilient or susceptible to temperature change likely is available (Wells et al. 2015; Bissenger et al. 2008; De Boer 2005).

Temperature is a keystone parameter differentially affecting a range of metabolic processes, and thus is anticipated to have a strong influence on phytoplankton community compositions and trajectories. While increasing annual temperatures should broaden the windows of some HAB activity it will not affect others or even lessen other harmful algal blooms. Ecosystem interactions, strain variability within HAB and non-HAB species, and concurrent hydrographic or oceanographic changes all complicate even this seemingly straightforward expectation. It is logical that HAB habitats should expand to higher latitudes, but there is little clear evidence that this has happened and the time series observation systems needed to verify this change currently are lacking. There is little evidence to date that changing temperatures directly affect toxin production in HAB species although these findings are by no means comprehensive. It is unlikely that temperature alone will drive competitive selection of HAB species over non-HAB species, but it is probable that temperature effects on metabolic rates will magnify or lessen the influence of other climatic pressures on HAB prevalence (Wells et al. 2015).

References

- Adrian R, Reilly CMO, Zagarese H, Baines SB, Hessen DO, Keller W, Livingstone DM, Sommaruga R, Straile D, Van Donk E, Weyhenmeyer GA, Winder M (2009) Lakes as sentinels of climate change. Limnol Oceanogr 54:2283–2297
- Andrade PA, Barbosa M, Matos RP, Lopes G, Vinholes J (2013) Valuable compounds in macroalgae extracts. Food Chem 138:1819–1828
- Beaugrand G, Edwards M, Legandre L (2010) Marine biodiversity, ecosystem functioning, and carbon cycles. PNAS 107(22):10120–10124

- Behrenfeld MJ, Malley RTO, Siegel DA, McClain CR, Sarmiento JL, Feldman GC, Milligan AJ, Falkowski P, Letelier RM, Boss ES (2006) Climate-driven trends in contemporary ocean productivity. Nature 444:752–755
- Bissenger JE, Montagnes SJ, Atkinson D (2008) Predicting marine phytoplankton maximum growth rates from temperature: improving on the Eppley curve using quantile regression. Limnol Oceanogr 53:487–493
- Borowitzka MA (2013) High-value products from microalgae—their development and commercialization. J Appl Phycol 25(3):743–756
- Buschmann AH, VaAquez J, Osorio P, Reyes E, Filun L, Hernandez-Gonzalez MC, Vega A (2004) The effect of water movement, temperature and salinity on abundance and reproductive patterns of Macrocystis spp. (Phaeophyta) at different latitudes in Chile. Mar Biol 145:849–862
- Carey CC, Ibelings BW, Hoffmann EP, Hamilton DP, Brookes JD (2012) Eco-physiological adaptations that favour freshwater cyanobacteria in a changing climate. Water Res 46(5):1394–1407
- Christie H, Norderhaug KM, Fredriksen S (2009) Macrophytes as habitat for fauna. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 396:221–233
- Chu SH, Zhang QS, Liu SK, Tang YZ, Zhang SB, Lu ZC, Yu YQ (2012) Tolerance of Sargassum thunbergii germlings to thermal, osmotic and desiccation stress. Aq Bot 96:1–6
- De Boer MK (2005) Temperature responses of three Fibrocapsa japonica strains (Raphidophyceae) from different climate regions. J Plankton Res 27(1):47–60
- Doney SC, Ruckelshaus M, Duffy JM, Barry JP, Chan F, English CA et al (2012) Climate change impacts on marine ecosystems. Annu Rev Mar Sci 4:11–37
- Eggert A (2012) Seaweed responses to temperature. In: Wiencke C, Bischof K (eds) Seaweed biology. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Germany, pp 47–66
- Fan X, Bai L, Zhu L, Yang L, Zhang X (2014) Marine Algae-derived bioactive peptides for human nutrition and health. J Agric Food Chem 62:9211–9222
- Guinder VA, Molinero JC (2013) Climate change effects on marine phytoplankton. In: Menendez MC (ed) Marine ecology in a changing world. CRC Press
- Harley CDG, Anderson KM, Demes KW, Jorve JP, Kordas RL, Coyle TA (2012) Effects of climate change on global seaweed communities. J Phycol 48(5):1064–1068
- Hudek K, Davis LC, Ibbini J, Erickson L (2014) Commercial products from algae. In: Bajpai R et al. (eds) Algal Biorefineries Part II, pp 275–295
- Jueterbock A, Tyberghein L, Verbruggen H, Coyer JA, Olsen JL, Hoarau G (2013) Climate change impact on seaweed meadow distribution in the North Atlantic rocky intertidal. Ecol Evol 3(5):1356–1373
- Keeling RF, Ortzinger KA, Gruber N (2010) Ocean deoxygenation in a warming world. Annu Rev Mar Sci 2:199–229
- Kim E, Park HS, Jung Y, Choi DW, Jeong WJ, Hwang MS, Park EJ, Gong YG (2011) Identification of the high-temperature response genes from Porphyraseriata (Rhodophyta) expression sequence tags and enhancement of heat tolerance of Chlamydomonas (Chlorophyta) by expression of the Porphyra HTR2 gene. J Phycol 47:821–828
- Kingsolver JG (2009) The well-temperatured biologist. Am Nat 174(6):755-768
- Kiuru P, Auria MD, Muller CD, Tammela P, Vuorela H, Yli-Kauhaluoma J (2014) Exploring marine resources for bioactive compounds. Planta Med 80:1234–1246
- Koch M, Bowes G, Ross C, Zhang XH (2012) Climate change and ocean acidification effects on sea grasses and marine macroalgae. Glob Chang Biol 19(1):103–132
- Kordas RL, Harley CDG, O'Connor MI (2011) Community ecology in a warming world: the influence of temperature on interspecific interactions in marine systems. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 400:218–26
- Kroeker KJ, Kordas RL, Crim RN, Singh GG (2010) Meta-analysis reveals negative yet variable effects of ocean acidification on marine organisms. Ecol Lett 13:1419–1434
- Long SP, Ainsworth EA, Rogers A, Ort DR (2004) Rising atmospheric carbon dioxide: plants face the future. Ann Rev Plant Biol 55:591–628

- Lopes G, Sousa C, Silva LR, Pinto E, Andrade PB, Bernardo J et al (2012) Can phlorotannins purified extracts constitute a novel pharmacological alternative for microbial infections with associated inflammatory conditions? PLoS One 7(2):e31145
- Paerl HW, Huisman VJ (2009a) Climate change: a catalyst for global expansion of harmful cyanobacterial blooms. Environ Microbiol Rep 1(1): 27–37
- Paerl HW, Huisman VJ (2009b) Climate change: Links to global expansion of harmful cyanobacteria. Water Res 46(5):1349–1363
- Paerl HW, Hall NS, Calandrino E (2011) Controlling harmful cyanobacterial blooms in a world experiencing anthropogenic and climatic-induced change. Sci Total Environ 409(10):1739– 1745
- Paerl HW, Gardner WS, Havens KE, Joyner AR, McCarthy MJ (2016) Mitigating cyanobacterial harmful algal blooms in aquatic ecosystems impacted by climate change and anthropogenic nutrients. Harmful Algae 54:213–222
- Rinke K, Yeates P, Rothhaupt K (2010) A simulation study of the feedback of phytoplankton on thermal structure via light extinction. Freshwat Biol 55:1674–1693
- Sommer U, Lewandowska A (2011) Climate change and the phytoplankton spring bloom: warming and overwintering zooplankton have similar effects on phytoplankton. Glob Chang Biol 17:154–162
- Sunday JM, Bates AE, Dulvy NK (2012) Thermal tolerance and the global redistribution of animals. Nat Clim Chang 2:686–690
- Wells ML, Vera LT, Smayda TJ, Karlson BSO, Trick CG, Raphael MK (2015) Harmful algal blooms and climate change: learning from the past and present to forecast the future. Harmful Algae 49:68–93
- Williams SL, Dethier MN (2005) High and dry: variation in net photosynthesis of the intertidal seaweed Fucusgardneri. Ecology 86:2373–2379
- Winder M, Sommer U (2012) Phytoplankton response to a changing climate. Hydrobiologia 698:5–16
- Zacharioudaki A, Pan SQ, Simmonds D, Magar V, Reeve DE (2011) Future wave climate over the West-European shelf seas. Ocean Dynam 61:807–827
- Zubia M, Fabre MS, Kerjean V, Deslandes E (2009) Antioxidant and cytotoxic activities of some red algae (Rhodophyta) from Brittany coasts (France). Bot Mar 52:268–277

Metabolic and Hormonal Responses of Plants to Cold Stress

Joanna Lado and Matías Manzi

Abstract The adaptation and survival of plants in challenging environments involves changes at cellular and molecular levels. Plants inherently possess sophisticated mechanisms to timely perceive environmental stimuli and respond accordingly. Temperature and water availability are the major environmental factors that significantly influence geographical distribution of plants. In particular, cold acclimation includes structural and morphological modifications, changes in cell membrane composition and the accumulation of compatible solutes among others cryoprotective compounds. In order to survive in such non-optimal conditions, plants have developed complex mechanisms to perceive external signals and trigger crucial responses. These phenomena are mediated by complex phytohormone networks that are also involved in the adaptation to other abiotic and biotic stresses. Through hormonal signaling, cold stress modifies biomass and bioactive compounds accumulation in medicinal plants, both of special interest regarding their biological activity and therefore, their pharmacological potential. In this chapter we review the latest information regarding cold signaling in plants, phytohormones and how integrated crosstalk underpins cold tolerance together with a special mention of cold effect on bioactive compounds accumulation, with emphasis in medicinal and aromatical plants.

Keywords Abscisic acid • Bioactive compounds • Brassinosteroids • Chilling • Ethylene • Jasmonic acid • Salycilic acid

J. Lado (🖂)

M. Manzi

Instituto Nacional de Investigación Agropecuaria (INIA), Salto, Uruguay e-mail: jlado@inia.org.uy

Fertilidad de Suelos, Departamento de Suelos y Aguas, Facultad de Agronomía, Universidad de la República, Salto, Uruguay e-mail: mmanzi@fagro.edu.uy

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017 M. Ghorbanpour and A. Varma (eds.), *Medicinal Plants and Environmental Challenges*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-68717-9_8

Introduction

Plants have developed a striking set of different mechanisms to adapt and survive in challenging environments facing biotic and abiotic stresses. Cold is one of the most harmful abiotic stresses for plants due to its notable impact on different developmental processes and its huge influence on crop productivity and geographic distribution (Chinnusamy et al. 2007; Rahman 2013). Cold stress directly affects plant growth and development, inducing several physiological, metabolic and genetic mechanisms (Ruelland et al. 2009). Under cold conditions plants rapidly arrest plant growth and modify plant morphology which are believed to underpin the reallocation of resources to other processes aiming to increase cold tolerance (Eremina et al. 2016). Structural and celular changes associated with cold response involve the alteration of membrane conformation, leading to a decrease in membrane fluidity (Sevillano et al. 2009; Upchurch 2008) together with a rapid generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) which could cause oxidative stress if plants are not able to detoxify them by activation of the antioxidant system (Ruelland et al. 2009; Sevillano et al. 2009). In addition, low temperatures induce a rise in the content of cryoprotective proteins and metabolites such as soluble solids and amino acids. In order to adapt and survive, plants have also developed diverse cellular enzymatic and non-enzymatic mechanisms to cope with cold stress, the vast majority of which are mediated by phytohormones (Ruelland et al. 2009; Eremina et al. 2016).

Plants ability to minimize and survive oxidative stress depends on the effectiveness of enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidants, a complex system that is triggered in response to low temperature (Shi et al. 2014; Chinnusamy et al. 2010). As mentioned, many of these processes are mediated by phytohormones, involving the participation of stress-related hormones such as abscisic acid (ABA), etylene (ET), salicylic acid (SA) and jasmonic acid (JA) and a tight interaction with growth-promoting cytokinins (CKs), auxins (AUXs), gibberellins (GAs) and brassinosteroids (BRs). Phytohormones act as secondary signals initiating a cascade of events that may follow almost a generic pathway with the involvement of different components (Shi et al. 2014; Ahammed et al. 2015; Lado et al. 2016; Peleg and Blumwald 2011). Signal perception is followed by the generation of second messengers such as calcium, ROS or nitric oxide (NO), a generic signal transduction pathway that eventually involves a protein phosphorylation cascade to initiate transcription of specific sets of stress-regulated genes as well as biochemical changes at tissue and celluar levels (Fig. 1). The proper spatial and temporal coordination of all signaling molecules is essential for successful cold acclimation or adaptation (Ahammed et al. 2015).



Fig. 1 Schematic representation of main pathways and interactions towards cold response and adaptation in plants

Physiological, Biochemical and Molecular Responses to Cold Stress

Low temperature causes morphological and structural changes, alters membrane fluidity, triggering changes the activity of macromolecules and osmotic potential in the cell. Cold-induced damage in photosynthetic apparatus includes inhibition of CO_2 assimilation, photoinhibition of photosystem I (PSI) and PSII, and inhibition of diverse enzymatic activities. There is also an enhancement in the production of ROS which induces damage to membranes, proteins, lipids, DNA and RNA, among other cell constituents (Sevillano et al. 2009). Transgenic plants overexpressing
ROS scavengers or mutants with enhanced ROS scavenging capacity usually exhibit increased tolerance to cold stress (Ahammed et al. 2015).

It is still no clear how low temperatures are perceived in plants, however, the involvement of membranes appears to be crucial in this process (Shi et al. 2014). Lipid composition is a key factor in the stabilization of membranes and therefore plays a role in the enhancement of cold tolerance. Unsaturated fatty acids have been associated with cold tolerance since a greater amount was determined in the plastid membrane of cold-resistant compared to cold-sensitive plants (Upchurch 2008). The fluid mosaic physical state of the plasma membrane is vital for the structure and function of the cells, as well as to sense temperature variations. At low temperatures plant membranes undergo transition from a liquid crystalline to a gel-like phase with reduced fluidity while ion leakage and deactivation of membrane-integrated proteins occurs (Upchurch 2008), where free, esterified and glycosylated sterols play a crucial function (Valitova et al. 2016; Grunwald 1971). Lipid changes detected only in the cold-acclimating wild potato (Solanum comersonii) species included an increase in phosphatidylethanolamine, a decrease in sterol to phospholipid ratio, an increase in linoleic and a decrease in linolenic acid (Palta et al. 1993). Sterol acylglycosides are present in plant cells in minor amounts but it was demonstrated that relative changes in their concentration in the plasma membrane, along with other lipids, are associated with plants adaptation to low temperatures (reviewed in Valitova et al. 2016).

Calcium-mediated signaling is believed to play a pivotal role in plant responses to cold stress. Currently, a widely accepted hypothesis states that the reduction in membrane fluidity appears to be a primary event of cold perception, activating Ca^{2+} channel in higher plants. Ca²⁺ acts as secondary messenger in this process, triggering responses at the nuclear level (Shi et al. 2014). It was also described that receptor-like kinases (RLKs) are involved in this perception, amplification and transmission of environmental stimuli via signaling cascades that finally modulate gene expression, protein activation and cell adjustment (Ye et al. 2017; Wang et al. 2017). CRLK1, a calcium/calmodulin-regulated RLK is mainly localized in the plasma membrane and its protein levels increase notably after cold exposure, suggesting that it is involved in a cold-related oxidative stress signal transduction pathway (Fig. 1). Numerous reports have indicated that low and high temperature as well as hormones induce specific changes in the expression of CDPK genes in many plants (Ye et al. 2017; Wang et al. 2017; Xiao et al. 2017). Moreover, CRLK1-knockout mutant plants exhibited increased sensitivity to cold and had delayed induction of cold-responsive genes compared to wild type plants. These results indicated that CRLK1 is a positive regulator of cold tolerance in plants and acts as a bridge in calcium signaling and cold signaling (Ye et al. 2017; Yang et al. 2010). Similarly, it was recently described that MaCDPK7 gene is involved in regulating banana fruit ripening and chilling resistance (Wang et al. 2017) whereas its orthologue in rice (OsCDPK7) is induced in response to cold and its overexpression confers an enhanced cold tolerance (Saijo et al. 2000).

In the same line, the LRR receptor kinases are one of the largest and most renowned classes of RLKs, playing important functions towards cold stress tolerance. The perception of cold stimuli by receptors can activate large and complex intracellular signaling cascades, leading to the generation of secondary signaling molecules including Ca^{2+} , ROS and inositol 1, 4, 5-trisphosphate (reviewed in Ye et al. 2017). Therefore it can be suggested that plant cells can perceive cold stress via membrane rigidification (Shi et al. 2014) and interestingly, histidine kinases (HKs) are also an important class of hormone receptors (Ha et al. 2012), being a possible point of convergence between cold sensing and phytohormone responses (Shi et al. 2014).

In addition to the plasma membrane, chloroplasts are among the most severely impacted organelle and could be contributing to ambient temperature sensing (Kratsch and Wise 2000). The maintenance of polyunsaturated fatty acid levels in chloroplast membranes has been shown to contribute to plant survival under low temperatures and to the normal formation of chloroplastic membrane in plants under cold stress (Upchurch 2008). Saturated phosphatidylglycerol (PG) content may be related to the phase transition temperature and thus related to the low-temperature adaptability of plants, being its proportion 40% or higher in cold-sensitive plants and lower in cold tolerant species (Upchurch 2008). Notable changes also occur at the photosynthetic apparatus; under low temperature, the ability to use the absorbed light energy decrease leading to an overreduction of PSII and consequently, to enhance the generation of ROS (Janda et al. 2014). Furthermore, cold-acclimated plants usually show less photoinhibition of PSII than cold-sensitive plants being therefore a good indicative of cold tolerance (Janda et al. 2014). Further, protein folding is influenced by temperature changes. Therefore, plant cell can sense cold stress and act through membrane rigidization, protein/nucleic acid conformation, and/or metabolite concentration, either a specific metabolite or the redox status (Chinnusamy et al. 2010).

Regarding molecular changes in response to cold stress, Lotus japonica exposed during 24 h to low temperatures upregulated genes related to lipid, cell wall, phenylpropanoid, sugar, and proline metabolism, while downregulated genes involved in photosynthesis and chloroplast development (Calzadilla et al. 2016). Moreover, the same authors described a total of 41 cold-inducible transcription factors, including members of the AP2/ERF, NAC, MYB, and WRKY families. In this sense, the best understood cold signaling pathway is mediated by ICE1/CBF/COR transcriptional cascade. The C-repeat (CRT)-binding factors (CBFs)/dehydration-responsive elements (DREBs) are induced by cold, binding to the promoter of *cold responsive* (COR) genes, activating their transcription. There are evidence showing that this pathway is tightly regulated at transcriptional, postranscriptional and postranslational levels (Shi et al. 2014; Kurepin et al. 2013). CBF14 gene expression is considered as a marker of cold-treatment in wheat and was induced in response to cold treatment in wheat plants, in proportion with their freezing-sensitivity/tolerance being its basal levels higher in cold-tolerant genotypes (Ba et al. 2016). It is noteworthy that CBF genes are rapidly and transiently induced by cold while induction of COR genes by cold is much slower. A peak of CBF1 and CBF3 genes expression after 1 h of cold expossure was measured but expression levels drop off further on while no relevant changes were observed in CBF2

(Calzadilla et al. 2016). A higher expression of these TFs in different herbaceous and woody plants has been associated with an increased tolerance to low temperatures (Chinnusamy et al. 2007; Ba et al. 2016; Zhou et al. 2011; Champ et al. 2007; Zhou et al. 2014). Therefore CBFs appear to play a pivotal role in cold stress signaling and response in different plants showing a fine specializaton for the different isogenes. Key components of the ET, GA and JA signaling pathways have been shown to also modulate CBFs in different extents (Achard et al. 2008). Moreover, certain *CBF* genes are induced by exogenous application of ABA, contributing to sustain cold tolerance (Knight et al. 2004).

In Arabidopsis, the CBF/DREB1 pathway is controlled by an MYC-type factor known as ICE1 (Fig. 1). Overexpression of ICE1 confers increased freezing tolerance whereas *ice1* mutant exhibited high chilling and freezing sensitivity (Chinnusamy et al. 2003). Similarly, in chilling-tolerant tomato (Solanum chilense) a higher constitutive expresson of ICE1 was described (Nosenko et al. 2016). Around 40% of COR genes and nearly 46% of cold-regulated transcription factors genes are regulated by ICE1 which suggests that ICE1 functions as a master regulator controlling CBF3/DREB1A and many other COR genes (Lee et al. 2005). Interestingly, it was recently demostrated that CALMODULIN-BINDING TRANSCRIPTION ACTIVATOR 3 (CAMTA3) and CAMTA5, which bind to the CGCG-box in ICEr2 in order to activate the expression of DREB1B and DREB1C, only respond to a rapid but not to a gradual decrease in temperature. Moreover, plants appear to differentially regulate daily temperature changes, since CAMTA acts during both day and night whereas usual DREB1-regulating circadian components such as CIRCADIAN CLOCK ASSOCIATED 1 (CCA1) and LATE ELONGATED HYPOCOTYL 35 (LHY) only function during the day. These findings demostrate that the adquisition of tolerance to low temperatures could follow different pathways depending on the speed of temperature decrease (Kidokoro et al. 2017). In addition to the above mentioned CBF-dependent pathway, some CBF-independent components have a function in cold signaling. In fact, transcriptome analysis, indicated that only $\sim 12\%$ of the COR genes are controlled by CBFs (Fowler and Thomashow 2002). The Arabidopsis esk1 mutant shows constitutive freezing tolerance that is independent of the CBF regulon (Xin and Browse 1998). Loss of HOS9, a homeobox transcription factor, causes reduced freezing tolerance without affecting the expression of CBFs and their target genes (Zhu et al. 2004). Also, GIGANTEA (GI), which encodes a nuclear-localized protein involved in flowering and the circadian clock, is induced by low temperature. The gi-3 mutant shows both decreased constitutive cold tolerance and impaired cold acclimation ability without affecting CBF expression (Cao et al. 2005). It was also suggested that ABA, GA and CK could also regulate cold responses via CBF-independent pathways (Shi et al. 2014; Kosová et al. 2012). Thus, mechanisms dependent and independent of CBF signaling cascade appear to mediate in plant responses to cold and both could be behind the interaction with different phytohormones.

Key Phytohormones Involved in Plant Cold Tolerance

Biological activity of hormones depends on its availability which is controlled by its synthesis, transport and conjugation and catabolism as well as by the efficiency of signal perception and transduction. This processes are also integrated with tight cross-talks among different phytohormones and the interaction of other biological process and signaling molecules (reviewed in Deb et al. 2016). Then, the final plant response to low temperature is not determined by the specific activity of a single hormone but rather by a complex interactive network of diverse signaling molecules. Nearly half of the genes differentially expressed in response to a one-day cold shock in wheat were related to hormone metabolism (Ba et al. 2016), illustrating their key relevance in plant's cold stress response.

Growth-Promoting Phytohormones

Despite what could be first guessed based on their promoting role towards plant development, the phytohormones GAs, AUXs and CKs also display relevant functions in plants cold stress response. In general, growth rate decline at the beginning of cold stress meanwhile plant architecture is modified generally in response to a decrease in GA, AUX and CKs metabolism (Rahman 2013; Vanková et al. 2014).

A decrease in GA content in mostly all organs of wheat plants has been described in response to cold stress (Vanková et al. 2014) mainly due to a rise in the expression of GA-catabolizing GA2ox gene, and a repression of GA-biosynthetizing GA20ox enzyme (Kurepin et al. 2013). Besides, CBF1/DREB1B-overexpressing plants showed growth retardation, explained in part by the accumulation of DELLA proteins (negative regulators of GA signaling), a phenotype that could be easily rescued by the exogenous application of GAs (Achard et al. 2008). Therefore, it was suggested that CBF1 enhances the accumulation of DELLA proteins by reducing GA content through the stimulation of GA2ox genes expression (Achard et al. 2008). These data indicate that CBF/DREB1-dependent signaling pathway partially regulates plant growth through GAs modulation by the regulation of DELLA proteins. It was also shown in tobacco that CBF overexpression enhances cold tolerance and causes growth inhibition through the interaction with GAs and cell cycle pathways. Moreover, the observed dwarfism as well as the cold-induced CBF expression and its increased cold tolerance were arrested by exogenous GAs application (Zhou et al. 2014), showing that a reduction in the level of this phytohormone is necessary to develop cold tolerance in plants. Additionally, a GIBERELLIC ACID INSENSITIVE (gai) mutant showed an impaired GA production and a higher cold tolerance (correlated with elevated levels of CBF1, CBF2 and COR15A proteins), a response mediated by the action of the GATA TFs (Eremina et al. 2016).

The knowledge about the exact role of AUXs in cold stress signaling is still limited. An increase in endogenous IAA level was reported in rice seedlings in response to cold stress (Du et al. 2013a) however cold tolerance was higher in mutants with a lower IAA level (Du et al. 2013b). It is generally considered that intracellular AUX transport and hence, AUX gradient, plays a major role in controlling hormonal crosstalk with other phytohormones and therefore, in the regulation of plant growth and development under cold stress conditions (Rahman 2013). It was described that cold stress inhibit certain processes governed by this phytohormone, such as root gravity response (Shibasaki et al. 2009) which suggests that cold adaptation involves a decrease in internal levels of indol-3-acetic acid (IAA). However, since AUX signaling mutants (axr1 and tir1) showed a reduced gravity response but a normal cold tolerance, it was suggested that cold stress affects more AUX transport rather than AUX signaling (Shibasaki et al. 2009). It was also demonstrated by direct transport assays that cold stress inhibits AUX transport, suggesting that its effect is linked to the inhibition of intracellular transport (Rahman 2013; Shibasaki et al. 2009). Besides that, a crosstalk among IAA, JA and ABA has been reported since low temperature induce JA and IAA accumulation in rice seedlings (Du et al. 2013a) whereas lines overexpressing an enzyme (OsGH3-2), that catalyzes IAA conjugation into amino acids (with the concomitant reduction in free IAA content), finally derived in a rise in ABA levels and in a higher cold tolerance (Du et al. 2012).

As described for GAs and AUX, there is also a drop in CKs content as well as in its direct precursors in response to cold stress (Ba et al. 2016). There is also a differential regulation of genes from CK metabolism under cold stress in wheat plants (Ba et al. 2016) while CK receptors function as negative regulators in plant responses to low temperatures through an still unknown mechanism (Shi et al. 2014; Jeon et al. 2010). CK signaling is based in a multistep two-component system involving the membrane sensor Arabidopsis histidine kinase CKs receptors (AHK2-AHK4), Arabidopsis histidine phosphotransfer proteins (AHP1-AHP5) and Arabidopsis response regulators (ARRs), being the last localized in the nucleus (Jeon et al. 2010). Among ARRs (DNA binding TFs) two types (A and B) have been descibed, being the former negative and the second positive regulators of CKs signaling. It was demonstrated that *AHK2* and *AHK3* and the cold-inducible ARRs (A-type) play a negative regulatory role in cold stress signaling via inhibition of ABA response, occurring independently of the cold acclimation pathway (Jeon et al. 2010).

Cytokinin response factors (CRFs) are transcripiton factors localized in the nucleus, that belong to the APETALA2/ETHYLENE RESPONSIVE FACTOR (AP2/ERF) superfamily, being transcriptionally regulated by CKs and it is proposed that they dislpay an integrative role between environment and hormonal cues (Kim 2016). ARR1, ARR10 and ARR12 were described to upregulate a *CRF2* expression by binding directly to its promoter in response to cold stress. However, *CRF3* expression remains unaltered in the two-component system mutants, suggesting that cold response of *CRF3* occurs independently of this two-component system (Kim 2016). Both CKs response factors (*CRF2* and *CRF3*) integrate the environmental

cold signal into lateral root development, contributing root adaptation to cold stress (Jeon et al. 2016). Similarly, *CRF6* was described to mediate a connection between CKs and oxidative stress response in part by repressing the expression of CK-related genes (Zwack et al. 2016). Apart from CKs singnaling, *CRFs* have been described to be involved in the regulation of other phytohormones such as ABA, SA, JA, AUXs and BRs. Moreover, *CRFs* mediate a subset of CKs responses, acting not only through CK signaling but also independently of CKs (reviewed in Kim 2016). Certain CRFs like *CRF2* (but not *CRF3*) are also capable of transcriptionally regulating AUX efflux carriers (*PIN FORMED-PIN* genes), participating also in the fine-tunning of auxin transport (Šimášková et al. 2015). It was therefore proposed by these authors that *CRFs* represent a missing cross-talk component that regulate auxin transport capacity downstream of CKs signaling to control plant development, exerting a special function under cold stress conditions.

Brassinosteroids are a class of plant steroid hormones whose general effects are the promotion of cell elongation, cell division, differentiation, disease resistance, stress tolerance, exerting also a role in plant senescence. Thus, BRs possess significant growth-controlling activity as well as a function in reproductive and vascular development, membrane polarization and proton pumping. They also influence various other developmental processes like seed germination, rhizogenesis, and flowering (Bartwal et al. 2012). A key point is that BRs function strictly depends on tissue concentration, since opposite effects can be observed at high or low levels (i.e. stomatal aperture or photosynthesis regulation (Ahammed et al. 2015)).

A positive role of BRs in chilling stress tolerance was described in certain crops such as maize, cucumber, tomato and rice (Divi and Krishna 2009). Exogenous application of BR induces the expression of stress-related genes, leading to the maintenance of photosynthetic activity, activation of antioxidant enzymes, accumulation of osmoprotectants and induction of other hormones responses. The former suggest a role for BRs in promoting cold tolerance in Arabidopsis seedlings (Divi and Krishna 2010). Furthermore, mung bean epicotyls whose growth was initially suppressed by chilling partly recovered their ability to elongate after treatment with 24-epibrassinolde (a bioactive BRs). In this experiment, 17 proteins involved in methionine assimilation, ATP synthesis, cell wall construction and the stress response were down-regulated by chilling but re-up-regulated in response to exogenous application of BRs (Huang et al. 2006). The same bioactive BR was applied to young grapevine seedlings causing an enhancement in antioxidant enzymes activities (CAT, SOD and APX) and consequently, a reduction in ROS and lipid peroxidation. In addition, the exogenous treatment greatly increased the contents of free proline, soluble proteins and soluble sugars. These results indicated that exogenous BRs treatment could enhance the antioxidant defense system and reduce oxidative damage caused by ROS and lipid oxidation in plants (Xi et al. 2013). It was also suggested that BRs participate in the enhancement of cold acclimation in winter ryegrass by regulation of stress-related signaling compounds such as JA and ET but not SA (Pociecha et al. 2017).

BRs have been also suggested to underpin cold tolerance in the medicinal plant Withania somnifera, an effect that could be linked to the stimulation of ABA or ET biosynthesis (Bartwal et al. 2012). There was also reported that the increased cold tolerance of BRs-treated plants may be attributed to the induced changes in membrane stability, a key process affected by chilling (Bartwal et al. 2012). Recent studies described the existence of several BRASSINAZOLE-RESISTANT (BZR) transcription factors (positive regulators of BRs signaling) which are upregulated in response to exogenous ABA treatment and showed differential expression in response to low temperature stress in Brassica rapa plants. These TFs were proposed to activate CBF-mediated cold responses in this species, displaying a key regulatory function in cold tolerance (Saha et al. 2015). In addition to various stimulatory effects on growth, development and stress tolerance in field plants, BRs were described to improve post-harvest quality of fruits and vegetables through extension of shelf life under chilling stress (Ahammed et al. 2015). However other studies support the idea that downregulation of these compounds could be also part of certain plant responses to low temperatures, therefore BRs role in cold tolerance is still elusive (Calzadilla et al. 2016).

Stress-Responsive Phytohormones

ABA regulates many physiological and developmental processes in plants and it is also considered as the most important hormone in the response to abiotic stress (Gómez-Cadenas et al. 2015). In fact, nearly 10% of the protein encoding-genes are regulated by ABA (Nemhauser et al. 2006). ABA accumulation in plant tissues constitutes a common response in order to cope with abiotic stresses, including low temperature (Eremina et al. 2016). However, there are many genes which are induced in response to cold stress but remain irresponsive to ABA (Shinozaki et al. 2003), indicating the existence of both ABA-independent and ABA-dependent signal transduction pathways (Yamaguchi-Shinozaki and Shinozaki 2006). Exogenous application of ABA before the onset of stress generally favors cold tolerance in different plants (Li et al. 2014; Fu et al. 2017). Most of these responses are related to an enhancement of antioxidant defense system, reducing the harmful effect of ROS and other molecules such as NO (Fu et al. 2017; Liu et al. 2011), a key system that is considered the major factor involved in the tolerance to cold stress (Du et al. 2013b). In this sense, both, enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidants are stimulated by ABA application during chilling exposure (Wang et al. 2013).

There is still some controversy regarding the precise involvement of ABA in cold stress. Plant stress responses have been divided into ABA-independent, such as the above mentioned CBF and ICE1-regulated; and ABA-dependent responses, including bZIP transcription factors known as ABA Responsive Element Binding Protein/Factors (AREB/ABF) (Nakashima et al. 2014). Moreover, a parallel effect of dehydration/osmotic stress occurs during cold stress, being water deficit also common consequence of low temperatures, inducing therefore overlapping

responses between dehydration and low temperatures (Fu et al. 2017). The implication of ABA on the tolerance to water deficit is well-known (Gómez-Cadenas et al. 2015; Gómez-Cadenas et al. 2014) and involves ABA-dependent and ABA-independent mechanisms (Nakashima et al. 2014), whereas cold stress mostly triggers and ABA-independent pathway (Yamaguchi-Shinozaki and Shinozaki 2006; Fu et al. 2017; Vishwakarma et al. 2017). However, ABA has been recently proposed to control COR genes expression through the regulation of CBFs (Eremina et al. 2016). Thus, there appears to be an intricate interaction among genes which is regulated by dehydration and low temperatures, evidenced by a reduced expression of cold and drought stress related genes in an Arabidopsis los5 mutant (negatively affected in ABA biosynthesis) which also showed an extreme sensitivity to low temperatures (Xiong et al. 2001). ABA content increases during plant exposure to cold being the more tolerant genotypes which showed a faster and higher ABA accumulation compared to the sensitive ones (Kosová et al. 2012; Janowiak et al. 2002). Moreover, key enzymes (β-carotene-3-hydroxylase-βCHX, zeaxanthin epoxidase-ZEP and 9-cis-epoxycarotenoid dioxygenase-NCED1) involved in ABA biosynthesis were induced in wheat plants in response to low temperature, being this rise more intense in cold-tolerant varieties (Ba et al. 2016). ABA catabolism was also down-regulated in those cold tolerant plants through the repression of a cytochrome P450 8-hydroxylase gene (CYP707A2), which catalyzes the first step of ABA catabolism toward phaseic and dihydrophaseic acids (Ba et al. 2016). Furthermore, a negative interaction between ABA and CKs signaling was described in rice seedlings under cold stress, showing that the cold-induced ABA increase is linked to CKs signaling (Maruyama et al. 2014).

Interestingly, exogenous application of certain molecules increases the ABA levels leading to an alleviation of cold stress. In this sense, melatonin, which was recently discovered in plants and it is present in high amounts in several medicinal plants such as feverfew (Tanacetum parthenium), St John's wort (Hypericum perforatum), and Huang-qin (Scutellaria baicalensis) (Bajwa et al. 2014), was the antioxidant defense via ABA-dependent shown to induce and ABA-independent pathways in the grass *Elymus nutans* (Fu et al. 2017). Melatonin increases ABA levels but there were no evidence of a reciprocal effect of ABA on melatonin endogenous content, suggesting that this compound should be acting upstream of ABA (Fu et al. 2017). Similarly, celastrol, a triterpenoid isolated from Tripterygium wilfordii which is used to treat some systemic illnesses, was demonstrated to enhance cold tolerance in cucumber by inducing the activities of antioxidant enzymes, reducing the oxidative stress and increasing the ABA levels by upregulating its biosynthesis through the expression of NCED2 gene (Zhu et al. 2017).

ET is involved in abiotic stress resistance and specifically in cold stress response however, the question of whether it exerts a positive or negative role remains still elusive. Some works report changes in ET production in response to low temperatures (Kazan 2015). In Arabidopsis, an increase in ET production was related to a higher activity of biosynthetic enzymes ACC synthase and ACC oxidase in response to cold while the application of the ET precursor 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylic acid (ACC) enhanced cold tolerance (Catala et al. 2014). Similarly, the application of the ET biosynthesis inhibitor 1-methylcyclo- propene (1-MCP) reduces cold tolerance in tomato, suggesting a positive ET effect on cold tolerance (Zhao et al. 2009).

Ethylene perception and response in plants is carried out by a two-component receptor kinases system. ET binds to its receptors ETHYLENE-RESPONSIVE1 (ETR1) which are a superfamily of negative regulators of this signal and activates the signaling cascade through CONSTITUTIVE TRIPLE RESPONSE 1 (CTR1), a Ser/Thr kinase that dimerizes when active and suppresses the ethylene response. CTR1 controls ethylene-insensitive 2 (EIN2) cleavage, a membrane integral protein that induces downstream nuclear TFs such as ETHYLENE INSENSITIVE 3 (EIN3) and ein3-like 1 (EIL1) which stimulates ethylene response genes (Merchante et al. 2013). In the absence of ET, active receptors negatively regulate EIN2 through phosphorylation via the protein kinase CTR1. Upon ethylene perception, the receptors become inactivated, which in turn facilitates EIN2 activation to mediate ethylene signaling through the nucleus, inducing the activity of EIN3/EIL1 and ERFs (Merchante et al. 2013).

ERFs are TFs located downstream in the signaling pathways of many hormones such as ET, JA and ABA, and are possibly a cross-talk point among these signaling pathways. ERFs family is huge and each member responds to different biotic and abiotic stresses, regulating many biosynthetic pathways (Mizoi et al. 2012). The overexpression of soybean GmERF9 in tobacco enhanced the accumulation of proline and soluble carbohydrates as well as cold tolerance compared to wild type, indicating a positive role of this TF cold tolerance (Zhai et al. 2017). Tomato ERF2 showed a role in regulating ethylene biosynthesis and a higher expression was determined under cold stress, implying that this gene may be involved in cold response through ethylene modulation. Moreover, overexpression of this gene in tobacco showed a higher expression of COR genes, an enhanced cold tolerance and a reduced membrane damage (Zhang and Huang 2010). ET can also induce the expression of calcium dependent kinases (CDPK genes), which positive role in cold tolerance has been previously described (Ye et al. 2017) in many different plants including banana (Wang et al. 2017), tomato (Chang et al. 2009), grape (Zhang et al. 2015) and rubber tree (Xiao et al. 2017). However this family is integrated by at least 30 different members which exhibit different expression patters, suggesting that their roles are distinct during plant development and stress response (Xiao et al. 2017). LeCFB1 expression and cold tolerance in tomato plants and fruits was induced by ET as well as by ethephon application, underpinning a positive role of this hormone on cold tolerance (Zhao et al. 2009).

Contrastingly, other studies determined at least a 90% reduction in ET content in *Medicago truncatula* plants after cold exposure together with a lower ACC oxidase activity (Zhao et al. 2014). This reduction is consistent with a negative role of ET towards cold tolerance in accordance with the fact that its exogenous application (or the application of its direct precursor ACC) causes a significant drop in *M. truncatula* freezing tolerance. Moreover, the application of ET inhibitors promoted this

tolerance through *CBF3* expression regulation (Zhao et al. 2014). Supporting also this negative role of ET, cold tolerance was reduced in Arabidopsis *ethylene overproducer1* as well as after the application of ethylene precursor ACC whereas it was increased with the application of an inhibitor of ET biosynthesis or perception (Shi et al. 2012). Moreover, ET insensitive mutants (*etr1-1*, *ein4-1*, *ein2-5*, *ein3-1*, and *ein3 eil1*) showed an enhanced freezing tolerance and they proposed that ET negatively regulates cold signaling at least partially through the direct transcriptional control of *CBFs* and *type-A ARR* genes by EIN3 (Shi et al. 2012). Therefore, it appears that the role of ET on cold tolerance could be species-dependent and that certain differences would exists between cold and freezing tolerance for this phytohormone.

JA positive role in cold and freezing tolerance was recently unveiled by different works, suggesting that cold exposure elevates endogenous JA levels by the induction of biosynthetic genes such as *LOX1*, *AOS1*, *AOC1* and *JAR1* in Arabidopsis (Hu et al. 2013) and *OsAOS*, *OsOPR1* and *OsLOX2* in rice (Du et al. 2013a). Furthermore, JA positively regulates Arabidopsis response to freezing since its exogenous application significantly enhanced freeze tolerance whereas the blockage of its endogenous biosynthesis and signaling rendered cold-hypersensitive plants (Hu et al. 2013). JA is described as a positive regulator of the ICE1 protein transcriptional activity (Zhao et al. 2013), which exerts a key role in cold signaling cascade (Fig. 1) as well as an inducer of CBFs expression in Arabidopsis (Hu et al. 2013), modulating cold stress responses. Therefore, jasmonate function is a critical upstream signal in ICE1-CBFs pathway to positively regulate low temperature tolerance in Arabidopsis (Hu et al. 2013).

In the same line, cold-tolerant tomato species showed a higher expression of the *FAD7* gene (Nosenko et al. 2016), which plays a role in JA biosynthesis, encoding a chloroplast ω -3 fatty acid desaturase involved in temperature-dependent remodeling of the thylakoid membrane fluidity (Upchurch 2008). Similarly, in the leaves of *Camellia sinensis* a higher expression of *FAD7* and *FAD8* genes was associated with a reduced damage in thylakoid membranes after cold exposure (Ding et al. 2016). An induction of JA and its precursor, α -linolenic acid production were described in *Camellia japonica* during cold stress (Li et al. 2016) and the rise in expression of JA biosynthetic genes indicate that JA and its signaling pathway may play critical roles in the early stages of cold acclimation in *C. japonica*. In this plant, genes from GAs, AUXs, ET, ABA, JA, CKs and BRs pathways were also identified to be differentially expressed during cold acclimation (Li et al. 2016). Thus, GA, ET, ABA and JA signaling were predominantly induced while the AUX, BR and CK pathways were mostly inhibited (Li et al. 2016).

A recent and detailed review about cross-talk among different phytohormones in rice suggest a tight interaction towards abiotic stress survival in plants (Deb et al. 2016). CKs conjugation is regulated by ABA and BRs whereas BRs biosynthesis is affected by both, ABA and CKs. JA and ET biosynthesis appears to be modulated by ABA through DREB factors and JA and SA pathways are also co-regulated but unlikely to influence each other production. Thus, a complex regulatory network is

spun by multiple hormones which may modulate hormone biosynthesis pathways where biosynthesis of one hormone is affected by several others.

Apart from phytohormones, other compounds were described to exert as messengers among different plant tissues and to trigger mechanisms associated with cold tolerance in plants. Such is the case of melatonin, which local exogenous application in *Citrullus lanatus* confers cold tolerance not only at the application site but also in distant tissues. Such induction is associated with an enhanced antioxidant capacity and optimized defense gene expression such as heat shock proteins, peroxidases and lipoxygenases (Li et al. 2017). Moreover, many of the observed upregulated genes were related to phytohormone signaling; melatonin pretreatment alleviated cold-induced down-regulation *ERFs*, key genes in ET signaling network, and up-regulated other *ERF* transcription factors. Other intermediaries in AUX, CK and GA metabolisms were also regulated by melatonin treatment and ABA receptor (*PYL8*) was notably suppressed by melatonin plus cold application but not by cold alone (Li et al. 2017), suggesting an important role of all these phytohormones in the observed cold tolerance induction by melatonin pre-application.

Medicinal Plants and Cold Stress Response

Many phryganic plants (Thymus sibthorpii, Satureja thymbra, Cistus incanus, Phlomis fruticosa, Teucrium polium) are aromatic or medicinal and display the phenomenon of seasonal dimorphism (Lianopoulou and Bosabalidis 2014), developing mechanical and chemical defensive barriers to cope with cold stress. These plants induce morphological, anatomical, cytological, physiological, and biochemical defense mechanisms and most of these changes are mediated by phytohormones. In order to cope with cold conditions, Origanum dictamnus was described to induce structural and functional changes affecting leaves shape, size and distribution in favor of small and apical ones. Mesophyll cells develop large intracellular spaces with the aim of accumulating air at higher temperature (Lianopoulou and Bosabalidis 2014). This plant also stimulates the development of a thick and dense layer of non-glandular trychomes as a protective shield together with a thick cuticular/waxy layer on the leaf epidermis in response to cold. Essential oils are more abundantly secreted by glandular hairs under cold, being the major constituent p-Cymene (60%) during the winter and Carvacrol (42%) during the summer (Lianopoulou and Bosabalidis 2014).

Similarly, Salvia sclarea, commonly known as clary sage and an important medicinal herb with high market demand, showed a reduction in individual leaf area but an increased length and number of spikes and a longer inflorescence with higher content of essential oils under cold conditions (Kaur et al. 2015). The mountain germander (*Teucrium polium*) and *Thymus sibthorpii* are also structurally affected by chilling stress since winter leaves are smaller and thicker, have more stomata and glandular hairs while epidermal and mesophyll cells contain in their

vacuoles dark phenolic and calcium oxalate crystals (Lianopoulou et al. 2014a, b). Thus, in general, winter plants exhibit small, thick, and curled leaves, high densities of glandular and non-glandular hairs, compact mesophyll with developed palisade parenchyma, numerous stomata and sclerenchymatic fibers, and abundant phenolics in the epidermal and mesophyll cells (Fahn and Cutler 1992).

All these morphological and structural changes are regulated by phytohormones, mostly ABA, which is also involved in stomatal closure, resulting in a decline in photosynthesis as occurred in winter leaves of *O. dictamnus* (Lianopoulou and Bosabalidis 2014). However, a higher photosynthetic rate and stomatal conductance was measured in *Teucrium polium* and *Thymus sibthorpii* winter leaves (Lianopoulou et al. 2014a, b), showing that physiological changes also depend on the plant species considered. Chloroplasts showed relevant modifications under cold weather, with the presence a few grana and the appearance of lipid grains in plastoglobuli (Lianopoulou and Bosabalidis 2014). Chloroplastic membranes are strongly affected by cold stress, showing signs of damage and lipid accumulation during low temperature exposure. Thylakoids swell and distort, starch granules disappear, and a peripheral reticulum (vesicles arising from inner membrane of chloroplast envelope) appears, driving finally to chloroplast disintegration after prolonged chilling (Kratsch and Wise 2000).

Apart from structural changes observed in many medicinal and aromatic plants, it was reported that certain environmental stresses are linked to a higher accumulation of antioxidant compounds in different medicinal plants (Lianopoulou and Bosabalidis 2014; Mir et al. 2015; Saema et al. 2016), contributing in most cases to increase their medical or nutritional value (Mir et al. 2015; Nourimand et al. 2012). Therefore, the knowledge of how cold stress is affecting medicinal plants and the possible impact on bioactive compounds accumulation in relevant species is valuable (Mir et al. 2015). Moreover, understanding how plant hormones are mediating in these responses could be a key tool for future manipulation of plants in the search of bioactive molecules.

Cold severely impacts on biomass production and slightly chlorophyll and β -carotene content in fennel (*Foeniculum vulgare*) seedlings growing at 2 °C for 2, 3 and 4 h whereas total antioxidant activity increased in response to cold (Nourimand et al. 2012). Relevant differences in membrane damage among 11 fennel varieties have been described (Xiao et al. 2011), showing that tolerance to cold and therefore, adaptation to different environments, is also dependent on the variety.

The Indian ginseng or ashwagandha (*Withania somnifera*) showed an increase in withanolide (steroidal lactones, key bioactive compound from this species) accumulation in the leaves in response to cold stress (Mir et al. 2015; Kumar et al. 2012) which also was linked to a better recovery after cold exposure in *W. somnifera* transgenic plants (Saema et al. 2016). Cold also caused a concomitant rise in antioxidant enzymatic activity of CAT, SOD, APX and GR in Indian ginseng (Mir et al. 2015) as well as in *Thymus sibthorpii* leaves (Lianopoulou et al. 2014b). This is part of the antioxidant system in charge of protecting aerial tissues from cold damage. Contrastingly, the root tissue showed a slight reduction in withanolides

concentration during cold stress (Mir et al. 2015), suggesting that different plant organs have developed specific mechanisms towards cold survival and that an internal balance in the distribution of these compounds could be crucial upon survival. The medicinal properties of *W. somnifera* have been attributed to these withanolide compounds, synthesized in leaves and roots, which biosynthesis and accumulation are directly influenced by environmental factors. In this plant, seasonal low temperature appears to exert a key role in increasing the accumulation of bioactive withanolides (Kumar et al. 2012).

Certain enzymes have been studied in order to understand possible mechanisms behind cold tolerance in W. somnifera. Sterol glycosyltransferases (SGT) are enzymes that glycosylate sterols, which are crucial in plant adaptation to low temperatures. The WsSGTL1 gene is specific for 3β-hydroxy position and has a catalytic specificity to glycosylate withanolides and sterols. Glycosylation not only stabilizes the products but also alters their physiological activities and governs intracellular distribution (Ullmann et al. 1993). The clonation of WsSGTL1 gene in Arabidopsis thaliana showed an increase in cold tolerance in transgenic plants linked to a faster formation of sterol glycosides as well as a higher enzymatic activity (Mishra et al. 2013). Furthermore, the overexpression of this gene enhanced tolerance to cold together with a better photosynthetic performance and quenching regulation of PSI and PSII as well as a higher stomatal conductance after cold exposure (Saema et al. 2016). These enzymes are able to glycosylate also steroidal hormones, such as BR which function as growth promoters and development regulators (Bartwal et al. 2012). In this sense, the activation of SGTs in response to cold could be slowing down plant growth in order to prioritize cold survival through the regulation of BR metabolism (Mishra et al. 2013). SGTs in plants are also involved in sensitivity to stress-related hormones and in differences found in the relative tolerance to biotic and abiotic stresses (Chaturvedi et al. 2012).

Concluding Remarks

In this chapter, the latest literature about cold responses and phytohormones, with special emphasis in medicinal and aromatic plants was reviewed. Most mechanisms triggered by plants in order to cope with cold stress are conserved among different species involving changes in architecture and morphology as well as in primary and secondary metabolism. Therefore, examples about model plants and different crops were included to illustrate the complexity of these phenomena. Phytohormones act together as an orchestrated network in order to finely tune main changes in response to low temperatures, being their regulation crucial for plant acclimation and survival. Further studies should be focused on the modification of cold-signaling and response pathways with the aim of stimulating desired responses (i.e. accumulation of health-related phytochemicals that are induced by cold in medicinal plants) and plant adaptation to challenging environments.

References

- Achard P, Gong F, Cheminant S, Alioua M, Hedden P, Genschik P (2008a) The cold-inducible CBF1 factor-dependent signaling pathway modulates the accumulation of the growth-repressing DELLA proteins via its effect on gibberellin metabolism. Plant Cell 20:2117–2129
- Achard P, Renou J-P, Berthomé R, Harberd NP, Genschik P (2008b) Plant DELLAs restrain growth and promote survival of adversity by reducing the levels of reactive oxygen species. Curr Biol 18:656–660
- Ahammed G, Xia X-J, Li X, Shi K, Yu J-Q, Zhou Y-H (2015) Role of brassinosteriod in plant adaptation to abiotic stresses and its interplay with other hormones. Curr Protein Pept Sci 16:462–473
- Bajwa VS, Shukla MR, Sherif SM, Murch SJ, Saxena PK (2014) Role of melatonin in alleviating cold stress in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. J Pineal Res 56:238–245
- Bartwal A, Mall R, Lohani P, Guru SK, Arora S (2012) Role of secondary metabolites and brassinosteroids in plant defense against environmental stresses. J Plant Growth Regul 32:216– 232
- Calzadilla PI, Maiale SJ, Ruiz OA, Escaray FJ (2016) Transcriptome response mediated by cold stress in *Lotus japonicus*. Front Plant Sci 7:374
- Cao S, Ye M, Jiang S (2005) Involvement of *GIGANTEA* gene in the regulation of the cold stress response in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Cell Rep 24:683–690
- Catala R, Lopez-Cobollo R, Mar Castellano M, Angosto T, Alonso JM, Ecker JR, Salinas J (2014) The *Arabidopsis* 14-3-3 protein RARE COLD INDUCIBLE 1A links low-temperature response and ethylene biosynthesis to regulate freezing tolerance and cold acclimation. Plant Cell 26:3326–3342
- Champ KI, Febres VJ, Moore GA (2007) The role of CBF transcriptional activators in two *Citrus* species (*Poncirus* and *Citrus*) with contrasting levels of freezing tolerance. Physiol Plant 129:529–541
- Chang W-J, Su H-S, Li W-J, Zhang Z-L (2009) Expression profiling of a novel calcium-dependent protein kinase gene, *LeCPK2*, from tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum*) under heat and pathogen-related hormones. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 73:2427–2431
- Chaturvedi P, Mishra M, Akhtar N, Gupta P, Mishra P, Tuli R (2012) Sterol glycosyltransferases-identification of members of gene family and their role in stress in *Withania somnifera*. Mol Biol Rep 39:9755–9764
- Chinnusamy V, Ohta M, Kanrar S, Lee BH, Hong X, Agarwal M, Zhu JK (2003) ICE1: A regulator of cold-induced transcriptome and freezing tolerance in arabidopsis. Genes Dev 17:1043–1054
- Chinnusamy V, Zhu J, Zhu J-K (2007) Cold stress regulation of gene expression in plants. Trends Plant Sci 12:444–451
- Chinnusamy V, Zhu JK, Sunkar R (2010) Gene regulation during cold stress acclimation in plants. In: Plant stress tolerance: Methods and protocols. pp 39–55
- Deb A, Grewal RK, Kundu S (2016) Regulatory cross-talks and cascades in rice hormone biosynthesis pathways contribute to stress signaling. Front Plant Sci 7:1–10
- Ding Z-T, Ma Q-P, Wang Y (2016) The differences between two tea varieties in their response to natural cold conditions. J Hortic Sci Biotechnol 91:506–513
- Divi UK, Krishna P (2009) Brassinosteroids confer stress tolerance. In: Hirt H (ed) Plant stress biology. Wiley-VCH Verlag, pp 119–135
- Divi UK, Krishna P (2010) Overexpression of the brassinosteroid biosynthetic gene *AtDWF4* in *Arabidopsis* deeds overcomes abscisic acid-induced inhibition of germination and increases cold tolerance in transgenic seedlings. J Plant Growth Regul 29:385–393
- Du H, Wu N, Fu J, Wang S, Li X, Xiao J, Xiong L (2012) A GH3 family member, OsGH3-2, modulates auxin and abscisic acid levels and differentially affects drought and cold tolerance in rice. J Exp Bot 63:6467–6480

- Du H, Liu H, Xiong L (2013a) Endogenous auxin and jasmonic acid levels are differentially modulated by abiotic stresses in rice. Front Plant Sci 4:397
- Du H, Wu N, Chang Y, Li X, Xiao J, Xiong L (2013b) Carotenoid deficiency impairs ABA and IAA biosynthesis and differentially affects drought and cold tolerance in rice. Plant Mol Biol 83:475–488
- Eremina M, Rozhon W, Poppenberger B (2016) Hormonal control of cold stress responses in plants. Cell Mol Life Sci 73:797–810
- Fahn A, Cutler D (1992) Xerophytes. Gebruder Borntraeger, Berlin
- Fowler S, Thomashow MF (2002) Arabidopsis transcriptome profiling indicates that multiple regulatory pathways are activated during cold acclimation in addition to the CBF cold response pathway. Plant Cell 14:1675–1690
- Fu J, Wu Y, Miao Y et al (2017) Improved cold tolerance in *Elymus nutans* by exogenous application of melatonin may involve ABA-dependent and ABA-independent pathways. Sci Rep 7:39865
- Gómez-Cadenas A, De Ollas C, Manzi M, Arbona V (2014) Phytohormonal crosstalk under abiotic stress. In: Tran L-SP, Pal S (eds) Phytohormones: A window to metabolism, signaling and biotechnological applications. Springer, New York, pp 289–321
- Gómez-Cadenas A, Vives V, Zandalinas SI, Manzi M, Sánchez-Pérez AM, Pérez-Clemente RM, Arbona V (2015) Abscisic acid: a versatile phytohormone in plant signaling and beyond. Curr Protein Pept Sci 16:413–434
- Grunwald C (1971) Effects of free sterols, steryl ester, and steryl glycoside on membrane permeability. Plant Physiol 48:653–655
- Ha S, Vankova R, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Shinozaki K, Tran L-SP (2012) Cytokinins: metabolism and function in plant adaptation to environmental stresses. Trends Plant Sci 17:172–179
- Hu Y, Jiang L, Wang F, Yu D (2013) Jasmonate regulates the INDUCER OF CBF EXPRESSION-C-REPEAT BINDING FACTOR/DRE BINDING FACTOR1 cascade and freezing tolerance in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Cell 25:2907–2924
- Huang B, Chu C-H, Chen S-L, Juan H-F, Chen Y-M (2006) A proteomic study of the mung bean epicotyl regulated by brassinosteroids under conditions of chilling stress. Cell Mol Biol Lett 11:264–278
- Janda T, Majláth I, Szalai G (2014) Interaction of temperature and light in the development of freezing tolerance in plants. J Plant Growth Regul 33:460–469
- Janowiak F, Maas B, Dörffling K (2002) Importance of abscisic acid for chilling tolerance of maize seedlings. J Plant Physiol 159:635–643
- Jeon J, Kim NY, Kim S et al (2010) A subset of cytokinin two-component signaling system plays a role in cold temperature stress response in *Arabidopsis*. J Biol Chem 285:23371–23386
- Jeon J, Cho C, Lee MR, Van Binh N, Kim J (2016) CYTOKININ RESPONSE FACTOR2 (CRF2) and CRF3 regulate lateral root development and response to cold stress in *Arabidopsis*. The Plant Cell 28:tpc.00909.2015
- Kalapos B, Dobrev P, Nagy T, Vítámvás P, Györgyey J, Kocsy G, Marincs F, Galiba G (2016) Transcript and hormone analyses reveal the involvement of ABA-signalling, hormone crosstalk and genotype-specific biological processes in cold-shock response in wheat. Plant Sci 253:86– 97
- Kaur T, Bhat HA, Bhat R, Kumar A (2015) Physio-chemical and antioxidant profiling of Salvia sclarea L. at different climates in north-western Himalayas. Acta Physiol Plant 37:1–10
- Kazan K (2015) Diverse roles of jasmonates and ethylene in abiotic stress tolerance. Trends Plant Sci 1:1-11
- Kidokoro S, Yoneda K, Takasaki H, Takahashi F, Shinozaki K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K (2017) Different cold-signaling pathways function in the responses to rapid and gradual decreases in temperature. The Plant Cell tpc.00669.2016
- Kim J (2016) CYTOKININ RESPONSE FACTORs gating environmental signals and hormones. Trends Plant Sci 21:993–996

- Knight H, Zarka DG, Okamoto H, Thomashow MF, Knight MR (2004) Abscisic acid induces CBF gene transcription and subsequent induction of cold-regulated genes via the CRT promoter element. Plant Physiol 135:1710–1717
- Kosová K, Prásil IT, Vítámvás P et al (2012) Complex phytohormone responses during the cold acclimation of two wheat cultivars differing in cold tolerance, winter Samanta and spring Sandra. J Plant Physiol 169:567–576
- Kratsch HA, Wise RR (2000) The ultrastructure of chilling stress. Plant, Cell Environ 23:337-350
- Kumar A, Abrol E, Koul S, Vyas D (2012) Seasonal low temperature plays an important role in increasing metabolic content of secondary metabolites in *Withania somnifera* (L.) Dunal and affects the time of harvesting. Acta Physiol Plant 34:2027–2031
- Kurepin LV, Dahal KP, Savitch LV, Singh J, Bode R, Ivanov AG, Hurry V, Hüner NPA (2013) Role of CBFs as integrators of chloroplast redox, phytochrome and plant hormone signaling during cold acclimation. Int J Mol Sci 14:12729–12763
- Lado J, Manzi M, Sainz MM, Sotelo M, Zacarías L (2016) Involvement of plant hormones in cold stress tolerance. In: Ahammed GJ, Yu J-Q (eds) Plant hormones under challenging environmental factors. Springer Science + Business Media, Dordrecht, pp 23–49
- Lee B, Henderson DA, Zhu J (2005) The *Arabidopsis* cold-responsive transcriptome and its regulation by ICE1. Plant Cell 17:3155–3175
- Li X, Cai J, Liu F, Dai T, Cao W, Jiang D (2014) Exogenous abscisic acid application during grain filling in winter wheat improves cold tolerance of offspring's seedlings. J Agron Crop Sci 200:467–478
- Li Q, Lei S, Du K, Li L, Pang X, Wang Z, Wei M, Fu S, Hu L, Xu L (2016) RNA-seq based transcriptomic analysis uncovers α-linolenic acid and jasmonic acid biosynthesis pathways respond to cold acclimation in *Camellia japonica*. Sci Reports 6:36463
- Li H, Chang J, Zheng J, Dong Y, Liu Q, Yang X, Wei C, Zhang Y, Ma J, Zhang X (2017) Local melatonin application induces cold tolerance in distant organs of *Citrullus lanatus* L. via long distance transport. Scientific Rep 7:40858
- Lianopoulou V, Bosabalidis AM (2014) Traits of seasonal dimorphism associated with adaptation to cold stress in *Origanum dictamnus* L. (Lamiaceae). J Biological Res (Greece) 21:1–9
- Lianopoulou V, Bosabalidis AM, Panteris E (2014a) Effects of chilling stress on leaf morphology, anatomy, ultrastructure, gas exchange, and essential oils in the seasonally dimorphic plant *Teucrium polium* (Lamiaceae). Acta Physiol Plant 36:2271–2281
- Lianopoulou V, Patakas A, Bosabalidis AM (2014b) Seasonal dimorphism and winter chilling stress in *Thymus sibthorpii*. Biol Plant 58:139–146
- Liu Y, Jiang H, Zhao Z, An L (2011) Abscisic acid is involved in brassinosteroids-induced chilling tolerance in the suspension cultured cells from *Chorispora bungeana*. J Plant Physiol 168:853– 862
- Maruyama K, Urano K, Yoshiwara K et al (2014) Integrated analysis of the effects of cold and dehydration on rice metabolites, phytohormones, and gene transcripts. Plant Physiol 164:1759– 1771
- Merchante C, Alonso JM, Stepanova AN (2013) Ethylene signaling: Simple ligand, complex regulation. Curr Opin Plant Biol 16:554–560
- Mir BA, Mir SA, Khazir J, Tonfack LB, Cowan DA, Vyas D, Koul S (2015) Cold stress affects antioxidative response and accumulation of medicinally important withanolides in *Withania somnifera* (L.) Dunal. Ind Crops Prod 74:1008–1016
- Mishra MK, Chaturvedi P, Singh R, Singh G, Sharma LK, Pandey V, Kumari N, Misra P (2013) Overexpression of WsSGTL1 gene of Withania somnifera enhances salt tolerance, heat tolerance and cold acclimation ability in transgenic Arabidopsis plants. PLoS ONE 8:e63064
- Mizoi J, Shinozaki K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K (2012) AP2/ERF family transcription factors in plant abiotic stress responses. Biochem Biophys Acta 1819:86–96
- Nakashima K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Shinozaki K (2014) The transcriptional regulatory network in the drought response and its crosstalk in abiotic stress responses including drought, cold, and heat. Front Plant Sci 5:1–7

- Nemhauser JL, Hong F, Chory J (2006) Different plant hormones regulate similar processes through largely nonoverlapping transcriptional responses. Cell 126:467–475
- Nosenko T, Böndel KB, Kumpfmüller G, Stephan W (2016) Adaptation to low temperatures in the wild tomato species *Solanum chilense*. Mol Ecol 25:2853–2869
- Nourimand M, Mohsenzadeh S, Teixeira JA (2012) Physiological responses of fennel seedling to four environmental stresses. Iran J Sci Technol A1:37–46
- Palta JP, Whitaker BD, Weiss LS (1993) Plasma membrane lipids associated with genetic variability in freezing tolerance and cold acclimation of Solanum species. Plant Physiol 103:793–803
- Peleg Z, Blumwald E (2011) Hormone balance and abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants. Curr Opin Plant Biol 14:290–295
- Pociecha E, Dziurka M, Waligórski P, Krępski T, Janeczko A (2017) 24-Epibrassinolide pre-treatment modifies cold-induced photosynthetic acclimation mechanisms and phytohormone response of perennial ryegrass in cultivar-dependent manner. J Plant Growth Regul 36:618–628
- Rahman A (2013) Auxin: a regulator of cold stress response. Physiol Plant 147:28-35
- Ruelland E, Vaultier MN, Zachowski A, Hurry V (2009) Cold signalling and cold acclimation in plants, 1st edn. Adv Bot Res. doi:10.1016/S0065-2296(08)00602-2
- Saema S, Ruchi R, Abhishek S (2016) Ectopic overexpression of *WsSGTL1*, a sterol glucosyltransferase gene in *Withania somnifera*, promotes growth, enhances glycowithanolide and provides tolerance to abiotic and biotic stresses. Plant Cell Rep 35:195–211
- Saha G, Park J-I, Jung H-J, Ahmed NU, Kayum MA, Kang J-G, Nou I-S (2015) Molecular characterization of BZR transcription factor family and abiotic stress induced expression profiling in *Brassica rapa*. Plant Physiol Biochem 92:92–104
- Saijo Y, Hata S, Kyozuka J, Shimamoto K, Izui K (2000) Overexpression of a single Ca2+dependent protein kinase confers both cold and salt/drought tolerance on rice plants. Plant J 23:319–327
- Sevillano L, Sanchez-Ballesta MT, Romojaro F, Flores FB (2009) Physiological, hormonal and molecular mechanisms regulating chilling injury in horticultural species. Postharvest technologies applied to reduce its impact. J Sci Food Agric 89:555–573
- Shi Y, Tian S, Hou L, Huang X, Zhang X, Guo H, Yang S (2012) Ethylene signaling negatively regulates freezing tolerance by repressing expression of *CBF* and type-A *ARR* genes in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Cell 24:2578–2595
- Shi Y, Ding Y, Yang S (2014) Cold signal transduction and its interplay with phytohormones during cold acclimation. Plant Cell Physiol 56:7–15
- Shibasaki K, Uemura M, Tsurumi S, Rahman A (2009) Auxin response in Arabidopsis under cold stress: underlying molecular mechanisms. Plant Cell 21:3823–3838
- Shinozaki K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Seki M (2003) Regulatory network of gene expression in the drought and cold stress responses. Curr Opin Plant Biol 6:410–417
- Šimášková M, O'Brien JA, Khan M et al (2015) Cytokinin response factors regulate PIN-FORMED auxin transporters. Nat Commun 6:8717
- Ullmann P, Ury A, Rimmele P, Benveniste P, Bouvier-Navé P (1993) UDP-glucose sterol ßd-glucosyltransferase, a plasma membrane-bound enzyme of plants: Enzymatic properties and lipid dependence. Biochimie 75:713–723
- Upchurch RG (2008) Fatty acid unsaturation, mobilization, and regulation in the response of plants to stress. Biotech Lett 30:967–977
- Valitova JN, Sulkarnayeva AG, Minibayeva FV (2016) Plant sterols: diversity, biosynthesis, and physiological functions. Biochemistry (Moscow) 81:819–834
- Vanková R, Kosová K, Dobrev P et al (2014) Dynamics of cold acclimation and complex phytohormone responses in *Triticum monococcum* lines G3116 and DV92 differing in vernalization and frost tolerance level. Environ Exp Bot 101:12–25
- Vishwakarma K, Upadhyay N, Kumar N et al (2017) Abscisic acid signaling and abiotic stress tolerance in plants: A review on current knowledge and future prospects. Front Plant Sci 8:161

- Wang GJ, Miao W, Wang JY, Ma DR, Li JQ, Chen WF (2013) Effects of exogenous abscisic acid on antioxidant system in weedy and cultivated rice with different chilling sensitivity under chilling stress. J Agron Crop Sci 199:200–208
- Wang H, Gong J, Su X, Li L, Pang X, Zhang Z (2017) MaCDPK7, a calcium-dependent protein kinase gene from banana is involved in fruit ripening and temperature stress responses. J Hortic Sci Biotechnol 316:1–11
- Xi Z, Wang Z, Fang Y, Hu Z, Hu Y, Deng M, Zhang Z (2013) Effects of 24-epibrassinolide on antioxidation defense and osmoregulation systems of young grapevines (V. vinifera L.) under chilling stress. J Plant Growth Regul 71:57–65
- Xiao B, Wang M, Liu L (2011) Effect of naturally low temperature stress on cold resistance of fennel varieties resource. Commun Comp Inf Sci 214:370–374
- Xiao X-H, Yang M, Sui J-L, Qi J-Y, Fang Y-J, Hu S-N, Tang C-R (2017) The calcium-dependent protein kinase (CDPK) and CDPK-related kinase gene families in *Hevea brasiliensis* comparison with five other plant species in structure, evolution, and expression. FEBS Open Bio 7:4–24
- Xin Z, Browse J (1998) *Eskimo1* mutants of *Arabidopsis* are constitutively freezing-tolerant. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 95:7799–7804
- Xiong L, Ishitani M, Lee H, Zhu JK (2001) The Arabidopsis *LOS5/ABA3* locus encodes a molybdenum cofactor sulfurase and modulates cold stress- and osmotic stress-responsive gene expression. Plant Cell 13:2063–2083
- Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Shinozaki K (2006) Transcriptional regulatory networks in cellular responses and tolerance to dehydration and cold stresses. Annu Rev Plant Biol 57:781–803
- Yang T, Chaudhuri S, Yang L, Du L, Poovaiah BW (2010) A calcium/calmodulin-regulated member of the receptor-like kinase family confers cold tolerance in plants. J Biol Chem 285:7119–7126
- Ye Y, Ding Y, Jiang Q, Wang F, Sun J, Zhu C (2017) The role of receptor-like protein kinases (RLKs) in abiotic stress response in plants. Plant Cell Rep 36:235–242
- Zhai Y, Shao S, Sha W, Zhao Y, Zhang J, Ren W (2017) Overexpression of soybean *GmERF9* enhances the tolerance to drought and cold in the transgenic tobacco. Plant Cell, Tissue Organ Cult 128:607–618
- Zhang Z, Huang R (2010) Enhanced tolerance to freezing in tobacco and tomato overexpressing transcription factor TERF2/LeERF2 is modulated by ethylene biosynthesis. Plant Mol Biol 73:241–249
- Zhang K, Han Y-T, Zhao F-L, Hu Y, Gao Y-R, Ma Y-F, Zheng Y, Wang Y-J, Wen Y-Q (2015) Genome-wide identification and expression analysis of the CDPK gene family in grape, vitis spp. BMC Plant Biol 15:164
- Zhao D, Shen L, Fan B, Yu M, Zheng Y, Lv S, Sheng J (2009) Ethylene and cold participate in the regulation of *LeCBF1* gene expression in postharvest tomato fruits. FEBS Lett 583:3329–3334
- Zhao ML, Wang JN, Shan W et al (2013) Induction of jasmonate signalling regulators MaMYC2s and their physical interactions with MaICE1 in methyl jasmonate-induced chilling tolerance in banana fruit. Plant, Cell Environ 36:30–51
- Zhao M, Liu W, Xia X, Wang T, Zhang W-H (2014) Cold acclimation-induced freezing tolerance of *Medicago truncatula* seedlings is negatively regulated by ethylene. Physiol Plant 152:115– 129
- Zhou MQ, Shen C, Wu LH, Tang KX, Lin J (2011) CBF-dependent signaling pathway: a key responder to low temperature stress in plants. Crit Rev Biotechnol 31:186–192
- Zhou M, Xu M, Wu L, Shen C, Ma H, Lin J (2014) *CbCBF* from *Capsella bursa-pastoris* enhances cold tolerance and restrains growth in *Nicotiana tabacum* by antagonizing with gibberellin and affecting cell cycle signaling. Plant Mol Biol 85:259–275
- Zhu J, Shi H, Lee B, Damsz B, Cheng S, Stirm V, Zhu J-K, Hasegawa PM, Bressan RA (2004) An Arabidopsis homeodomain transcription factor gene, HOS9, mediates cold tolerance through a CBF-independent pathway. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 101:9873–9878

- Zhu L, Deng X, Zou L, Li P, Wu J, Zhang D, Lin H (2017) Celastrol, produced by *Tripterygium* wilfordii Hook F. enhances defense response in cucumber seedlings against diverse environmental stresses. J Plant Biol 60:82–92
- Zwack PJ, De Clercq I, Howton TC et al (2016) Cytokinin response factor 6 represses cytokinin-associated genes during oxidative stress. Plant Physiol 172:1249–1258

The Impact of Drought Stress on the Quality of Spice and Medicinal Plants

Dirk Selmar, Maik Kleinwächter, Sara Abouzeid, Mahdi Yahyazadeh and Melanie Nowak

Abstract This review addresses the well known phenomenon that spice and medicinal plants grown under semi-arid conditions generally reveal significantly higher concentrations of relevant natural products than identical plants, which however are cultivated in moderate climates. Unfortunately, only limited information on this intriguing phenomenon is available. The corresponding data are compiled, the relevant aspects are outlined, and the metabolic background is presented. Based on these reflections, it becomes obvious that drought stress and the related metabolic changes are responsible for the higher natural product accumulation in plants grown in semi-arid regions. In principle, there are three causes: first, the effect might be a consequence of a reduced production of biomass in the stressed plants. Even without an enhancement of biosynthesis of natural products, their concentration on dry or fresh weight basis simply will be elevated. Secondly, the drought stress enhances the actual rate of biosynthesis of natural products due to a passive shift or thirdly, due to an active up-regulation of the enzymes involved in natural product biosynthesis. The latter both options are related to the strongly enhanced reduction status of the leaves exposed to drought stress. The over-reduction, which goes along with a strongly enhanced concentration of NADPH+H⁺, directly results in a passive increase of all processes consuming NADPH+H⁺, including the biosyntheses of highly reduced secondary plant products. Alternatively, the enzymes responsible for the biosynthesis of natural products could be actively up-regulated. The corresponding increment in NADPH+H⁺ consumption significantly contributes to the dissipation of the stress related surplus of energy and thus, is part of the machinery that prevents the generation of toxic oxygen radicals.

Keywords Drought stress · Secondary metabolites · Over-reduced state · Energy surplus · Medicinal plants

Institute of Plant Biology, TU Braunschweig, Mendelssohnstr. 4, 38106 Brunswick, Germany e-mail: d.selmar@tu-bs.de

M. Kleinwächter Repha GmbH Biologische Arzneimittel, Alt-Godshorn 87, 30855 Langenhagen, Germany

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

D. Selmar $(\boxtimes) \cdot S$. Abouzeid $\cdot M$. Yahyazadeh $\cdot M$. Nowak

M. Ghorbanpour and A. Varma (eds.), *Medicinal Plants and Environmental Challenges*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-68717-9_9

Introduction

One of the most stated assertions with respect to the main issue of this book undoubtedly is: "Aromatic and spice plants grown in semi-arid areas such as the Mediterranean regions generally are much more aromatic than identical plants of the same species, which however have been cultivated in moderate climates". Frequently, this well known phenomenon is explained by the trivial statement that plants grown in Southern Europe "... are exposed to much more sunlight, resulting in enhanced rates of biosynthesis". Indeed-at least on the first sight-such assertion appears to be consistent. However, sunlight is not at all a limiting factor for plant growth; even in Central Europe—especially, when the plants grow in open areas without any shade. Accordingly, they absorb much more light energy in the leaves than is required and utilized for photosynthetic CO₂-fixation (Wilhelm and Selmar 2011). Consequently, there must be another explanation for this phenomenon, which generally is stated to be a matter of common knowledge (Selmar and Kleinwächter 2013a). This chapter is aimed to illustrate this syndrome and to elucidate the corresponding scientific background. As a matter of fact, in this context we have to consider various levels of contemplation, which are treated consecutively.

We all are aware that—at least in the semi-arid and arid subtropics—high irradiation often is co-occurring with water deficiencies. In consequence, under these conditions, plants frequently suffer drought stress. Since stress related reactions extensively impact the entire metabolism, the synthesis and accumulation of secondary metabolites also should be affected. Whereas in the past these coherences have not been considered adequately, meanwhile this topic is well established (Kleinwächter and Selmar 2014, 2015).

The Concentration of Natural Products Frequently Is Enhanced in Drought Stressed Plants

It is well known that various environmental conditions, such as the temperature, the light regime, the nutrient supply, etc., strongly influence the synthesis and accumulation of secondary plant products (for review see, e.g., Gershenzon 1984; Falk et al. 2007; Das and Bhattacharya 2016). Consequently, much more severe environmental influences, such as typical stress situations, which are known to strongly impact on the entire general metabolism (Sampaio et al. 2016; Bohnert et al. 1995), also must alter the secondary metabolism. By now, a tremendous lot of information on the impact of various biological stresses, e.g., pathogen or herbivore attack, on elicitation of the synthesis of natural products is available (for review see, e.g., Harborne 1988; Hahlbrock et al. 2003; Hartmann 2007; Namdeo 2007; Wink 2010). Further on, many papers deal with the impact of abiotic stresses on the secondary metabolism; nonetheless the knowledge about the related biological

background is still limited (for review see, e.g., Ramakrishna and Ravishankar 2011; Selmar and Kleinwächter 2013a, b; Kleinwächter and Selmar 2014).

Meanwhile, a large number of studies manifested that plants exposed to drought stress indeed accumulate higher concentrations of secondary metabolites than those cultivated under well watered conditions (Table 1). Obviously, the drought stress related enhancement in the concentration is a common feature, which concerns all different classes of natural products. Corresponding increases are reported for simple as well as for complex phenols, and also for the various classes of terpenes (Table 1). In the same manner, the concentrations of nitrogen containing substances, such as alkaloids, cyanogenic glucosides, and glucosinolates, are also positively impacted by drought stress (Table 1). There is no doubt that drought stress consistently enhances the concentration of secondary plant products. However, in this context, we have to consider that the drought stressed plants generally are reduced in their growth. Accordingly, the stressed plants reveal a far lesser biomass than the well watered controls.Drought stress increases the concentration of natural products

Due to this reduced production of biomass—even without any enhancement in the rate of biosynthesis of natural products—their concentration on dry or fresh weight basis simply will be elevated. Corresponding explanations frequently are reported in the literature for review see Kleinwächter and Selmar (2014). As most of the related studies focus on the concentration of active compounds and do not consider the overall plant production, very often data on the overall biomass per plant are lacking. A further reason for this deficit of information might be due to the fact that mostly only one certain plant part or plant organ was studied, e.g., roots, leaves, or seeds. Nonetheless, in few papers the total contents of secondary plant products per entire plants are given or could be calculated from the data published.

The Overall Amount of Natural Products Is Increased by Drought Stressed

In sage (*Salvia officinalis*) drought stress results in a massive increase in the concentration of monoterpenes (Nowak et al. 2010). As this enhancement is far higher than the corresponding reduction in biomass, the entire amount of monoterpenes present in the sage plants suffering drought stress is significantly higher than in the well watered controls. In consequence, in this particular case, the actual biosynthesis of monoterpenes is increased in response to drought stress. Corresponding experiments with parsley (*Petroselinum crispum*) revealed that the drought stress related concentration enhancement of monoterpenes in the leaves is more or less completely compensated by the accompanied loss in biomass. Thus, the overall contents of essential oils are quite similar in drought stressed and in well watered plants (Petropoulos et al. 2008). Corresponding results for Greek oregano (*Origanum vulgare*) have been elaborated by Ninou et al. 2017, which showed that the overall content of essential oils per plant remained constant although the

Simple Phenols			
Helianthus annuus	chlorogenic acid	massive increase (tenfold)	del Moral 1972
Prunus persica	total phenols	higher contents	Kubota et al. 1988
Thymus capitatus	phenolics	higher contents	Delitala et al. 1986
Echinacea purpurea	total phenols	strong increase (67 %)	Gray et al. 2003
Crataegus spp.	chlorogenic acid	massive increase (2 - 6fold)	Kirakosyan et al. 2004
Hypericum brasiliense	total phenols	strong increase (over 80 %)	de Abreu & Mazzafera 2005
Trachyspermum ammi	total phenols	strong increase (100 %)	Azhar et al. 2011
Labisia pumila	total phenols	significant increase (50 %)	Jaafar et al. 2012
Complex Phenols			
Pisum sativum	flavonoids	strong increase (45%)	Nogués et al. 1998
Pisum sativum	anthocyanins	strong increase (over 80 %)	Nogués et al. 1998
Crataegus spp.	catechins / epicatechins	massive increase (2 - 12fold)	Kirakosyan et al. 2004
Hypericum brasiliense	rutine / quercetin	massive increase (fourfold)	de Abreu & Mazzafera 2005
Hypericum brasiliense	xanthones	strong increase (over 80%)	de Abreu & Mazzafera 2005
Camellia sinensis	epicathecins	higher contents	Hernández et al. 2006
Salvia miltiorrhiza	furoquinones	significant increase	Liu et al. 2011
Prunella vulgaris	rosmarinic acid	slight increase	Chen et al. 2011
Labisia pumila	anthocyane / flavonoids	significant increase	Jaafar et al. 2012
Monoterpenes / Essential Oils			
Mentha x piperita ssp.	essential oils	significant increase	Charles et al. 1990
Cymbopogon pendulus	geraniol & citral	strong increase	Singh-Sangwan et al. 1994
Pinus halepensis	α-pinen, carene	strong increase	Llusià & Penuelas, 1998
Cistus monospeliensis	caryophyllene	enormous increase	Llusià & Penuelas, 1998
Satureja hortensis	essential oils	increase	Baher et al. 2002
Picea abies	monoterpenes	strong increase	Turtola et al. 2003
Pinus silvestris	monoterpenes	strong increase	Turtola et al. 2003
Petroselinum crispum	essential oils	strong increase (double)	Petropoulos et al. 2008

Table 1 Drought stress increases the concentration of natural products

(continued)

Salvia officinalis	essential oils	massive increase (2 - 4fold)	Beattaieb et al. 2009
Salvia officinalis	monoterpenes	strong increase	Nowak et al. 2010
Scrophularia ningpoen.	iridoid glycosides	increase	Wang et al. 2010
Nepeta cataria	essential oils	significant increase	Manukyan, 2011
Ocimum basilicum	essential oils	significant increase	Forouzandeh et al. 2012
Thymus vulgaris	monoterpenes	increase	Kleinwächter et al. 2015
Petrosilinum crispum	essential oils	massive increase	Kleinwächter et al. 2015
Origanum vulgare	essential oils	increase	Ninou et al. 2017
Origanum vulgare			
subsp. gracile	essential oils	significant increase	Morshedloo et al. 2017
subsp. virens	essential oils	no significant increase	Morshedloo et al. 2017
Di- and Triterpenes			
Solanum tuberosum	steroid alkaloids	strong increase	Bejarano et al. 2000
Hypericum brasiliense	betulinic acid	strong increase	de Abreu et al. 2005
Bupleurum chinense	saikosaponin	significant increase	Zhu et al. 2009
Prunella vulgaris	triterpenes	slight increase	Chen et al. 2011
Glycyrrhiza glabra	glycyrrhizinc	massive increase	Nasrollahi et al. 2014
Alkaloids		·	
Senecio longilobus	pyrrolizidine alkaloids	strong increase	Briske & Camp, 1982
Lupinus angustifolius	quinolizidin alkaloids	strong increase	Christiansen et al. 1997
Solanum tuberosum	steroid alkaloids	strong increase	Bejarano et al. 2000
Glycine max	trigonelline	higher contents	Cho et al. 2003
Papaver somniferum	morphine alkaloids	strong increase	Szabó et al. 2003
Catharanthus roseus	indole alkaloids	strong increase	Jaleel et al. 2007
Phellodendron amurense	benzylisoquinolines	strong increase	Xia et al. 2007
Senecio jacobaea	pyrrolizidine alkaloids	massive increase	Kirk et al. 2010
Nicotiana tabacum	Nicotiana-alkaloids	strong increase	Çakir & Çebi, 2010
Chelidonium majus	benzylisoquinolines	increase	Kleinwächter et al. 2015
Various Classes			
Manihot esculenta	cyanogenic glucosides	strong increase	de Bruijn, 1973
Triglochin maritima	cyanogenic glucosides	strong increase	Majak et al. 1980

(continued)

Brassica napus	glucosinolates	massive increase	Jensen et al. 1996
Coffea arabica	γ-aminobutyric acid	massive increase (tenfold)	Bytof et al. 2005
Brassica oleracea	glucosinolates	significant increase	Radovich et al. 2005
Brassica carinata	glucosinolates	significant increase	Schreiner et al. 2009
Phaseolus lunatus	cyanogenic glucosides	higher content in stressed plants	Ballhorn et al. 2011
Tropaeolum majus	glucotropaeolin	higher content in stressed plants	Bloem et al. 2014

Table 1 (continued)

concentrations significantly increased. On the first sight, it seems that in these cases no change in the rate of monoterpene biosynthesis occurs. However, if we consider that the equal amount of monoterpenes is produced by a far lower biomass, it becomes obvious that the biosynthetic activity per dry weight must strongly be elevated. This problem to use an appropriate reference value was exemplarily outlined for the stress related increase of monoterpenes in thyme (Paulsen and Selmar 2016). As already mentioned for parsley, also in drought stressed thyme plants a lower gain of biomass seemed to be responsible for the increase in monoterpene concentration. Accordingly, no change in the total content of monoterpenes and thus in their overall biosynthesis could be pointed out. However, a detailed and thorough consideration revealed that the rate of biosynthesis on dry weight basis was indeed different in stressed and well watered plants. Whereas the biosynthetic activity (on dry weight basis) in the first phase of the experiment was much higher in the stressed plants in comparison to the well watered controls, the situation was reverse, when the stress situation was prolonged (Paulsen and Selmar 2016). For clarification, this complex situation—with special emphasis on the importance of the employment of appropriate reference values-is displayed in Fig. 1. These intricate coherences suggest that-over the course of time-an adaption to the drought stress occurred, which finally leads to a reduction of the formerly enhanced rate of biosynthesis. Unfortunately, due to the large efforts required, these multifactorial coherences cannot be studied and considered adequately in routinely investigations. Consequently, the interest and aim of a certain study determine the focus on appropriate reference values, such as concentration, total amount, overall production, or composition.

Similar situations have been observed with respect to phenolic compounds. In *Hypericum brasiliense* plants, both, concentration and the total amount of the phenolic compounds, are drastically enhanced under drought stress (de Abreu and Mazzafera 2005). Although the stressed *H. brasiliense* plants were quite smaller than the well watered controls, due to their tremendous increase in the concentration of phenolic compounds, their overall content (product of biomass and concentration) was significantly higher in the stressed plants (de Abreu and Mazzafera 2005). In the same manner, the overall amount of anthocyanins was about 25% higher in stressed peas (*Pisum sativum*) than in plants cultivated under standard conditions



Fig. 1 Juxtaposition of the relevant parameters in well-watered and drought stressed thyme plants. The comparison of biomass (**a**), concentration of terpenes (**b**), total amounts of terpenes (**c**) and rates of bio-synthesis of terpenes (**d**) in drought stress thyme (Paulsen and Selmar 2016) illustrates the complex problematic of choosing the correct reference value as well the multilayered metabolic processes that change in the course of the prolongation of the stress situation

(Nogués et al. 1998). Jaafar et al. (2012) reported that in *Labisia pumila* plants not only the concentration, but also the overall production of total phenolics and flavonoids per plant was increased in plants suffering drought stress.

Unfortunately, nearly all of the studies dealing with the impact of drought stress on nitrogen containing natural products focus just on the concentrations of these compounds in certain organs. In most of the cases no data on the biomass and thus on the total amount of natural products per entire plant are available. Kleinwächter et al. (2015) demonstrated that the stress related increase in the concentration of coptisine is overcompensated by the strongly reduced gain in biomass of the stressed plants, resulting in significant lower overall alkaloid content in the stress plants. Up to now, no conclusion about the impact of drought stress on the biosynthesis of these natural products could be drawn.

In summary: in nearly all plants analyzed, the concentrations of secondary plant products are significantly elevated under drought stress conditions. Unfortunately, only in few cases, also a corresponding increase of the total content of the natural compounds per plant is reported. This could be either due to the lack of data on the biomass of the corresponding plants, or to the fact that the stress related decrease in biomass frequently overcompensates the increase in the concentration of relevant natural products.

Metabolic Background

Due to our recurring experience in daily life, we all have internalized that energy saving represents one of the most important issues in our subsistence. Indeed-on the first sight-it seems reasonable to transfer such statements and considerations also into plant biology. However, when beholding more closely, it becomes obvious that-in contrast to heterotrophic organisms-plants have no problem to cover their energy requirements. By contrast, in general, they absorb much more energy than being required for photosynthetic CO₂-fixation (Wilhelm and Selmar 2011). This basic statement easily can be deduced from a fact we all are familiar with: elevation of ambient CO₂ concentration results in a massive enhancement of photosynthesis-the corresponding rate of photosynthesis easily could be doubled or even tripled (Wilhelm and Selmar 2011). This however means that the tremendous oversupply of energy has to be dissipated in order to avoid massive damages by oxygen radicals, which otherwise would be generated by an overflow of the electron transport chain (Reddy et al. 2004; Szabó et al. 2005). During evolution, plants have developed various mechanisms for effective energy dissipation, i.e., non-photochemical quenching, photorespiration, or xanthophyll cycle (Fig. 2). Indeed, this protecting system operates properly under regular environmental conditions, however, any stress situation induces massive imbalances. This especially accounts for the drought stress. Water shortage induces stomata closure, which massively diminishes the CO₂-influx into the leaves. In consequence, far less reduction equivalents (NADPH+H⁺) are consumed and re-oxidized, respectively via the Calvin cycle. Although the various energy dissipating mechanisms are up-regulated, the reduction status of the chloroplasts increases massively (Selmar and Kleinwächter 2013a, b; Kleinwächter and Selmar 2015). As result, electrons from the photosynthetic electron transport chain will directly be conveyed to oxygen, generating superoxide radicals, which subsequently have to be detoxified by superoxide dismutase (SOD) and ascorbate peroxidase (APX). As a further consequence of this over-reduction, the ratio of NADPH+H⁺ to NADP⁺ is strongly enhanced. According to the law of mass action, all processes consuming NADPH +H⁺, e.g. for the biosyntheses of highly reduced secondary plant products, such as isoprenoids, phenols or alkaloids (Selmar and Kleinwächter 2013b; Kleinwächter and Selmar 2015) will be favoured even without changing any enzyme activity (Fig. 2). These straightforward coherences easily but conclusively explain why the rate of biosynthesis of certain natural products might be enhanced under stress conditions although the corresponding enzyme activities had not been changed at all.

Alternatively, to the increase in natural product biosynthesis due to the passive shift mentioned above, the biosynthesis might also be elevated by a stress related up-regulation of the corresponding enzymes. Unfortunately, up to now, only limited data are available on this very interesting issue. In contrast to the tremendous lot of information dealing with the impact of biological stress (e.g., pathogen or herbivore attack) on the expression of enzymes involved in natural product biosynthesis, only



Fig. 2 Drought stress induced metabolic changes. The model scheme according to Kleinwächter and Selmar (2014) outlines the coherences between drought the stress induced increase in reduction status and the enhancement of natural product biosynthesis

very few analogous investigations with respect to drought stress have been performed. Moreover, we have to consider that plants with different genotypes might behave differentially under drought stress. In this context two native subspecies of *Origanum vulgare* (*subsp. virens and subsp. gracile*) were studied under drought stress. It turned out that the subspecies exhibited significant differences in essential oil content, compositions, and patterns of gene expression under drought stress conditions (Morshedloo et al. 2017).

Just recently, expression studies on monoterpene synthases (Radwan et al. 2017) demonstrated that the stress related enhancement of monoterpenes in sage is not only due to a passive shift as outlined above, but might also be caused-at least in part-by an elevated expression of the enzymes responsible for the biosynthesis of the essential oils. In the same manner, the stress induced increase in the glycyrrhizin concentration in Glycyrrhiza glabra is accompanied by an up-regulation of genes encoding the major enzymes responsible for the triterpenoid biosynthesis (Nasrollahi et al. 2014). Using semi-quantitative RT-PCR assays the authors showed that the expression of the genes encoding a squalene synthase and a ßamyrin synthase is enhanced under drought stress. There is a massive need for further research in order to elucidate, whether or not these findings represent a quite general issue. If however, forthcoming studies will confirm that such stress related up-regulation of genes responsible for natural product biosynthesis will occur frequently, the question on the biological significance of this effect will arise. In general, the interaction with pathogens or herbivores should not be affected by drought. Accordingly, apart from this coherency, there has to be a different and additional relevance for the observed up-regulation of terpene biosynthesis. In this context, the strong isoprene emission of numerous plants (e.g., Fall 1999; Sharkey and Yeh 2001) attracts special attention: under standard conditions the isoprene emission is neglectable and the energy consumption for its biosynthesis accounts for less than 1% of the entire photosynthetic energy. However, isoprene synthesis and emission increases drastically, when the plants suffer stress. Magel et al. (2006) outlined that at elevated temperatures, the amount of energy dissipated by the strongly enhanced isoprene emission might rise up to 25% of the energy used for net photosynthesis. From these coherences it could be deduced that the energy demand and the re-oxidation of reduction of NADPH+H⁺ for the biosynthesis of the isoprene contribute significantly to the dissipation of the excess of photosynthetic energy. Moreover the emission of isoprene will cool down the stressed leaves as well (Behnke et al. 2007). Hence an increase in the biosynthesis of highly reduced natural products seems to be necessary to enhance the amount of energy dissipation, which strongly has to be elevated under stress conditions.

We have to realize that—apart from all the well established ecological functions —the drought stress related increase in the biosynthesis of highly reduced natural products might also have a relevance as an additional mechanism for energy dissipation (Grace and Logan 2000; Wilhelm and Selmar 2011).

It is a matter of fact that drought stress generally has to be filed as negative factor, being responsible for severe yield losses in agriculture. With respect to spice and medicinal plants, however, the situation seems to be different. Since the content

of active natural products determines the quality of the plant derived commodities, any approaches to increase this quality could be favourable. Based on the novel insights displayed in this review, we have to recognize that the concentration of natural products and thus the product quality of spice and medicinal plants could be enhanced by deliberately applying moderate drought stress during their cultivation. However, as drought stress also reduces the biomass production, special emphasis has to be put on the interference of these two stress related effects and the decision what is required, a high quality, i.e. high concentrations of relevant compounds or a high yield, i.e. a large amount of these compounds.

Case Study: Change in the Composition of Indole Alkaloids by Stress

Apart from the desired high concentrations of active compounds also their chemical composition influences the quality of spices and medicinal plants. Up to now-with special emphasis on the impact of drought stress-only limited data on this issue are available. To display the tremendous possibilities in modulating the composition of active compounds of certain medicinal plants, a model experiment with lesser periwinkle (Vinca minor) was performed. In order to preferably perceive the most distinctive effects, not a real drought situation was applied, but the stress situation was mimicked by spraying of methyl jasmonic acid (MeJA). MeJA and jasmonic acid, respectively are potent regulators of genes involved in cell growth and in most biotic and abiotic stress responses, including drought stress (Turner et al. 2002; Kazan and Manners 2008) and, moreover these growth regulators promote senescence (Cree and Mullet 1997). Accordingly, a treatment with MeJA should promote most severe and comprising stress situations that also impact secondary metabolism (Kim et al. 2006; Bloem et al. 2014; Kleinwächter et al. 2015). A corresponding approach using *Catharanthus roseus* revealed that the content and the composition of indole alkaloids strongly were affected by MeJA application (Aerts et al. 1994).

The indole alkaloids extracted from the leaves of *V. minor* were analyzed by HPLC-DAD. Although a certain difference in the alkaloid pattern of well watered control and stressed plants had been predicted, the outcome of this experiment was surprising and unexpected (Abouzeid et al. 2017). Whereas the alkaloid spectrum of the control plants was in accordance with the literature (Proksa and Grossmann, 1991; D'Amelio et al. 2012), and vincamine (B) and vincadifformine (D) had been identified as major components, the alkaloid composition of the MeJA treated plants was drastically different (Fig. 3). As response to the MeJA treatment, the concentration of vincamine and vincadifformine was strongly decreased whereas two other alkaloids (A and C) massively increased in their concentration. It can be assumed that vincamine and vincadifformine are converted to the two other, so far unidentified alkaloids. To verify this assumption, the structures as well as the



Fig. 3 Drought stress induced changes in the indole alkaloid spectrum of *V. minor*. HPLC chromatograms of the alkaloids extracted from leaves of *V. minor* according to Abouzeid et al. (2017). The upper graph shows the pattern of indole alkaloids extracted from the well watered controls, the lower one corresponds to those from *V. minor* plants which have been treated with MeJA fraction. Details of the treatment are outlined by Abouzeid et al. (2017). The identification and structure elucidation, respectively, of the A and C, whose concentrations are tremendously enhanced in the plants treated with MeJA, is under way

enzymes putatively responsible for such conversion must be identified. Right now, these compounds were highly purified to ensure the required NMR studies for their characterization and structure elucidation.

This example vividly displays that stress not only induces quantitative changes in natural product biosynthesis but also may alter the composition of the relevant substances. Much more research is required to elucidate the molecular coherences of this fascinating issue.

Conclusion

Apart from the tremendous negative effects of drought situations on growth and development, the corresponding stress situations frequently lead to an increase in the concentration of natural products. In principle, there are three possibilities to explain this enhancement (Fig. 4). First, it could be the consequence of a reduced production of biomass in the stressed plants: when the rate of biosynthesis of natural products is not changed or only slightly reduced, their concentration on dry



Fig. 4 The impact of drought stress on natural product concentration. The scheme displays the three different causes, why the natural product concentration is enhanced in plants suffering drought stress

or fresh weight basis simply will be elevated. Alternatively, the drought stress enhances the actual rate of biosynthesis. This could be due either to a passive shift or an active up-regulation of the enzymes involved in natural product biosynthesis. Both options are related to the strongly enhanced reduction status of the leaves exposed to drought stress. In the first case (Fig. 4), the over-reduction, which goes along with a huge increase in concentration of NADPH+H⁺ and results - according to the law of mass action—in an acceleration of all processes consuming NADPH +H⁺, including the biosyntheses of highly reduced secondary plant products, such as isoprenoids, phenols or alkaloids. In the second case, the enzymes responsible for the biosynthesis of natural products are actively up-regulated. The corresponding increment in NADPH+H⁺ consumption significantly contributes to the dissipation of the stress related surplus of energy contributes to prevent the generation of toxic oxygen radicals (Fig. 2).

References

- Abouzeid S, Beutling U, Surup F, Abdel-Bar FM, Amer MM, Badria FA, Yahyazadeh M, Brönstrup M, Selmar D (2017) Treatment of *Vinca minor* leaves with methyl jasmonate extensively alters the pattern and composition of indole alkaloids. In press: J Nat Prod
- Aerts RJ, Gisi D, de Carolis E, de Luca V, Baumann TW (1994) Methyl jasmonate vapor increases the developmentally controlled synthesis of alkaloids in *Catharanthus* and *Cinchona* seedlings. Plant J 5:635–643

- Azhar N, Hussain B, Ashraf YM, Abbasim KY (2011) Water stress mediated changes in growth, physiology and secondary metabolites of desi ajwain (*Trachyspermum ammi*). Paktanian J Bot 43(SI):15–19
- Baher ZF, Mirza M, Ghorbanli M, Rezaiim MB (2002) The influence of water stress on plant height, herbal and essential oil yield and composition in *Satureja hortensis* L. Flavour Fragr J 17:275–277
- Ballhorn DJ, Kautz S, Jensen M, Schmitt S, Heil M, Hegeman AD (2011) Genetic and environmental interactions determine plant defences against herbivores. J Ecol Chem 99: 313–326
- Behnke K, Ehlting B, Teuber M, Bauerfeind M, Louis S, Hänsch R, Polle A, Bohlmann J, Schnitzler JP (2007) Transgenic, non-isoprene emitting poplars don't like it hot. Plant J 51:485–499
- Bejarano L, Mignolet E, Devaux A, Espinola N, Carrasco E, Larondelle Y (2000) Glycoalkaloids in potato tubers: the effect of variety and drought stress on the α-solanine and α-chaconine contents of potatoes. J Sci Food Agric 80:2096–2100
- Bettaieb I, Zakhama N, Aidi Wannes W, Kchouk ME, Marzouk B (2009) Water deficit effects on *Salvia officinalis* fatty acids and essential oils composition. Sci Hortic 120:271–275
- Bloem E, Haneklaus S, Kleinwächter M, Paulsen J, Schnug E, Selmar D (2014) Stress-induced changes of bioactive compounds *inTropaeolum majus* L. Ind Crops Prod 60:349–359
- Bohnert HJ, Nelson DE, Jensen RG (1995) Adaptations to environmental stresses. Plant Cell 7:1099–1111
- Briske DD, Camp BJ (1982) Water stress increases alkaloid concentrations in threadleaf groundsel (*Senecio longilobus*). Weed Sci 30:106–108
- Bytof G, Knopp S-E, Schieberle P, Teutsch I, Selmar D (2005) Influence of processing on the generation of γ-aminobutyric acid in green coffee beans. Eur Food Res Tech 220:245–250
- Çakir R, Çebi U (2010) The effect of irrigation scheduling and water stress on the maturity and chemical composition of Virginia tobacco leaf. Field Crop Res 119:269–276
- Charles DJ, Joly RJ, Simon JE (1990) Effects of osmotic stress on the essential oil content and composition of peppermint. Phytochemistry 29:2837–2840
- Chen Y, Guo Q, Liu L, Liao L, Zaibiao Z (2011) Influence of fertilization and drought stress on the growth and production of secondary metabolites in *Prunella vulgaris* L. J Med Plant Res 5:1749–1755
- Cho Y, Njitiv N, Chen X, Lightfood DA, Wood AJ (2003) Trigonelline concentration in field-grown soybean in response to irrigation. Biol Plant 46:405–410
- Christiansen JL, Jørnsgard B, Buskov S, Olsen CE (1997) Effect of drought stress on content and composition of seed alkaloids in narrow-leafed lupin, *Lupinus angustifolius* L. Eur J Agron 7:307–314
- Cree RA, Mullet JE (1997) Biosynthesis and action of jasmonates in plants. Annu Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol 48:355–381
- D'Amelio Sr, FS, Mirhom YW, Williamson YW, Schulbaum PL, Krueger EB (2012) Comparative study of the alkaloids extracted from *Vinca minor* and those present in the homeopathic tincture 1X. Palnta medica 78:PF4
- Das S, Bhattacharya SS (2016) In: Siddiqui MW, Bansal V (eds) Plant secondary metabolites, volume 3: their roles in stress ecophysiology. Canada Apple Academic Press, Oakville, pp 1–38
- de Abreu IN, Mazzafera P (2005) Effect of water and temperature stress on the content of active constituents of *Hypericum brasiliense* Choisy. Plant Physiol Biochem 43:241–248
- de Bruijn GH (1973) The cyanogenic character of cassava (Manihot esculenta). In: Nestel B, MacIntyre R (eds) Chronic cassava toxicity. International Development Research Centre, Ottawa, pp 43–48
- Delitala I-F, Gessa C, Solinas V (1986) Water stress and flexibility of phenolic metabolism in *Thymus capitatus*. Fitoterapia 57:401–408
- del Moral R (1972) On the variability of chlorogenic acid concentration. Oecologia 9:289-300

- Falk KL, Tokuhisa JG, Gershenzon J (2007) The effect of sulfur nutrition on plant glucosinolate content: physiology and molecular mechanisms. Plant Biol 9:573–581
- Fall R (1999) Biogenic emissions of volatile organic compounds from higher plants. In: Hewitt CN (ed) Reactive hydrocarbons in the atmosphere. Academic Press, pp 41–95
- Forouzandeh M, Fanoudi M, Arazmjou E, Tabiei H (2012) Effect of drought stress and types of fertilizers on the quantity and quality of medicinal plant Basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.). Indian J Innov Dev 1:734–737
- Gershenzon J (1984) Changes in the levels of plant secondary metabolites under water and nutrient stress. Recent Adv Phytochem 18:273–320
- Grace SC, Logan BA (2000) Energy dissipation and radical scavenging by the plant phenylpropanoid pathway. Philos Trans B 355:1499–1510
- Gray DE, Pallardy SG, Garrett HE, Rottinghaus G (2003) Acute drought stress and plant age effects on alkamide and phenolic acid content in purple coneflower roots. Planta Med 69:50–55
- Hahlbrock K, Bednarek P, Ciolkowski I, Hamberger B, Heise A, Liedgens H, Logemann E, Nürnberger T, Schmelzer E, Somssich IE (2003) Non-self recognition, transcriptional reprogramming, and secondary metabolite accumulation during plant/pathogen interactions. Proceed Natl Acad Sci USA 100:14569–14576
- Harborne JB (1988) Introduction to ecological biochemistry, 3rd edn. Academic Press, London
- Hartmann T (2007) From waste products to ecochemicals: fifty years research of plant secondary metabolism. Phytochemistry 68:2831–2846
- Hernández I, Alegre L, Munné-Bosch S (2006) Enhanced oxidation of flavan-3-ols and proanthocyanidin accumulation in water-stressed tea plants. Phytochemistry 67:1120–1126
- Jaafar HZ, Ibrahim MH, Mohamad Fakri NF (2012) Impact of soil field water capacity on secondary metabolites, phenylalanine ammonia-lyase (PAL), maliondialdehyde (MDA) and photosynthetic responses of Malaysian kacip fatimah (*Labisia pumila* Benth). Molecules 17:7305–7322
- Jaleel CA, Manivannan P, Sankar B, Kishorekumar A, Gopi R, Somasundaram R, Panneerselvam R (2007) Induction of drought stress tolerance by ketoconazole in *Catharanthus roseus* is mediated by enhanced antioxidant potentials and secondary metabolite accumulation. Colloid Surf B 60:201–206
- Jensen CR, Mogensen VO, Mortensen G, Fieldsend JK, Milford GFJ, Andersen MN, Thage JH (1996) Seed glucosinolate, oil and protein contents of field-grown rape (*Brassica napus* L.) affected by soil drying and evaporative demand. Field Crops Research 47:93–105
- Kazan K, Manners JM (2008) Jasmonate Signaling: Toward an Integrated View. Plant Physiol 146:1459–1468
- Kim HJ, Chen F, Wang X, Rajapakse NC (2006) Effect of methyl jasmonate on secondary metabolites of sweet basil (*Ocimum basilicum L.*). J Agric Food Chem 54:2327–2332
- Kirakosyan A, Kaufman P, Warber S, Zick S, Aaronson K, Bolling S, Chang SC (2004) Applied environmental stresses to enhance the levels of polyphenolics in leaves of hawthorn plants. Physiolgia Plantarum 121:182–186
- Kirk H, Vrieling K, van der Meijden E, Klinkhamer PGL (2010) Species by environment interactions affect pyrrolizidine alkaloid expression in *Senecio jacobaea*, *Senecio aquaticus*, and their hybrids. J Chem Ecol 36:378–387
- Kleinwächter M, Selmar D (2014) Influencing the product quality by applying drought stress during the cultivation of medicinal Plants. In: Ahmad P, Wani MR (eds) Physiological mechanisms and adaptation strategies in plants under changing environment -volume 1. Springer, New York, pp 57–73
- Kleinwächter M, Selmar D (2015) New insights explain that drought stress enhances the quality of spice and medicinal plants: potential applications. Agron Sustain Dev 35:121–131
- Kleinwächter M, Paulsen J, Bloem E, Schnug E, Selmar D (2015) Moderate drought and signal transducer induced biosynthesis of relevant secondary metabolites in thyme (*Thymus vulgaris*), greater celandine (*Chelidonium majus*) and parsley (*Petroselinum crispum*). Ind Crops Prod 64:158–166

- Kubota N, Mimura H, Shimamura K (1988) The effects of drought and flooding on the phenolic compounds in peach fruits. Sci Rep Fac Agric, Okayama University 171:17–21
- Liu H, Wang X, Wang D, Zou Z, Lianga Z (2011) Effect of drought stress on growth and accumulation of active constituents in *Salvia miltiorrhiza* Bunge. Ind Crops Prod 33:84–88
- Llusià J, Peñuelas J (1998) Changes in terpene content and emission in potted Mediterranean woody plants under severe drought. Can J Bot 76:1366–1373
- Magel E, Mayrhofer S, Müller A, Zimmer I, Hampp R, Schnitzler JP (2006) Photosynthesis and substrate supply for isoprene biosynthesis in poplar leaves. Atmos Environ 40:138–151
- Majak W, McDiarmid RE, Hall JW, van Ryswyk AL (1980) Seasonal variation in the cyanide potential of arrowgrass (*Triglochin maritima*). Can J Plant Sci 60:1235–1241
- Manukyan A (2011) Effect of growing factors on productivity and quality of lemon catmint, lemon balm and sage under soilless greenhouse production: I. drought stress. Medicinal and aromatic plant science and biotechnology 5:119–125
- Morshedloo MR, Craker Lyle E, Salami A, Nazeri V, Sang H, Maggi F (2017) Effect of prolonged water stress on essential oil content, compositions and gene expression patterns of mono- and sesquiterpene synthesis in two oregano (*Origanum vulgare* L.) subspecies. Plant Physiol Biochem 111:119–128
- Namdeo AG (2007) Plant cell elicitation for production of secondary metabolites: a review. Pharmacogn Rev 1:69–79
- Nasrollahi V, Mirzaie-asl A, Piri K, Nazeri S, Mehrabi R (2014) The effect of drought stress on the expression of key genes involved in the biosynthesis of triterpenoid saponins in liquorice (*Glycyrrhiza glabra*). Phytochemistry 103:32–37
- Ninou E, Paschalidis K, Mylonas I (2017) Essential oil responses to water stress in greek oregano populations. J Essent Oil Bear Plant 30:1–2
- Nogués S, Allen DJ, Morison JIL, Baker NR (1998) Ultraviolet-B radiation effects on water relations, leaf development, and photosynthesis in droughted pea plants. Plant Physiol 117:173–181
- Nowak M, Manderscheid R, Weigel H-J, Kleinwächter M, Selmar D (2010) Drought stress increases the accumulation of monoterpenes in sage (*Salvia officinalis*), an effect that is compensated by elevated carbon dioxide concentration. J Appl Bot Food Qual 83:133–136
- Paulsen J, Selmar D (2016) The difficulty of correct reference values when evaluating the effects of drought stress: a case study with *Thymus vulgaris*. J Appl Bot Food Qual 89:287–289
- Petropoulos SA, Daferera D, Polissiou MG, Passam HC (2008) The effect of water deficit stress on the growth, yield and composition of essential oils of parsley. Sci Hortic 115:393–397
- Proksa B, Grossmann E (1991) High performance liquid chromatographic determination of alkaloids from *Vinca minor* L. Phytochem Anal 2:74–76
- Radovich TJK, Kleinhenz MD, Streeter JG (2005) Irrigation timing relative to head development influences yield components, sugar levels, and glucosinolate concentrations in cabbage. J Am Soc Hortic Sci 130:943–949
- Radwan A, Kleinwächter M, Selmar D (2017) Impact of drought stress on specialised metabolism: biosynthesis and the expression of monoterpene synthases in sage (*Salvia officinalis*). Phytochem 141:20–26
- Ramakrishna A, Ravishankar GA (2011) Influence of abiotic stress signals on secondary metabolites in plants. Plant Signal Behav 6:1720–1731
- Reddy AR, Chaitanya KV, Vivekanandan M (2004) Drought-induced responses of photosynthesis and antioxidant metabolism in higher plants. J Plant Physiol 161(11):1189–1202
- Sampaio BL, Edrada-Ebel R, Da Costa FB (2016) Effect of the environment on the secondary metabolic profile of *Tithonia diversifolia*: a model for environmental metabolomics of plants. Sci Rep 6:29265
- Schreiner M, Beyene B, Krumbein A, Stützel H (2009) Ontogenetic changes of 2-propenyl and 3-indolylmethyl glucosinolates in *Brassica carinata* leaves as affected by water supply. J Sci Food Agric 57:7259–7263
- Selmar D, Kleinwächter M (2013a) Influencing the product quality by deliberately applying drought stress during the cultivation of medicinal plants. Ind Crop Prod 42:558–566

- Selmar D, Kleinwächter M (2013b) Stress enhances the synthesis of secondary plant products: the impact of the stress-related over-reduction on the accumulation of natural products. Plant Cell Physiol 54:817–826
- Sharkey TD, Yeh S (2001) Isoprene emission from plants. Annu Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol 52:407–436
- Singh-Sangwan N, Abad Farooqi AH, Sangwan RS (1994) Effect of drought stress on growth and essential oil metabolism in lemongrasses. New Phytol 128:173–179
- Szabó B, Tyihák E, Szabó LG, Botz L (2003) Mycotoxin and drought stress induced change of alkaloid content of *Papaver somniferum* plantlets. Acta Botanica Hungarica 45:409–417
- Szabó I, Bergantino E, Giocometti GM (2005) Light and oxygenic photosynthesis: energy dissipation as a protection mechanism against photo-oxidation. EMBO Rep 6:629–634
- Turner JG, Ellis C, Devoto A (2002) The jasmonate signal pathway. Plant Cell 14:153-164
- Turtola S, Manninen A-M, Rikala R, Kainulainen P (2003) Drought stress alters the concentration of wood terpenoids in Scots pine and Norway spruce seedlings. J Chem Ecol 29:1981–1995
- Wang DH, Du F, Liu HY, Liang ZS (2010) Drought stress increases iridoid glycosides biosynthesis in the roots of *Scrophularia ningpoensis* seedlings. J Med Plant Res 4:2691–2699
- Wilhelm C, Selmar D (2011) Energy dissipation is an essential mechanism to sustain the viability of plants: the physiological limits of improved photosynthesis. J Plant Physiol 168:79–87
- Wink M (2010) Introduction: biochemistry, physiology and ecological functions of secondary metabolites. In: Wink M (ed) Biochemistry of plant secondary metabolism. Wiley-Blackwell, pp 1–19
- Xia L, Yang W, Xiufeng Y (2007) Effects of water stress on berberine, jatrorrhizine and palmatine contents in amur corktree seedlings. Acta Ecol Sin 27:58–64
- Zhu Z, Liang Z, Han R, Wang X (2009) Impact of fertilization an drought response in the medicinal herb *Bupleurum chinense* DC.: Growth and saikosaponin production. Ind Crops Prod 29:629–663
Effect of Salinity Stress on Growth and Physiology of Medicinal Plants

Aditya Banerjee and Aryadeep Roychoudhury

Abstract Cultivation of medicinal plants has been economically beneficial for medicine and drug industries. These plants are storehouses of precious active principles which can be developed into a variety of drugs, some of which are life-saving. However, it is difficult to initiate large scale cultivation of these plants as most of the cultivable lands are dominantly used for the growth of essential food crops. The other non-cultivable lands are often affected with various kinds of abiotic stresses, salinity being the predominant amongst them. This chapter focuses upon the growth and physiology of different medicinal plants in response to salinity stress. We highlight the physiological processes as well as primary and secondary metabolism of medicinal plants during salt stress that will promote a global cultivation map for the medicinal plants under such challenging or hostile situations.

Keywords Medicinal plants · Salt stress · Physiology · Primary metabolites · Proteomic investigations • Secondary metabolites

Introduction

Salinity stress has been regarded as a worldwide limiting factor for agricultural production. About 20% of the global irrigated land is affected with high salt content, toxic enough for sustaining agriculture (Flowers and Yeo 1995). Salt stress tolerance in plants is induced by multilevel changes in molecular responses accompanied with alterations in the plant transcriptome, metabolome and proteome.

Since ancient times, India has been well known for being the storehouse of traditional medicinal knowledge. The ancient text of Ayurveda is completely based on herbal medicine effective in treating complex diseases which sometimes cannot be tackled with conventional medicines. As much as 25% of the total drugs in

A. Banerjee \cdot A. Roychoudhury (\boxtimes)

Post Graduate Department of Biotechnology, St. Xavier's College (Autonomous), 30, Mother Teresa Sarani, Kolkata 700016, West Bengal, India e-mail: aryadeep.rc@gmail.com

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017 M. Ghorbanpour and A. Varma (eds.), Medicinal Plants and Environmental

developed countries like USA constitutes of plant drugs, whereas it is close to 80% in developing countries like China and India. The cultivation and maintenance of medicinal plants thus forms a profitable business throughout the world and must be protected. However, cultivating such plants in salt contaminated soils has imposed severe abnormalities in their overall growth and physiology (Thornber et al. 1977). Hence, it is inevitable to understand the correlation between medicinal plants and salt stress in terms of yield and sustainability.

Correlation Between Salt Stress and Developmental Morphology in Medicinal Plants

Germination

Salt stress affects germination by destroying the embryo or drastically decreasing the soil potential to such an extent that water uptake gets hampered. Germination was retarded in case of *Ocimum basilicum*, *Eruca sativa*, *Petroselinum hortense*, chamomile, sweet marjoram and *Thymus maroccanus* when the seeds were sown in salt contaminated soil (Miceli et al. 2003; Ramin 2005; Ali et al. 2007; Belaqziz et al. 2009).

Growth of Seedlings

Seedling has been considered as the most vulnerable stage of the plant's life cycle. It was reported that salinity caused a significant reduction in the seedling growth of *Thymus maroccanus* by inhibiting reserve food mobilization, suspending cell division, enlarging and injuring hypocotyls. Similar reports are available for basil, chamomile and marjoram (Said-Al Ahl and Omer 2011). Salinity decreased the number of foliages, root growth and dry matter in *Aloe vera* plants exposed to 2, 4, 6 and 8 ds m⁻¹ salinity. Such limitations were mainly due to the reduced levels of total soluble solids (TSS). This also resulted in 30% lower sprout production in the salt-stressed plants compared to the control (Moghbeli et al. 2012). Chauhan and Kumar (2014) reported that high salinity levels significantly reduced the number of tillers in *Citronella java* plants. The vegetative and reproductive stages in cumin were found to be the most sensitive towards 5 ds m⁻¹ salt stress (Hassanzadehdelouei et al. 2013).

Developmental Characteristics and Survival

Salinity stress has been reported as a major inhibitor of plant growth in case of medicinal plants like *Majorana hortensis*, peppermint, pennyroyal, apple mint, *Aloe vera, Matricaria recutita, Thymus maroccanus*, geranium, *Thymus vulgaris*, sweet

fennel, sage and *Mentha pulegium* (Said-Al Ahl and Omer 2011; Aziz et al. 2008). A significantly lower number of leaves, leaf area and leaf biomass was noted in *Mentha piperita* var. officinalis and *Lipia citriodora* var. verbena exposed to salt stress (Tabatabaie and Nazari 2007). Exposure to greater than 9 ds m⁻¹ salt stress reduced plant height, number of leaves per plant, capitula number per plant and the diameter of the main shoot capitulum in milk thistle (Ghavami and Ramin 2008). Growth parameters were found to be repressed under salt stress in *Withania somnifera*, *Catharanthus roseus*, *Achillea fragratissima*, *Salvia officinalis*, thyme, *Nigella sativa*, *Chamomilla recutita* and basil (Jaleel et al. 2008a, b; Abd EL-Azim and Ahmed 2009; Ben Taarit et al. 2009; Hussain et al. 2009; Ghanavati and Sengul 2010).

Nutrient Uptake

Salinity directly inhibits plant growth by disrupting the nutrient uptake equilibrium maintained by the plant system. Nutrient availability, partitioning and transport are mostly affected. This is due to the competition of Na⁺ and Cl⁻ ions with the nutrient ions like K⁺, Ca²⁺ and NO₃⁻. Such ionic imbalances caused due to the abundance of Na⁺ and Cl⁻ ions directly acts upon the biophysical and/or metabolic components of the plant system (Banerjee and Roychoudhury 2016). Increases in Na⁺ and Cl⁻ during salt stress have resulted in decreased levels of N, P, K⁺, Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ in fennel, *Trachyspermum ammi*, peppermint, lemon verbena, *Matricaria recutita*, *Achillea fragratissima* (Abd El-Wahab 2006; Queslati et al. 2010; Abd EL-Azim and Ahmed 2009). Ali and Hassan (2013) showed that the N, P and K⁺ percentages were influenced by different salt concentrations in the leaves of *Simmondsia chinensis* (jojoba). Salt concentration over 17.2 mM drastically lowered the three elements. Similar decrease was reported for the Ca²⁺ content in the salt stressed leaves.

Productivity

Increasing salt concentration inevitably affected the productivity in medicinal plants like fennel, cumin, *Ammi majus, Trachyspermum ammi* and milk thistle. The fruit yield per plant as well as the number of umbels significantly decreased in such stress-exposed plants (Ashraf and Orooj 2006).

Correlation Between Salt Stress and Photosynthesis in Medicinal Plants

The primary target of any abiotic stress is the photosynthetic machinery of plants. Photosynthesis is the most important and crucial physiological process essential for plant growth and survival. This process demands a huge expenditure of energy for maintenance and hence is vulnerable to stress conditions which disrupt the metabolic equilibrium within the cell (Roychoudhury et al. 2007; Banerjee and Roychoudhury 2017). Both chlorophyll a and b along with the total chlorophyll content were reduced in centaury, *Teucrium polium*, *Thymus vulgaris*, *Zataria multiflora*, *Ziziphora clinopodioides* and *Satureja hortensis* (Said-Al Ahl and Omer 2011). Such overall decrease in chlorophyll content is mainly due to inhibition of chlorophyll synthesis coupled with increased degradation of chlorophyll. The imbalance in chlorophyll metabolism leads to suppressed photosynthesis and ultimately causes plant death due to the dearth of energy equivalents. The disturbance in ion absorption occurring during salt stress negatively affects the development of chloroplasts and protein translation machinery within plastids. These are sometimes accompanied with plastid degradation in fennel (Abd EL-Wahab 2006).

Correlation Between Salt Stress and Primary Metabolites in Medicinal Plants

Amino Acids

Salt stress increases the levels of alanine, arginine, glycine, serine, leucine, valine and most importantly proline. Apart from these, the non-protein amino acids, citrulline and ornithine along with the amides like glutamine and arginine also accumulate in plants subjected to salt stress. Proline accumulation occurs at much higher levels compared to other amino acids in *Salvia officinalis, Trachyspermum ammi*, spearmint, chamomile, sweet marjoram, *Catharanthus roseus, Achillea fragratissima, Matricaria chamomilla*, sweet fennel and *Satureja hortensis*. This may be attributed to the lower proline oxidase activity under saline conditions. Proline has been reported to act as compatible solute which maintains the osmotic equilibrium within the cell even under sub optimal conditions like salinity (Roychoudhury et al. 2015). Higher levels of total free amino acids have been reported in *Catharanthus roseus* and *Matricaria chamomilla* exposed to salt stress (Osman et al. 2007; Cik et al. 2009).

Proteins

An increase in free amino acid content in plants subjected to salt stress has also been explained on the basis of degradation of intact proteins (Roychoudhury et al. 2011). A decrease in protein content during salt stress was reported in *Catharanthus roseus* (Osman et al. 2007). Levels of soluble protein decreased in salt stressed chamomile and sweet marjoram. This indicates that salt stress induces protein aggregation within cells and hence the soluble protein fraction gets reduced (Ali

et al. 2007). Depressed synthesis of crude proteins was reported in *Achillea fragratissima* exposed to salt concentration of 4000 ppm (Abd EL-Azim and Ahmed 2009). In other studies, stimulation of protein synthesis correlated with the salinization degree has also been observed. Such spike in protein accumulation might be to provide nitrogen in the stored form that could be re-utilized during the post-stress recovery phase in plants (Roychoudhury and Chakraborty 2013).

Carbohydrates

Salinity stress induces nutritional imbalances, hyper-osmotic stress and reduced photosynthesis. This disrupts the total carbohydrate balance as has been reported in fennel (Abd El-Wahab 2006). However, a contrasting increase in carbohydrates was found in *Salvia officinalis* and *Satureja hortensis* with increasing concentrations of salt stress (Hendawy and Khalid 2005; Najafi et al. 2010).

Lipids

The cellular fatty acid content is an important indicator of plant susceptibility to salt stress. Oil and fatty acid synthesis of plants are influenced by abiotic stresses (Banerjee and Roychoudhury 2014). Oil yield was reported to be lowered in the roots of *Ricinus communis* exposed to salt stress. However, the oil content increased in the plant shoots (Ali et al. 2008). Total fatty acid content in *Coriandrum sativum* leaves was significantly reduced due to salt stress. Increasing NaCl concentrations also led to lowered levels of α -linolenic and linoleic acids (Neffati and Marzouk 2008).

Correlation Between Salt Stress and Secondary Metabolites in Medicinal Plants

Study of Alkaloids Through Proteomic and Other Approaches

Technological developments in proteomics research have opened novel perspectives for ethno botanical and phytomedical research purposes. The regulation of secondary metabolism at the protein level plays essential role in the growth of medicinal plants. The natural yield of secondary products in medicinal plants is generally low. However, it is the secondary metabolite which actually determines the medicinal and economic utility of the plant. Complicated biochemical structures of these metabolites have been a problem to further investigate their properties. Cell suspension cultures and metabolic engineering techniques, facilitating the overexpression of rate limiting enzymes involved in the biosynthesis of these secondary metabolites, have been proposed. Hence, a proteomic approach has been adopted to identify the proteins participating in the biosynthesis of such secondary metabolites (Banerjee et al. 2016).

A model system for secondary metabolites in medicinal plants is *Catharanthus roseus* (Verpoorte et al. 1997). The plant has been reported to produce effective anti-cancer alkaloid drugs like vinblastine and vincristine. Two-dimensional gel electrophoresis was used to investigate the influence of zeatin and 2, 4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2, 4-D) on protein patterns and alkaloid production in *C. roseus*. It was reported that the proteins which were decreased by 2, 4-D but increased by zeatin exposure could function in the regulation of alkaloid biosynthesis (Jacobs et al. 2000).

In another proteome analysis of *C. roseus*, differential expression of 88 protein spots was detected. Mass spectrometric analyses identified two isoforms of strictosidine synthase, tryptophan synthase and 12-oxophytodienoate reductase. Strictosidine synthase catalyzes the formation of strictosidine in alkaloid biosynthesis. Tryptophan synthase is essential for the supply of the alkaloid precursor, tryptamine and 12-oxophytodienoate reductase catalyses the last step in the synthesis of the non-traditional plant growth regulator, jasmonic acid (JA). JA has been considered as an important signalling molecule which regulates plant defence during biotic stress responses and promotes the accumulation of alkaloids (Jacobs et al. 2005).

The concentration of reserpine in *Rauvolfia tetraphylla* increased during salt stress. However, the ricinine alkaloids were reduced in the roots of salt stressed *Ricinus communis*. Significant increase in the alkaloid levels was reported in *Solanum nigrum* (solasodine) and *Achillea fragratissima* plants grown in high saline soils (Aghaei and Komatsu 2013). Hung et al. (2010) investigated the effects of the secondary metabolites in *Salvia miltiorrhiza* on atherosclerotic lesions and cancer. Ginsenoids are important alkaloids produced in the roots of *Panax ginseng*. The root proteome from a culture of *P. ginseng* hairy roots was studied to identify the proteins involved in the production of ginsenoids. The putative functions of 91 out of the 159 detected proteins were determined from the root proteome studies. It was found that about 20% of the proteins (with assigned functions) regulated energy metabolism during stress responses. Some proteins like enolase, glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase and aldolase were detected as isotypes. However, their relation with secondary metabolism could not be deciphered (Nam et al. 2005).

Two dimensional gel electrophoresis of milky sap from *Chelidonium majus* identified 21 proteins related to plant defence, nucleic acid binding and stress signalling (Nawrot et al. 2007). Decker et al. (2000) attempted to identify proteins involved in morphine production in opium poppy (*Papaver somniferum*), using two dimensional electrophoresis of poppy latex. The most important detected protein was codeinone reductase which might play a crucial role in morphine synthesis during stress.

Phenolic Compounds During Stress

Phenolics have been regarded as a sensor for salt stress. This group consists of about 9000 compounds having diverse biological functions in plants, some phenolic compounds can scavenge the reactive oxygen species (ROS) produced during abiotic stresses. Salt stress reduces the electron flow in the photosynthetic electron transport system and promotes oxidative stress via ROS production (Das and Roychoudhury 2014). Higher plants produce compounds like phenolic acids, flavonoids and proanthocyanidins to scavenge the harmful ROS. Several reports in crop plants have shown the accumulation of phenolics during salt stress (Waskiewicz et al. 2012).

Phenolic acid and tannin concentration increased in the salt stressed spearmint and *Achillea fragratissima* plants (Abd EL-Azim and Ahmed 2009). Phenolic compounds like protocatechuic, chlorogenic and caffeic acids significantly increased in *Matricaria chamomilla* plants grown in salt stress (Cik et al. 2009). Accumulation of phenolics with increasing salt concentration was also recorded in *Nigella sativa* and *Mentha pulegium* (Bourgou et al. 2010; Queslati et al. 2010). The biosynthesis of other phenolic compounds like quercetin, apigenin and trans-cinnamic acid was reportedly enhanced in *Nigella* grown in soil with high salinity content (Bourgou et al. 2010).

Salt Stress and Steroid (Cardenolide) Metabolism

Cardenolide is a steroid derivative found in plants like *Digitalis purpurea*. Extracts of this plant is used to treat heart failures. They mainly occur in the form of glycosides containing structural groups derived from sugars. Morales et al. (1993) reported that the cardenolide level in *D. purpurea* leaves and roots were elevated under moderate salinity conditions. Cardenolide content in the leaves and roots of *D. purpurea* was higher during 100 mM salt stress compared to the plants exposed to 200 mM salt stress and those grown under control conditions.

Effects of Salt Stress on Essential Oil

Essential oil have high economic and industrial values. They are mainly found in mint species like peppermint (*Mentha piperita*), pennyroyal (*Mentha pulegium*) and apple mint (*Mentha suaveolens*). Aziz et al. (2008) reported that salt stress decreased the essential oils in all mint species. Such salt induced reduction in essential oil content compared to control was higher in peppermint and apple mint than in pennyroyal. The major constituent of these essential oils in mint species is monoterpenes. The percentage of menthone (another constituent of essential oils) was found to increase with the increase in salt concentration. However, other

constituents decreased when the plant was exposed to the highest concentration of salt stress. Interestingly, the authors found that the alterations in the levels of the constituents in pennyroyal were much subtle during salt stress compared to those of peppermint and apple mint. Lower yield of essential oils during salt stress was also reported in *Trachyspermum ammi*, *Thymus maroccanus*, basil and fennel (Ashraf and Orooj 2006). Abd El-Wahab (2006) showed that salinity stress decreased even the anethole content in fennel. Levels of the main compounds in essential oils of marjoram were differentially affected by salt stress (Baatour et al. 2010). However, several essential oil compounds like α -bisabololoxide B, α -bisabolonoxide A, chamazulene, α -bisabolol oxide A, α -bisabolol and trans- β -farnesene were reportedly increased during salt stress (Baghalian et al. 2008).

Said-Al Ahl and Hussein (2010) observed sharp decreases in essential oil constituents like carvacrol, *p*-cymene and γ -terpinene in *Origanum vulgare* exposed to salt stress. Salt-induced inhibitory effects were profound in lemon balm, *Majorana hortensis*, *Matricaria chamomile*, *Salvia officinalis* and basil (Said-Al Ahl and Omer 2011). Essential oil constituents like (*E*)-2-decenal, (*E*)-2-dodecenal and dodecanal initially increased in coriander during moderate salt stress. However at still higher concentrations, the oil level decreased significantly (Neffati and Marzouk 2008). Major constituents of essential oils in *Ocimum basilicum* under control conditions were eugenol and linalool. Exposure to salt stress decreased the eugenol content, whereas the linalool content was elevated (Said-Al Ahl et al. 2010). In case of *Salvia officinalis*, the main essential oil compound was viridiflorol under control conditions and 25 mM NaCl, whereas 1, 8-cineole accumulated under 50 and 75 mM NaCl stress. However, when the plants were exposed to 100 mM NaCl stress, manool became the predominant compound (Ben Taarit et al. 2010).

An increase in the percentage of essential oils was reported in *Satureja hortensis*, sage, thyme and basil grown in salt contaminated soils (Baher et al. 2002; Hendawy and Khalid 2005; Ezz El-Din et al. 2009). The essential oil constituents like carvacrol increased and γ -terpine decreased in coriander roots significantly with increasing stress (Neffati and Marzouk 2008). The percentage of essential oils and the oil yield (ml per plant) were enhanced in curly leafed parsley under salt stress. Foliar aroma constituents like β -phellandrene, myristicin, β -myrcene and apiole were also affected under the stress conditions (Said-Al Ahl et al. 2016).

Contrasting effects of salt stress on essential oil production have been discussed so far based on the reports available for different medicinally important plant species. It has been proposed that increased oil gland density, accompanied with higher absolute number of gland production during stress, could be the reasons behind accumulation of essential oil in some plant species. Other factors could be the net assimilation or the partitioning of assimilates among growth and differentiation processes. Sometimes, the decline in the primary metabolism of plants during stress could lead to the accumulation of certain intermediate products, which get channelized to form secondary metabolites like essential oil. In plants with decreased levels of essential oil under stress, the lowering could be due to the overall anabolism which gets inhibited on exposure to saline conditions (Said-Al Ahl et al. 2016).

Conclusion and Future Perspectives

Medicinal plants have special economic importance due to the presence of a large number of active principles which can be marketed in the form of even life-saving drugs. These plant products possess high curing values and naturally grow in diverse environmental conditions. This property can be utilised for their widespread cultivation in lands with sub-optimal conditions. However, to enhance such cultivation, elucidating the growth and physiology under stress conditions like salinity is highly significant. Researches correlating plant genotypes with stress responses, are lacking and should be pursued in details. Better farm practices like micro-jet irrigation coupled with fertilization management or leaching can be utilised to recover vast stretches of land affected with toxic salt concentrations. On the transgenic frontline, it can be firmly advised that researches should also focus upon developing salt-tolerance in susceptible plant species. Such tolerance can also be conferred upon by following an extensive plant breeding program to facilitate the introgression of salt-tolerant genes in susceptible species of medicinal plants.

Acknowledgements The financial support from Council of Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR), Government of India, through the project [38(1387)/14/EMR-II] to Dr. Aryadeep Roychoudhury is gratefully acknowledged. The authors also acknowledge University Grants Commission, Government of India, for providing Research Fellowship to Mr. Aditya Banerjee.

References

- Abd EL-Azim WM, Ahmed STh (2009) Effect of salinity and cutting date on growth and chemical constituents of *Achillea fragratissima* Forssk, under Ras Sudr conditions. Res J Agr Biol Sci 5:1121–1129
- Abd El-Wahab MA (2006) The efficiency of using saline and fresh water irrigation as alternating methods of irrigation on the productivity of *Foeniculum vulgare* Mill subsp. vulgare var. vulgare under North Sinai conditions. Res J Agr Biol Sci 2:571–577
- Aghaei K, Komatsu S (2013) Crop and medicinal plants proteomics in response to salt stress. Front Plant Sci 4:8
- Ali EF, Hassan FAS (2013) Salt effects on growth and leaf chemical constituents of *Simmondsia chinensis* (Link) Schneider. J Med Plant Studies 1:22–34
- Ali RM, Abbas HM, Kamal RK (2007) The effects of treatment with polyamines on dry matter, oil and flavonoids contents in salinity stressed chamomile and sweet marjoram. Plant Soil Environ 53:529–543
- Ali RM, Elfeky SS, Abbas H (2008) Response of salt stressed *Ricinus communis* L. to exogenous application of glycerol and/or aspartic acid. J Biol Sci 8:171–175
- Ashraf M, Orooj A (2006) Salt stress effects on growth, ion accumulation and seed oil concentration in an arid zone traditional medicinal plant ajwain (*Trachyspermum ammi* [L.] Sprague). J Arid Environ 64:209–220
- Aziz EE, Al-Amier H, Craker LE (2008) Influence of salt stress on growth and essential oil production in peppermint, pennyroyal, and apple mint. J Herbs Spices Med Plants 14:77–87
- Baatour OR, Kaddour W, Wannes A, Lachaal M, Marzouk B (2010) Salt effects on the growth, mineral nutrition, essential oil yield and composition of marjoram (*Origanum majorana*). Acta Physiol Plant 32:45–51

- Baghalian K, Haghiry A, Naghavi MR, Mohammadi A (2008) Effect of saline irrigation water on agronomical and phytochemical characters of chamomile (*Matricaria recutita* L.). Scientia Hort 116:437–441
- Baher ZF, Mirza M, Ghorbanli M, Rezaii MB (2002) The influence of water stress on plant height, herbal and essential oil yield and composition in *Satureja hortensis* L. Flav Fragr J 17:275–277
- Banerjee A, Roychoudhury A (2014) Metabolic engineering of lipids in plants. J Plant Sci Res 1:1–20
- Banerjee A, Roychoudhury A (2016) Group II late embryogenesis abundant (LEA) proteins: structural and functional aspects in plant abiotic stress. Plant Growth Regul 79:1–17
- Banerjee A, Roychoudhury A (2017) Abscisic-acid-dependent basic leucine zipper (bZIP) transcription factors in plant abiotic stress. Protoplasma 254:3–16
- Banerjee A, Roychoudhury A, Krishnamoorthi A (2016) Emerging techniques to decipher microRNAs (miRNAs) and their regulatory role in conferring abiotic stress tolerance of plants. Plant Biotechnol Rep 10:185–205
- Belaqziz R, Romane A, Abbad A (2009) Salt stress effects on germination, growth and essential oil content of an endemic thyme species in Morocco (*Thymus maroccanus* Ball.). J Applied Sci Res 5:858–863
- Ben Taarit MK, Msaada K, Hosni K, Marzouk B (2010) Changes in fatty acid and essential oil composition of sage (*Salvia officinalis* L.) leaves under NaCl stress. Food Chem 9:951–956
- Ben Taarit MK, Msaada K, Hosni M, Hammami M, Kchouk E, Marzouk B (2009) Plant growth, essential oil yield and composition of sage (*Salvia officinalis* L.) fruits cultivated under salt stress conditions. Ind Crops Prod 30:333–337
- Bourgou S, Kchouk ME, Bellila A, Marzouk B (2010) Effect of salinity on phenolic composition and biological activity of *Nigella sativa*. Acta Hort 853:57–60
- Chauhan N, Kumar D (2014) Effect of salinity stress on growth performance of *Citronella java*. Int J Geol Agric Environ Sci 2:11–14
- Cik JK, Klejdus B, Hedbavny J, Bačkor M (2009) Salicylic acid alleviates NaCl-induced changes in the metabolism of *Matricaria chamomilla* plants. Ecotoxicology 18:544–554
- Das K, Roychoudhury A (2014) Reactive oxygen species (ROS) and response of antioxidants as ROS-scavengers during environmental stress in plants. Front Env Sci 2:53
- Decker G, Wanner G, Zenk MH, Lottspeich F (2000) Characterization of proteins in latex of the opium poppy (*Papaver somniferum*) using two-dimensional gel electrophoresis and microsequenc ing. Electrophoresis 21:3500–3516
- Ezz El-Din AA, Aziz EE, Hendawy SF, Omer EA (2009) Response of *Thymus vulgaris* L. to salt stress and alar (B9) in newly reclaimed soil. J Appl Sci Res 5:2165–2170
- Flowers TJ, Yeo AR (1995) Breeding for salinity resistance in crop plants. Where next? Aust J Plant Physiol 22:875–884
- Ghanavati M, Sengul S (2010) Salinity effect on the germination and some chemical components of *Chamomilla recutita* L. Asian J Chem 22:859–866
- Ghavami A, Ramin A (2008) Grain yield and active substances of milk thistle as affected by soil salinity. Comm Soil Sci Plant Anal 39:2608–2618
- Hassanzadehdelouei M, Vazini F, Nadafi J (2013) Effect of salt stress in different stages of growth on qualitative and quantitative characteristics of cumin (*Cuminum cyminum* L.). Cercetări Agronomice Moldova 46:89–97
- Hendawy SF, Khalid KhA (2005) Response of sage (Salvia officinalis L.) plants to zinc application under different salinity levels. J Appl Sci Res 1:147–155
- Hung YC, Wang PW, Pan TL (2010) Functional proteomics reveal the effect of *Salvia miltiorrhiza* aqueous extract against vascular atherosclerotic lesions. Biochim Biophys Acta 1804: 1310–1321
- Hussain K, Majeed A, Nawaz Kh, Khizar HB, Nisar MF (2009) Effect of different levels of salinity on growth and ion contents of black seeds (*Nigella sativa* L.). Curr Res J Biol Sci 1:135–138
- Jacobs DI, Gaspari M, van der Greef J, van der Heijden R, Verpoorte R (2005) Proteome analysis of the medicinal plant *Catharanthus roseus*. Planta 221:690–704

- Jacobs DI, van der Heijden R, Verpoorte R (2000) Proteomics in plant biotechnology and secondary metabolism research. Phytochem Anal 11:277–287
- Jaleel CA, Lakshmanan GMA, Gomathinayagam M, Panneerselvam R (2008a) Triadimefon induced salt stress tolerance in *Withania somnifera* and its relationship to antioxidant defense system. South African J Bot 74:126–132
- Jaleel CA, Sankar B, Sridharan R, Panneerselvam R (2008b) Soil salinity alters growth, chlorophyll content, and secondary metabolite accumulation in *Catharanthus roseus*. Turk J Biol 32:79–83
- Miceli A, Moncada A, D'Anna F (2003) Effect of water salinity on seeds-germination of Ocimum basilicum L., Eruca sativa L. and Petroselinum hortense Hoffm. Acta Hort (ISHS) 609: 365–370
- Moghbeli E, Fathollahi S, Salari H, Ahmadi G et al (2012) Effects of salinity stress on growth and yield of *Aloe vera* L. J Med Plants Res 6:3272–3277
- Morales C, Cusido RM, Palazon J, Bonfill M (1993) Response of *Digitalis purpurea* plants to temporary salinity. J Plant Nutrition 16:327–335
- Najafi F, Khavari-Nejad RA, Ali MS (2010) The effects of salt stress on certain physiological parameters in summer savory (*Satureja hortensis* L.) plants. J Stress Physiol Biochem 6:13–21
- Nam MH, Kim SI, Liu JR, Yang DC, Lim YP, Kwon KH et al (2005) Proteomic analysis of Korean ginseng (*Panax ginseng* C.A. Meyer). J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci 815:147–155
- Nawrot R, Kalinowski A, Gozdzicka-Jozefiak A (2007) Proteomic analysis of *Chelidonium majus* milky sap using two-dimensional gel electrophoresis and tandem mass spectrometry. Phytochemistry 68:1612–1622
- Neffati M, Marzouk B (2008) Changes in essential oil and fatty acid composition in coriander (*Coriandrum sativum* L.) leaves under saline conditions. Ind Crops Prod 28:137–142
- Osman MEH, Elfeky SS, Abo El-Soud K, Hasan AM (2007) Response of *Catharanthus roseus* shoots to salinity and drought in relation to vincristine alkaloid content. Asian J Plant Sci 6:1223–1228
- Queslati S, Karray-Bouraoui N, Attia H, Rabhi M, Ksouri R, Lachaal M (2010) Physiological and antioxidant responses of *Mentha pulegium* (Pennyroyal) to salt stress. Acta Physiol Plant 32:289–296
- Ramin AA (2005) Effects of salinity and temperature on germination and seedling establishment of sweet basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.). J Herbs Spices Med Plants 11:81–90
- Roychoudhury A, Banerjee A, Lahiri V (2015) Metabolic and molecular-genetic regulation of proline signalling and its cross-talk with major effectors mediates abiotic stress tolerance in plants. Turk J Bot 39:887–910
- Roychoudhury A, Basu S, Sengupta DN (2011) Amelioration of salinity stress by exogenously applied spermidine or spermine in three varieties of indica rice differing in their level of salt tolerance. J Plant Physiol 168:317–328
- Roychoudhury A, Chakraborty M (2013) Biochemical and molecular basis of varietal difference in plant salt tolerance. Annu Rev Res Biol 3:422–454
- Roychoudhury A, Roy C, Sengupta DN (2007) Transgenic tobacco plants overexpressing the heterologous *lea* gene *Rab16A* from rice during high salt and water deficit display enhanced tolerance to salinity stress. Plant Cell Rep 26:1839–1859
- Said-Al Ahl HAH, Hussein MS (2010) Effect of water stress and potassium humate on the productivity of oregano plant using saline and fresh water irrigation. Ozean J Appl Sci 3:125–141
- Said-Al Ahl HAH, Meawad AA, Abou-Zeid EN, Ali MS (2010) Response of different basil varieties to soil salinity. Int Agrophysics 24:183–188
- Said-Al Ahl HAH, Omer EA (2011) Medicinal and aromatic plants production under salt stress. A review. Herba Polonica 57:72–87
- Said-Al Ahl HAH, Abou-Ellail M, Omer EA (2016) Harvest date and genotype influences growth characters and essential oil production and composition of Petroselinum crispum plants. J Chem Pharm Res 8:992–1003

- Tabatabaie SJ, Nazari J (2007) Influence of nutrient concentration and NaCl salinity on growth, photosynthesis and essential oil content of peppermint and lemon verbena. Turk J Agric 31:245–253
- Thornber JP, Alberte RS, Hunter FA, Shiozawa JA, Kan KS (1977) Brookhaven Symp Biol 1977:132–148
- Verpoorte R, van der Heijden R, Moreno PRH (1997) Biosynthesis of terpenoid indole alkaloids in *Catharanthus roseus* cells. In: Cordell GA (ed) The Alkaloids, vol 49. Academic Press, San Diego, pp 221–299
- Waskiewicz A, Muzolf-Panek M, Golinski P (2012) Phenolic content changes in plants under salt stress. In: Ahmad P et al (eds) Ecophysiology and responses of plants under salt stress. Springer, Germany, pp 283–314

Heavy Metal-Mediated Changes in Growth and Phytochemicals of Edible and Medicinal Plants

Shohreh Fahimirad and Mehrnaz Hatami

Abstract One of the most important kinds of environmental contaminates is heavy metals pollution. Plants which are exposing to high metal concentrations illustrate down regulated growth and development. Various alterations in the medical plants production of bioactive compounds have been documented. On the other hand, many researches have illustrated the high toxic residuals of heavy metals in several parts of medical plants which are potent to cause hazard to human health. Interestingly, phytoremediation is most effective and promising methods among several strategies already used to clean up the environment from heavy metals. Medical plants with high potential in heavy metal accumulation can be good candidates for soil heavy metal remediation. The cultivation or deliberate usage of medical plants in soil polluted by heavy metals must be managed carefully to diminish the final heavy metal residuals in marketing products. This chapter explains the mechanisms of plants heavy metal impacts on medical plant growth and metabolites, phytoremediation ability of medical plants and standard heavy metal residuals concentration in medical plants.

Keywords Heavy metals • Medicinal plants • Phytoremediation • Secondary metabolites • Heavy metal residuals concentration

Introduction

Heavy metals are major environmental pollutants, and large amount of them are toxic ultimately at absolutely low concentrations. Fossil fuels burning, mining, municipal wastes, fertilizers and pesticides are primary sources of heavy metals

M. Hatami (🖂)

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

S. Fahimirad

Department of Agricultural Biotechnology, Faculty of Agriculture and Natural Resources, University of Tehran, Karaj, Iran

Department of Medicinal Plants, Arak University, Arak, Iran e-mail: m-hatami@araku.ac.ir

M. Ghorbanpour and A. Varma (eds.), *Medicinal Plants and Environmental Challenges*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-68717-9_11

Pollutants	Major sources	Effect on human health	Permissible levels (mg/L)
As	Pesticides, fungicides, metal smelters	Bronchitis, dermatitis, poisoning	0.02
Cd	Welding, electroplating, pesticides, fertilizer	Renal dysfunction, lung disease, lung cancer, bone defects, kidney damage, bone marrow	0.06
Pb	Paint, pesticides, smoking, automobile emission, mining, burning of coal	Mental retardation in children, development delay, fatal infant encephalopathy, chronic damage to nervous system, liver, kidney damage	0.1
Mn	Welding, fuel addition, ferromanganese production	Inhalation or contact damage to central nervous system	0.26
Hg	Pesticides, batteries, paper industry	Tremors, gingivitis, protoplasm poisoning, damage to nervous system, spontaneous abortion	0.01
Zn	Refineries, brass manufacture, metal plating	Damage to nervous system, dermatitis	15
Cr	Mine, mineral sources	Damage to nervous system, irritability	0.05
Cu	Mining, pesticide production, chemical industry	Anemia, liver and kidney damage, stomach irritation	0.1

 Table 1
 Types of heavy metals and their effect on human health with their permissible limits (Singh et al. 2011)
 Comparison
 <thComparison</th>
 C

pollutions (Dhir et al. 2008; Wei and Zhou 2008). Any non-biologically degradable metal causes an environmental problem considered to be a "heavy metal". Fifty three elements with an atomic density greater than 6 g cm⁻³ now fall into the category of heavy metal. Common toxic metals are mercury (Hg), lead (Pb), cadmium (Cd), copper (Cu), 35 chromium (Cr), manganese (Mn), zinc (Zn), and aluminum (Al) (Herrera-Estrella and Guevara-Garcia 2009). The Types of heavy metals and their effect on human health with their permissible limits are enumerated in Table 1.

Effect of Heavy Metal Polluted Soil on Plant Growth

Although plants require certain heavy metals for their growth and uptake, excessive amounts of these metals can become toxic to plants. The ability of plants to accumulate essential metals equally enables them to acquire other nonessential metals. Some of the direct toxic effects caused by high metal concentration include inhibition of cytoplasmic enzymes and damage to cell structures due to oxidative stress. The Toxicity of heavy metals to life forms are shown in Table 2 (Chibuike and Obiora 2014). Due to the high prevalence of heavy metals in the environment, their residues also reach and are assimilated into medicinal plants (Sarma et al. 2012). Contamination during cultivation, inadvertent cross-contamination during processing and the purposeful introduction of heavy metals for alleged medicinal purposes are three key mechanisms that have been proposed to explain heavy metal contamination of medical plant-based products (Denholm 2010).

Plant Survival Strategies to Increasing Metal Concentrations

Plants have devoted three various behaviors against heavy metals. First group named as metal excluders avoid heavy metals to enter their aerial parts. Second group, known as metal indicators, accumulate metals in their above-ground tissues and the metal levels in the tissues of these plants generally reflect metal levels in the soil.

The third and most important group of plants includes around 500 plant species is hyper accumulators which concentrate metals in their above-ground tissues to levels far exceeding those present in the soil. Localization of metal ions in roots and shoots in nontoxic forms, binding of toxic metals in cell walls of roots and leaves and sequester metals into the vacuoles or compartments of the cytosol are three major procedure for heavy metal accumulation and keep them away from active metabolic sites in plant cells in tolerant plants (Cosio et al. 2004) (Fig. 1).

Novel approaches such as transcriptomics, proteomics, and metabolomics clear the function of the plants cells in heavy metal area. Heavy metal accumulators are increasing steadily and some are presented in Table 3 (Memon and Schroder 2009).

In the last few decades many scientists in different parts of the worlds has worked out the metals bioaccumulation potential of various species and some are presented in Table 4.

Molecular Basis of Metal Uptake

ESTs expressed sequence tags analysis and Comparing EST sequences of the target species with the appropriate reference model species or additional public databases is one of important performance to survey gene expression pattern and determining major gene involved in heavy metal tolerance for species whose complete genome sequence information is not available (Roosens et al. 2008). Analysis of quantitative trait loci (QTLs) involved in metal tolerance is a perfect method for identifying

Heavy metal	Plant species	Effects	References
As	Rice (Oryza sativa)	Reduction in seed germination; decrease in seedling height; reduced leaf area and dry matter production	Abedin et al. (2002)
	Tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum)	Reduced fruit yield; decrease in leaf fresh weight	Barrachina et al. (1995)
	Canola (Brassica napus)	Stunted growth; chlorosis; wilting	Cox et al. (1996)
Cd	Wheat (<i>Triticum</i> sp.)	Reduction in seed germination; decrease in plant nutrient content; reduced shoot and root length	Yourtchi and Bayat (2013)
	Garlic (Allium sativum)	Reduced shoot growth; Cd accumulation	Jiang et al. (2001)
	Maize (Zea mays)	Reduced shoot growth; inhibition of root growth	Wang et al. (2007)
Со	Tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum)	Reduction in plant nutrient content	Jayakumar et al. (2013)
	Mung bean (Vigna radiata)	Reduction in antioxidant enzyme activities; decrease in plant sugar, starch, amino acids, and protein content	Jayakumar et al. (2008)
	Radish (Raphanus sativus)	Reduction in shoot length, root length, and total leaf area; decrease in chlorophyll content; reduction in plant nutrient content and antioxidant enzyme activity; decrease in plant sugar, amino acid, and protein content	Jayakumar et al. (2007)
Cr	Wheat (<i>Triticum</i> sp.)	Reduced shoot and root growth	Sharma and Sharma (2003)
	Tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum)	Decrease in plant nutrient acquisition	Moral et al. (1995)
	Onion (Allium cepa)	Inhibition of germination process; reduction of plant biomass	Nematshahi et al. (2012)
Cu	Bean (Phaseolus vulgaris)	Accumulation of Cu in plant roots; root malformation and reduction	Cook et al. (1997)
	Black bindweed (Polygonum convolvulus)	Plant mortality; reduced biomass and seed production	Kjær and Elmegaard (1996)
	Rhodes grass (Chloris gayana)	Root growth reduction	Sheldon and Menzies (2005)

 Table 2 Toxicity of heavy metals to different plant species (Chibuike and Obiora 2014)

(continued)

Table 2	(continu	ed)
---------	----------	-----

Heavy metal	Plant species	Effects	References
Hg	Rice (Oryza sativa)	Decrease in plant height; reduced tiller and panicle formation; yield reduction; bioaccumulation in shoot and root of seedlings	Du et al. (2005)
	Tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum)	Reduction in germination percentage; reduced plant height; reduction in flowering and fruit weight; chlorosis	Shekar et al. (2011)
Mn	Broad bean (Vicia faba)	Mn accumulation shoot and root; reduction in shoot and root length; chlorosis	Arya and Roy (2011)
	Spearmint (<i>Mentha</i> <i>spicata</i>)	Decrease in chlorophyll a and carotenoid content; accumulation of Mn in plant roots	Asrar et al. (2005)
	Pea (Pisum sativum)	Reduction in chlorophylls a and b content; reduction in relative growth rate; reduced photosynthetic O ₂ evolution activity and photosystem II activity	Doncheva et al. (2005)
	Tomato (Lycopersicon esculentum)	Slower plant growth; decrease in chlorophyll concentration	Shenker et al. (2004)
Ni	Pigeon pea (<i>Cajanus cajan</i>)	Decrease in chlorophyll content and stomatal conductance; decreased enzyme activity which affected Calvin cycle and CO ₂ fixation	Sheoran et al. (1990)
	Rye grass (Lolium perenne)	Reduction in plant nutrient acquisition; decrease in shoot yield; chlorosis	Khalid and Tinsley (1980)
	Wheat (<i>Triticum</i> sp.)	Reduction in plant nutrient acquisition	Pandolfini et al. (1992)
	Rice (Oryza sativa)	Inhibition of root growth	Lin and Kao (2005)
Pb	Maize (Zea mays)	Reduction in germination percentage; suppressed growth; reduced plant biomass; decrease in plant protein content	Hussain et al. (2013)
	Portia tree (Thespesia populnea)	Reduction in number of leaves and leaf area; reduced plant height; decrease in plant biomass	Kabir et al. (2009)
	Oat (Avena sativa)	Inhibition of enzyme activity which affected CO_2 fixation	Moustakas et al. (1994)

193

(continued)

Heavy metal	Plant species	Effects	References
Zn	Cluster bean (Cyamopsiste tragonoloba)	Reduction in germination percentage; reduced plant height and biomass; decrease in chlorophyll, carotenoid, sugar, starch, and amino acid content	Manivasagaperumal et al. (2011)
	Pea (Pisum sativum)	Reduction in chlorophyll content; alteration in structure of chloroplast; reduction in photosystem II activity; reduced plant growth	Doncheva et al. (2001)
	Rye grass (Lolium perenne)	Accumulation of Zn in plant leaves; growth reduction; decrease in plant nutrient content; reduced efficiency of photosynthetic energy conversion	Bonnet et al. (2000)

Table 2 (continued)



Fig. 1 Major processes proposed to be involved in heavy metal hyperaccumulation by plants (Yang et al. 2005)

Plant species	Metal	Reference
Alyssuim wulfenianum	Ni	Reeves and Brooks (1983)
Azolla pinnata, Lemna minor	Cu, Cr	Jain et al. (1990)
Brassica Juncea	Cu, Ni	Ebbs and Kochian (1997)
Arobiadopais hallerii	Cd	Kupper and Kochian (2010)
Pteris vittata	Cu, Ni, Zn	Ma et al. (2001)
Psychotria douarrei	Ni	Davis et al. (2001)
Pelargonium sp.	Cd	Dan et al. (2002)
Thlaspi caerulescens	Cd and Ni	Assuncao and Schat (2003)
Arabidapsis hallerii	Cd	Bert et al. (2003)
Amanita muscaria	Hg	Falandysz et al. (2003)
Arobis gemmifera	Cd and Zn	Kubota and Takenaka (2003)
Pistca stratiotes	Ag, Cd, Cr, Cu, Ni, Pb	Odjegba and Fasidi (2004)
Piptathertan miliacetall	Pb	Garcia et al. (2004)
Astragulus bisukatus, Brassica Juncea	Selenium	Ellis et al. (2004)
Sedum alfredli	Pb	Xiong et al. (2004)
Sesbania drummondi	Pb	Sharma et al. (2004)
Lemn agibba	As	Mkandavire and Dude (2005)
Pteris vittata	As	Dong (2005)
Thlaspi caerulescens	Zn, Pb, Zn, and Cd	Sun et al. (2005)
Sedum alfredii	Pb	Banasova and Horak (2008)
Chengiopanax sciadopkvltoides	Mn	Mizuno et al. (2008)
Tamarix smyrnensis	Cd	Manousaki et al. (2008)
Brassica napus	Cd	Selvam and Wong (2008)
Arabidopsis thaliana	Cd/Zn	Saraswat and Rai (2009)
Crotalaria juncea	Ni and Cr	Saraswat and Rai (2009)
Rorippaglobosa	Cd	Sun et al. (2010)

 Table 3 Examples of some plants and metals they can remediate (Sarma 2011)

major genes in plants which their genome maps are trolley identified (Deniau and Pieper 2006). Many researchers have tried to introduce new hyperaccumulating transgenic plants after finding the major genes involved in heavy metal tolerance. The responses of transgenic plants and its biosynthetic pathway genes against heavy metal stress are listed in Table 5 (Yang et al. 2005). A summary of the most effective transgenes and the effects of their expression on tolerance, accumulation, and volatilization of metals in plants is given in Tables 5 and 6.

Researches on gene expression pattern during heavy metal stress have demonstrated that genes coding membrane transporters responsible for the uptake, efflux, translocation, and sequestration of mineral nutrients overexpressed under adaptive situations. Plants ability in take up and translocate of metals to avoid their direct

1	21		·
Plant species	Metal	Bioaccumulation	References
Sebertia acuminate	Ni	25% by wt, dried sp	Jaffre et al. (1976)
Ipomea alpine	Cu	12,300 mg kg ⁻¹	Baker and Walker (1989)
Eichornia crassipes	Ni	6000 mg kg ⁻¹	Lytle et al. (1998)
Alternanthera sessilis	Cv	1017 mg kg ⁻¹	Sinha et al. (2002)
Zea mays L. Cv Ganga 5	Cr	2538 mg kg ⁻¹	Sharma and Sharma (2003)
Pteris vittata	As	2300 mg kg ⁻¹	Dong (2005)
Sesbania drummondi	Cd	1687 mg kg ⁻¹	Israr et al. (2006)
Thlaspi caerlescens	Zn	19,410 mg kg ⁻¹	Banasova and Horak (2008)
Thlaspi caerlescens	Cd	80 mg kg ⁻¹	Banasova and Horak (2008)
Myriophyllurn heterophyllum	Cd	21.46 µg g ⁻¹	Sivaci et al. (2008)
Potamogetan crispus	Cd	49.09 $\mu g g^{-1}$	Sivaci et al. (2008)
Sorghum sudanense	Cu	5330 mg kg ⁻¹	Wei et al. (2008)
Phragrnites australis	Cr	4825 mg kg ⁻¹	Calheiros et al. (2008)
Arabis paniculata	Cd	1127 mg kg ⁻¹	Zeng et al. (2009)
Atriplex halimus	Cd	60,651 μ g g ⁻¹ DW	Nedjimi and Daoud (2009)
Sedum alfredii	Cd	2183 mg kg ⁻¹	Jin and Liu (2009)
Sedum alfredii	Zn	13,799 mg kg ⁻¹ DW	Jin and Liu (2009)
Brassica juncea	Ni	3916 mg kg ⁻¹ DW	Pollard et al. (2009)
Potentilla griffithii	Zn	19,600 mg kg ⁻¹ DW	Saraswat and Rai (2009)
Rorippa globosa	Cd	218.9 $\mu g g^{-1} DW$	Hu et al. (2009)
Thlospi praecox Wulfen	Cd	>1000 µg g ⁻¹ DW	Sun et al. (2010)

Table 4 Examples of some metal hyperaccumulator (Sarma 2011)

toxicity for cells are consequence of powerful heavy metal transportation systems. Transport proteins and intracellular high-affinity binding sites mediate the uptake of metals across the plasma membrane. The overview of the metal transporters and their tissue-specific expression in plants is summarized in Table 7 (Memon and Schroder 2009).

Phytoremidation

Remediation is the main strategy to protect the environment from heavy metal toxic effects. Phytoremediation is one of most promising technologies that is used for remediation of vast quantities of heavy metals. The potential of heavy metal phytoremediation depends on the capability of a plant to accumulate excessive concentrations of metals (Ullah et al. 2015).

Gene	Target	Product	Source	Maximum observed effect
merA	Hg(II) reductase	Gram-negative bacteria	Liriodendron tulipifera	$\begin{array}{c} 50 \text{ mmol } 11 \text{ HgCl}_2; \\ 500 \text{ mg } \text{HgCl}_2 \text{ kg}^{-1} \end{array}$
merA	Hg(II) reductase	Gram-negative bacteria	Nicotiana tabacum	V: Hg-volatilization rate increase 10-fold
			Arabidopsis thaliana	T: 10 mmol 11 CH ₃ HgCl (440-fold)
merB	Organomercurial lyase	Gram-negative bacteria	A. thaliana	V: Up to 59 pg Hg(0) mg^{-1} fresh biomass min ⁻¹
APS1	ATP sulfurylase	A. thaliana	B. juncea	A: Two-fold increase in Se concentration
MT-I	MT	Mouse	N. tabacum	T: 200 $\text{mmol}^{-1} \text{CdCl}_2$ (20-fold)
CUP1	MT	Saccharomyces cerevisiae	B. oleracea	T: 400 mmol ⁻¹ CdCl ₂ (approximately 16-fold)
gsh2	GSH synthase	E. coli	B. juncea	A: Cd concentrations 125%
gsh1	g-Glu-Cys synthase	E. coli	B. juncea	A: Cd concentrations 190%
NtCBP4	Cation	Channel	N. tabacum	A: Pb concentrations 200%
				T: $250 \text{ mmol}^{-1} \text{ NiCl}_2$ (2.5-fold), Pb-sensitive
ZAT1	Zn	Transporter	A. thaliana	T: Slight increase
TaPCS1	PC	Wheat	<i>Nicotian</i> <i>aglauca</i> R. Graham	A: Pb concentrations 200%

 Table 5
 Genes introduced into plants and the effects of their expression on heavy metal tolerance, accumulation, or volatilization (Yang et al. 2005)

Relative values refer to control plants not expressing the transgene. References are given in the text. A accumulation in the shoot; GSH glutathione, MT metallothionein; T tolerance; V volatilization

Phytoremediation involves accumulation of heavy metals in the roots and shoots of plants. Plants used for phytoextraction usually possess the following characteristics: rapid growth rate, high biomass, extensive root system, and ability to tolerate high amounts of heavy metals (Chibuike and Obiora 2014). Phytoremediation of contaminated soils is generally believed to be effective through one or more of the following mechanisms or processes: phytoextraction, phytostabilization, phytodegradation, phytovolatilization, and rhizodegradation are phytoremediation mechanisms of contaminated soils. These mechanisms are described briefly in Table 8 (Oh et al. 2013). Numerous kindes of medical plants have been explored for phytoremediation (Padmavathiamma and Li 2007; Sarma 2011) however investigation to prevent elevated concentrations of heavy metals in medicinal plants should be done before marketing (Sharma et al. 2009; Steenkamp et al. 2000).

ц				
Antioxidant and/or its Source biosynthetic pathway gene (s)	Source	Target transgenic	Response of transgenic plants and/or organisms	References
CAT3	Brassica juncea	Nicatiana tabacum	Cd stress tolerance, better seedling growth, and longer roots	Gichner et al. (2004)
CAT	Brassica juncea	Nicatiana tabacum	Zn and Cd stress tolerance, 2.0-fold higher CAT activity than wild type, lower H_2O_2 level, and cell death	Guan et al. (2009)
CAT1 and CAT2	Brassica oleracea	Arabidopsis	Low level of H_2O_2 and enhanced stress tolerance	Chiang et al. (2013)
Cu/Zn SOD and/or CAT	Zea mays	Brassica compestris	Less reduction in photosynthetic activity than wild type under SO_2 stress SOD activity was 1.5–2.5-fold greater than wild type and enhanced Al tolerance	Tseng et al. (2007)
Mn SOD	Trificumaestivum	Brassica napus	SOD activity was 1.5–2.5-fold greater than wild type and enhanced Al tolerance	Basu et al. (2001)
cylGR/cpGR	Bacterial	Brassica juncea	cpGR transgenic showed lower Cd accumulation and 50 times higher GR activity than wild type plants	Pilon-Smits et al. (1999)
GR	Brassica rapa	Eschenthia coli	Increased tolerance against H ₂ O ₂ induced by Cd, 2n, and AI due to an enhanced OR activity	Kim et al. (2009)
DHAR/GR/GST	Escherichia coil	Nicatiana tobacum	Overexpression enhanced metal tolerance due to maintained red-tax couples such as ascorbate and glutathione	Le Martret et al. (2011)
DHAR	Oryza sativa	Eschenthia coli	DHAR-overexpressing E. colt strain was more tolerant to oxidant and metal-mediated stress conditions than the control E coil strain	Shin et al. (2008)
MDHAR/DHAR	Arabidopsis	Nicatiana tobacum	DHAR but not MDHAR enhanced Al tolerance by maintaining ascorbate level	Yin et al. (2010)
				(continued)

Table 6 Transgenic plants and heavy metal stress (Singh et al. 2016)

(continued)
9
ble
Tal

Antioxidant and/or its Source biosynthetic pathway gene (s)	Source	Target transgenic	Response of transgenic plants and/or organisms	References
GST	Tericoderm aviens	Nicatiana tobacum	Enhanced Cd tolerance simultaneously no Cd accumulation, increased activity of SOD, CAT, GST, APX, and GPX than wild type	Dixit et al. (2011)
Sulfite oxidase (SO)	Zea mays	Nicatiana tobacum	Increased tolerance against S due to enhanced OAT-mediated H ₂ O ₂ scavenging	Xia et al. (2012)
TePCSI	Thlaspi caerulescens	saccharcrnycescerevisiae and Nicotianatabacurn	Increased tolerance to Cd due to the decreased lipid peroxiclation and enhanced activities of SOD, POD, and CAT	Liu at at. (2011)
Serin acetyl transferase	Thlaspi goesingense	Escherichia coil	Imparts Ni and Co tolerance due to involvement of glutathione	Freeman et al. (2005)

Plant species	Protein families	Gene name	Metals	Tissue expression	References
A. thaliana, A. halleri, L. esculentum	P-Type ATPase	AtHMA1-8, AhHMA3-4, TcHMA4, GmHMA8, OsHMA9	Cu, Zn, Cd, Co, Pb	Shoots and roots	Bernard et al. (2004), Xing et al. (2008), Talke et al. (2006)
A. thaliana, A. halleri, T. caerulescens, G. max, O. sativa	Nramp	AtNRAMP1-6, LeNRAMP1-3, AhNRAMP3	Fe, Cd	Shoots and roots	Bereczky et al. (2003), Lanquar et al. (2005)
A. thaliana, O. sativa	ZIP	AtZIP1-12, OsZIP4	Zn	Shoots and roots	Filatov et al. (2006), Ishimaru et al. (2005), Roosens et al. (2008)
A. thaliana, T. caerulescens, L. esculentum, O. sativa, N. tabacum	IRT	AtIRT1, OsIRT1-2, LeIRT1-2, TcIRT1-2, NtIRT1	Cd, Zn	Shoots and roots	Kerkeb et al. (2008), Plaza et al. (2007)
A. thaliana, A. halleri, T. goesingense, N. tabacum, P. trichocarpa, P. deltoids	CDF	AtMTP1, TgMTP1, AhMTP1, PtdMTP1, NtMTP1	Zn	Roots	Kawachi et al. (2008), Shingu et al. (2005), Willems et al. (2007)

Table 7 Some of the identified metal transporters and their expression patterns in plants

Table 8 Phytoremediation mechanisms for treatment of contaminated soils (Oh et al. 2013)

Mechanisms	Description
Phytoextraction	Plants absorb contaminants and store in above-ground shoots and the harvestable parts of roots
Phytostabilization	Roots and their exudates immobilize contaminants through adsorption, accumulation, precipitation within the root zone, and thus prevent the spreading of contaminants
Phytodegradation	Plant enzymatic breakdown of organic contaminants, both internally and through secreted enzymes
Rhizodegradation (phytostimulation)	Plant roots stimulate soil microbial communities in plant root zones to break down contaminants
Phytovolatilization	Contaminants taken up by the roots through the plants to the leaves and are volatized through stomata where gas exchange occurs

Effects of Heavy Metals on Growth and Metabolic Status of Medical Plants

Heavy metal accumulation rate in different parts of medical plants have been reported in Table 9.

Heavy metal stress cause lipid oxidation processes and led oxylipins generation. Oxylipins starts signal transduction process for plant defense mechanism. The induction of biosynthesis and accumulation of secondary metabolites such as phenylpropanoids, terpenoids, and alkaloids are one of the major defense mechanisms of plants (Mithofer et al. 2004).

Plant species	Heavy metal	Values	References
Amaranthus dubius	Cd	150 ppm	Chunilall et al. (2005)
Amaranthus hybridus	Hg	336 ppm	Chunilall et al. (2005)
Agave amaniensis	Cd	900 $\mu g g^{-1} dry wt$	Kartosentono et al. (2002)
	Pb	1390 $\mu g g^{-1} dry$ wt	Kartosentono et al. (2002)
Costus speciosus	Cd, Pb	530 $\mu g g^{-1} dry wt$	Kartosentono et al. (2002)
Matricaria chamomilla	Zn	271 mg kg ⁻¹ dry wt	Grejtovsky et al. (2001)
Ocimum tenuiflorum	Cr	419 $\mu g g^{-1} dry wt$	Rai et al. (2004)
Matricaria chamomilla	Zn	271 mg kg ⁻¹ dry wt	Grejtovsky et al. (2001)
Phyllanthus amarus	Cd	82 ppm	Rai et al. (2005)
Hypericum sp.	Cd	$0.5 mg kg^{-1} dry wt$	Chizzola and Lukas (2006)
Cuminum cyminum	Fe	$1.4 \text{ mg g}^{-1} \text{ dry wt}$	Maiga et al. (2005)
Bombax costatum	Fe	$1.5 \text{ mg g}^{-1} \text{ dry wt}$	Maiga et al. (2005)
Hibiscus sabdariffa	Mn	243 $\mu g g^{-1} dry wt$	Maiga et al. (2005)
Spilanthes oleracea	Zn	$62.8 \ \mu g \ g^{-1} \ dry \ wt$	Maiga et al. (2005)
Bombax costatum	Zn	67.1 $\mu g g^{-1}$	Maiga et al. (2005)
Aesculus Hippocastanum	Pb	1480 μg g ⁻¹	Caldas and Machado (2004)
Tilia sp.	Zn	13.8-32.5 mg kg ⁻¹	Celechovska et al. (2004)
Sambucus nigra	Zn	30.8–49.9 mg kg ⁻¹	Celechovska et al. (2004)

 Table 9
 Heavy metal accumulation potency of some medical plants (Nasim and Dhir 2010)



Fig. 2 Short overview about some important aspects of cellular metal interaction (Viehweger 2014)

The general view of heavy metal signal transduction pathway in plants and role of oxylipins and secondary in detoxification process are summarized in Fig. 2.

Table 10 provides an insight in the complex signaling network induced by various environmental stress conditions and their similarity patterns (Viehweger 2014).

Several researches have showed plants exposed to heavy metal stress show varying degrees of secondary metabolite response (Table 11).

Plants exposed to heavy metal stress show differential responses in synthesis and accumulation of pharmacologically active molecules. Such responses range from negative effects on secondary metabolite production in a few plant species, viz., *Matricaria recutita*, to stimulatory effects that result in enhanced metabolite production in other species. Increases in heavy metal-induced secondary metabolite biosynthesis have been reported to occur in some medicinal plant species (Table 12) (Nasim and Dhir 2010). Utilizing heavy metal as inducers for higher production of secondary metabolites depend on the plant part used as consumer safety needs (Street 2012).

Heavy metal	Signal	Other stress conditions	Cellular responses	References
Cu	Calcium fluxes	Cold, drought, salinity	Phosphoprotein cascades, 2nd signalling molecules	Nielsen et al. (2003)
Cd, Cr	Mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathways	Osmotic stress, pathogen contact	Activation of transcription factors and stress-responsive genes	Liu et al. (2010)
Fe	pH shifts	Pathogen contact	Induction of secondary metabolism	Viehweger et al. (2006)
Co, Zn	Plant hormones like abscisic acid or ethylene	Cold, drought, salinity	Calcium signaling, guard cell regulation (water balance)	Zengin (2006)
Cd, Cu	Jasmonic acid	Pathogen contact, sugar, drought, salinity	Defence/stress response, development, induction of secondary metabolism	Howe and Schilmiller (2002)
Redox-active metals like Fe, Cu; almost all heavy metals at higher concentrations	Reactive oxygen species	Pathogen contact, cold, drought, salinity, high light intensity	Phosphoprotein cascades, activation of transcription factors and stress-responsive genes, activation of antioxidative defence	Ahmad et al. (2008)

 Table 10
 Overview of some heavy metal triggered signals in comparison to other environmental stresses

Table 11	Heavy metal	stress affecting	secondary metabolite	production	(Street	2012)
----------	-------------	------------------	----------------------	------------	---------	-------

	-	1
Plant species	Main findings relating to secondary metabolites	References
Hypericum perforatum L.	In the presence of Ni, the plant completely lost the ability to produce or accumulate hyperforin and demonstrated a 15–20-fold decrease in the concentration of pseudohypericin and hypericin	Murch et al. (2003)
Ocimum tenuiflorum L.	Cr stress induced the production of eugenol	Rai et al. (2004)
Dioscorea bulbifera L.	The occurrence of Cu stimulated diosgenin production	Narula et al. (2005)
<i>Phyllanthus amarus</i> Schum and Thonn	Phyllanthin and hypophyllanthin was enhanced by Cd stress	Rai et al. (2005)
Bacopa monnieri L.	The level of bacoside-A increased due to increased Fe in the media	Sinha and Saxena (2006)
Trigonella foenum- graecum L.	Cd and Co increased diosgenin levels however Cr and Ni inhibited its production	De and De (2011)

Plant species	Heavy metal	Compound	Medicinal properties	References
Catharanthus roseus	Cd 0.05–0.4 mM	Ajmalicine	Anticancer, antidiabetic	Zheng and Wu (2004)
Phyllanthus amarus	Cd (0.1–1 mM)	Hypophyllanthin	Hepatoprotective, diuretic, stomachic	Rai et al. (2005)
Matricaria chamomilla	CuC12 2%, Cd 60–120 μM Zn 50 mg kg ⁻¹ soil	Herniarin, Umbelliferone essential oil, sesquiterpenes	Anti-inflammatory, spasmolytic effect	Eliasova et al. (2004)
Salvia miltiorrhiza	Ag, Cu, Zn, Fe, Mn15–40 μM	Tanshinon	Broad spectrum bactericide, dilating coronary artery	Zhang et al. (2004), Guo et al. (2005)
Ononis arvensis	Ni, Co, Cr 6.3 µmol	Flavonoid	Anti-inflammatory, antiproliferative, anticancer, antioxidant, cardioprotective	Tumova et al. (2001), Tumova and Blazkova (2002)
Rheum palmatum	Cd 10 μM	Anthracene derivatives	Antioxidant	Kasparova and Siatka (2004)
Thalictrum rugosum	Cu 20–500 µM	Berberine	Antimicrobial in the treatment of dysentery and infectious diarrhea	Kim et al. (1991)
Hibiscus sabdariffa sabdanffa	Co 20 mg kg ⁻¹ soil Ni 25 mg kg ⁻¹ soil	Anthocyanins Flavons	Diaphoretic, hepatic and gastric disorders, arteriosclerosis, intestinal infections	Eman et al. (2007)
Ocimum tenuiflorum	Cr 20 µM	Eugenol	Antiseptic, antispasmodic, antibacterial	Rai et al. (2004)
Hypericum perforatum	Cr(VI) 0.1 μM	Hypericin Pseudohypericin	Minor burns, wounds, skin inflammations, nerve pain	Tirillini et al. (2006)
Datura stramonium	Cd 1 mM	Hyoscyamine	Peptic ulcers, diarrhea, and bronchial asthma	Furze et al. (1991)
Mentha arvensis	Zn	Essential oil, menthol	Antibacterial, antifebrile, effective in rhinitis, cough sore throat, colic	Misra (1992)
Costus speciosus	Pb 30 mg L^{-1}	Sitosterol	Purgative, febrifuge, expectorant	Kartosentono et al. (2002)
Pluchea lanceolata	200 μM ZnSO ₄ or 150 μM CuSO ₄	Quercetin, Tropane alkaloids	Inflammations, bronchitis, psoriasis, piles, antipyretic, analgesic, laxity, Diuretic, sedative, antispasmodic	Kumar et al. (2004)

Table 12 List of plants secondary metabolites increment under heavy metal stress (Nasim and Dhir 2010)

International Standards of Metals Residuals in Medicinal Plants

There are immense discrepancies between countries regarding regulatory requirements to pledge safety and quality of plant-based products (Diederichs et al. 2006). Several regulations have already been established worldwide for medicinal plants such as the US Pharmacopoeia (USP), Italian Pharmacopoeia (FUI), and European Pharmacopoeia (Ph. Eur.). Moreover, there are legal frameworks at national and/or regional levels that are designed to regulate the quality of plant-based products (Sarma et al. 2012). Several countries, including Canada, China, Malaysia, Singapore and Thailand, have developed their own national guidelines to ensure satisfactory levels of heavy metals in medicinal plants and plant-based products (Table 13) (Street 2012).

Conclusions and General Discussion

The presence of heavy metals in medicinal plants may stimulate production of bioactive compounds in many plant species. Although, the exact mechanism by which this happens remains unclear. Oxidative stress induced by heavy metals triggers signaling pathways that affect production of specific plant metabolites. In particular, reactiveoxygen species (ROS), generated during heavy metal stress, may cause lipid peroxidation that stimulates formation of highly active signaling compounds capable of triggering production of bioactive compounds (Nasim and Dhir 2010).

Heavy metal tolerance is a genetically complex process that involves many components of signaling pathways, multigenic in nature (Vinocur and Altman 2005). Therefore, plant-engineering strategies for heavy metal tolerance depend on the expression of gene(s) whose product(s) are involved either in signaling and regulatory pathways or in the synthesis of functional and structural proteins and metabolites that confer heavy metal stress tolerance. Recently, several efforts are being made to improve heavy metal stress tolerance capacity through genetic engineering with several achievements (Singh et al. 2016).

Phytoremediation holds great potential as an environmental cleanup technology and has been investigated substantially since the last two decades. Considerable interest in phytoremediation exists by both government and industry. The biggest advantage of phytoremediation is its low cost. Phytoremediation can be up to 1000-fold cheaper compared with conventional remediation methods such as excavation and reburial. In general, fast-growing, high-biomass, competitive, hardy, and metal-tolerant plant species could either be selected or could be generated by genetic manipulation and be used for remediation of different polluted sites.

The presence of several hundreds of catabolic enzymes and transporter sequences suggest that plants may have rich potential to mobilize and detoxify toxic

Table 13 Natio	and limits for heavy metals in h	nerbal medicinal p	products (Street 2	2012)				
Country		Arsenic (As)	Lead (Pb)	Cadmium (Cd)	Chromium (Cr)	Mercury (Hg)	Copper (Cu)	Lead (Pb)
Canada	Raw herbal materials	5 ppm	10 ppm	0.3 ppm	2 ppm	0.2 ppm		
	Finished herbal products	0.01 mg/day	0.02 mg/day	0.06 mg/day	0.02 mg/day	0.02 mg/day		
China	Herbal materials	2 ppm	10 ppm	1 ppm		0.5 ppm		20 ppm
Malaysia	Finished herbal products	5 mg/kg	10 mg/kg			0.5 mg/kg		
Republic of Korea	Herbal materials							30 ppm
Singapore	Finished herbal products	5 ppm	20 ppm			0.5 ppm	150 ppm	
Thailand	Herbal material, finished herbal products	4 ppm	10 ppm	0.3 ppm				
WHO recomme	endations		10 mg/kg	0.3 mg/kg				

012	
й	
(Street	
products	
medicinal	
herbal	
Е.	
metals	
heavy	
for	
limits	
National	
13	
Table	

contaminants including organic and inorganic in their environment within their tissues and organs. Genomic and proteomic information gained from these sequenced plant species will greatly accelerate the phytoremediation process in situ considerable efforts have been taken by the European Science Foundation, and under this context, a COST 859 Action entitled "Phytotechnologies to promote sustainable land use and improve food safety has been launched since 2004. The main objective of this action is to provide a sound understanding of the absorption, translocation, storage, or detoxification mechanisms of essential or toxic mineral elements, as well as organic contaminants, and to prepare the best use of plants for sustainable land use management and improve food safety. Promotion of cooperation and of data exchange between working groups in this action have been encouraged and the present work is a part of such cooperation (Memon and Schroder 2009).

Further knowledge about metal tolerance in plants is mandatory for several purposes: (1) Predictions about health risk which is caused by metal accumulation in crop plants failing visible symptoms of phytotoxicity. (2) Generation of genetically engineered plants having an enhanced accumulation of metals valuable for nutritional purposes (biofortification). (3) Cleanup of metal contaminated soils (phytoremediation) and mining of rare metals which are accumulated in plant tissues (phytomining) (Viehweger 2014).

References

- Abedin MJ, Cotter-Howells J, Meharg AA (2002) Arsenic uptake and accumulation in rice (*Oryza* sativa L.) irrigated with contaminated water. Plant Soil 240(2):311–319
- Ahmad P, Sarwat M, Sharma S (2008) Reactive oxygen species, antioxidants and signaling in plants. J Plant Biol 51:167–173
- Arya SK, Roy BK (2011) Manganese induced changes in growth, chlorophyll content and antioxidants activity in seedlings of broad bean (*Vicia faba L.*). J Environ Biol 32(6):707–711
- Asrar Z, Khavari-Nejad RA, Heidari H (2005) Excess manganese effects on pigments of Mentha spicata at flowering stage. Arch Agron Soil Sci 51(1):101–107
- Assuncao AGL, Schat H (2003) Thlaspi caerulescens, an attractive model species to study heavy metal hyperaccumulation in plants. New Phytol 159:351–360
- Baker AJM, Walker PL (1989) Ecophysiology of metal uptake by tolerant plants. In: Shaw AJ (ed) Heavy metal tolerance in plants: evolutionary aspects. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, pp 155–177
- Banasova V, Horak O (2008) Heavy metal content in Thlaspi caerulescens J. et C. Presl growing on metalliferous and non-metalliferous soils in Central Slovakia. Int J Environ Pollut 33:133–145
- Barrachina AC, Carbonell FB, Beneyto JM (1995) Arsenic uptake, distribution, and accumulation in tomato plants: effect of arsenite on plant growth and yield. J Plant Nutr 18(6):1237–1250
- Basu U, Good AG, Taylor GJ (2001) Transgenic Brassica napus plants overexpressing aluminium-induced mitochondrial manganese superoxide dismutase cDNA are resistant to aluminium. Plant Cell Environ 24:1269–1278
- Bereczky Z, Wang HY, Schubert V, Ganal M, Bauer P (2003) Differential regulation of Nramp and IRT metal transporter genes in wild type and iron uptake mutants of tomato. J Biol Chem 278:24697–24704

- Bernard C, Roosens N, Czernic P, Lebrun M, Verbruggen N (2004) A novel CPx-ATPase from the cadmium hyperaccumulator *Thlaspi caerulescens*. FEBS Letters 569:140–148
- Bert V, Meerts P, Saumitou-Laprade P, Salis P, Gruber W, Verbruggen N (2003) Genetic basis of Cd tolerance and hyperaccumulation in Arabidopsis halleri. Plant Soil 249:9–18
- Bonnet M, Camares O, Veisseire P (2000) Effects of zinc and influence of Acremonium lolii on growth parameters, chlorophyll a fluorescence and antioxidant enzyme activities of ryegrass (Lolium perenne L. cv Apollo). J Exp Bot 51(346):945–953
- Caldas ED, Machado LL (2004) Cadmium, mercury and lead in medicinal herbs in Brazil. Food Chem Toxicol 42:599–603
- Calheiros CSC, Rangel AOSS, Castro PML (2008) The effects of tannery wastewater on the development of different plant species and chromium accumulation in phragmites australis. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 55:404–414
- Celechovska O, Pizova M, Konickova J (2004) The content of zinc and cadmium in medicinal plants and their infusions. Ceska Slov Farm 53:336–339
- Chiang CM, Chen SP, Chen LFO, Chiang MC, Chien HL, Lin KH (2013) Expression of the broccoli catalase gene (BoCAT) enhances heat tolerance in transgenic Arabidopsis. J Plant Biochem Biotechnol 23:266–277
- Chibuike GU, Obiora SC (2014) Heavy metal polluted soils: effect on plants and bioremediation methods. Appl Environ Soil Sci. doi:10.1155/2014/752708
- Chizzola R, Lukas B (2006) Variability of the cadmium content in Hypericum species collected in Eastern Austria. Water Air Soil Pollut 170:331–343
- Chunilall V, Kindness A, Jonnalagadda SB (2005) Heavy metal uptake by two edible Amaranthus herbs grown on soils contaminated with lead, mercury, cadmium, and nickel. J Environ Sci Health B 40:375–384
- Cook CM, Kostidou A, Vardaka E, Lanaras T (1997) Effects of copper on the growth, photosynthesis and nutrient concentrations of Phaseolus plants. Photosynthetica 34(2): 179–193
- Cosio C, Martinoia E, Keller C (2004) Hyperaccumulationofcadmium and zinc in Thlaspicaerulescens and Arabidopsis hallari at the leaf cellular level. Plant Physiol 134:716–725
- Cox MS, Bell PF, Kovar JL (1996) Differential tolerance of canola to arsenic when grown hydroponically or in soil. J Plant Nutr 19(12):1599–1610
- Dan TV, Krishnaraj S, Saxena PK (2002) Cadmiumand nickel uptake and accumulation in scented geranium (Pelargonium sp. frensham). Water Air Soil Pollut 137:355–364
- Davis MA, Pritchard SG, Boyd RS, Prior SA (2001) Developmental and induced responses of nickel-based and organic defences of the nickel-hyperaccumulating shrub, Psychotria douarrei. New Phytol 150:49–58
- De D, De B (2011) Elicitation of diosgenin production in Trigonella foenumgracecum L. seedlings by heavy metals and signaling molecules. Acta Physiol Plant 33:1585–1590
- Denholm J (2010) Complementary medicine and heavy metal toxicity in Australia. Web med Central 1:1-6
- Deniau AX, Pieper B (2006) WMT-B, QTL analysis of cadmium and zinc accumulation in the heavy metal hyper accumulator Thlaspicaerulescens. Theor Appl Genet 113:907–920
- Dhir B, Sharmila P, Saradhi P (2008) Photosynthetic performance of *Salvinianatans* exposed to chromium and zinc rich wastewater. Braz J Plant Physiol 20:61–70
- Diederichs N, Feiter U, Wynberg R (2006) Production of traditional medicines: technologies, standards and regulatory issues. In: Diederichs N (ed) Commercialising medicinal plants—a Southern African guide. Sun Press, Stellenbosch, pp 155–166
- Dixit P, Mukherjee PK, Ramachandran V, Eapen S (2011) Glutathione transferase from Trichoderma virens enhances cadmium tolerance without enhancing its accumulation in transgenic Nicotiana tabacum. PLoS ONE 6:e16360. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0016360
- Doncheva S, Stoynova Z, Velikova V (2001) Influence of succinate on zinc toxicity of pea plants. J Plant Nutr 24(6):789–804

- Doncheva S, Georgieva K, Vassileva V, Stoyanova Z, Popov N, Ignatov G (2005) Effects of succinate on manganese toxicity in pea plants. J Plant Nutr 28(1):47–62
- Dong R (2005) Molecular cloning and characterization of a phytochelatin synthase gene, PvPCS1, from Pteris vittata L. J Ind Microbiol Biot 32:527–533
- Du X, Zhu YG, Liu WJ, Zhao XS (2005) Uptake of mercury (Hg) by seedlings of rice (Oryza sativa L.) grown in solution culture and interactions with arsenate uptake. Environ Exp Bot 54 (1):1–7
- Ebbs SD, Kochian LV (1997) Toxicity of Zn and Copper to Brassica species: implication for phytoremediation. J Environ Qual 26:776–781
- Eliasova A, Repca KM, Pastrova A (2004) Quantitative changes of secondary metabolites of Matricaria chamomilla by abiotic stress. Verlag der Zeitschrift für Naturforschung, Tübingen. http://www.znaturforsch.com
- Ellis DR, Sors TG, Brunk DG, Albrecht C, Orser C et al (2004) Production of Se-methylselenocysteine in transgenic plants expressing selenocysteine methyltransferase. BMC Plant Biol 4:1–15
- Eman A, Gad N, Badran NM (2007) Effect of cobalt and nickel on plant growth, yield and flavonoids content of Hibiscus sabdariffa L. Aus J Basic Appl Sci 1:73–78
- Falandysz J, Lipka K, Kawano M, Brzostowski A, Dadey M, Jedrusiak A, Puzyn T (2003) Mercury content and its bio-concentration factors in wild mushrooms at Lukta and Morag, North-Eastern Poland. J Agric Food Chem 51:2832–2836
- Filatov V, Dowdle J, Smirnoff N (2006) Comparison of gene expression in segregating families identifies genes and genomic regions involved in a novel adaptation, zinc hyperaccumulation. Mol Ecol 15:3045–3059
- Freeman JL, Garcia D, Kim D, Hopf A, Salt DE (2005) Constitutively elevated salicylic acid signals glutathione-mediated nickel tolerance in Thlaspi nickel hyperaccumulators. Plant Physiol 137:1082–1091
- Furze JM, Rhodes MJC, Parr AJ, Robins RJ, Whitehead IM, Threlfall DR (1991) Abiotic factors elicit sesquiterpenoid phytoalexin production but not alkaloid production in transformed root cultures of *Datura stramonium*. Plant Cell Rep 10:111–114
- Garcia G, Faz A, Cunha M (2004) Performance of *Piptatherum miliaceum* (Smilo grass) in edophic Pb and Zn phytoremediation over a short growth periods. Int Biodeters Biodeg 54:245–250
- Gichner T, Patkova Z, Szakova J, Demnerova K (2004) Cadmium induces DNA damages in tobacco roots, but no DNA damage, somatic mutations orhomologous recombinations in tobacco leaves. Mutat Res Genet Toxicol Environ Mut 559:49–57
- Grejtovsky A, Repcak M, Eliasova A, Markusova K (2001) Effect of cadmium on active principle contents of Matricaria recutita L. Herba Pol 47:203–208
- Guan Z, Chai T, Zhang Y, Xu J, Wei W (2009) Enhancement of Cd tolerance in transgenic tobacco plants overexpressing a Cd-induced catalase cDNA. Chemosphere 76:623–630. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2009.04.047
- Guo XH, Gao WY, Chen HX, Huang LQ (2005) Effects of mineral cations on the accumulation of tanshinone II A and protocatechuic aldehyde in the adventitious root culture of Salvia niltiorrhiza. Zhongguo Zhong Yao Za Zhi 30:885–888
- Herrera-Estrella LR, Guevara-Garcia AA (2009) Heavy metal adaptation. eLS encyclopedia of life sciences. Wiley, Ltd. Published Online: 15 Mar 2009, doi:10.1002/9780470015902.a0001318
- Howe GA, Schilmiller AL (2002) Oxylipin metabolism in response to stress. Curr Opin Plant Biol 5:230–236
- Hu PJ, Qiu RL, Senthilkumar P, Jiang D, Chen ZW, Tang YT, Liu FJ (2009) Tolerance, accumulation and distribution of zinc and cadmium in hyperaccumulator Potentilla griffithii. Environ Exp Bot 66:317–325
- Hussain A, Abbas N, Arshad F et al (2013) Effects of diverse doses of lead (Pb) on different growth attributes of Zea mays L. Agric Sci 4(5):262–265
- Ishimaru Y, Suzuki M, Kobayashi T, Takahashi M, Nakanishi H, Mori S, Nishizawa NK (2005) OsZIP4, a novel zinc-regulated zinc transporter in rice. J Exp Bot 56:3207–3214

- Israr M, Sahi SV, Jain J (2006) Cadmium accumulation and antioxidative responses in the sesbania Drummondii callus. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 50:121–127
- Jaffre T, Brooks RR, Lee J, Reeves RD (1976) Sebertia acumip A nickel-accumulating plant from New Caledonia. Science 193:579–580
- Jain SK, Vasudevan P, Jha NK (1990) *Azolla pinnata* and *Lemna minor* L. for removal of led and Zn from polluted water. Water Res 24:177–183
- Jayakumar K, Abdul Jal eel C, Vijayarengan P (2007) Changes in growth, biochemical constituents and antioxidant potentials in radish (*Raphanus sativus* L.) under cobalt stress. Turk J Biol 31:127–136
- Jayakumar K, Jaleel CA, Azooz MM (2008) Phytochemical changes in green gram (Vigna radiata) under cobalt stress. Glob J Mol Sci 3(2):46–49
- Jayakumar K, Rajesh M, Baskaran L, Vijayarengan P (2013) Changes in nutritional metabolism of tomato (Lycopersicon esculantum Mill.) plants exposed to increasing concentration of cobalt chloride. Int J Food Nutr Saf 4(2):62–69
- Jiang W, Liu D, Hou W (2001) Hyperaccumulation of cadmium by roots, bulbs and shoots of garlic. Biores Technol 76(1):9–13
- Jin XF, Liu D (2009) Effects of zinc on root morphology and antioxidant adaptations of cadmium-treated Sedum alfredii H. J Plant Nutr 32:1642–1656
- Kabir M, Iqbal MZ, Shafiq M (2009) Effects of lead on seedling growth of Thespesia populnea L. Adv Environ Biol 3(2):184–190
- Kartosentono S, Suryawati S, Indrayanto G, Zaini NC (2002) Accumulation of Cd²⁺ and Pb²⁺ in the suspension cultures of Agave amaniensis and Costus speciosus and the determination of the culture's growth and phytosteroid content. Biotechnol Lett 24:687–690
- Kasparova M, Siatka T (2004) Abiotic elicitation of the explant culture of Rheum palmatum L. by heavy metals. Ceska Slov Farm 53:252–255
- Kawachi M, Kobae Y, Mimura T, Maeshima M (2008) Deletion of a histidine-rich loop of AtMTP1, a vacuolar Zn_{24}/H^+ antiporter of Arabidopsis thaliana, stimulates the transport activity. J Biol Chem 283:8374–8383
- Kerkeb L, Mukherjee I, Chatterjee I, Lahner B, Salt DE, Connolly EL (2008) Iron-induced turnover of the Arabidopsis Iron-Regulated Transporter1 metal transporter requires lysine residues. Plant Physiol 146:1964–1973
- Khalid BY, Tinsley J (1980) Some effects of nickel toxicity on rye grass. Plant Soil 55(1):139-144
- Kim D, Pedersen H, Chin C (1991) Stimulation of berberine production in Thalictrum rugosum suspension cultures in response to addition of cupric sulfate. Biotechnol Lett 13:213–216
- Kim IS, Shin SY, Kim YS, Kim HY, Yoon HS (2009) Expression of a glutathione reductase from Brassica rapa subsp. pekinensis enhanced cellular redox homeostasis by modulating antioxidant proteins in Escherichia coli. Mol Cells 28:479–487
- Kjær C, Elmegaard N (1996) Effects of copper sulfate on black bindweed (Polygonum convolvulus L.). Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 33(2):110–117
- Kubota H, Takenaka C (2003) Arabis gemmifera is a hyperaccumulator of Cd and Zn. Int J Phytorem 5:197–220
- Kumar S, Narula A, Sharma MP, Srivastava PS (2004) In vitro propagation of Pluchea lanceolata, a medicinal plant, and effect of heavy metals and different aminopurines on quercetin content. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Plant 40:171–176
- Kupper H, Kochian LV (2010) Transcriptional regulation of metal transport genes and mineral nutrition during acclimatization to cadmium and zinc in the Cd/Zn hyperaccumulator, Thlaspi caerulescens (Ganges population). New Phytol 185:114–129
- Lanquar V, Lelievre F, Bolte S, Hames C, Alcon C, Neumann D, Vansuyt G, Curie C, Schröder A, Kramer U, Barbier-Brygoo H, Thomine S (2005) Mobilization of vacuolar iron by AtNramp3 and AtNramp4 is essential for seed germination on low iron. EMBO J 24:4041–4051
- Le Martret B, Poage M, Shiel K, Nugent GD, Dix PJ (2011) Tobacco chloroplast transformants expressing genes encoding dehydroascorbate reductase, glutathione reductase, and glutathione-S-transferase, exhibit altered anti-oxidant metabolism and improved abiotic stress tolerance. Plant Biotechnol J 9:661–673

- Lin YC, Kao CH (2005) Nickel toxicity of rice seedlings: cell wall peroxidase, lignin, and NiSO₄inhibited root growth. Crop Environ Bioinform 2:131–136
- Liu XM, Kim KE, Kim KC, Nguyen XC, Han HJ, Jung MS, Kim HS, Kim SH, Park HC, Yun DJ, Chung WS (2010) Cadmium activates Arabidopsis MPK3 and MPK6 via accumulation of reactive oxygen species. Phytochem 71:614–618
- Liu GY, Zhang YX, Chai TY (2011) Phytochelatin synthase of Thlaspi caerulescens enhanced tolerance and accumulation of heavy metal when expressed in yeast and tobacco. Plant Cell Rep 30:1067–1076
- Lytle CM, Lytle FW, Yang N, JinHong Q, Hansen D, Zayed A, Terry N (1998) Reduction of Cr (VI) to Cr (III) by wetland plants: potential for in situ heavy metal detoxification. Environ Sci Technol 32:3087–3093
- Ma LQ, Komar KM, Tu C, Zhang W, Cai Y, Kennelley ED (2001) A fern that hyperaccumulates arsenic. Nature 409:579
- Maiga A, Diallo D, Bye R, Paulsen BS (2005) Determination of some toxic and essential metal ions in medicinal and edible plants from Mali. J Agric Food Chem 23:2316–2321
- Manivasagaperumal R, Balamurugan S, Thiyagarajan G, Sekar J (2011) Effect of zinc on germination, seedling growth and biochemical content of cluster bean (*Cyamopsis tetragonoloba* (L.) Taub). Curr Bot 2(5):11–15
- Manousaki E, Kadukova J, Papadantonakis N, Kalogerakis N (2008) Phytoextraction and phytoexcretion of Cd by the leaves of Tamarix smyrnensis growing on contaminated non-saline and saline soils. Environ Res 106:326–332
- Memon RA, Schroder P (2009) Implications of metal accumulation mechanisms to phytoremediation. Environ Sci Pollut Res 16:162–175
- Misra A (1992) Effect of zinc stress in Japanese mint as related to growth, photosynthesis, chlorophyll content and secondary plant products-the monoterpenes. Photosynthetica 26:225–234
- Mithofer A, Schulze B, Boland W (2004) Biotic and heavy metal stress response in plants: evidence for common signals. FEBS Lett 566:1–5
- Mizuno T, Hirano K, Kato S, Obata H (2008) Cloning of ZIP family metal transporter genes from the manganese hyperaccumulator plant Chengiopanax sciadophylloides and its metal transport and resistance abilities in yeast. Soil Sci Plant Nutr 54:86–94
- Mkandavire M, Dude EG (2005) Accumulation of arsenic in Lemna gibba L. (duckweed) in tailing waters of two abandoned uranium mining sites in Saxony. Germany Sci Tot Environ 336:81–89
- Moral R, Navarro Pedreno J, Gomez I, Mataix J (1995) Effects of chromium on the nutrient element content and morphology of tomato. J Plant Nutr 18(4):815–822
- Moustakas M, Lanaras T, Symeonidis L, Karataglis S (1994) Growth and some photosynthetic characteristics of field grown Avena sativa under copper and lead stress. Photosynthetica 30 (3):389–396
- Murch SJ, Haq K, Rupasinghe HPV, Saxena PK (2003) Nickel contamination affects growth and secondary metabolite composition of St. John's wort (Hypericum perforatum L.). Environ Exp Bot 49:251–257
- Narula A, Kumar A, Srivastava PS (2005) Abiotic metal stress enhances diosgenin yield in Dioscorea bulbifera L. cultures. Plant Cell Rep 24:250–254
- Nasim SA, Dhir B (2010) Heavy metals alter the potency of medicinal plants. Rev Environ ContamToxicol 203:139–149
- Nedjimi B, Daoud Y (2009) Cadmium accumulation in Atriplex halimus subsp schweinfurthii and its influence on growth, proline, root hydraulic conductivity and nutrient uptake. Flora Morphol Distribution Funct Ecol Plants 204:316–324
- Nematshahi N, Lahouti M, Ganjeali A (2012) Accumulation of chromium and its effect on growth of (Allium cepa cv. Hybrid). Eur J Exp Biol 2(4):969–974
- Nielsen HD, Brown MT, Brownlee C (2003) Cellular responses of developing Fucus serratus embryos exposed to elevated concentrations of Cu²⁺. Plant Cell Environ 26:1737–1747

- Odjegba VJ, Fasidi IO (2004) Accumulation of trace elements by Pistia stratiotes: implications for phytoremediation. Ecotoxicology 13:637–646
- Oh K, Li T, Cheng H, Hu X, He C, Yan L, Shinichi Y (2013) Development of profitable phytoremediation of contaminated soils with biofuel crops. J Environ Protec. doi:10.4236/jep. 2013.44A008
- Padmavathiamma PK, Li LY (2007) Phytoremediation technology: hyperaccumulation metals in plants. Water Air Soil Pollut 184:105–126
- Pandolfini T, Gabbrielli R, Comparini C (1992) Nickel toxicity and peroxidase activity in seedlings of Triticum aestivum L. Plant Cell Environ 15(6):719–725
- Pilon-Smits EAH, Hwang S, Lytle CM, Zhu Y, Tai JC, Bravo RC et al (1999) Overexpression of ATP sulfurylase in indian mustard leads to increased selenate uptake, reduction, and tolerance. Plant Physiol 119:1123–1132
- Plaza S, Tearall KL, Zhao FJ, Buchner P, McGrath SP, Hawkesford MJ (2007) Expression and functional analysis of metal transporter genes in two contrasting ecotypes of the hyperaccumulator Thlaspi caerulescens. J Exp Bot 58:1717–1728
- Pollard AJ, Stewart HL, Roberson CB (2009) Manganese hyperaccumulation in Phytolacca americana L. from the southeastern united states. Northeastern Natur 16:155–162
- Rai V, Vajpayee P, Singh SN, Mehrotra S (2004) Effect of chromium accumulation on photosynthetic pigments, oxidative stress defense system, nitrate reduction, proline level and eugenol content of Ocimum tenuiflorum L. Plant Sci 167:1159–1169
- Rai V, Khatoon S, Bisht SS, Mehrotra S (2005) Effect of cadmium on growth, ultramorphology of leaf and secondary metabolites of *Phyllanthus amarus* Schum. and Thonn. Chemosphere 61:1644–1650
- Reeves RD, Brooks RR (1983) Hyperaccumulation of lead and zinc by two metallophytes from a mining area of central Europe. Environ Pollut A Ecol Biol 31:277–287
- Roosens NHCJ, Willems G, Saumitou-Laprade P (2008) Using Arabidopsis to explore zinc tolerance and hyperaccumulation. Trends Plant Sci 13:208–215
- Saraswat S, Rai JPN (2009) Phytoextraction potential of six plant species grown in multimetal contaminated soil. Chem Ecol 25:1–11
- Sarma H (2011) Metal hyperaccumulation in plants: a review focusing on phytoremediation technology. J Environ Sci Technol 4:118–138
- Sarma H, Deka S, Deka H, Saikia RR (2012) Accumulation of heavy metals in selected medicinal plants. Rev Environ Contam Toxicol 214:63–86
- Selvam A, Wong JW (2008) Phytochelatin systhesis and cadmium uptake of Brassica napus. Environ Technol 29:765–773
- Sharma DM, Sharma CP, Tripathi RD (2003) Phytotoxic lesions of chromium in maize. Chemosphere 51:63–68
- Sharma NC, Gardea-Torresdey JL, Parsons J, Sahi SV (2004) Chemical speciation and cellular deposition of lead in Sesbania drummondii. Environ Toxicol Chem 23:2068–2073
- Sharma RK, Agrawal M, Marshall FM (2009) Heavy metals in vegetables collected from production and market sites of a tropical urban area of India. Food Chem Toxicol 47:583–591
- Shekar CHC, Sammaiah D, Shasthree T, Reddy KJ (2011) Effect of mercury on tomato growth and yield attributes. Int J Pharma Bio Sci 2(2):B358–B364
- Sheldon AR, Menzies NW (2005) The effect of copper toxicity on the growth and root morphology of Rhodes grass (Chloris gayana Knuth.) in resin buffered solution culture. Plant Soil 278(1–2):341–349
- Shenker M, Plessner OE, Tel-Or E (2004) Manganese nutrition effects on tomato growth, chlorophyll concentration, and superoxide dismutase activity. J Plant Physiol 161(2):197–202
- Sheoran IS, Singal HR, Singh R (1990) Effect of cadmium and nickel on photosynthesis and the enzymes of the photosynthetic carbon reduction cycle in pigeonpea (Cajanus cajan L.). Photosynth Res 23(3):345–351
- Shin SY, Kim IS, Kim YH, Park HM, Lee JY, Kang HG et al (2008) Scavenging reactive oxygen species by rice dehydroascorbate reductase alleviates oxidative stresses in Escherichia coli. Mol Cells 26:616–620
- Shingu Y, Kudo T, Ohsato S, Kimura M, Ono Y, Yamaguchi I, Hamamoto H (2005) Characterization of genes encoding metal tolerance proteins isolated from Nicotiana glauca and Nicotiana tabacum. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 331:675–680
- Singh R, Gautam N, Mishra A, Gupta R (2011) Heavy metals and living systems: an overview. Indian J Pharmacol 43:246–253
- Singh S, Parihar P, Singh R, Singh VP, Prasad SM (2016) Heavy metal tolerance in plants: role of transcriptomics, proteomics, metabolomics, and ionomics. Front Plant Sci. doi:10.3389/fpls. 2015.01143
- Sinha S, Saxena R (2006) Effect of iron on lipid peroxidation, and enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidants and bacodise-a content in medicinal plant Bacopa monnieri L. Chemosphere 62:1340–1350
- Sinha S, Saxena R, Singh S (2002) Comparative studies on accumulation of Cr from metal solution and tannery effluent under repeated metal exposure by aquatic plants: its toxic effects. Environ Monit Assess 80:17–31
- Sivaci A, Elmas E, Gumu F, Sivaci ER (2008) Removal of cadmium by Myriophyllum heterophyllum michx and Potamogeton crispus L. and its effect on pigments and total phenolic compounds. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 54:612–618
- Steenkamp V, Von arb M, Stewart MJ (2000) Metal concentrations in plants and urine from patients treated with traditional remedies. Forensic Sci Int 114:89–95
- Street RA (2012) Heavy metals in medicinal plant products-an African perspective. South African J Bot 82:67–74
- Sun R, Jin C, Zhou Q (2010) Characteristics of cadmium accumulation and tolerance in Rorippa globosa (Turcz.) Thell., a species with some characteristics of cadmium hyperaccumulation. Plant Growth Regul 61:67–74
- Sun Q, Ye ZH, Wang XR, Wong MH (2005). Increase of glutathione in mine population of Sedum alfredii: a Zn hyperaccumulator and Pb accumulator. Phytochemistry 66(21):2549–2556
- Talke IN, Kramer U, Hanikenne M (2006) Zinc-dependent global transcriptional control, transcriptional deregulation, and higher gene copy number for genes in metal homeostasis of the hyperaccumulator Arabidopsis halleri. Plant Physiol 142:148–167
- Tirillini B, Ricci A, Pintore G, Chessa M, Sighinolfi V (2006) Induction of hypericin in Hypericum perforatum in response to chromium. Fitoterapia 77:164–170
- Tseng MJ, Liu CW, Yiu JC (2007) Enhanced tolerance to sulfur dioxide and salt stress of transgenic Chinese cabbage plants expressing both superoxide dismutase and catalase in chloroplasts. Plant Physiol Biochem 45:822–833
- Tumova V, Blazkova R (2002) Effect on the formation of flavonoids in the culture of Ononis arvensis L. in vitro by the action of CrCl₃. Ceska Slov Farm 51:44–46
- Tumova L, Poustkova J, Tuma V (2001) CoCl₂ and NiCl₂ elicitation and flavonoid production in Ononis arvensis L. culture in vitro. Acta Pharmaceutica 51:159–162
- Ullah A, Heng S, Munis MFH, Fahad S, Yang X (2015) Phytoremediation of heavy metals assisted by plant growth promoting (PGP) bacteria: a review. Environ Exp Bot 117:28–40
- Viehweger K (2014) How plants cope with heavy metals. Bot Stud Int J 55:35. doi:https://doi.org/ 10.1186/1999-3110-55-35
- Viehweger K, Schwartze W, Schumann B, Lein W, Roos W (2006) The G alpha protein controls a pH-dependent signal path to the induction of phytoalexin biosynthesis in Eschscholzia californica. Plant Cell 18:1510–1523
- Vinocur B, Altman A (2005) Recent advances in engineering plant tolerance to abiotic stress: achievements and limitations. Curr Opin Biotechnol 16:123–132
- Wang M, Zou J, Duan X, Jiang W, Liu D (2007) Cadmium accumulation and its effects on metal uptake in maize (Zea mays L.). Biores Technol 98(1):82–88
- Wei S, Zhou Q (2008) Trace elements in agro-ecosystems. In: Prasad MNV (ed) Trace elements as contaminants and nutrients consequences in ecosystems and human health. Wiley, New Jersey, USA, pp 55–80
- Wei L, Luo C, Li X, Shen Z (2008) Copper accumulation and tolerance in Chrysanthemum coronarium L. and Sorghum sudanense L. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 55:238–246

- Willems G, Dräger DB, Courbot M (2007) The genetic basis of zinc tolerance in the metallophyte Arabidopsis halleri ssp. Halleri (Brassicaceae) an analysis of quantitative trait loci. Genetics 176:659–674
- Xia Z, Sun K, Wang M, Wu K, Zhang H, Wu J (2012) Overexpression of a maize sulfite oxidase gene in tobacco enhances tolerance to sulfite stress via sulfite oxidation and CAT-mediated H₂O₂ scavenging. PLoS One 7:e37383
- Xing JP, Jiang RF, Ueno D, Ma JF, Schat H, McGrath SP, Zhao FJ (2008) Variation in root-to-shoot translocation of cadmium and zinc among different accessions of the hyperaccumulators Thlaspi caerulescens and Thlaspi praecox. New Phytol 178:315–325
- Xiong YH, Yang XE, Ye ZQ, He ZL (2004) Characteristics of cadmium uptake and accumulation by two contrasting ecotypes of Sedum alfredii Hance. J Environ Sci Health A Tox Hazard Subst Environ Eng 39:2925–2940
- Yang X, Feng Y, He Z, Stoffella PJ (2005) Molecular mechanisms of heavy metal hyperaccumulation and phytoremediation. J Trace Elem Med Biol 18:339–353
- Yin L, Wang S, Eltayeb AE, Uddin MI, Yamamoto Y, Tsuji W et al (2010) Overexpression of dehydroascorbate reductase, but not monodehydroascorbate reductase, confers tolerance to aluminum stress in transgenic tobacco. Planta 231:609–621
- Yourtchi MS, Bayat HR (2013) Effect of cadmium toxicity on growth, cadmium accumulation and macronutrient content of durum wheat (Dena CV.). Int J Agri Crop Sci 6(15):1099–1103
- Zeng X, Ma LQ, Qiu R, Tang Y (2009) Responses of non-protein thiols to Cd exposure in Cd hyperaccumulator Arabis paniculata Franch. Environ Exp Bot 66:242–248
- Zengin FK (2006) The effects of Co₂₊ and Zn₂₊ on the contents of protein, abscisic acid, proline and chlorophyll in bean (Phaseolus vulgaris cv. Strike) seedlings. J Environ Biol 27:441–448
- Zhang C, Yan Q, Cheuk W, Wu J (2004) Enhancement of tanshinone production in Salvia miltiorrhiza hairy root culture by Ag⁺ elicitation and nutrient feeding. Planta Med 70:147–151
- Zheng Z, Wu M (2004) Cadmium treatment enhances the production of alkaloid secondary metabolites in Catharanthus roseus. Plant Sci 166:507–514

Horizontal Natural Product Transfer: A so Far Unconsidered Source of Contamination of Medicinal Plants

Melanie Nowak, Mahdi Yahyazadeh, Laura Lewerenz and Dirk Selmar

Abstract In this treatise, an actual overview on the newly verbalised phenomenon of "Horizontal Natural Product Transfer" is presented. This phenomenon was recently discovered when analyzing the potential sources of contaminations of plant derived commodities by nicotine and pyrrolizidine alkaloids. It turned out that these alkaloids, leached out from decomposing alkaloid containing plant parts (donor plants), are taken up by the roots of acceptor plants. In analogy to the well-known and widespread phenomenon of the uptake of xenobiotics, it can be deduced that a wide array of alkaloids and other natural products are taken up by acceptor plants either. As such uptake generally is due to a simple diffusion of the substances across the biomembranes, the physico-chemical properties of the natural products, especially their hydrophilic as well as their lipophilic character, determines the extent of a corresponding uptake. Latest findings from co-cultivation experiments revealed that natural products are not transferred exclusively from dead and rotting donor plant material, but also from living and vital plants. Yet, up to now, the exact path, i.e., in which manner the natural products are translocated from the living plants into the acceptor plants is unknown. The finding that plants inherently are able to take up most alkaloids from the soil, derived from other plants, necessitates a reconsideration of our understanding of plant-plant-interactions. In this context, also the classical definition of xenobiotics, which up to now are considered as "non-natural" substances, might be extended by including also natural products leached out into the soil.

Keywords Horizontal transfer · Natural products · Xenobiotics · Alkaloids

M. Nowak \cdot M. Yahyazadeh \cdot L. Lewerenz \cdot D. Selmar (\boxtimes) Institute of Plant Biology, TU Braunschweig, Mendelssohnstr. 4, 38106 Brunswick, Germany e-mail: d.selmar@tu-bs.de

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017 M. Ghorbanpour and A. Varma (eds.), *Medicinal Plants and Environmental Challenges*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-68717-9_12

Introduction

It is a matter of common knowledge that plants take up substances from the soil by the means of their roots. Apart from inorganic nutrients, such as nitrate, phosphate or various metal ions, also many other compounds are imported via the roots. From chemical ecology (e.g. Inderjit and Duke 2003) we have learned that active compounds, denoted as allelochemicals, i.e., substances inhibiting germination or growth of putative competitors, are frequently exuded from donor plants and exhibiting their effect in the growing plants (Bertin et al. 2003; Kalinova et al. 2007); for this, an uptake by the acceptor plant is indispensable (Willis 1985; Inderjit and Duke 2003). Furthermore, it is well established that various xenobiotics such as systemic herbicides and fungicides (Trapp and Legind 2011) and veterinary medicines (Boxall et al. 2006) are also taken up from the soil and translocated into the shoots. Moreover, salicylic acid, which is responsible for systemic acquired resistance, is known to be imported by the roots (De Meyer et al. 1999; Manthe et al. 1992).

Whereas for any import of most ionic nutrients like nitrate, sulfate or metal ions specific transporters are required (Forde 2000; Buchner et al. 2004; Kobayashi and Nishizawa 2012), most of the xenobiotics are taken up by simple diffusion (Trapp and Legind 2011). Due to their partially hydrophobic character, these molecules are able to diffuse passively through root membranes (Inoue et al. 1998; Nwoko 2010; Sibout and Höfte 2012). Since so many different substances are taken up by plant roots, it seems to be obvious that plant derived natural products should be taken up as well. Amazingly, this obvious issue was not adequately considered so far.

The situation changed not before recent investigations had been conducted, which were aimed to identify the potential sources of various contaminations of plant derived commodities with nicotine (EFSA Reasoned Opinion 2011) and pyrrolizidine alkaloids (EFSA Panel on Contaminations in the Food Chain 2011; Mulder et al. 2015). In this context, it could be shown that nicotine derived from dried tobacco plant material (Selmar et al. 2015a, b), or form cigarette butts, which had been trashed into the fields (unpublished data), is taken up by acceptor plants. Obviously, the alkaloid is leached out from plant remains into the soil and is subsequently taken up by other plants. In the same manner, pyrrolizidine alkaloids (PAs), which are leached out from rotting PA containing weeds, e.g. *Senecio jacobaea*, are also taken up by acceptor plants (Nowak et al. 2016). In other words, this transfer of alkaloids seems to be—at least in part—responsible for the numerous and widespread PA contaminations of spice and medicinal plants reported (EFSA Panel on Contaminations in the Food Chain 2011; Mulder et al. 2015).

The Novel Concept of Horizontal Natural Product Transfer

Based on the findings of nicotine and PA uptake by various acceptor plants, the concept of "*horizontal natural product transfer*" has been introduced by Selmar et al., (2015a, b): when natural products are leached out into the soil from

decomposing plants-denoted as donor plants-these compounds could be transferred into the roots of acceptor plants and translocated into their leaves (Fig. 1). In consequence, the substances have to pass the plasmalemma of root cells of the acceptor plants. The required uptake into the symplast may occur within the rhizodermis or, at the latest, in the passage cells of the endodermis. As mentioned above, such uptake could be accomplished either by an active transport, facilitated by the action of carriers, or by passive diffusion through the biomembranes. Indeed, on first glance, due to the great number of transporters known so far (for review see Yazaki 2006; Rea 2007; Remy and Duque 2014), the involvement of carrier proteins seems reasonable. However, we have to be aware that many substances are able to simply diffuse across biomembranes. A precondition for such diffusion is the solubility of the substance in aqueous as well as in organic media. This property roughly can be estimated from the so called K_{OW} value, which describes the distribution of a substance between octanol and water, or its decadal logarithm, denoted as pKow (e.g., Trapp 2000; Trapp 2009). Accordingly, membrane permeability can be extrapolated from this distribution coefficient (pK_{OW}) , which frequently is also termed as $\log P$ (e.g., Cronin and Livingstone 2004). Substances revealing $\log P$ values between -1 and 3 generally are considered to be able to diffuse easily through biomembranes (Trapp 2000; Trapp and Legind 2011; Limmer and Burken 2014). Albeit these generalizations had been elaborated in studies dealing with an uptake of xenobiotics, they are also relevant for all natural products, e.g. alkaloids. However, in the case of alkaloids, an additional factor has to be considered, i.e. the pH dependent protonation of these natural compounds (Nowak and Selmar 2016). Whereas the free bases of alkaloids like nicotine, or pyrrolizidine alkaloids, are simply able to pass through membranes, their protonated forms, which reveal a positive charge, cannot penetrate so easily through the biomembranes. This is in accordance and approved by the strongly negative $\log P$ values of charged alkaloid salts. Consequently, in addition to the $\log P$ of the alkaloids, the pH of the medium also determines their membrane permeability.



These ambivalent properties of alkaloids are the basis for the accumulation of alkaloids in plant vacuoles. The corresponding ion trap model was already presented by Matile (1976): because of their membrane permeability, unprotonated alkaloids present in the neutral cytosol pass freely through the tonoplast into the vacuole by passive diffusion. Once inside the acidic vacuole, the alkaloids are protonated and the resulting hydrophilic cations are unable to re-permeate the tonoplast and are trapped. Although these relations have been known for a long time, until recently, these coherences have not been considered to explain the uptake of alkaloids from the soil (Nowak and Selmar 2016).

Meanwhile many different classes of alkaloids have been analysed whether they are also transferred from a rotting donor plant into putative acceptor plants. In accordance to their $\log P$ values, being between -1 and 3, in addition to nicotine and PAs, also tropane and purine alkaloids as well as benzylisoquinoline and indole alkaloids were taken up by the acceptor plants (Yahyazadeh et al. 2017). In contrast, only quaternary alkaloids such as coptisine, palmatine, or berberine are not able to cross the membrane. On the first sight, these findings seem to be surprising, but they are fully confirmed by the corresponding physico-chemical properties of quaternary alkaloids. Those compounds always carry a positive charge—independently to the pH of the medium. This charge generates a low lipophilicity, which is confirmed and apparent by the quite negative $\log P$ values of these alkaloids (Yahyazadeh et al. 2017). In consequence, these alkaloids are not able to pass through biomembranes, and accordingly, they cannot be taken up by the acceptor plant due to simple diffusion.

Apart from the membrane permeability, we have to consider a further aspect: the microbial decomposition of rotting plant materials. It is well known that in principle the entire biomass from rotting plant material is completely decayed by microorganisms. In consequence, the active natural products are also degraded efficiently. Therefore, when discussing the horizontal transfer of natural products, we always have to consider that the actual extent of this phenomenon results from the simultaneous processes between soil microorganisms-degrading these substances and the acceptor plants, which take them up.

Membrane Permeability of Alkaloids Depends on the pH and its Significance for Transport Processes

Based on the coherences on the pH dependent changes in membrane permeability of alkaloids, it could be deduced that the pH of the soil reveals a significant influence on the extent of the uptake of alkaloids present in the soil. The higher the pH of the soil, the greater the share of unprotonated alkaloids, and consequently, their membrane permeability (Nowak and Selmar 2016). By contrast, in very acidic soils, due to a high degree of protonation, the uptake of alkaloids should be drastically decreased (Trapp and Legind 2011). There is a great demand of future experimental studies, in which these relationships are verified and validated, respectively.

Beyond the significance for the uptake of alkaloids from the soil, the pH related changes in their membrane permeability reveal also a high relevance for the long distance transport of these natural products within the plants. A detailed overview on this issue is given by Nowak and Selmar (2016). In principle, the translocation of alkaloids from roots into the shoots could be performed by either xylem or phloem transport. In case of a xylem transport, translocation would be entrained passively by transpiration flow, whereas a phloem-related translocation requires a source-sink-allocation. The pattern of imported nicotine in the acceptor plants clearly showed that its concentration was highest in older leaves, i.e., the leaf tissues that exhibit the greatest transpiration surface. In contrast, the smaller young leaves, representing physiological sinks, had far lower nicotine concentrations (Selmar et al. 2015a, b). These coherences indicate that the entered nicotine is translocated via the xylem, driven by the transpiration flow. These findings are supported by Weidner et al. (2005), who determined nicotine in the xylem sap, when the alkaloid was fed to a hydroponic system of *Epipremnum aureum*. Analogously to the xylem based nicotine translocation in acceptor plants, also pyrrolizidine and purine alkaloids are relocated after their uptake. The occurrence of these alkaloids in guttation droplets of acceptor plants (Nowak 2017) as well as the pattern of PA distribution (Nowak et al. 2016) indicates a xylem based translocation, which fully is in accordance with the prediction of Trapp and Legind (2011) based on the $\log D$ values of substances taken up by the acceptor plants.

In contrast, the translocation of alkaloids in genuine alkaloidal plants follows quite different prerequisites. Depending on the pattern of distribution, either a phloem associated or a xylem transport occurs: in *Senecio vulgaris* the PAs produced in the roots are transported via phloem into the sink tissues such as flowers or seeds (Ehmke et al. 1988; Hartmann and Dierich 1989) whereas in *Nicotina sylvestris* nicotine is translocated from the roots into the leaves via xylem (Baldwin 1989). Details on this entire issue, especially the pH dependent changes in membrane permeability, are given by Nowak and Selmar (2016). These coherences presented a sound explanation for the occurrence of PA-*N*-oxides in the phloem (Fig. 2), a finding which was elaborated in the group of Hartmann several decades ago (e.g., Ehmke et al. 1988; Lindigkeit et al. 1997).

The Horizontal Transfer of Other Classes of Natural Product

It is understood that the coherences on the membrane permeability and $\log P$ values mentioned above are valid for other classes of natural products, too. Accordingly, phenolic compounds, terpenoids and all other substances are also able to diffuse through biomembranes as long the hydrophilic as well as the lipophilic properties of Fig. 2 Passive transfer of pyrrolizidine alkaloids from the slightly alkaline phloem into the acidic xylem. Based on the ion trap model of Matile (1976), it can be deduced that tertiary PAs, due to their membrane permeability, cannot be transported via the phloem. In contrast, the PA-*N*-oxides, which are not able diffuse easily through biomembranes, are translocated (Nowak and Selmar 2016)



the substance are within an appropriate range, i.e., when the $\log P$ values is between -1 and 3 (Trapp 2000; Trapp and Legind 2011). Unfortunately, up to now, no data on this issue with respect to a putative transfer between donor and acceptor plants are available. Nevertheless, there are various corresponding hints. The analyses of the potential to be taken up by lettuce plants of so-called "*emerging organic contaminants*" (EOCs) revealed that many different classes of such organic compounds are able to pass biomembranes and taken up by acceptor plants (Hurtado et al. 2016). Furthermore, elder studies on the uptake and glucosylation of coumarins revealed that esculetin and scopoletin are taken up efficiently by protoplasts from barley leaves (Werner and Matile 1985). Although there are many indicators that—analogous to the well established uptake of alkaloids—also other classes of natural products might be transferred from donor to acceptor plants, corresponding thorough and comprehensive studies are required.

One of our latest approaches on the further elucidation of the processes involved in the horizontal natural product transfer is aimed to visualize this phenomenon. For this, in principle, colorant like betanidines or its derivatives, have to be applied to acceptor plants. Unfortunately, the green colour of vital leaves overlays all other hues. Accordingly, these red dyes, although they are taken up, cannot be simply detected visually. However, when using chlorophyll free leaves, e.g. etiolated seedlings of peas or barley, the uptake of dyes indeed is visible (Lewerenz 2016). One striking example that manifests this phenomenon is given in Fig. 3. Although this approach demonstrates that these dyes are taken up by the roots of pea seedlings and translocated into their leaves, various ambiguities require further elucidation. In the corresponding experiment, a crude extract from red beet was used, which contains various red coloured substances e.g., betalain, isobetalain, and vulgaxanthin (Attia et al. 2013). Moreover, all these substances are very unstable, Fig. 3 Uptake of betalains by etiolated pea seedlings. An aqueous extract from red beet tubers containing various red dyed betalains was applied to pea seedlings raised in a hydroponic system in the dark (Lewerenz 2016)



especially in the presence of oxygen (Herbach et al. 2006), or in the course of extraction, they are degraded. Thus, we have to consider that a whole array of different red-coloured substances has been applied to the etiolated seedlings. Consequently, it is not known, which particular compounds have finally been taken up and translocated into the leaves, where it caused the red colour in the acceptor plants. Forthcoming experiments, in which pure dyes are applied to etiolated seedlings, will be a promising approach in understanding the fascinating phenomenon of the natural product transfer.

Broadening of the Concept of Horizontal Natural Product Transfer—Co-cultures

In allelopathy it is well accepted that the release of typical allelochemicals into the environment might be due to three different processes (e.g. Nakano et al. 2003). Apart from their leaching out of decomposing plants residues, these active compounds also could be derived from living plants either via an active exsudation by the roots (Bertin et al. 2003; Kalinova et al. 2007) or by the leaves (Tukey 1970; Nakano et al. 2003). In analogy to the transfer processes described above, it seems natural to assume that a horizontal natural product transfer could also occur based on living donor plants. To verify such assumption, so called co-culture experiments have been conducted. For this, a potential vital donor, e.g., pyrrolizidine alkaloid containing *Senecio jacobaea* plants were cultivated in one single pot together with the acceptor plants, e.g. parsley. After two month co-cultivation, the plants where harvested and the pyrrolizidine alkaloids quantified. Surprisingly, all parsley plants co-cultivated with the *Senecio jacobaea* plants contained high concentrations of PAs, in average more than 200 $\mu g/kg$ (Fig. 4). As consequence of these amazing results, further experiments will be conducted, especially corresponding field trails



Fig. 4 Uptake of pyrrolizidine alkaloids in parsley plants. Parsley plants (*Petroselinum crispum*) as potential acceptor plants had been cultivated in one single pot together with *Senecio jacobaea* donator plants. Directly after harvest, the PAs were extracted and quantified

on co-cultivation of *Senecio jacobaea* with various different acceptor plants are under way.

Indeed, the presence of a high quantum of PAs in the acceptor plants testifies that the alkaloids are transferred from living and vital donor plants. But, up to now, there is no indication about the path of such transfer. On the first glance, it seems to be obvious that—in analogy to an active exsudation of allelochemicals (Tukey 1970; Nakano et al. 2003; Bertin et al. 2003; Kalinova et al. 2007) the PAs (and maybe other alkaloids) might also be exsuded either by the roots or by the leaves. However, we have to take into consideration that vital plants frequently exhibit numerous injuries and damages, e.g. caused by pathogens or herbivores. Furthermore, in many areas in the roots, e.g. the calyptra, regularly large numbers of cells are destroyed. Accordingly, it could not be excluded that the transfer of PA observed is due to natural injuries of the donator plant, enabling the transfer from plant to plant, via the soil. Much further research is required to elucidate the actual paths of transfer. The fact that alkaloids indeed are transferred from living and vital donor plants into acceptor plants requires a corresponding broadening of the concept of horizontal natural product transfer, which is outlined in Fig. 5.



Fig. 5 Broadening of the concept of horizontal natural product transfer. As the results of co-cultures of acceptor and donator plants demonstrated that alkaloids also could be transferred from vital and living donator plants, further and additional paths of the transfer of natural products have to be considered, e.g. their active exudation by leaves and roots, or their leaching in consequence of injuries or damages, e.g., due to pathogen or herbivore attack

Conclusion

We have to approve that the phenomenon of horizontal transfer of natural products is far more prevalent than initially assumed. Obviously, not only alkaloids, but other natural products as well are transferred from donor to acceptor plants. In this context, we have to reconsider the classical definition of xenobiotics, which up to now always were regarded as "non-natural" substances (e.g. Iovdijová and Bencko 2010; Godheja et al. 2016).

The finding that plants inherently are able to take up many alkaloids from the soil, and the novel cognition that natural products also could be released into the environment from vital and living plants, necessitate a reconsideration of our understanding of plant-plant-interactions. Up to now, only "typical allelochemicals", i.e., those compounds that reveal certain significance in plant-plant interactions, e.g., by inhibiting the growth or the germination of potential competitors, have in this context been taken into consideration.

The outlined transfer of natural products from donor to acceptor plants, which seems to be a general feature in plant-plant interactions, presents new explanations of several hitherto unexplained processes related to beneficial effects of crop rotations or the co-cultivation of certain vegetables.

References

- Attia GY, Moussa MEM, Sheashea ER (2013) Characterization of red pigments extracted from red beet (*Beta vulgaris*, L.) and its potential uses as antioxidant and natural food colorants. Egypt J Agric Res 91:1095–1110
- Baldwin IT (1989) Mechanism of damage-induced alkaloid production in wild tobacco. J Chem Ecol 15:1661–1680
- Bertin C, Yang X, West LA (2003) The role of root exudates and allelochemicals in the rhizosphere. Plant Soil 256:67–83
- Boxall ABA, Johnson P, Smith EJ, Sinclair CJ, Stutt E, Levy LS (2006) Uptake of veterinary medicines from soils into plants. J Agric Food Chem 54:2288–2297
- Buchner P, Takahashi H, Hawkesford MJ (2004) Plant sulphate transporters: co-ordination of uptake, intracellular and long-distance transport. J Exp Bot 55(Special Issue: Sulphur Metabolism in Plants):1765–1773
- Cronin MTD, Livingstone J (2004) Calculation of physiochemical properties. In: Cronin TD, Livingstone J (Eds.) Predicting Chemical Toxicity and Fate. CRC Press, pp 31–40
- De Meyer G, Capieau K, Audenaert K, Buchala A, Métraux JP, Höfte M (1999) Nanogram Amounts of salicylic acid produced by the Rhizobacterium *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* 7NSK2 activate the systemic acquired resistance pathway in bean. Mol Plant Microbe Interact 12:450–458
- EFSA Panel on Contaminants in the Food Chain (2011) Scientific opinion on pyrrolizidine alkaloids in food and feed. EFSA J 9(11):2406
- EFSA Reasoned Opinion (2011) Setting of temporary MRLs for nicotine in tea, herbal infusions, spices, rose hips and fresh herbs. EFSA Journal 9(3):2098
- Ehmke A, von Borstel K, Hartmann T (1988) Alkaloid *N*-oxides as transport and vacuolar storage compounds of pyrrolizidine alkaloids in *Senecio vulgaris* L. Planta 176:83–90
- Forde BG (2000) Review: nitrate transporters in plants: structure, function and regulation. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1465:219–235
- Godheja J, Shekhar SK, Sarfraj AS, Modi DR (2016) J Environ Anal Toxicol 6:392
- Hartmann T, Dierich B (1989) Chemical diversity and variation of pyrrolizidine alkaloids of the senecionine type: biological need or coincidence? Planta 206:443–451
- Herbach KM, Stintzing FC, Carle R (2006) Betalain stability and degradation—structural and chromatic aspects. J Food Sci 4:R41–R50
- Hurtado C, Domínguez C, Pérez-Babace L, Cãnameras N, Comas J, Bayona JM (2016) Estimate of uptake and translocation of emerging organic contaminants from irrigation water concentration in lettuce grow nunder controlled conditions. J Hazard Mater 305:139–148
- Inderjit, Duke SO (2003) Ecophysiological aspects of allelopathy. Planta 17: 529-53
- Inoue J, Chamberlain K, Bromilow RH (1998) Physicochemical factors affecting the uptake by roots and translocation to shoots of amine bases in barley. Pest Manag Sci 54:8–21
- Iovdijová A, Bencko V (2010) Potential risk of exposure to selected xenobiotic residues and their fate in the food chain—Part 1: classification of xenobiotics. Ann Agric Environ Med 17:183– 192
- Kalinova J, Vrchotova N, Triska J (2007) Exudation of allelopathic substances in buckwheat (*Fagopyrum esculentum* Moench). J Agric Food Chem 55:6453–6459
- Kobayashi Z, Nishizawa NK (2012) Iron uptake, translocation, and regulation in higher plants. Ann Rev Plant Biol 63:131–135
- Lewerenz L (2016) Horizontaler Naturstoff-Transfer: Aufnahme von Farbstoffen in etiolierte Keimlinge. Bachelor thesis, Fakulty for Life Sciences, TU Braunschweig
- Lindigkeit R, Biller A, Buch M, Schiebel H-M, Boppré M, Hartmann T (1997) The two faces of pyrrolizidine alkaloids: the role of the tertiary amine and its *N*-oxide in chemical defense of insects with acquired plant alkaloids. Eur J Biochem 245:626–636
- Limmer MA, Burken JG (2014) Plant translocation of organic compounds. Molecularand physicochemical predictors. Environ Sci Technol Lett 1:156–161

- Manthe B, Schulz M, Schnabl H (1992) Effects of salicylic acid on growth and stomatal movements of *Vicia faba* L.: evidence for salicylic acid metabolization. J Chem Ecol 18:1525– 1539
- Matile P (1976) Localization of alkaloids and mechanism of their accumulation in vacuoles of *Chelidonium majus* laticifers. Nova Acta Leopold 7:139–156
- Mulder PPJ, Sánchez PL, These A, Preiss-Weigert A, Castellari M (2015) Occurrence of pyrrolizidine alkaloids in food. EFSA supporting publication: EN-859
- Nakano H, Nakajima E, Fujii Y, Yamada K, Shigemori H, Hasegawa K (2003) Leaching of the allelopathic substance, L-tryptophan from the foliage of mesquite (*Prosopis juliflora* DC.) plants by water spraying. Plant Growth Regul 40:49–52
- Nowak M (2017) Horizontaler Naturstofftransfer: Nachweis und Grundlagen eines bislang unbekannten Phänomens. PhD thesis, Fakulty for Life Sciences, TU Braunschweig
- Nowak M, Selmar D (2016) Cellular distribution of alkaloids and their translocation via phloem and xylem: the importance of compartment pH. Plant Biol 18:879–882
- Nowak M, Wittke C, Lederer I, Klier B, Kleinwächter M, Selmar D (2016) Interspecific transfer of pyrrolizidine alkaloids: an unconsidered source of contaminations of phytopharmaceuticals and plant derived commodities. Food Chem 213:163–168
- Nwoko CO (2010) Trends in phytoremediation of toxic elemental and organic pollutants. Afr J Biotech 9:6010–6016
- Rea PA (2007) Plant ATP-binding cassette transporters. Ann Rev Plant Biol 58:347-375
- Remy E, Duque P (2014) Beyond cellular detoxification: a plethora of physiological roles for MDR transporter homologs in plants. Front Physiol 5:201
- Selmar D, Engelhardt UH, Hänsel S, Thräne C, Nowak M, Kleinwächter M (2015a) Nicotine uptake by peppermint plants as a possible source of nicotine in plant-derived products. Agron Sustain Dev 35:1185–1190
- Selmar D, Radwan A, Nowak M (2015b) Horizontal natural product transfer: a so far unconsidered source of contamination of plant-derived commodities. J Environ Anal Toxicol 5:4
- Sibout R, Höfte H (2012) Plant cell biology: the ABC of monolignol transport. Curr Biol 22: R533–R535
- Trapp S (2000) Modelling uptake into roots and subsequent translocation of neutral and ionisable organic compounds. Pest Manag Sci 56:767–778
- Trapp S (2009) Bioaccumulation of Polar and ionizable compounds in plants. In: Devillers J (ed) Ecotoxicology modeling. Springer, US, pp 1–55
- Trapp S, Legind CN (2011) Uptake of organic contaminants from soil into vegetables and fruits. In: Swartjes FA (ed) Dealing with contaminated sites. Springer, Netherlands, pp 369–408
- Tukey HB (1970) The leaching of substances from plants. Ann Rev Plant Biol 21:305-324
- Weidner M, Martins R, Müller A, Simon J, Schmitz H (2005) Uptake, transport and accumulation of nicotine by the Golden Potho (*Epipremnum aureum*): the central role of root pressure. J of Plant Physiol 162:139–150
- Werner C, Matile P (1985) Accumulation of coumarylglucosides in vacuoles of barley mesophyll protoplasts. J Plant Physiol 118:237–249
- Willis RJ (1985) The historical bases of the concept of allelopathy. J Hist Biol 18:71-102
- Yazaki K (2006) ABC transporters involved in the transport of plant secondary metabolites. FEBS Lett 580:1183–1191
- Yahyazadeh M, Nowak M, Kima H, Selmar D (2017) Horizontal natural product transfer: A potential source of alkaloidal contaminants in phytopharmaceuticals. Phytomedicine 34:21–25

Strategies for Enhancing Artemisinin Production in *Artemisia annua* Under Changing Environment

M. Naeem, Tariq Aftab and M. Masroor A. Khan

Abstract Artemisia annua L. (family Asteraceae), is the only source of a potent anti-malarial drug, artemisinin. Artemisinin, a sesquiterpene lactone containing an endoperoxide bridge, has been recognized as an effective and safe remedy against malaria parasite Plasmodium falciparum. However, the concentration of artemisinin in the plant is very low, ranging from 0.01 to 0.8%. Exposure of A. annua plants to abiotic stresses, such as of light, temperature, salinity, heavy metals and UV light, have been reported to enhance ROS generation, which augment artemisinin yield by facilitating rapid conversion of artemisinic acid to artemisinin. In fact, generation rate of H₂O₂ increased consistently under abiotic stress conditions, suggesting a direct relationship between generation of H₂O₂ and artemisinin biosynthesis in A. annua. Various scientific approaches have been attempted to increase artemisinin production including chemical synthesis and genetic engineering of the pathway genes involved in artemisinin biosynthesis in A. annua; but, not much success has been accomplished till now due to high cost of procedure or complex nature of regulation and expression of the genes responsible for artemisinin biosynthesis. Plant growth regulators (PGRs) exhibit a broad spectrum of physiological effects in plants which may influence the inter-relationships between primary and secondary metabolism leading to increased biosynthesis of secondary metabolites. As per our study, employing pot and field experiments, some PGRs (gibberellic acid, salicylic acid, methyl jasmonate etc.) and radiation-processed polysaccharides (sodium alginate and carrageenan) proved as non-conventional elicitors that enhanced the overall yield of artemisinin under normal and abiotic stress conditions. In order to increase the desired production of artemisinin and utilize the land unsuitable for food crops, cultivation of A. annua might be employed with new scientific approaches and convenient strategies.

Keywords Artemisinin · Abiotic stresses · Irradiated polysaccharides · PGRs · Mineral nutrients

Aligarh Muslim University, Aligarh 202002, India e-mail: naeemgaur@gmail.com

M. Naeem $(\boxtimes) \cdot T$. Aftab \cdot M.M.A. Khan

Plant Physiology Section, Department of Botany,

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017 M. Ghorbanpour and A. Varma (eds.), *Medicinal Plants and Environmental Challenges*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-68717-9_13

Introduction

Artemisinin, isolated from Artemisia annua, is a potent drug that could be effective against multidrug-resistant strains of the malaria parasite, *Plasmodium*, responsible for a variety of various diseases including antimalarial and anti-cancer activities, contains an endoperoxide bridge, which is rarely found in other secondary metabolites. Artemisinin and its derivatives are administered to restrain cancer and tumor activity (Crespo-Ortiz and Wei 2012) besides their effective use in the treatment of malaria (Haynes 2006). However, artemisinin-derived drugs are not available to millions of the world's poorest people because of the low yield (0.1-0.5% of dry weight) of artemisinin in naturally-grown artemisia plants (Wallaart et al. 1999). Genetic improvement of natural artemisinin varieties has been attempted, but the maximum artemisinin-vield achieved so far is 2% of leaf dry-weight (Graham et al. 2010). Although artemisinin can be obtained by chemical synthesis, the method is complicated and is not feasible economically because of the poor yield of the drug. Since the plant is the only viable source of artemisinin production, the enhanced biosynthesis of artemisinin content in the plant is extremely advantageous (Weathers et al. 2005; Aftab et al. 2010a, b, c, 2011a, b, 2014; Kiani et al. 2016; Lv et al. 2016).

As per the World Health Organization (WHO), the toxin-free, artemisinin-based combination therapy (ACT) is most effective against the drug-resistant malaria parasite (Davis et al. 2005; WHO 2010). Various scientific approaches have been used to enhance artemisinin production including chemical synthesis (Xu et al. 1986; Avery et al. 1992) and genetic engineering of the pathway genes involved in artemisinin biosynthesis (Chen et al. 2000; Xie et al. 2001; Ro et al. 2006; Nguyen et al. 2011); but, not much success has been accomplished due to high cost of procedure or complex nature of regulation and expression of the genes responsible for artemisinin biosynthesis.

The biomass and artemisinin production in *A. annua* are mostly regulated by genetic factors (Ferreira et al. 1995b). Apart from this, a variety of plant growth regulators (PGRs) including gamma-irradiated polysaccharides are reported to influence diverse plant developmental processes including terpenoid biosynthesis in this aromatic plant (Aftab et al. 2010a, b). These polysaccharides have been used as a wonderful growth-promoting substance in its depolymerized form for a number of medicinal plants including *Artemisia annua* (Aftab et al. 2013, 2014, 2016). On the other hand, exposure of *A. annua* to several abiotic factors such as, light, temperature, salinity, heavy metals and UV light, have been reported to stimulate ROS generation, which enhance artemisinin yield by facilitating rapid conversion of dihydroartemisinic acid to artemisinin (Pu et al. 2009; Wallaart et al. 2000; Qureshi et al. 2010a, b, c) during biosynthetic pathway.

Therefore, there are several factors (e.g. PGRs, elicitors, mineral nutrients, abiotic stresses) that affect plant biomass and artemisinin yield. Apparently, the artemisinin precursor dihydroartemisinic acid (DHAA) is conjectured to act as a scavenger of reactive oxygen species (ROS) before getting transformed into

artemisinin in the plant. However, artemisinin is only one the of 16 molecules that are formed from DHAA (Brown 2010), indicating that scavenging for reactive oxygen species is not the main function of DHAA. In the following chapter, we provide detailed description of various factors that affect the morphology, physiology and artemisinin production of this enormous plant with an emphasis on PGRs, elicitors, mineral nutrients, as well as abiotic stresses on plant performance and artemisinin production.

Effect of Plant Growth Regulators and Elicitors

Shukla et al. (1992) reported that artemisinin and herbage yield of *A. annua* plants increased owing to application of triacontanol (TRIA) and 2-chloroethyl trimethyl ammonium chloride (chlormequat). TRIA produced a significant increase on artemisinin concentration as well as on plant height, leaf and herbage yield. Chlormequat also increased artemisinin level, decreased the plant height at higher concentrations and increased the leaf and herbage yield at lower concentrations. They suggested that the effect of TRIA on artemisinin yield seems to be mediated through GA_3 and ABA-like activities on plant growth.

Smith et al. (1997) explored the effect of gibberellic acid (GA₃) on the growth and artemisinin production of hairy roots of *A. annua*. They applied six different concentrations of GA₃ to find out the optimum concentration. GA₃ levels from 0.01 to 0.001 mg L⁻¹ (28.9–2.89 lM) provided the most significant increase in biomass and 0.01 mg L⁻¹ (28.9 lM) produced the highest amount of artemisinin. They also studied growth kinetics and found that the use of GA₃ at 0.01 mg L⁻¹ (28.9 lM) increased the growth rate of hairy roots of *A. annua* by 24.9%.

Wang et al. (2002) focused their research on artemisinin accumulation in hairy root cultures of *A. annua* using (22S, 23S)-homobrassinolide (SSHB). They observed that when 1 μ g L⁻¹ of SSHB was added to the hairy root cultures, the production of artemisinin reached 14 mg L⁻¹, an increment of 57% over the control. Furthermore, artemisinin accumulation in hairy roots was found to be dose dependent as well in the treatment with SSHB. They also found that the SSHB treatments at 0.1–10 μ g L⁻¹ increased the root biomass up to 12–15 g L⁻¹ from that of the control. However, if SSHB concentrations were higher than 100 μ g L⁻¹, a decline in growth was detected with some root browning, an indication of the cell necrosis.

Weathers et al. (2005) examined the effect of various phytohormones on the growth and secondary metabolism of *A. annua*. They measured growth, development and production of artemisinin in *A. annua* hairy roots in response to the five main hormones: auxins, cytokinins, ethylene, gibberellins (GA₃) and abscisic acid (ABA). Single roots grown in six-well plates in medium B5 with 0.01 mg L⁻¹ GA₃ produced the highest values overall in terms of the number of lateral roots, length of the primary root, lateral root tip density, total lateral root length and total root length. When the total root length was compared, the best conditions for stimulating root

elongation were with 0.01 mg L^{-1} GA₃. Bulk yields of biomass were inversely proportional to the concentration of each hormone tested in their study. All root cultures provided with ABA yielded the highest amount of biomass. Both 6-benzylaminopurine and 2-isopentenyladenine inhibited root growth, however, only 2-isopentenyladenine stimulated artemisinin production, more than twice to that of the B5 controls, and more than any other hormone studied.

Ferreira and Janick (1996a) used the growth regulators, benzyladenine (BA), kinetin, chlormequat (CCC) and daminozide, to induce shoot development. BA increased shoot proliferation at 0.5 and 5.0 lM but decreased root production at all concentrations. A highly significant correlation was observed between shoot artemisinin concentration and the number of roots ($r = 0.775^{**}$), while shoot number and artemisinin were unrelated (r = -0.198). The authors reported that the highest levels of shoot artemisinin (0.29%) in shoot cultures were obtained with hormone-free medium (control) when root production was maximized. In the same study, removal of roots from shoot cultures grown in hormone-free medium reduced shoot artemisinin in 53% and arteannuin B by 60%, confirming the pivotal role of roots in artemisinin biosynthesis.

The research of Pu et al. (2009) provided evidence that salicylic acid (SA) can activate artemisinin biosynthesis in *A. annua*. They observed that exogenous application of SA to *A. annua* leaves was followed by a burst of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and the conversion of dihydroartemisinic acid into artemisinin. Within 24 h from application, SA led to a gradual increase in the expression of the 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase (HMGR) gene and a temporary peak in the expression of the amorpha-4, 11-diene synthase (ADS) gene. However, the expression of the farnesyl diphosphate synthase (FDS) gene and that of the cytochrome P450 monooxygenase (CYP71AV1) gene changed little. At 96 h after SA (1.0 mM) treatment, the concentration of artemisinin, artemisinic acid and dihydroartemisinic acid were 54, 127 and 72% higher than that of the control, respectively. On the basis of their results, they suggested that SA induces artemisinin biosynthesis in at least two ways: by increasing the conversion of dihydroartemisinic acid into artemisinin caused by a burst in ROS and by upregulating the expression of genes involved in artemisinin biosynthesis.

Jing et al. (2009) evaluated the effect of different concentrations of abscisic acid (ABA) on artemisinin concentration in *A. annua*, under tissue culture conditions. Artemisinin content in plants treated with 10 IM ABA was 65% higher than that in control plants (1.1% on a dry weight basis) and ranged from 1.5 to 1.84%. They also studied gene expression analysis and showed that in both ABA-treated plants and cell suspension cultures, the important genes in the artemisinin biosynthetic pathway, such as HMGR, FPS, CYP71AV1 and CPR (cytochrome P450 reductase), were significantly induced. While only a slight increase in ADS expression was observed in ABA-treated plants, no expression of ADS was detected in cell suspension cultures. They suggested that there is probably a crosstalk between the ABA signalling pathway and artemisinin biosynthetic pathway and that CYP71AV1, which was induced most significantly, may play a key regulatory role in the artemisinin biosynthetic pathway.

Aftab et al. (2010a) investigated the effects of foliar sprays of triacontanol (TRIA) alone and in combination with gibberellic acid (GA₃) on growth attributes, photosynthesis, enzymatic activities, essential oil and artemisinin content and yield of *A. annua*. The results indicated that combination of TRIA and GA₃ significantly increased activities of nitrate reductase and carbonic anhydrase by 25.9 and 21.5%, and net photosynthetic rate, stomatal conductance and internal CO₂ by 25.4, 14.1 and 15.4%, respectively, when compared to unsprayed plants. Combination of Tria and GA₃ also significantly enhanced artemisinin content and yield.

Wang et al. (2010) reported the effects of exogenous foliar methyl jasmonate (MJ) on artemisinin biosynthesis and secondary metabolites in *A. annua* under greenhouse conditions. They found a 49% increase in artemisinin concentration on day 8 after treatment with MJ, associated with an 80% increase in artemisinic acid and 28% in dihydroartemisinic acid, the latter currently accepted as being the main precursor of artemisinin. In addition, they also worked out some other secondary metabolites using metabolite profiling after exogenous methyl jasmonate treatment. Their content also changed significantly after MJ treatment, including a 50% increase in methyl artemisinic acid, a 67% increase in squalene and a 60% increase in an unidentified sesquiterpenoid. They argued that these compounds might act as promising targets for further studies on artemisinin biosynthesis.

In a different study conducted by Banyai et al. (2011), cloned plants grown in mixed soil potting medium in a growth chamber, the production of artemisinin and leaf biomass in *A. annua* (varieties 007 and 253-2) was significantly increased by exogenous GA₃ applied to the soil. They also worked out the effects of GA₃ application on expression of key enzymes involved in artemisinin biosynthesis. They postulated that the increased artemisinin content (close to 1% DW) from exogenous GA₃ treatment was associated with increased expression of key enzymes in the artemisinin biosynthesis pathway. Interestingly, exogenous GA₃ continuously enhanced artemisinin content from the vegetative stage to flower initiation in both plant lines involved and gave significantly higher leaf biomass than in control plants. Consequently, the artemisinin yield in GA₃-treated plants was much higher than in control plants. In their work, although the maximum artemisinin content was found at the full blooming stage, the highest artemisinin yield in GA₃ and 27.8% higher, respectively, than in non-treated plants.

Aftab et al. (2010b) illustrated that salicylic acid (SA) acts as a potential plant growth promoter and plays an important role in regulating a number of plant physiological and biochemical processes under field conditions. Four levels of SA (0, 0.25, 0.50 and 1.00 mM SA) were applied in the form of diluted aqueous sprays on the aboveground plant parts in their study. Plant height, dry weight, chlorophyll and carotenoid contents were improved significantly as the level of SA increased. Furthermore, significant enhancement in net photosynthetic rate (31.7%), the activity of nitrate reductase (17.2%) and carbonic anhydrase (10.9%) was noticed as the level of SA application was increased from 0 to 1.00 mM SA. Most importantly, the content and yield of artemisinin were increased by 25.8 and 50.0%, respectively, after treatment with SA.

In another study, Aftab et al. (2013) concluded that sodium alginate, irradiated by Co-60 gamma rays together with various nitrogen doses, was used to study its effect on growth attributes, physiological and biochemical processes and production of artemisinin in *A. annua*. Of the various applied doses of nitrogen, N80 (80 kg N ha⁻¹) together with ISA80 (80 mg L⁻¹ Irradiated Sodium Alginate) proved superior in positively regulating almost all the parameters studied. An increase of 38.1 and 80.5% in artemisinin content and yield respectively, was also noticed at this treatment.

Aftab et al. (2014), also conducted experiments on *A. annua* with an aim to evaluate artemisinin production and overall plant development though depolymerized sodium alginate application and nutrient supply. In their study, sodium alginate, irradiated by Co-60 gamma rays together with various phosphorus doses (10, 20, 30, 40 and 50 kg ha⁻¹), was used to study their effect on growth, physiological and biochemical processes and production of artemisinin in *A. annua*. Among various applied doses of phosphorus fertilizer, P40 (40 kg P ha⁻¹) together with ISA80 significantly improved all the parameters studied. Increase in plant height as well as weight was noted at this treatment. Dry leaf yield, artemisinin concentration in leaves and artemisinin yield was also significantly enhanced by the applied treatment.

In order to increase the plant growth and artemisinin content, a field experiment was conducted for two consecutive years, using foliar application of an aqueous solution of gamma-ray irradiated sodium alginate along with split application of nitrogen and phosphorus fertilizers (Aftab et al. 2016). Crop performance was assessed at pre-flowering and flowering stage in terms of growth, physiological and biochemical parameters and production of artemisinin in *A. annua*. Foliar application of 80 mg L⁻¹ of irradiated sodium alginate along with split application of nitrogen (40 + 40 kg N ha⁻¹) and phosphorus (20 + 20 kg P ha⁻¹) (i.e. ISA80 + N40 + 40 + P20 + 20) proved the best integrated treatment that gave maximal values for the attributes studied at flowering stage. As compared with the control, effect of this treatment (ISA80 + N40 + 40 + P20 + 20) was positive on dry leaf yield, leaf artemisinin concentration and artemisinin yield. They concluded that the combined application enhanced the content and yield of artemisinin by 43.3 and 87.9%, respectively.

Patra et al. (2013) used different precursors and elicitors for enhancement of artemisinin. The maximum artemisinin content obtained was 3.45 mg/g on 15d by using the elicitor methyl jasmonate (40 μ g/L) and the precursors casein acid hydrolysate (50 μ g/L), sodium acetate (500 μ g/L). Effect of addition time of elicitors and precursors on overall optimum biomass growth and artemisinin yield and productivity was also recorded.

Ahlawat et al. (2014) studied the effect of different concentrations of methyl jasmonate (MeJA), fungal elicitors (*Alternaria alternate, Curvularia limata, Fusarium solani*, and *Piriformospora indica*), farnesyl pyrophosphate, and miconazole on artemisinin production in hairy root cultures of *A. annua* were evaluated. Among all the factors used individually for their effect on artemisinin production in hairy root culture system, the maximum enhancement was achieved with *P. indica* (1.97 times). Increase of 2.44 times in artemisinin concentration by

this system was, however, obtained by combined addition of MeJA and cell homogenate of *P. indica* in the culture medium. They suggested that the effects of these factors on artemisinin production were positively correlated with regulatory genes of MVA, MEP, and artemisinin biosynthetic pathways, viz. hmgr, ads, cyp71av1, aldh1, dxs, dxr, and dbr2 in hairy root cultures of *A. annua* L.

Tahir et al. (2016) studied the effect of some plant growth regulators on the in vitro initiation of callus using the leaves of Chivong variety of A. annua. The explants were sterilized and incubated on Murashige and Skoog basal media augmented with varying concentrations ranging from 0.5 to 3.0 μ m/L of GA₃, Benzyle amino purine (BAP), Napthaleneacetic acid (NAA), 2,4-Dichlrophynoxyacetic acid (2,4-D), Indole butyric acid (IBA) and Kinetin (Kin). Low concentration of BAP $(0.5 \mu m/l)$ and a high concentration of NAA $(3.0 \mu m/L)$ as well as equal concentration of BAP of 1.0 µm/l and IBA of 1.0 µm/L had the least days (7 days) to regeneration. For regeneration percent, equal low concentrations of BAP of 0.5 µm/L and NAA of 0.5 µm/L had the highest performance of 94%. However, no significant difference was observed between treatments with respect to vigor. Equal low concentrations of BAP (0.5 μ m/L) and (0.5 μ m/L) NAA and BAP (1.0 μ m/L) combined with IBA (1.5 µm/L) had the highest height. They concluded that combined BAP and NAA treatment is an efficient protocol for callus initiation and proliferation. A combination of GA₃ and BAP is suitable for shoot initiation from callus using cultures of A. annua.

Effect of Mineral Nutrients

Singh (2000) conducted a field experiment to study the effect of levels of nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P) and potassium (K) on herb, oil and artemisinin yield of *A. annua*. Herbage, essential oil and artemisinin yields were increased significantly with application of 50 kg N ha⁻¹ compared to control (0 kg N ha⁻¹), but were found statistically similar at 100 kg N ha⁻¹. Application of 50 and 100 kg N ha⁻¹ increased herbage, yield by 26.2 and 40.1% respectively compared with control.

Ayanoglu et al. (2002) studied the effects of different N doses (0, 6, 12 and 18 kg ha⁻¹) on the growth parameters, yields and quality of *A. annua* ecotype from Adana, Turkey. A two-year experiment was conducted under Adana ecological conditions. During their study, plant height, number of branches per plant, fresh and dry herb yield, dry leaf yield, content and yield of essential oil and artemisinin were investigated. Their results indicated that application of different N doses significantly affected the essential oil content and oil yield only the first year of the study, however, content and yield of artemisinin were not significantly affected.

Khudsar et al. (2004) investigated the response of *A. annua* to different concentrations of zinc [50, 100, 200, 300 and 400 μ g g⁻¹(soil dry mass)]. Total leaf area, dry mass of leaves, length and dry mass of shoots and roots were increased with the age of the plant but the magnitude of increase declined significantly under the influence of Zn treatment. Net photosynthetic rate, intercellular carbon dioxide

concentration and stomatal conductance were highest at flowering stage in control and treated plants and decreased at post flowering stage. According to their study, contents of chlorophyll *a*, chlorophyll *b*, carotenoids, proteins and nitrate reductase activity in leaves increased from pre-flowering to maximum level at flowering stage and decreased thereafter in both control and treated plants. Presence of Zn in the soil drastically decreased/inhibited all the parameters, and the magnitude of decline increased with increasing Zn concentration.

Kapoor et al. (2007) studied the effects of two arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) fungi, *Glomus macrocarpum* and *Glomus fasciculatum*, either alone or supplemented with P-fertilizer, on artemisinin concentration in *A. annua*. In their study, there was significant increase in concentration of artemisinin in non-mycorrhizal P-fertilized plants as compared to control, the increase was less compared to mycorrhizal plants grown with or without P-fertilization. They suggested that the increase in artemisinin concentration may not be entirely attributed to enhanced P-nutrition and improved growth. The plants supplied with AM fungi and P-fertilizer produced up to ten fold more shoot biomass than control plant. Also, AM fungi and P-fertilizer combined resulted in significant increases in concentrations of chlorophyll *a*, chlorophyll *b* and carotenoids. Maximum artemisinin content was found in the plants fertilized with P, and inoculated with AM fungi.

Özgüven et al. (2008) evaluated yield, yield components and artemisinin content of *A. annua* grown under N application (0, 40, 80 and 120 kg ha⁻¹) for two successive years. In their study, N doses had no significant effect on plant height, number of branches, fresh herbage yield, dry herbage yield, fresh leaf yield, dry leaf yield or essential oil content. However, artemisinin concentration were significantly increased by N application and ranged from 6.3 to 27.5 mg 100 g⁻¹ among the treatments.

Peyvandi et al. (2009) investigated the effects of different N and P application on the plant growth parameters, yield and essential oil composition of *A. annua*. They observed that differences between the average height, number of branches and dry weight were significantly increased by the treatments. The maximum number of branches and plant height increased in N₈₀P₄₀ treatment. Increasing P-fertilizer more than 40 kg ha⁻¹ decreased the growth parameters significantly. However, they did not observe the changes in artemisinin content due to the applied treatments.

Davies et al. (2009) examined the effect of various concentrations of N and K on artemisinin concentration and yield of *A. annua*. The nutrients were supplied in irrigation water to plants in pots. Nitrogen enhanced plant N concentration and biomass production successively up to 106 mg N L^{-1} for biomass and 206 mg N L^{-1} for leaf nitrogen; further increases in nitrogen had no influence on biomass. Artemisinin concentration in dried leaf material was maximum at a N application of 106 mg L^{-1} , but declined at higher concentrations. Increasing K application from 51 to 153 mg L^{-1} increased total plant biomass. Potassium application enhanced leaf K concentration, but there was no effect on leaf artemisinin concentration or leaf artemisinin yield.

Malik et al. (2009) studied the effects of nutrients on the essential oil content of *A. annua*. Plants were treated with basal N, P, K and S application (in the form of urea P_2O_5 , K_2O and gypsum at a rate of 120, 50, 100 and 50 kg ha⁻¹, respectively) amounted to 0.32 \pm 0.03% of fresh weight and consisted mainly of thujyl alcohol (33.3%), -caryophyllene (15.5%), cis-undec-5-ene (14.4%), artemisia ketone (6.0%), trans-nerolidol (5.8%) and undec-4-ene (4.6%). The hydrodistillation of *A. annua* treated with *Glomus* (Mycorrhizal soil 50 g/plant) produced 0.50 \pm 0.02% essential oil on fresh weight basis.

Aftab et al. (2011a) evaluated varying levels of soil-applied N with foliar GA₃. Application of GA₃ proved effective in increasing growth, photosynthesis and enzyme activities of *A. annua*. However, N levels combined with GA₃ led to further improvement in shoot lengths and dry weights, as well as photosynthetic rate. Furthermore, N combined (80 mg kg⁻¹ soil) with GA₃ augmented the content and yield of artemisinin in the treated plants over the control.

Jha et al. (2011) assessed the effect of organic manure and chemical fertilizers on the accumulation of artemisinin and biomass in various plant parts during the developmental stages of *A. annua*. They found that content and yield of artemisinin in dried leaves increased significantly (27.3 and 53.6%, respectively) at pre-flowering stage in the plants treated with NPKS and NPK (18.2 and 33.5%, respectively) when compared with control. Maximum dry leaf yield ranged from 2596 to 3141 kg ha⁻¹ at pre-flowering stage with various treatments.

Davies et al. (2011) examined the response of *A. annua* to different levels of phosphorus (P) and boron (B) on the basis of dry matter and artemisinin concentration. Increases in P application enhanced plant growth and total dry matter production up to 30 mg P L⁻¹. Although application of P had no influence on leaf artemisinin concentration, optimal yields of artemisinin per plant were achieved at P from 30 to 60 mg L⁻¹, reflecting the increase in biomass caused by P application. Increasing B application rate had no significant effect on dry matter production. Leaf artemisinin concentration was significantly increased by 20% (0.65–0.78%) as B concentration to 0.9 mg L⁻¹ had no further effect on artemisinin concentration or yield.

Rostkowska et al. (2016) reported that accumulation of silicon (Si) and artemisinin stored in glandular trichomes of *A. annua*. Their study aimed to look into Si effects on *A. annua* trichome, artemisinin concentration, and whether leaf infusion from Si-treated *A. annua* plants is able to control *Toxoplasma gondii* growth. The experimental design consisted of *A. annua* seedlings randomly planted in soil treated with different doses of calcium/magnesium silicate (0, 200, 400, 800, and 1600 kg ha⁻¹). Analysis of foliar macronutrients showed significant increases of N content only at the highest dose of silicate. Foliar micronutrients, Si concentrations, and plant height were not affected by any of the silicate doses. However, the dose of 400 kg ha⁻¹ of silicate increased the trichome size, which in turn raised artemisinin concentration in leaves and the infusion. In contrast, the 800 and 1600 kg ha⁻¹ doses dramatically decreased artemisinin concentration. Further, HeLa cell treatment with the infusion of *A. annua* grown in soil treated with 400 kg ha⁻¹ of silicate decreased parasite proliferation in a dose-dependent manner when the treatment was carried out after or along with *T. gondii* infection. However, this effect was similar to *A. annua* grown in soil without silicate treatment. Thus, it was concluded that, Si applied to the soil at 400 kg ha⁻¹ had a positive effect on the size of glandular trichome and the artemisinin concentration of *A. annua*.

Effect of Environmental Stresses

Prasad et al. (1998) investigated the effect of soil salinity (mixture of cations and anions) on the growth, yield, mineral composition and artemisinin concentration of *A. annua* cultivar. They noticed that plant height decreased as salinity stress increased, and the leaf-to-stem ratio was generally increased in salinized plants as compared with control plants not subjected to salinity stress. Artemisinin content in vegetative tissue was present 0.01% (g/100 g dry weight) and was not influenced by salinity levels from 0.9 to 10.4 dS/m, but decreased to 0.006% at 14 dS/m. The concentration of nitrogen was significantly higher, and the concentrations of phosphorus and calcium were lower in plants subjected to salinity stress. Potassium concentration and the potassium-to-sodium ratio in shoots decreased, while the sodium and magnesium concentrations increased with salinity stress to 6.0 dS/m. The potassium-to-sodium ratio was significantly and negatively correlated with the dry weight of shoot.

Qureshi et al. (2005) reported the effects of NaCl (0–160 mM) and lead acetate (0–500 lM) on 90 (S1 treatment)- and 120-day-old (S2 treatment) *A. annua* plants. Plants were assessed for lipid peroxidation rate, photosynthetic rate, chlorophyll content, content and yield of artemisinin, and for total biomass accumulation, at 100, 130 and 160 DAS in S1, and at 130 and 160 DAS in S2 treatments. Treatments enhanced lipid peroxidation at all stages of plant growth and increased the concentration and yield of artemisinin at 100 and 130 DAS in S1 and S2, respectively, while other parameters declined at all growth stages. The magnitude of changes was greater in lead-treated than in salt-treated plants. Both treatments induced oxidative stress, which might have damaged the photosynthetic apparatus resulting in a loss of chlorophyll content and a reduction in photosynthetic rate, biomass accumulation and artemisinin production.

Liu et al. (2002) studied the effects of light irradiation on growth and production of artermisinin in hairy root cultures of *A. annua* L. When the hairy roots were cultured under illumination at 3000 Lux for 16 h using several cool-white fluorescent lamps, and then darkness for 8 h, the dry weight and artemisinin concentration reached 13.8 g/L and 244.5 mg/L, respectively. The results obtained showed that the growth and artemisinin accumulation increased on improving the conditions of light irradiation, which affected metabolite formation conspicuously. Under optimal conditions, kinetics of growth, artemisinin accumulation and nutrient uptake were studied.

Ferreira (2007) first time reported that a cloned, greenhouse-grown A. annua subjected to an acidic soil and macronutrient deficit was evaluated for artemisinin production. Lack of lime (L) and macronutrients (N, P and K) reduced leaf biomass accumulation. When L was provided, the highest average leaf biomass was achieved with the "complete" (+N, +P, +K and +L) treatment, and the least biomass was achieved with the untreated (-N, -P, -K and -L) treatment. The macronutrient least required for biomass accumulation per plant was K (49.0 g). followed by P (36.5 g) and N (14.3 g). The artemisinin concentration (g/100 g) was significantly higher (75.5%) in -K plants when compared to plants under the complete treatment. Although the artemisinin total yield was 21% higher in -K plants, it was not significantly different from plants under the complete treatment, due to the lower biomass accumulation caused by deficiency of K. There was no marked treatment effects for concentration or yield of both dihydroartemisinic acid and artemisinic acid, although higher levels were achieved in plants under the complete or -K treatments. There was a positive and significant correlation between artemisinin and both artemisinic acid and dihydroartemisinic acid, in g/100 g and g/plant.

Marchese et al. (2010) grown *A. annua* plants in growth chambers and exposed to five water deficit treatments. Water deficits of 38 and 62 h increased leaf artemisinin content, but only 38 h led to a significant increase in both leaf and plant artemisinin, with no damage to plant biomass production. The other treatments had no effect on, or decreased artemisinin accumulation. They concluded that moderate water deficit prior to harvesting the crop may not only reduce time and costs in drying the crop, but can also induce artemisinin accumulation, both of which increase crop profit margins.

Aftab et al. (2010c) studied the effect of increasing levels of boron (B) on oxidative stress, antioxidant defence response and changes in artemisinin content in *A. annua*. Toxicity caused by B reduced growth parameters such as stem height, fresh weight and dry weight. Treatments induced oxidative stress resulting in lower net photosynthetic rate, stomatal conductance, internal CO_2 and total chlorophyll content. The increased activities of antioxidant enzymes like CAT (catalase), POX (peroxidase) and SOD (superoxide dismutase) were also noted in response to increasing levels of B stress. However, H_2O_2 and artemisinin content were found to be high up to 1.00 mM concentration of boron compared to control, and on applying higher doses, further reduced contents were obtained. Their results suggest that a mild stress of B can be utilized to enhance artemisinin production.

The role of salicylic acid (SA) in inducing salinity tolerance was studied in *A. annua* L., by Aftab et al. (2011b). When applied to leaves at 1.0 mM, SA provided considerable protection against salt stress imposed by 50, 100 or 200 mM NaCl to soil. Salt stress negatively affected plant growth as assessed by length and dry weight of shoots and roots. Salinity also reduced the values of photosynthetic attributes and total chlorophyll content and inhibited the activities of nitrate reductase and carbonic anhydrase. Furthermore, salt stress significantly increased electrolyte leakage and proline content. Salt stress also induced oxidative stress as indicated by the elevated levels of lipid peroxidation compared to the control.

A foliar spray of SA at 1.0 mM promoted the growth of plants, independent of salinity level. The activity of antioxidant enzymes, namely CAT, POX and SOD, was upregulated by salt stress and was further enhanced by SA treatment. Artemisinin concentration increased at 50 and 100 mM NaCl but decreased at 200 mM NaCl. The application of SA further enhanced artemisinin concentration when applied with 50 and 100 mM NaCl by 18.3 and 52.4%, respectively. Their results indicated that moderate saline conditions can be exploited to obtain higher artemisinin content in *A. annua* plants, whereas the application of SA can be used to maintain plant growth and induce its antioxidant defence system under salt stress.

Aftab et al. (2011b) conducted a study to determine whether the exogenous application of methyl jasmonate (MJ) on *A. annua* could counteract the ill effects of excessive B present in the soil. According to the results obtained, B toxicity induced oxidative stress and reduced stem height, as well as fresh and dry masses of the plant significantly. The excessive amounts of soil B also lowered the net photosynthetic rate, stomatal conductance, internal CO₂ concentration and total chlorophyll content in the leaves. In contrast, the foliar application of MJ enhanced the growth and photosynthetic efficiency in both the stressed and non-stressed plants. The excessive B levels also increased the activities of antioxidant enzymes, such as CAT, POX and SOD. Endogenous H_2O_2 and O_2^- levels were also high in stressed plants. However, MJ application on stressed plants reduced the amount of lipid peroxidation and stimulated the synthesis of antioxidant enzymes, enhancing the concentration and yield of artemisinin as well. They concluded that MJ might be utilized in mitigating B toxicity and improving both concentration and yield of artemisinin in *A. annua*.

Further, Aftab et al. (2012) reported the effects of boron (B) and aluminium (Al) contamination in soil, carried out with or without application of exogenous sodium nitroprusside or SNP (a nitric oxide donor), on various plant processes in *A. annua*, including changes in artemisinin content. The addition of B or Al to soil significantly reduced the yield and growth of plants and lowered the values of net photosynthetic rate, stomatal conductance, internal CO_2 concentration and total chlorophyll content. The follow-up treatment of NO donor favoured growth and improved the photosynthetic efficiency in stressed and non-stressed plants. Artemisinin content was enhanced by 24.6 and 43.8% at 1.0 mol of soil-applied B or Al. When SNP was applied at 2.0 mol concentration with either 1.0 mol of B and/or Al, it further stimulated artemisinin biosynthesis compared to the control. Application of B, Al and SNP proved to be the best treatment combination to increase artemisinin concentration in *A. annua* leaves.

Zanjani et al. (2012) assessed the effect of salt stress on physiological traits of *A*. annua L. under salicylic acid (SA) application and non application conditions. They applied four salinity levels (0 (control), 4, 8, and 12 ds. m⁻¹ NaCl) and two SA levels (SA non application (control) and SA application (0.5 mM). Chlorophyll *a* and *b* content, leaf electrical conductivity, stomatal resistance, leaf relative water content, and canopy temperature difference were determined. Their results revealed that application of SA in both stress and non stress conditions increased the chlorophyll *a* and *b* content and also leaf relative water content, although leaf electrical conductivity, stomatal resistance and canopy temperature difference decreased by SA application in both stress and non-stress conditions.

Rai et al. (2011) studied physiological, biochemical and molecular changes in *Artemisia annua* under arsenic (As) stress. Plants accumulated As in a dose dependent manner with bioconcentration factor 13.4 and translocation factor 0.97. While a similar trend of As accumulation was observed under soil culture experiments, the transfer factor went up to 2.1, depicting high efficiency of As translocation from roots to shoots by *A. annua*. Plants raised in 0–3000 μ g L⁻¹ As containing nutrient solution registered increase in root length, biomass, and carotenoid contents without any visual toxicity symptoms. A dose dependent increase in the activities of enzymes such as superoxide dismutase, ascorbate peroxidase, glutathione reductase and guaiacol peroxidase followed by a gradual decline at higher concentrations suggested their role in alleviating oxidative stress. Significant increase in the levels of thiols, GSH, and pcs gene transcript up to 3000 μ g L⁻¹ As attested their roles in As detoxification. Enhanced artemisinin production under As stress and upregulation of the transcripts of the genes HMGR, FDS, ADS, and CYP71AV1 involved in artemisinin biosynthesis.

Further, study of Rai et al. (2014) provided the first proteomic evidence of As tolerance and interactive regulatory network between primary and secondary metabolism in *A. annua*. While chlorophyll fluorescence and photosynthetic rate depicted mild inhibition, there was a significant enhancement in PSI activity, whole chain, ATP, and NADPH contents in 100 μ M As treatments compared to the control plants. The most interesting observation was an increased accumulation of LEAFY like novel protein conceivably responsible for an early onset of flowering in *A. annua* under As stress. Their study not only affirmed the role of energy metabolism proteins but also identified potential candidates responsible for As tolerance in plants.

Paul and Shakva (2013) investigated the effect of As(III). Cr(VI) and NaCl on plant growth, antioxidant enzymes, SOD, TBRAS, protein, cDNA amplification of key genes of artemisinin pathway and artemisinin biosynthesis to explore the actual changes in total herb and artemisinin yield in a crop cycle of A. annua. Enhanced TBARS and SOD activity (4 U mg^{-1}), decreased catalase activity and total cholorophyll content were observed under metal(loid) and NaCl stress. Accumulation of As(III; $\mu g mg^{-1} DW$) was higher in roots (10.75 \pm 0.00) than shoot (0.43 \pm 0.00) at 10 μ g ml⁻¹. While Cr(VI; μ g ml⁻¹ DW) accumulated more in shoots $(37 \pm 9.6, 41.1 \pm 7.2 \text{ and } 52.71 \pm 19.6)$. cDNA template of these treated plants along with control were amplified with HMGR, ADS and CYP71AV1 genes (artemisinin biosynthetic pathway genes); showed very low expression with Cr(VI) while As(III) (5 and 7.5 μ g ml⁻¹) showed higher expression than control. Their study suggested that A. annua can grow well with favoring artemisinin biosynthesis with treatment of As(III) 5, 7.5 μ g ml⁻¹ and NaCl, while 10 µg ml⁻¹ As(III) and all doses of Cr(VI) affect artemisinin synthesis and total herb yield of plant.

Li et al. (2014) investigated the physiological response of varying level of salt stresses (50, 100, 200, 300, or 400 mM NaCl) on plant growth and artemisinin

content of *A. annua* L. and salt damage mitigation by exogenous salicylic acid (0.05 or 0.1 mM). Plant growth, antioxidant enzyme activity, proline, and mineral element level were determined. In general, increasing salt concentration significantly reduced plant growth. Superoxide dismutase (SOD), peroxidase (POD), and catalase (CAT) were stimulated by salt treatment to a higher enzyme activity in treated plants than those in untreated plants. Content of proline had a visible range of increment in the salt-treated plants. Distribution of mineral elements was in inconformity: Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ were mainly accumulated in the roots; K⁺ and Mg²⁺ were concentrated in leaves and stems, respectively. Alleviation of growth arrest was observed with exogenous applications of salicylic acid (SA) under salt stress conditions. The activity of SOD and POD was notably enhanced by SA, but the CAT action was suppressed. While SA had no discernible effect on proline content, it effectively inhibited excessive Na⁺ absorption and promoted Mg²⁺ absorption. Ca²⁺ and K⁺ contents showed a slight reduction when supplemented with SA.

Chaturvedi et al. (2014) conducted experiment to study the effect of various extrinsic factors viz., temperature, moisture and salt concentrations affecting ex situ seed germination of different populations of A. annua. All the populations were susceptible to changes in abiotic conditions viz., moisture and salinity levels in dose dependent manner. According to Agrawal (2015), In vitro enhancement in artemisinin content has been achieved employing biotic (Piriformospora indica and Agrobacterium rhizogenes strain A4) and abiotic (such as heavy metals and salicylic acid) elicitors with different explants in various MS media compositions. A significant enhancement in artemisinin content of 60% was achieved in shoot cultures co-cultivated with P. indica. Hairy root cultures raised through leaf explants of A. annua when exposed to different concentration of Pb, Hg, Co and SA have shown a tremendous enhancement in artemisinin, the maximum elevation reaching to 1450% in lead nitrate (100 mg/L) supplemented medium over control. For abiotic stress, nodal explants if exposed to various heavy metal (Ag, Cu, Hg, Co and Zn) salts too revealed significant increase in artemisinin production, the optimum being 50% at 100 mg/L of Cu and Zn. The crude extract of A. annua has been fractionated, isolated and characterized through CC, TLC, FT-IR and NMR. Bioassays conducted with crude extract of leaves against larvae of malaria (Anopheles stephensi) and dengue (Aedes aegypti) vectors have shown a strong larvicidal activity and on human oral cancer cell line causing 98.5% mortality. This is our first report of elicitation of artemisinin in A. annua employing P. indica and hairy roots coupled with abiotic stresses.

Yadav et al. (2014) find out the modulation of artemisinin and essential oil constituents in plants grown under prolonged water stress conditions. *A. annua* CIM-Arogya plants grown in pots were subjected to mild ($60\% \pm 5$) and moderate ($40\% \pm 5$) water stress treatment and continued during entire developmental period. Their study revealed that artemisinin, arteannuin-B, artemisinic acid, dihydroartemisinic acid and essential oil content were positively controlled by the growth and development however negatively modulated by water deficit stress. Interestingly, some of minor monoterpenes, all sesquiterpenes and other low

molecular weight volatiles of essential oil components were induced by water deficit treatment. Camphor which is the major essential oil constituents did not alter much while 1, 8 cineole was modulated during development of plant as well as under water stress conditions. Water deficit stress induces a decrease in glandular trichome density and size as well.

Malik et al. (2013) conducted an experiment to assess the impact of organic residues from urban areas and industries on *A. annua* L. Application of industrial wastes enhanced content and yield of artemisinin, herb dry yield and plant characteristics. Highest artemisinin content in leaf (0.53%) was found at flower initiation stage and highest artemisinin yield (29.97 kg ha⁻¹) was obtained from sewage sludge biosolid treatment. Their study revealed that organic waste amendments enhance herbage yield and artemisinin content so these, can be utilized for the commercial production of *A. annua* with additional benefits of mitigation of environmental pollution caused by the accretion of these large quantities.

A pot experiment was conducted by Naeem (2015) according to randomized block design using five replicates to screen the A. annua L. varieties, namely 'CIM-Arogya' and 'Jeevan Raksha' under arsenic stress. Four concentrations of arsenic [0 (control), 15, 30 and 45 mg kg⁻¹ soil] were applied to the soil. Measurements for growth characteristics, physiological attributes, biochemical parameters, yield and quality attributes were carried out at pre-flowering [90 days after planting (DAP)] and flowering (120 DAP) stages. The variety 'Jeevan Raksha' was more adversely affected by arsenic stress than the 'CIM-Arogya', suggesting that the 'CIM-Arogya' was more arsenic tolerant than the 'Jeevan Raksha'. The highest arsenic concentration (45 mg kg⁻¹ soil) proved most toxic dose as compared to other arsenic doses applied. It reduced the rate of photosynthesis and leaf-chlorophyll content significantly both at 90 and 120 DAP. The activities of CAT, POX and APX were also rapidly stimulated due to the highest concentration of arsenic at both the growth stages. Noticeably, all applied doses of arsenic significantly increased the production of artemisinin in the leaves. As compared to control, 'CIM-Arogya' contained the maximum artemisinin content under the highest arsenic stress, increasing the artemisinin content by 38.0 and 42.6% at 90 and 120 DAP, respectively; while, 'Jeevan Raksha' showed an increase in artemisinin content by 32.6 and 35.7% at the respective dates of sampling. At the highest arsenic stress, the yield of artemisinin was increased by 42.9 and 45.7% in 'CIM-Arogya' and by 37.5 and 40.5% in 'Jeevan Raksha'. Generation rate of H₂O₂ increased consistently when arsenic was applied irrespective of the varieties used, indicating the role of H_2O_2 in artemisinin biosynthesis in A. annua L.

Kumari et al. (2016) suggested that *A. annua* is a good As-accumulator. They examined differential responses of roots and leaves of *A. annua* to different arsenic concentrations (50, 100, and 150 μ M) and treatment durations (1, 3, 5, or 7 days). Above and below ground plant biomass was enhanced at 100 μ M As but 150 μ M As significantly reduced them. As-treatment caused membrane damage more in the roots than in the leaves as reflected by higher degree of lipid peroxidation in the roots than in the leaves. In response to As stress, plant activated antioxidative

defense for detoxification of induced reactive oxygen species, As sequestration via phytochelatins (PCS) as well as wide range of secondary metabolites. All of them were activated differently in roots and leaves. Among enzymatic antioxidants, leaves significantly elevated superoxide dismutase (SOD), ascorbate peroxidase, and glutathione reductase, whereas in roots SOD, catalase, and peroxidase played significant role in ROS detoxification.

Soni and Abdin (2016) examined the effects of long-term water shortage-induced oxidative stress on morphophysiological parameters, proline metabolic genes, and artemisinin content in *A. annua* L. under greenhouse conditions. Plant growth, biomass accumulation, relative water content, and chlorophyll content were reduced under drought. Leaf water potential ranged from -0.3248 MPa to -1.22 MPa in stress conditions. Increased levels of proline accumulation, protein concentration, and lipid peroxidation were detected in water-stressed plants. They postulated that higher expression of biosynthetic genes and lower expression of catabolic genes at the preflowering stage confirmed the important role of proline in flower development. Artemisinin content decreased owing to water stress, but the slightly higher amounts were detected in leaves of severely stressed plants compared with moderately stressed plants.

Conclusion

Various scientific strategies have been applied to enhance the production of artemisinin, which include agronomical practices, genetic engineering, selective breeding and bio-transformation approach. Agronomical practices have always been a successful tool for the improved production of commercial crops with prominent effects on the secondary metabolite production. However, it is the need of the hour to explore newer strategies to enhance productivity of this antimalarial plant and also to minimize the expenses of this drug. Therefore, in order to increase the desired production of artemisinin, exploitation of scientific approaches with cheaper and more convenient strategies should be considered.

Also, the agricultural aspects of artemisinin production such as soil fertility and pH, plant density, water availability, latitude and altitude, mineral nutrients, elicitors, hormones, harvesting and drying strategies must be fine-tuned for each geographic area where *Artemisia* is to be cultivated for artemisinin production. Furthermore, efforts should be made to enhance the production of artemisinin both in vivo and in vitro with good quality and authentic seeds generated from high-artemisinin yielding parents. The study also concluded that abiotic stresses play an important role in amplifying the production of artemisinin by scavenging ROS through dihydroartemisinic acid. It is, therefore, fundamental to look for non-conventional, alternate strategies, which are economically viable for commercial production of artemisinin.

References

- Aftab T, Khan MMA, Idrees M, Naeem M, Singh M, Ram M (2010a) Stimulation of crop productivity, photosynthesis and artemisinin production in *Artemisia annua* L. by triacontanol and gibberellic acid application. J Plant Interact 5:273–281
- Aftab T, Khan MMA, Idrees M, Naeem M, Moinuddin M (2010b) Salicylic acid acts as potent enhancer of growth, photosynthesis and artemisinin production in *Artemisia annua* L. J Crop Sci Biotech 13:183–188
- Aftab T, Khan MMA, Idrees M, Naeem M, Ram M (2010c) Boron induced oxidative stress, antioxidant defense response and changes in artemisinin content in *Artemisia annua* L. J Agron Crop Sci 196:423–430
- Aftab T, Khan MMA, Idrees M, Naeem M, Moinuddin M (2011a) Optimizing nitrogen levels combined with gibberellic acid for enhanced yield, photosynthetic attributes, enzyme activities and artemisinin content of *Artemisia annua*. Front Agric China 5:51–59
- Aftab T, Khan MMA, Teixeira da Silva JA, Idrees M, Naeem M, Moinuddin M (2011b) Role of salicylic acid in promoting salt stress tolerance and enhanced artemisinin production in *Artemisia annua* L. J Plant Growth Regul 30:425–435
- Aftab T, Khan MMA, Naeem M, Idrees M, Moinuddin M, Teixeira da Silva JA, Ram M (2012) Exogenous nitric oxide donor protects *Artemisia annua* from oxidative stress generated by boron and aluminium toxicity. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 80:60–68
- Aftab T, Naeem M, Idrees M, Khan MMA, Moinuddin Varshney L (2013) Cumulative role of irradiated sodium alginate and nitrogen fertilizer on growth, biochemical processes and artemisinin production in *Artemisia annua*. Industrial Crop Product 50:874–881
- Aftab T, Khan MMA, Naeem M, Idrees M, Siddiqui TO, Moinuddin Varshney L (2014) Effect of irradiated sodium alginate and phosphorus on biomass and artemisinin production in *Artemisia annua*. Carbohyd Polymer 110:396–404
- Aftab T, Naeem M, Idrees M, Khan MMA, Uddin Moin, Varshney L (2016) Simultaneous use of irradiated sodium alginate and nitrogen and phosphorus fertilizers enhance growth, biomass and artemisinin biosynthesis in *Artemisia annua* L. J App Res Med Arom Plant 3:186–194
- Agrawal V (2015) Biotechnological approaches for rapid elicitation of artimisinin in *Artemisia annua* L. employing biotic and abiotic stresses, its isolation and evaluation of bio-efficacy against cancer cell lines, malaria and dengue vectors. 6th World Congress on Biotechnology October 05–07, 2015 New Delhi, India
- Ahlawat S, Saxena P, Alam P, Wajid S, Abdin MZ (2014) Modulation of artemisinin biosynthesis by elicitors, inhibitor, and precursor in hairy root cultures of *Artemisia annua* L. J Plant Interact 9:811–824
- Avery MA, Chong WKM, Jennings-White C (1992) Stereoselective total synthesis of (+)artemisinin, the antimalarial constituent of *Artemisia annua* L. J Am Chem Soc 114:974–979
- Ayanoglu F, Mert A, Kirici S (2002) The effects of different nitrogen doses on *Artemisia annua* L. J Herbs Spices Med Plant 9:399–404
- Banyai W, Mii M, Supaibulwatana K (2011) Enhancement of artemisinin content and biomass in *Artemisia annua* by exogenous GA₃ treatment. Plant Growth Regul 63:45–54
- Brown GD (2010) The biosynthesis of artemisinin (Qinghaosu) and the phytochemistry of *Artemisia annua* L (Qinghao). Molecules 15:7603–7698
- Chaturvedi P, Bisht D, Pandey ST (2014) Effects of temperature, moisture and salinity on seed germination of *Artemisia annua* L. grown under Tarai conditions of Uttarakhand. J Appl Hortic 16:231–234
- Chen DH, Ye HC, Li GF (2000) Expression of a chimeric farnesyl diphosphate synthase gene in *Artemisia annua* L. transgenic plants via *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*-mediated transformation. Plant Sci 155:179–185
- Crespo-Ortiz MP, Wei MQ (2012) Antitumor activity of artemisinin and its derivatives: from a well-known antimalarial agent to a potential anticancer drug. J Biomed Biotechnol 2012:18 (Article ID 247597)

- Davis TM, Karunajeewa HA, Ilett KF (2005) Artemisinin-based combination therapies for uncomplicated malaria. Med J Aust 182:181–185
- Davies M, Atkinson C, Burns C, Woolley J, Hipps NA, Arroo R, Dungey N, Robinson T, Brown P, Flockhart I, Hill C, Smith L, Bentley S (2009) Enhancement of artemisinin concentration and yield in response to optimization of nitrogen and potassium supply to *Artemisia annua* L. Ann Bot 104:315–323
- Davies MJ, Atkinson CJ, Burns C, Arroo R, Woolley J (2011) Increases in leaf artemisinin concentration in *Artemisia annua* in response to the application of phosphorus and boron. Ind Crops Prod 34:1465–1473
- Ferreira JFS (2007) Nutrient deficiency in the production of artemisinin, dihydroartemisinic acid and artemisinic acid in *Artemisia annua* L. J Agric Food Chem 55:1686–1694
- Ferreira JFS, Janick J (1996a) Roots as an enhancing factor for the production of artemisinin in shoot cultures of *Artemisia annua*. Plant Cell, Tissue Organ Cult 44:211–217
- Ferreira JFS, Janick J (1996b) Distribution of artemisinin in Artemisia annua. In: Janick J (ed) Progress in new crops. ASHS Press, Arlington, pp 579–584
- Ferreira JFS, Simon JE, Janick J (1995a) Developmental studies of Artemisia annua: flowering and artemisinin production under greenhouse and field conditions. Planta Med 61:167–170
- Ferreira JFS, Simon JE, Janick J (1995b) Relationship of artemisinin content of tissue-cultured, greenhouse-grown, and field-grown plants of *Artemisia annua*. Planta Med 61:351–355
- Graham IA, Besser K, Blumer S, Branigan CA, Czechowski T, Elias L et al (2010) The genetic map of Artemisia annua L. Identifies Loci affecting yield of the anti-malarial drug artemisinin. Science 327:328–331
- Haynes RK (2006) From artemisinin to new artemisinin antimalarials: biosynthesis, extraction old and new derivatives, stereochemistry and medicinal chemistry requirements. Current Trop Med Chem 6:509–537
- Jha P, Ram M, Khan MA, Kiran U, Mahmooduzzafar YM, Abdin MZ (2011) Impact of organic manure and chemical fertilizers on artemisinin content and yield in *Artemisia annua* L. Ind Crop Prod 33:296–301
- Jing F, Zhang L, Li M, Tang Y, Wang Y, Wang Y (2009) Abscisic acid (ABA) treatment increases artemisinin content in *Artemisia annua* by enhancing the expression of genes in artemisinin biosynthetic pathway. Biologia 64:319–323
- Kapoor R, Chaudhary V, Bhatnagar AK (2007) Effects of arbuscular mycorrhiza and phosphorus application on artemisinin concentration in *Artemisia annua* L. Mycorrhiza 17:581–587
- Khudsar T, Mahmooduzzafar Iqbal M, Sairam RK (2004) Zinc-induced changes in morpho-physiological and biochemical parameters in *Artemisia annua*. Biologia Plant 48:255–260
- Kiani BH, Suberu J, Mirza B (2016) Cellular engineering of Artemisia annua and Artemisia dubia with the rol ABC genes for enhanced production of potent anti-malarial drug artemisinin. Malaria J 15:252
- Klayman DL (1985) Qinghaosu (artemisinin): an antimalarial drug from China. Science 228:1049–1055
- Kumari A, Pandey N, Pandey-Rai S (2016) Protection of Artemisia annua roots and leaves against oxidative stress induced by arsenic. Biol Plant 61:367–377
- Li L, Zhang H, Zhang L, Zhou Y, Yang R, Ding C, Wang X (2014) The physiological response of *Artemisia annua* L. to salt stress and salicylic acid treatment Physiol Mol Biol Plants 20: 161–169
- Liu C, Guo C, Wang Y, Ouyang F (2002) Effect of light irradiation on hairy root growth and artemisinin biosynthesis of *Artemisia annua* L. Process Biochem 38:581–585
- Lv Z, Zhang F, Pan Q, Fu X, Jiang W, Shen Q, Yan T, Shi P, Lu X, Sun X, Tang K (2016) Branch pathway blocking in *Artemisia annua* is a useful method for obtaining high yield artemisinin. Plant Cell Physiol 57:588–602
- Malik AA, Ahmad J, Mir SR, Ali M, Abdin MZ (2009) Influence of chemical and biological treatments on volatile oil composition of *Artemisia annua* Linn. Ind Crops Prod 30:380–383

- Malik AA, Suryapani S, Ahmad J, Umar U, Abdin MZ, Mir SR (2013) An attempt to enhance select secondary metabolite of *Artemisia annua* L. J Biological Sciences 13:499–506
- Marchese JA, Ferreira JFS, Rehder VLG, Rodrigues O (2010) Water deficit effect on the accumulation of biomass and artemisinin in annual wormwood (*Artemisia annua* L, Asteraceae). Braz J Plant Physiol 22:1–9
- Naeem M (2015) Influence of arsenic stress on growth, physiological activities and artemisinin production in two varieties of Artemisia (*Artemisia annua*) differing in artemisinin yield. Planta Med 81:PM_226. doi:10.1055/s-0035-1565603
- Nguyen K, Arsenault P, Weathers P (2011) Trichomes + roots + ROS = artemisinin: regulating artemisinin biosynthesis in *Artemisia annua* L. In Vitro Cell Develop Biol 47:329–338
- Özgüven M, Sener B, Orhan I, Sekerglu N, Kirpik M, Kartal M, Pesin I, Kaya Z (2008) Effects of varying nitrogen doses on yield, yield components and artemisinin content of *Artemisia annua* L. Ind Crop Prod 27:60–64
- Patra N, Srivastava AK, Sharma S (2013) Study of various factors for enhancement of artemisinin in *Artemisia annua* hairy roots. Int J Chem Eng Appl 4:157–160
- Paul S, Shakya K (2013) Arsenic, chromium and NaCl induced artemisinin biosynthesis in *Artemisia annua* L.: a valuable antimalarial plant. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 98:59–65
- Peyvandi M, Monsef M, Mirza M (2009) The effect of nitrogen and phosphorus on yield and essential oil of *Artemisia annua* L. Iranian J Med Arom Plant 25:75–84
- Prasad A, Kumar D, Anwar M, Singh DV, Jain DC (1998) Response of Artemisia annua L to soil salinity. J Herbs Spices Med Plants 5:49–55
- Pu GB, Ma DM, Chen JL, Ma LQ, Wang H, Li GF, Ye HC, Liu BY (2009) Salicylic acid activates artemisinin biosynthesis in *Artemisia annua* L. Plant Cell Rep 28:1127–1135
- Qureshi MI, Israr M, Abdin MZ, Iqbal M (2005) Responses of Artemisia annua L. to lead and salt induced oxidative stress. Environ Exp Bot 53:185–193
- Rai R, Pandey S, Rai SP (2011) Arsenic-induced changes in morphological, physiological, and biochemical attributes and artemisinin biosynthesis in *Artemisia annua*, an antimalarial plant. Ecotoxicology 20:1900–1913
- Rai R, Pandey S, Shrivastava AK, Rai SP (2014) Enhanced photosynthesis and carbon metabolism favor arsenic tolerance in *Artemisia annua*, a medicinal plant as revealed by homology-based proteomics. Int J Proteomics 21 pp (Article ID 163962)
- Ro DK, Paradise EM, Ouellet M, Fisher KJ, Newman KL et al (2006) Production of the antimalarial drug precursor artemisinic acid in engineered yeast. Nature 440:940–943
- Rostkowska C, Mota CM, Oliveira TC, Santiago FM, Oliveira LA, Korndörfer GH, Lana RMQ, Rossi ML, Nogueira NL, Simonnet X, Mineo TWP, Silva DAO, Mineo JR (2016) Si-accumulation in Artemisia annua glandular trichomes increases artemisinin concentration, but does not interfere in the impairment of Toxoplasma gondii growth. Front Plant Sci 7:1430
- Shukla A, Farooqi AHA, Shukla YN, Sharma S (1992) Effect of triacontanol and chlormequat on growth, plant hormones and artemisinin yield in *Artemisia annua* L. Plant Growth Regul 11:165–171
- Singh M (2000) Effect of nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium nutrition on herb, oil and artemisinin yield in *Artemisia annua* under semi-arid tropical conditions. J Med Arom Plant Sci 22:368–369
- Smith TC, Weathers PJ, Cheetham RD (1997) Effects of gibberellic acid on hairy root cultures of Artemisia annua growth and artemisinin production. In Vitro Cell Dev B 33:75–79
- Soni P, Abdin MZ (2016) Water deficit-induced oxidative stress affects artemisinin content and expression of proline metabolic genes in *Artemisia annua* L. FEBS Open Bio. doi:10.1002/ 2211-5463.12184
- Tahir SM, Usman IS, Katung MD, Ishiyaku MF (2016) The effect of plant growth regulators on callus initiation in wormwood (*Artemisia annua* L.). Bayero J Pure App Sci 9:160–165
- Wallaart TE, van Uden W, Lubberink HG, Woerdenbag HJ, Pras N, Quax WJ (1999) Isolation and identification of dihydroartemisinic acid from *Artemisia annua* and its possible role in the biosynthesis of artemisinin. J Natur Product 62:430–433

- Wallaart TE, Pras N, Beekman AC, Quax WJ (2000) Seasonal variation of artemisinin and its biosynthetic precursors in plants of *Artemisia annua* of different geographical origin: Proof for the existence of chemotypes. Planta Med 66:57–62
- Wang JW, Kong FX, Tan RX (2002) Improved artemisinin accumulation in hairy root cultures of Artemisia annua by (22S, 23S)-homobrassinolide. Biotechnol Lett 24:1573–1577
- Weathers PJ, Bunk G, Mccoy MC (2005) The effect of phytohormones on growth and artemisinin production in *Artemisia annua* hairy roots. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Plant 41:47–53
- Wang HH, Ma CF, Li ZQ, Ma LQ, Wang H, Ye HC, Xu GW, Liu BY (2010) Effects of exogenous methyl jasmonate on artemisinin biosynthesis and secondary metabolites in *Artemisia annua* L. Ind Crop Prod 31:214–218

WHO (2010) World malaria report. World Health Organization, Geneva

- Xie DY, Zou ZR, Ye HC, Li GF, Guo ZC (2001) Selection of hairy root clones of *Artemisia annua* L. for artemisinin production. Israel J Plant Sci 49:129–134
- Xu X, Zhu J, Huang D, Zhou W (1986) Total synthesis of arteannuin and deoxyarteannuin. Tetrahedron 42:819–828
- Yadav RK, Sangwan RS, Sabir F, Srivastava AK, Sangwan NS (2014) Effect of prolonged water stress on specialized secondary metabolites, peltate glandular trichomes, and pathway gene expression in *Artemisia annua* L. Plant Physiol Biochem 74:70–83
- Zanjani KE, Rad AHS, Bitarafan Z, Aghdam AM, Taherkhani T, Khalili P (2012) Physiological response of sweet wormwood to salt stress under salicylic acid application and non application conditions. Life Sci J 9:4190–4195

Plant Nanobionics a Novel Approach to Overcome the Environmental Challenges

Mansour Ghorbanpour and Shohreh Fahimirad

Abstract Plant nanobionics is a new field of bioengineering that inserts nanoparticles into the cells and chloroplasts of living plants, which then alter or amplify the functioning of the plant tissue or organelle. The broader vision is to create a wide array of wild-type plants capable of imaging objects in their environment, self-powering themselves as light sources, infrared communication devices, and also function as self-powered ground water sensors. Plants are uniquely suited to perform such roles due to their ability to generate energy from sunlight and photosynthesis. In the field of nanobiotechnology, researchers want to develop bionic plants that could have better photosynthesis efficiency and biochemical sensing.

Keywords Plant nanobionics • Nanoparticles • Nanobiotechnology • Self-powering plants

Introduction

Nanoscale science and nanotechnology is the study and application of small sized objects range from 1 to 100 nanometers (nm), where novel characteristics make new and wide uses possible. Nanomaterials are therefore characterized as natural or engineered substances with at least one dimension in the size less than 100 nm. With quite diverse appearance, engineered nanomaterials can be spherical or near-spherical, tubular, or irregularly (non-spherical) shaped, which have been found in single, fused, and agglomerated forms with compositionally homogenous

M. Ghorbanpour (🖂)

Department of Agricultural Biotechnology, Faculty of Agriculture and Natural Resources, University of Tehran, Karaj, Iran e-mail: m-ghorbanpour@araku.ac.ir

S. Fahimirad

Department of Medicinal Plants, Faculty of Agriculture and Natural Resources, Arak University, Arak, Iran

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

M. Ghorbanpour and A. Varma (eds.), *Medicinal Plants and Environmental Challenges*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-68717-9_14

or heterogeneous (Hatami et al. 2016; Service 2003). There are many specific reasons that show why nanoscale has become so prominent; some of which are as follows (Mansoori 2017):

- (1) Quantum mechanical (wavelike) characteristics of electrons inside matter are influenced by variations on the nanoscale. By nanoscale design of materials it is possible to vary their micro and macroscopic attributes including charge capacity, magnetization and melting temperature, without changing their chemical composition.
- (2) A key attribute of biological entities is the systematic organization of matter on the nanoscale. Development in nanotechnology and nanoscience has allowed us to place man-made nanoscale things inside living cells (Ebrahimi and Mansoori 2014). It has also made it possible to study micro and macro structure of materials using molecular self-assembly (Xue and Mansoori 2010). This certainly is a powerful tool in materials science.
- (3) Nanoscale components have unique properties such as very high surface to volume ratio, making them ideal for use in composite materials, reacting systems, drug delivery, and energy storage, etc.
- (4) Macroscopic systems made up of nanostructures can have much higher density than those made up of microstructures. They can also be better conductors of electricity, resulting in new electronic device concepts, smaller and faster circuits, more sophisticated functions, and greatly reduced power consumption simultaneously by controlling nanostructure interactions and complexity.

Results of research and developments in the field of nanotechnology and nanoscience are entering into all aspects of our lives including, but not limited to, aerospace, defense, energy, environment, materials, manufacturing, medicine, agriculture and plant sciences (Ghorbanpour and Hadian 2015; Hatami et al. 2017; Ghorbanpour 2015; Baiazidi-Aghdam et al. 2016; Ghorbanpour and Hatami 2014; Hatami et al. 2014), etc. It is truly an atomic and molecular approach for building biologically, chemically and physically stable structures one atom or one molecule at a time. Presently some of the active nanoscience and nanotechnology research areas include nanolithography, nanodevices, nanorobotics, nanocomputers, nanopowders, nanostructured catalysts and nanoporous materials, molecular manufacturing, nanolayers, molecular nanotechnology, medicine such as Alzheimer's disease (Nazem and Mansoori 2008, 2014) and cancer (Ebrahimi and Mansoori 2014; Mansoori et al. 2007, 2010) prediction, prevention and treatment through nanotechnology), nanobiology, organic nanostructures to name a few.

Also, nanotechnology has the potential to enable new and enhanced functional properties in photosynthetic organelles and organisms for the enhancement of solar energy harnessing and biochemical sensing. Nanobionics engineering of plant function may contribute to the development of biomimetic materials for light-harvesting and biochemical detection with regenerative properties and enhanced efficiency (Giraldo et al. 2014). Thus, nanobionics aims to give plants superpowers.

Plant Nanobionics with Improved Photosynthesis Efficiency

Plant Nanobionic with Broaden Solar Light Absorption

In most kinds of plants, thylakoid membranes within chloroplasts are main location of the photosynthetic machinery. Chloroplasts are able to absorb visible range of the light spectrum which comprise of 50% of the incident solar energy radiation. Furthermore, Plants typically make use of only about 10% of the sunlight available to them (Zhu et al. 2010).

Thus, researchers have tried to improve photosynthetic efficiency by extending the range of solar light absorption (Blankenship et al. 2011).

Nanomaterials with perfect chemical and physical traits in chloroplast-based photocatalytic complexes form cause enhanced and new functional properties (Giraldo et al. 2014).

SWNTs are able to capture visible and near-infrared spectra of light wavelengths while chloroplast antenna pigments absorption rates are limited in this case.

Giraldo et al. (2014) successfully designed highly charged single-walled carbon nanotubes (SWNTs) coated with DNA and chitosan (a biomolecule derived from shrimp and other crustacean shells) which were able to spontaneously penetrate into chloroplasts. This new lipid exchange envelope penetration (LEEP) process for incorporating the nanostructures involves wrapping CNTs or nanoparticles with highly charged DNA or polymer molecules, enabling them to penetrate into the fatty, hydrophobic membranes that surround chloroplasts (Fig. 1).

Single walled carbon nanotubes (SWNTs) embedded within chloroplasts has the potential to enhance the light reactions of photosynthesis with their distinctive optical properties. SWNTs are able to capture visible and near-infrared spectra of light wavelengths while chloroplast antenna pigments absorption rates are limited in this case (Fig. 2). SWNTs convert this absorbed solar energy into excitons which transfer electrons to the photosynthetic machinery (Han et al. 2010).

Incorporation of CNTs into chloroplasts extracted from plants enhanced choloroplast's photosynthetic activity by 49% compared to the control. When these nanocomposites were incorporated into leaf chloroplasts of living plants, the electron flow associated with photosynthesis was enhanced by 30%. SWNT real-time sensing of NO in extracted chloroplasts and leaves could also be extended to detect a wide range of plant signalling molecules and exogenous compounds such as pesticides, herbicides and environmental pollutants.

Plant Nanobionic with Higher ROS Savaging Ability

Interestingly, SWNT-based nanosensors were able to monitor single-molecule dynamics of free radicals within chloroplasts for optimizing photosynthetic environmental conditions (light and CO₂) (Zhang et al. 2010).
Fig. 1 SWNT transport through chloroplast double membrane envelope via kinetic trapping by lipid exchange (Giraldo et al. 2014)



The major limitation in the use of extracted chloroplasts for solar energy applications is that they easily break down due to light- and oxygen-induced damage to the photosynthetic proteins. Giraldo et al. (2014) illustrated that cerium oxide nanoparticles (nanoceria) were combined with a highly charged polymer



Fig. 2 Chloroplast autofluorescence was masked from near-infrared images by along-pass 1100 nm filter

(polyacrylic acid) pass through the outer membranes of the chloroplast and locate in the stroma, and remarkably prevent damage to the photosystems by quenching reactive oxygen species that are widely dispersed throughout the chloroplast and enable real-time monitoring of free-radical species and environmental pollutants using in vivo and ex vivo embedded nanosensors (Siddiqui et al. 2015) (Fig. 3).

In addition, solar energy is captured by chlorophylls in the two types of pigment-protein complexes (photosystems I and II, designated PSI and PSII,



Fig. 3 Natural and nanobionic chloroplasts. The photosynthetic apparatus is mostly embedded in the thylakoid membranes of chloroplasts. Flattened thylakoids are stacked into grana, as shown by a micrograph of the cryptophyte alga *Proteomona ssulcata* (top right). The nanoparticles localize in both the thylakoid membrane and the stroma (bottom left schematic; green and blue arrows, respectively, in the bottom right micrograph) (Scholes and Sargent 2014)

respectively) and are converted into electrochemical energy to produce ATP and NADPH that are used for CO_2 fixation. PSII performs the light-induced oxygen evolution reaction and transfers electrons from water to plastoquinone in the membrane and PSI produces strong reducing power using electrons supplied by PSII and reduces ferredoxin and NADPH. Noji et al. (2011) illustrated that nanomesoporous silica compound (SBA) conjugated with photosystem II (PSII) maintained the high and stable oxygen-evolving ability of *T. vulcanus* PSII even inside silica nanopores. The activity lasted more than 3 h under the moderate illumination/dark cycles. Combination of PSII-SBA conjugates with the mediator recycling systems can remove the harmful effects of electron acceptors and light-induced radicals and have properties to develop for photosensors and artificial photosynthetic system.

Plant Nanobionic Designed as Detector for Various Chemicals Presented in Environment

Because the water evaporates, chemicals drawn up along with the fluid that don't easily vaporize get concentrated in the leaves. This means plants can detect very low concentrations of chemicals. Plant nanobionics has also enabled us to use plants as detectors for the presence of different chemicals in the soil and water, and even in the air. When one of these chemical compounds are present in the groundwater being absorbed and sampled naturally by the plant, the embedded carbon nanotubes will emit a fluorescent signal that can be read with an infrared camera that can be attached to a small computer similar to smart phone. The computer will then send an e-mail to the user.

Nanobionic Plant as Nitroaromatics Detector

It may seem exquisite but imitate from simple plant transpiration process. Plants draw up water and other analytes from the ground, and can accumulate even trace levels of analytes within tissues. Knowing this rule, Wong et al. (2016) made a nanobionic plant that can both detect explosives in groundwater and alert a user to their presence in the area. IR-fluorescent carbon nanotubes (CNTs) based sensors that selectively respond to nitro aromatics were injected into a spinach plant's leaves. These nanotubes quench in fluorescence intensity in the presence of nitroaromatics. Then a reference sensor that is invariant in signal intensity was designed. The plant draws the nitroaromatics or the common explosives component picric acid (2,4,6-trinitrophenol) up through the roots into its leaves, where the suppressed IR signal is imaged with a night-vision camera and sent to a smart phone via a WiFi signal. With the reference sensor embedded in the leaf as well, the technique produces high contrast images (Fig. 4).



Fig. 4 Detection of picric acid using a nanobionic spinach plant. a Diagrammatic depiction of detection set-up with the nanobionic sensing plant shown here using a Raspberry Pi CCD detector (no infrared filters). b (Left) Bright-field image of spinach plant leaf infiltrated with SWCNTs and under 785 nm excitation. P-SWCNTs and B-SWCNTs indicated by black and red arrows, respectively. (Right) False-coloured time-lapse pictures show temporal changes in nIR fluorescence of a plant infiltrated with B-SWCNTs and P-SWCNTs as picric acid is transported from the roots to the leaves via the plant vascular system. While P-SWCNT nIR fluorescence remains stable, the B-SWCNT intensity drops as the leaf transpire a solution of picric acid (400-M) in 10 mM KCl. nIR images were taken with a Princeton Instruments OMA V InGaAs detector equipped with a 900 nm long-pass filter. SWCNTs inside leaves were excited with 785 nm laser incident at 15mW. Scale bar, 0.5 cm. c SWCNT nIR emission can be similarly detected by a Raspberry Pi CCD detector (infrared filters removed), which then transmit pictures wirelessly and in real time via an email interface to a smart phone. (Left) Bright-field imageof spinach plant infiltrated with SWCNT sensors. (Centre) nIR emission from embedded P-SWCNTs (black arrow) and B-SWCNTs (red arrow) is visualized with 785 nm laser excitation (15 mW). (Right) False-coloured time-lapse pictures similarly show temporal changes in nIR fluorescence of a plant infiltrated with B-SWCNTs and P-SWCNTs as picric acid is transported from the roots to the leaves via the plant vascular system. Scale bar, 0.5 cm (Wong et al. 2016)

Nanobionic Plant as Temperature Detector

Cyberwood was designed by employing a new synthetic carbon nanotubes which mechanical and structural properties resembling wood embedded and exquisitely sensitive to temperature changes into a matrix of plant cells from the tobacco. Preserving plant cells' natural ability to sense temperature variations even after their death cause electricity conductivity of this kind of carbon nanotubes change with temperature. The presence ofmulti-walled carbon nanotubes (MWCNTs) confers structural stability and a high electrical conductivity, which can be exploited to connect the samples to anexternal circuit (Di Giacomo et al. 2015). In fact, pectins and charged atoms (ions) play a key role in the temperature sensitivity of both living plant cells and the dry cyberwood. Pectins are sugar molecules found in plant cell walls that can be cross-linked, depending on temperature, to form a gel. Calcium and magnesium ions are both present in this gel. As the temperature rises, the links of the pectin break apart, the gel becomes softer, and the ions can move about more freely.

To synthesize cyberwood, several conventional nano-synthesis approaches were combined. At First step, undifferentiated tobacco BY-2 cells derived from the callus of seedlings of *Nicotiana tabacum* were cultured in a growth medium that contained MWCNTs. Spontaneous aggregation of cells was observed with tobacco cells combined with MWCNTs. After 24 h a gel-like material formed, was collected and dried at 47 °C for 15 d. The material formed had a complex, hierarchical structure, similar to wood (Fig. 5).

This construct it may find applications in thermal sensors, for example, for thermal cameras, or in distance sensors for consumer products and security systems Because of its exquisite temperature sensitivity. The cyberwood sensor can identify warm bodies even at distance; for example, a hand approaching the sensor from a distance of a few dozen centimeters. The sensor's conductivity depends directly on the hand's distance from the sensor (Fig. 6). The very high responsively to temperature changes of cyberwood suggests that it can be used as a temperature



Fig. 5 a Low-magnification SEM picture of the cyberwood. **b** Top view of a cell wall of BY-2 with MWCNTs on top. Arrows emphasize some penetration points (Di Giacomo et al. 2015)



Fig. 6 Cyberwood as a thermal distance sensor. Plots show variations of the current in different cyberwood samples, as a function of the position, in- andoff-axis, of heat-emitting bodies in time. **a** Larger sample detecting the position of a hand. **b** Microsample detecting the position of a hotplate (Di Giacomo et al. 2015)

distance sensor. The distance of a warm body from the sensor can be inferred from temperature measurements performed at constant environmental conditions (Di Giacomo et al. 2015).

Conclusion and Future Prospects

Utilization of nanoparticles to create nanobionic-plant-enabled sensors for environment monitoring is a novel complex strategy. The researchers' interest to design creative nanosensors give real-time information from a plant is growing sharply. The product of this kinds of researches will Make human dreams of carrying a plant speak about their surroundings to a reality. Researchers are trying to increase the number of sensors that can be applied to plants and enhance chemicals detections in both the air and groundwater by plants. Monitoring plant signaling pathways of pest infestations, damage, and drought while being capable to real-time analysis will be a new revolution in agriculture industry. It is not far to have commercial sensing plants in home send messages directly on smart phone data about temperature, humidity and pollutants.

References

- Baiazidi-Aghdam MT, Mohammadi H, Ghorbanpour M (2016) Effects of nanoparticulate anatase titanium dioxide on physiological and biochemical performance of *Linum usitatissimum* (Linaceae) under well watered and drought stress conditions. Braz J Bot 39:139–146
- Blankenship RE et al (2011) Comparing photosynthetic and photovoltaic efficiencies and recognizing the potential for improvement. Science 332:805–809

- Di Giacomo R, Daraio C, Maresca B (2015) Plant nanobionic materials with a giant temperature response mediated by pectin-Ca²⁺. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 112(15):4541–4545. doi:10. 1073/pnas
- Ebrahimi N, Mansoori GA (2014) Reliability for drug targeting in cancer treatment through nanotechnology. Int J Med Nano Res 1(1). ISSN 2378-3664
- Ghorbanpour M (2015) Major essential oil constituents, total phenolics and flavonoids content and antioxidant activity of Salvia officinalis plant in response to nano-titanium dioxide. Ind J Plant Physiol 20(3):249–256
- Ghorbanpour M, Hadian J (2015) Multi-walled carbon nanotubes stimulate callus induction, secondary metabolites biosynthesis and antioxidant capacity in medicinal plant *Satureja khuzestanica* grown in vitro. Carbon 94:749–759
- Ghorbanpour M, Hatami M (2014) Spray treatment with silver nanoparticles plus thidiazuron increases anti-oxidant enzyme activities and reduces petal and leaf abscission in four cultivars of geranium (*Pelargonium zonale*) during storage in the dark. J Hortic Sci Biotechnol 89 (6):712–718
- Giraldo JP, Landry MP, Faltermeier SM, McNicholas TP, Iverson NM, Boghossian AA, Reuel NF, Hilmer AJ, Sen F, Brew JA, Strano MS (2014) Plant nanobionics approach to augment photosynthesis and biochemical sensing. Nat Mater. doi:10.1038/nmat3890
- Han JH et al (2010) Exciton antennas and concentrators from core-shell and corrugated carbon nanotube filaments of homogeneous composition. Nat Mater 9:833–839
- Hatami M, Ghorbanpour M, Salehiarjomand H (2014) Nano-anatase TiO₂ modulates the germination behavior and seedling vigority of the five commercially important medicinal and aromatic plants. J Biol Environ Sci 8(22):53–59
- Hatami M, Kariman K, Ghorbanpour M (2016) Engineered nanomaterial-mediated changes in the metabolism of terrestrial plants. Sci Total Environ 571:275–291
- Hatami M, Hadian J, Ghorbanpour M (2017) Mechanisms underlying toxicity and stimulatory role of single-walled carbon nanotubes in *Hyoscyamus niger* during drought stress simulated by polyethylene glycol. J Hazard Mater 324:306–320
- Mansoori GA (2017) An introduction to nanoscience and nanotechnology. In: Ghorbanpour et al (eds) Nanoscience and plant–soil systems. Soil biology, vol 48. Springer International Publishing AG. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-46835-8_13
- Mansoori GA et al (2007) Nanotechnology in cancer prevention, detection and treatment: bright future lies ahead. World Rev Sci Technol Sustain Dev 4(2/3):226–257
- Mansoori GA, Brandenburg KS, Shakeri-Zadeh A (2010) A comparative study of two folate-conjugated gold nanoparticles for cancer nanotechnology applications. Cancers 2 (4):1911–1928
- Nazem A, Mansoori GA (2008) Nanotechnology solutions for Alzheimer's disease: advances in research tools, diagnostic methods and therapeutic agents. J Alzheimer's Dis 13(2):199–223
- Nazem A, Mansoori GA (2014) Nanotechnology building blocks for intervention with Alzheimer's disease pathology: implications in disease modifying strategies. J Bioanal Biomed 6(2):009–014
- Noji T, Kamidaki C, Kawakami K, Shen JR, Kajino T, Fukushima Y, Sekitoh T, Itoh S (2011) Photosynthetic oxygen evolution in mesoporous silica material: adsorption of photosystem II reaction center complex into 23 nm nanopores in SBA. Langmuir 27(2):705–713
- Scholes DG, Sargent HE (2014) Boosting plant biology. Nat Mater 13:329–331. PMID 24651425. doi:10.1038/nmat3926
- Service RF (2003) American Chemical Society meeting: nanomaterials show signs of toxicity. Science 300:243
- Siddiqui M, Al-Whaibi M, Firoz M, Al-Khaishany M (2015) Role of nanoparticles in plants. In: Nanotechnology and plant sciences nanoparticles and their impact on plants. Springer
- Wong MH, Giraldo JP, Kwak SY, Koman VB, Sinclair R, Lew TT, Bisker G, Liu P, Strano MS (2016) Nitroaromatic detection and infrared communication from wild-type plants using plant nanobionics. Nat Mater 16(2):264–272. doi:10.1038/nmat4771

- Xue Y, Mansoori GA (2010) Self-assembly of diamondoid molecules and derivatives (MD simulations and DFT calculations). Int J Mol Sci 11(1):288–303. doi:10.3390/ijms11010288
- Zhang J, Boghossian AA, Barone PW, Rwei A, Kim JH, Lin D, Heller DA et al (2010) Single molecule detection of nitric oxide enabled by d(AT)(15) DNA adsorbed to near infrared fluorescent single-walled carbon nanotubes. J Am Chem Soc 20:567–581
- Zhu XG, Long SP, Ort DR (2010) Improving photosynthetic efficiency for greater yield. Annu Rev Plant Biol 61:235–261

Medicinal Plants: Influence of Environmental Factors on the Content of Secondary Metabolites

Cristine Vanz Borges, Igor Otavio Minatel, Hector Alonzo Gomez-Gomez and Giuseppina Pace Pereira Lima

Abstract Current research in secondary metabolites from medicinal plants should take into account the prevalence and the healing properties of which plant. These compounds have been provided opportunities to development of new drugs leads against several diseases. However, to obtain compounds from edible medicinal plants as well as that used to prepare infusions, numerous challenges are encountered including the environment and stressing factors to which the plants are submitted. Extensive phytochemicals analysis has lead to the identification of biotic and abiotic stress factors that directly influence in the metabolism of plant. This chapter provide an overview of some environmental and stressing factors that may direct the secondary metabolism in medicinal plants.

Keywords Bioactive compounds • Biotic stress • Abiotic stress • Nutrients • Saline stress • Drought Stress • Radiation

Introduction

The search for substances that decrease or avoid diseases, and the concern with the human health, has extended the studies aiming to understand the synthesis mechanism, as well as the environmental factors, that increase chemical compounds with medicinal/therapeutic potential. Plants are natural sources of these chemical compounds, which are originated from its secondary metabolism and have been used by humans, mainly due to its pharmacological properties. The use of plants in a therapeutic way is quite old and a large portion of world's population still rely on a traditional medicine system based on herbal drugs (WHO 2013). The secondary metabolites (SMs) and/or phytochemicals have biological activity responsible for the plants medicinal properties, besides taking part in the production of drug used

C.V. Borges · I.O. Minatel · H.A. Gomez-Gomez · G.P.P. Lima (⊠) Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry, Institute of Bioscience, Sao Paulo State University—UNESP, Botucatu 18618-689, Brazil e-mail: gpplima@ibb.unesp.br

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017 M. Ghorbanpour and A. Varma (eds.), *Medicinal Plants and Environmental Challenges*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-68717-9_15

by the pharmaceutical industry for the healing of various diseases. These SMs, as well as the primary metabolites, perform a vital role in the plants survival, and its synthesis can be induced by the plant-environment interaction (Kliebenstein 2013).

The vegetal kingdom produces thousands of SMs that are limited to certain taxonomic groups. As a survival strategy and to create diversity at organism level, the capacity of synthesizing some classes of SMs is variable between plants groups. Even in the same species there are variations in the chemical compounds content. These characteristics are related to the genetic variability and, mainly, to the differences of the growth conditions (Radušienė et al. 2012). Additionally, the synthesis of these metabolites are, many times, strictly regulated and, generally, restricted to specific vegetal tissues or stages of development, under response to environmental stimulation (Gargallo-Garriga et al. 2014; Osbourn et al. 2003; Sampaio et al. 2016).

The chemical interaction between plants and the environment is mediated, mainly, by the biosynthesis of SMs, which perform biological roles as a plastic adaptive response to the environment. Plants interact with the environment in order to survive, thus they are influenced by environmental factors, including biotic and abiotic stimulations that regulates the SMs biosynthesis (Verma and Shukla 2015; Zhi-lin et al. 2007).

Environmental Influence on the Contents of Bioactive Compounds

Abiotic stresses, as the ones caused by light incidence, temperature, humidity, water and nutrients availability, heavy metals and salinity in the soil, have been demonstrated to significantly affect the content of SMs in plants (Sampaio et al. 2016; Khan et al. 2016; Bernstein et al. 2010). Biotic stresses are consequences of damages induced by living organisms as bacteria, virus, fungi, parasites, insects, etc. Mechanisms for acclimatization and adaptation to environmental conditions based in the activation of specific physiological and molecular responses, lead to modifications in the plants metabolism in order to minimize the damages induced by the stress, as a form of defense and survival of the species against specific growth conditions.

The mechanisms involved in the synthesis, degradation and accumulation of SMs in plants becomes of major importance to the development of strategies that increases these phytochemicals in medicinal plants. Under stress, the plants tend to generate reactive oxygen species (ROS) such as superoxide anion (O_2^-) , H_2O_2 and hydroxyl radical (OH^{*}), which can promote cellular damage by triggering off a oxidative chain reaction (Imlay 2003). For example, the superoxide anion can destroy the photosynthetic apparatus (Jakob and Heber 1996), causing damages in the production of primary metabolites, leading to a decrease in the plant growth and development, and possibly to cell death. In order to eliminate the ROS, the plants produce defense compounds, besides the SMs, through enzymatic mechanisms (peroxidases, super-oxide dismutase, catalase, among others) and non enzymatic, as some secondary



Fig. 1 Biotic and/or abiotic stress redirect the primary metabolism of plants, and results in increased enzymatic activity and synthesis of secondary metabolites. Enzymes as phenylalanine ammonia lyase (PAL), chalcona synthase (CHS), polyphenoloxidase (PPO), and peroxidase (POD) are essential components in this plant response. The secondary metabolites are metabolically classified in three main groups, terpenes, phenolic compounds, and nitrogen compounds

metabolism compounds. For an adequate ROS balance, not harmful to cells, the combination of enzymatic and non enzymatic mechanisms is fundamental.

Based on the biosynthetic pathway, the SMs are classified in three main groups (Fig. 1), terpenes, phenolic compounds (phenylpropanoids and flavonoids) and nitrogen compounds (alkaloids, glycosides, glucosinolates, and cyanogenic glycosides) (Fang et al. 2011). Even though the SMs are structurally different, they derive from the synthesis of products from the primary metabolism (carbohydrates, lipids, and amino acids) (Crozier et al. 2006). For example, both the pentose phosphate pathway as the Calvin cycle provide carbonic skeletons for the erythrose-4-phosphate, which form shikimate through some reactions, in order to produce phenylalanine, which is the precursor for the phenylpropanoid metabolism (Caretto et al. 2015; Lattanzio et al. 2009). The shikimic acid pathway, non-mevalonate (MEP) pathway and mevalonate (MVA) pathway form many chemical compounds (Wilson and Roberts 2014), divided in classes, such as terpenoids, monoterpene indole alkaloids, isoquinoline alkaloids, flavonoids, and anthocyanins.

Generally, under stress, plants tend to increase their enzymatic activity that synthesize secondary metabolism compounds. This accumulation is due to the raise of the activity of enzymes as phenylalanine ammonia lyase (PAL) (EC 4.1.3.5) and chalcone synthase (CHS) (EC 2.3.1.74). Both the PAL and the CHS are key enzymes in the flavonoids synthesis and can have it activity affected in function of the environmental stress. The PAL is the main enzyme related to plant defense by producing phenols and lignins. It is also the first enzyme in the phenylpropanoids pathway and one of the responsible for the pholyphenols synthesis, catalyzing the deamination of L-phenylalanine to produce *trans*-cinnamic acid, intermediary in the biosynthesis of phenolics (Dixon et al. 1992), compounds related to scavenge of ROS in plants under stress. The phenylpropanoids have a fundamental role in the

plants responses against abiotic and biotic stresses that includes herbivory and infection by pathogens.

The phenolic compounds provide many physiological functions to the plants survival and have fundamental importance in plants adaptation to imposed environmental alterations (Verma and Shukla 2015). Some phenolic compounds can be used in ROS scavenging reactions as well as in the formation of o-quinones, by the action of enzymes as polyphenoloxidase (PPO) (EC 1.14.18.1) and peroxidase (POD) (EC 1.11.1.7), forming compounds related to defense system against some pathogens. The phosphoenolpyruvate (PEP)-carboxylase (EC 4.1.1.31) is an important enzyme in the plant carbohydrate metabolism that promotes β -carboxylation of phosphoenolpyruvate to yield oxaloacetate. It activity can also increase in response to the stress (e.g. saline), suggesting a modification in its synthesis pathway to support the plant defense (Landolt et al. 1997), e.g. production of metabolites related to plants defense/resistance, as the phenolic compounds.

Plants, as the medicinal/aromatic plants, under certain types of stress, salinity for example, can also accumulate terpenes, in the form of essential oils. The main constituents of the essential oils are the terpenoids, however, we can also find phenylpropanoids. The terpenoids synthesis occurs from five carbon units of isopentenyl pyrophosphate (IPP) and its isomer, dimethylallyl pyrophosphate (DMAPP). Prenyl pyrophosphate synthase bind IPP unities with DMAPP, forming monoterpenoids (C10) and sesquiterpenoids (C15) of prenyl pyrophosphates (Sangwan et al. 2001).

The glucosinolates can also have their content affected in function of the stress. Many studies have shown that the synthesis of these compounds in Brassicaceae can be influenced by environmental factors, such as salinity, drought, temperature, deficiency of nutrients and soil acidity (low pH), beyond the biotic factors (Steinbrenner et al. 2012). The glucosinolates are a class of SMs that gained a particular interest due to its biological activity, mainly in the prevention of cancer (Johnson 2002; Finley 2005). These compounds are very studied in vegetables and its consumption has been recommended for the treatment of some diseases.

In plants, amino acids are precursors of a wide range of metabolites, in especial the secondary metabolites produced in response to environmental stress or as defense mechanisms. The aliphatic SMs are from alanine, leucine, isoleucine, valine, and methionine, while the indole glucosinates and the aromatics derive from tryptophan, phenylalanine, and/or tyrosine (Fig. 2). Aromatic amino acids probably are the major precursors of SMs related to plant defense. Tryptophan is the precursor of alkaloids, phytoalexins, and indole glucosinolates. Phenylalanine is a basic precursor of the most phenolic compounds, such as flavonoids, condensed tannins, and phenylpropanoids, whereas tyrosine is the precursor of synthesis for these compounds is performed in three phases, where the chain elongation is affected by the stress (Sønderby et al. 2010; Ishida et al. 2014; Martínez-Ballesta et al. 2013; Khan et al. 2011).



Fig. 2 Resumed scheme of aromatic amino acids derived secondary metabolites production in plants

Thus, the investigation of the mechanisms involved in the synthesis, degradation, and accumulation of the SMs in plants becomes of great importance for the development of strategies in the production of medicinal plants, aiming the increase of these phytochemicals. Even though there is an infinity of traditional plants with great phytotherapy potential, most of these plants are not used in large scale, that is, in industrial scale. The main reason for this is that many of these SMs produced by plants and with pharmacologic properties are results of a response to the imposed stress and when the plant is taken from the nature and cultivated in large-scale, the stress factors are removed and, consequently, the content of these compounds with medicinal properties are largely reduced. Due to this problem, the studies with elicitors, both biotic and abiotic, appear as a possible help to maximize the production of these biologically active substances. The elicitation is already been used in studies of resistance to plants diseases as well as in metabolic studies (Gorelick and Bernstein 2014).

Biotic and Abiotic Stress Effects on Plant Metabolism

Due to the great scientific and industrial interest for the increase of the SMs production, studies have been performed with many types of stress (biotic or abiotic) as substances elicitors, such as essential oils, polyphenols, among others with therapeutic potential.

Abiotic Factors

Various climatic factors, such as water availability (Sampaio et al. 2016; Zhou et al. 2017), temperature and solar radiation (Sampaio et al. 2016; Nascimento et al. 2015; Ferreira et al. 2016) are described as capable of influencing the production of SMs. Thus, the plants under stress conditions induced by the environment (e.g., water, drought, high temperatures, freezing, high thermal amplitude, and high levels of solar radiation) can show changes in the production of different classes of SMs. The plants modify specifically the genetic expression in a very different way, under a stress condition. These alterations in the genetic expression lead to a specific regulation of the metabolome, depending on the vegetal species and on the specific stress conditions (Rizhsky et al. 2002). When a plant is exposed to stress agents, many times denominated elicitors, enzymatic pathways are induced, affecting the SMs contents (Gorelick and Bernstein 2014). This is already established for compounds well known for their pharmacological properties, such as terpenoids (Lake et al. 2009), alkaloids (Nascimento et al. 2015), and phenolic compounds (Verma and Shukla 2015).

Environmental factors as temperature, rainfall, humidity and solar radiation, as well as the quantity of macro and micronutrients in the soil show a strong influence on the variation of SMs in many species. In *Tithonia diversifolia*, there were found compounds as sesquiterpene, lactone, flavonoids and t-cinnamic acid in, which were directly correlated to the amount of rainfall and changes in temperature (Sampaio et al. 2016).

Nutrients

It has been described in the literature an influence of many nutrients in the content of SMs. Their production is higher in plants cultivated soils that are poor in nutrients, mainly some phenolic derivates (Gobbo-Neto and Lopes 2007). The availability of certain nutrients in the soil, especially the macronutrients and the copper affect the metabolic profile in inflorescences in T. diversifolia (Sampaio et al. 2016), plant with many biological activities that can be used as anti-inflammatory, anti-malaric, cytotoxic, gastric protector, antimicrobial, chemopreventive, and anti-hyperglycemic. The inflorescences and roots were grouped according to the availability of certain nutrients in the soil, especially macro (Ca, Mg, P e K) and micronutrients (Cu). Cu is an essential nutrient that generates ROS for being a redox-active metal. Low levels of macronutrients cause accumulation of esters derived from the trans-cinnamic acid in the roots (Sampaio et al. 2016). The accumulation of these esters can be a response to the lower nutrient availability, once the polyphenols bonded to the sesquioxides have the capacity of inhibiting the phosphate adsorption. Additionally, the phenolic acids also have the capacity of adsorbing the bonded phosphate, increasing the availability of inorganic P from the soil, beyond the fact that the phenolic compounds can also retain inorganic exchangeable cations (Ca, Mg and K) providing absorption sites on acid soils (Hättenschwiler and Vitousek 2000).

The deficiency of N can promote alterations in the secondary metabolism of medicinal plants because it induces the formation of ROS. In leaves and roots of *Matricaria chamomilla*, the lack of N during the cultivation promoted an increase in the total phenolic content (Kováčik and Bačkor 2007). In *Achillea collina* cultivated under N starvation were observed a decreasing in the plant growth, as well as a reduced content of substances related to the primary metabolism as carotenoids and chlorophyll, and increased total phenols content and antioxidant capacity of leaves and roots (Giorgi et al. 2009). Higher PAL activity, and increased synthesis of anthocyanin and phenylethanoid glycosides were described in *Castilleja tenuiflora*, a plant used to treat cancer, when cultivated under the deficiency of N (Medina-Pérez et al. 2015).

Compounds containing N as cyanogenic glycosides and alkaloids are generally reduced by low nitrogen concentrations, due to the decrease in its synthesis, because in these substances the nitrogen atom is part of the heterocyclic ring. In environmental with limited C and saturation conditions of N, the accumulation of alkaloids becomes favored in *Cyrtanthus guthrieae*, plant used for medicinal purposes in South Africa, while the polyphenols content increases proportionally to C levels in the ambient, being less influenced by the quantities of N (Ncube et al. 2014).

The foliar application of gamma irradiated sodium alginate (ISA) (0, 40, 80 and 120 mg L^{-1}) alone and in combination with phosphor applied in the soil (soil-applied phosphorus) (40 kg p ha⁻¹) were used as trigonelline elicitors, an alkaloid found in *Trigonella foenum-graecum* L. (fenugreek), which controls the insulin secretion, cell regeneration and stimulation of the enzymatic activities

related to the glucose metabolism. The treatments employed with 80 mg L^{-1} of ISA and applied at 40 kg P ha⁻¹ proved to be the best in raising these nitrogenated compounds content (increased the seed yield by 131%, trigonelline content by 17.84%, trigonelline yield by 174%, seed alkaloid content by 32.98%, and seed alkaloid yield by 208.64% over the control) (Dar et al. 2016).

Metals

Soils contaminated with heavy metals can also influence the SMs content in response to the ROS production. *Matricaria recutita* cultivated in nutritive solution for 7 days under levels of cadmium (Cd) or copper (Cu), increased the SM content. Doses of 60 and 120 μ M of Cu strongly elevated PAL activity, and consequently increased the phenolic compounds and lignin content one day after the begin of the treatment. This effect could indicate the formation of a barrier against metal entrance (Kováčik and Klejdus 2008).

In *Robinia pseudoacacia* L. high content of saponins, phenolic compounds, and flavonoids, were observed in plants cultivated in soils containing Cd and Pb, and under effect of high temperatures (Zhao et al. 2016). This metabolic pattern was attributed to a mechanism of prevention against damages caused by Cd and Pb. In opposition, the presence of low Cd and Al concentration induced a decrease in the hypoxoside synthesis in *Hypoxis hemerocallidea* Fisch. and C.A. Mey corn, a medicinal plant traditionally used in Africa. However, when the exposition occurred in low Cd and Al concentrations, there was an increase in the phenols and flavonoids content (Okem et al. 2015). Even though plants grown in contaminated soils are a source of compounds with high biological activity, there are still not enough studies that grant that these metals are not present as contaminants in the plants used for medicinal purpose.

Saline and Drought Stress

Stressing situations as the lack of water in the environment causes a raise in the synthesis of many bioactive compounds, which are produced by the plants in order to combat the hydric deficit (Khan et al. 2011). Both, saline and drought/water stress affect the plant productivity and many times can have a contradictory effect in medicinal plants. Naturally, these stresses occur more commonly in arid or semiarid environments. However, nowadays, with the modifications in the rainfall regime and the lack of water, these types of stresses are becoming more common. Drought stress as consequence of the lack of rain or soil humidity can induce many biochemical and physiological factors and diverse genetic responses, depending on the specie or cultivar (Zhou et al. 2017). Plants cultivated in water stress can present accumulation of carbon in the form of carbohydrates, and allowing the carbon to be allocated to the secondary metabolism (Herms and Mattson 1992). In water stress as well as in other types of stress, the plants can present a raise in the

phosphoenolpyruvate carboxylase activity, suggesting a formation of SM from sucrose (primary metabolism) (VanderPlas et al. 1995).

Drought stress can cause a reduction in the photosynthetic rates with a consequent increase in the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), resulting in high production of phenolic compounds as a plant defense mechanism (Sampaio et al. 2016). This metabolic mechanism was observed in *Labisia pumila*, where an increase in the total phenolics, total flavonoids and total anthocyanins after the imposition of high water stress (50% evapotranspiration replacement) compared to severe water stress (25% evapotranspiration replacement) (Jaafar et al. 2012).

In saline stress, high sodium levels can occur, leading to potassium unbalance and, when accumulated in the cytoplasm, it causes an inhibition of many enzymes. Simultaneously, the stressor environment triggers an oxidative stress response, associated with the ROS production (Iqbal et al. 2006). Most of the plants show hypersensitivity when cultivated in saline soils. The excess of intercellular sodium (Na⁺) is toxic to the plant metabolism, leading to a decrease in the growth in most of the cultures (Jaleel et al. 2008). Saline environments can affect the plant physiological responses, inducing readjusts in its metabolism, resulting from the harmful effects caused by the decrease of osmotic potential, specific ion toxicity, and nutrient ion deficiency (Luo et al. 2005).

The increase of polyphenols in response to salinity or drought stress can be related to the activity of enzymes such as the PAL and CHS. It is well known that under some types of stress, as osmotic, saline, droughts/water, there is a raise in levels of the aminoacid L-proline, for the osmotic readjust in many vegetal species. Although this aminoacid belongs to the primary metabolism, it can be related to the formation of SMs, through PAL action. With the increase of the proline levels, by Δ 1-pyrroline-5-carboxylate-synthetase the action of (P5CS) and Δ 1-pyrroline-5-carboxylate-reductase (P5CR), there is simultaneously a raise of NADP⁺/NADPH ratio, inducing the formation of polyphenols precursors, by the pentose phosphate pathway (PPP) (Lattanzio et al. 2009). In the PPP there is the formation of precursors for many polyphenols, including flavonoids. It was suggested that the flavonoids are a secondary system of ROS elimination in plants under great salinity stress, showing a severe excess of excitation energy being channeled to the photosynthetic apparatus (Agati et al. 2011).

An interesting factor that can be observed is that the environmental factors do not seem to have constant effect on the general metabolism and each part of the plant responds differently to the environmental changes that they are exposed to. This difference in the metabolic response, according to the parts of the plant, was described in a comparative study of the *Holcus lanatus* L. and *Alopecurus pratensis* L. (Poaceae) metabolisms (Gargallo-Garriga et al. 2014). Differences in the accumulation of primary and SMs between the shoots and roots of both species, in different seasons and drought conditions were observed by means of spectral data of LC-MS and RMN (Gargallo-Garriga et al. 2014).

In *Limonium bicolor* were found evidences that salt stress can induce the accumulation of specific phenolic compounds, both in leaves [myricetin-3-*O*glucoside/galactoside, quercetin-3-*O*-rhamnoside, myricetin-3-*O*-(*O*-galloyl)-rhamnoside, gallic acid, and vanillic acid–hexose] and in roots (epigallocatechin gallate and myricetin-3-*O*-rhamnoside), suggesting that some compounds can be part of the resistance system against the salt stress (Wang et al. 2016). Similarly, *Salvia mirzayanii* cultivated under salinity stress shown an increase in the leaf total phenolic compounds under mild (6.8 dS m⁻¹) salinity. Furthermore, an increased production of α -terpinyl acetate (at 2.3 dS m⁻¹), 1,8-cineole (4.5 dS m⁻¹), and linalyl acetate (at 9.1 dS m⁻¹) were described (Valifard et al. 2014). The authors affirm that plants exhibiting tolerance to salt stress are useful systems for production of SMs.

Studies inducing hydric and salt stress have been performed in various medicinal plants with the aim of observe the content, as well as the composition, of some SMs as the essential oils. Japanese mint plants shown a reduction in essential oil contens when cultivated in hydric stress (Misra and Srivastava 2000). In Satureja hortensis L., used for treating stomach and intestinal disorders, water stress, besides having promoted the decrease of the oil production, also induced a raise of bicyclogermacrene and caracrol, and the decrease of β -caryophyllene and Υ -terpinene (Baher et al. 2002). In *Matricaria camomila*, both the salt and the hydric stress promoted a reduction in number of branches and flowers per plant, as well as the essential oil content (Razmjoo et al. 2008). Other medicinal plants cultivated in environments with high saline concentration also showed a reduction in the essential oil content, as described in Mentha piperita (Tabatabaie and Nazari 2007). In contrast, in Coriandrum sativum leaves, levels from 25 to 50 mM of NaCl induced raise of 0.15 and 0.18%, respectively, in the essential oils production. However when 75 mM NaCl was used, there was a decrease of 38% (Neffati and Marzouk 2008). Additionally, there was a raise of (E)-2-decenal, (E)-2-dodecenal and dodecanal in C. sativum cultivated in low salinity level, while the levels of 75 mM promoted a decrease in the contents of these compounds. The essential oil content of C. sativum fruits in saline environment, reached 0.53 and 0.55% under 50 and 75 mM NaCl, respectively (Neffati et al. 2011). The same metabolic behavior was induced Salvia officinalis, in which the essential oil content increased in a salinity dose-dependent manner (Ben et al. 2010).

The raise of the oil production can be attributed to an indirect effect of salinity in the liquid assimilation (photosynthesis) (Charles et al. 1990) or in the reduction of growing and differentiation processes, induced by the osmotic stress, resulting in a partitioning of compounds and increasing the supply of carbon skeletons for the terpenes synthesis and accumulation (Ben et al. 2010).

The salinity can also affect the alkaloids content, as observed in *Catharanthus roseus* (L.) G. Don (Apocynaceae), a medicinal plant rich in alkaloids. There was an increase in the alkaloids content in response to the different soil salinity regimes that were imposed in the soil (50 and 100 mM NaCl), when compared to the control (Jaleel et al. 2008). In *Datura inoxia* grown under salt stress, a similar behavior in alkaloids content was observed, more specifically in tropane alkaloids (Selmar

2008). The effect of inorganic salt stress was also evaluated in the *Achnatherum inebrians*, and modifications in secondary metabolism and high alkaloids levels were reported in plants cultivated under salt stress (Zhang et al. 2011).

Beyond the medicinal plants, many fruits and vegetables can be sources of important bioactives, as the glucosinolates. In radishes cultivated under 100 mM NaCl, higher glucoraphasatin and total glycosinolates contents were found (Yuan et al. 2010). Similarly, an increase of glucosinolates in *Brassica oleracea* L. var. italica, when cultivated under salt stress (80 mM NaCl) was showed (López-Berenguer et al. 2008). These results indicate that, in order to obtain plants with higher levels of these compounds, which are studied by many researchers due to the medicinal effect, the use of elicitors such as the salinity can be beneficial.

Temperature

The temperature stress has been described for inducing or increasing antioxidant enzymes, as superoxide dismutase, catalase, peroxidase and many compounds with antioxidant activity. This stress can cause alterations in proteins, promoting the denaturation as well as alterations of lipids and in the membrane integrity. All these changes induce modifications in the SMs content (Levitt 1980). Generally, because temperature is a consequence of various factors, few studies are performed under its direct influence in the SM production and composition (Gobbo-Neto and Lopes 2007).

The temperature can cause variation in the medicinal plants metabolism, inducing reductions in the vigor and growth, by affecting the photosynthesis, one of the most sensible processes to the temperature differences (Zobayed et al. 2005; Yamori et al. 2014). Oscillations in the photosynthetic rates induced by stresses can promote the SMs formation through restoring defense mechanisms (Zobayed et al. 2005). High temperatures modify the opening and closing mechanism of the stomata, affecting the carbon assimilation, causing an imbalance and influencing directly in the ribulose 1,5 biphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase activity (Weis and Berry 1988). In opposition, plants can also show a decrease in the photosynthesis when submitted to low temperatures, in function of the metabolism type, e.g. plants C3, C4 and CAM (Crassulacean acid metabolism).

Radiation

The environmental levels of the UV solar radiation may represent an environmental stress to the plants, inducing the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), instigating protective effects that promotes the biosynthesis of SMs that can absorb UV-B (e.g., alkaloids, anthocyanins, carotenoids, flavonoids, lignin, phytosterols, saponins, and tannins) (Nascimento et al. 2015; Takshak and Agrawal 2014), as well as alterations in the antioxidant enzymatic activity (e.g. enzymes from the phenylpropanoids pathway) (Takshak and Agrawal 2014). Luminous intensity can

increase the terpenoids and phenolic compounds levels in many plants species (Lake et al. 2009; Park et al. 2007). Even though there is a slight reduction of the vegetative and reproductive growth in plants, due to a dislocation of carbons to the SMs production (Chalker-Scott 1999), the accumulation of these compounds is essential to protect the plants tissues from the excess of solar radiation.

The UV-B radiation induce synthesis of compounds responsible for the UV-B light radiation absorbance in plants and is an important factor of SMs induction. However, the production of these compounds is variable among plants. The increase of UV-B radiation (produced by UV-B fluorescent lamps-40 W, 305 nm) increased significantly the contents of anthocyanins and compounds capable of absorbing UV-B in medicinal chrysanthemum flowers (Chrysanthemum morifolium *Ramat*) (Ma et al. 2016). The anthocyanins belong to a class of flavonoids that are important pigments in flowers, fruits and leaves, distributed mainly in the epidermal cells of flowers and other parts, regulating the UV-B radiation absorbance. The phenolic compounds are widely distributed in the plants and many works relate the increase of these chemical compounds with several enzymatic activities. The coordinated enzymatic activity in the phenylpropanoids pathway is responsible for the production of flavonoids under stress caused by UV-B. The UV-B radiation effect is also known for stimulating the expression of genes encoding enzymes that participate directly in the anthocyanins biosynthesis. The increase in the anthocyanins content is related to high activity of various enzymes as CHS (chalcone synthase), DFR (dihydroflavonol reductase) and F3H (flavanone 3-hydroxylase) (Park et al. 2007).

Increases in the activities of PAL (phenylalanine ammonia lyase), CAD (cinnamoyl alcohol dehydrogenase), 4CL (4-coumarate CoA ligase), CHI (chalcone-flavanone isomerase) and DFR (dihydroflavonol reductase), and consequently high concentrations of flavonoids, anthocyanins and tannins contents were described in Withania somnifera submitted to UV-B radiation (Takshak and Agrawal 2014). In studies performed with Curcuma longa leaves and rhizomes, the total phenol content, POD and PAL activity increased with the exposition to light and decreased after UV exclusion (Ferreira et al. 2016). Curiously, the curcuminoids content was not affected by solar radiation. However, the UV exclusion provided by the anti-UV film led to improvements in the total curcuminoids efficiency. These results showed a correlation between different processes, as the curcumin biosynthesis, photosynthetic development, plants growth and rhizome biomass production, regarding that the biomass production and the CO₂ assimilation during the growth were higher in plants grew under the UV exclusion. In chrysanthemum, the UV-B radiation increased significantly the flavonoids and chlorogenic acid contents in the four stages of floral development, which are the main phytochemicals responsible for the medicinal properties in flowers belonging to this species (Ma et al. 2016). Additionally, other SMs can be affected by radiation stresses. Compounds as withferin A and alkaloids also increased with the exposition to UV-B radiation, in W. somnifera (Takshak and Agrawal 2014).

Biotic Factors

The plants developed a wide range of defense mechanisms in their habitats against insects, herbivores and several microorganisms (e.g. bacteria, filamentous fungi and protozoa), which establish many interactions with the host plant. These continuous interactions of parasitism and/or mutualism are the basis for the synthesis of specific metabolites. Natural products resulting from this interaction are classified in three large groups: phytoalexins, phytoanticipins and signaling molecules, for example the salicylic acid. The phytoalexins are molecules with low molecular weight, synthesized and accumulated after the plants were exposed to the microorganisms. The phytoanticipins are synthesized in the plants before attacks by pathogens (Cheynier et al. 2013).

The SMs, such as phenolic compounds, among others, are important elements in the plant chemical defense against insects and pathogens (Kim et al. 2008), besides the beneficial aspects for some organisms as pollinators or symbionts (Wink and Schimmer 1999). The phenolic compounds contribute to the reduction of reactive oxygen species and therefore impact cellular processes sensitive to redox effects. However, the plants phenolics have been implied in more direct interactions, such as transduction pathways and signals transport. In this context, the salicylic acid (SA) performs a regulator role in multiple physiological processes, including the immune response. Thus, when the plant is attacked by a pathogen, sophisticated innate immune systems recognize signals from injured cells and respond by activating effective immune responses through SA signaling cascade and interactions with other phytohormones. Nevertheless, the complexity of the interaction plant-microbe can represent different adaptive mechanisms in the plants (Zhi-lin et al. 2007).

During the fungi attack, the plant epidermal cells tend to resist to the penetration, by forming papillae that strengthen the cell wall, attempting to stop the microorganism penetration and also, accumulating fungitoxic substances as the phenolic compounds and ROS. In the attempted penetration site, the hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) can be accumulated, presumably providing the oxidative power for cross linking of materials and hardening of the papillae (Zeyen et al. 2002).

Another way of avoiding the organisms attack is by the increase of specific enzymes as PPO. The PPO activity increases in wounded plants, infected by pathogens or attacked by other types of pests (Vanitha et al. 2009). In order to avoid the attack of fungi and other microorganisms, the plants oxide phenolic compounds, producing o-quinones, which are antimicrobial compounds. These o-quinones decrease the dietetic proteins nutritional value by reacting with amino groups and free tiols, decreasing the palatability (Constabel et al. 2000). These enzymes are also involved with the cells lignification during the pathogens invasion (Mohammadi and Kazemi 2002).

Beyond the quinones, compounds as glucosides of hydroxynitrile, including the cyanogenic glucosides, are known for providing defense against herbivores and some pathogenic fungi, improving the plant response to environmental challenges.

Many other substances can be affected in function of the biotic stress. Several alkaloids are synthesized in response to the plant defense against microorganism attacks. The alkaloids are important secondary compounds involved in the chemical defense in many plants. For example, compounds as trigonelline, castanospermine and camptothecin are increased due to reactions with arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus inoculum (Jia et al. 2016).

In response to the herbivory, certain plants tend to change the essential oils content and composition. The terpenes are SMs present in essential oils and the monoterpenes are considered the main components of many species. Studies show that these substances are related to a possible plant defense system against biotic stress, when acting as an antifungal, antimicrobial, antiherbivore as well as in allelopathic functions (Isman 2000; Bekele and Hassanali 2001). In *Minthostachys mollis* leaves attacked by insects (feedong), there was the decrease of menthone compared to the undamaged plants. In contrast, in these same conditions, the pulegone concentration increased in all of the tested treatments (Banchio et al. 2005). Pulegone is an inhibitor of the acethylcholinesterase and is related to destroying symbionts of herbivores, creating a biochemical barrier against the utilization of plants with high pulegone contents as food (Harrewijn et al. 2000).

The conjugation of compounds to minimize the stressor effect of the environment caused by the microorganisms attack is also described in many researches. For example, we can cite compounds as phenolamides (also named hydroxycinnamic acid amides) that are combinations of phenolic portions, as coumaric and ferulic acid, with polyamines or aromatic deaminated aminoacids. These compounds have specific functions in the plants development and defense responses, either as an intermediate product or, as final product (Bassard et al. 2010). When there is a biotic stress, e.g. caused by a fungus, there is the synthesis of these substances in plant cell wall, increasing the plant resistance to degradation by the hydrolytic enzymes produced by the pathogen. Additionally, these compounds show anti-microbial activity acting directly on the pathogen and/or disease (Bassard et al. 2010; Kristensen et al. 2004; Mikkelsen et al. 2015).

Conclusion

The plant defense system against several types of stress is important to increasing the SMs, which can be a source of medicinal substances for the population and possible auxiliaries in the cure of many diseases. Additionally, for presenting this type of metabolism (secondary), the plants can survive in inhospitable environments. However, the plant growth and development will be affected, because there is a relocation of primary metabolites for the formation of SMs. The production of SMs, induced by stressing factors, is not similar for all species and represents an important study object. Nevertheless, the plants can adapt to the environment through some biochemical and genetic mechanisms, which can be beneficial for the plants survival as well for obtaining medicines.

References

- Agati G, Biricolti S, Guidi L et al (2011) The biosynthesis of flavonoids is enhanced similarly by UV radiation and root zone salinity in L. vulgare leaves. J Plant Physiol 168:204–212. doi:10. 1016/j.jplph.2010.07.016
- Baher ZF, Mirza M, Ghorbanli M, Rezaii MB (2002) The influence of water stress on plant height, herbal and essential oil yield and composition in *Satureja hortensis* L. Flavour Fragr J 17:275– 277. doi:10.1002/ffj.1097
- Banchio E, Zygadlo J, Valladares GR (2005) Quantitative variations in the essential oil of *Minthostachys mollis* (kunth.) griseb. in response to insects with different feeding habits. J Agric Food Chem 53:6903–6906. doi:10.1021/jf051157j
- Bassard JE, Ullmann P, Bernier F, Werck-Reichhart D (2010) Phenolamides: bridging polyamines to the phenolic metabolism. Phytochemistry 71:1808–1824. doi:10.1016/j.phytochem.2010.08. 003
- Bekele J, Hassanali A (2001) Blend effects in the toxicity of the essential oil constituents of *Ocimum kilimandscharicum* and *Ocimum kenyense* (Labiateae) on two post-harvest insect pests. Phytochemistry 57:385–391. doi:10.1016/S0031-9422(01)00067-X
- Ben TM, Msaada K, Hosni K, Marzouk B (2010) Changes in fatty acid and essential oil composition of sage (*Salvia officinalis* L.) leaves under NaCl stress. Food Chem 119:951–956. doi:10.1016/j.foodchem.2009.07.055
- Bernstein N, Kravchik M, Dudai N (2010) Salinity-induced changes in essential oil, pigments and salts accumulation in sweet basil (*Ocimum basilicum*) in relation to alterations of morphological development. Ann Appl Biol 156:167–177. doi:10.1111/j.1744-7348.2009.00376.x
- Caretto S, Linsalata V, Colella G et al (2015) Carbon fluxes between primary metabolism and phenolic pathway in plant tissues under stress. Int J Mol Sci 16:26378–26394. doi:10.3390/ ijms161125967
- Chalker-Scott L (1999) Environmental significance of anthocyanins in plant stress responses. Photochem Photobiol 70:1–9. doi:10.1111/j.1751-1097.1999.tb01944.x
- Charles DJ, Joly RJ, Simon JE (1990) Effects of osmotic stress on the essential oil content and composition of peppermint. Phytochemistry 29:2837–2840. doi:10.1016/0031-9422(90)87087-B
- Cheynier V, Comte G, Davies KM et al (2013) Plant phenolics: recent advances on their biosynthesis, genetics, andecophysiology. Plant Physiol Biochem 72:1–20. doi:10.1016/j. plaphy.2013.05.009
- Constabel CP, Yip L, Patton JJ, Christopher ME (2000) Polyphenol oxidase from hybrid poplar. Cloning and expression in response to wounding and herbivory. Plant Physiol 124:285–295. doi:10.1104/pp.124.1.285
- Crozier A, Jaganath IB, Clifford MN (2006) Phenols, polyphenols and tannins: an overview. In: Crozier A, Clifford MN, Ashihara H (eds) Plant secondary metabolites: occurrence, structure and role in the human diet. Blackwell Publishing Ltd., Oxford, pp 1–24
- Dar TA, Uddin M, Khan MMA et al (2016) Modulation of alkaloid content, growth and productivity of *Trigonella foenum-graecum* L. using irradiated sodium alginate in combination with soil applied phosphorus. J Appl Res Med Aromat Plants 3:200–210. doi:10.1016/j.jarmap. 2016.05.003
- Dixon RA, Choudhary AD, Dalkin K et al (1992) Molecular biology of stress-induced phenylpropanoid and isoflavonoid biosynthesis in alfalfa. In: Stafford HA, Ibrahim RK (eds) Phenolic metabolism in plants. Springer, Boston, pp 91–138
- Fang X, Yang C, Wei Y, Ma Q (2011) Genomics grand for diversified plant secondary metabolites. Plant Divers Resour 33:53–64
- Ferreira MI, Uliana MR, Costa SM et al (2016) Exclusion of solar UV radiation increases the yield of curcuminoid in *Curcuma longa* L. Ind Crops Prod 89:188–194. doi:10.1016/j.indcrop.2016. 05.009

- Finley JW (2005) Proposed criteria for assessing the efficacy of cancer reduction by plant foods enriched in carotenoids, glucosinolates, polyphenols and selenocompounds. Ann Bot 95:1075–1096. doi:10.1093/aob/mci123
- Gargallo-Garriga A, Sardans J, Pérez-Trujillo M et al (2014) Opposite metabolic responses of shoots and roots to drought. Sci Rep 4:6829. doi:10.1038/srep06829
- Giorgi A, Mingozzi M, Madeo M et al (2009) Effect of nitrogen starvation on the phenolic metabolism and antioxidant properties of yarrow (*Achillea collina* Becker ex Rchb.). Food Chem 114:204–211. doi:10.1016/j.foodchem.2008.09.039
- Gobbo-Neto L, Lopes NP (2007) Plantas medicinais: fatores de influência no conteúdo de metabólitos secundários. Quim Nova 30:374–381. doi:10.1590/S0100-40422007000200026
- Gorelick J, Bernstein N (2014) Elicitation: an underutilized tool for the development of medicinal plants as a source for therapeutic secondary metabolites. In: Advances in agronomy, 1st edn. Elsevier Inc., pp 201–230
- Harrewijn P, Van Oosten AM, Piron PGM (2000) Natural terpenoids as messengers. Phytochemistry. doi:10.1007/978-94-010-0767-2
- Hättenschwiler S, Vitousek PM (2000) The role of polyphenols in terrestrial ecoystems nutrient cycling. Tree 15:238–243
- Herms DA, Mattson WJ (1992) The dilemma of plants: to grow or defend. Q Rev Biol 67:283– 335. doi:10.1086/417659
- Imlay JA (2003) Pathways of oxidative damage. Annu Rev Microbiol 57:395–418. doi:10.1146/ annurev.micro.57.030502.090938
- Iqbal M, Ashraf M, Jamil A, Ur-Rehman S (2006) Does seed priming induce changes in the levels of some endogenous plant hormones in hexaploid wheat plants under salt stress? J Integr Plant Biol 48:181–189. doi:10.1111/j.1744-7909.2006.00181.x
- Ishida M, Hara M, Fukino N et al (2014) Glucosinolate metabolism, functionality and breeding for the improvement of Brassicaceae vegetables. Breed Sci 64:48–59. doi:10.1270/jsbbs.64.48
- Isman MB (2000) Plant essential oils for pest and disease management. Crop Prot 19:603–608. doi:10.1016/S0261-2194(00)00079-X
- Jaafar HZE, Ibrahim MH, Fakri NFM (2012) Impact of soil field water capacity on secondary metabolites, phenylalanine ammonia-lyase (PAL), maliondialdehyde (MDA) and photosynthetic responses of Malaysian Kacip Fatimah (*Labisia pumila* Benth). Molecules 17:7305– 7322. doi:10.3390/molecules17067305
- Jakob B, Heber U (1996) Photoproduction and detoxification of hydroxyl radicals in chloroplasts and leaves and relation to photoinactivation of photosystems I and II. Plant Cell Physiol 37:629–635. doi:10.1093/oxfordjournals.pcp.a028991
- Jaleel CA, Sankar B, Sridharan R, Panneerselvam R (2008) Soil salinity alters growth, chlorophyll content, and secondary metabolite accumulation in *Catharanthus roseus*. Turk J Biol 32:79–83
- Jia M, Chen L, Xin HL et al (2016) A friendly relationship between endophytic fungi and medicinal plants: a systematic review. Front Microbiol 7:1–14. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2016.00906
- Johnson IT (2002) Glucosinolates: bioavailability and importance to health. Int J Vitam Nutr Res 72:26–31. doi:10.1024/0300-9831.72.1.26
- Khan MAM, Ulrichs C, Mewis I (2011) Water stress alters aphid-induced glucosinolate response in *Brassica oleracea* var. italica differently. Chemoecology 21:235–242. doi:10.1007/s00049-011-0084-4
- Khan MN, Mobin M, Abbas ZK, ALMutairi KA (2016) Impact of varying elevations on growth and activities of antioxidant enzymes of some medicinal plants of Saudi Arabia. Acta Ecol Sin 36:141–148. doi:10.1016/j.chnaes.2015.12.009
- Kim JH, Lee BW, Schroeder FC, Jander G (2008) Identification of indole glucosinolate breakdown products with antifeedant effects on *Myzus persicae* (green peach aphid). Plant J 54:1015–1026. doi:10.1111/j.1365-313X.2008.03476.x
- Kliebenstein DJ (2013) Making new molecules-evolution of structures for novel metabolites in plants. Curr Opin Plant Biol 16:112–117. doi:10.1016/j.pbi.2012.12.004

- Kováčik J, Bačkor M (2007) Changes of phenolic metabolism and oxidative status in nitrogen-deficient *Matricaria chamomilla* plants. Plant Soil 297:255–265. doi:10.1007/ s11104-007-9346-x
- Kováčik J, Klejdus B (2008) Dynamics of phenolic acids and lignin accumulation in metal-treated Matricaria chamomilla roots. Plant Cell Rep 27:605–615. doi:10.1007/s00299-007-0490-9
- Kristensen BK, Burhenne K, Rasmussen SK (2004) Peroxidases and the metabolism of hydroxycinnamic acid amides in Poaceae. Phytochem Rev 3:127–140. doi:10.1023/B:PHYT. 0000047800.59980.6e
- Lake JA, Field KJ, Davey MP et al (2009) Metabolomic and physiological responses reveal multi-phasic acclimation of *Arabidopsis thaliana* to chronic UV radiation. Plant, Cell Environ 32:1377–1389. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3040.2009.02005.x
- Landolt W, Günthardt-Goerg MS, Pfenninger I et al (1997) Effect of fertilization on ozone-induced changes in the metabolism of birch (*Betula pendula*) leaves. New Phytol 137:389–397. doi:10. 1046/j.1469-8137.1997.00843.x
- Lattanzio V, Cardinali A, Ruta C et al (2009) Relationship of secondary metabolism to growth in oregano (*Origanum vulgare* L.) shoot cultures under nutritional stress. Environ Exp Bot 65:54– 62. doi:10.1016/j.envexpbot.2008.09.002
- Levitt J (1980) Responses of plants to environmental stresses. Chilling, freezing and high temperature stresses, vol 1. Academic Press, 497 pp
- López-Berenguer C, Martínez-Ballesta MC, García-Viguera C, Carvajal M (2008) Leaf water balance mediated by aquaporins under salt stress and associated glucosinolate synthesis in broccoli. Plant Sci 174:321–328. doi:10.1016/j.plantsci.2007.11.012
- Luo Q, Yu B, Liu Y (2005) Differential sensitivity to chloride and sodium ions in seedlings of Glycine max and G. soja under NaCl stress. J Plant Physiol 162:1003–1012. doi:10.1016/j. jplph.2004.11.008
- Ma CH, Chu JZ, Shi XF et al (2016) Effects of enhanced UV-B radiation on the nutritional and active ingredient contents during the floral development of medicinal chrysanthemum. J Photochem Photobiol B Biol 158:228–234. doi:10.1016/j.jphotobiol.2016.02.019
- Maeda H, Dudareva N (2012) The shikimate pathway and aromatic amino acid biosynthesis in plants. Annu Rev Plant Biol 63:73–105. doi:10.1146/annurev-arplant-042811-105439
- Martínez-Ballesta MC, Moreno DA, Carvajal M (2013) The physiological importance of glucosinolates on plant response to abiotic stress in *Brassica*. Int J Mol Sci 14:11607–11625. doi:10.3390/ijms140611607
- Medina-Pérez V, López-Laredo AR, Sepúlveda-Jiménez G et al (2015) Nitrogen deficiency stimulates biosynthesis of bioactive phenylethanoid glycosides in the medicinal plant *Castilleja tenuiflora* Benth. Acta Physiol Plant 37:1–8. doi:10.1007/s11738-015-1841-8
- Mikkelsen BL, Olsen CE, Lyngkjær MF (2015) Accumulation of secondary metabolites in healthy and diseased barley, grown under future climate levels of CO₂, ozone and temperature. Phytochemistry 118:162–173. doi:10.1016/j.phytochem.2015.07.007
- Misra A, Srivastava NK (2000) Influence of water stress on Japanese mint. J Herbs Spices Med Plants 7:51–58. doi:10.1300/J044v07n01_07
- Mohammadi M, Kazemi H (2002) Changes in peroxidase and polyphenol oxidase activities in susceptible and resistant wheat heads inoculated with *Fusarium graminearum* and induced resistance. Plant Sci 162:491–498. doi:10.1016/S0168-9452(01)00538-6
- Nascimento LBDS, Leal-Costa MV, Menezes EA et al (2015) Ultraviolet-B radiation effects on phenolic profile and flavonoid content of *Kalanchoe pinnata*. J Photochem Photobiol B Biol 148:73–81. doi:10.1016/j.jphotobiol.2015.03.011
- Ncube B, Finnie JF, Van Staden J (2014) Carbon-nitrogen ratio and invitro assimilate partitioning patterns in *Cyrtanthus guthrieae* L. Plant Physiol Biochem 74:246–254. doi:10.1016/j.plaphy. 2013.11.007
- Neffati M, Marzouk B (2008) Changes in essential oil and fatty acid composition in coriander (*Coriandrum sativum* L.) leaves under saline conditions. Ind Crops Prod 28:137–142. doi:10. 1016/j.indcrop.2008.02.005

- Neffati M, Sriti J, Hamdaoui G et al (2011) Salinity impact on fruit yield, essential oil composition and antioxidant activities of *Coriandrum sativum* fruit extracts. Food Chem 124:221–225. doi:10.1016/j.foodchem.2010.06.022
- Okem A, Stirk WA, Street RA et al (2015) Effects of Cd and Al stress on secondary metabolites, antioxidant and antibacterial activity of *Hypoxis hemerocallidea* Fisch. & C.A. Mey. Plant Physiol Biochem 97:147–155. doi:10.1016/j.plaphy.2015.09.015
- Osbourn AE, Qi X, Townsend B, Qin B (2003) Dissecting plant secondary metabolism constitutive chemical defences in cereals. New Phytol 159:101–108. doi:10.1046/j.1469-8137. 2003.00759.x
- Park JS, Choung MG, Kim JB et al (2007) Genes up-regulated during red coloration in UV-B irradiated lettuce leaves. Plant Cell Rep 26:507–516. doi:10.1007/s00299-006-0255-x
- Radušienė J, Karpavičienė B, Stanius Ž (2012) Effect of external and internal factors on secondary metabolites accumulation in St. John's Worth. Bot Lith 18:101–108. doi:10.2478/v10279-012-0012-8
- Razmjoo K, Heydarizadeh P, Sabzalian MR (2008) Effect of salinity and drought stresses on growth parameters and essential oil content of *Matricaria chamomila*. Int J Agric, Biol, p 10
- Rizhsky L, Liang H, Mittler R (2002) The combined effect of drought stress and heat shock on gene expression in tobacco. Plant Physiol 130:1143–1151. doi:10.1104/pp.006858.then
- Sampaio BL, Edrada-ebel R, Batista F, Costa D (2016) Effect of the environment on the secondary metabolic profile of *Tithonia diversifolia* : a model for environmental metabolomics of plants. Nat Publ Gr 1–11. doi:10.1038/srep29265
- Sangwan NS, Farooqi AHA, Shabih F, Sangwan RS (2001) Regulation of essential oil production in plants. Plant Growth Regul 34:3–21. doi:10.1023/A:1013386921596
- Selmar D (2008) Potential of salt and drought stress to increase pharmaceutical significant secondary compounds in plants. Landbauforsch Volkenrode 58:139–144
- Sønderby IE, Geu-Flores F, Halkier BA (2010) Biosynthesis of glucosinolates—gene discovery and beyond. Trends Plant Sci 15:283–290. doi:10.1016/j.tplants.2010.02.005
- Steinbrenner AD, Agerbirk N, Orians CM, Chew FS (2012) Transient abiotic stresses lead to latent defense and reproductive responses over the *Brassica rapa* life cycle. Chemoecology 22:239– 250. doi:10.1007/s00049-012-0113-y
- Tabatabaie SJ, Nazari J (2007) Influence of nutrient concentrations and NaCl salinity on the growth, photosynthesis, and essential oil content of peppermint and lemon verbena. Turk J Agric For 31:245–253
- Takshak S, Agrawal SB (2014) Secondary metabolites and phenylpropanoid pathway enzymes as influenced under supplemental ultraviolet-B radiation in *Withania somnifera* Dunal, an indigenous medicinal plant. J Photochem Photobiol B Biol 140:332–343. doi:10.1016/j. jphotobiol.2014.08.011
- Valifard M, Mohsenzadeh S, Kholdebarin B, Rowshan V (2014) Effects of salt stress on volatile compounds, total phenolic content and antioxidant activities of *Salvia mirzayanii*. S Afr J Bot 93:92–97. doi:10.1016/j.sajb.2014.04.002
- VanderPlas LHW, Eijkelboom C, Hagendoorn MJM (1995) Relation between primary and secondary metabolism in plant cell suspensions—competition between secondary metabolite production and growth in a model system (*Morinda citrifolia*). Plant Cell, Tissue Organ Cult 43:111–116
- Vanitha SC, Niranjana SR, Umesha S (2009) Role of phenylalanine ammonia lyase and polyphenol oxidase in host resistance to bacterial wilt of tomato. J Phytopathol 157:552–557. doi:10.1111/j.1439-0434.2008.01526.x
- Verma N, Shukla S (2015) Impact of various factors responsible for fluctuation in plant secondary metabolites. J Appl Res Med Aromat Plants 2:105–113. doi:10.1016/j.jarmap.2015.09.002
- Wang L, Li W, Ma L et al (2016) Salt stress changes chemical composition in *Limonium bicolor* (Bag.) Kuntze, a medicinal halophytic plant. Ind Crops Prod 84:248–253. doi:10.1016/j. indcrop.2016.01.050
- Weis E, Berry JA (1988) Plants and high temperature stress. Symp Soc Exp Biol 42:329-346

- WHO (2013) WHO traditional medicine strategy 2014–2023. Altern Integr Med :1–78. Available at: http://www.who.int/medicines/publications/traditional/trm_strategy14_23/en/ (accessed on 09 March 2017) (English version).
- Wilson SA, Roberts SC (2014) Metabolic engineering approaches for production of biochemicals in food and medicinal plants. Curr Opin Biotechnol 26:174–182. doi:10.1016/j.copbio.2014. 01.006
- Wink M, Schimmer O (1999) Modes of action of defensive secondary metabolites. In: Functions of plant secondary metabolites and their exploitation in biotechnology. CRC Press, Boca Raton, pp 17–112
- Yamori W, Hikosaka K, Way DA (2014) Temperature response of photosynthesis in C₃, C₄, and CAM plants: temperature acclimation and temperature adaptation. Photosynth Res 119:101– 117. doi:10.1007/s11120-013-9874-6
- Yuan G, Wang X, Guo R, Wang Q (2010) Effect of salt stress on phenolic compounds, glucosinolates, myrosinase and antioxidant activity in radish sprouts. Food Chem 121:1014– 1019. doi:10.1016/j.foodchem.2010.01.040
- Zeyen RJ, Kruger WM, Lyngkjær MF, Carver TLW (2002) Differential effects of D-mannose and 2-deoxy-D-glucose on attempted powdery mildew fungal infection of inappropriate and appropriate G ramineae. Physiol Mol Plant Pathol 61:315–323. doi:10.1006/pmpp.2003.0444
- Zhang X, Li C, Nan Z (2011) Effects of salt and drought stress on alkaloid production in endophyte-infected drunken horse grass (*Achnatherum inebrians*). Biochem Syst Ecol 39:471– 476. doi:10.1016/j.bse.2011.06.016
- Zhao YH, Jia X, Wang WK et al (2016) Growth under elevated air temperature alters secondary metabolites in *Robinia pseudoacacia* L. seedlings in Cd- and Pb-contaminated soils. Sci Total Environ 565:586–594. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.05.058
- Zhi-lin Y, Chuan-chao D, Lian-qing C (2007) Regulation and accumulation of secondary metabolites in plant-fungus symbiotic system. Afr J Biotechnol 6:1266–1271
- Zhou R, Yu X, Ottosen C-O et al (2017) Drought stress had a predominant effect over heat stress on three tomato cultivars subjected to combined stress. BMC Plant Biol 17:24. doi:10.1186/ s12870-017-0974-x
- Zobayed SMA, Afreen F, Kozai T (2005) Temperature stress can alter the photosynthetic efficiency and secondary metabolite concentrations in St John's wort. Plant Physiol Biochem 43:977–984. doi:10.1016/j.plaphy.2005.07.013

The Most Important Fungal Diseases Associated with Some Useful Medicinal Plants

Faezehossadat Abtahi and Seydeh Lavin Nourani

Abstract When the ability of the cells of a plant to carry out one or more of these essential functions is interfered with by either a pathogenic organism or an adverse environmental factor, the activities of the cells are disrupted, the cells malfunction or die, and the plant becomes diseased. Tens of thousands of diseases affect cultivated and wild plants. Plant diseases are grouped according to the type of pathogen that causes the disease. All plants are attacked by some kinds of fungi, and each of the parasitic fungi can attack one or many kinds of plants. Fungi are small, generally microscopic, eukaryotic, usually filamentous, branched, spore-bearing organisms that lack chlorophyll. Fungi cause local or general symptoms on their hosts and such symptoms may occur separately or concurrently or may follow one another. Medicinal plants like other plants have specific fungal diseases. In this chapter, considering the importance of fungal diseases of the number of medicinal plants.

Keywords Medicinal plants · Plant diseases · Fungi · Symptoms

Introduction

Plants have been used for thousands of years to flavor and conserve food, to treat health disorders and to prevent diseases including epidemics. The knowledge of their healing properties has been transmitted over the centuries within and among human communities. Active compounds produced during secondary vegetal

F. Abtahi (🖂)

S.L. Nourani Plant Pathology Department, Faculty of Agriculture, Tarbiat Modares University, Tehran, Iran

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

Department of Medicinal Plants, Faculty of Agriculture and Natural Resources, Arak University, 38156-8-834 Arak, Iran e-mail: faeze.abtahi@gmail.com

M. Ghorbanpour and A. Varma (eds.), *Medicinal Plants and Environmental Challenges*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-68717-9_16

metabolism are usually responsible for the biological properties of some plant species used throughout the globe for various purposes, including treatment of infectious diseases. Currently, data on the antimicrobial activity of numerous plants, so far considered empirical, have been scientifically confirmed, concomitantly with the increasing number of reports on pathogenic microorganisms resistant to antimicrobials. Products derived from plants may potentially control microbial growth in diverse situations and in the specific case of disease (Silva and Fernandes Junior 2010). Plant that possess therapeutic properties or exert beneficial pharmacological effects on the human-body are generally designated as medicinal plants (Motaleb 2011). Traditional medicine is used globally and has a rapidly growing economic importance. Complementary-alternative and traditional medicine are gaining more and more respect by national governments and health providers in developing countries (Grigoryan et al. 2015).

A plant disease may therefore be defined as any harmful deviation or alteration from the normal functioning of physiological processes. When the ability of the cells of a plant or plant part to carry out one or more of these essential functions is interfered with by either a pathogenic organism or an adverse environmental factor, the activities of the cells are disrupted, altered, or inhibited, the cells malfunction or die, and the plant becomes diseased. On average, each kind of crop plant can be affected by a hundred or more plant diseases. Some pathogens affect only one variety of a plant. Other pathogens affect several dozen or even hundreds of species of plants. Plant diseases are grouped according to the cause of the disease, on this basis, plant diseases are classified as infectious plant diseases (caused by fungi, prokaryotes, parasitic higher plants and green algae, viruses and viroids, nematodes and protozoa) and noninfectious plant diseases too low or too high a temperature, lack or excess of soil moisture, lack or excess of light, lack of oxygen, air pollution, nutrient deficiencies, soil acidity or alkalinity (pH) and etc.

Fungi are small, generally microscopic, eukaryotic, usually filamentous, branched, spore-bearing organisms that lack chlorophyll. They have cell walls that contain chitin and glucans (but no cellulose) as the skeletal components. These are embedded in a matrix of polysaccharides and glycoproteins. More than 10,000 species of fungi, however, can cause disease in plants. All plants are attacked by some kinds of fungi, and each of the parasitic fungi can attack one or many kinds of plants. In many diseases, the fungal pathogen grows, or produces various structures such as mycelium, sclerotia, sporophores, fruiting bodies, and spores, all called signs, on the surface of the host. Signs are distinct from symptoms, which refer only to the appearance of the infected plants or plant tissues. Thus, in the mildews, for example, one sees mostly the signs consisting of a whitish, downy or powdery growth of fungus mycelium and spores on the plant leaves, fruit, or stem, whereas the symptoms consist of chlorotic or necrotic lesions on leaves, fruit, and stem, reduced growth of the plant, and so on.

Fungi cause local or general necrosis of plant tissues, and they often cause reduced growth (stunting) of plant organs or entire plants. A few fungi cause excessive growth of infected plants or plant parts. The most common necrotic symptoms are: leaf spots, blight, canker, dieback, root rot, damping-off, soft rots and dry rots, anthracnose, scab, decline, clubroot, galls, warts, leaf curls. Other diseases, such as rusts, mildews, wilts may cause stunting of the plant as a whole.

Medicinal plants like other plants have specific fungal diseases. In this chapter, considering the importance of fungal diseases on this group of plants, we review some of the most important fungal diseases of the number of medicinal plants.

Introduction to Species

Common Fungal Diseases of Species

1. Bunium persicum (Boiss.) B. Fedtsch.

Common Name: Black Caraway, Black Cumin

Kingdom	Plantae
Order	Apiales
Family	Apiaceae
Genus	Bunium
Species	B. persicum

1.1 Description

Black caraway (*Bunium persicum* Boiss.) is a perennial aromatic and medicinal herb, distributed in temperate areas of the world and mostly restricted to the subalpine mountain slopes. Its species grow wild in North Himalayan regions, Iran, Pakistan and generally it is native to central and Southern parts of Asia, with a wide geographical distribution in arid regions in Iran. The fruit of *B. persicum* is widely used in traditional Iranian medicine to control colic pain and dysmen-orrhoea (Dar et al. 2011; Zendehdel et al. 2015; Faravani et al. 2015).

1.2 Some of the important fungal diseases

Studies conducted by researchers showed that incidence of disease like leaf blight and umbel blight (*Alternaria alternata*), tuber rot (*Fusarium solani*) and powdery mildew significantly influence its yield potential. It has been reported that disease incidence causes up to 38% reduction in yield in Kala zeera. Blight disease was found to attack the crop first immediately after the emergence of sprout whereas powdery mildew appeared at flower bud and developing grain stages. Tuber rot shows the highest incidence (35.2%) followed by blight (19.87%) whereas powdery mildew was mild (5.4%) (Parvaze et al. 2009). The disease incidence of leaf blight and tuber rot were recorded at vegetative, flowering and harvesting stages of the crop growth, whereas umbel blight was recorded at flowering and harvesting stages at all the locations. Gupta et al. (2012) gave first report of tuber rot disease of Kalazira in 2008 caused by a member of the *Fusarium solani* species complex in India (Dar et al. 2014).

2. Taxus baccata L.

Common name: Common yew, English yew

Kingdom	Plantae
Order	Pinales
Family	Taxaceae
Genus	Taxus
Species	T. baccata.

2.1 Description

Taxus baccata L. is a native evergreen non-resinous gymnosperm tree up to 20(-28) m, often with multiple trunks and spreading, rounded or pyramidal canopy (Thomas and Polwart 2003). The yew is native to most of Europe, the Atlas Mountains and Asia Minor. In Europe, yew woodland can be found over most areas, but it grows best in oceanic climates with moderate temperatures (Thomas and Polwart 2003). Its distribution is limited in northern Europe beyond Britain, Ireland and southern Scandinavia by low temperatures and waterlogging and in the south by drought and high temperature (Linares 2013; Farjon and Filer 2013). The yew tree is a highly toxic plant that has occasionally been used medicinally, mainly in the treatment of chest complaints. Modern research has shown that the plants contain the substance 'taxol' in their shoots. Taxol has shown exciting potential as an anti-cancer drug, particularly in the treatment of ovarian cancers. Unfortunately, the concentrations of taxol in this species are too low to be of much value commercially, though it is being used for research purposes (Bown 1995).

2.2 Some of the important fungal diseases

Seedlings of *T. baccata* can be killed by pathogenic fungi (Lewandowski et al. 1995). Stem canker has been seen in Switzerland (Hassler et al. 2004) and has been identified as the cause of death of some yews in Great Britain (Strouts and Winter 1994; Benham et al. 2016). The fungus *Cryptocline taxicola* is known to occur on needles of *T. baccata*. It has been shown that this fungi obviously possesses a large degree of parasitic ability on *T. baccata* (Wulf and Pehl 2002; Bukvayova 2007). Based on research conducted on the reasons of dying down of needles and branches of common yew (*Taxus baccata* L.), 34 fungal species on the diseased tissues of *T. baccata* were showed. The following fungi occurred most frequently in the community of the fungi isolated from the investigated material: *Phomopsis juniperivora*, *Alternaria alternata*, *Colletotrichum gloeosporioides* and *Zythiostroma pinastri* (Mirski 2008).

3. Elaegnus angustifolia L.

Common name: Russian olive, Oleaster

Kingdom Plantae Order Rosales FamilyElaeagnaceaeGenusElaegnusSpeciesE. angustifolia.

3.1 Description

There are more than 90 species of the *Elaeagnus* found around the world which are mainly distributed in subtropical regions of Asia, Europe and some parts of North America. Elaeagnus angustifolia L. is a deciduous tree or large shrub which is commonly called Russian olive since its appearance resembles an olive tree with small reddish-brown, elliptic shaped fruits. Russian olive is a long lived tree (80-100 years) which grows rapidly up to 10 m in height and 30 cm in diameter and starts to fruit after 5-6 years. This tree can tolerate a wide range of harsh environmental conditions such as flood, severe drought, stony, sandy and high salinity or alkalinity of the soils. Different parts of *E. angustifolia* plant, especially the fruits and flowers, have been used traditionally in treating a variety of common illnesses such as nausea, cough, asthma, fever, jaundice, and diarrhea. The use of fruit powder and extract of *E. angustifolia* have shown to be effective in alleviating pain in patients with rheumatoid arthritis and also in reducing the healing time of wounds in injured person. In addition, some recent reports have indicated the anti-oxidant, anti-inflammatory, antimicrobial, anticancer and some other properties of oleaster plant. The other important property of this plant would be its role in bio-monitoring the environment for some toxic elements and also its action as a bio-fertilizer agent in distressed lands. It seems that with more advanced studies on E. angustifolia and its bioactive components, this plant might be potentially effective and can be used as a natural alternative resource in pharmaceutical industries for treating chronic and serious problems (Fonia et al. 2009; Taheri et al. 2010; Kiseleva and chindyaeva 2011; Asadiar et al. 2013; Sahan et al. 2013; Saboonchian et al. 2014; Hamidpour et al. 2017).

3.2 Some of the important fungal diseases

Several canker diseases attack the branches and trunk of *E. angustifolia*, particularly in the humid east. The leaves on infected branches turn brown and persist on the tree. Usually, only the branch tip is affected. One of the most serious diseases of Russian olive is a canker and dieback caused by the fungus *Phomopsis elaeagni* (formerly called *Fusicoccum elaeagni*). Unlike most canker-producing fungi, *P. elaeagni* is an aggressive pathogen that can attack vigorous trees. Phomopsis-infected trees often appear ragged, with several dying or dead twigs and branches. Current-season twigs and small branches often wilt and die. The dead, withered leaves remain attached for some time. An examination of the large branches and trunks may eveal oval-to-elongate, depressed cankers of varying size, mostly 1–6 inches long. The diseased bark on cankers varies from orange-brown to dark reddish-brown. Ridges often form around the margins. Cankers on branches under an inch in diameter usually are not noticeably sunken or as obvious as the larger

ones. The bark remains smooth and turns reddish-brown with dark brown margins. Branches girdled by the enlarging cankers wilt and die. The white sapwood underneath the cankers turns brown or black. The discoloration often extends beyond the margins of the canker (https://ipm.illinois.edu/diseases/rpds/606.pdf). *Cytospora* species are important phytopathogens causing severe canker disease with a worldwide distribution and broad host range. Canker productive species including *Cytospora elaeagni, C. hippophaes* and *C. nivea* have been recorded from *E. angustifolia* (Leifan et al. 2015). The most common disease is verticillium wilt, caused by fungi that live in the soil (*Verticillium albo-atrum, Verticillium dahliae*). They invade the tree through wounds in the roots and are then carried by the sap through the entire vascular system. They gradually block the conductive vessels and cause the leaves to wilt suddenly; the twigs and branches then dry out (http://espacepourlavie.ca/en/diseased-russian-olive-trees).

4. Hippophae rhamnoides L.

Common name: Sea buckthorn, Seaberry

Kingdom	Plantae
Order	Rosids
Family	Elaeagnaceae
Genus	Hippophae
Species	H. rhamnoides.

4.1 Description

Hippophae rhamnoides L. a unique and valuable plant has recently gained worldwide attention, mainly for its medicinal and nutritional potential. Sea buck-thorn (SBT) is a thorny nitrogen-fixing deciduous shrub of cold arid region native to Europe and Asia. It is currently domesticated in several parts of the world due to its nutritional and medicinal properties (Rousi 1971; Li 2003; Suryakumar and Gupta 2011). Currently, SBT has gained the status of one of the most sought after plant in the pharmaceutical and cosmetic based industries, besides health food processing industries the world over (Suryakumar and Gupta 2011).

4.2 Some of the important fungal diseases

Among the diseases that can occur in sea buckthorn plantation we mention: verticillium wilt (*Verticillium albo—atrum*, *V. dahliae*), fusariosis (*Fusarium* sp.) and decay caused by *Phytium*, *Alternaria* and *Botrytis*. Both in Asia and in Europe, wilt disease are the most important causes of damage of SBT (Ruan et al. 2013; Coutuna et al. 2014). *Verticillium* wilt can occur quite often in sea buckthorn plantations, the pathogen *Verticillium* sp. being dangerous and able to kill the shrubs during two years. SBT is one of its favourite hosts. Often *Verticillium* sp. can be confounded with the damages produced by other diseases or by the unfavourable environmental conditions that can have identical symptoms (Ash-Cynthia 2013). After the entering in the plant tissues the fungus produces toxins and invades the xylem and then continuates the advancing in the plant through the produced spores. The toxins produced by *Verticillium* can close the plant cells at some distance from those directly invaded. From this reason the fungus cannot be isolated many times from the apex of the diseased shoots or from wilted branches, even the deterioration is very evident (Coutuna et al. 2014). Also *Fusarium* and *Pythium* diseases can be important diseases at the seedling stage of (www.Worldagroforestry.org/treedb/AFTPDFS/Hippophae_rhamnoides.PDF).

5. Colchicum luteum Baker.

Common name: Autumn crocus, meadow saffron

Kingdom	Plantae
Order	Liliales
Family	Colchicaceae
Genus	Colchicum
Species	C. luteum.

5.1 Description

Colchicum Luteum Baker. is known by the name of colchicicum in English, Suranjan in Sanskrit and Hirantutiya in Hindi. The corms of the plant are usually used to make natural medicines. *C. luteum* is known to be Kapha and Vata suppressant. These are the principle stabilizing energies that govern the body as well as the mind. It is connected with the structure, lubrication, fluid balance and stability of the entire human body. It is native to Europe, West Asia, parts of the Mediterranean coast, East Africa, South Africa and the region of Western Cape. This plant contains an alkaloid called colchicines. It also contains a significant amount of starch (http://www.alwaysayurveda.com/colchicum-luteum/).

5.2 Some of the important fungal diseases

The crop, in general, is not attacked by any insect. There is no disease infestation as well (NMPB 2008).

6. Rhamnus frangula L.

Common name: Glossy buckthorn, Fen Buckthorn, Alder Buckthorn

Kingdom	Plantae
Order	Rhamnales
Family	Rhamnaceae
Genus	Rhamnus
Species	R. frangula.

6.1 Description

Rhamnus frangula L. (*Frangula alnus* Mill.) is native to Europe, northernmost Africa, and western Asia, from Ireland and Great Britain north to the 68th parallel in Scandinavia, east to central Siberia and Xinjiang in western China, and south to

northern Morocco, Turkey, and the Alborz and Caucasus Mountains, in the northwest of its range (Ireland, Scotland), it is rare and scattered. It is also introduced and naturalised in eastern North America. It is a deciduous shrub or small tree of wet or dry sites. In full sun plants may bear fruit in as little as 3 years from seed (Rushforth 1999; Possessky and Moriarity 2000; Zecchin et al. 2016). Buckthorn is used in many herbal medications, especially as a laxative, as a tonic and as an ingredient in the Hoxsey cancer formula. Alder buckthorn is high in anthraquinone glycosides. Resins, tannins, and lipids make up the bulk of the bark's other ingredients. Anthraquinone glycosides have a cathartic action, inducing the large intestine to increase its muscular contraction (peristalsis) and increasing water movement from the cells of the colon into the feces, resulting in strong, soft bowel movements (www.tipdisease.com/2014/11/benefits-of-alder-buckthorn-rhamnus.html).

6.2 Some of the important fungal diseases

The alder buckthorn is generally free from any significant pests and disease (Hemery and Simblet 2014). It can be a host in the life cycle of the crown rust fungus (*Puccinia coronata*), which affects oat and barley (Murphy 1935; Liu and Hambleton 2013). In southern Spain relict populations of *F. alnus* subsp. *baetica*, which occur at the limits of geographic range for this species, are in decline and threatened by increasing summer droughts (Hampe 2005). On the contrary, in North America this species is ranked as "highly invasive", due to its tendency to replace native plants, and several prevention and control programmes have been started where dominant alder buckthorn can negatively affect native species richness, simplify vegetation structure, disrupt food webs and delay succession (Gucker 2008; Zecchin et al. 2016).

7. Trigonella foenum-graceum

Common name: Fenugreek; fenugrec (France), fieno greco (Italy) alholva, feno-greco (Spain), helba (Arabic), methi (India, Pakistan)

Plantae
Fabales
Fabaceae
Trigonella
T. foenum-graceum

7.1 Description

Fenugreek (*Trigonella foenum-graecum*) is a legume and it has been used as a spice throughout the world to enhance the sensory quality of foods. It is known for its medicinal qualities such as antidiabetic, anticarcinogenic, hypocholesterolemic, antioxidant, and immunological activities (Wani and Kumar 2016). This plant is cultivated in India, the Mediterranean region, China, parts of Africa, Europe and Australia and, in recent years, in North America (Acharya et al. 2010). The leaves and seeds of the Fenugreek plant are widely used in Indian cuisine. The herb has

been traditionally used in Ayurvedic compositions as a moisturizer, specially formulated to hydrate dry skin. Applied topically, the herb is also helpful in treating boils, abscesses and ulcers. Fenugreek is a natural source of protein, which rebuilds and strengthens the hair shaft. It reduces hair fall and promotes hair growth. Fenugreek seeds function as an appetite suppressant and give a feeling of satiety more quickly. The German Commission E documented its mild antiseptic property. The British Herbal Pharmacopoeia reported that the herb's actions as demulcent and hypoglycemic (lowering blood sugar levels). ESCOP and the WHO monographs indicate the use of the seeds as an adjuvant in therapies for diabetes mellitus, anorexia, and high cholesterol (Khare 2007).

7.2 Some of the important fungal diseases

Diseases caused by fungus are one of the major constraints to the production of fenugreek in field condition. The yield of the plant is seriously affected by the fungal diseases mostly the seed borne ones. The two major fungal diseases that affect fenugreek are powdery mildew caused by *Erysiphe polygoni*, *Oidipsis* sp. and Leveillula taurica and Cercospora leaf spot caused by Cercospora traversiana. This despite the fact that Cercospora leaf spot is a destructive and widespread disease of fenugreek. The disease is devastating in nature spreading quite uniformly in the growing areas in absence of specific control measures. In case of severely infected plants only a few terminal leaves survive. The size of the lesions on mature leaves increases resulting in rapid sporulation resembling a whitish dorsal surface. The necrotic areas are characterized by the presence of an encircling yellowish halo. Most severe infections are observed in the stem and the pods. Infected areas of the pod are characterized by loss of color with most seriously infected areas are found to under go structural deformation. In case of severe infection even the youngest leaves have been reported to be wilted and dead (Zimmer 1984; Acharya et al. 2010, 2014; Prasad et al. 2014). Being among one of the most common and serious diseases of fenugreek, the powdery mildew, affects both biomass and yield (Basu et al. 2006; Petropoulos 2002) of the plant under moist agro-climatic conditions in north America, such as Creston in British Columbia (Canada) and Vermont (USA). It is most commonly found in hot and humid tropical and sub-tropical areas, as well as in temperate to subtemperate regions (Basu et al. 2006; Palti 1959; Rouk and Mangesha 1963). Fenugreek plants infected by Oidiopsis sp. showed slightly blister like areas on the young leaves which soon becomes covered with white to grey powdery mass. Powdery mildew caused by L. taurica is identified by mycelial patches on leaves and is favored by comparatively dry weather conditions (Petropoulos 1973). The collar rot or the root rot or the foot rot or the damping off of fenugreek by Rhizoctonia solani is another important disease of the plant which reduces the yield of the plant significantly. It has been reported from all parts of India (Hiremath and Prasad 1985). Wilt of fenugreek by *Fusarium oxysporum* is one of the most important disease causing moderate to extensive damage to the crop. The pathogen remains present both in soil as well as in seeds of fenugreek (Bansal and Gupta 2000; Hashmi and Thrane 1990; Komaraiah and Reddy 1986; Pierre and Francis 2000; Khare et al. 2014). Ascochyta leaf spot is a serious
afflicting fenugreek (Petropoulos 1973). It is another important seed borne disease of fenugreek (Petropoulos 2002; Walker 1952).

8. Conium maculatum L.

Common name: Poison Hemlock, Hemlock, Devil's porridge, Beaver Poison, Herb Bennet.

Kingdom	Plantae
Order	Apiales
Family	Apiaceae
Genus	Conium
Species	Conium maculatum.

8.1 Description

Conium maculatum is one of the most toxic members of the plant kingdom. There are numerous reports of deaths for a wide range of animal species including humans. *C. maculatum* has a worldwide distribution (Vetter 2004). The plant is reported as a very common weed in Europe, North and South America, North Africa, Australia and New Zealand, and there are data about its occurrence in Ethiopia (Mekkonen 1994), and in Pakistan (Ahmed et al. 1989). Poison hemlock contains five alkaloids that are toxic to humans and livestock if ingested and can be lethal. All parts of the plants contain the toxic alkaloids with levels being variable throughout the year. Symptoms of toxicity include nervousness, trembling, and loss of coordination followed by depression, coma, and/or death. Initial symptoms will occur within a few hours of ingestion. Cases of poisoning due to poison hemlock ingestion are rare as the plants emit a mousy odor that makes it undesirable and unpalatable to livestock and humans. Consumption and toxicity in animals usually occurs in poorly managed or overgrazed pastures where animals are forced to graze poison hemlock (www.btny.purdue.edu/weedscience).

8.2 Some of the important fungal diseases

In 2008, a powdery mildew was observed on poison-hemlock growing in coastal (Monterey and Santa Clara counties) California. The causal agent was determined to be *Erysiphe heraclei* DC., previously unreported on this host in North America. Signs of the pathogen included effuse patches of white mycelia on adaxial leaf surfaces of older foliage, leaf petioles, flower pedicels, and immature seed capsules of wayside plants. Disease was widespread on poison-hemlock plants that were surveyed in both counties, with disease incidence averaging 33%. The hemlock is infected often by one or more virus strains such as ringspot virus, carrot thin leaf virus (CTLV), alfalfa mosaic virus (AMV) or celery mosaic virus (CeMV) and powdery mildew did not appear to cause obvious damage to this host (Howell and Mink 1981; Koike and Glawe 2009).

9. Anethum graveolens L.

Common name: Dill

Kingdom	Plantae
Order	Apiales
Family	Apiaceae
Genus	Anethum
Species	A. graveolens.

9.1 Description

Anethum graveolens L. contained essential oils, fatty oil, proteins, carbohydrates, furanocoumarin, polyphenols, mineral and many other biologically active constituents. It is widely used traditionally. The pharmacological studies showed that *A. graveolens* induced antimicrobial, antiinflammatory, analgesic, gastric mucosal protective and antisecretory effects, smooth muscle relaxant effect, hyperlipidaemic, increased progesterone concentration, and many other effects. This plant is a plant with wide range of chemical constituents which exerted many pharmacological effects. There is a great promise for development of novel drugs from *A. graveolens* to treat human diseases as a result of its effectiveness and safety (Al-Snafi 2014).

9.2 Some of the important fungal diseases

From 2010 to 2014, typical symptoms of powdery mildew were observed on dill crops (*A. graveolens*, Apiaceae) in several greenhouses in Apulia (southern Italy). The disease appeared at all stages of growth, from transplanted seedlings to harvest. If not controlled promptly, a white fungal efflorescence spread progressively from the basal leaves and petioles to the whole plant with disease incidence and severity often reaching 100% that Based on the morphology of the conidia and sequence homology, the isolated fungus was identified as the anamorph of *E. heraclei* (Bubici 2015). Cercospora leaf blight by *Cercosporidium punctum* is another fungal diseases of dill. Small, necrotic flecks on leaves which develop a chlorotic halo and expand into tan brown necrotic spots; lesions coalesce and cause leaves to wither, curl and die is the symptoms of the fungus. Other plant diseases of dill include: damping-off (*Pythium* spp. and *Rhizoctonia solani*) and *Peronospora umbellifarum* (http://www.cabi.org/cpc/datasheet/3472).

10. Capsicum annuum L.

Common name: There are more than 200 common names in use for this species. The most common include chilli pepper, paprika (sweet varieties); bell pepper, cayenne, halapenos, chilepin (hot varieties); and Christmas peppers (ornamental).

Kingdom Plantae Order Solanales FamilySolanaceaeGenusCapsicumSpeciesC. annuum.

10.1 Description

Capsicum annuum L. is a species of the plant genus *Capsicum* native to southern North America and northern South America (GRIN 2010; Latham 2009). This species is the most common and extensively cultivated of the five domesticated capsicums. The species encompasses a wide variety of shapes and sizes of peppers, both mild and hot, ranging from bell peppers to chili peppers (Francis 2003).

10.2 Some of the important fungal diseases

Diseases caused by Colletotrichum gloeosporioides, C. capsici, C. coccodes, Cercospora capsici, Macrophomina phaseolina, Choanephora cucurbitarum, Rhizoctonia solani, Phytophthora spp., Fusarium spp., Pythium spp., Peronospora tabacina, Fusarium solani, F. oxysporum f.sp. capsici, Stemphylium solani, S. lycopersici, Botrytis cinerea, Phytophthora capsici, Leveillula taurica, Sclerotium rolfsii, Verticillium albo-atrum, V. dahliae and Sclerotinia sclerotiorum are the most important fungal diseases of Capsicum [(Common Names of Diseases, The American Phytopathological Society) (Pepper Diseases (Fact Sheets and Information Bulletins), The Cornell Plant Pathology Vegetable Disease Web Page)].

References

- Acharya SN, Thomas JE, Prasad R, Basu SK (2010) Diseases of fenugreek (*Trigonella foenum-graecum* L.) and their control measures, with special emphasis on fungal diseases. In: Arya A, Perelló AE (eds) Management of fungal plant pathogens. CAB International, pp 245–262
- Acharya K, Chakraborty N, Chatterjee S, Basu SK (2014) Fungal diseases of fenugreek. In: Basu SK, Agoramoorthy G (eds) American journal of social issues and humanities, ISSN: 2276–6928
- Ahmed M, Ashraf M, Akbar G (1989) Poisonous and injurious range plants in Pakistan. Progressive Farming 9:41–44
- Al-Snafi AE (2014) The pharmacological importance and chemical constituents of arctium lappa. a review. Int J Pharm Res Scholars 3(1–1):663–670
- Asadiar LS, Rahmani F, Siami A (2013) Assessment of genetic diversity in the Russian olive (*Elaeagnus angustifolia*) based on ISSR genetic markers. Revista de Ciências Agroveterinárias 44:310–316
- Ash Cynthia L (2013) Verticillium wilt of trees and shrubs, disponibil pe http://www.extension. umn.edu/garden/yard-garden/trees-shrubs/verticillium-wilt/
- Bansal RK, Gupta RK (2000) Evaluation of plant extracts against *Fusarium oxysporum*, wilt pathogen of fenugreek. Indian phytopathol 53(1):107–108

- Basu SK, Acharya SN, Thomas JE (2006) A report on powdery mildew infestations caused by *Erysiphe polygoni* D.C. In North American grown fenugreek. J Mycopathological Res 44(2): 253–256
- Benham SE, Houston Durrant T, Caudullo G, de Rigo D (2016) Taxus baccata in Europe: distribution, habitat, usage and threats. In: San-Miguel-Ayanz J, de Rigo D, Caudullo G, Houston Durrant T, Mauri A (eds.) European Atlas of Forest Tree Species. Publ. Off. EU, Luxembourg, pp e015921+
- Bown D (1995) Encyclopaedia of herbs and their uses. Dorling Kindersley, London. ISBN 0-7513-020-31
- Bubici G (2015) First formal identification of *Erysiphe heraclei* causing powdery mildew on dill (*Anethum graveolens*) in Italy. New Dis Rep 31(22). http://dx.doi.org/10.5197/j.2044-0588. 2015.031.022
- Bukvayova N (2007) *Cryptocline taxicola* (All.) Petr.—A new plant pathogen reported in Slovak Republic. Plant Prot Sci 43(3):122–124
- Common Names of Diseases, The American Phytopathological Society
- Coutuna O, Sumalan R, Sarateanu V, Paraschivu M, Durau C (2014) Diagnosis of *Verticillium* sp. Fungus from sea buckthorn (*Hippophae rhamnoides* L.). Res J Agric Sci 46(1)
- Dar ZA, Khan MH, Shabir A (2014) Status of different diseases on kalazira, *Bunium persicum* in Kashmir valley. Indian J Plant Prot 42(1):94–96
- Dar ZA, Zeerak N, Wani SA, Khan M (2011) Morpho-characterization of different populations of black caraway (*Bunium persicum* Bioss. Fedts) with respect to yield and yield traits across important growing sites of Kashmir Valley. J Agric Biotechnol Sustain Dev 3:60–64
- Faravani M, Khan MH, Gholami BA, Qazachian GHA, Saghi DA (2015) Variability studies of some black caraway (Bunium persicum Bioss. Fedts) accessions across important growing sites of Iran. Agric Forest 61(3):101–110
- Farjon A, Filer D (2013) An atlas of the world's conifers: an analysis of their distribution, biogeography, diversity and conservation status. Brill, Leiden
- Fonia A, White IR, White JML (2009) Allergic contact dermatitis to Elaeagnus plant (Oleaster). Contact Dermatitis 60:178–179. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0536.2008.01485.x
- Francis JK (2003) Capsicum annuum L. bird pepper (09 Sept 2013). Retrieved 30 Sept 2013
- Grigoryan NV, Aleksanyan AS, Nanagulyan SG (2015) Fungal diseases of medicinal plants in arid woodlands of Armenia. Chem Biol 2:31–33
- GRIN (2010) Germplasm resources information network. United States Department of Agriculture. 1997-01-22. http://www.ars-grin.gov/cgi-bin/npgs/html/taxon.pl?8904. Retrieved 2010-07-29
- Gucker C (2008) Frangula alnus. Fire Effects Information System http://www.Feiscrs.org/feis
- Gupta V, John D, Razdan VK, Gupta SK (2012) First report of tuber rot disease of Kala Zeera caused by a member of the *Fusarium solani* species complex in India. Plant Dis 96:1067
- Hamidpour R, Hamidpour S, Hamidpour M, Shahrali M, Sohraby M, Shahrali N, Hamidpour R (2017) Russian olive (*Elaeagnus angustifolia* L.): from a variety of traditional medicinal applications to its novel roles as active antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, anti- mutagenic and analgestic agent. J Tradit Complement Med 7:24–29
- Hampe A (2005) Fecundity Limits in *Frangula alnus* (Rhamnaceae) Relict Populations at the Species' Southern Range Margin. Oecologia 143(3):377–386
- Hashmi MH, Thrane U (1990) Mycotoxins and other secondary metabolites in spices of *Fusarium* isolated from seeds of capsicum, coriander and fenugreek. Pak J Bot 21:106–116
- Hassler J. Schoch W, Engesser R (2004) Auffällige Stammkrebse an Eiben (*Taxus baccata* L.) im Fürstenwald bei Chur (Graubünden, Schweiz). Schweiz Z Forstwes 155(9):400–403
- Hemery G, Simblet S (2014) The New Sylva: A Discourse of Forest and Orchard Trees for the Twenty-First Century (A&C Black)
- Hiremath PC, Prasad CKPS (1985) Vertical distribution of *Rhizoctonia solani* in soil and effect of culture filtrate on the rhizosphere mycoflora of fenugreek. J Soil Ecol 5(2):126–128
- Howell E, Mink I (1981) Viruses isolated from wild carrot and poison hemlock. Plant Dis 65:277–279

http://espacepourlavie.ca/en/diseased-russian-olive-trees

https://ipm.illinois.edu/diseases/rpds/606.pdf

http://www.alwaysayurveda.com/colchicum-luteum/ http://www.cabi.org/cpc/datasheet/3472

- Khare CP (2007) Indian Medicinal Plants: An Illustrated Dictionary Library of Congress. Springer-Verlag, Springer Science + Business Media LLC, Berlin/Heidelberg. Control Number: 2007922446, ISBN: 978-0-387-70637-5
- Khare MN, Tiwari SP, Sharma YK (2014) Disease problems in fennel (*Foeniculum vulgare* Mill) and fenugreek (*Trigonella foenum- graceum* L.) cultivation and their management for production of quality pathogen free seeds. Int J Seed Spices 4(2):11–17
- Kiseleva T, Chindyaeva L (2011) Biology of Oleaster (*Elaeagnus angustifolia* L.) at the Northeastern Limit of Its Range. Contemp Probl Ecol 4:218–222
- Koike ST, Glawe DA (2009) First report of powdery mildew of poison-hemlock caused by *Erysiphe heraclei* in North America. Plant Health Prog doi:10.1094/PHP-2009-0312-01-BR
- Komaraiah M, Reddy SM (1986) Influence of humidity on seed deterioration of methi (*Trigonella foenum-graecum*) seeds by some seed-borne fungi. Indian J Mycol Plant Pathol 16:77–79
- Latham E (2009) The colourful world of chillies. Stuff.co.nz. http://www.stuff.co.nz/life-style/ food-wine/1756288. Retrieved 08 Mar 2009
- Leifan X, Hyde Kevin D, Yang Q, Meiliang Y, Ma R, Tian CHM (2015) *Cytospora* species associated with canker disease of three anti-desertification plants in northwestern China. Phytotaxa 197(4):227–244
- Lewandowski A, Burczyk J, Mejnartowicz L (1995) Genetic structure of english yew (*Taxus baccata* L.) in the Wierzchlas Reserve: implications for genetic conservation. For Ecol Manage 73:221–227
- Li TSC (2003) Taxonomy, natural distribution and botany. In: Li, TSC, Beveridge T (eds) Sea Buckthorn (Hippophae rhamnoides L.): production and utilization. NRC Research Press, Ottawa, ON, pp 7–11
- Linares JC (2013) Shifting limiting factors for population dynamics and conservation status of the endangered English yew (*Taxus baccata* L., Taxaceae). For Ecol Manage 291:119–127
- Liu M., Hambleton S (2013) Mycological progress, 12 (63)
- Mekkonen Y (1994) A survey of plants (potentially) toxic to livestock in the Ethiopian flora. Ethiop J Sci 17:9–32
- Mirski W (2008) Fungi colonizing shoots common Yew (*Taxus baccata* L.) in the Jagiellonian University Botanic Garden in Cracow. Acta Agrobotanica 61(1):191–197
- Motaleb MA (2011) Selected medicinal plants of Chittagong Hill Tracts. In: Hossain MK, Sobhan I, Khairul Alam M, Khan NA, Firuz R (eds), IUCN, (Bangladesh Country Office)
- Murphy HC (1935) Physiologic specialization in Puccinia coronata avenae, vol 433 of *Technical Bulletins*, United States Department of Agricultur
- NMPB (2008) Agro-techniques of selected medicinal plants (vol 1), National Medicinal Plants Board, Department of AYUSH, Ministry of Health and Family Welfare Government of India
- Palti J (1959) Oidiopsis diseases of vegetable and legume crops in Israel. Plant Dis Rep 43(2): 221–226
- Parvaze AS, Zeerak NA, Singh P (2009) Kala zeera (*Bunium persicum* Bioss.): a Kashmirian high value crop. Turk J Biol 33:249–258
- Pepper Diseases (Fact Sheets and Information Bulletins), The Cornell Plant Pathology Vegetable Disease Web Page
- Petropoulos GA (1973) Agronomic genetic and chemical studies of *Trigonella foenum-graecum* L. Ph.D. thesis, Bath University, UK
- Petropoulos GA (2002) Fenugreek—the genus Trigonella. Taylor and Francis, London and New York, pp 120–127
- Pierre D, Francis R (2000) Detection and isolation of soil fungi. Science Publishers Inc, Enfield, New Hampshire
- Possessky SL, Moriarity WJ (2000) Glossy buckthorn, Rhamnus frangula L., a threat to riparian plant communities of the northern Allegheny plateau (USA). Nat Areas J 20(3):290–292

- Prasad R, Acharya S, Erickson S, Thomas J (2014) Identification of Cercospora leaf spot resistance among fenugreek accessions and characterization of the pathogen. Australian J Crop Sci 8 (6):822–830
- Rouk HF, Mangesha H (1963) Fenugreek (*Trigonella foenumgraecum* L.). Its relationship, geography and economic importance. Experimental Station Bulletin of the Empirical Ethiopian Cooperative of Agriculture and Mechanical Arts 20
- Rousi A (1971) The genus Hippophae L., a taxonomic study. Ann Botanici Fenn 8:177-227
- Ruan CJ, Rumpunen K, Nybom H (2013) Advances in improvement of quality and resistance of a multipurpose crop: sea buckthorn. Crit Rev Biotechnol 33(2):126–144
- Rushforth K (1999) Trees of Britain and Europe. Collins ISBN 0-00-220013-9
- Saboonchian F, Jamei R, Hosseini Sarghein S (2014) Phenolic and flavonoid content of *Elaeagnus* angustifolia L. (leaf and flower). Avicenna J phytomedicine 4:231–238
- Sahan Y, Dundar AN, Aydin E, Kilci A, Dulger D, Kaplan FB, Gocmen D, Celik G (2013) Characteristics of cookies supplemented with oleaster (*Elaeagnus ngustifolia* L.) Flour. I physicochemical, sensorial and textural properties. J Agric 5:160–168
- Silva NCC, Fernandes Junior A (2010) Biological properties of medicinal plants: a review of their antimicrobial activity. J Venomous Anim Toxins including Trop Dis 16(3):402–413
- Strouts RG, Winter TG (1994) Diagnosis of ill- health in trees (HMSO), For Forestry Commission, London. pp X + 307
- Suryakumar G, Gupta A (2011) Medicinal and therapeutic potential of Sea buckthorn (*Hippophae rhamnoides* L). J Ethnopharmacol 138:268–278
- Taheri JB, Anbari F, Maleki Z, Boostani S, Zarghi A, Pouralibaba F (2010) Efficacy of Elaeagnus angustifolia topical gel in the treatment of symptomatic oral lichen planus. J Dent Res Dent Clin Dent Prospects 4:29–32
- Thomas PA, Polwart A (2003) *Taxus baccata* L. biological flora of the British Isles 229. J Ecol 91:489–524
- Vetter J (2004) Poison hemlock (Conium maculatum L.). Food Chem Toxicol 42:1373–1382
- Walker JC (1952) Diseases of vegetable crops. McGraw-Hill Book Co Inc, London
- Wani SA, Kumar P (2016) Fenugreek: areview on its nutraceutical properties and utilization in various food products. J Saudi Soc Agric Sci (ARTICLE IN PRESS) xxx, xxx-xxx
- Wulf A, Pehl L (2002) Needle disease on *Taxus baccata* caused by *Cryptocline taxicola*. In: Proceedings IUFRO Working Party, Shoot and Foliage Diseases, Hyytiala, pp 198–201
- www.btny.purdue.edu/weedscience

www.tipdisease.com/2014/11/benefits-of-alder-buckthorn-rhamnus.html

 $www.Worldagroforestry.org/treedb/AFTPDFS/Hippophae_rhamnoides.PDF$

- Zecchin B, Caudullo G, de Rigo D (2016) *Frangula alnus* in Europe: distribution, habitat, usage and threats. In: San-Miguel- Ayanz J, de Rigo D, Caudullo G, Houston Durrant T, Mauri A (eds) European Atlas of Forest Tree Species. Publ. Off. EU, Luxembourg, pp. e019ee2+
- Zendehdel M, Torabi Z, Hassanpour S (2015) Antinociceptive mechanisms of *Bunium persicum* essential oil in the mouse writhing test: role of opioidergic and histaminergic systems. Vet Med 60(2):63–70
- Zimmer RC (1984) Cercospora leaf spot and powdery mildew of fenugreek, a potential new crop in Canada. Can Plant Dis Surv 64(2):33–35

Weed and Weeding Effects on Medicinal Herbs

Alessandra Carrubba

Abstract Competition with weeds exerts significant depressive effects on yield and quality features of Medicinal Plants (MPs). According to the crop, the part of plant to be harvested, the environmental features (including cropping technique) and the severity of infestation, yield losses due to the presence of weeds may vary within wide intervals. Furthermore, unlike the majority of other crops, MPs are cultivated with the goal to obtain relevant quantities of specific secondary metabolites, whose final quantity determines the quality level (and, consequently, the market value) of the harvested drug. Almost all papers addressed to this topic agree on the statement that unrestricted weed growth may alter MP production also from the qualitative point of view, that is, determining an overall decrease in the yield of active substances for unit area. In part, this outcome can be attributed to the general decrease of harvestable biomass, but in some cases also modifications of crop metabolic pathways have been observed, resulting in a general unpredictability of the chemical characteristics of the product obtained in weedy fields. Competition with weeds may assume a different severity according to the time and duration of competition period. In the starting phases of cultivation, the outcome of an early weed infestation is expected to be severe, since very often weeds grow much faster than crops. The maximum tolerance period, i.e. the period when weeding operations must be started, varies according to the tolerated loss values, and in annual crops the time span when fields must be kept totally weed-free may cover more than 60% of the entire crop cycle. The tools that are used for weeds removal may affect MPs production in many ways. Chemical treatments have been studied with contrasting results, but an interference of herbicides with the metabolism of secondary products was found in some cases. Furthermore, the interest in growing MPs with organic or environmentally friendly methods is increasing. Hence, besides the traditional (and highly expensive) method of hand-weeding, other non-chemical methods are studied, including mechanical treatments, mulching, flaming, and even grazing by goats or lambs. There is scope for further research, embracing a larger number of

A. Carrubba (🖂)

Dept. of Agricultural, Food and Forest Sciences, University of Palermo, Viale Delle Scienze, Edif. 4, Ingr. L, Palermo, Italy e-mail: alessandra.carrubba@unipa.it

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

M. Ghorbanpour and A. Varma (eds.), *Medicinal Plants and Environmental Challenges*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-68717-9_17

MPs and different environments, also including the effects of weeds on MPs metabolic pathways.

Keywords Competition • Yields • Essential oil (EO) • Weeding management • Critical period for weed control (CPWD) • Relative losses (RL)

Introduction

Although a role in maintaining sustainability of agro-ecosystems (providing for example habitat for beneficial insects, or enhancing the overall biodiversity level of farm) is today acknowledged to weeds (Kristiansen et al. 2001), they are mostly considered a major issue for all crops. Their presence in cultivated fields is not only an obstacle to mechanization and proper field management, but is also responsible for yield shortage and decreased quality. It is generally assumed that injuries caused by weeds are tightly dependant upon many factors, including the severity of weed infestation (i.e. the total amount of weeds retrievable in cultivated fields) and its duration (i.e. the time span of crop-weed interference). In many "major" crops, such as wheat, maize or cotton, much research has been done to evaluate the effects exerted by competing weeds, and many aspects of the crop-weed relationships have been examined. Both quantitative yield losses and effects on quality have been largely studied, and much information is available about weed effects within a range of different conditions, i.e. with variable duration of competition, contrasting nutrient availability, and so on. Otherwise, in Medicinal Plants (MPs), research about this topic is sparse, also due to some very specific features of these crops. A first important issue is linked to what exactly is termed "yield": whereas in some MPs the whole plant is harvested, in others only a special plant part (very commonly the reproductive fraction) has a commercial value. In either cases, the outcome of weed interference will be dramatically different, as well as the tactics and tools to minimize yield shortage.

The aspects concerning quality issues are even less argumented; weeds are generally reputed to be responsible for a reduction in harvested crop quality, but apart from this very general statement, scarce attention has been devoted to evaluate in detail the effects of competing weeds on the various plant traits that concur in forming crop quality. In MPs this issue may be crucial, because they owe their economical importance to the presence of special plant metabolites, whose production and storage may be affected by weed competition in an unpredictable way. In this paper, an attempt is made to collect information available from the worldwide literature on the effects of weeds on MPs.

Medicinal Plants and Weeds

There is general agreement about the necessity to remove weeds from cultivated stands of MPs, and almost all technical papers providing indications for cultivation clearly state that MPs fields must be kept weed free as much, and as long, as possible. De la Fuente et al. (2003) demonstrated that on biomass and seeds yield of coriander, especially under poor soil conditions, weeding had a greater effect than did N fertilization. Furthermore, the absence of weeds from herbal products is mandatory in order to declare their high quality, irrespective whether they come from cultivation or wild collecting (FAH 2003). Yet, a surprisingly reduced number of works have been expressely addressed to the evaluation of the effects that weeds may exert on MPs. Studies about this topic are scattered in the world literature, and very rarely the argument is treated in detail.

MPs have the distinguishing property to be graded by the market according to their content in active components, i.e., the special metabolites that confer to them their medicinal properties. In many cases, these metabolites are synthesized by plants under environmental stress conditions; as competition with weeds is a special and often severe cause of stress, it should be argued that the best conditions for producing medicinal metabolites would be under weedy conditions. Actually, experiments all over the world have demonstrated that this is seldom true, and MPs response to weeds is widely variable according to crop species, metabolites of interest, but also environmental conditions, and characteristics (severity, duration, and composition) of weed population. It is widely recognised that a proper cultivation technique, by inducing modifications in MPs' growth environment, may lead to significant variations of plant secondary metabolism, and therefore may be a useful tool to tailor the content of some specially welcomed active compounds (Palevitch 1991; Canter et al. 2005). Of course, this approach needs a in-depth knowledge of mechanisms underlying secondary metabolites production, and it requires as well an exact view of the scope of the cultivation. Technical management, in fact, will be different whether the cultivation is addressed to obtain plant biomass, or some special part of it, and it should be clear as well which compound, or mixture of compounds, will be of marketable interest. For these reasons, the topic of weed and weeding effects on medicinal plants will be treated taking into consideration first, the overall effects of competition on the productive behaviour of medicinal plants, and then, the various outcomes of weeds in such crops, discussing separately (whenever possible) the effects on the whole plant, those on yield components, and the effects on the secondary metabolites.

Effects of Intra- and Interspecific Competition in Medicinal Plants

As known, intra-specific competition is due to the simultaneous presence of many individuals of the same species, whereas inter-specific competition occurs when two or more species grow together. The first is the case of usual monoculture, where the yield per area unit is obtained by the simple combination between the average vield of one plant and the value of plant population. In most cases, the average vield per plant is inversely correlated to plant density: the higher the plant population, the lower the unitary plant mass, and vice versa (Weiner and Freckleton 2010). Many studies about the effect of plant population on biomass yield of MPs have confirmed this general trend, and this effect was shown to be achieved by means of a number of morphological adjustments. Plants of Salvia officinalis were smaller at high densities, because of a lower number of leaves per plant and a reduced leaf size (Bezzi et al. 1992; Karamanos 2000); in Artemisia absinthium a lower density was accompanied by a higher unitary plant mass, as plants were taller and more branched (Maw et al. 1985); in Asparagus racemosus, Tewari and Misra (1996) measured a higher fresh weight and number of roots per plant under wider spacings; fennel (Foeniculum vulgare Mill) exhibited a higher number of ramification and umbels per plant when sown at wider spacings (Al-Dalain et al. 2012). Hence, provided there is a satisfactory level of water and nutrients in the soil, a high number of plants per unit area seems to be compensated for by the reduction of unitary plant mass, and the maximum areic yield is obtained when any increase in plants density is exactly counterbalanced by a decrease in unitary plant mass. In some cases, however, other mechanisms take some relevance. One of these is self-thinning, that is a self-arrangement mechanism that has been recorded in several plants, including some MPs. In this case plant populations, irrespective of their starting values, tend spontaneously to converge to a common value, whose level is mostly depending upon resource availability. For example in A. absinthium, after the first year of cultivation, different plant stands were shown to converge to a density of 20 plants per 625 cm² (Maw et al. 1985).

When the harvestable yield is not the entire plant biomass, but only a part of it (flowers, or seeds, or roots), the outcome of the relationship between yield and density starts to be influenced by the intra-plant competition for the allocation of resources, i.e. the competition between the different organs of the same plant. In this case, the optimum plant population level will be different (and often lower) than the one indicated for maximizing the whole plant biomass. A number of works have been carried out which put in relation seeding rate or plant population, by one side, and marketable yields, by the other. In same examples, such as *Nigella sativa* (Moghaddam and Motlagh 2007) or *Cuminum cyminum* (Shakeri et al. 2015), similarly to single-plant biomass, also seeds yield per plant was found to decrease with increasing plant density. When the total seeds yield for unit area is taken into account, however, very commonly a linear increase is observed until a specific

density level, and once it is reached, seeds yield starts decreasing (Falzari et al. 2006; Shakeri et al. 2015).

An additional feature that is typical of MPs, is that in such plants, cultivation is addressed to obtain relevant quantities of specific plant compounds, or mixtures of compounds. Being affected by all those environmental factors that variously influence plant growth, also the production of plant secondary metabolites may be modified by competition effects. These effects do not necessarily have the same trend of the raw matter that they are extracted from, and farmers may face the necessity to choose if the desired product is represented by essential oil or by herbal product. Several researches have taken into consideration the effects of intra- and inter- specific competition on the yield and composition of secondary metabolites from MPs. In plants where the entire biomass is harvested, such as oregano (Origanum vulgare L.), a decrease in essential oil yield was detected as plant density was increasing, although such a decrease had probably to be attributed to the higher percentage of stems and woody parts (having a lower essential oil content) in the harvested material (Scarpa et al. 2004). Otherwise in basil (Ocimum *basilicum L*.), the increased intraspecific competition due to a higher plant population induced a higher essential oil production; hence, a lower density was considered more suitable to obtain fresh herb than essential oil (Putievsky and Galambosi 1999). In Thymus vulgaris L., the wider the spacing, the greater were the yields of essential oil per plant; however, closer spacing significantly increased the yield of oil per unit area (Shalby and Razin 1992).

In species where the essential oil is obtained from harvested seeds, contrasting results may be found in the literature about the effect of plant population on essential oil content. EO percentage resulted unaffected in Carum copticum (Ghilavizadeh et al. 2013), whereas in fennel (Foeniculum vulgare Mill), the maximum essential oil percentage was obtained with the minimum plant density, and vice versa (Khorshidi et al. 2009). However, things may change when essential oil areic yields are considered, due to the modifications of plant harvestable biomass (i.e. the reproductive fractions), that may be detected with varying plants density. In fennel, some variations of essential oil areic yields were attributed to the different incidence of primary, secondary and tertiary umbels (dealing with different percentages of essential oil) in the harvested biomass (Falzari et al. 2006). The same occurrence was thought to be responsible for the differences in some essential oil components that were found by the same Author: since trans-anethole content increases with umbel maturity, a higher number of high-order, immature umbels (as obtained with wider spacings) would reasonably have been the cause for a decrease in total trans-anethole yield. This could probably explain the variability also found by other Authors (Khorshidi et al. 2009) in some components of essential oil of fennel grown with diverse plant densities. As concerns other species, different spacings did not influence chemical components of silymarin (taxifolin, silychristin etc.) in Silybum marianum Gaertn (Belitz and Sams 2007).

Inter-specific competition is due to the contemporary presence of two species (or more). Within a certain limit, and with a number of exceptions, the effects of inter-specific competition do not differ from those of intra-specific one, and yield of

plants grown in mixture may be different from yield of plants grown alone. This phenomenon is exploited when MPs are grown in intercropping mixtures, including either other MPs or different crops, as experienced for fennel and dill (Carrubba et al. 2008), liquorice and cereals (De Mastro et al. 1993), fenugreek and anise (Mardani et al. 2015), coriander and fenugreek (Pouryousef et al. 2015), chickpea and black cumin (Gholinezhad and Rezaei Chiyaneh 2015). However, the mechanisms underlying, and the outcome of cultivation, are probably more complex than in the intra-specific case. Hence to choose the best-yielding intercropping mixture is not a simple task, since the ratio between intercropped plants must be finely tuned according to the species and the environmental conditions, and even when sowing rates and crop management are carefully planned, the outcome of cultivation may be extremely variable.

Weed Population in Medicinal Plants

Since the works about weeds and medicinal plants are not many, also few are the available lists concerning weeds retrieved under the different cropping conditions. Table 1 summarizes the information (name and family, growth habitus-annual, biennial or perennial- and Raunkiaer's life form) collected by means of a search in the literature about weeds retrieved on MPs cultivations. One hundred and six weed species, belonging to 29 botanical family are listed. As expected, weed communities vary with the geographical site of cultivation and with the farming practices in use in each region. No species seems to be "typical" of a certain MP, but some of them are ubiquitous, such as Amaranthus retroflexus, Convolvulus arvensis and Chenopodium album, that have been detected in different environments and cropping conditions. As shown, the majority of retrieved weeds are annual species, whereas fewer are biennials and 26 (about 25%) are perennials. The analysis of the life form spectrum shows the sharp predominance of Therophytes: 66 out of 106 species, i.e. more than 62%, belong to this group, and 9 more may occasionally behave also as Hemicryptophytes or Chamaephytes. Therophytes are followed by Hemicryptophytes (14, i.e. 13% of all retrieved species), and Geophytes (12, i.e. about 11%). Although an excessive generalization would be misleading, due to the huge differences among environments and cropping situations involved, all data converge towards the definition of a general frame, where the level of disturbance is relatively low, compared to that of more intensive and productive cropping systems. As a matter of fact, cropping techniques are a crucial factor in the establishment of weed population (Martínez-Ghersa et al. 2000). In horticultural systems, where crop management is intensive and rotational schemes are narrow, annuals are usually the predominant weeds and Therophytes may reach an incidence close to 100% (Zanin et al. 2001). Interestingly, data from Table 1 reveal instead an overall tendency

checked and upd (tropicos.org). L	ated according to Euro + ife forms were assigned	- Med Pli after Ellé	untBase (v enberg and	www.bgbm.c d Mueller-D	ombois (19	-NRCS (plants.u 065-1966) and P	isda.gov), ignatti (19	US-NPGS (n) 82)	pgsweb.ars-g	rin.gov), 1	ROPICOS
		Hab ^a	ب ب	Anethum graveolens L. (1)	Apiaccae (all) (2)	Cymbopogon winterianus Jowitt.; C. flexuosus (Nees ex Steud.) Wats.; C. Wats. yar. motia Burk.; Ocimum basilicum L. (3)	Curcuma longa L. (4)	Foeniculum vulgare Mill (5, 6, 7)	Hypericum perforatum L. (8)	Mentha arvensis (9)	Muscari comosum (L.) Mill (10)
Amaranthaceae Juss.	Achyranthes aspera L.	Ь	Ch suffr			X					
	Aerva lanata (L.) Schult.	A	Th			X					
	Amaranthus blitoides S. Wats.	¥	Th					X			
	Amaranthus retroflexus L.	A	Th					XX			
	Amaranthus spinosus L.	A	Th				Х				
	Amaranthus viridis L.	A	Th				Х				
	Celosia argentea L.	A	Th			X					
Apiaceae Lindl.	Apium leptophyllum (Pers.) F.Mueller	¥	Th								
	Bowlesia incana Ruiz & Pov.	¥	Th								
Apocynaceae Juss.	Catharanthus roseus (L.) G. Don.	Ч	Ch suffr			X					
										e	continued)

Table 1 Botanical names, growth habitus and Raunkiaer's life form of some weeds retrieved in several surveys about MPs. Denominations of taxa were

Muscari comosum (L.) Mill (10)														x			continued)
Mentha arvensis (9)											X						J
Hypericum perforatum L. (8)							X										
Foeniculum vulgare Mill (5, 6, 7)						x				х					XXX	x	
Curcuma longa L. (4)															X		
Cymbopogon winterianus Jowitt.; C. flexuosus (Nees ex Steud.) Wats.; C. martini (Roxb.) Wats. var. motia Burk.; Ocimum basilicum L. (3)																	
Apiaceae (all) (2)																	
Anethum graveolens L. (1)				X													
г. _Р ,	н	Th	Th	H scap	Th	Th	Th	Th	Th	Th	Th	Th	H scap	Th	Th	Th	
Hab ^a	е	A	A	ч	V	¥	A	A	A	A	A	A	Ь	¥	A	A	
	Capsella bursa-pastoris (L.) Medik.	Coronopus didymus (L.) Sm.	Descurainia sophia (L.) Prantl.	Diplotaxis tenuifolia (L.) DC	Eruca vesicaria (L.) Cav.	Goldbachia laevigata (M. Bieb.) DC.	Lepidium virginicum L.	Raphanus sativus L.	Sinapis alba (L.) Spach	Sisymbrium irio L.	Arenaria serpyllifolia L	Polycarpaea corymbosa (L.) Lam.	Stellaria graminea L.	Stellaria media (L.) Villars.	Chenopodium album L.	Salsola kali L.	
	Brassicaceae Burnett										Caryophyllaceae	Juss			Chenopodiaceae	Vent.	

302

Table 1 (continue)	ued)										
		Hab ^a	^ب ل	Anethum graveolens L. (1)	Apiaceae (all) (2)	Cymbopogon winterianus Jowitt.; C. flexuosus (Nees ex Steud.) wats.; C. Wats. var. motia Burk; Ocimum basilicum L. (3)	Curcuma longa L. (4)	Foeniculum vulgare Mill (5, 6, 7)	Hypericum perforatum L. (8)	Mentha arvensis (9)	Muscari comosum (L.) Mill (10)
Compositae	Bidens pilosa L.	A	Th				X				
Giseke	Carduus nutans L.	A or B	Th/H bienn								
	Cirsium arvense (L.) Scop.	Ч	G rad								x
	Glebionis segeta (L.) Fourr. = Chrysanthemum segetum L	V	Th	×							
	Helminthotheca echioides (L.) Holub	A	Th								
	Launaea nudicaulis (L.) Hook. f.	Ч	Н								
	Matricaria spp.	A	Th		X						
	Parthenium hysterophorus L.	A	Th			x					
	Sonchus arvensis L.	Ρ	Η								
	Sonchus asper (L.) Hill	A,	Th/H		X		X				
		somet. B	bienn								
	Sonchus oleraceus L.	A	Th				X	x			
	Tragopogon spp.	A or P	Th/H					x			
	Tridax procumbens L.	Ρ	Ch			x					
	Tussilago farfara L.	Р	G rhiz		Х						
	Xanthium strumarium L.	А	Th					x			
										J	continued)

Muscari comosum (L.) Mill (10)															continued)
Mentha arvensis (9)			x						X						
Hypericum perforatum L. (8)															
Foeniculum vulgare Mill (5, 6, 7)	XX							X				x			
Curcuma longa L. (4)			x		х		X								
Cymbopogon winterianus Jowitt.; C. flexuosus (Nees ex Steud.) Wats.; C. martinii (Roxb.) Wats. var. motia Burk.; Ocimum basilicum L. (3)		X				X					X				
Apiaceae (all) (2)															
Anethum graveolens L. (1)	X														
۴. ۲	G rhiz	Н	G rhiz	G rhiz	Th	Th	P caesp	G rhiz	Th	Th	Ch	Th/H	ros	Th/H bienn	
Hab ^a	Ь	Ь	Ч	Ч	A	A, somet. P	4	Р	А	A or B	A or P	A,	somet. B or P	A or B	
	Convolvulus arvensis L.	Evolvulus alsinoides L.	Cyperus rotundus L.	Equisetum palustre L.	Acalypha australis L.	Euphorbia hirta L.	Acacia farnesiana (L.) Willd. = Mimosa indica L.	Glycyrrhiza aspera Pall.	Melilotus indicus (L.) All.	Melilotus albus Medik.	Tephrosia purpurea (L.) Pers.	Erodium cicutarium (L.)	L'Hér.	Erodium ciconium (L.) L'Hér.	
	Convolvulaceae		Cyperaceae Juss.	Equisetaceae DC	Euphorbiaceae	Juss.	Fabaceae Lindl.					Geraniaceae Juss.			

Muscari comosum (L.) Mill (10)			X								x	X			continued)
Mentha arvensis (9)															J
Hypericum perforatum L. (8)															
Foeniculum vulgare Mill (5, 6, 7)						X									
Curcuma longa L. (4)									X						
Cymbopogon winterianus Jowitt.; C. flexuosus (Nees ex Steud.) Wats.; C. martini (Roxb.) Wats. var. motia Burk.; Ocimum basilicum L. (3)	X							x					X		
Apiaceae (all) (2)															
Anethum graveolens L. (1)															
LFb	Th	Th	Th	H scap	Th	Th	H scap/Th	Th/Ch rept	G bulb	Ch	Th	Th	Th/Ch	Th	
Hab ^a	A or P	A	А	Р	¥	A	P, rar A	A, rar P	Ь	A	A	A	¥	A	
	Hyptis suaveolens (L.) Poit. = Mesosphaerum suaveolens (L.) Kuntze	Lamium amplexicaule L.	Lamium purpureum L.	Leonurus cardiaca L.	Abutilon theophrasti Medik.	Malva neglecta Wallr.	Malva sylvestris L	Boerhavia diffusa L.	Oxalis corymbosa DC	Argemone mexicana L.	Fumaria officinalis L.	Papaver rhoeas L.	Phyllanthus amarus Schum. et Thonn.	Phyllanthus niruri L.	
	Lamiaceae Lindl.				Malvaceae Juss.			Nyctaginaceae Juss.	Oxalidaceae	Papaveraceae	Juss.		Phyllanthaceae		

Muscari comosum (L.) Mill (10)											continued)
Mentha arvensis (9)						X				x	
Hypericum perforatum L. (8)								X	x		
Foeniculum vulgare Mill (5, 6, 7)									XX		
Curcuma longa L. (4)					x		x			x	
Cymbopogon winterianus Jowitt:, C. flexuosus (Nees ex Steud.) Wats.; C. martinii (Roxb.) Wats. var. motia Burk.; Ocimum basilicum L. (3)	x		X	X							
Apiaceae (all) (2)		x									
Anethum graveolens L. (1)		x									
Ľ	H caesp	Th	H caesp	G rhiz/H rept	Th	Th	Th	Th	Th	Th	
Hab ^a	Ч	P	A or P	4	¥	V	V	V	V	A	
	Aristida adscensionis L.	Avena fatua L.	Chloris barbata Sw	Cynodon dactylon (L.) Pers.	Digitaria ciliaris (Retz.) Koeler	Digitaria ischaemum (Schreb.) Muhl.	Digitaria radicosa (J.Presl.)Miq. = D. timorensis (Kunth) Balansa	Digitaria sanguinalis (L.) Scop.	Echinochloa crus-galli L. (P.Beauv.)	Eleusine indica (L.) Gaertn.	
	Poaceae Barnhart										

306

	Hab ^a	LF ^b	Anethum	Apiaceae	Cymbopogon	Curcuma	Foeniculum	Hypericum	Mentha	Muscari
			graveolens L. (1)	(all) (2)	winterianus Jowitt.; C. flexuosus (Nees ex Steud.) Wate · C	longa L. (4)	vulgare Mill (5, 6, 7)	perforatum L. (8)	arvensis (9)	comosum (L.) Mill (10)
					martinii (Roxb.) Wats. var. motia Burk.; Ocimum basilicum L. (3)					
Elytrigia repens (L.) Nevski = Elymus repens (L.) Gould	۵_	G rhiz/H caesp		x						
Lolium multiflorum Lam.	A or P	Th/H scan	x							X
Ochlopoa annua (L.) H. Scholz = Poa annua L.	V	Th							X	
Panicum capillare L.	A	Th						X		
Panicum repens L.	Ь	G rhiz				x				
Paspalum distichum L.	Ь	G rhiz				×				
Phalaris spp.	A	Th					X			
Rottboellia exaltata L.	V	Th				x				
t. = K. cochinchinensis (Lour.) W.D. Clayton										
Setaria viridis (L.) P. Beauv.	V	Th					XX	x		
Setaria pumila (Poir.)	A	Th						X		
Roem.& Schult. = Setaria glauca L.										
Setaria faberi Herrm.	A	Th								
Sorghum halepense (L.) Pers.	4	G rhiz								
LCIS.										

Muscari comosum (L) Mill (10)								×									ontinued)
Mentha arvensis (9)																	<u>)</u>
Hypericum perforatum L. (8)				X								X		X			
Foeniculum vulgare Mill (5, 6, 7)			×		x								x				
Curcuma longa L. (4)													X				
Cymbopogon winterianus Jowitt.; C. flexuosus (Nees ex Steud.) Wats.; C. martinii (Roxb.) Wats. var. motia Burk.; Ocimum basilicum L. (3)										x						X	
Apiaceae (all) (2)	X					X											
Anethum graveolens L. (1)																	
fu L	Th	Th	H scap	Th	Th	H scap/Th	Th	Th	Th	Th	Th	Th	Th	H scap	Н	Th	
Hab ^a	A	A	Ь	A	A	B, rar P or A	A	A	A	A	A	Ч	A	Ь	в	A	
	Polygonum aviculare L.	Polygonum convolvulus L.	Rumex crispus L.	Portulaca oleracea L.	Anagallis arvensis L.	Reseda luteola L.	Galium aparine L.	Veronica hederifolia L.	Veronica persica Poir.	Datura metel L.	Datura stramonium L.	Physalis subglabrata Mack. and Bush.	Solanum nigrum L.	Solanum carolinense L.	Asphodelus tenuifolius L.	Tribulus terrestris L.	
	Polygonaceae			Portulacaceae Juss.	Primulaceae Vent.	Resedaceae Gray	Rubiaceae	Scrophulariaceae	Juss.	Solanaceae					Xanthorrhoeaceae	Zygophyllaceae R.Br.	

308

Table 1 (contin	ued)									
		Hab ^a	LF ^b	Nepeta cataria L. (8)	Nigella sativa L. (11, 12)	Origanum vulgare L. (13)	Plantago ovata Forsk (14)	Rosmarinus officinalis L. (15–16)	Silybum marianum Gaertn, (17, 18)	Thymus vulgaris L. (19)
Amaranthaceae Juss.	Achyranthes aspera L.	Ь	Ch suffr	2			,	× ×	~	
	Aerva lanata (L.) Schult.	A	Th							
	Amaranthus blitoides S. Wats.	A	Th						X	
	Amaranthus retroflexus L.	P	Th		X				XX	
	Amaranthus spinosus L.	A	Th							
	Amaranthus viridis L.	A	Th				X			
	Celosia argentea L.	A	Th							
Apiaceae Lindl.	Apium leptophyllum (Pers.) F. Mueller	A	Th			Х				
	Bowlesia incana Ruiz & Pov.	A	Th			Х				
Apocynaceae Juss.	Catharanthus roseus (L.) G. Don.	Ь	Ch suffr							
Brassicaceae Burnett	Capsella bursa-pastoris (L.) Medik.	в	Н		X			X		
	Coronopus didymus (L.) Sm.	A	Th			X				
	Descurainia sophia (L.) Prantl.	A	Th		X					
	Diplotaxis tenuifolia (L.) DC	Р	H scap							
	Eruca vesicaria (L.) Cav.	А	Th					X		
	Goldbachia laevigata (M. Bieb.) DC.	A	Th							
	Lepidium virginicum L.	А	Th							
	Raphanus sativus L.	А	Th			Х				
	Sinapis alba (L.) Spach	А	Th					X		
	Sisymbrium irio L.	А	Th			Х				
Caryophyllaceae	Arenaria serpyllifolia L	А	Th							
Juss	Polycarpaea corymbosa (L.) Lam.	А	Th				x			
	Stellaria graminea L.	Ь	H scap		X					
	Stellaria media (L.) Villars.	A	Th			Х				
										(continued)

Weed and Weeding Effects on Medicinal Herbs

Thymus vulgaris L. (19)					x	X												x				continued)
Silybum marianum Gaertn. (17, 18)	XX			XX												X	x	XX				
Rosmarinus officinalis L. (15, 16)					x	x				x								x			X	
Plantago ovata Forsk (14)	X						x													x		
Origanum vulgare L. (13)	X		×																			
Nigella sativa L. (11, 12)	x									Х								x				
Nepeta cataria L. (8)																						
ГЪр	ft ft	Th	Th/H hienn	G rad	fT.	ЧТ	Н	Th	Th	Н	Th/H	bienn	Th	Th/H	Ċ	G rhiz	Th	G rhiz	Н	G rhiz	G rhiz	
Hab ^a	V V	V	A or B	Ь	۲	¥	Ь	P	V	Ь	A,	somet. B	P	A or P	Ь	Ь	V	Ь	Ь	Ь	Ь	
	Chenopodium album L. Salsola kali L.	Bidens pilosa L.	Carduus nutans L.	Cirsium arvense (L.) Scop.	Glebionis segeta (L.) Fourr. = Chrysanthemum segetum L	Helminthotheca echioides (L.) Holub	Launaea nudicaulis (L.) Hook. f.	Matricaria spp.	Parthenium hysterophorus L.	Sonchus arvensis L.	Sonchus asper (L.) Hill		Sonchus oleraceus L.	Tragopogon spp.	Tridax procumbens L.	Tussilago farfara L.	Xanthium strumarium L.	Convolvulus arvensis L.	Evolvulus alsinoides L.	Cyperus rotundus L.	Equisetum palustre L.	
	Chenopodiaceae Vent.	Compositae	Giseke															Convolvulaceae		Cyperaceae Juss.	Equisetaceae DC	

310

Table 1 (contin	(peq)					-			-	
		Hab ^a	LF ^b	Nepeta cataria L. (8)	Nigella sativa L. (11, 12)	Origanum vulgare L. (13)	Plantago ovata Forsk (14)	Rosmarinus officinalis L. (15, 16)	Silybum marianum Gaertn. (17, 18)	Thymus vulgaris L. (19)
Euphorbiaceae	Acalypha australis L.	A	Th							
Juss.	Euphorbia hirta L.	Α,	Th							
		somet. P								
Fabaceae Lindl.	Acacia farnesiana (L.) Willd. = Mimosa indica L.	Ь	P caesp							
	Glycyrrhiza aspera Pall.	Ь	G rhiz							
	Melilotus indicus (L.) All.	Α	Th							
	Melilotus albus Medik.	A or B	Th				Х			
	Tephrosia purpurea (L.) Pers.	A or P	Ch							
Geraniaceae Juss.	Erodium cicutarium (L.) L'Hér.	Α,	H/H							
		somet.	ros							
		D 01 L								
	Erodium ciconium (L.) L'Hér.	A or B	Th/H bienn					X		
Lamiaceae Lindl.	Hyptis suaveolens (L.)	A or P	Th							
	Poit. = Mesosphaerum suaveolens (L.) Kuntze									
	Lamium amplexicaule L.	Α	Th			X		X		
	Lamium purpureum L.	A	Th							
	Leonurus cardiaca L.	Ρ	H scap						х	
Malvaceae Juss.	Abutilon theophrasti Medik.	Α	Th						х	
	Malva neglecta Wallr.	Α	Th							
	Malva sylvestris L	P, rar	Н					X		X
		А	scap/Th							
Nyctaginaceae Juss.	Boerhavia diffusa L.	A, rar P	Th/Ch rept							
	_		-						_	(continued)

Silybum Thymus marianum vulgaris L. Gaertn. (17, 18) (19)			x									×														
Rosmarinus officinalis L. (15, 16)			x	x								×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×
Plantago ovata Forsk (14)		x				x						×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	× ×	× ×	× ×	× ×	× ×	× ×	× ×
Origanum vulgare L. (13)							_																			
Nigella sativa L. (11, 12)			×																		×	×	×	×	×	×
Nepeta cataria L. (8)																										
LFb	G bulb	c	μŢ	ť	Th/Ch	μŢ		Н	H caesp	H caesp Th	H caesp H Caesb	H caesp H Caesp	H caesp H caesp G G	H caesp Th H caesp G G rhiz/H rept	H caesp Th H H caesp G G C Th Th	H caesp Th H H caesp C G G Caesp C Caesp Th Th Th Th	H caesp H H H H rhiz/H rept Th Th	H caesp Th H caesp C d hhiz/H Th Th Th	H caesp Th H H caesp G G Th rept Th Th	H caesp Th H H Caesp G G H thir H Caesp Caesp Th Th Th	Н саевр Н Н саевр С Саевр С С П Н тр тр Т Т Т Т Т Т Т Т Т Т Т Т Т Т Т Т Т	H caesp H H H caesp C G G H hiz H T T T T T T T T T T T	H caesp Th H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H H In H Th Th	H caesp H H H caesp caesp caesp rept Th Th Th Th Th Th Caesp C C C C C C C C C C C C C	H caesp H H caesp caesp caesp rept Th Th Th Th Th Th Th Th Th Th	H caesp H H caesp C caesp rept T T h T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T T
Hab ^a	Ь	A	A	A	A	A		Ь	Ь	P A	P A A or P	P A or P	P A or P P	P A or P P	P A or P A or P	P A P A Or P	P AorP A AorP A AorA	P A A or P A A A A A	P A or P	P A or P A or P A or A A or A A or A A A A A A A A A A	P A or P P A or P A A A	P A or P P A or P A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	P A or P P A or P A A A A	P A OT P A A OT P A A OT P A A A OT P A A OT P A A A OT P A A A OT P A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	P A or P A or P A or P A or P A or P A or P	P A OT P A A A OT P A A A OT P A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A
	Oxalis corymbosa DC	Argemone mexicana L.	Fumaria officinalis L.	Papaver rhoeas L.	Phyllanthus amarus Schum. et Thonn.	Phyllanthus niruri L.		Aristida adscensionis L.	Aristida adscensionis L.	Aristida adscensionis L. Avena fatua L.	Aristida adscensionis L. Avena fatua L. Chloris barbata Sw	Aristida adscensionis L. Avena fatua L. Chloris barbata Sw Cvnodon dartvlon (1.) Pers	Aristida adscensionis L. Avena fatua L. Chloris barbata Sw Cynodon dactylon (L.) Pers.	Aristida adscensionis L. Avena fatua L. Chloris barbata Sw Cynodon dactylon (L.) Pers.	Aristida adscensionis L. Avena fatua L. Chloris barbata Sw Cynodon dactylon (L.) Pers. Digitaria ciliaris (Retz.) Koeler	Aristida adscensionis L. Avena fatua L. Chloris barbata Sw Cynodon dactylon (L.) Pers. Digitaria ciliaris (Retz.) Koeler Digitaria ischaemum (Schreb.) Muhl.	Aristida adscensionis L. Avena fatua L. Chloris barbata Sw Cynodon dactylon (L.) Pers. Digitaria ciliaris (Retz.) Koeler Digitaria ischaemum (Schreb.) Muhl. Digitaria radicosa (J.Presl.)	Aristida adscensionis L. Avena fatua L. Chloris barbata Sw Cynodon dactylon (L.) Pers. Digitaria ciliaris (Retz.) Koeler Digitaria ischaemum (Schreb.) Muhl. Digitaria radicosa (J.Presl.) Miq. = D. timorensis (Kunth)	Aristida adscensionis L. Avena fatua L. Chloris barbata Sw Cynodon dactylon (L.) Pers. Digitaria ciliaris (Retz.) Koeler Digitaria ischaemum (Schreb.) Muhl. Digitaria radicosa (J.Presl.) Miq. = D. timorensis (Kunth) Balarsa	Aristida adscensionis L. Avena fatua L. Chloris barbata Sw Cynodon dactylon (L.) Pers. Digitaria ciliaris (Retz.) Koeler Digitaria ischaemum (Schreb.) Muh. Digitaria radicosa (J.Presl.) Miq. = D. timorensis (Kunth) Balansa Digitaria sanguinalis (L.) Scop.	Aristida adscensionis L. Avena fatua L. Chloris barbata Sw Cynodon dactylon (L.) Pers. Digitaria ciliaris (Retz.) Koeler Digitaria ischaemum (Schreb.) Muh. Digitaria radicosa (J.Presl.) Miq. = D. timorensis (Kunth) Balansa Digitaria sanguinalis (L.) Scop. Echinochloa crus-galli L. (P.	Aristida adscensionis L. Avena fatua L. Chloris barbata Sw Cynodon dactylon (L.) Pers. Digitaria ciliaris (Retz.) Koeler Digitaria ischaemum (Schreb.) Muh. Digitaria radicosa (J.Presl.) Miq. = D. timorensis (Kunth) Balansa Digitaria sanguinalis (L.) Scop. Echinochloa crus-galli L. (P. Beauv.)	Aristida adscensionis L. Avena fatua L. Chloris barbata Sw Cynodon dactylon (L.) Pers. Digitaria ciliaris (Retz.) Koeler Digitaria ischaemum (Schreb.) Muh. Digitaria radicosa (J.Presl.) Miq. = D. timorensis (Kunth) Balansa Digitaria sanguinalis (L.) Scop. Echinochloa crus-galli L. (P. Beauv.) Eleusine indica (L.) Gaertn.	Aristida adscensionis L. Avena fatua L. Chloris barbata Sw Cynodon dactylon (L.) Pers. Digitaria ciliaris (Retz.) Koeler Digitaria ischaemum (Schreb.) Muh. Digitaria radicosa (J.Presl.) Miq. = D. timorensis (Kunth) Balansa Digitaria sanguinalis (L.) Scop. Echinochloa crus-galli L. (P. Beauv.) Eleusine indica (L.) Gaertn.	Aristida adscensionis L. Avena fatua L. Chloris barbata Sw Cynodon dactylon (L.) Pers. Digitaria ciliaris (Retz.) Koeler Digitaria ischaemun (Schreb.) Muh. Digitaria tachosa (J.Presl.) Miq. = D. timorensis (Kunth) Balansa Digitaria sanguinalis (L.) Scop. Echinochloa crus-galli L. (P. Beauv.) Eleusine indica (L.) Gaertn. Elvurgia repens (L.) Nevski = Elymus repens (L.)	Aristida adscensionis L. Avena fatua L. Chloris barbata Sw Cynodon dactylon (L.) Pers. Digitaria ciliaris (Retz.) Koeler Digitaria ischaemun (Schreb.) Muh. Digitaria tachosa (J.Presl.) Miq. = D. timorensis (Kunth) Balansa Digitaria sanguinalis (L.) Scop. Echinochloa crus-galli L. (P. Beauv.) Eleusine indica (L.) Gaertn. Elyvirgia repens (L.) Nevski = Elymus repens (L.) Gould
	Oxalidaceae	Papaveraceae	Juss.		Phyllanthaceae			Poaceae Barnhart	Poaceae Barnhart	Poaceae Barnhart	Poaceae Bamhart	Poaceae Bamhart	Poaceae Barnhart	Poaceae Barnhart	Poaceae Barnhart	Poaceae Barnhart	Poaceae Barnhart	Poaceae Barnhart	Poaceae Barnhart	Poaceae Barnhart	Poaceae Bamhart	Poaceae Barnhart	Poaceae Barnhart	Poaceae Barnhart	Poaceae Barnhart	Poaceae Barnhart

312

Table 1 (contin	(being the second se	Haha	_여 년. 1	Neneta	Nioella	Orieanum	Plantaoo	Rosmarinus	Silvhum	Thymus
		nau	5	rvepeta cataria L. (8)	sativa L. (11, 12)	vulgare L. (13)	r talliago ovata Forsk (14)	officinalis L. (15, 16)	Gaertn. (17, 18)	vulgaris L. (19)
	Lolium multiflorum Lam.	A or P	Th/H							
			scap							
	Ochlopoa annua (L.) H.	A	ЧТ							
	Scholz = Poa annua L.									
	Panicum capillare L.	А	Th							
	Panicum repens L.	Ь	G rhiz							
	Paspalum distichum L.	Ь	G rhiz							
	Phalaris spp.	A	Th					X		
	Rottboellia exaltata $L.f. = R.$	A	4L							
	cochinchinensis (Lour.) W.D.									
	Clayton									
	Setaria viridis (L.) P. Beauv.	A	Th						x	
	Setaria pumila (Poir.) Roem.& Schult. = Setaria ølanca I.	A	Th							
	Sataria fahari Harrm	•	Ē	X						
	Southin tool Internet	: -							>	
	Sorgnum nalepense (L.) Pers.	۲.	ת נוווג						v	
Polygonaceae	Polygonum aviculare L.	А	Th		x			Х	Х	
	Polygonum convolvulus L.	А	Th					X	Х	
	Rumex crispus L.	Ρ	H scap							
Portulacaceae Juss.	Portulaca oleracea L.	A	Th		х		X	X		
Primulaceae Vent.	Anagallis arvensis L.	A	Th						x	
Resedaceae Gray	Reseda luteola L.	B, rar D or A	H Econ/Th							
Dubioceae	Galium anarina I		Th, Th					×		
TAUDIACCA	Ountil apartice 1.							4		(continued)

Weed and Weeding Effects on Medicinal Herbs

		Hab^{a}	LF ^b	Nepeta	Nigella	Origanum	Plantago	Rosmarinus	Silybum	Thymus
				cataria L.	sativa L.	vulgare L.	ovata Forsk	officinalis L.	marianum	vulgaris L.
				(8)	(11, 12)	(13)	(14)	(15, 16)	Gaertn. (17, 18)	(19)
Scrophulariaceae	Veronica hederifolia L.	А	Th							
Juss.	Veronica persica Poir.	А	Th		Х			x		
Solanaceae	Datura metel L.	А	Th							
	Datura stramonium L.	А	Th						x	
	Physalis subglabrata Mack. and Bush.	Ь	Th							
	Solanum nigrum L.	A	Ę		x				XX	
	Solanum carolinense L.	Ь	H scap							
Xanthorrhoeaceae	Asphodelus tenuifolius L.	в	Н				X			
Zygophyllaceae R.Br.	Tribulus terrestris L.	A	Th							
Habitus ^a : A- annual;	P-perennial; B- biennial									

rhiz: rhizome); P- Phanerophytes (caesp: caespitose)

References: (1) Frabboni et al. 2008; (2) EPPO 2001; (3) Rajeswara Rao et al. 2007; (4) Hossain 2005; (5) Rahimi et al. 2015; (6) Yousefi and Rahimi 2014; (7) Mubeen et al. 2009; (8) Duppong et al. 2004; (9) Singh and Saini 2008; (10) Bonasia et al. 2012; (11) Seyyedi et al. 2016; (12) Nadeem et al. 2013; (13) Zumelzù et al. 1999; (14) Salvi et al. 2015; (15) Frabboni et al. 2009; (16) Usano-Alemany et al. 2008; (17) Zheljazkov et al. 2006; (18) Tyr and Veres, 2011; (19) Frabboni et al. 2009a

towards the prevalence of long-lasting weed species; in general terms, the adoption of wide inter-plant spacings, the reduced use of herbicides and a crop duration longer than one year may be crucial factors in assessing this condition.

Effects of Weeds on Yield, Growth and Development of Medicinal Plants

The necessity to remove weeds as completely as possible is well assessed by almost all experiments performed on MPs. Whenever trials have been performed including a weed-free treatment, independently upon the specific experimental goals, yield results are always inversely correlated to the incidence of weeds. Table 2 reports some of the published data about the variations in yield performance in several MPs attributable to the presence or the removal of weeds. As shown, irrespective of which kind of "yield" is considered, losses due to the presence of weeds may take relevant values. Under the different growth conditions of crops, seed yields decreases were found to range from 34% in Garden cress (Shehzad et al. 2011) to more than 90% in coriander, fennel and psyllium (Carrubba and Militello 2013). Also yield losses in biomass and herbage yields were high: they ranged from about 30% in commint (Singh and Saini 2008) to 80-90% and more in coriander, fennel and psyllium (Carrubba and Militello 2013). These figures do not vary when the harvestable part is a fraction of total plant biomass: yield losses have been calculated from 51 to 64% in flowers of saffron (Norouzzadeh et al. 2007), more than 20% in bulbs of Tassel hyacinth (Bonasia et al. 2012), 49-55% in leaves of Rose-scented geranium (Kothari et al. 2002) and 75% in shoots of sage (Satvati Niri et al. 2015).

Under some aspects, the outcome of crop-weed interaction is similar to that assessed for inter-species competition, and the effect of weed removal is similar to that obtained with reducing plant population: weeding allows obtaining bigger plants, with a higher number of ramifications and consequently more flowers and seeds. In *Nigella sativa*, weed control increased yield and yield components such as number of plants, number of branches, number of capsules, number of seeds per capsule, seed weight and total biomass (Nadeem et al. 2013; Seyyedi et al. 2016); in *Lepidium sativum*, removal of weeds gave higher plants, number of branches and number of seeds per plant (Shehzad et al. 2011).

For the same reason, when competition is high and shading becomes intense, plants are expected to grow taller and thinner (Ballaré and Casal 2000). Data from the literature (Table 3) show that this occurs in many cases, and very often MPs experience an increase in height when grown in presence of weeds. This increase in height however, being not associated with an increase in size, in most cases does not determine any increase in biomass yield.

Total weed biomass, however, is not the only factor affecting the outcome of cultivation. Competition with weeds may assume a different severity according to the time of competition period (i.e. the crop growth stage when it occurs), as well as its duration. In the starting phases of cultivation, when crop canopy is sparse, the

	Weed-free (F)	Unweeded (W)	RL%
Seeds (kg ha ⁻¹)	Coriander (Carrubb et al. 2014)	a and Militello 2013; Cho	oudhary
	1842.2	912.1	50.5
	1366.2	702.8	48.6
	1364.5	313.4	77.0
	1372.9	79.8	94.2
	1230.0	510.0	58.5
	1511.0	525.0	65.3
	Fennel (Carrubba a Rahimi 2014; Mub	nd Militello 2013; Yousef een et al. 2009)	ì and
	3697.8	2200.1	40.5
	2756.6	79.2	97.1
	203.5	25.4	87.5
	637.9	42.8	93.3
	3816.0	80.0	97.9
	3938.0	52.0	98.7
	2336.0	1472.0	37.0
	Psyllium (Carrubba	and Militello 2013)	
	1380.3	367.4	73.4
	541.2	245.7	54.6
	1542.7	36.5	97.6
	336.4	19.4	94.2
	Milk thistle (Zhelja	zkov et al. 2006)	·
	1133.2	655.3	42.2
	1273.1	737.5	42.1
	Garden cress (Sheh	zad et al. 2011)	·
	305.9	201.6	34.1
	Black cumin (Nade	em et al. 2013; Seyyedi e	t al. 2016)
	1720.0	526.2	69.4
	1558.2	266.9	82.9
	686.4	87.3	87.3
	Isabgol (Salvi et al	. 2015)	
	1225.0	381.0	68.9
	Fenugreek (Barada	ran and Ghahhari 2016)	
	280.5	257.5	8.2
			(continued

Table 2 Literature data about effect of weeding on yields of seeds, biomass and special plant parts in several MPs. Relative Losses (RL) $\% = (F-W)/F \times 100$

	Weed-free (F)	Unweeded (W)	RL%
Biomass and	Coriander (Carrubba an	d Militello 2013; Choudha	ary
herbage (kg ha ⁻¹)	et al. 2014)		
	2545.1	601.1	76.4
	3923.7	1780.2	54.6
	4076.1	549.4	86.5
	1362.7	115.9	91.5
	2193.0	1141.0	48.0
	2972.0	1217.0	59.1
	Fennel (Carrubba and N Rahimi 2014: Mubeen e	Ailitello 2013; Yousefi and et al. 2009)	1
	3520.7	1093.1	69.0
	6653.1	501.6	92.5
	1792.1	242.7	86.5
	1169.4	37.1	96.8
	10718.0	8243.0	23.1
	Psyllium (Carrubba and	Militello 2013)	23.1
	3254.6	1287.2	60.4
	3885.2	1576.3	59.4
	4364.1	1795.9	58.8
	4487.4	375.4	91.6
	Garden cress (Shehzad	et al. 2011)	1
	3750.0	3472.0	7.4
	Isabgol (Salvi et al. 201	.5)	1
	2930.0	621.0	78.8
	Cornmint (Singh and Sa	aini 2008)	
	13820.0	9462.0	31.5
	12391.0	6307.0	49.1
	Catnip (Duppong et al.	2004)	
	600.0	278.0	53.7
	4138.0	2558.0	38.2
	St John's Wort (Duppor	ng et al. 2004)	
	1903.0	1650.0	13.3
	Basil (Sarrou et al. 2010	6)	
	16.1	10.8	33.0
Special plant parts	Flowers of Saffron (Nor	rouzzadeh et al. 2007)	
(kg ha^{-1})	1100.0	402.0	63.5
	510.0	250.0	51.0
	580.0	220.0	62.1
	Leaves of Rose-scented	geranium (Kothari et al.	2002)
	120.0	61.0	49.2
	123.0	55.0	55.3

(continued)

	Weed-free (F)	Unweeded (W)	RL%				
	Leaves of Moldavi	an balm (Janmohammadi e	t al. 2016)*				
	250.0						
	99.0	60.4					
	Bulbs of Tassel hy	Bulbs of Tassel hyacinth (Bonasia et al. 2012)					
	12.7	9.5	25.2				
	11.1	8.7	21.6				
	Shoots of Sage (Sa	tvati Niri et al. 2015)					
2000.0	500.0	75.0					

*Approximate figures

Table 3 Literature data
about effect of weeding on
measured height of plants
(cm) in several MPs. Relative
Losses (RL) $\% = (F-W)/$
$F \times 100$

Weed-free (F)	Unweeded (W)	RL%
Black cumin (Nadeem	et al. 2013; Seyyedi et al.	2016)
80.8	62.0	23.2
99.1	76.2	23.1
32.9	43.0	-30.8
Catnip (Duppong et al.	2004)	
30.0	35.0	-16.7
Coriander (Carrubba an	d Militello 2013)	
131.2	133.8	-2.0
120.9	123.7	-2.3
85.8	91.5	-6.6
144.6	124.4	14.0
Cornmint (Singh and S	aini 2008)	
48.7	46.9	3.7
60.3	56.3	6.6
Fennel (Carrubba and Mubeen et al. 2009)	Militello 2013; Mirshekari	2014;
99.1	93.3	5.9
80.5	91.3	-13.4
57.6	59.3	-3.0
100.7	105.5	-4.8
76.0	61.0	19.7
270.8	196.5	27.4
133.6	140.1	-4.9
Garden cress (Shehzad	et al. 2011)	
118.8	107.4	9.6
Psyllium (Carrubba and	l Militello 2013)	
91.0	92.1	-1.2
91.1	95.3	-4.6
81.4	84.2	-3.4
90.1	110.3	-22.4
St John's Wort (Duppo	ng et al. 2004)	
32.0	38.0	-18.8

outcome of an early weed infestation is expected to be severe. As a matter of fact, very often weeds grow much faster than crops; initial plant growth is slow in perennial crops, such as gentian (Radanović et al. 2014), oregano (Zumelzù et al. 1999) or sage (Karamanos 2000), but this issue has been reported also in annual or biennial herbs such as fennel (Yousefi and Rahimi 2014) or coriander, especially in genotypes not forming a dense basal rosette (Diederichsen 1996). When weeds sprout later (i.e. after crop canopy closure), their competition effects are generally lower. Hence, many works, especially in perennial or long-lasting MPs, strongly advocate for an early intervention against weeds. What is "early", and therefore the exact timing for weeding, is rather a crucial issue. As previously mentioned, to extend also to MPs the concepts and definitions that are established for the other crops is not easy, due to the preliminary necessity to give an univocal definition of what, in these crops, is termed as "yield".

As a rule, timing should be stated based on the sensitivity of crop to the presence of weeds; values for maximum tolerance period, corresponding to the moment when weeding operations should be started, have been found about 40 days after sowing (DAS) for *Nigella sativa* (Nadeem et al. 2013); 30–45 DAS for *Zingiber officinale* (Kifelew et al. 2015), 24–38 DAS for *Cuminum cyminum*. A great importance is therefore attributed to the critical period for weed control (CPWC), i.e. the time span in which "weeds must be controlled to prevent yield losses" (Knezevic et al. 2002). In some cases, one or two thresholds are set for acceptable seed yields losses (generally 5% or 10% of the maximum attainable yield, usually defined as that measured in the weed-free controls). In Table 4, some of the CPWC

References	MP species and	Threshold loss	CPWC		
	measured yield	value (%)	Start (DAS*)	End (DAS*)	Total (dd)
Seyyedi et al.	Black cumin (seeds)	5	13	75	62
(2016)			11	71	60
		10	17	64	47
			14	57	43
Hosseini et al. (2006)	Cumin (seeds)		24	38	14
Sharifi Nouri	Psyllium (seeds)	5	21	52	31
(2005)		10	26	38	12
Satvati Niri et al. (2015)	Sage (biomass)	5	22	98	76
		10	25	85	60
		15	29	82	53
Mojtaba et al.	Thyme (Fresh	5	41	90	49
(2015)	biomass)	10	54	76	22
	Thyme (Dry	5	12	94	82
	biomass)	10	29	78	49
	Thyme (Essential	5	20	105	85
	oil)	10	30	86	56

 Table 4
 Calculated values for critical period for weed control (CPWC) in some MPs

*Days After Sowing (transplant in poliennials)

values obtained in the sparse experiments on MPs are reported. Expectedly, total CPWC values are longer when a lower threshold value is set, i.e. when the allowed loss values are lower, and it is interesting to observe that in annual crops, the time span when fields must be kept weed-free shares a rather large part (more than 60%) of the reasonable duration of entire crop cycle.

Effects of Weeds on Quality Features of Medicinal Plants

Quality of MPs may be affected by weeds in many ways. The first issue to be considered is botanical identity of drugs (Zhang et al. 2010). Whoever the buyer, medicinal plants are graded according to their chemical characteristics, that are linked to the botanical uniformity of the traded biomass. The presence of weeds in the harvested biomass is therefore an important factor that affects negatively the market end value of the herbal product (Upadhyay et al. 2011). It is not, however, the only one. Even when weeds have been removed from the herbal products before sale, modifications in MPs chemical patterns due to the persistence of weeds during MPs cultivation cannot be excluded. Indeed, the presence of weeds is often believed to exert a significant effect on plant metabolic pathways, in this way causing variations in the content and quality of active metabolites (Gil et al. 1998). For example, weed infestation has been claimed to affect essential oil yields. On this regard, data from the literature are controversial. The EO content was reported to decrease of 20-28.6% in leaves of unweeded rose-scented geranium (Kothari et al. 2002) and coriander (Pouryousef et al. 2015), but oppositely an increase in EO was found in basil (Sarrou et al. 2016) such as in fatty oil from Milk thistle (Zheljazkov et al. 2006) (Table 5). When the oil yield per unit area is considered, a decrease is generally found, although probably this is due to the strong influence of the decrease of biomass yield.

The quantitative variations of EO yields, however, are not the only issue, and apart from them, the occurrence of weeds may also alter the chemical EO profile of herbs (Rajeswara Rao et al. 2007). The simplest case is when weeds are mixed with the plant material to be distilled: although weeds do not yield any essential oil, their presence may alter the quality feature of crop essential oil conferring it an unwanted off-flavour (Rajeswara Rao et al. 2007). However, also modifications of the EO chemical characteristics due to the changes in plant secondary metabolism because of weeds, have been reported by several Authors. In Satureja sahendica grown together with Amaranthus retroflexus, the effect of competition induced a decrease in thymol and an increase in p-cymene content (Hossaini et al. 2015). In basil, the highest yield of linalool (63.88%) and consequently of the oxygenated monoterpenes (75.05%), was achieved in the weeded treatment (Sarrou et al. 2016). In Milk thistle, a decrease in silymarin content was reported as a consequence of weed presence (Zheljazkov et al 2006). Although in some other cases, the EO obtained from MPs grown in weedy conditions had similar characteristics to that obtained in absence of competition, the unpredictability of chemical characteristics of the obtained EO must be considered as a major issue for trading.

able 5 Literature data bout effect of weeding on uality traits in several MPs.	Weed-free (F)	Unweeded (W)	RL%			
about effect of weeding on quality traits in several MPs	Oil/Essential oil conten	t (%)	·			
Relative Losses (RL) $\% = (F$	Basil (Sarrou et al. 201	6)				
$-W/F \times 100$	1.06	1.22	-15.1			
	Black cumin (Seyyedi	et al. 2016)				
	31.04	31.04	0			
	Coriander (Pouryousef	et al. 2015)				
	0.92	0.76	17.4			
	0.86	0.72	16.3			
	Cornmint (Singh and S	aini 2008)				
	0.73	0.82	-12.3			
	0.78	0.77	1.3			
	Milk thistle (Zheljazko	v et al. 2006)				
	19.50	24.60	-26.2			
	18.40	25.90	-40.8			
	Moldavian balm (Janm	ohammadi et al. 2016)*				
	0.51	0.32	37.3			
	Rose-scented geranium	(Kothari et al. 2002)				
	0.20	0.16	20.0			
	0.21	0.15	28.6			
	Oil yield (kg ha ⁻¹)					
	Black cumin (Seyyedi	et al. 2016)				
	214.0	27.3	87.2			
	Cornmint (Singh and S	aini 2008)				
	99.9	77.5	22.4			
	96.6	49.2	49.0			
	Fennel (Mirshekari 201	4)				
	270.8	196.5	27.4			
	Special oil components					
	Silymarin % in Milk th	istle (Zheljazkov et al. 20	06)			
	2.90	2.30	20.7			
	3.20	2.00	37.5			
	Thymol% in EO of Sah	endi savory (Hossaini et al	. 2015)			
	45.18	38.60	14.6			

*Approximate figures

Effects of Weeding Tools on MPs

Although the removal of weeds is surely beneficial to biomass and quality features of MPs, the tools that are used with this purpose may affect MPs production in many ways. Much work in this sense has been focussed on chemical weed control. Chemicals have been tested for many MPs, including caraway (Carum carvi), clary sage (*Salvia sclarea*), coriander (*Coriandrum sativum*), chamomile (*Matricaria recutita*), mint (*Mentha piperita*, *M. arvensis*, *M. spicata* and others), milk thistle (*Silybum marianum*), Moldavian balm (*Dracocephalum moldavica*), fennel (*Foeniculum vulgare*), sage (*Salvia officinalis*), savory (*Satureja officinalis*), oregano (*Origanum vulgare*), thyme (*Thymus vulgare*) and many others (Mitchell and Abernethy 1993; Mitchell et al. 1995; Pank 1992; Singh et al. 2011; Zheljazkov et al. 2006, 2010; Zumelzù et al. 1999). Following these Authors, if phytotoxic effects were avoided, the use of pendimethalin, fluchloralin, and other chemicals did not affect seed oil yields or oil quality. Otherwise, other experiments gave different results, and several modifications of essential oil components were recorded; e.g. in chamomile, chemically treated crop had lower chamazulene content (Singh et al. 2011), whereas plants of Moldavian balm treated with trifluralin showed a higher geraniol content (Janmohammadi et al. 2016).

As it seems, an interference of herbicides with the metabolism of secondary products cannot be always excluded. An additional constraint is that, although a number of exception may be found, the interest in cultivation of MPs making recourse to usual herbicides is generally rather low. A large number of growers, in fact, is oriented to cultivate MPs with organic management, that, according to EU regulations (EU Reg. 2092/91 and 2078/92 and, more recently, EU Reg. 834/2007 and 1107/09, and EU Dir. 128/2009), does not permit the use of chemicals. Under organic cropping management, weeds are a major issue for cultivation: in a survey on herb and vegetable organic production in Australia (Kristiansen et al. 2001), 80% of growers defined weeds as "a problem", and the acknowledgement of this has pushed towards a big effort in studying alternative and non-chemical tools for weed control.

The most effective method is surely hand-removal of weeds (Carrubba and Militello 2013; Kristiansen et al. 2003); it is however a time- and labor-consuming method, and a need for 200-600 manpower hours per hectare has been estimated for manual weed management in many aromatic and medicinal plants (Pank 1992). Hence, it is considered suitable only to small areas, and other tools and strategies are continuously studied. Among these, mechanical weeding is one of the preferred methods by the majority of growers, especially for soil preparation before sowing or transplanting. One or two thorough preliminary mechanical works, with the goal to keep the field totally weed-free, are recommended for most of perennial MPs, such as sage (Karamanos 2000). It must be said, however, that many perennial weeds may take advantage of this practice, because mechanical equipments rather than excavate and dry the underground propagating organs of weeds, very often can split them and facilitate their diffusion (Zanin et al. 2001). The use of transplant instead of direct sowing, with the purpose to give to the plants some competitive advantage, is adopted in some high-income MPs such as gentian (Radanović et al. 2014), lemon balm, catnip, stinging nettle, and globemallow (Kleitz et al. 2008) but of course the costs of this additional step must be justified by a significantly higher value of crop.

After crop establishment, the effects of weeds are generally lower, and although there is always the necessity for further interventions, they are normally reduced to a few works between the rows. Alternative methods for weed control have been studied for many crops and growth conditions. In *Aloe vera*, in some regions of Mexico, the farmers allow goats and lambs grazing on weeds, since these animals do not feed on aloe (Cristiano et al. 2016). In lack of any other more exact indication, many MPs growers try to keep their fields weed free by means of one or two mechanical treatments after sowing/transplant. A special attention must be paid, in this case, to the proper choice of timing and equipment, since many crops may be sensitive to mechanical injuries (Bond and Grundy 2001).

Many other alternative methods, such as mulching or flaming, have been developed and suggested in time, both alone and in combinations, with variable and often controversial results. So far, it seems possible to suggest, in agreement with some Authors (Satvati Niri et al. 2015; Upadhyay et al. 2011; Dajic-Stevanovic and Pljevljakusic 2015), that an integrated approach to this issue, i.e. the recourse to different and integrated methods, tools and strategies, according to local conditions and requests from the buyers, would be preferable to the search for one specific weeding method. Specific trials concerning a larger number of MPs, also including the effects of different weed management strategies on yield and chemical traits of herbal products, seem however to be lacking, and there is increasing need for a detailed experimental activity concerning all aspects of the complex interactions between MPs and weeds.

References

- Al-Dalain SA, Abdel-Ghani AH, Al-Dala'een JA, Thalaen HA (2012) Effect of planting date and spacing on growth and yield of fennel (*Foeniculum vulgare* Mill.) under irrigated conditions. Pak J Biol Sci 15(23):1126–1132. doi:10.3923/pjbs.2012.1126.1132
- Ballaré CL, Casal JJ (2000) Light signals perceived by crop and weed plants. Field Crops Res 67:149–160
- Baradaran R, Ghahhari M (2016) Effect of weed interference on yield and agronomical characteristics of Fenugreek (*Trigonella foenum-graecum*) in different plant density under Birjand conditions. Iran J Field Crops Res 13(4):665–674
- Belitz AR, Sams CE (2007) The effect of population density on growth, yield, and flavonolignan content in Milk Thistle (*Silybum marianum*). Acta Hortic 756:251–258
- Bezzi A, Aiello N, Albasini A, Landi R, Marzi V, Melegari M, Ventrelli A, Zanzucchi C (1992) Salvia (*Salvia officinalis* L.): lavori effettuati nell'ambito dei progetti finalizzati del Ministero dell'Agricoltura e delle foreste: risultati e prospettive. Agricoltura Ricerca: 97–104 (In Italian)
- Bonasia A, Conversa G, Lazzizera C, La Rotonda P, Elia A (2012) Weed control in *lampascione-Muscari comosum* (L.) Mill. Crop Prot 36:65–72. doi:10.1016/j.cropro.2012.02.001
- Bond W, Grundy AC (2001) Non-chemical weed management in organic farming systems. Weed Res 41:383–405
- Canter PH, Thomas H, Ernst E (2005) Bringing medicinal plants into cultivation: opportunities and challenges for biotechnology. Trends Biotechnol 23(4):180–185. doi:10.1016/j.tibtech. 2005.02.002
- Carrubba A, Militello M (2013) Nonchemical weeding of medicinal and aromatic plants. Agron Sustain Dev 33(3):551–561. doi:10.1007/s13593-012-0122-9
- Carrubba A, la Torre R, Saiano F, Aiello P (2008) Sustainable production of fennel and dill by intercropping. Agron Sustain Dev 28:247–256. doi:10.1051/agro:2007040

- Choudhary I, Yadav SS, Yadav LR, Sharma OP, Yadav BL (2014) Effect of weed and nitrogen management on coriander (*Coriandrum sativum* L.) yield and economics. J Spices Aromat Crops 23(1): 38–44
- Cristiano G, Murillo-Amador B, De Lucia B (2016) Propagation techniques and agronomic requirements for the cultivation of Barbados Aloe (*Aloe vera*(L.) Burm. F.)—A Review. Frontiers Plant Sci 7:1410. doi:10.3389/fpls.2016.01410
- Dajic-Stevanovic Z, Pljevljakusic D (2015) Challenges and decision making in cultivation of medicinal and aromatic plants. In: Máthé Á (ed) Medicinal and aromatic plants of the world. Springer Science + Business Media, Dordrecht, pp 1145–164 doi:10.1007/978-94-017-9810-5_8
- de la Fuente EB, Gil A, Lenardis AE, López Pereira M, Suárez SA, Ghersa CM, Yaber Grass M (2003) Response of winter crops differing in grain yield and essential oil production to some agronomic practices and environmental gradient in the Rolling Pampa, Argentina. Agric Ecosyst Environ 99:159–169. doi:10.1016/S0167-8809(03)00131-2
- De Mastro G, Marzi V, Ventrelli A (1993) Influence of temporary intercropping on the productivity of Liquorice (*Glycyrrhiza glabra* L.). Acta Hortic 344:523–528
- Diederichsen A (1996) Coriander (Coriandrum sativum L.). Promoting the conservation and use of underutilized and neglected crops. 3. Institute of plant genetics and crop plant research. Gatersleben/International Plant Genetic Resources Institute, Rome, p 83
- Duppong LM, Delate K, Liebman M, Horton R, Romero F, Kraus G, Petrich J, Chowdbury PK (2004) The effect of natural mulches on crop performance, weed suppression and biochemical constituents of Catnip and St. John's Wort. Crop Sci 44(3):861–869. doi:10.2135/cropsci2004. 8610
- Ellenberg H, Mueller-Dombois D (1965–1966) A key to Raunkiaer plant life forms with revised subdivisions. Berichte des Geobotanischen Institutes der Eidg. Techn. Hochschule, Stiftung Rübel. Available at http://doi.org/10.5169/seals-377651. Last accessed 17 May 2017
- EPPO—European and Mediterranean Plant Protection Organization (2001) Guidelines on good plant protection practice. Umbelliferous crops. 2001 OEPP/EPPO Bulletin 31: 257–287
- FAH—Forschungsvereinigung der Arzneimittel-Hersteller e.V (2003) Standard operating procedures for inspecting cultivated and wild crafted medicinal plants. J Herbs Spices Med Plants 10 (3):109–125 doi:10.1300/J044v10n03_11
- Falzari LM, Menary RC, Dragar VA (2006) Optimum stand density for maximum essential oil yield in commercial fennel crops. HortScience 41(3):646–650
- Frabboni L, De Simone G, Russo V (2008) Influence of tillage on the productivity of *Anethum* graveolens L. in a semi-arid Mediterranen environment. Ital J Agron 3(suppl.): 207–208
- Frabboni L, Benvenuti S, De Simone G, Russo V, Orlandini G (2009a) Influenza del Minimum Tillage sulla composizione degli oli essenziali di *Thymus vulgaris* L. Ital J Agron 229–230 (In Italian)
- Frabboni L, Disciglio G, De Simone G, Russo V (2009b) Influenza delle lavorazioni del suolo su parametri qualiquantitativi del *Rosmarinus officinalis* L. e sulla flora infestante. Ital J Agron 117–118 (In Italian)
- Ghilavizadeh A, Taghi Darzi M, Seyed Hadi MH (2013) Effects of Biofertilizer and plant density on essential oil content and yield traits of Ajowan (*Carum copticum*). Middle-East J Sci Res 14 (11):1508–1512. doi:10.5829/idosi.mejsr.2013.14.11.2364
- Gholinezhad E, Rezaei Chiyaneh E (2015) Intercropping chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) and black cumin (*Nigella sativa* L.). Proceedings 4th National Congress on Medicinal Plants, Tehran-Iran. Poster n. 908: 186, 12–13 May 2015
- Gil A, de la Fuente E, Lenardis A, Ghersa C, van Baren HC, Di Leo Lira P, Suarez S, López Pereira M (1998) Yield and composition of Coriander (*Coriandrum sativum* L) essential oils related to soil environment and weed competition. Proceedings Annual Conference New Crops and New Uses: Biodiversity and Sustainability, Phoenix, Arizona, 8–11 Nov 1998
- Hossain MA (2005) Agronomic practises for weed control in turmeric (*Curcuma longa* L.). Weed Biol Manage 5:166–175
- Hossaini SM, Agha Alikhani M, Sefidkon F, Ghalavand A (2015) Vegetative yield and essential oil production of Savory (*Satureja sahendica* Bornm.) affected by organic fertilizer and redroot pigweed (*Amaranthus retroflexus* L.) competition. Proceeding 4th National Congress on Medicinal Plants, Tehran- Iran. Poster n. 452: 81, 12–13 May 2015
- Hosseini A, Koucheki A, Nasiri Mahallati M (2006) A study on critical period for weeds control in cumin (*Cuminum cyminum*). Iran J Agric Res 4(1):23–34 (cited by Satvati Niri et al. 2015)
- Janmohammadi M, Sabaghnia N, Bashiri A (2016) Evaluation of the impact of weed control methods on quantitative and qualitative characteristics of Moldavian Balm; a medicinal plant. Acta Technol Agriculturae 4:110–116. doi:10.1515/ata-2016-0022
- Karamanos AJ (2000) The cultivation of sage. In: Kintzios SE (ed) Sage. The genus Salvia, Medicinal and Aromatic Plants—Industrial Profiles, vol. 14: 93–108. OPA (Overseas Publishers Association), The Netherlands
- Khorshidi J, Tabatabaei MF, Omidbaigi R, Sefidkon F (2009) Effect of densities of planting on yield and essential oil components of Fennel (Foeniculum vulgare Mill Var. Soroksary). J Agric Sci 1(1): 152–157
- Kifelew H, Eshetu T, Abera H (2015) Critical time of weed competition and evaluation of weed management techniques on Ginger (*Zingiber officinale*) at Tepi in South West Ethiopia. Int J Res Stud Agric Sci (IJRSAS) 1(3):5–10
- Kleitz KM, Wall MM, Falk CL, Martin CA, Remmenga MD, Guldan SJ (2008) Stand establishment and yield potential of organically grown seeded and transplanted medicinal herbs. HortTechnology 18(1):116–121
- Knezevic SZ, Evans SP, Blankenship EE, Van Acker RC, Lindquist JL (2002) Critical period for weed control: the concept and data analysis. Weed Sci 50(6):773–786. doi:10.1614/0043-1745 (2002)050[0773:CPFWCT]2.0.CO;2
- Kothari SK, Singh CP, Singh K (2002) Weed control in rose-scented geranium (Pelargonium spp). Pest Manage Sci 58:1254–1258. doi:10.1002/ps.592
- Kristiansen PE, Jessop RS, Sindel BM (2001) Organic weed management survey: methods used by Australian herb and vegetable growers. In: Rowe B, Donaghy D, Mendham N (eds.) Science and technology: delivering results for agriculture? Proceedings of the 10th Australian Agronomy Conference, Hobart, Tasmania, Jan 2001
- Kristiansen P, Sindel B, Jessop R (2003) Agronomic and economic evaluation of weed management methods in organic herb and vegetable production systems. Proceedings of the 11th Australian Agronomy Conference, "Solutions for a better environment", Geelong, Victoria, AU, 2–6 Feb 2003
- Mardani F, Balouchi H, Yadavi A, Salehi A (2015) Effects of intercropping on the yield and some physiological traits of two plants Fenugreek and Anise. Proceeding 4th National Congress on Medicinal Plants, Tehran- Iran. Poster n. 881: 179, 12–13 May 2015
- Martínez-Ghersa MA, Ghersa CM, Satorre EH (2000) Coevolution of agricultural systems and their weed companions: implications for research. Field Crops Res 67:181–190
- Maw MG, Thomas AG, Stahevitch A (1985) The biology of Canadian weeds. 66. Artemisia absinthium L. Can J Plant Sci 65:389–400
- Euro + Med (2006) Euro + Med PlantBase—the information resource for Euro-Mediterranean plant diversity. Published on the Internet http://ww2.bgbm.org/EuroPlusMed/. Last accessed 17 May 2017
- Mirshekari B (2014) Competitive effects of Lambsquarters (Chenopodium album) on growth parameters, seed yield and essential oil of fennel (Foeniculum vulgare). J crop ecophysiol (Agriculture Science) 3(8):317–329
- Mitchell RB, Abernethy RJ (1993) Tolerance of clary sage, coriander and caraway to herbicides applied pre- and post-emergence. In: Proceedings of 46th New Zealand plant protection conference, pp 24–29
- Mitchell RB, Abernethy RJ, McGimpsey JA (1995) Herbicide tolerance of transplanted dalmatian sage and oregano. In: Proceedings of 48th New Zealand plant protection conference pp 327–330

- Moghaddam PR, Motlagh MA (2007) Effect of sowing date and plant density on yield and yield components of black cumin (*Nigella sativa*) in Islamabad-Ghayein. Pajouhesh Sazandegi 76:62–68
- Mojtaba K, Hasan H, Eskandar Z (2015) Study on the best time of weed control in thyme (*Thymus vulgaris* L.). In: Proceeding 4th National Congress on Medicinal Plants, Tehran-Iran. Poster n. 65: 5, 12–13 May 2015
- Mubeen K, Tanveer A, Nadeem MA, Sarwar N, Shahzad M (2009) Critical period of weed-crop competition in *Fennel (Foeniculum vulgare Mill.)*. Pak J Weed Sci Res 15(2–3): 171–181
- Nadeem MA, Tanveer A, Naqqash T, Jhala AJ, Mubeen K (2013) Determining critical weed competition periods for black seed. J Anim Plant Sci 23(1):216–221
- Norouzzadeh S, Abbaspoor M, Delghandi M (2007) Chemical weed control in saffron fields of Iran. Acta Hort 739:119–122
- Palevitch D (1991) Agronomy applied to medicinal plant conservation. In: Akerele O, Heywood V, Synge H (eds) Conservation of medicinal plants, Cambridge, UK, University Press, pp 168–178
- Pank F (1992) The influence of chemical weed control on quality characters of medicinal and aromatic plants. Acta Hort 306:145–154
- Pignatti S (1982) Flora d'Italia (3 vol). Edagricole, Bologna, Italy (in Italian)
- Pouryousef M, Yousefi AR, Oveisi M, Asadi F (2015) Intercropping of fenugreek as living mulch at different densities for weed suppression in coriander. Crop Prot 69:60–64. doi:10.1016/j. cropro.2014.12.004
- Putievsky E, Galambosi B (1999) Production systems of basils. In: Hiltunen R, Holm Y (eds) Basil: The Genus *Ocimum*, Harwood Academic Publishers pp 39–65
- Radanović D, Marković T, Aiello N, Fusani P (2014) Cultivation trials on *Gentiana lutea* L. in Southern and South-eastern Europe. J Appl Res Med Aromat Plants 1:113–122. doi:10.1016/j. jarmap.2014.10.004
- Rahimi MR, Yousefi A, Rahimi R (2015) The effect of reduced rate of pendimethalin and trifluralin on early season weeds control in fennel (*Foeniculum vulgare* Mill.). In: Proceeding 4th National Congress on Medicinal Plants, Tehran, Iran. Poster n. 55: 4, 12–13 May 2015
- Rajeswara Rao BR, Rajput DK, Sastry KP, Bhattacharya AK, Patel RP, Ramesh S (2007) Effect of crop-weed mixed distillation on essential oil yield and composition of five aromatic crops. J Essent Oil Bearing Plants 10(2):127–132
- Salvi D, Amin AU, Raval CH, Vyas KG, Patel P, Patel CS (2015) Effect of weed management practices on weed dynamic, yield of isabgol(*Plantago ovata* Forsk) and germination of succeeding crop. Int J Seed Spices 5(2):43–48
- Sarrou E, Chatzopoulou P, Koutsos TV, Katsiotis S (2016) Herbage yield and essential oil composition of sweet basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) under the influence of different mulching materials and fertilizers. J Med Plants Stud 4(1): 111–117
- Satvati Niri S, Qolipouri A, Tobeh A, Jama'ati S, Ochi M, Rahimzadeh F (2015) Determining critical period for weeds control in sage (*Salvia officinalis* L.). Cumhuriyet Science Journal (CSJ), 36(3 (Special Issue)): 2057–2064 (University Faculty of Science)
- Scarpa GM, Milia M, Addis E (2004) Influenza della densità di impianto sulla coltivazione dell'origano. Italus Hortus 11(4):222–224 (In Italian)
- Seyyedi SM, Rezvani Moghaddam P, Mahallati MN (2016) Weed competition periods affect grain yield and nutrient uptake of Black Seed (*Nigella sativa* L.). Hortic Plant J 2(3):172–180. doi:10.1016/j.hpj.2016.08.005
- Shakeri H, Moosavi SG, Seghatoleslami MJ (2015) Cumin yield and some traits as affected by sowing date and seeding level. Int J Biosci 6(2):403–410. doi:10.12692/ijb/6.2.403-410
- Shalby AS, Razin AM (1992) Dense cultivation and fertilization for higher yield of thyme (*Thymus vulgaris* L.). J Agron Crop Sci 168:243–248
- Sharifi Nouri MS (2005) Determining critical period for weeds control of psyllium. M.Sc. Thesis, Department of Agriculture. Mohaghegh Ardabili University, Ardabil (cited by Satvati Niri et al. 2015)

- Shehzad M, Tanveer A, Ayub M, Mubeen K, Sarwar N, Ibrahim M, Qadir I (2011) Effect of weed-crop competition on growth and yield of garden cress (*Lepidium sativum* L.). J Med Plants Res 5(26):6169–6172
- Singh MK, Saini SS (2008) Planting date, mulch, and herbicide rate effects on the growth, yield, and physicochemical properties of menthol mint (*Mentha arvensis*). Weed Technol 22(4): 691–698
- Singh O, Khanam Z, Misra N, Srivastava MK (2011) Chamomile (*Matricaria chamomilla* L.): an overview. Pharmacognosy Rev 5(9): 82–95. doi:10.4103/09737847.79103
- Tewari SK, Misra PN (1996) Cultivation trials on satavari (Asparagus racemosus) in alluvial plains. J Med Aromat Plant Sci 18(2): 270–273
- TROPICOS (2017) Botanical information system at the Missouri Botanical Garden, Saint Louis, Missouri, US. Available at: http://www.tropicos.org. Last accessed 17 May 2017
- Tyr S, Veres T (2011) Weed infestation of *Silybum marianum* (L.) Gaertn. canopies in the years 2008–2010. Acta Fytotech Zootech 46–48
- Upadhyay RK, Baksh H, Patra DD, Tewari SK, Sharma SK, Katiyar RS (2011) Integrated weed management of medicinal plants in India. Int J Med Aromat Plants 1(2): 51–56
- Usano-Alemany J, Cuadrado Ortiz J, Herraiz Peñalver D, Cases Capdevila MA, Varela Nieto F, Palá-Paúl J (2008) Ecological agriculture: essay of weed control on *Rosmarinus officinalis* L. culture from Castilla-La Mancha (Spain). Botanica Complutensis 32:217–223
- USDA-NRCS (2017) The PLANTS Database National Plant Data Team, Greensboro, NC 27401– 4901 USA. Available at: http://plants.usda.gov. Last accessed 17 May 2017
- US-NPGS (2017) US National Plant Germplasm System. United States Department of Agriculture, Agricultural Research Service. Available at: https://npgsweb.ars-grin.gov/. Last accessed 17 May 2017
- Weiner J, Freckleton RP (2010) Constant Final Yield. Ann Rev Ecol Evol Syst 41: 173–192. doi:10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-102209-144642
- Yousefi AR, Rahimi MR (2014) Integration of soil-applied herbicides at the reduced rates with physical control for weed management in fennel (*Foeniculum vulgare Mill.*). Crop Prot 63:107–112. doi:10.1016/j.cropro.2014.05.018
- Zanin G, Zuin MC, Catizone P (2001) Definizione e classificazione delle malerbe. In: Catizone P, Zanin G (eds.) Malerbologia, Patron Editore, Bologna pp 23–52 (In Italian)
- Zhang B, Peng Y, Zhang Z, Liu H, Qi Y, Liu S, Xiao P (2010) GAP Production of TCM Herbs in China. Planta Med 76:1948–1955. doi:10.1055/s-0030-1250527
- Zheljazkov VD, Zhalnov I, Nedkov NK (2006) Herbicides for weed control in blessed thistle (*Silybum marianum*) 1. Weed Technol 20:1030–1034
- Zheljazkov VD, Cantrell CL, Cantrell CL, Astatkie T, Ebelhar MW (2010) Productivity, oil content, and composition of two spearmint species in Mississippi. Agron J 102(1):129–133. doi:10.2134/agronj2009.0258
- Zumelzù G, Darré C, Novo RJ, Bracamonte RE (1999) Preemergent control of annual weeds in Oregano (*Origanum vulgare* L.). Acta Hort 502:181–185

Medicinal Plant Diseases Caused by Nematodes

Faezehossadat Abtahi and Mansoureh Bakooie

Abstract The agents that cause infectious disease in plants are pathogenic microorganisms, such as viruses, bacteria, fungi, protozoa, and nematodes. Several hundred species of nematodes, however, are known to feed on living plants, obtaining their food with spears or stylets and causing a variety of plant diseases worldwide. Almost all plant pathogenic nematodes live part of their lives in the soil. Many live freely in the soil, feeding superficially on roots and underground stems, and in all, even in the specialized sedentary parasites, the eggs, the preparasitic juvenile stages, and the males are found in the soil for all or part of their lives. Nematodes occur in greatest abundance in the top 15 to 30 centimeters of soil. A few nematodes that attack the aboveground parts of plants not only spread through the soil as described earlier, but they are also splashed to the plants by falling rain or overhead watering. All plant parasitic nematodes belong to the phylum *Nematoda*. In this chapter, considering the importance of plant diseases caused by nematodes, we review some of the most important diseases of some of the medicinal plants.

Keywords Medicinal Plants • Pathogenic microorganisms • Loss Nematodes

Introduction

Nematodes belong to the kingdom *Animalia*. Nematodes are wormlike in appearance but quite distinct taxonomically from the true worms. Several hundred species are known to feed on living plants, obtaining their food with spears or stylets and

F. Abtahi (🖂)

M. Bakooie

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

Department of Medicinal Plants, Faculty of Agriculture and Natural Resources, Arak University, 38156-8-834 Arak, Iran e-mail: faeze.abtahi@gmail.com

Plant Pathology Department, Faculty of Agriculture, Tarbiat Modares University, Tehran, Iran

M. Ghorbanpour and A. Varma (eds.), *Medicinal Plants and Environmental Challenges*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-68717-9_18

causing a variety of plant diseases worldwide. Almost all plant pathogenic nematodes live part of their lives in the soil. Soil temperature, moisture, and aeration affect survival and movement of nematodes in the soil. Nematodes occur in greatest abundance in the top 15–30 cm of soil. The overall distance traveled by a nematode probably does not exceed a few meters per season. Nematode infections of plants result in the appearance of symptoms on roots as well as on the aboveground parts of plants. Root symptoms may appear as root lesions, root knots or root galls, excessive root branching, injured root tips. The root symptoms are usually accompanied by symptoms of nutrient deficiencies such as yellowing of foliage, excessive wilting in hot or dry weather, reduced yields, and poor quality of products. All plant parasitic nematodes belong to the phylum *Nematoda*. Most of the important parasitic genera belong to the order *Tylenchida*, but a few belong to the order *Dorylaimida*.

Scientific name: *Achillea millefolium* L. Common name: Yarrow

Mesoanguina millefolii (Low 1874) Chizhov and Subbotin (1985) induce small galls on the leaves of yarrow (Goodey 1938; Hooper and Doncaster 1972; Evtushenko et al. 1994). The milfoil cyst nematode, *Heterodera millefolii*, and yarrow cyst nematode, *Heterodera achilleae* were reported from this plant in Russia and Yugoslavia, respectively. Host tests at Sarajevo; Yugoslavi showed that yarrow, *Achillea millefolium* L. was heavily attacked (Fig. 1) (Golden and Klindic 1973). *Meloidogyne* sp., *Helicotylenchus* sp., *Xiphinema* sp. and Dorylaimid were reported on yarrow in Isfahan, Iran (Nasresfahani et al. 2015).

Scientific name: *Atropa belladonna L.* Common name: Belladonna, Deadly nightshade



Fig. 1 Phomicrographs of whole specimens of *Heterodera achilleae* **a** White females (note egg mass attached to one specimen), **b** Cysts \times 30 (after Golden and Klindic 1973)

Longidorus spp. was identified on *Atropa belladonna* in Uttar Pradesh, India. Four larvae of this parasitic nematode were collected from soil sample of 5–30 cm depths (Rashid et al. 1973).

Scientific name: *Berberis vulgaris* L. *var. sperma* Common name: Berberry, Common berberry

Plant parasitic nematodes; *Merlinius acuminatus* (Minagawa 1985; Brzeski 1991, *Geocenamus dobroticus* (Budurova et al. 1996), *Paratylenchus vandenbrandei* (De Grisse 1962), *Criconemoides morgensis* (Hofmanner and Menzel 1914) and *Boleodorus* spp. (*B. typicus* (Husain and Khan 1968), *B. impar* (Khan and Basir 1964), *B. volutus* (Lima and Siddiqi 1963) and *B. thylactus* (Thorne 1941)) were collected from the rhizosphere of *Berberis vulgaris* crop in the South Khorasan Provine of Iran. The male nematodes was founded only in *B. typicus* species (Alvani et al. 2013, 2016). Two species *Irantylenchus vicinus* and *Neopsilenchus magnidens* were reported on this plant, also (Alvani et al. 2015).

Scientific name: *Calendula officinalis* L. Common name: Marigold

Meloidogyne incognita (Kofoid and White) Chitwood race 1 (Magbool et al. 1985) reported on this flower plant from Pakistan. Moreover, the root system of *Calendula officinalis* showed clear symptoms of attack by root-knot nematode *Meloidogyne incognita* in Italy (Fig. 2). However, the low degree of infestation and tolerable damage is related with the cultivation period of this plant from the end of September to the beginning of March. Therefore, a treatment with non-volatile nematicide has been recommended for nematode control (Russo et al. 2008). *Meloidogyne incognita*, *M. javanica* and *Rotylenchus reniformis* were also recorded on marigold in India (Bhat et al. 2014). In New Zealand *Meloidogyne hapla* recognized on marigold (Dale 1971). It is recently reported that the peach root knot

Fig. 2 Roots of *Caendula* officinalis infested by *Meloidogyne incognita* (After Russo et al. 2008)



nematode *Meloidogyne floridensis* (Handoo et al. 2004) in addition to peach, infects many important crops including *Calendula officnalis* cv. Oktoberfest (Brito et al. 2015). *Meloidogyne* sp., *Helicotylenchus* sp., *Xiphinema* sp. and *Ditylenchus* sp. were collected on marigold in Isfahan, Iran (Nasresfahani et al. 2015). *Aphelenchoides besseyi* and *A. ritzemabosi* were detected on *Calendula officinalis* L. (Sanchez-Monge et al. 2015). In South Africa, *Hemicycliophora litorea* Van den Berg found in the rhizosphere of wild calendulas (Van Den Berg 1987) (Fig. 2).

Scientific name: *Carum carvi* L. Common name: Caraway

Meloidogyne trifoliophila Bernard and Eisenback (Bernard and Eisenback 1997) produced numerous galls on caraway in greenhouse experiment and 50 to 75% of the root system not functioning (Bernard and Jennings 1997).

Scientific name: *Cassia angustifolia Vahl.* Common name: Senna, Alexandria senna

The infection of root-knot nematode, *Meloidogyne incognita* on senna was recorded. The management of this parasite by different bioagents, organic amendments and humic acid treatments showed that the use of plant growth promoting *Rhizobacterium*, *Pseudomonas fluorescens* as soil application has the lowest nematode population accompanied with highest economic yield (Ramakrishnan and Senthilkumar 2009).

Scientific name: *Catharanthus roseus* L. Common name: Periwinkle, Madagascar Periwinkle

The results of the host suitability investigations in greenhouse condition were illustrated that Madagascar Periwinkle cultivars; Carpet Dawn, Cooler Grape, Little Blanche, Little Delicata and Polka Dot, ranked slightly susceptible to *M. incognita* race 3 (Walker et al. 1994) and cultivars; Blush Cooler, Little Bright Eyes, Little Mixed Colors and Peppermint rated as a generally poor hosts of *M. incognita* race 1 and *M. javanica* (McSorley and Frederick 1994, 2001). The identification of nematodes collected from Narendrapur medicinal plants garden revealed that *Catharanthus roseus* infected with the plant parasitic nematode, *Hoplolaimus* sp (Haldar and Gupta 2015). This medicinal species was introduced as one of the hosts of the rice-knot nematode *M. graminicola* (Golden and Birchfield 1965; MacGowan and Langdon 1989) and *Pratylenchus roseus* (Zarina and Maqbool 1998; Castillo and Vovlas 2007).

Scientific name: Crocus sativus L. Common name: Saffron

Plant parasitic nematodes, *Aphelenchoides subtenuis* (Cobb 1926; Steiner and Buhrer 1932; Koliopanos and Kalyviotis-Gazelas 1979; Decker 1989; Southey 1993; Ortuno and Oros 2002; McCuiston et al. 2007), *Pratylenchus penetrans* and *P. pratensis* (Metcalf 1903; Schenk 1970), *Ditylenchus destructor* (Ortuno and Oros 2002), *Psilenchus hilarulus* (Alvani et al. 2015a), *Tylenchus* sp.,

Hirschmaniella sp., Psilenchus sp., Pratylenchus sp. and Helicotylenchus chishtii (Sheikh et al. 2014), Amplimerlinius icarus, A. macrurus, A. socialis, Aphelenchoides asterocaudatus, A. besseyi, A. curiolis, Criconemoides deccipiens, Ditylenchus dipsaci, D. myceliophagus, Helicotylenchus crassatus, H. exallus, Merlinius bavaricus, M. brevidens, M. graminicola, M. microdorus, M. nanus, M. pseudobavaricus, Paratylenchus coronatus, Pratylenchus coffeae, P. loosi, P. penetrans, P. thornei, Psilenchus elegans, P. minor, Tylenchorhynchus brassicae, Tylenchus parvus, Geocenamus squamatus, G. tenuidens, and Filenchus pratensis, F. hamatus (Mahdikhani and Alvani 2013), Pratylenchus crenatus (Kasimova and Atakishieva 1980), Aerotylenchus safroni (Fotedar and Handoo 1977) have been identified in C. sativus.

Scientific name: *Cuminum cyminum* L. Common name: Cumin

Occurrence of root-knot nematodes (*Meloidogyne* spp.) on this crop were reported in India (Shah and Patel 1979; Midha and Trivedi 1989).

Scientific name: Curcuma longa L.

Common name: Turmeric, Indian saffron, Yellow ginger

The different plant parasitic nematodes like Meloidogyne sp., Rotylenchulus reniformis, Helicotylenchus multicinctus, Hoplolaimus seinhorstii, H. columbus, H. indicus, Tylenchorhynchus martini, Radopholus similis, Pratylenchus delattrei, P. coffeae, Calloosia sp., Tylenchus sp., Aphelenchus sp., Criconemoides ornatus, Longidorus elongidorus and Xiphinema elongatum were recorded from the rhizosphere of turmeric of which Meloidogyne sp., Radopholus similis and Pratylenchus coffeae are of the economic important and caused yield losses (Ayyar 1926; Nirula and Kumar 1963; Nadakal and Thomas 1964; Koshy and Sosamma 1975; Vilsoni et al. 1976; Sosamma et al. 1979; Venkitesan and Charles 1980; Bhardwaj and Hogger 1984; Bai et al. 1995; Ray et al. 1995; Poornima and Sivagami 1998, 1999; Haidar et al. 1998; Koshy et al. 2005; Udo and Nwagwu 2007; Idorenvin and Ugwuoke 2010; Aminu-Taiwo et al. 2015). The results of root-knot nematode management experiment in turmeric was indicated that the soil solarization and the organic soil amendment with poultry manure were founded the effective treatment in controlling disease (Patel et al. 2008; Idorenyin and Ugwuoke 2010). The results of the resistant screening revealed that several cultivars and accessions of this crop were resistant to root-knot nematode (Sasser et al. 1984; Gunasekharan et al. 1987; Mani et al. 1987; Eapen et al. 1999; Mohanta et al. 2015; Prasath et al. 2016).

Scientific name: *Datura stramonium* L. Common name: Thorn apple, Jimson weed

Datuta stramonium was recorded as a good weed host of *Ditylenchus destructor* Thorne in peanut fields in South Africa (Waele et al. 1990) and of *Meloidogyne incognita*, *M. javanica* and *M. arenaria* in Khorasan Province (Iran) and South Carolina (Tedford and Fortum 1988; Gharabadiyan et al. 2012). *M. ethiopica* (Whitehead 1968) was also recognized on *D. stramonium* (O'Bannon 1975).

Scientific name: *Digitalis purpurea* L. Common name: Foxglove, Common foxglove, Digitalis

Paratylenchus spp. (Rashid et al. 1973) and *Pratylenchus penetrans* (Seinhorst 1998) were reported on *Digitalis purpurea*.

Scientific name: *Foeniculum vulgare* Mill Common name: Sweet fennel, Common fennel

Root-knot nematode is a common problem in fennel (Walker 1995; Patel et al. 1995; Park et al. 2007; Ibrahim and Mokbel 2009; Khare et al. 2014; Nasresfahani et al. 2015; Kumar et al. 2016). This parasite can be managed by the application of oil cakes like neem cake (1000 kg/ha) + phorate (1 kg/ha) or 1000 kg castor cake + 1 kg phorate (Patel et al. 2005) and soil solarization with 25μ LLDPE film and rabbing with castor husk at 7 kg/m² (Patel et al. 2002). The other plant parasitic nematodes, *Aphelenchoides siddiqii* in Sudan (Fortuner 1970) and *Helicotylenchus* sp., *Xiphinema* sp., *Tylenchus* sp. and *Tylenchorhynchus* sp. in Iran (Nasresfahani et al. 2015) are described from *Foeniculum vulgare* Mill.

Scientific name: *Glycyrrhiza glabra* L. var. *glabra* Common name: Licorice, liquorice

Aphelenchus avenae and *Pratylenchus* spp. infections were identified on the imported rhizomes of *Glycyrrhiza glabra* from Italy, Polans and Pakistan into New Dehli, India (Mathur et al. 1980).

Scientific name: *Humulus lupulus* L. Common name: Hops, Common hop

The important plant parasitic nematodes including Ditylenchus dipsaci, D. destructor, Bitylenchus dubius, Merlinius brevidens, Rotylenchus robustus, Helicotylenchus canadensis, H. digonicus, H. labiatus, Pratylenchus penetrans, P. pratensis, P. neglectus, P. thornei, Paratylenchus bukowinensis, Geocenamus sp., Trichodorus sp., Criconema sp., Xenocriconemella sp., Mesocriconema sp., Longidorus elongates, Xiphinema diversicaudatum (plant virus-vectore nematodes), Heterodera humuli (cyst nematode) and Meloidogyne spp. (root-knot nematode) were reported from hop plant in India, USA, Czechslovakia, Africa, New Zealand, Australia, Belgium, Canada, England, Holland (Voigt 1894; Percival 1895; Šály and Kříž 1961; Maggenti 1962; Wasilewska 1979; Foot and Wood 1982; Esser 1985; Hogger 1988; McNamara and Eppler 1989; Malan et al. 1991; Hay and Close 1992; Yeates and Wouts 1992; Lopez-Robles 1995; Mende and Mcnamara 1995a, b; Eppler 1999; Hafez et al. 1999; Reis et al. 1986; Hay and Pethybridge 2003; Hanel 2003, 2010; Liskova and Renco 2007; Grasswitz and James 2008; Mahaffee et al. 2009; Hafez et al. 2010; Renco et al. 2010, 2011). For cyst-forming nematode management has been recommended to prevent the transfer of the nematode to younger plants, washing or cleansing the hop cones and agricultural tools to prevent the possible transfer of adhering cysts and plant stock be taken from healthy specimens (Decker 1981).

Scientific name: *Hyoscyamus niger* L. Common name: Henbane, Hyoscyamus

It is known that two species *Meloidogyne incognita* and *M. javanica* attacks to *Hyoscyamus niger* and cause agent of the significant reduction in different plant characters (Haseeb and Pandey 1989; Janardhanan 2002). The other parasitic nematodes; *Hoplolaimus* sp., *Helicotylenchus* sp., *Tylenchorhynchus vulgaris*, *Pratylenchus thornei*, *Rotylenchulus reniformis*, *Xiphinema* sp., *Longidorus* sp. and *Trichodorus* sp. were also isolated from rhizosphere of this plant (Southey 1970; Akhtar et al. 2000). The protecting effects of three vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal (VAM) fungi against the root-knot nematode infection in *Hyoscyamus niger* indicated that *Meloidogyne incognita* populations in both soil and roots decreased in pot experiments and thus the inoculation of VAM fungi was recommend as a wise option instead of nematicides for reducing root-knot diseases in henbane plant (Pandey et al. 1999).

Scientific name: *Levisticum officinale* W.D.J. Koch Common name: Lovage

The migratory endoparasitic nematodes *Zygotylenchus guevarai* and *Pratylenchus sudanensis* were collected from lovage farm at Dasht-e-Room, Boyer-Ahmad, Iran (Ansari et al. 2016).

Scientific name: *Matricaria chamomilla L.* Common name: German chamomile, True chamomile, Common chamomile

The stunt nematode; *Tylenchorhynchus* spp., root lesion nematode; *Pratylenchus* spp. and root-knot nematode; *Meloidogyne* spp. were the major parasitic nematodes on chamomile showed an infection of 81.9, 56 and 45.5%, respectively (Ismail et al. 2002).

Scientific name: Mentha piperita L.

Common name: Pepper mint, Black mint, Candy mint

Information was showed the occurrence and distribution of phytoparasitic nematodes such as *Helicotylenchus digonicus*, *H. pseudorobustus*, *Mesocriconema ornatum*, *Paratylenchus projectus*, *P. tenuicaudatus*, *Tylenchorhynchus clarus*, *Pratylenchus coffeae*, *Rotylenchulus reniformis*, *Xiphinema* sp., *Longidorus elongates*, *Pratylenchus thornei*, *P. penetrans*, *Amplimerlinius gelobigerus*, *Criconema mutabil*, *Criconemella xenoplax*, *Meloidogyne* spp. from India, Iran, Egypt, Pakistan, USA (Bergeson and Green 1979; Haseeb 1994; Haseeb and Shukla 1996; Merrifield and Ingham 1996; Shukla et al. 1998; Hashemi and Akbarinia 2009; Hafez et al. 2010; Khanzada et al. 2012; Ibrahim and Handoo 2016) on pepper mint influence the plant growth, oil yield, physiological and biochemical changes in plant. The survey of the chemical control of *Longidorus elongates* with nonvolatile nematicides was indicated that foliar sprays of oxamyl and later with granular incorporation of aldicarb and oxamyl in soil resulted the greatest yield response (Pinkerton and Jensen 1983).

Scientific name: *Nigella sativa L.* Common name: Black cumin, Black seed

Meloidogyne incognita was recorded on Nigella sativa (Haidar et al. 2001).

Scientific name: Panax ginseng L.

Common name: Chinese ginseng, Korean ginseng, Oriental ginseng

The several studies were revealed presence of plant parasitic nematode namely, Criconemoides morgensis, Ditylenchus destructor, Helicotylenchus dihystera, Meloidogyne incognita, M. hapla, Paratylenchus lepidus, Pratylenchus penetrans, P. subpenetrans, Psilenchus hilarulus, Trichodorus similis, Tylenchorhynchus claytoni, Xiphinema americanum on ginseng (Choi 1976; Ahn et al. 1983; Janardhanan 2002; Chung et al. 2004; Kim et al. 2006). Meloidogyne spp. induce root galls, Ditylenchus destructor attacks tubers and rhizomes, stem-like underground parts, causing the formation of necrosis. D. destructor causing root rot disease of ginseng, infected roots exhibit small discolored spots. In heavy attacks, the epidermis becomes gravish-black, abnormally thin, dry and cracked; underlying tissues are spongy and brownish, forming lumpy masses. P. penetrans is a migratory endoparasite of roots, its infection make fine reddish-brown lesions on rootlets. The typical symptoms resulted of *P. subpenetrans* observed took the form of lesions on the main root of 1-year-old seedlings, the lesions being sunken and the roots constricted in places. Sometimes, severe constrictions occurred at several sites on a single root, producing a bead-like appearance. The lower portion of severely rotted roots was sometimes missing. The control practices for the important nematodes have been suggested. If root lesion nematode populations exceed 100 per 100 cc of soil, when sampled in late summer, soil fumigation prior to planting should be treated. In fields infected by Ditylenchus destructor, the soil fumigation by cylon and treated with ethoprop or triazophos suppressed the nematode populations (Ohh et al. 1983, 1986; Chung et al. 2004; Kim et al. 2006).

Scientific name: *Papaver somniferum L.* Common name: Opium poppy, Common poppy

Different plant parasitic nematodes; Basirolaimus saccharis, Meloidogyne incognita, Boleodorus thylactus, Ditylenchus anchilisposomus, D. dipsaci, Filenchus filiformis, Helicotylenchus digonicus, Pratylenchus alkani, P. coffeae, P. pratensis, Pratylenchoides conincki, Tylenchorhynchus latus, T. striatus, Zygotylenchus guevarai were associated with poppy crop (Papaver somniferum L.) (Schmitt and Lipscomb 1975; Shamsi 1979; Rakesh et al. 1999; Akgul and Okten 2001).

Scientific name: Pimpinella anisum L.

Common name: Anise, Anise seed, Aniseed, Sweet cumin

In the survey carried out in anise growing areas in Burdur province, Turkey 15 species; Sakia propora, Irantylenchus clavidorus, Boleodorus mirus, Tylenchorhynchus annulatus, Bitylenchus maximus, Quinisulcius acutus, Negelus affinis, Hoplolaimus geleatus, Helicotylenchus dihystera, Pratylenchus zeae,

P. alkani, Meloidogyne arenaria, Loofia thienemanni, Ditylenchus dipsaci, Safianema anchilisposoma of the families Tylenchidae, Dolichodoridae, Hoplolaimidae, Pratylenchidae, Meloidogynidae, Hemicycliophoridae and Anguinidae were isolated (Kepenekci 2003).

Scientific name: *Plantago ovata* Forssk. Common name: Plantago, Blond psyllium, Isabgol

Root-knot nematode, *Meloidogyne incognita* was significantly reduced in all growth parameters viz., root shoot length, fresh and dry root-shoot weights, number of spikes/plant and seed weight/plant on plantago (Kumar and Haseeb 2011).

Scientific name: *Rosmarinus officinalis* L. Common name: Rosemary

Plant parasitic nematodes; *Helicotylenchus pseudorobustus*, *H. californicus*, *H. indicus*, *H. nigeriensis*, *Merlinus microdorus*, *M. indicus*, *Boleodorus thylactus*, *Psilenchus minor*, *P. hilarulus* from Iran (Mahdikhani and Mokaram 2011) and different root-knot nematodes; *Meloidogyne* spp. from Brazil and Iran (Pauletti and Echeverrigaray 2002; Nasresfahani et al. 2015), *M. incognita* race 3 (Walker 1995) and *M. javanica* from Israel (Gamliel and Yarden 1998) were collected on rosemary.

Scientific name: Valeriana officinalis L. Common name: Valerian

The root lesion nematode; *Pratylenchus pratensis* from Germany (Pavlyuk 1972), migratory endoparasite nematode; *Ditylenchus* sp. from Russia (Sturhan and Brzeski 1991) and *Meloidogyne* sp., *Helicotylenchus* sp., *Tylenchus* sp. and *Tylenchorhynchus* sp. (Nasresfahani et al. 2015) were reported on valerian.

Scientific name: Vinca minor L.

Common name: Periwinkle, Lesser periwinkle, Small periwinkle

Meloidogyne ardenensis (Susana and Santos 1967), *M. hapla* (Walker 1965; Piron 1975), *Heterodera* sp. (Walker 1965) and *Xiphinema americanum* (Epstein and Barker 1966) were reported from periwinkle.

Scientific name: *Thymus vulgaris* L. Common name: thyme, garden thyme

Two species, *Criconemella antipolitana* and *Geocenamus brevidens* were identified on thyme in Iran (Hashemi and Akbarinia 2009).

There were no reports about the medicinal plants susceptibility of *Angelica* archangelica L. (angelica, garden angelica), *Artemisia dracunculus* L. (tarragon), *Althea officinalis* L. (marsh mallow), *Bunium persicum* (Boiss.) Fedtsch. (black caraway) to plant parasitic nematodes in the literature.

References

- Ahn YJ, Ohh SH, Kim JH, Lee SK (1983) Effect of root-knot nematode infection on ginseng growth and inorganic nutrients in ginseng roots. Korean J Ginseng Sci 7:35–43
- Akgul HC, Okten E (2001) A list of Tylenchida associated with poppy crops (*Papaver somniferum* L.) in Afyon region, Turkey. Nematology 3(3):289–291
- Akhtar H, Farzana B, Kumar SP (2000) Interactive effect of *Pratylenchus thornei* and *Meloidogyne incognita* on the growth of *Hyoscyamus niger*. Indian J Nematology 30 (2):165–169
- Alvani S, Mahdikhani E, Rouhani H (2013) New records of *Boleodorus* Thorne, 1941 from *Berberis vulgaris* L. Iran. Pakistan J Nematology 31(1):01–09
- Alvani S, Mahdikhani-Moghadam E, Rouhani H, Mohammadi A (2016) Four new records of plant parasitic nematodes from Iran. Turkish J Zool 40:601–607
- Alvani S, Mahdikhani-Moghadam E, Rouhani H, Mohammadi A (2015a) Morphological, molecular and phylogenetic study of *Filenchus aquilonius* as a new species for Iranian nematofauna and some other known nematodes from Iran based on D2D3 segments of 28 srRNA gene. J Plant Pathol Microbiol 6(S3):1–7
- Aminu-Taiwo BR, Fawole B, Claudius-Cole AO (2015) Inter J Agric innovations and Res 3 (5):1431–1435
- Ansari S, Charehgani H, Abdolahi M, Ghaderi R (2016) The occurrence of two migratory endoparasitic nematodes (Nematoda: Pratylenchidae) on medicinal plants from Boyer-Ahmad region. In: Proceedings of 22nd Iranian plant protection congress. College of agriculture and natural resources, University of Tehran, Karaj, Iran, 27–30 Aug, p 246
- Ayyar PNK (1926) A preliminary note on the root gal nematode, *Heterodera radicicola* and its economic importance in South India. Madras Agric J 14:113–118
- Bai H, Sheela MS, Jiji T (1995) Nemic association and avoidable yield loss in turmeric, *Curcuma longa L.* Pest Manage Hortic Ecosyst 1:105–110
- Bergeson GB, Green RJ Jr (1979) Damage to cultivars of peppermint, *Mentha piperita*, by the lesion nematode *Pratylenchus penetrans* in Indiana. Plant Dis Reporter 63(1):91–94
- Bernard EC, Eisenback JD (1997) *Meloidogyne trifoliophila* n. sp. (Nemata: Meloidogynidae) from Tennessee. J Nematology 29: 43–54
- Bernard EC, Jennings PL (1997) Host range and distribution of the clover root-knot nematode, *Meloidogyne trifoliophila*. Suppl to the J Nematology 29(4s):662–672
- Bhardwaj LN, Hogger CH (1984) Root-knot nematodes of chitwan district of Nepal. Nematologia Mediterr 12:155–158
- Bhat AR, Khan TA, Farooq U (2014) Occurrence of root-knot and reniform nematodes in ornamental plants grown in Aligarh Muslim University Campus, India. Am J Plant Sci 5:1885– 1888
- Brito JA, Dickson DW, Kaur R, Vau S, Stanley JD (2015) The peach root-knot nematode: *Meloidogyne floridensis*, and its potential impact for the peach industry in Florida. Nematology Circular, 224
- Brzeski MW (1991) Taxonomy of *geocenamus* thorne and malek, 1968 (Nematoda: Belonolaimidae). Nematologica 37:125–173
- Budurova LB, Baicheva O, Milkova M (1996) *Geocenamus dobroticus* sp. n. (Nematoda: Dolichodoridae) from wheat fields in northeastern Bulgaria. Comptes Rendus de l'Academie Bulgare Des Sci 49:103–106
- Castillo P, Vovlas N (2007) Nematology monographs and perspectives. Volum 6. *Pratylenchus* (Nematoda: Pratylenchidae): diagnosis, biology, pathogenicity and management. In: Hunt DJ, Perry RN (eds) Brill, Leiden, Boston, p 523
- Chizhov VN, Subbotin SA (1985) A revision of nematodes of the subfamily Anguininae (Nematoda, Tylenchida) on the basis of their biological peculiarities. Zoologicheskii zhurnal 64:1476–1486

- Choi YE (1976) A study of ginseng parasitic nematodes. Monopoly Research Institute Report, Seoul, Korea, p 39
- Chung KC, Park SD, Khan Z, Kim BJ (2004) A survey for plant-parasitic nematodes associated with ginseng (*Panax ginseng* C.A. Meyer). Korean J Med Crop Sci 12(5):355–359
- Cobb NA (1926) Nemic diseases of narcissus. Official Records, USDA, 5, 3
- Dale PS (1971) Root knot nematodes. N Z J Agric 122:33-37
- De Grisse A (1962) *Paratylenchus vandenberandei* n. sp. (Nematoda- Criconematidae) nouvelle espece de Paratylenchus, associee aux raciness d'agave au Kenya. Nematologica 8:229–232 (in French)
- Decker H (1981) Plant nematodes and their control (phytonematology). In: Sveshnikova NM (ed) E.J. Brill, Leiden, New York, Kobenhavn, Koln, p 540
- Decker H (1989) Leaf-parasitic nematodes. In: Sveshnikova, N.M. (ed). Plant Nematodes and their control, Phytonematology, EJ BRILL, New York, pp: 354–368.
- Eapen SJ, Ramana KV, Sasikumar B, Johnson KG (1999) Screening of ginger and turmeric germplasm for resistance against root-knot nematodes. In: Dhwan SC (ed) Proceedings of national symposium on rational approaches in nematode management for sustainable agriculture, nematological society of India, New Delhi, pp 142–144
- Eppler A (1999) Die Fauna des Hopfens. In: Proceedings 51st international symposium on crop protection, Gent, Belgium. Universiteit Gent, vol 64, pp 133–147
- Epstein AH, Barker KR (1966) Pathogenicity of *Xiphinema americanum* on *Vinca minor*. Plant Dis Reporter 50:420–422
- Esser RP (1985) Characterization of potato rot nematode, Ditylenchus destructor Thorne, 1945 (Tylenchidae) for regulatory purposes. Nematology Circular, 124
- Evtushenko LI, Dorofeeva LV, Dobrovolskaya TG, Subbotin SA (1994) Coryneform bacteria from plant galls induced by nematodes of the subfamily Anguininae. Russ J Nematology 2(2): 99–104
- Foot MA, Wood FH (1982) Potato rot nematode, *Ditylenchus destructor* (Nematoda: Tylenchidae), infecting hops in New Zealand. N Z J Exp Agric 10:443–446
- Fortuner R (1970) On the morphology of *Aphelenchoides besseyi* Christie, 1942 and *A. siddiqii* n. sp. (Nematoda: Aphelenchoidea). J Helminthol 44(2):141–152
- Fotedar DN, Handoo ZA (1977) Aerotylenchus safroni n.gen., n.sp. (Nematoda: Tylenchida) from Kashmir, India. Indian J Nematol 7(2):145–147
- Gamliel A, Yarden O (1998) Diversification of diseases affecting herb crops in Israel accompanies the increase in herb crop production. Phytoparasitica 26(1):1–5
- Gharabadiyan F, Jamali S, Ahmadiyan Yazdi A (2012) Weed hosts of root-knot nematodes in tomato fields. J Plant Prot Res 52(2):230–234
- Golden AM, Birchfield W (1965) *Meloidogyne graminicola* (Heteroderidae) a new species of root knot nematode from grass. Proceedings of the Helminthological Society of Washington 32: 228–231
- Golden AM, Klindic O (1973) *Heterodera achilleae* n. sp. (Nematoda: Heteroderidae) from Yarrow in Yugoslavia. J Nematology 5(3):196–201
- Goodey T (1938) Observations on Anguillulina millefolii (Low, 1874) Goodey, 1932, from galls on the leaves of yarrow Achillea millefolium L. J Helminthol 16(2):93–108
- Grasswitz T, James D (2008) Biology, phenology, and control of *Hypena humuli* (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae), an emerging pest of hops (*Humulus lupulus*) (Cannabaceae) in the USA. Inter J Pest Manage 54:333–338
- Gunasekharan CR, Vadivelu S, Jayaraj S (1987) Experiments on nematodes of turmeric-a rev. In: Proceeding of the third group discussions on the nemtological problems of plantation crops 29–30 October. Sugarcane Breeding Institute, Coimbatore, Tamil Nadu, India, pp 45–46
- Hafez SL, Sundararaj P, Barbour J (1999) Impact of *Heterodera humuli* on growth and mineral nutrition composition of hops *Humulus lupulus* cv. Cascade. Inter J Nematology 9:23–26
- Hafez SL, Sundararaj P, Handoo ZA, Siddiqi MR (2010) Occurrence and distribution of nematodes in Idaho crops. Inter J Nematology 20(1):91–98

- Haidar MG, Askary TN, Dwivedi NB (2001) Studies on nematodes of spices-III. Effect of different inoculum levels of *Meloidogyne incognita* on *Carum copticum* and *Nigella sativa*. Indian J Nematology 31(1):92–93
- Haidar MG, Jha RN, Nath RP (1998) Efficacy of some nematicides and organic soil amendments on nematode population and growth characters of turmeric (*Curcuma longa L.*). J Res Birsa Agric Univ 10:211–213
- Haldar K, Gupta SK (2015) A report on occurrence of nematodes on medicinal plants of Narendrapur medicinal plants garden (west Bengal). Glob J Res Anal 4(11)
- Handoo ZA, Nyczepir AP, Esmenjaud D, vander Beek JG, Castagnone-Sereno P, Carta LK, Skantar AM, Higgins JA (2004) Morphological, molecular, and differential-host characterization of *Meloidogyne floridensis* n. sp. (Nematoda: Meloidogynidae), a root-knot nematode parasitizing peach in Florida. J Nematology 36:20–35
- Hanel L (2003) Soil nematodes in cambisol agroecosystems of the Czech Republic. Biologia (Bratislava) 58:205-216
- Hanel L (2010) An outline of soil nematode succession on abandoned fields in South Bohemia. Appl Soil Ecol 46:355–371
- Haseeb A (1994) Plant parasitic nematodes of medicinal and aromatic plants. In: Singh T, Trivedi PC (eds) Vistas in seed biology, vol 2. Printwell, Jaipur, India, pp 98–119
- Haseeb A, Pandey R (1989) Root-knot disease of Henbane, *Hyoscyamus-*a new disease record. Tropical pest management 35(2):212–213
- Haseeb A, Shukla PK (1996) Suppressive effect of *Pralylenchus thomei* on the physiological and biochemical parameters of *Mentha piperita*. Nematropica 26:81–85
- Hashemi SRR, Akbarinia A (2009) Nematodes of the order Tylenchida affecting five medicinal plants in Qazvin province. Iran J For Range Prot Res 6(2):138–141 (In Persian)
- Hay F, Pethybridge S (2003) Plant-parasitic nematodes associated with hop production in Tasmania, Australia. J Phytopathology 151:369–375
- Hay FS, Close RC (1992) Xiphinema diversicaudatum (Micoletzky, 1927) Thorne, 1939 in commercial hop (*Humulus lupulus* L.) gardens in New Zealand implication for the spread of Arabic Mozaic Virus. N Z J Crop and Hortic Sci 20:367–370
- Hogger CH (1988) Plant parasitic nematodes in Swiss hop yeards. Hopfen-Rundschau 39:127-130
- Hofmanner B, Menzel R (1914) Neue arten freilebender nematoden aus der schweiz. Zoologischer anzeiger 44:80–91 (in German)
- Hooper DJ, Doncaster CC (1972) Stem and inflorescence galls on yarrow (Achillea millefolium L.) caused by the nematode Anguina millefolii (Low, 1874) Filipiev, 1936. Plant Pathol 21(1):46
- Husain SI, Khan AM (1968) Paurodontella n. gen. and three new species of nematodes from North India (Nematoda: Neotylenchidae). Nematologica 13:493–500
- Ibrahim IKA, Handoo ZA (2016) Occurrence of phytoparasitic nematodes on some crop plants in northern Egypt. Pakistan J Nematology 34(2):163–169
- Ibrahim IKA, Mokbel AA (2009) Occurrence and distribution of the root-knot nematodes *Meloidogyne* spp. and their host plants in northern Egypt. The Egypt J Exp Biol (Botany) 5:125–129
- Idorenyin AU, Ugwuoke KI (2010) Pathogenicity of *Meloidogyne incognita* race 1 on turmeric (*Curcuma longa* L.) as influenced by inoculum density and poultry manure amendment. Plant Pathol J 9(4):162–168
- Ismail AE, El-Nagdi WMA, Youssef MMA (2002) Plant pararsitic nematodes associated with chamomile (*Matricaria chamomilla* L.) in Egypt. Pak J Nematology 20(2):57–67
- Janardhanan KK (2002) Disease of major medicinal plants. Daya Publish, House Delhi, India, p 189
- Kasimova GA, Atakishieva YY (1980) The nematode fauna of *Crocus sativus* in Apsheron. Izvestiya Akademii Nauk Azerbaidzhanskoi SSR (Azarbajcan SSR Elmlar Akademijasynyn Habarlari). Biol Nauki 1:94–98
- Kepenekci I (2003) Preliminary list of Tylenchida (Nematoda) associated with anise (*Pimpinella anisum* L.) in Turkey. Pak J Nematology 21(1):37–40

- Khan E, Basir MA (1964) Boleodorus impar n. sp. (Nematoda: Tylenchida) from India. Proceedings of helminthological society of washington, 31:187–190
- Khanzada SA, Naeemullah M, Munir A, Iftikhar S, Masood S (2012) Plant parasitic nematodes associated with different *Mentha* species. Pak J Nematology 30(1):21–26
- Khare MN, Tiwari SP, Sharma YK (2014) Disease problems in fennel (*Foeniculum vulgare* Mill) and fenugreek (*Trigonella foenum graceum* L.) cultivation and their management for production of quality pathogen free seeds. Inter J seed spices 4(2):11–17
- Kim JH, Jeon YH, Park H, Lee B-D, Cho D-H, Park B-Y, Khan Z, Kim YH (2006) The root-lesion nematode, *Pratylenchus subpenetrans*, on ginseng (*Panax ginseng*) in Korea. Nematology 8(4):637–639
- Koliopanos CN, Kalyviotis-Gazelas GL (1979) Nematodes and host plants identified for the first time in Greece. Annales de l'Institut phytopayhologique benaki 12:50–58
- Koshy PK, Sosamma VK (1975) Host-range of *Radopholus similis* (Cobb, 1893) Thorne, 1949. Indian J Nematology 5:255–257
- Koshy PK, Eapen SJ, Pandey R (2005) Nematode parasites of spices, condiments and medicinal plants. In: Luc M, Sikora RA, Bridge J (eds) plant parasitic nematodes in sub-tropical and tropical agriculture, 2nd edn. CAB publishing, USA, pp 751–791
- Kumar K, Sharma MK, Chandrawat BS, Srivastava AS, Thagaria G (2016) Studies on life cycle of root-knot nematode, *Meloidogyne incognita* on fennel (*Foeniculum vulgare Mill.*). Curr Nematology 27(1):39–43
- Kumar V, Haseeb A (2011) Effect of different initial population densities of *Meloidogyne incognita* on the root-knot development, nematode multiplication, plant growth and seed yield of *Plantago ovata*. Curr Nematology 22(1, 2):45–48
- Lima MB, Siddiqi MR (1963) *Boleodorus volutus* n. sp. (Nematoda: Nothotylenchinae) found in soil about grass roots in England. Nematologica 9:19–23
- Liskova M, Renco M (2007) Communities of free living and plant parasitic nematodes in hop gardens in Slovakia. Helminthologia 44(2):80–86
- Lopez-Robles J (1995) Distribution of *Heterodera humuli* in Spain. Nematologia Mediterr 23:73–75
- Low F (1874) *Tylenchus millefolii* n.sp., eine neue gallenerzeugende Anguillulide. Verhandlungen der Zoologisch-Botanischen Gesellschaft in Wien 24: 17–24
- MacGowan JB, Langdon KR (1989) Hosts of the root-knot nematode *Meloidogyne graminicola*. Nematology circular 172
- Magbool MA, Hashmi S, Qasim M (1985) Identification of species and races of *Meloidogyne* spp. and some new host records from Sind and Baluchistan. Nematologia Mediterr 13:119–121
- Maggenti AR (1962) Hot water treatment of hop rhizomes for nematode control. Calif Agric 16:11-12
- Mahaffee WF, Pethybridge SJ, Gent DH (2009) Compendium of hop diseases and pests. Am Phytopathological Soc. St. Paul, MN
- Mahdikhani ME, Mokaram HA (2011) Identification of plant parasitic nematodes of *Rosmarinus* officinalis in campus Ferdowsi university of Mashhad. J Plant Prot (Agricultural Science and Technology) 24(4):428–436 (In persian)
- Mahdikhani E, Alvani S (2013) Plant parasitic nematodes from rhizosphere of saffron (Crocus sativus L.) with two new records of Geocenamus squamatus and Filenchus pratensis fron Iran. Pak J Nematology 31(2):99–103
- Malan AP, Pieterse W, Britis G (1991) Plant-parasitic nematodes associated with hops (*Humulus lupulus* L.) in South Africa. Phytopathologica 23:173–175
- Mani A, Naidu PH, Madhavachari S (1987) Occurrence and control of *Meloidogyne incognita* on turmeric in Andhra Pradesh, India. Inter Nematology Netw Newsl 4:13–18
- Mathur VK, Lal A, Sanwal KC, Singh RV (1980) Record of plant parasitic nematodes on *Glycyrrhiza glabra*. Indian J Nematology 10(2):257–258
- McCuiston JL, Hudson LC, Subbotin SA, Davis EL, Warfield, CY (2007) Conventional and PCR detection of *Aphelenchoides fragariae* in diverse ornamental host plant species. J Nematology 39:343–355

- McNamara DG, Eppler A (1989) The Longidoridae occuring in the German hop-growing regions.
 In: Eppler A (ed) Deutsche Phytomedizinische Gesellschaft. Proceedings international workshop on hop virus diseases rauischholzhausen, pp 195–197
- McSorley R, Frederick JJ (1994) Response of some common annual bedding plants to three species of *Meloidogyne*. Suppl J Nematology 26(4s):773–777
- McSorley R, Frederick JJ (2001) Host suitability of some vinca and salvia cultivars to two isolates of root-knot nematodes. In: Proceedings of the Florida state horticultural society, vol 114, pp 239–241
- Mende NV, Mcnamara DG (1995a) Biology of the hop cyst nematode *Heterodera humuli* I. Life cycle and survival. Annu of Appl Biol 126:505–516
- Mende NV, Mcnamara DG (1995b) Biology of the hop cyst nematode *Heterodera humuli* II. Host-parasite relationship of the nematode and its interaction with *Verticillium alboatrum*. Annu Appl Biol 126:517–526
- Merrifield KJ, Ingham RE (1996) Population dynamics of *Pratylenchus penetrans*, *Paratylenchus* sp., and *Criconemella xenoplax* on western Oregon peppermint. J Nematology 28(4):557–564
- Metcalf H (1903) Cultural studies of a nematode associated with plant decay. Trans Am Microscopical Soc 24:89–102
- Midha RL, Trivedi PC (1989) Evaluation of Cumin varieties against root-knot nematode Meloidogyne incognita. Indian J Nematology 19(2):264
- Minagawa N (1985) A new nematode, *Merlinius acuminatus* n. sp. (Tylenchida: Tylenchorhynchidae) from Japan. Edaphologia 34:15–20
- Mohanta S, Swain PK, Sial P, Rout GR (2015) Morphological and molecular screening of turmeric (*Curcuma longa L.*). Cultivars for resistance against parasitic nematode, *Meloidogyne* incognita. J Plant Pathol Microbiol 6(5):270–75
- Nadakal AM, Thomas N (1964) Studies on plant parasitic nematodes of Kerala. II. A list of plants attacked by root-knot nematode, *Meloidogyne* spp. Curr Sci 33:247–248
- Nasresfahani M, Mohsenzadeh Kermani A, Zargani M, Alizadeh M (2015) Evaluation nematode of some medicinal plant in Isfahan. Indian J Fundam Appl Life Sci 5(S1):2665–2674
- Nirula KK, Kumar R (1963) Collateral hosts of root-knot nematodes. Curr Sci 32:221-222
- O'Bannon JH (1975) Nematode survey in Ethiopia. Institute of Agricultural research of Adis ababa, Ethiopia and FAO, Rome
- Ohh SH, Lee SK, Lee JH, Han SC (1983) New root rot disease of *Panax ginseng* due to *Ditylenchus destructot* Thorne. Korean J Plant Pathology 22:181–185
- Ohh SH, Yu YH, Cho DH, Lee JH, Kim YH (1986) Effect of chemical treatments on population changes of *Ditylenchus destructor* and responses of *Panax ginseng*. Korean J Plant Prot 25:169–173
- Ortuno N, Oros R (2002) Nematodos que atacan cultivos ornamentals. Manejo integrado de plagas y agroecologia (Costa Rica) 66:76–81
- Pandey R, Gupta ML, Singh HB, Kumar S (1999) The influence of vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi alone or in combination with *Meloidogyne incognita* on *Hyoscyamus niger* L. Biores Technol 69:275–278
- Park SD, Khan Z, Kim YH (2007) Evaluation of medicinal herbs for resistance to root-knot nematode, *Meloidogyne incognita* in Korea. Nematropica 37(1):73–77
- Patel BA, Patel RG, Patel HR, Vyas RV, Patel BN, Patel JG (2002) Management of root-knot nematode, *Meloidogyne javanica* pathotype 2 in fennel nursery. In: Proceedings of national symposium on biodiversity and management of nematodes in cropping systems for sustainable agriculture. Rajasthan agricultural university, Jaipur. 11–13 Nov, pp 128–130
- Patel BA, Vyas RV, Patel BN, Patel JG (2008) Management of root-knot nematodes in turmeric. Trends in Biosci 1(1 & 2):37–39
- Patel DJ, Patel SK, Patel HV (1995) Yield loss estimation in fennel (*Foeniculum vulgare* Mill.) due to root-knot nematode. J Spices Aromat Crops 4:84–85
- Patel SK, Patel HV, Patel AD, Patel DJ (2005) Integrated management of root knot nematode Meloidogyne javanica (Treub) Chitwood in fennel (Foeniculum vulgare Mill). J Spices Aromat Crops 14:152–154

- Pauletti G, Echeverrigaray S (2002) Prevalence of root-knot nematodes in cultivated herbs of the labiaceae family in Rio Grande Do Sul (Brazil). Acta Hort 569:311–315
- Pavlyuk LV (1972) Analysis of the nematode fauna of Valeriana officinalis L., cultivated in the Moscow region. Vestnik Zoologii 6:30–34
- Percival J (1895) An eelworm disease of hops. Natural science 5:187-197
- Pinkerton JN, Jensen HJ (1983) Chemical control of *Longidorus elongates* on peppermint with nonvolatile nematicides. Plant Dis 67:201–203
- Piron PP (1975) Diseases and pest of ornamental plants. A wiley-Interscience Publication. Wiley, New York. Chichester, Brisbane, Toronto, p 584
- Poornima K, Vadivelu S (1998) Pathogenicity of *Meloidogyne incognita* of turmeric (*Curcuma longa L.*). In: Proceedings of the 3rd international symposium of Afro-Asia society of nematologists (TISAASN), April 16–19, Sugarcane reading institute (ICAR), Coimbatore, India, UK, pp 29–31
- Poornima K, Sivagami V (1999) Occurrence and seasonal population behavior of phytonematodes in turmeric (*Curcuma longa* L.). Pest Manage Hortic Ecosyst 5(1):42–45
- Prasath D, Eapen SJ, Sasikumar B (2016) Performance of turmeric (*Curcuma longa*) genotypes for yield and root-knot nematode resistance. Indian J Agric Sci 86(9):1189–1192
- Rakesh P, Kumar S, Gupta M, Singh HN (1999) Root-knot diseases on opium poppy—a new disease record. Indian Phytopathol 52:1–101
- Ramakrishnan S, Senthilkumar T (2009) Non-chemical management of root-knot nematode, Meloidogyne incognita in Ashwagandha (Withania somnifera Dunal.) and Senna (Cassia angustifolia Vahl.). Indian J Nematology 39(2):170–174
- Rashid A, Fasahat A, Khan A, Khan AM (1973) Plant parasitic nematodes associated with vegetables, fruits, cereals and other crops in north India I. Uttar Pradesh. Indian J Nematology 3:8–23
- Ray S, Mohanty KC, Mohapatra SN, Patrick PR, Ray P (1995) Yield losses in ginger (*Zingiber officinale* Rosc) and turmeric (*Curcuma longa* L.) due to root-knot nematode (*Meloidogyne incognita*). J Spices Aromat Crops 4:67–69
- Reis LGL, Sequeira OA, Silva CAO (1986) Phytoparasitic nematodes in Pourtuguese hop gardens. Revue de nematologie 9:305–306
- Renco M, Cermak V, Gaar V (2011) Vertical distribution of hop cyst nematode in hop gardens in central Europe. J Nematology 43(3–4):220–222
- Renco M, Liskova M, Čerevkova A (2010) Seasonal fluctuations of the nematode communities in a hop garden soil. Helminthologia 47:115–122
- Russo G, Soppelsa O, D'Errico G (2008) Infestation of root-knot nematodes (*Meloidogyne spp.*) on two flower plants of new introduction: *Calendula officinalis* L. and *Paeonia lactiflora* Pall. REDIA—J Xoology, Xci 163–166
- Šaly A, Kriz J (1961) Hop cyst nematode—pest of hop. Chmelařství 34:43
- Sanchez-Monge A, Flores L, Salazar L, Hockland S, Bert W (2015) An updated list of the plants associated with plant-parasitic *Aphelenchoides* (Nematoda: Aphelenchoididae) and its implications for plant-parasitism within this genus. Zootaxa 4013(2):207–224
- Sasser JN, Carter CC, Hartman KM (1984) Standardization of host suitability studies and reporting of resistance to root-knot nematodes. North Carolina State Graphics Raleigh, NC, USA, p 7
- Schenk PK (1970) Root rot in Crocus. Neth J Plant Pathol 76:159-164
- Schmitt CG, Lipscomb B (1975) Pathogens of selected members of the Papaveraceae: an annotated bibliography. Beltsville, MD, USA, Agricultural Research Service, Northeastern Region No. 62, p 186
- Seinhorst JW (1998) The common relation between population density and plant weight in pot and microplot experiments with various nematode plant combinations. Fundam Appl Nematology 21(5):459–468
- Shah HM, Patel DJ (1979) Occurrence of root-knot disease in cumin. Indian J Nematology 9:179– 180
- Shamsi MA (1979) Basirolaimus gen. n. (Nematoda: Hoplolaimidae) with the description of Basirolaimus sacchari n. sp. from India. Nematologia Mediterr 7:15-19

- Sheikh JH, Chishti MZ, Rasheed M, Tak I-ur-R, Ali Dar S (2014) Occurrence of *Helicotylenchus Chishti* sp.n. (order = Tylenchida) on *Crocus sativus* (Saffron) and its genetic buildup analysis and a note on its possible management strategy. J Zoolog Biosci 1(3):10–14
- Shukla PK, Haseeb A, Srivastava NK (1998) Influence of pH on reproduction and damage potential of *Pratylenchus thornei* on *Mentha piperita*. Fundam Appl Nematology 21(1): 103–105
- Sosamma VK, Sudararaju P, Koshy PK (1979) Effect of *Radopholus similis* on turmeric. Indian J Nematology 9:27–31
- Southey JE (1993) Nematode pest of ornamental and bulb crops. In: Evans K, Trudgill DL, Webster JM (eds) Plant parasitic nematodes in temperate agriculture. Cambridge, Inglaterra, CAB Internacional, p 648
- Southey JF (1970) Laboratory methods for work with plant and soil nematodes. Technical bulletin number 2, Ministry of agriculture, fish and food. Her majesty stationary office, London, p 148
- Steiner G, Buhrer EM (1932) The nonspecificity of the brown-ring symptoms in narcissus attacked by nematodes. Phytopathol 22:927–928
- Sturhan D, Brzeski MW (1991) Stem and bulb nematodes, *Ditylenchus* spp. In: Nickle WR (ed) Manual of agricultural nematology, pp 423–464. Marcel Decker Inc., New York. (p 1064)
- Susana M, De N, Santos A (1967) *Meloidogyne ardenensis* n.sp. (Nematoda: Heteroderidae), a new British species of root-knot nematode. Nematologica 13:593–598
- Tedford EC, Fortnum BA (1988) Weed hosts of *Meloidogyne arenaria* and *M. incognita* common in tobacco fields in South Carolina. J Nematology 20(2S):102–105
- Thorne G (1941) Some nematodes of the family Tylenchidae which do not possess a valvular median esophageal bulb. Great Basin Nat 2:37-85
- Udo IA, Nwagwu FA (2007) The response of an exotic tomato cultivar F₁ Mongal STRO 1 to different population densities of *Meloidogyne incognita* race 1 and *M. javanica*. J Appl Sci 10:7243–7253
- Van Den Berg E (1987) *Hemicycliophora* species from the Cape province with a key to the South African species (Hemicycliophoridae: Nematoda). Phytophylactica 19:303–307
- Venkitesan TS, Charles JS (1980) Plant parasitic nematodes associated with turmeric in Kerala and nature of infection by *Meloidogyne* sp. In: Proceedings of the national seminar on ginger and turmeric. Calicut, April 8–9
- Vilsoni F, McClure MA, Butler LD (1976) Occurrence, host range and histopathology of *Radopholus similis* in ginger (*Zingiber officinale*). Plant Dis Reporter 60(5):417–420
- Voigt W (1894) Neue Varietät des R
 übennematoden (*Heterodera schachtii*) S.B. niederrhein. Ges Nat Heilk 51:94–97
- Waele DD, Jordaan EM, Basson S (1990) Host status of seven weed species and their effects on Ditylenchus destructor infestation of peanut. J Nematology 22(3):292–296
- Walker JT (1995) Garden herbs as hosts for southern root-knot nematode [Meloidogyne incognita (Kofoid & White) Chitwood, race 3]. Hort Sci 30(2):292–293
- Walker JT, Melin JB, Davis J (1994) Sensitivity of bedding plants to southern root-knot nematode, Meloidogyne incognita race 3. J Nematology 26(4S):778–781
- Walker M (1965) Some records of known and suspected plant-parasitic nematodes encountered in Canada in 1965. Can Plant Dis Surv 45(4):127–129
- Wasilewska L (1979) The structure and function of soil nematode communities in natural ecosystems and agrocenoses. Pol Ecol Stud 5:97–145
- Whitehead AG (1968) Taxonomy of *Meloidogyne* (Nematoda: Heteroderidae) with descriptions of four new species. Trans Zool Soc London 31:263–401
- Yeates GW, Wouts WM (1992) *Helicotylenchus* spp. (Nematoda: Tylenchida) from managed soils in New Zealand. N Z J Zool 13:13–23
- Zarina B, Maqbool MA (1998) Descriptions and observations on two new and two known species of the genus *Pratylenchus* Filipjev, 1936 (Nematoda: Pratylenchidae) from Pakistan. Pak J Nematology, 16: 13-24

Plant Derived Essential Oils Against *Aedes aegypti* L. and Their Biotechnological Production

Clarice Noleto Dias, Ludmilla Santos Silva de Mesquita, Denise Fernandes Coutinho and Sonia Malik

Abstract Aedes aegyti L, is the main vector of important viruses like Dengue. Yellow, Zika and Chikungunya fevers. In many countries, these diseases are considered as great public health problems due to the serious consequences they can cause such as Guillain-Barré syndrome, neurological disorders and internal hemorrhagic problems, which may lead to death. The transmission of these diseases occurs through the bite of infected female of A. aegypti. According to World Health Organization, the major way to avoid the spread of these diseases is to control the vector by using larvicides and insecticides products. Many efforts have been done to find natural products that can be used to eliminate different phases of the life cycle of this mosquito. Among these, essential oils are recognized as important plant-derived products to control A. aegypti. Essential oils are complex mixture of mono, sesquiterpenes and phenylpropanoids and normally have a nice odor. Several studies have shown the larvicidal and insecticides properties of essential oils in plants belonging to different families. The literature studies indicated that in most of the cases monoterpenes like geraniol and citronellol, and phenylpropanoids; eugenol were the main components of essential oils that can control A. aegypti spread. In vitro studies suggested that composition and production of essential oils could be manipulated by the use of different concentrations and combinations of growth regulators and elicitors.

Keywords Medicinal plants • Mosquitoes-borne diseases • Plant derived natural compounds • Larvicides • Insecticides

Department of Pharmacy, Biological and Health Sciences Center,

Federal University of Maranhao, Sao Luis, MA 65085-580, Brazil

S. Malik (🖂)

Graduate Program in Health Sciences, Biological and Health Sciences Center, Federal University of Maranhao, Sao Luis, MA 65085-580, Brazil e-mail: 777soniamalik@gmail.com

C.N. Dias · L.S.S. de Mesquita · D.F. Coutinho

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017 M. Ghorbanpour and A. Varma (eds.), *Medicinal Plants and Environmental Challenges*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-68717-9_19

Introduction

Mosquitoes-borne diseases have become a very serious public health problem worldwide in recent decades with more than one million deaths annually (Zhang et al. 2016). Among these insects capable for transmission of infectious diseases, *Aedes (Stegomyia) aegypti* L. (Diptera: Culicidae) has been playing a role as the most dangerous vector for the human being. This mosquito is considered as the main vector transmitting several kinds of viruses which cause Dengue, Yellow, Zika and Chikungunya fevers (WHO 2017a).

The incidence of Dengue fever has increased in the past decades worldwide. Dengue is still considered as an important mosquito-borne viral disease, being endemic in more than one hundred countries. It is most common in tropical areas, being influenced by several factors such as temperature, relative humidity, urbanization and effectiveness of vector control in urban places. The dengue virus (DEN) belongs to Flavivirus genus and comprises four serotypes, each one among them causes the severe dengue (dengue haemorrhagic) fever (WHO 2012a, b).

The Zika virus (ZIKV) causes a very serious disease and its geographic distribution occurs globally although it is most frequent in America (WHO 2017a). This virus is primarily transmitted by mosquito vector bite and *A. aegypti* is its main vector. However, this virus is found in different body fluids but can also be transmitted by sexual contact or during the pregnancy. Recently, the infection with ZIKV was linked with microcephaly among newborns and besides the cases of Guillain-Barré syndrome and other neurological disorders, the concern about this virus is also increasing and there is need to control the vector (WHO 2016).

Chikungunya fever is another viral disease that can be transmitted by *A. aegypti*. Its main symptoms are fever, severe joint pain, muscle pain, nausea, fatigue and rash. Due to similar clinical signs and symptoms, Dengue and Zika may be misdiagnosed with Chikungunya. The treatment is based on relieving its symptoms and signs as these other viral diseases. The main outbreak of this disease was noticed in America in 2015. However, it is also reported in Africa, Asia, Europe and India areas (WHO 2017b).

Yellow fever is another vector-borne disease with major vector mosquitoes from genera *Haemagogus*. The resurgence of *Aedes aegypti* in urban areas after failing of vector control programs in several countries during the last decades of previous century has allowed the re-urbanization of Yellow fever (Vasconcelos et al. 1999). Since 2016, many new cases of Yellow fever have been reported in the southeast of Brazil. In the states of Minas Gerais, Espírito Santo, São Paulo, Rio de Janeiro and Bahia, yellow fever cases were confirmed by Brazilian authorities and many patients died due to this fever (WHO 2017b). Based on these reports, it became quite important to find new strategies to achieve *A. aegypti* control.

A. *aegypti* is a highly anthropophilic species. It has adapted to the urban environment and uses containers with water for oviposition, both artificial as bottle, tires, flowerpots, buckets, glasses, cans etc. or natural ones such as treeholes, flowers and plant axils. The eggs hatches and it starts the development of the

aquatic stages of its life cycle until it becomes an insect. Its adult form is a small and black mosquito with white lyre shaped, which is used to differentiate from another insets. The eggs may survive during long time when they are in dry environment, allowing the easy spread to new places. When it rains, the life cycle of the mosquitoes may start. Both female and male adult form of *A. aegypti* feed on organic material, like nectar of plants, however female need blood in order to develop eggs (Dias and Moraes 2014; Klowden 2007).

The transmission of virus to humans occurs through the bites of infected female mosquitoes, which are daytime feeders. Unfortunately, there is no effective vaccine against Zika and Chikungunya fever and there is no report about effectiveness of Dengue vaccine. On the other hand, there are no specific drugs available to prevent viral propagation nor as antiviral action. Thus the control programs to avoid the spread of these diseases are targeted directly to the mosquitos' vectors at different phases of their life cycle.

The larvicides are employed against the development of the mosquito at various stages, where the transmission occurs. The organophosphate temephos is the most appropriate larvicide to be used in public health programmes (Tikar et al. 2008; WHO 2009). However, the continued and repeated use of temephos has contributed to the development of resistance besides the death of no target organisms. The use of spraying insecticides in reducing populations of *A. aegypti* is considered as a primary method of controlling virus transmission. Although pyrethroids and organophosphates are used worldwide in order to control the virus transmission but *A. aegypti* is becoming resistant to these compounds (Darbro et al. 2017).

Although the strategies used to eliminate *A. aegypti* normally rely on pesticides (larvicides and insecticides) but the results have not revealed the decrease of these viruses. In 2015, there was 1–6 million cases of dengue fever, including 863 deaths. In 2016, the microcephaly cases warned the whole world about this mosquito. The Chikungunya may cause the incapacity or problems of mobility. Thus it is necessary to find out more effective vector control to reduce mortality and morbidity attributable to avoid environment pollution mainly because there are no specific drugs available to treat these viruses. The huge efforts have been conducted in search of new active natural products such as plant derived bioactive compounds. In this field, essential oils represent a special alternative against *A. aegypti*. Many essentials oils as well their isolated compounds have been proved to possess repellent activity against mosquitoes.

Essential Oils Against *Aedes aegypti* and Their Chemical Composition

Essential oils are complex mixtures of low molecular weight lipophilic organic compounds. Their main groups of secondary metabolites are sesquiterpenes; derived from the mevalonate biosynthetic pathway, mono- and diterpenes from the

methyl-erythritol pathway and products from the shikimic acid pathway, phenyl-propanoids (Baser and Buchbauer 2015).

Several literature reports describe the plant families and species producing essential oils to prevent mosquito bites. Tisgratog et al. (2016) recognized 37 promising plant species within 14 families with this property. Preparations from members of the Myrtaceae, Lauraceae, Rutaceae, Lamiaceae, Asteraceae, Apiaceae, Cupressaceae, Poaceae, Zingeberaceae and Piperaceae are commonly known as insect repellents (Maia and Moore 2011; Rehman et al. 2014). The essential oils extracted from species of the genera Cymbopogon Spreng., Ocimum L. and Eucalyptus L'Hér are the most widely considered for their repellency effect. Figure 1 depicts the chemical structures of compounds studied for their repellent activity against A. *aegypti*. Combination of monoterpenes and sesquiterpenes in these oils attribute to repellent activity (Akhtar et al. 2012; Ravi Kiran and Sita 2007). Among the individual chemicals present in mixtures with high biological activity, the major compounds include mainly: monoterpenes, such as geraniol (1), citronellol (2), citronellal (3), limonene (4), terpinolene (5), p-menthane-3,8-diol (PMD) (6), 1,8-cineol (7), thymol (8), α and β -pinenes (9 and 10), and camphor (11); and a phenylpropene eugenol (12) (Nerio et al. 2010; Pohlit et al. 2011).

Although a large number of papers show the repellent potential of essential oils, some of them do not define their chemical composition (Sritabutra et al. 2011). Even considering that the constitution of most of these essential oils, viz. *Allium sativum* bulb and *Eucalyptus globulus* leaf are well reported in the literature, qualitative and quantitative variations may exist in genuine samples according to biotic and abiotic factors.

Insect repellent formulations, like candles, gels, body cream and diffusers, which contain plant extracts are commercially available and include peppermint, thyme, eucalypt and clove oils. As an example, candles prepared with 5% geraniol can protect against mosquitoes for 3 h (Müller et al. 2009; Trongtokit et al. 2005). However, this protection is not identical between different species; in general, *A. aegypti* is the most difficult species to repel, being tolerant to compounds that are effective on other species (Lupi et al. 2013). The following repellency effects of essential oils are specified to adult female of *A. aegypti*.

The protective activity of *Cymbopogon citratus* (DC.) Stapf (lemon grass) against mosquito bite is due to presence of geranial (13) and neral (14) in its leaves (Leal and Uchida 1998). A most effective action was observed for other species of this genus e.g. *C. nardus* (L.) Rendle (citronella); provided 100% protection to the human skin for 2 h (Trongtokit et al. 2005). This oil was observed to have high levels of geraniol (1), citronellol (2) and citronellal (3). An aqueous cream was prepared with 15% of *C. nardus* oil, together with the same percentage of *Litsea elliptica* Blume (rich in 10-undecen-2-one—15) and *Cinnamomum mollissimum* Hook. f. (rich in benzyl benzoate—16). This cream, when used in field trials was found to active during all the experiment time (3 h) (Jantan and Mohd 1999). *Pelargonium citrosum* Voigt ex Breiter essential oil, also rich in geraniol (1), was able to repel from oil emission area (Matsuda et al. 1996).



Fig. 1 Chemical structures of compounds studied for their repellent activity against *Aedes aegypti* L. (Diptera: Culicidae)

Barnard (1999) reported the repellency of serial dilutions (100 to 5%) of some essential oils. None of them was effective when tested at less than 10% concentration. The most active was the *Syzygium aromaticum* (L.) Merr. & L.M. Perry oil (clove), protecting for about 4 h against *A. aegypti* bites. Eugenol (12), acetyleugenol (17) and beta-caryophyllene (18) are the major constituents of this extract and they may be responsible for this activity. Similarly, *Thymus vulgaris* L. (thyme) and *Mentha piperita* L. (peppermint) exhibited complete protection for more than 2 h and they are rich in *p*-cymene (19), geraniol (1); and menthone (20), respectively. Another work confirmed the significant repellent potential of *M. piperita* oil;

0.1 mL oil on 25 cm² skin arm was able to completely protect the area for 2.5 h (Kumar et al. 2011).

An essential oil highly concentrated in α -pinene (9), α -terpinene (21) and linalool (22) from *Juniperus communis* L. leaf provided protection against adult mosquitoes. On the other hand, *J. chinensis* L. and *Cupressus funebris* Endl. wood oils had no repellent effect on female *A. aegypti* and had high levels of cuparene (23) and α -cedrene (24), respectively (Carroll et al. 2011). The fruit essential oil from other species of *Juniperus* genus, *J. macropoda* Boiss., had promising results in the repellent assay. In this study, the highest repellent activity was achieved by the bark oil of *Cinnamomum zeylanicum* L., which is known to be rich in eugenol (12) and cinnamaldehyde (25) (Prajapati et al. 2005). Eugenol was also the main compound of *Atalantia monophylla* DC. essential oil and a formulation of this oil exhibit repellent potential (Baskar et al. 2017). This indicates the interesting potential of this phenylpropanoid in vector-borne diseases.

It is suggested that essential oils rich in limonene (4) and camphor (11) prevent female A. aegpypti from biting. The main compound in Rosmarinus officinalis and Baccharis spartioides oil is camphor (11) with 34 and 51% concentrations, respectively (Boix et al. 2010). Oils of Aloysia citriodora Palau, Tagetes minuta L. and Zanthoxylum piperitum DC. showed high concentration of limonene (4). These samples had significant repellent activity that may be caused by their principal components. Ascaridol (26), corresponding to over 99% of Chenopodium ambrosioides L. oil, as well as 1,8-cineol (7) that comprises 93% of Eucalyptus saligna Sm. essential oil may play a role in the repellency effect of these plant extract. On the other hand, Tagetes pusilla Kunth that contains 75% anethol (27), Hyptis mutabilis (Rich.) Brig. and Achyrocline satureioides (Lam.) DC., both rich in beta-caryophyllene (18) showed no or low repellence activity. These data suggest that these compounds do not hold promise to repel insects (Choochote et al. 2007; Gillij et al. 2008), as was confirmed by the repellency test of the standard reference of beta-caryophyllene (18) and caryophyllene oxide (28) against female A. aegypti mosquitoes, where both of these compounds showed no activity (Demirci et al. 2013).

Flower oil of *Pluchea carolinensis* (Jacq.) G. Don is mainly composed by the oxygenated sesquiterpene selin-11-en-4alpha-ol (29) and by 2,5-dimethoxy-*p*-cymene (30). This plant essential oil has been reported to protect against mosquito bites (Kerdudo et al. 2016). The preparation of 10% *Vetiveria zizanioides* (L.) Nash oil showed interesting repellent activity. Its composition comprised hundred compounds and the most concentrated were alpha-, beta-vetivone (31 and 32), khusimone (33) and zizanal (34) (Trongtokit et al. 2005).

Citronellal (3), limonene (4), linalool (22), cuminaldehyde (35), cuminyl alcohol (36) and geranyl acetate (37) were tested on human skin as pure compounds and all of them caused repellent effect against female *A. aegypti* (Kwon et al. 2011). Essential oils are complex chemical mixtures of major and minor compounds. Biological activities of essential oils are mainly correlated with their major substances. However, minor components can interfere with the final result of the repellency potential of a natural product by the synergistic phenomenon existing among molecules (Dias and Moraes 2014).

Mode of Action

Current control strategies mainly rely on synthetic pesticides, insect growth regulators and microbial control agents (Benelli 2015). The most commonly used insect repellents for topical application are based on the synthetic ingredient repellent N, N-Diethyl-3-methylbenzamide (DEET) (Dickens and Bohbot 2013). Even though it is approved by FDA for its safety, but some authors reported the disadvantages associated with its use, such as the risk of toxicity to human beings and the development of resistance (Clem et al. 1993; Corbel et al. 2009; Stanczyk et al. 2010). Several modes of action for DEET have been proposed (Bohbot and Dickens 2010; Pellegrino et al. 2011), but these are still under considerable debate. The same thing happens with repellents derived from essential oils, which are being developed as an alternative to DEET. This is probably due to its complex mixtures of chemical compounds. Therefore, we briefly outline the main modes of action of essential oils and isolated compounds against *A. aegypti* as described in the recent literature.

The knowledge about the mode of action is important to improve the quality and sustainability of a product, besides preventing development of pesticide resistance. For this, is necessary to understand about the physiology of the insect (El-Wakeil 2013). For example, how and when a product presents a rapid mode of action (pointed to neurotoxic effect) due to interference with the octopaminergic system of insects. Octopamine receptors are present in the nervous system of invertebrates and acts as a neurotransmitter, neurohormone, and neuromodulator that influence many features of animal physiology and behavior (Enan 2001; Kostyukovsky et al. 2002).

The terpene compounds carvacrol, coumarin, eucalyptol, eugenol and geraniol were found to perform docking with octopamine receptor and acetylcholinesterase protein of *A. aegypti* and human models. Therefore, these are the probable target site of these terpene compounds (Khanikor et al. 2013).

Acetylcholinesterase (AChE), is an essential enzyme for the function of nervous system. It is involved in the termination of impulse transmission at the synaptic cleft by hydrolysis of the neurotransmitter acetylcholine. The enzyme inactivation leads to acetylcholine accumulation, and neurotransmission disruption. Hence, inhibitors of this enzyme play a key role in the *Aedes* control (Colovic et al. 2013; Otero et al. 2014).

The insect gut is another target of many repellent products. Silva et al. 2005a showed that the essential oil of *Microlobius foetidus* possess insecticide potential against *A. aepypti* by retarding the overall growth. *M. foetidus* essential oil inhibited acetylcholinesterase as well as change the PM by inhibition of digestive enzymes, trypsin and chymotrypsin. Edwin et al. (2016) observed that the treatment with the bioactive compound andrographolide from *Andrographis paniculate*, severely affected the midgut epithelium of *A. aegypti* larvae.

The peritrophic matrix (PM) consists of chitin and glycoprotein that lines the invertebrate midgut epithelium. The mainly functions of PM in insects are:

separation of midgut cavity into three distinct compartments, protection of ingested toxins, physical barrier, protecting the midgut epithelium from damage by abrasive food particles, bacteria, virus and parasites (Hegedus et al. 2009). Although the repellent activity of essential oils against *A. aegypti* is well described in the literature and repellents derived from essential oils are available in market but still only a few studies about the structure-activity relationship suggesting their mode of action have been reported.

Wang et al. (2008) used QSAR model to show how the chemical structure of terpenoids affect repellency. The features that influenced the activity were boiling point, dipole moment, the presence of oxygen-containing substituent groups. All repellents synthesized from α - and β -pinene tested had two functional/substituent groups, one negatively charged end containing either ester/ether bonds or an ethanol hydroxyl group and other positively charged end containing alkane groups. The positive end was more favorable to receptor interactions, indicating that the repellent–receptor interactions are most likely related to electrophilic interactions.

Another important aspect to consider about the effectiveness of essential oil repellent action is the synergism. Many studies have shown that synthetic compounds or blends of pure compounds are less effective when compared to the activity of their corresponding essential oil (Rehman et al. 2014). Indeed, the synergistic activity of different metabolites may result in an enhanced bioactivity than the single metabolite (Gillij et al. 2008). Because of its synergistic activity, some substances are included in the formula to provide an improvement in the efficacy (Choochote et al. 2007; Kiplang'at Mwangi 2014).

In Vitro Culture of Plants Producing Essential Oils Affective Against A. *aegypti*

In vitro culture offers an alternate means for fast multiplication of rare and endangered plant species (Malik et al. 2009, 2016, 2010). There are different methods for multiplication of plants under in vitro conditions, which may include shoot, root, callus or embryo culture. Using plant cell culture, it is possible to obtain high value secondary compounds including essential oils and optimize their production through use of elicitors and other methods, without harvesting the plants from nature (Rodrigues et al. 2014). C. shoenanthus, commonly known as camel grass possesses essential oil active against Aedes aegypti. Overcollection from the natural habitat has threatened this plant species to the edge of extinction. El-Bakry and Abdel-Salam (2012) developed regeneration protocols from callus and suspension cultures of Cymbopogon shoenanthus subsp. Proximus. The different stages of somatic embryogenesis were obtained by varying growth regulators, phosphorus concentration and different nitrogen sources. The composition of essential oils depends greatly on the presence of growth regulators in Melissa officinalis. Inclusion of indole-3-acetic acid (11.42 μ mol L⁻¹) and benzylaminopurine (8.87 μ mol L⁻¹) led to 1.7 and 2.2 fold in proportion of nerol and geraniol, respectively in 60-day-old whole plants. However, plantlets grown on MS medium showed 1.4 and 4.1 times in proportion of nerol and geraniol, respectively, when compared with ex vitro plants (Silva et al. 2005b). A protocol for callus induction and an identification of the callus growth pattern in Piper permucronatum leaves, which are source of essential oils against A. aegypti larvae, have been studied by Santos et al. (2016) Combination of auxin, 2,4-Dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (4.52 µM) and cytokinin, benzylaminopurine (4.44 µM) favoured highest percentage of callus induction. The growth pattern of callus showed sigmoid shape with deceleration phase started on 56th day of culture. Cytokinins; benzylaminopurine, kinetin and thiadiazuron triggered the induction of adventitious shoot production from young leaf and petiole explants in Pelargonium X Citrosum (Zhou et al. 2007). Pelargonium X Citrosum, also called mosquito plant, is a genetically engineered hybrid by cell fusion that incorporated the characteristics of scented geranium and citronella grass. The mosquito repelling activity along with attractive foliage and sweet lemony citronella smell make this plant a very popular all over the world. In Artemisia vulgaris, in vitro method for the steady production of a large number of plants for essential oil production has been developed (Govindaraj et al. 2008). GC-MS analyses of leaves from acclimatized plants showed the presence of 88 components with camphor, alpha-thujone, germacrene D, camphene, 1,8-cineole and beta-caryophyllene as main components.

Chemical agent or elicitors modulate biochemical signaling of the different metabolic pathways and hence the production of bioactive compounds (Zhao et al. 2005). The perception of elicitor signal directs the activation of transduction factors regulating expression of the genes involved in the biosynthesis of secondary metabolites. Concentration and type of elicitor used in the medium affect the accumulation of cell biomass, chemical composition and production of essential oils in plants. Elicitors, methyl jasmonate and chitosan have been studied to see their effects on growth characteristics and induction of phytochemicals in Ocimum basilicum L., Ocimum sanctum L. and Ocimum gratissimum L. cell suspension cultures (Mathew and Sankar 2012). Both the elicitors enhanced the accumulation of cell biomass when used individually as compared to use in combination. Highest biomass in O. basilicum and O. sanctum was found at 12 h for and 48 h for with 25 µM methyl jasmonate, while maximum enhancement of biomass for O. gratissimum has been achieved at 8 h by using 50 µM of methyl jasmonate. On the other hand, chitosan at 200 mg/L and 50 mg/L concentrations has been observed to be optimum for O. basilicum and O. sanctum, O. gratissimum, respectively after 24 h. In Azadirachta indica, highest concentration of azadirachtin (0.2470 μ g g⁻¹) was produced from cell mass grown in a medium with glucose (2%, v/v), hydrolyzed casein (500 mg L-1) and 100 µM methyl jasmonate (Rodrigues et al. 2014).

The biosynthetic disposition of essential oils in genetically transformed cultures has been examined in several plant species. It is established that essential oil content increases with the increase in organizational level. Hairy roots, also called genetically transformed roots are characterized by the fast growth, profuse branching and able to produce biomass and bioactive compounds comparable or exceeding that of, the intact plant roots or fastest growing cell cultures. Hairy roots obtained after transformation of *Matricaria recutita* (Chamomile) plants with *Agrobacterium rhizogenes* strain A4-Y were able to produce essential oil as found in intact plant. The composition of essential oil in hairy roots differed in proportion when cultured on liquid and solid MS and G5 media. The main component of essential oil was trans- β -famesene as found in the intact roots (Maday et al. 1999).

Conclusion

Mosquito-borne diseases cause threat for millions of people worldwide. *Aedes aegypti* have been implicated in recent large outbreaks of dengue, zika, chikungunya and yellow fever, which generated great community interest in the most effective and ecofriendly way to avoid mosquito bites. Monoterpenes such as geraniol and citronellol and the phenylpropanoid eugenol are commonly the main compounds of plant essential oils with high repellent activity against *A. aegypti*. In vitro production of essential oils from plants could act as an alternative for safe and ecofriendly synthesis of natural mosquito repellents. Literature studies suggest that this attempt has been carried out in many plant species but still more studies are required to focus on genetic level to understand the synthesis of these compounds in plants and their mode of action.

Acknowledgements Authors would like to acknowledge Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa e Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico do Maranhão (FAPEMA), Sao Luis, Maranhao.

References

- Akhtar Y, Pages E, Stevens A, Bradbury R, da Camara CAG, Isman MB (2012) Effect of chemical complexity of essential oils on feeding deterrence in larvae of the cabbage looper. Physiol Entomol 37(1):81–91. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3032.2011.00824.x
- Barnard DR (1999) Repellency of essential oils to mosquitoes (Diptera: Culicidae). J Med Entomol 36(5):625–629. doi:10.1093/jmedent/36.5.625
- Baser KHC, Buchbauer G (2015) Handbook of essential oils: science, technology, and applications, 2nd edn. CRC Press, Boca Raton
- Baskar K, Sudha V, Nattudurai G, Ignacimuthu S, Duraipandiyan V, Jayakumar M et al (2017) Larvicidal and repellent activity of the essential oil from Atalantia monophylla on three mosquito vectors of public health importance, with limited impact on non-target zebra fish. Physiol Mol Plant Pathol. doi:10.1016/j.pmpp.2017.03.002
- Benelli G (2015) Research in mosquito control: current challenges for a brighter future. Parasitol Res 114(8):2801–2805
- Bohbot JD, Dickens JC (2010) Insect repellents: modulators of mosquito odorant receptor activity. PLoS ONE 5(8):e12138
- Boix YF, Victório CP, Lage CLS, Kuster RM. (2010) Volatile compounds from *Rosmarinus* officinalis L. and *Baccharis dracunculifolia* DC. growing in southeast coast of Brazil. Quimica Nova, 33(2), 255–257

- Carroll JF, Tabanca N, Kramer M, Elejalde NM, Wedge DE, Bernier UR et al (2011) Essential oils of Cupressus funebris, Juniperus communis, and J. chinensis (Cupressaceae) as repellents against ticks (Acari: Ixodidae) and mosquitoes (Diptera: Culicidae) and as toxicants against mosquitoes. J Vector Ecol 36(2):258–268. doi:10.1111/j.1948-7134.2011.00166.x
- Choochote W, Chaithong U, Kamsuk K, Jitpakdi A, Tippawangkosol P, Tuetun B et al (2007) Repellent activity of selected essential oils against *Aedes aegypti*. Fitoterapia 78(5):359–364. doi:10.1016/j.fitote.2007.02.006
- Clem JR, Havemann DF, Raebel MA (1993) Insect repellent (N, N-diethyl-m-toluamide) cardiovascular toxicity in an adult. Ann Pharmacother 27(3):289–293
- Colovic MB, Krstic DZ, Lazarevic-Pasti TD, Bondzic AM, Vasic VM (2013) Acetylcholinesterase inhibitors: pharmacology and toxicology. Curr Neuropharmacol 11(3):315–335
- Corbel V, Stankiewicz M, Pennetier C, Fournier D, Stojan J, Girard E, Lapied B (2009) Evidence for inhibition of cholinesterases in insect and mammalian nervous systems by the insect repellent deet. BMC Biol 7(1):47
- Darbro JM, Muzari MO, Giblin A, Adamczyk RMA, Ritchie AS, Devine GJ (2017) Reducing biting rates of Aedes aegypti with metofluthrin: investigations in time and space. Parasites Vectors 10:69. doi:10.1186/s13071-017-2004-0
- Demirci B, Tsikolia M, Bernier UR, Agramonte NM, Alqasoumi SI, Al-Yahya MA et al (2013) Phoenix dactylifera L. spathe essential oil: Chemical composition and repellent activity against the yellow fever mosquito. Acta Trop 128(3):557–560. doi:10.1016/j.actatropica.2013.08.003
- Dias CN, Moraes DFC (2014) Essential oils and their compounds as *Aedes aegypti* L. (Diptera: Culicidae) larvicides: review. Parasitol Res 113:565–592. doi:10.1007/s00436-013-3687-6
- Dickens JC, Bohbot JD (2013) Mini review: mode of action of mosquito repellents. Pestic Biochem Physiol 106(3):149–155
- Edwin ES, Vasantha-Srinivasan P, Senthil-Nathan S et al (2016) A. Anti-dengue efficacy of bioactive andrographolide from *Andrographis paniculata* (Lamiales: Acanthaceae) against the primary dengue vector *Aedes aegypti* (Diptera: Culicidae). Acta Trop 163:167–178
- El-Bakry AA, Abdel-Salam AM (2012) Regeneration from embryogenic callus and suspension cultures of the wild medicinal plant *Cymbopogon schoenanthus*. Afr J Biotech 11(43):10098– 10107
- El-Wakeil NE (2013) Botanical pesticides and their mode of action. Gesunde Pflanzen 65 (4):125-149
- Enan E (2001) Insecticidal activity of essential oils: octopaminergic sites of action. Comp Biochem Physiol C: Toxicol Pharmacol 130(3):325–337
- Gillij YG, Gleiser RM, Zygadlo JA (2008) Mosquito repellent activity of essential oils of aromatic plants growing in Argentina. Biores Technol 99(7):2507–2515. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2007. 04.066
- Govindaraj S, Kumari BD, Cioni PL, Flamini G (2008) Mass propagation and essential oil analysis of Artemisia vulgaris. J Biosci Bioeng 105(3):176–183
- Hegedus D, Erlandson M, Gillott C, Toprak U (2009) New insights into peritrophic matrix synthesis, architecture, and function. Annu Rev Entomol 54:285–302
- Jantan I, Mohd Z (1999) Development of environment-friendly insect repellents from the leaf oils of selected Malaysian plants. ASIAN Review of Biodiversity and Environmental Conservation, Nov-Dec, pp 1–7
- Kerdudo A, Gonnot V, Ellong EN, Boyer L, Chandre F, Adenet S et al (2016) Composition and bioactivity of Pluchea carolinensis (Jack.) G. essential oil from Martinique. Ind Crops Prod 89:295–302. doi:10.1016/j.indcrop.2016.04.076
- Khanikor B, Parida P, Yadav RNS, Bora D (2013) Comparative mode of action of some terpene compounds against octopamine receptor and acetyl cholinesterase of mosquito and human system by the help of homology modeling and docking studies. J Appl Pharm Sci 3(2):6
- Kiplang'at K, Mwangi RW (2014) Synergistic repellent activity of plant essential oils against Aedes aegypti on rabbit Skin. Intern J Mosq Res 1(4):55–59
- Klowden MJ (2007) Making generalizations about vectors: is there a physiology of "the mosquito"? Entomol Res 37119110:1–13. doi:10.1111/j.1748-5967.2007.00044.x

- Kostyukovsky M, Rafaeli A, Gileadi C, Demchenko N, Shaaya E (2002) Activation of octopaminergic receptors by essential oil constituents isolated from aromatic plants: possible mode of action against insect pests. Pest Manag Sci 58(11):1101–1106
- Kumar S, Wahab N, Warikoo R (2011) Bioefficacy of Mentha piperita essential oil against dengue fever mosquito Aedes aegypti L. Asian Pacific J Trop Biomed 1(2):85–88. doi:10.1016/S2221-1691(11)60001-4
- Kwon HW, Kim SI, Chang KS, Clark JM, Ahn YJ (2011) Enhanced repellency of binary mixtures of Zanthoxylum armatum seed oil, vanillin, and their aerosols to mosquitoes under laboratory and field conditions. J Med Entomol 48(1):61–66
- Leal WS, Uchida K (1998) Application of GC-EAD to the determination of mosquito repellents derived from a plant, *Cymbopogon citratus*. J Asia-Pacific Entomol 1(2):217–221
- Lupi E, Hatz C, Schlagenhauf P (2013) The efficacy of repellents against Aedes, Anopheles, Culex and Ixodes spp.—a literature review. Travel Med Infect Dis 11(6):374–411. doi:10.1016/j. tmaid.2013.10.005
- Maday E, Szoke E, Zs Muskath, Lemberkovics E (1999) A study of the production of essential oils in chamomile hairy root cultures. Eur J Drug Metab Pharmacokinet 24(4):303–308
- Maia M, Moore SJ (2011) Plant-based insect repellents: a review of their efficacy, development and testing. Malar J 10(Suppl 1):S11. doi:10.1186/1475-2875-10-S1-S11
- Malik S, Kumar R, Vats SK, Bhushan S, Sharma M, Ahuja PS (2009) Regeneration in *Rheum emodi* Wall.: a step towards conservation of an endangered medicinal plant species. Eng Life Sci 2:130–134
- Malik S, Sharma S, Sharma M, Ahuja PS (2010) Direct shoot regeneration from intact leaves of *Arnebia euchroma* (Royle) Johnston using thidiazuron. Cell Biol Int 34(5):537–542
- Malik S, Sharma M, Ahuja PS (2016) An efficient and economic method for *in vitro* propagation of *Arnebia euchroma* using liquid culture system. Am J Biotechnol Med Res 1(1):19–25
- Mathew R, Sankar PD (2012) Effect of methyl jasmonate and chitosan on growth characteristics of Ocimum basilicum L., Ocimum sanctum L. and Ocimum gratissimum L. cell suspension cultures. Afr J Biotech 11(21):4759–4766
- Matsuda BM, Surgeoner GA, Heal JD, Tucker AO, Maciarello MJ. (1996) Essential oil analysis and field evaluation of the citrosa plant Pelargonium citrosum as a repellent against populations of Aedes mosquitoes. J Am Mosq Control Assoc 1, *12*(1), 69–74
- Müller GC, Junnila A, Butler J, Kravchenko VD, Revay EE, Weiss RW, Schlein Y (2009) Efficacy of the botanical repellents geraniol, linalool, and citronella against mosquitoes. J Vector Ecol 34(1):2–8. doi:10.1111/j.1948-7134.2009.00002.x
- Nerio LS, Olivero-Verbel J, Stashenko E (2010) Repellent activity of essential oils: a review. Biores Technol 101(1):372–378. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2009.07.048
- Otero ALC, Méndez LYV, Kouznetsov VV (2014) Design, synthesis, acetylcholinesterase inhibition and larvicidal activity of girgensohnine analogs on *Aedes aegypti*, vector of dengue fever. Eur J Med Chem 78:392–400
- Pellegrino M, Steinbach N, Stensmyr MC, Hansson BS, Vosshall LB (2011) A natural polymorphism alters odour and DEET sensitivity in an insect odorant receptor. Nature 478 (7370):511–514
- Pohlit A, Lopes N, Gama R, Tadei W, de Andrade Neto V (2011) Patent literature on mosquito repellent inventions which C contain plant essential oils—a review. Planta Med 77(6):598– 617. doi:10.1055/s-0030-1270723
- Prajapati V, Tripathi A, Aggarwal K, Khanuja S (2005) Insecticidal, repellent and oviposition-deterrent activity of selected essential oils against *Anopheles stephensi*, *Aedes aegypti and Culex quinquefasciatus*. Biores Technol 96(16):1749–1757. doi:10.1016/j. biortech.2005.01.007
- Ravi Kiran S, Sita Devi P (2007) Evaluation of mosquitocidal activity of essential oil and sesquiterpenes from leaves of Chloroxylon swietenia DC. Parasitol Res 101(2):413–418. doi:10.1007/s00436-007-0485-z
- Rehman JU, Ali A, Khan IA (2014) Plant based products: use and development as repellents against mosquitoes: A review. Fitoterapia 95:65–74

- Rodrigues M, Festucci-Buselli RA, Silva LC, Otoni WC (2014) Azadirachtin biosynthesis induction in *Azadirachta indica* A. Juss cotyledonary calli with elicitor agents. Braz Arch Biol Technol 57(2):155–162
- Santos MRA, Guimarães MCM, Paz ES, Magalhães GMO, Souza CA, Smozinski CV, Nogueira WO (2016) Induction and growth pattern of callus from *Piper permucronatum* leaves. Rev. Bras. Pl. Med. 18(1):142–148
- Silva S, Sato A, Lage CLS, Gil RAS, Azevedo DA, Esquibel MA. (2005a). Essential Oil composition of *Melissa officinalis* L. *in vitro* produced under the influence of growth regulators. Journal Brazillian Chemical Society, 16(6B): 1387–1390
- Silva S, Sato A, Lagea CLS et al (2005b) Essential oil composition of *Melissa officinalis* L. *in vitro* produced under the influence of growth regulators. J Braz Chem Soc 16(6B):1387–1390
- Sritabutra D, Soonwera M, Waltanachanobon S, Poungjai S (2011) Evaluation of herbal essential oil as repellents against Aedes aegypti (L.) and Anopheles dirus Peyton and Harrion. Asian Pacific J Trop Biomed 1(1):S124–S128. doi:10.1016/S2221-1691(11)60138-X
- Stanczyk NM, Brookfield JF, Ignell R, Logan JG, Field LM (2010) Behavioral insensitivity to DEET in *Aedes aegypti* is a genetically determined trait residing in changes in sensillum function. Proc Natl Acad Sci 107(19):8575–8580
- Tikar SN, Mendki MJ, Chandel K, Parashar BD, Prakash S (2008) Susceptibility of immature stages of Aedes (Stegomyia) aegypti vector of dengue and chikungunya to insecticides from India. Parasitol Res 102(5):907–913. doi:10.1007/s00436-007-0848-5
- Tisgratog R, Sanguanpong U, Grieco JP, Ngoen-Kluan R, Chareonviriyaphap T (2016) Plants traditionally used as mosquito repellents and the implication for their use in vector control. Acta Trop 157:136–144. doi:10.1016/j.actatropica.2016.01.024
- Trongtokit Y, Rongsriyam Y, Komalamisra N, Apiwathnasorn C (2005) Comparative repellency of 38 essential oils against mosquito bites. Phytother Res 19(4):303–309. doi:10.1002/ptr.163
- Vasconcelos PFC, Rosa APAT, Pinheiro FP, Rodrigues SG, Rosa EST, Cruz CR, Rosa JFT (1999) Aedes aegypti, Dengue and re-urbanization of yellow fever in Brazil and other South American countries—past and present situation and future perspectives. Dengue Bulletim 33:55–66
- Wang Z, Song J, Chen J, Song Z, Shang S, Jiang Z, Han Z (2008) Qsar study of mosquito repellents from terpenoid with a six-member-ring. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 18(9):2854–2859
- WHO (2009) Temephos in drinking-water: use for vector control in drinking-water sources and containers. WHO, Geneva
- WHO (2012a) Impact of dengue. Global alert and response (GAR). http://www.who.int/csr/ disease/dengue/impact/en/index.html. Accessed 15 Jan 2017
- WHO (2012b) Dengue and severe dengue. Factsheet no. 117. http://www.who.int/mediacentre/ factsheets/fs117/en/. Accessed 15 Jan 2017
- WHO (2016) Surveillance for Zika virus infection, microcephaly and Guillain Barré syndrome. http://www.who.int/csr/resources/publications/zika/surveillance/en/. Accessed 25 Jan 2017
- WHO (2017a) Diseases out break news. http://www.who.int/csr/don/26-may-2017-zika-ind/en/. Accessed 27 Jan 2017
- WHO (2017b) Zika vírus county classification scheme. http://www.who.int/csr/resources/ publications/zika/classification/en/. Accessed 30 April 2017
- Zhang Y, Zhao B, Roy S, Saha TT, Kokoza VA, Li M, Raikhel AS (2016) MicroRNA-309 targets the homebox gene SIX4 and controls ovarian development in the mosquito Aedes aegypti. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 113(33):E4828–E4836. doi:10.1073/pnas.1609792113
- Zhao J, Davis LC, Verpoorte R (2005) Elicitor signal transduction leading to production of plant secondary metabolites. Biotechnol Adv 23(4):283–333
- Zhou J, Ma G, Bunn E, Zhang X (2007) In vitro shoot organogenesis from Pelargonium X Citrosum Vanleenii leaf and petiole explants. Floric Ornamental Biotechnology 1(2):147–149

Adaptation Strategies and Defence Mechanisms of Plants During Environmental Stress

E. Lamalakshmi Devi, Sudhir Kumar, T. Basanta Singh, Susheel K. Sharma, Aruna Beemrote, Chingakham Premabati Devi, S.K. Chongtham, Chongtham Henary Singh, Rupert Anand Yumlembam, A. Haribhushan, N. Prakash and Shabir H. Wani

Abstract Several biotic and abiotic stresses affect plant growth, development and crop productivity. To cope up all these stresses, plant develops certain efficient strategies to avoid or tolerate the stresses which allow them to adapt and defense themselves from stress situations. Such adaptation strategies are at morphological, anatomical, biochemical and molecular levels. Molecular crosstalk, epigenetic memories, reactive oxygen species (ROS) signaling, accumulation of plant hormones such as salicylic acid, ethylene, jasmonic acid and abscisic acid, change in redox status and inorganic ion fluxes, R-gene resistance and systemic acquired resistance (SAR) are some of the modifications/mechanisms adopted by plants to adapt and defense themselves from the environmental stress. The novel "omics" technologies allow the researchers to identify the genetics behind plant stress

S.K. Chongtham Potato Research Station, SDAU, Deesa, Gujarat, India

C.H. Singh Manipur University, Canchipur, Manipur, India

A. Haribhushan Farm Science Centre (KVK), Senapati, Manipur, India

S.H. Wani (⊠) Mountain Research Centre for Field Crops, Khudwani, India e-mail: shabirhussainwani@gmail.com

S.H. Wani Sher-e-Kashmir University of Agriculture Sciences and Technology of Kashmir, Srinagar, Jammu and Kashmir, India

S.H. Wani

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017 M. Ghorbanpour and A. Varma (eds.), *Medicinal Plants and Environmental Challenges*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-68717-9_20

E. Lamalakshmi Devi \cdot S. Kumar \cdot T. Basanta Singh \cdot S.K. Sharma \cdot A. Beemrote \cdot C.P. Devi \cdot R.A. Yumlembam \cdot N. Prakash

ICAR-RC-NEH Region, Manipur Centre, Lamphelpat, Imphal West 795004, Manipur, India

Department of Plant, Soil and Microbial Sciences, Michigan State University, Plant and Soil Science Building, 1066 Bogue Street, East Lansing, MI 48824-1325, USA

response and adaptation and provide unbiased data that can be precisely used to investigate the complex interplay between the plants, its metabolism and the stress environment.

Keywords Stress \cdot Adaptation strategies \cdot Molecular crosstalk \cdot Epigenetic memories

Introduction

Stress can be defined as a stimulus or influence that is outside the normal range of homeostatic control in a given organism. If a plant is exposed to extreme stress conditions that are beyond the tolerance level, mechanisms are activated at morphological, physiological, biochemical and molecular levels. Once the stress is released, a new physiological state is established and the plant may return to the original state thereby, reestablishing the homeostasis (Fraire-Velazquez et al. 2011). Plants being a sessile organism faced many environmental challenges including biotic and abiotic factors. In the course of evolution, plants have developed highly sophisticated and efficient strategies to cope up environmental stress imposed by the nature. Even though plant species vary in their sensitivity and response to various environmental stresses, they have developed various adaptation mechanisms to encode stress perception, signaling cascades and gene transcription networks in response to environmental cues (Fu and Dong 2013; Sanghera et al. 2011; Joshi et al. 2016) and developed a multitude of defense mechanisms to adapt and survive during the harsh environmental conditions.

Major mechanisms underlying environmental stress adaptation and defense include reactive oxygen species (ROS) signaling; accumulation of plant hormones such as salicylic acid, ethylene, jasmonic acid and abscisic acid (Wani and Kumar 2015); change in redox status and inorganic ion fluxes; molecular crosstalks; epigenetic modifications; R-gene resistance and systemic acquired resistance (SAR), etc. (Kissoudis et al. 2014). Physical barriers such as the cuticle, stomata and cell walls are also important for timely pathogen recognition and interception (Asselbergh et al. 2007). Biochemical studies revealed processes induced by stress that lead to accumulation of metabolites like nitrogen-containing compounds such as proline, quaternary amino compounds and polyamines; hydroxyl compounds like sucrose, polyols and oligosaccharides (McCue and Hanson 1990). Through "omics" technologies, it has been found out that plant responses to stress are mediated through profound changes in gene expression resulting in changes in composition of plant transcriptome, proteome and metabolome (Perez-Alfocea et al. 2011; Shriram et al. 2016). These novel techniques allow researchers to identify the genetics behind plant stress responses and enable to investigate the complex interplay between the plant, its metabolism and the stresses imposed to them (Perez-Clemente et al. 2013).

In this article, we will elaborate on the morphological, anatomical, biochemical and molecular adaptation strategies against biotic and abiotic stresses. We will also discuss molecular crosstalks and epigenetic modifications for stress response and adaptations in plants. Passive and active defense mechanisms of plant [including hypersensitive response, systemic acquired resistance (SAR) etc.] against pathogen and mechanisms against insect pests like antixenosis, antibiosis and tolerance are also highlighted in the work.

Adaptation Strategies of Plants During Environmental Stress

Morphological Adaptation Strategies

The productivity of crop is reducing due to harmful effects of various biotic and abiotic stresses. Minimizing these losses is a major area of concern to ensure food security under changing climate condition of the growing global population. Somehow, the plant changes their morphological structure to adopt the adverse climate condition to sustain in the existing environment. Abiotic stresses, such as drought, extreme temperature, cold, heavy metals, or high salinity, severely impair in plant growth, development and eventually in the productivity of the crops (Wani et al. 2016a; Hossain et al. 2016; Sah et al. 2016). These stresses reduced the yield of crops, depending on the type of crop and stress period. Drought, being an important environmental stress as it severely impairs plant growth and development (Shao et al. 2008a, b; Wani et al. 2016b; Telem et al. 2016; Dar et al. 2016). Drought impaired in germination and poor crop establishment. It also induced reduction in leaf area is ascribed to suppression of leaf expansion through reduction in photosynthesis (Rucker et al. 1995). Drought related reduction in yield and yield components of plants could be ascribed to stomata closure in response to low soil water content, which decreased the intake of CO₂ and as a result, photosynthesis decreased (Cornic 2000; Flexas et al. 2004). The presence of small roots to the lateral roots is considered as an adaptive strategy to increase water uptake by providing more absorptive surface. However, the growth of lateral roots is significantly reduced, mainly by suppression of the activation of the lateral root meristems (Deak and Malamy 2005). Plants growing in dry areas have developed xeromorphic traits such as leaf shedding as well as decrease in leaf number, leaf size, and branching. Presence of specialized tissues like rhizodermis, with a thickened outer cell wall or suberized exodermis, or reduction in the number of cortical layers is considered an adaptive advantage for drought stress survival. Another adaptation to counter drought stress is sclerophylly, where plants form hard leaves that will not suffer permanent damage due to wilting and can be restored to full functionality when normal conditions resume (Micco and Aronne 2002). Recent research has shown that decreased stomatal conductance in response to drought stress is related not only to reduced expression of aquaporin genes but also to anatomical traits leading to reduction of chloroplast surface area exposed to intercellular space per unit leaf area (Miyazawa et al. 2008; Howe and Jander 2008).

Heavy metal contamination may rigorously hinder the plant growth and its productivity, and also increase the risk of harm in animal and human health via the bio magnification process (Sharma 2012). Arsenic (As) has great potential to block various metabolic processes in cell, and may interact with sulphydryl groups of the proteins, and also replace the phosphate group of ATP. Similar to As, Mercury (Hg) also interacts with the -SH groups and form the S-Hg-S bridge, disrupting the stability of the group and consequently affects seed's germination and embryo's growth. The replacement of central atom (Mg) of chlorophyll molecule with As leading to the dismantle of chlorophyll resulting in the breakdown of photosynthesis and growth of the sunflower seedlings under As stress (Patra et al. 2004; Yadav et al. 2014). Chromium (Cr) stress declined biomass accumulation in barley plants by causing ultrastructure disorders in leaves such as uneven thickening and swelling of chloroplast, increased amount of plastoglobuli and disintegrated thylakoid membrane which resulted into decline in net stomatal conductance, cellular CO₂ concentration, transpiration rate, photochemical efficiency and net photosynthetic rate (Ali et al. 2013). In another finding, Hg reduces the plant growth due to its higher affinity to bind with-SH groups of proteins and causes uneven modification in protein structure (Cui et al. 2014). It has been observed that brinjal plant when exposed to Cadmium (Cd) showed restricted growth, leaf area, photosynthetic pigment and chlorophyll fluorescence (Singh and Prasad 2014). Similarly, Shahid et al. (2014) have reported that the growth and photosynthetic pigments of Vicia faba got inhibited under lead (Pb) stress.

The plant that grow in the cold region modified their morphological structure and escape the action of free air circulating by reducing plant size and adopting compact growth forms, thereby engineering their own microclimate in addition to sheltered habitat selection. In addition, some tropical alpine taxa have been found to perform what is called leaf super-cooling, which is retaining water in a gel-like metastable state below freezing point (to avoid nucleation). When the super-cooling capacity is exhausted around -12 °C, tissues freeze immediately and died. There is evidence that the xylem water of trees of cold regions can supercool down to -40 °C reported (Korner 2016).

Plants, animal and insects have been living together since million years ago. In co-evolution, they have evolved strategies to avoid each other's defence systems, resulted in the development of an elegant defence system in plants that has the ability to recognize the nonself molecules or signals from damaged cells, much like the animals, and activates the plant immune response against the herbivores (Howe and Jander 2008; Verhage et al. 2010; Hare 2011). Plant structures are the first line of defence against herbivory, and play an important role in host plant resistant to insects. The first line of plant defence against insect pests is the erection of a physical barrier either through the formation of a waxy cuticle, development of spines, setae, and trichomes (Hanley et al. 2007; Agrawal et al. 2009; Sharma et al.
2009; He et al. 2011). Development of structural traits such as spines and thorns, trichomes, toughened and sclerophylly nature of leaves reducing the palatability and digestibility of the tissues, incorporation of granular minerals into plant tissues, and divaricated branching play a leading role in plant protection thereby, reducing the herbivore damage (Handley et al. 2005; Hanley et al. 2007; Chamarthi et al. 2010; He et al. 2011).

Anatomical Adaptation Strategies

Physical Factors (Temperature, Light, Water, Oxygen Deprivation)

Plants are frequently exposed to many stress conditions, such as low temperature, salt, drought, flooding, heat, oxidative stress, and heavy-metal toxicity. In which, water stress is the major problem in agriculture. The ability of plants to withstand such stress is of immense economic importance (Shao et al. 2008a, b). Water stress is the state of moderate loss of water, which leads to closure of stomata and limits gas exchange. Water-stress tolerance involves subtle changes in cellular biochemistry. It appears to be the result of the accumulation of compatible solutes and of specific proteins that can be rapidly induced by osmotic stress (Shao et al. 2005). Water stress influences plant growth at various levels, from cell to community (Blumwald et al. 2004; Colom and Vazzana 2001). The quantity and quality of plant growth depend on cell-division enlargement, and differentiation, and all of these events are affected by water stress (Correia et al. 2001; Cabuslay 2002). There is evidence that stiff, leathery leaves are widespread in species adapted to drought occurring in various environments throughout the world. Sclerophyllous leaves are characterised by reinforcing tissues (e.g. thick-walled epidermal cells, sclereids, etc.) which prevent the collapse of the whole structure when water availability is scarce, thus reducing the risk for mechanical damage. Under drought conditions, a sclerophyllous leaf slightly reduces its volume thanks to thick cuticle and thick-walled epidermal cells, but thin-walled mesophyll cells severely shrink resulting in an increase of intercellular spaces. This allows photosynthesis to remain active also in conditions of severe water stress when other leaf types wilt (Shields 1950).

Heat Stress

Plants are frequently subjected to heat stress, which can severely hinder the growth and development and may even cause plant death. Heat stress is another serious threat to crop production and quality worldwide. Moreover extensive agricultural losses have been attributed to hindrance to growth due to heat (Wahid et al. 2007; Kotak et al. 2007). In general, it is evident that high temperature considerably affects anatomical structures not only at the tissue and cellular levels but also at the sub-cellular level which results in poor plant growth and productivity. The anatomical changes under high ambient temperatures are generally similar to those under drought stress (Wahid et al. 2007). Under heat stress, there is a general tendency of reduced cell size, closure of stomata and curtailed water loss, increased stomatal and trichomatous densities, and greater xylem vessels of both root and shoot (Anon et al. 2004), severely damages mesophyll cells and increased permeability of plasma membrane in grapes (Zhang et al. 2005). Different plants show varying responses under high temperature regime such as production of polymorphic leaves to reduce transpiration by showing bimodal stomatal behavior (Saved 1996), changing the structural organization of thylakoids reducing photosynthesis (Karim et al. 1997). In grapes, chloroplasts in the mesophyll cells became round in shape, the stroma lamellae became swollen, and the contents of vacuoles formed clumps, whilst the cristae were disrupted and mitochondria became empty (Zhang et al. 2005). Lima et al. (2013) observed that coffee plants subjected to heat stress (37 °C) changed structural cell anatomy. Structural variations in the lignin contents of cell walls under abiotic stress may be the result of increased oxidative stress in wall-modifying plant tissues. Structural variations in the lignin contents of cell walls under abiotic stress may be the result of increased oxidative stress in wall-modifying plant tissues (Moura et al. 2010).

Chemical Factors (Salinity, Heavy Metals, Pollution)

Salinity

Salinity is one of the most significant environmental challenges limiting plant productivity, particularly in arid and semi-arid climates (Ashraf and Harris 2004; Hussain et al. 2009: Wani and Gosal 2011: Wani and Hossain 2015). A soil is considered to be saline when the electric conductivity (EC) of the soil solution reaches 4 dS m⁻¹ (equivalent to 40 mM NaCl), generating an osmotic pressure of about 0.2 MPa and significantly reducing the yields of most crops (Munns and Tester 2008; Wani et al. 2010). As a consequence of soil salinity, ion toxicity leads to chlorosis and necrosis, mainly due to Na⁺ accumulation that interferes with many physiological processes in plants (Munns 2002). Most salinity adaptive mechanisms in plants are accompanied by certain morphological and anatomical changes (Larcher 2003). Plants tolerant to NaCl implement a series of adaptations to acclimate to salinity, including morphological, physiological and biochemical changes (Pathak and Wani 2015). These changes include increase in the root/canopy ratio and in the chlorophyll content in addition to changes in the leaf anatomy that ultimately lead to preventing leaf ion toxicity, thus maintaining the water status in order to limit water loss and protect the photosynthesis process (Acosta-Motos et al. 2017). It is reported that, the cell walls of root cells of salinized plants are often unevenly thickened and convoluted (Shannon et al. 1994). Salts often promote the suberisation of the hypodermis and endodermis in woody tree roots, resulting in the formation of a well-developed casparian strip closer to the root apex, different to that found in non-salinized roots (Walker et al. 1984). Irrigation with saline water has also been found to increase root diameter and root density of *Callistemon citrinus* plants (Álvarez and Sánchez-Blanco 2014). In other plant species (Picea sp., Pinus banksiana, Portulaca oleracea), root diameter (hypertrophy) is found to increase in response to salinity (Franco et al. 2011; Croser et al. 2001). Under saline conditions cell wall properties change and leaf turgor and photosynthesis rates decrease, leading to a reduction in total leaf area (Franco et al. 1997; Rodríguez et al. 2005). Romero-Aranda et al. (1998) studied anatomical disturbances produced by KCl, CaCl₂, NaCl in Carrizo citrange and Cleopatra mandarin citrus varieties. The salt-induced declines in photosynthesis rates were linked to changes in leaf anatomical properties, such as the increase in leaf thickness and the lower area/volume ratio of mesophyll cells, increased leaf succulence and reduced intercellular air spaces, the surface/volume ratio of cells and tissue density. The increase in leaf thickness, in combination with several metabolic components such as Cl⁻ overloading, low Mg²⁺, stomatal closure and chlorophyll loss, may contribute to the decline in photosynthesis. Anatomical modifications in leaves also include an increase in palisade parenchyma and intercellular spaces and a decrease in spongy parenchyma, serving to facilitate CO₂ diffusion in a situation of reduced stomatal aperture (Acosta-Motos et al. 2017).

Heavy Metals Stress

Other than moisture and salinity stress, the stress given by the heavy metals due to ever increasing population is also becoming a matter of concern. The phytotoxic effect of heavy metals in plants manifests itself through visual symptoms such as chlorosis, necrosis and wilting, and through reduced growth and biomass accumulation (Marques et al. 2000; Sanitá di Troppi and Gabbrielli 1999). Gupta and Chakrabarti (2013) observed that heavy metal (Hg, Pb and Cd) accumulations in Bruguiera sexangula indicated deformed vascular bundle with Hg treatment. Xylem and phloem deformation was also recorded in treatment of Cd which finally led to visible toxicity. The stem transverse section (T.S.) for Cd treatment showed diffusion of that heavy metal up to the pith region. When stem T.S. of Hg was compared with control, it was observed that the stelar region was greatly affected. Penetration of Pb inside the stem starting from epidermis to pith region was noticed. Kasim (2006) found that Sorghum bicolor treated with copper or cadmium applied alone or in combination caused significant reduction in root diameter, width and thickness of leaf midrib, diameter of xylem vessels of all seedling organs, parenchyma cell area in the stem, leaf midrib and pith and cortex of root, dimensions of stem vascular bundles, number of xylem arms in root, and frequency of stomata on abaxial leaf surface. The effect was more pronounced when Cu and Cd were applied together. The molecular-physiological mechanism responsible for observed changes in anatomy is not yet clear. It is also reported that exposure to heavy metals leads to a reduction in the size of mesophyll cells (Sridhar et al. 2005; Zhao et al. 2000) and the collapse of palisade and spongy parenchyma cells (Sridhar et al. 2005). According to Pasternak et al. (2005) architectural changes imposed by Cu and other abiotic stresses on roots of *Arabidopsis thaliana* may be attributed to alteration in phytohormone metabolism and local auxin accumulation near the root pericycle. Gomes et al. (2011) observed the thickened the cell layers of endodermis and exodermis in the root tissues and the cell walls of the xylem and cortical parenchyma of *Brachiaria decumbens* Stapf. due to heavy metals (Cd, Pb, Zn, Cu). In the leaf tissues, the adaxial and abaxial epidermis presented increased thickness while the leaf blade presented reduced thickness as contamination increased with consequent change in the root growth rate. In general, the effects of heavy metal increased with the metal concentration. The ill effect of moisture stress may be enhanced by other abiotic stresses like heavy metals. Similarly, Greco et al. (2012) observed additive effects of the stresses on growth and the increase in the early mortality of plants by metal contamination in combination with drought.

Pollution

Studies regarding the anatomy of the vegetative organs under polluted conditions have been carried out by various workers (Alves et al. 2008; Silva et al. 2006; Verma et al. 2006). Epidermis structures like trichomes have been reported to bear the brunt of damage from cement dust in Cajanus cajanus exposed to foliar dust application (Baralabai and Vivekanandan 1996). Similarly, Gostin (2009) observed the presence of the phenolic compounds (dark deposits from the epidermis, assimilatory and vascular tissues) in Trifolium spp. indicate that long-term exposure to air pollutants leads to enhanced accumulation of these compounds. The stomata decrease in size and increase in density in leaves from high polluted sites. In the mesophyll cells (both in palisade and in spongy parenchyma) dark phenolic deposits could be observed. The enhanced accumulation of phenolics and lignin is considered to be one of the most common reactions of plants to stress (Wild and Schmitt 1995). Verma et al. (2006) found a significant decrease of stomatal density and stomatal index in Ipomea pes-tigridis grown under various degrees coal-smoke pollutants. However, Ogunkunle et al. (2013) observed no anatomical modifications to the cement factory pollution in Pennisetum purpureum, which may indicate that the dose-response level of the pollutants has not been reached in the grass. But there were significant reduction in stomatal size and increased stomatal index in the leaves of Sida acuta. This could be favourable anatomical adaptations to a polluted environment. In another study, plane tree growing in urban area reduced the size and lower stomata density, thin cuticle but the other anatomical properties were unaffected suggesting that plane trees can cope with traffic exhaust in megacities (Pourkhabbaz et al. 2010).

Biological Factors (Pests, Diseases and Allelopathy)

Plants respond to herbivore attack through an intricate and dynamic defense system that includes structural barriers, toxic chemicals, and attraction of natural enemies of the target pests (War et al. 2012). Rodrigues et al. (2015) observed various anatomical changes in young coffee leaves infected by *P. syringae* pv. *garcae* which are similar to the tabtoxin damage induced by bacteria, which causes degradation of the thylakoid membrane and chloroplasts (Bender et al. 1999), and favors the tissue colonization and its use as substrate. Palmer and Bender (1995) observed that, tomato inoculated with *P. syringae* observed plasmolysis of the cellular content in tomato mesophyll, as well as cell hypertrophy and hyperplasia. Similar changes were here observed in the mesophyll of coffee leaves. Sclerophylly (reinforcing tissues) has been interpreted as a phenomenon linked to functions as protection against pathogens or as response to scarce nutrient availability (Salleo and Nardini 2000). Sclerophylls are widely distributed in arid and semiarid environments together with seasonally dimorphic species.

Molecular and Biochemical Adaptation Strategies

The understanding of the mechanism of complex nature of stress signaling and plant adaptive strategies would require the analysis of the function of enormous amount of genes involved in stress response (Wani et al. 2012). According to the result of several investigations, plant defense response genes are transcriptionally activated by pathogens as well as by different types of abiotic stress. The activation of specific defense genes against certain pathogens depend on specific environmental conditions and this suggest the interplay of certain complex signaling network that enable the plant to recognize and protect itself against different stresses including pathogens (Bansal et al. 2012; Wani et al. 2013a; Khan and Wani 2014; Jaspers and Kangasjarvi 2010).

The APETALA2 (AP2)/ethylene-responsive-element-binding factors (ERFs) proteins function as either activators or repressors of transcription of gene as response to both biotic and abiotic factors to adapt under adverse environmental conditions (Fujimoto et al. 2000). The RNA levels of specific AP2/ERF genes are known to be regulated by factors like drought, cold, pathogenic infection, salinity, wounding or treatment with salicylic acid or jasmonic acid (Onate-Sanchez and Singh 2002). These genes resulted in improved tolerance against osmotic stress and pathogen attack in tobacco (Park et al. 2001), and were also identified in rice (Datta et al. 2012), grape (Licausi et al. 2010), Arabidopsis (Kang et al. 2011), Wheat (Zhuang et al. 2011), apple (Zhao et al. 2012) and potato (Bouaziz et al. 2015). Nakano et al. (2006) and Wu et al. (2007) reported that the AP2/ERF proteins from one plant species are functional in another plant species. Therefore, these can be potentially utilized in increasing the adaptation and stress tolerance of plants.

Another important family of transcription factors is the "basic-domain leucine-zipper (bZIP) which are regulators of many important plant processes including defense against pathogen, hormone and sugar signaling, osmotic control, abiotic stress signaling, energy metabolism, etc. (Perez-Clemente et al. 2013; dos Reis et al. 2016). TGA/octopine synthase (ocs)-element-binding factor (OBF), a class of bZIP proteins bind to the activation sequence-1 (as-1)/ocs element and regulates the expression of some stress- responsive genes and are thus, linked to stress responses (Fode et al. 2008a, b). Overexpressions of AREB2/ABF4 or ABF3 gene in Arabidopsis result in hypersensitivity of ABA, reduced transpiration and elevate drought tolerance (Kang et al. 2002). OsABF1 gene from rice (Amir et al. 2010) and SIAREB gene from tomato (Hsieh et al. 2010) are known to enhance tolerance to drought and salt stress and can be utilized as potential candidates for improving stress tolerance in crops.

MYB and MYC proteins are key factors involved in the response of plants to harsh environmental conditions. AtMYB30 encodes an activator of the hypersensitive cell death program in response to pathogen attack (Raffaele et al. 2008); AtMYB33 and AtMYB101 are involved in ABA-mediated responses to environmental signals (Perez-Clemente et al. 2013); AtMYB96 regulate water stress and disease resistance by acting through the ABA signaling cascade (Seo and Park 2010); AtMYB15 is involved in cold stress tolerance (Agarwal et al. 2006). The rice gene OsMYB4 imparts cold and drought tolerance in transgenic plants of Arabidopsis (Vannini et al. 2004), tomato (Vannini et al. 2007) and apple (Pasquali et al. 2008). Yang et al. 2012 reported the regulatory role of OsMYB2 gene in salt, cold and dehydration tolerance in rice. MYC protein family play a role in the induction of apoptosis and hypersensitive cell death program in response to pathogen attack and also activate the major ABA-dependent stress response (Agarwal and Jha 2010). For instance, MYC2 is an ABA- and drought-responsive gene and is also capable of activating the expression of the ABA response gene Responsive to Dessication22 (RD22) (Abe et al. 2003).

The NAC family are plant-specific transcriptional factors (TFs) identified in *Arabidopsis* (Ooka et al. 2003), rice (Fang et al. 2008), soybean (Le et al. 2011) and poplar (Hu et al. 2010). These TFs are involved in responses to various biotic and abiotic stresses including drought, cold, salinity, pathogenic bacteria and fungi and low-oxygen stress (Nuruzzaman et al. 2013). In Arabidopsis, the expression of NAC genes viz. *ANAC019*, *ANAC055* and *ANAC072* was induced by drought, salinity and ABA respectively. Moreover, overexpression of these genes also enhances tolerance to drought (Tran et al. 2004). *MINAC5* gene, when overexpressed, impart hypersensitivity to exogenous ABA and confers enhanced drought and cold tolerance in Arabidopsis (Yang et al. 2015). In transgenic rice, the *Os01g66120/OsNAC2/6* (Nakashima et al. 2009) and *Os11g03300/OsNAC10* genes (Jeong et al. 2010) were reported to enhance drought and salt tolerance, and *Os03g60080/SNAC1* increased grain yield by 21–34% under drought stress condition (Hu et al. 2006).

Recently, the identification and characterization of an assortment of Al resistance genes in plants allow us to understand in depth about the expression of these genes in response to Al stress. Al resistance gene expression is localized to the root tip, where Al toxicity is prevalent. This gene expression is often increased by Al stress. For e.g., Al-induced increase in expression of *ALMT* and *MATE* gene has been documented for *AtALMT*, *BnALMT1*, *SbMATE*, *ScALMT*, *ScFRDL2*, *OsFRDL4*, *VuMATE1* and *ZmMATE1* (Kochian et al. 2015). Transposon-mediated alteration of *TaMATE1B* expression in wheat is known to confer constitutive citrate efflux from root apices (Tovkach et al. 2013). OsART1 in rice (Yamaji et al. 2009) and AtSTOP1 in Arabidopsis (Iuchi et al. 2007) are the transcription factor family involved in the positive regulation of Al-induced expression of Al resistance genes. AtSTOP1 is reported to involve in the Al-induced expression of several *Arabidopsis* Al resistance genes, including *AtALMT1*, *AtMATE1* (Liu et al. 2009) and *AtALS3* (Sawaki et al. 2009).

Heat stress affect plant growth and development, physiological processes, and most importantly, yield (Hasanuzzaman et al. 2013). Heat stress generates excess reactive oxygen species (ROS), which leads to oxidative stress (Hasanuzzaman et al. 2012). At the molecular level, heat stress causes alterations in expression of genes for osmoprotectants, detoxifying enzymes, transporters, and regulatory proteins (Krasensky and Jonak 2012) and lead to modification of physiological and biochemical processes. During heat stress there is up-regulation of several heat inducible genes; commonly referred as "heat shock genes" (HSGs) which encode HSPs (Chang et al. 2007). This is the basis for the development of heat tolerance for acclimatization or adaptation against heat stress (Moreno and Orellana 2011). In tomato, *HSFA1* act as the 'master regulator' of the heat shock response and if this gene is suppressed, normal HSP production does not occur and the plant show extremely susceptible to heat stress (Mishra et al. 2002). In rice plants, overexpression of *sHSP17.7* gene confers tolerance to heat stress (Murakami et al. 2004).

The role of Late Embryogenesis Abundant (LEA) proteins in generating drought tolerant plants has been reported by many researchers. Xu et al. (1996) confirmed the role of LEA protein under water stress by overexpressing the *HVA1* gene from barley into rice plants. The *OsLEA3-1* gene in rice, *BnLEA4-1* and *JcLEA* gene in transgenic *Arabidopsis*, *TaLEA* gene in transgenic poplar, *SmLEA* gene in transgenic *Salvia miltiorrhiza* and *SiLEA14* gene in foxtail millet play a big role in activating the plant defense and adaptation under dehydration conditions (dos Reis et al. 2016).

Aquaporins are protein family that regulates the movement of water through intracellular and plasma membranes of plants and animals (dos Reis et al. 2016) and contributes to the maintenance of cell turgidity (Gomes et al. 2009). Several studies reported the role of aquaporins in response to stress in plants. For e.g. *TaTIP2;2* act as a negative regulator of drought and salinity and its response is independent of ABA (Xu et al. 2013). Khan et al. (2015) reported that the overexpression of *JcPIP2;7* gene help in faster water uptake through outer water channels and allow faster imbibition and thus, accelerate germination. Zhou et al. (2012) showed that *TaAQP7* gene enhance drought tolerance in transgenic tobacco by improving the water retention ability, reduce reactive oxygen species accumulation and membrane

damage, and increase the antioxidants' activities. In *Arabidopsis thaliana*, MaPIP1;1 increased drought tolerance associated with decreased membrane injury and improved osmotic adjustment (Xu et al. 2014).

Submergence/water-logging is one of the major harmful abiotic stress for low-lying areas and crop losses due to waterlogging are considerably high (Ahmed et al. 2012). The stem elongation in deepwater rice varieties is mainly controlled by three QTLs. Hattori et al. 2009 found out that ethylene response factors *SNORKEL1* and *SNORKEL2* allow rice to adapt to deep water. The *Submergence-1* (*SUB1*) locus on chromosome 9 of rice (Xu and Mackill 1996) contains *SUB1A*, *SUB1B*, and *SUB1C*, all of which encode ethylene response factors and are upregulated under submergence, but only *SUB1A* is responsible for the water- logging tolerance (Xu et al. 2006). *SUB1A* expression is induced by drought and oxidative stress upon desubmergence and positively regulates the expressions of genes involved in ABA-mediated acclimation to drought conditions. Moreover, under oxidative stress, *SUB1A* promotes the genes expression related to the detoxification of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and reduces the accumulation of ROS (Fukao et al. 2011).

A large number of genes and transcription factors are upregulated in response to salinity in different plant species. The SOS gene family (e.g. AtNHXI and H+ATPase gene) is believed to play a very intriguing role in ion homeostasis, thereby conferring salt tolerance (Liu et al. 2000). It is also found out that some ROS-scavenging and osmotic-regulating genes are also upregulated by salinity in some plant species. For instance, a continuous exposure to salinity for about 24 h in rice plant resulted in upregulation of glutathione S-transferase and ascorbate per-oxidase, both of which play an active role in ROS scavenging (Kawasaki et al. 2001; Gupta and Huang 2014). A rice transcription factor gene SALT-RESPONSIVE ERF1 (SERF1) that showed a root-specific induction upon salt and H₂O₂ treatment were identified by Schmidt et al. (2013).

Although phosphate (Pi) is an essential macronutrient that is necessary for many metabolic processes in plants including photosynthesis and respiration, it is a frequent limiting factor for plant productivity. Pi deficit elicits a complex array of morphological, physiological, and biochemical adaptations, collectively known as the Pi-starvation response (Plaxton 2004). Biochemical adaptations of Phosphate-starved plants include increased efficiency of cellular phosphate uptake through high-affinity Pi transporters, induction of Phosphate scavenging and recycling enzymes like acid phosphatase, secreted nuclease and phosphodiesterase, replacement of membrane phospholipids with non-phosphorus galacto- and sulfonyl-lipids, induction of metabolic phosphate recycling enzymes, enhanced excretion of organic acids like malate and citrate due to PEPCase induction, induction of alternative pathways of cytosolic glycolysis and Respiratory Electron Transport and induction of tonoplast H+-Pumping Pyrophosphatase (Plaxton and Carswell 1999).

In plants, heavy metal toxicity may lead to the over production of ROS, resulting in peroxidation of many vital constituents of the cell (Kumar et al. 2017). Plant

defense mechanisms against heavy metal toxicity include Antioxidant defense system and cellular homeostasis. Many enzymatic antioxidants like superoxide dismutase (SOD), peroxidase (POD), catalase (CAT) and glutathione-s-transferase (GST) may efficiently convert the superoxide radicals into hydrogen peroxide and further into water and oxygen while low molecular weight non-enzymatic antioxidants like proline, ascorbic acid and glutathione may directly detoxify the ROS (Singh et al. 2015; Singh and Prasad 2014; Yadav et al. 2014; Xu et al. 2009). The exogenous application of proline elevates the level of endogenous proline under heavy metal stress and this helps in maintaining intracellular redox homeostasis potential (Hoque et al. 2008). Proline may enhance the tolerance level of plants by chelating heavy metals in the cytoplasm, regulating the water potential and maintaining osmotic adjustment through cellular homeostasis and reduce metal uptake (Singh et al. 2015).

Molecular Crosstalk and Epigenetic Memory for Stress Response and Adaptation

Recently omics data analysis and functional characterization of individual genes showed a convergence of signaling pathways for biotic and abiotic stress adaptation. Crop resilience to combined biotic and abiotic stress can be enhanced through thorough dissection of physiological and molecular crosstalk (Kissoudis et al. 2014). Whole genome expression meta-analysis experiments under different biotic and abiotic stress treatments revealed that a significant number of genes are commonly regulated under both stress conditions (Shaik and Ramakrishna 2014). These genes include response to ABA, Salicylic acid (SA), Jasmonic acid (JA) and ethylene which are major stress hormone imparting adaptation against both biotic and abiotic stress (Ma and Bohnert 2007). Moreover, several signaling pathways members including mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), Ca²⁺, ROS, Phospholipids, vesicle trafficking, mitochondrial functions and apoptosis were also induced under both biotic and abiotic stresses (Ma and Bohnert 2007; Kissoudis et al 2014). Transcription factors like WRKY, MYB, ERF, NAC and HSF are also involved in the crosstalk across stress treatment (Shaik and Ramakrishna 2013).

It has been recently shown that plants can remember past stress conditions and can utilize these memories to aid responses when these stresses reappear. The scene behind such memories is the epigenetic mechanisms in the control of gene expression through small RNAs, histone modifications and DNA methylation. Such epigenetic mechanisms are essential for stress memories and adaptation in plants (Kinoshita and Seki 2014). One good example for stress memory is 'defense priming' in which the plant displays a more rapid and robust response to pathogen or herbivore in a second attack compared with the first one (Pastor et al. 2013). Priming is also found for abiotic stress like drought (Ding et al. 2012).

Defence Mechanisms of Plants During Environmental Stress

Plants are constantly confronted to various abiotic and biotic stresses that seriously reduce their productivity and growth. Plants have a number of inherent and adaptive mechanisms to cope with stresses in their environment, which include such physical conditions as water (too much as well as drought), temperature (hot and cold), saline soils and oxygen deprivation, as well coping with biotic stresses such as insect pest and pathogens. Exposure of plants to various biotic and abiotic stress induces a disruption and physiological imbalance and thus leading to a reduction in fitness and productivity (Atkinson and Urwin 2012). Abiotic stress is the primary cause of huge loss of cop plants worldwide and resulting growth reduction cane reach >50% in most plant species (Rejeb et al. 2014; Surekha et al. 2015; Wani and Sah 2014). Other than abiotic stress, biotic stresses such as insect pest and pathogens also cause huge loss in term of yield and productivity. The occurrence of simultaneous abiotic and biotic stresses in natural environment presents an added degree of complexity, as the responses to these complex stresses are largely controlled by different hormone signaling pathways that may interact and inhibit one another. Often exposure of plants to long term abiotic stress can weaken the tissue/organs and cause enhanced susceptibility (Goel et al. 2008). Long exposure of biotic stress by insect pest and pathogen also increases the effect of abiotic stress such as water deficit and others (Englishloeb 1990; Khan and Khan 1996). Evidences also suggest that the climate change will also expand the host range of pathogens with increased chances of virulent strain development (Garrett et al. 2006). The ever changing climatic factors has further increases predisposition of complex nature of biotic and abiotic. Therefore, the occurrence of combined biotic and abiotic stress is likely to be higher in future.

Abiotic Stress and Defense Mechanism in Plants

A number of abiotic stresses such as extreme temperature (drought, flooding), high light intensity, osmotic stresses, heavy metals and a number of herbicides and toxins lead to over production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) including H_2O_2 causing extensive cellular damage and inhibition of photosynthesis (Wani and Gosal 2010; Das et al 2016).

Drought

Drought stress has been reported to severely reduce germination and seedling stand (Kaya et al. 2006) in different crop plant of *rainfed* ecology. Drought stress is characterized by reduction of water content, reduced leaf water potential and turgor

loss, closure of stomata and decrease in cell growth and enlargement. Acute shortage of water in tissues may result in the arrest of photosynthesis, disturbance of metabolism and finally the death of plant. The adverse effect of drought on plant structure, behavior and function such as xylem embolism, reduced carbohydrate pool size, leaf and fine root production, on the ability of plants to resist pathogen attacks, the impacts on soil microbial dynamics, decomposition and nutrient supply processes, and shifting competitive abilities between plant species could not be underestimated (Ciais et al. 2005).

Mechanism of Drought Tolerance

Plants under drought stress survive by the means of several morphological, biochemical and physiological traits (Wani et al. 2008; Gosal et al. 2009). Drought tolerance of a crop plant has inherent ability to grow, flower and display economic yield under suboptimal water status. Drought stress negatively affects the water relations of plants at cellular, tissue and organ levels, causing specific as well as unspecific reactions, damage and adaptation reactions (Beck et al. 2007). Drought stress for a prolonged period act as a limiting factor at the initial phase of plant growth and establishment.

Morphological Mechanism

Water deficit stress mostly reduced leaf size and growth and in turns the leaf areas in many species of plant like Populus (Wullschleger et al. 2005), soybean (Zhang et al. 2004) and many other species (Farooq et al. 2009). Production of ramified root system under drought is important to above ground dry mass and the plant species or varieties of a species have great differences in the production of roots. The development extensive root system enhances the water uptake and maintains the osmotic pressure through higher proline levels in Phoenix dactylifera (Djibril et al. 2005). Reduced biomass has been recorded under water stressed soybean (Specht et al. 2001), Poncirus trifoliatae seedlings (Wu et al. 2008), common bean and green gram (Webber et al. 2006). Drought stress affects the growth, fresh dry weight and harvestable index in a number of plant species, but the quantitative effect may vary from species to species or varieties to varieties.

Drought Escape

Drought escape occurs when plants develop rapidly and reproduce before drought conditions become severe. Cession of vegetative growth may or may not accompany a drought escape response. Time of flowering is an important aspect related to drought adaptation, where a short life cycle can lead to drought escape (Araus 2002). Drought escape as an adaptive strategy comes from temporally replicated series of observations examining changes in populations following drought events. The genetic base under lying the variation in drought escape has been elucidated in a number of species, although the specific genes/QTLs and their physiological aspects remain to be characterized. Breeding of short-duration varieties has been an effective and viable strategy for minimizing yield loss from reproductive phase drought (Terminal drought).

Drought Avoidance

Drought avoidance consists of a mechanism that maintains relatively high tissue water potential despite a shortage of moisture status in soil. It is performed by maintenance of turgor through deep root system, stomatal control of transpiration and by reduction of water loss by reduced epidermal layers (Kavar et al. 2007). Drought avoidance adaptations can occur through a variety of morphological and physiological traits. Genotypes that adapted to xeric conditions may have lower specific leaf area, greater succulence (Eggli and Nyffeler 2009), increased leaf reflectance (Ehleringer et al. 1976), accentuated leaf lobing (Talbert and Holch 1957) with altered stomatal size and density (Masle et al. 2005) The root character such as root biomass, root length, root angle, root density and root depth are the major drought avoidance traits that contribute to final yield under terminal drought environments. Drought avoidance can evolve a constitute change in water use efficiency or as plastic response under moisture stress or other environment cues. Presently much research has been focused on transpiration efficiency despite the existence of other mechanism of drought avoidance. Therefore it is need to emphasize more on the all possible mechanism for drought avoidance.

Phenotypic Flexibility/Plasticity

Phenotypic plasticity is unique quality of genotype that change their phenotype expressed by a single genotype in different environments. At morphological level, the shoot and root biomass are the most affected and both are the key traits for plant adaptation under drought. Certain morphological traits such as leaf pubescence, root length, trichome and cuticle which help to protect the plants from drought stress. Selection for a deep and extensive root system has been practiced to enhance productivity of food legumes under moisture stress conditions as it can optimize the capacity to acquire water (Subbarao et al. 1995). Intra-specific and inter-specific variation reported in different crop plant for specific morphological traits contributing in drought stress.

Physiological Mechanism

Inadequate water availability in drought prone environment often affects growth and productivity of crops by reducing its water potential and turgor (Kiani et al. 2007; Gosal et al. 2010). Drought tolerant plants have several physiological mechanisms such as Osmotic adjustment, osmo-protection, antioxidation and scavenging defense system which operate at different stage of growth and development. Osmotic adjustment is the main component of plant at cellular level to minimize the damage caused by drought stress in crop plants (Blum 2005). Under drought, excess accumulation of compatible solutes as proline, amino acid and glycine betaine occur (Farooq et al. 2008; Wani et al. 2013b). Drought alters the endogenous growth substances and creates imbalance of hormonal level and ultimately lead to change in metabolic system in stress induced plants.

Antioxidant Defense Mechanism

Under drought stress conditions cell or tissue has exposed for oxidative stress with production of reactive oxygen species. Stress lead to decline in CO₂ influx and stomatal closure. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) such as H₂O₂ (hydrogen peroxide), O₂⁻ (superoxide) and OH (hydroxyl) radical produced under stress through enhanced leakage of electrons to molecular oxygen (Arora et al. 2002). Oxidative stress damages the plants by oxidizing photosynthetic pigments, membrane lipids, proteins and nucleic acids (Yordanov et al. 2000). To keep the levels of active oxygen species under control, plants have non-enzymatic and enzymatic antioxidant systems to protect cells from oxidative damage (Mittler 2002). Non-enzymatic antioxidants include β -carotenes, ascorbic acid (AA), α -tocopherol. (α -toc), reduced glutathione (GSH) and enzymes including: superoxide dismutase (SOD), guaiacol peroxidase (POD), ascorbate peroxidase (APX), catalase (CAT), polyphenol oxidase (PPO) and glutathione reductase (GR).

Defense Mechanism for Water Logging in Plants

Waterlogging is a serious problem, which affects plant growth and development in low lying rainfed areas in large part of globe (Lone et al. 2016). The prime cause of plant damage under waterlogging is oxygen deprivation, which leads to problem in nutrient and water uptake and ultimately plants die when flooding prevails for longer duration. The reduction of oxygen content below optimal levels, termed hypoxia, is the most common form of stress in wet soils and occurs during short-term flooding when the roots are submerged. Oxygen deficiency generally leads to the substantial decline in net photosynthetic rate (Ashraf et al. 2011). Ethylene accumulates in flooded soils and in submerged plant parts as an adaptive mechanism under hypoxic root and shoot. Ethylene initiates act as regulatory mechanism for many adaptive molecular, chemical and morphological responses

that allow the plant to avoid anaerobiosis by enhancing oxygen availability to the roots in a flooded or waterlogged soil conditions (Sairam et al 2008). Aerenchyma formation under submerged or waterlogged condition have been reported in a range of crop species such as, Trifolium subterraneum (Aschi-Smiti et al. 2004), soybean (Bacanamwo and Purcell 1999), wheat (Watkin et al. 1998), rice (Justin and Armstrong 1991), maize (Gunawardena et al. 2001), Carex spp. (Visser et al. 2000). Due to shift in energy production metabolism from aerobic to anaerobic mode the energy requirements of tissue is greatly restricted because of very few ATPs generated per molecule of glucose. This necessitates availability of comparatively higher amount of readily metabolizable sugar pool. At the DNA level, low oxygen induced genes have been identified and characterized by the presence of an anaerobic response element (ARE) in the promoter (Walker et al. 1984). Manipulation of gene expression under low oxygen stress in different crop species provides a new insight in order to develop high tolerant crop plants. In future, generation of genetically improved flood tolerant crop plants thought insertion, regulation and manipulation of different genes conferring different metabolic and physiological pathway is one of the most sustainable and viable straggles for low lyaing area or flood prone area.

Defense Mechanism for Heat

Presently global climate change has risen the temperature and it severely affects the growth and production of crops. Heat stress affects plant growth throughout its ontogeny however heat-threshold level varies considerably at different developmental stages. Heat stress also induces indirect injuries that include inactivation of enzymes, inhibition of protein synthesis, protein degradation and loss of membrane integrity (Howrath 2005). Major impact of high temperatures on shoot growth is a severe reduction in the first internode length resulting in premature death of plants (Hall 1992). The most noticeable effect of high temperatures on reproductive processes in tomato is the production of an exerted style (i.e., stigma is elongated beyond the anther cone), which may prevent self-pollination. Poor fruit set at high temperature has also been associated with low levels of carbohydrates and growth regulators released in plant sink tissues. Heat tolerance is the ability of the plants to maintain normal metabolic process and produces economic yields under high temperature. Heat stress causes an abrupt increase in the expression of stress-associated low molecular weight proteins which provide tolerance by stimulating the defense response in plants (Roy et al. 1993). Heat-shock proteins (Hsps) osmoprotectants and antioxidant enzymes are important defence mechanism in encountering heat stress in plants. Hsps play a role in stress signal transduction, protecting and repairing damaged proteins and membranes, protecting photosynthesis as well as regulating cellular redox state (Asthir 2015). Three classes of proteins, as distinguished by molecular weight, account for most HSPs, viz., HSP90, HSP70 and low molecular weight proteins of 15-30 kDa. HSP70 and HSP90 mRNAs can increase ten-fold, while low molecular weight (LMW) HSPs can increase as much as 200-fold under heat stress conditions (Wahid et al. 2007). The major sites of thermal damage are the oxygen-evolving complex (OEC) along with other associated cofactors in photosystem II, carbon fixation by Rubisco and the ATP-generating system. Heat stress also negatively interferes with electron transport and consequently leading to excessive production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in plant cells. Apart from HSPs, there are a number of other ubiquitin proteins including cytosolic Cu/Zn-SOD and Mn-POD whose expressions are stimulated upon heat stress. The ability of the plant to cope with or adjust to the heat stress varies across and within species as well as at different developmental stages. Traditional breeding has greatly exploited the variability among the species for development of heat tolerance variety. Manipulations of the heat shock protein gene in transgenic plants have the potential to improve common abiotic stress tolerance and this may have a significant impact on the exploitation of the inherent genetic potential of agronomically important plants.

Defense Mechanism for Salinity/Alkalinity

Salinity is a major abiotic stress limiting the increase in the demand for food crops (Gupta and Huang 2014). Salinity stress involves changes in various, morphological, physiological, biochemical and metabolic processes, depending on severity and duration of the stress, and ultimately limits the crop production. Salinity in initial stage induces, osmotic stress in the which causes various physiological changes, such as interruption of membranes, nutrient imbalance, impairs the ability to detoxify reactive oxygen species (ROS), differences in the antioxidant enzymes and decreased photosynthetic activity, and decrease in stomatal aperture (). Under saline conditions, plants accumulate high Na+ concentration which interfere with uptake of K+ ions which is an essential element for plant growth and development (Dang et al. 2010). Under high salt concentration, plant develops different physiological and biochemical mechanisms for survival and growth. Principal mechanism includes ion homeostasis, compartmentalization, ion transport and uptake, biosysyntesis and accumulation of osmoprotectant, activation of antioxidant enzyme, generation of nitric oxide, synthesis of polyamines and hormone modulation (Pathak et al. 2014). Plants have inherent mechanisms to mitigate osmotic stress by reducing water loss while maximizing water uptake. plants generally minimize the adverse effects of Na+ stress by exclusion of Na+ from leaf tissues and by compartmentalization of Na+, mainly into vacuoles. Genetic transformation of plants for enhancing the salinity tolerance can be successfully executed by focusing on genes controlling ion transport, as regulation of Na+ uptake and compartmentalization is a critically important mechanism of plant survival under salinity stress. Several studies on model plant have identified allelic variation for sodium transporters genes viz., HKT1 (High-Affinity K+ Transporter1), SOS1 (Salt Overly Sensitive1) and NHX (Na+/H+ Exchanger) as crucial determinants of cellular Na+ homeostasis.

Defense Mechanism for Metal Toxicity

Heavy metals include the transition-metal elements essential to plant nutrition, iron (Fe), zinc (Zn), manganese (Mn), copper (Cu), nickel (Ni) and molybdenum (Mo), cobalt (Co), which is required for nitrogen fixation in legumes, and the non-essential elements, chromium (Cr), cadmium (Cd), mercury (Hg) and lead (Pb). All these elements if exceed its threshold level cause toxic to crop plants. The presence of toxic heavy metals (HMs), is one important factor that can cause damage to plants by altering metabolic and plant physiological and metabolic processes (Farid et al. 2013). Symptoms associated with metal toxicity includes, reduction in plant growth including leaf chlorosis, necrosis, turgor loss, a decrease in the rate of seed germination, and a dysfunctional photosynthetic apparatus, often correlated with plant death. Some crops plants appear to tolerate metals either by excluding them from the shoot or by accumulating metals in older leaves as similar in case of salinity tolerance. Some plant tolerates high concentration of metals even up to four times than normal termed as hyperaccumulators. Hyperaccumulators are plant are the actual metal tolerant plant and frequently occurs in at least 500 plant species (or about 0.2% of taxa), and accumulate metals that include aluminium, cadmium, copper, lead, nickel and zinc (Hodson 2012). Antioxidant defenses components including SOD, ascorbate peroxidase (APX), peroxiredoxins (PRXs) and catalase (CAT). Glutathione (GSH) and ascorbate have a major role in defense against oxidative damage caused by reactive oxygen species that generated as a result of metal toxicity. Besides ROS and antioxidants, the other mechanisms of metal toxicity tolerance include, complexion, chelation and compartmentation. Classic genetic demonstrated many genes/QTLs are involved in HM uptake, translocation, sequestration, chemical modification, and tolerance. Role of regulatory genes other than structural genes are more important for simultaneously induction of many HM-related genes, in order to enhance heavy metal (HM) phytoremediation capacity (Hossain et al. 2012) Overexpression of single or in combination of genes are a possible strategy for genetic engineering. Genetic engineering would act as an efficient mechanism or tools for phytoremediation of crop plants by engineering of transporter, uptake and regulatory genes.

Biotic Stress

Pathogens

Biotic stresses result from an array of potential pathogens: fungi, bacteria, nematodes and insects intercept the photosynthate produced by plants, and viruses use replication machinery at the host's expense. Plants, in turn, have evolved sophisticated mechanisms to perceive such attacks, and to translate that perception into an adaptive response (Jeffery et al. 2001).

Passive Defenses

Potential plant pathogens must overcome the physical barrier presented by healthy plants to gain access to the nutrients or replication machinery available within the host cell. These barriers may be physical (the cuticle, cell wall, stomatal aperture or lenticel) or chemical (including inhibitory compounds or the absence of stimulatory compounds needed for pathogen development). Saprophytes lack the ability to penetrate these natural barriers (Guest and Brown 1997).

Physical Barriers

The importance of the cuticle as a barrier to penetration has been demonstrated by the dependence of many pathogens on adhesion and the subsequent release of cutin-degrading enzymes at the time of penetration. Although cutin-degrading enzymes are also secreted by many saprophytic fungi and bacteria, their primary activity is to allow access to cellulose in plant cell walls as a nutritional substrate. Different forms of cutin-degrading enzymes are used by pathogens to puncture the cell wall. The activity of this type of cutinolytic enzyme in isolates of *Fusarrum solani*, F. sp. *pisi* is directly related to their aggressiveness on pea stems, indicating that pathogens unable to dissolve the cuticle at the point of penetration are excluded (David and John 1997).

The cuticle provides a physical barrier against water loss and protects against irradiation, xenobiotics, and pathogens. Components of the cuticle are perceived by invading fungi and activate developmental processes during pathogenesis. In addition, cuticle alterations of various types induce a syndrome of reactions that often results in resistance to necrotrophs (Serrano et al. 2014). These are important factors in the resistance of some plants to certain pathogens by making direct penetration fungal pathogens difficult or impossible. Many pathogenic fungi and bacteria enter plants only through stomata. The structure of stomata e.g. a very narrow entrance and broad, elevated guard cells, may confer resistance to some varieties against certain bacterial pathogens (Tom Schultz 2006). Thicker, tougher cell walls could be associated with adult plant resistance. Some pathogens such as Puccinia graminis only infect young barberry leaves with thin cuticles and the germ tubes emerging from basidiospores do not penetrate thicker cuticles on mature leaves. Similarly, the ability of *Taphrina dejorrnans* to infect only young, newly unfolded leaves has been attributed to the inability of germ tubes to penetrate the thicker cuticles of older leaves. The presence of secondary cell walls in sclerenchyma, xylem or older plant tissue often retards pathogen development, leading, for example, to angular leaf spots where pathogen spread is restricted by leaf veins. Thick cuticles may physically prevent the eruption of sporophores and release of spores. However, most experimental evidence suggests that toughened cuticles and cell walls are just one of the many factors that contribute to resistance (David and John 1997).

Waxy cuticles and vertically oriented leaves may prevent the formation of moisture films on leaf surfaces. Dry leaf surfaces inhibit infection by pathogens such as bacteria, nematodes and fungal zoospores that require a film of water for motility. Fungal spores might also be inhibited because most require moisture for germination. This must be balanced with the fact that vertically oriented leaves are more prone to impaction by wind-borne pathogen propagules and are likely to face higher inoculum levels compared with those that are horizontally oriented (Guest and Brown 1997).

Pathogens enter the host by direct penetration through natural openings or are introduced by vectors. Bacteria and fungi are capable of triggering stomatal closure through pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), which prevents penetration through these pores. Therefore, the stomata can be considered part of the plant innate immune response. Some pathogens have evolved mechanisms to evade stomatal defense. The bacterial pathogen Xanthomonas campestris pv. campestris (Xcc), which infects plants of the Brassicaceae family mainly through hydathodes, has also been reported to infect plants through stomata. A recent report shows that penetration of Xcc in Arabidopsis leaves through stomata depends on a secreted small molecule whose synthesis is under control of the rpf/diffusible signal factor (DSF) cell-to-cell signaling system, which also controls genes involved in biofilm formation and pathogenesis. The same reports shows that Arabidopsis ROS- and PAMP-activated MAP kinase 3 (MPK3) is essential for stomatal innate response (Gudesblat et al. 2009). The black pod pathogen, Phytophthora palmiuora, enters cocoa pods through stomata. Cocoa genotypes that produce pods with few, relatively smaller stomata, allow fewer lesions to establish than genotypes with more numerous, larger stomata. Not surprisingly, as the pathogen enters through stomatal pores, there is no correlation between cuticle thickness or pod case hardness and resistance to black pod. The bacterium that causes citrus canker, Xanthomonas campestris pv. citri, enters grapefruit through open stomata. Mandarins are resistant because their stomata are too small to allow entry of the bacterium. Similarly, lenticels that suberise rapidly so that their size is reduced may physically exclude pathogens such as Streptomyces scabies, the cause of common scab of potato (David and John 1997).

Lignifications: Lignified cell wall provide effective barrier to hyphal penetration. Lignin is a highly branched heterogeneous polymer found principally in the secondary cell walls of plants, although primary walls can also become lignified. It consists of hundreds or thousands of phenolic monomers and is a primary component of wood. Because it is insoluble, rigid, and virtually indigestible, lignin provides an excellent physical barrier against pathogen attack. Lignin acts as impermeable barrier for free movement of nutrient causing starvation of pathogen. Some examples of lignin containing crops and fungi inhibited include *Peronospora parasitica*, *Alternaria japonica* Potato: *Phytophtora infestans* Wheat: *Septoria nodorum* Cucumber: *Cladosporium cucumerium*, *Colletorichum lagenarium* Carrot: *Botrytis cineria* (Jones and Dangl 2006).

Suberization: In several plants the infected cells are surrounded by suberized cells, thus, isolating them from healthy tissue. Corky layer formation is a part of

natural healing system of plants. e.g. common scab of potato and rot of sweet potato are good examples (Van Baarlen et al. 2007).

Abscission layers: It is a gap between host cell layers and devices for dropping– off older leaves and mature fruits. Plant may use this for defence mechanism also. i.e., To drop-off infected or invaded plant tissue or parts, along with pathogen. Shot holes in leaves of fruit trees is a common feature.

Tyloses: The tyloses are formed by protrusion of xylem parachymatous cell walls, through pits, into xylem vessels. The size and number of tyloses physically block the vessel. The tyloses are inductively formed much ahead of infection, thus blocking the spread of pathogen. It suggests biochemical elicitors and movement of tyloses inducing facto (TIF) up the stem. e.g. Sweet potato: Fusarium oxysporum f. sp. Batatas (Jan et al. 2011; Dou and Zhou 2012).

Gum deposition: The gums and vascular gels quickly accumulate and fill the intercellular spaces or within the cell surroundings the infection thread and haustoria, which may starve or die.

Chemical Barriers

The pathogen may not be provided with the required nutrients by the plants and thus resist infection. The compounds in plant cells may stimulate or inhibit the development of pathogens. Some fungal resting spores such as *Spongospora subterranea* (powdery scab of potato), *Urocystis agropyri* (flag or leaf smut of wheat) and *Plasmodiophora brassicae* (club root of crucifers) and eggs of the potato cyst nematode, *Globodera rostochiensis*, require specific substances to stimulate germination or hatching. These are provided in secretions from certain plants, including potential hosts. Plants that fail to secrete these stimulators are resistant by default (David and John 1997).

Plant chemicals can be divided into two major categories: primary metabolites and secondary metabolites. Primary metabolites are substances produced by all plant cells that are directly involved in growth, development, or reproduction. Examples include sugars, proteins, amino acids, and nucleic acids. Secondary metabolites are not directly involved in growth or reproduction but they are often involved with plant defense. These compounds usually belong to one of three large chemical classes: terpenoids, phenolics, and alkaloids (Brian and Gwyn 2008).

The name phytoanticipins was coined by J.W. Mansfield. "Phytoanticipins are low molecular weight, antimicrobial compounds that are present in plants before challenge by microorganisms or are produced after infection solely from preexisting constituents" (VanEtten et al. 1994). Phytoanticipins may be excreted into the external environment (e.g. rhizosphere or phylloplane), accumulate in dead cells or they may be sequestered in vacuoles in an inactive form. The dead cells of brown onion skins contain the quinones, catechol and protocatechuic acid, which inhibit germination of spores of the smudge pathogen, *Collectorichum circinans*, and the neck rot pathogen, *Botrytis cinerea*; white onions do not produce these compounds and are susceptible to smudge. *Aspergillus niger* is insensitive to these inhibitors and attacks both white and brown onions. Avocado rootstocks resistant to root rot caused by Phytophthora cinnamomi secrete borbinol, an antimicrobial phenolic compound, into the rhizosphere. The secretion of nematode-inhibiting substances into the rhizosphere surrounding asparagus and marigold roots has already been mentioned. Symptoms of anthracnose of avocado, caused by Colletotrichum gloeosporiordes, only develop on ripe fruit. The peel of unripe avocado fruit contains antifungal lipids called dienes that prevent appressorial germination. As these dienes are gradually metabolised during fruit ripening to less toxic compounds, quiescent appressoria germinate and susceptibility to anthracnose increases. In anthracnose-resistant cultivars, diene breakdown is blocked following infection, so that antifungal levels are sustained for longer periods. The resistance of immature apples and pears to scab, caused by Venturia inaequalis and V. pirina respectively, correlates with the presence of the phenolic compounds chlorogenic acid, phloridzin, arbutin and iso-chlorogenic acid in the outer layers of the fruit. These compounds also contribute to the bitter taste of unripe apples and pears and, as the fruit ripens and sweetens, it also becomes more susceptible to scab (David and John 1997).

One group of phytoanticipins, the saponins, are plant glycosides with surfactant (wetting agent) properties. Saponins bind sterols in pathogen cell membranes, destroying membrane integrity and function. In this way saponins are toxic to organisms containing sterols in their membranes (e.g. plants and fungi, but not Oomycota). Inactive saponin precursor molecules appear to be stored in vacuoles of intact plant cells, but hydrolase enzymes released following wounding or infection convert these precursors to active, antimicrobial forms. Several lines of evidence suggest that saponins are involved in disease resistance and host range determination. It appears that the ability of some pathogens to detoxiff specific saponins matches their host range. For example, a strain of the take-all pathogen that attacks oats as well as wheat and barley (Gaeumannomyces graminis var. auenae), releases the enzyme avenacinase. Avenacinase detoxifies the triterpenoid saponin, avenacin, found in epidermal cells of the roots of oat plants. Mutants in which the gene for avenacinase production has been deleted are sensitive to avenacin in vitro and are not pathogenic on oats, but remain pathogenic to wheat and barley. Gaeumannomyces graminis var. tritici lacks avenacinase and attacks wheat and barley, but not oat species containing avenacin. An oat species that does not produce avenacin, Avena longiglumisis susceptible to Gaeumannomyces graminis var. tritici (Osbourn 1994; David and John 1997). Another saponin, tomatine, contributes to the resistance of tomato leaves to Botrytis cinerea (Osbourn 1996). Some plant peptides also inhibit the development of fungi, bacteria, viruses and insects. They act as proteinase and polygalacturonase-inhibitors, as ribosome inhibitors or lectins. These inhibitors interfere with pathogen nutrition and retard their development, thus contributing to disease resistance. Because of their similarity to peptides called defensins found in insects and mammals, they have been termed plant defensins.

The first plant defensins were isolated from wheat *T. aestivum* and barley *Hordeum vulgare* and initially classified as γ -thionins. Plant defensins are small (ca.

5 kDa), basic, cysteine-rich peptides ranging from 45 to 54 amino acids, and are positively charged. Biological activities reported for plant defensins include antifungal, antibacterial, proteinase, and insect amylase inhibitor activities (Wijaya et al. 2000; Stotz et al. 2009). The plant defensins have quite diverse amino acid composition and conserved three-dimensional structure, which comprises a triple-stranded β -sheet with an α -helix in parallel stabilized by four disulfide bridges. Plant defensing are very similar to defense peptides of mammals and insects what suggest their ancient and conserved origin. Generally, plant defensins are composed by one subunit, being found in monomeric forms. On the other hand, the defensins from Pachyrrhizus erosus and other from Vigna unguiculata showed the ability to dimerism (Pelegrini and Franco 2005). The mode of action of plant defensins is still unclear and not all plant defensins have the same mode of action. Probable defensins used glucosylceramides as receptors for fungi cell membrane insertion. Then, repulsion of defensins into cell membrane by their positive charges leads to membrane disruption, membrane destabilization, and ion efflux (Pelegrini and Franco 2005). Plant defensins can be divided in two groups: (1) plant defensins that inhibit fungal growth through morphological distortions of the fungal hyphae and (2) plant defensins that inhibit fungal growth without morphological distortion (Hegedus and Marx 2013). Most plant defensins were isolated from seeds. In radish, defensin RS-AFPs represents 0.5% of total protein in seeds. Defensins were also isolated from leaves, pods, tubers, fruits, roots, bark, and floral organs of such plants as Heuchera sanguinea (Hs-AFp1), Raphanus sativus (Rs-AFP1), Aesculus hippocastanum (Ah-AMP1), Dahlia merckii (Dm-AMP1), and Clitoria ternatea (Ct-AMP1; De Lucca et al. 2005). Defensins are expressed during normal plant growth and development and induced by environmental factors and biotic and abiotic stress (Pestana-Calsa and Calsa 2011). The defensins gene induced upon pathogen infection has been identified in pea, tobacco, Arabidopsis, and spruce (Lay and Anderson 2005). Defensins may constitute up to 10% of the total proteins in cereal, legume and solanaceous seeds. Similar studies have shown defensins are also present in the outer cell layers of other plant organs such as flowers, leaves and tubers. While many defensing accumulate during normal plant development, others are induced, or their accumulation is enhanced, after wounding. Defensins, because of their anti-feeding activity against insects, provide a defence against insect-transmitted viruses (David and John 1997).

Rapid Active Defenses

Plant responses to infection are complex and there is no universal model or sequence of events that accurately describes the dynamics of resistance in the few interactions studied, let alone the vast majority of undescribed interactions. Almost every host-parasite interaction is unique in the details of the activation, localization, timing and magnitude of each component of the defense response. As previously stated, resistance is rarely absolute and whether a plant ends up being resistant or susceptible depends on the sum of many individual responses.

Changes in Membrane Function

Most studies on the earliest stages of the host-parasite interaction conclude that the host membrane is involved in pathogen recognition and signal transduction. Electrolyte leakage accompanies plant response to stresses, such as salinity, pathogen attack, drought, heavy metals, hyperthermia, and hypothermia; however, the mechanism and physiological role of this phenomenon have only recently been clarified. Accumulating evidence shows that electrolyte leakage is mainly related to K⁺ efflux from plant cells, which is mediated by plasma membrane cation conductances (Demidchik et al. 2014). Membrane permeability changes rapidly following the exposure of plant cell suspension cultures to fungal and bacterial elicitors, usually leading to a loss of cellular electrolytes such as K+ and an uptake of H+. Most probably they are encoded by GORK, SKOR, and annexin genes. Hypothetically, cyclic nucleotide-gated channels and ionotropic glutamate receptors can also be involved. The stress-induced electrolyte leakage is usually accompanied by accumulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and often results in programmed cell death (PCD). Recent data strongly suggest that these reactions are linked to each other. ROS have been shown to activate GORK, SKOR, and annexins. ROS activated K+ efflux through GORK channels results in dramatic K+ loss from plant cells, which stimulates proteases and endonucleases, and promotes PCD. This mechanism is likely to trigger plant PCD under severe stress. However, in moderate stress conditions, K+ efflux could play an essential role as a 'metabolic switch' in anabolic reactions, stimulating catabolic processes and saving 'metabolic' energy for adaptation and repair needs. At the same time, there is often an influx of Ca²⁺, a key intracellular signal in plants that is involved in the activation of enzymes and gene expression. Ca²⁺ signaling in plants functions in local and systemic communication. Rapid systemic signaling is activated in response to different stimuli including mechanical force, pathogen infection, and abiotic stresses and results in systemic propagation of Ca²⁺ and reactive oxygen species (ROS) waves. This allows plant cells to transmit long-distance signals via cell-to-cell communication (Steinhorst and Kudla 2013; Gilroy et al. 2014). The experimental blocking of Ca^{2+} transport across membranes in inoculated bean cells also inhibits gene activation and subsequent defence responses.

The Oxidative Burst

Rapid generation of superoxide and accumulation of H_2O_2 is a characteristic early feature of the hypersensitive response following perception of pathogen avirulence signals. Emerging data indicate that the oxidative burst reflects activation of a membrane-bound NADPH oxidase closely resembling that operating in activated neutrophils. The oxidants are not only direct protective agents, but H_2O_2 also functions as a substrate for oxidative cross-linking in the cell wall, as a threshold trigger for hypersensitive cell death, and as a diffusible signal for induction of cellular protectant genes in surrounding cells. Activation of the oxidative burst is a central component of a highly amplified and integrated signal system, also involving salicylic acid and perturbations of cytosolic Ca^{2+} , which underlies the expression of disease-resistance mechanisms (Lamb and Dixon 1997).

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) are produced as a normal product of plant cellular metabolism. Various environmental stresses lead to excessive production of ROS causing progressive oxidative damage and ultimately cell death. Despite their destructive activity, they are well-described second messengers in a variety of cellular processes, including conferment of tolerance to various environmental stresses. Whether ROS would serve as signaling molecules or could cause oxidative damage to the tissues depends on the delicate equilibrium between ROS production, and their scavenging. Efficient scavenging of ROS produced during various environmental stresses requires the action of several nonenzymatic as well as enzymatic antioxidants present in the tissues (Sharma et al. 2012).

Doke a plant pathologist at Nagoya University (Nagoya, Japan), first reported on the involvement of ROS in the plant-pathogen interaction, after observing that infection by *Phytophthora infestans* in potato tubers causes the generation of O_2^{-} at the host cells' plasma membrane (PM), only in the incompatible interactions. P. infestans is a typical pseudofungal species which is now classified within the class of Oomycetes (Subclass, Peronosporomycetidae; Order, Pythiales) that causes the serious potato disease known as late blight or potato blight. A series of Doke's works demonstrated for the first time that ROS generation occurs in plants upon attacks by a pathogenic microorganism and that the members of ROS possibly function as the chemical signals required for induction of hypersensitive response (HR) as typified by host cell death, now often referred to as plant apoptosis. Doke also demonstrated that the treatment of potato tuber protoplasts with the cell wall preparation from *P. infestans* effectively induces the oxidative burst, suggesting that chemical components derived from pathogenic microorganisms (elicitors) trigger the burst of ROS production in order to stimulate the plant defense mechanisms (Kawano and Bouteau 2013).

The work of Doke and his colleagues undergo a two-step oxidative burst. The first burst rapidly follows wounding and inoculation, while a much larger burst in incompatible interactions immediately precedes hypersensitive cell death. Since then, an oxidative burst has been described in a range of plant-fungal and plant bacterial interactions. The rapid oxidative burst generates levels of reactive oxygen species that initiate membrane lipid peroxidation and cell death. The oxidative burst in plants is associated with the release of local and systemic signals that trigger gene expression and the oxidative cross-linking of host cell wall components. Levels of reactive oxygen species accumulate at the infection courts that are sufficient to kill micro-organisms in vitro. Experimental suppression of the oxidative burst shows that it is involved in initiating later defence responses. On the other hand, colonisation of avocado fruit by the necrotroph, *Botrytis cinerea*, apparently exploits the oxidative burst to kill host cells in advance of invasion (David and John 1997).

Cell Wall Reinforcement

Prospective plant pathogens must overcome the physical barrier presented by the plant cell wall. In addition to being a preformed, passive barrier limiting access of pathogens to plant cells, the cell wall is actively remodeled and reinforced specifically at discrete sites of interaction with potentially pathogenic microbes. Active reinforcement of the cell wall through the deposition of cell wall appositions, referred to as papillae, is an early response to perception of numerous categories of pathogens including fungi and bacteria. Rapid deposition of papillae is generally correlated with resistance to fungal pathogens that attempt to penetrate plant cell walls for the establishment of feeding structures. Despite the ubiquity and apparent importance of this early defense response, relatively little is known about the underlying molecular mechanisms and cellular processes involved in the targeting and assembly of papillae (Underwood 2012). The rapid deposition of papillae is a common response of cereals to attempted penetration of epidermal cells by the powdery mildew fungus (Blumeria graminis). Papillae in resistant cultivars form more rapidly and are more difficult to penetrate, than those formed by susceptible cultivars. As a result, haustorial development is prevented. Lignitubers are lignified callose deposits that ensheath invading hyphal tips. Lignitubers have been observed in both resistant and susceptible cereals following challenge by the take-all pathogen, Gaeumannomyces graminis, demonstrating again the importance of timing-the more rapid the response, the more likely it is to succeed (David and John 1997).

The most abundant structural proteins in plant cell walls are the hydroxyproline rich glycoproteins (HRGPs) which involved in the organization of secondary cell wall thickening. They are induced as defense responses, specifically in incompatible plant-pathogen interactions (Davis et al. 1997). Functionally, there is evidence that HRGPs act as impenetrable physical barriers against pathogen ingress and that they immobilize the pathogens by binding to their negatively charged surfaces, making cell walls tougher (Leach et al. 1982; Mazau et al. 1987; Cassab and Varner 1988). HRGPs include extensins, arabinogalactan proteins (AGPs), proline/ hydroxyproline-rich proteins (P/HRGPs), and solanaceous lectins (Sommer-Knudsen et al. 1998). Among these, the P/HRGPs and extensins are known to be insoluble proteins whereas AGPs are soluble. Most of the earlier studies on infection-induced accumulation of HRGPs were carried out in dicotyledons, e.g. French bean infected with *Colletotrichum lindemuthianum* (Templeton et al. 1990; Millar et al. 1992; Bindschedler et al. 2006), lettuce infected with Pseudomonas syringae (Bestwick et al. 1995), French bean infected with Xanthomonas campestris (Brown et al. 1998) and tobacco leaves infected by Erysiphe cichoracearum (Raggi 2000). The HRGPs accumulation in monocotyledons as a response to pathogens has also been reported, e.g. in pearl millet with Sclerospora graminicola (Shailasree et al. 2004), in wheat infected by Fusarium culmorum (Kang and Buchenauer 2003) and in maize treated with a Fusarium monilifore-derived elicitor (García Muniz et al. 1998).

The plant cell wall constitutes one of the first lines of defense against pathogen invasion, and peroxidases are key enzymes in the wall-building processes. These processes include peroxidase-mediated oxidation of hydroxycinnamyl alcohols into free radical intermediates (Gross 1980), phenol oxidation (Schmid and Feucht 1980), polysaccharide cross-linking (Fry 1986), crosslinking of extensin monomers (Everdeen et al. 1988), lignification (Grisebach 1981; Walter 1992), and suberization (Espelie and Kolattukudy 1985; Espelie et al. 1986). The rapid deposition of lignin and suberin following infection is associated with resistance to nonpathogens and to avirulent pathogens in many plants, including cereals, Solanaceae. brassicas, melons and carrots. Hydrogen peroxide, released during the oxidative burst following pathogen challenge, causes extensive cross-linking between hydroxyproline-rich glycoproteins and other cell wall components. The oxidative cross-linking of cell wall structural proteins is thought to be a rapid defense response to strengthen the cell wall against the invading pathogen prior to the activation of other post-transcription dependent defense responses such as accumulation of pathogenesis-related proteins (PR-proteins) and defense genes expression (Bradley et al. 1992; Brisson et al. 1994). This oxidative cross-linking at the cell surfaces following fungal infection is known to be driven by peroxidases and H₂O₂, which rapidly accumulates from an oxidative burst (Brisson et al. 1994; Ribeiro et al. 2006). HRGPs cause cell wall strengthening by the formation of intra and inter-molecular cross-links resulting in their rapid insolubilization in cell walls. The cross-linking process is reported to involve isodityrosine (IDT) links (Cooper and Varner 1984; Epstein and Lamport 1984; Fry 1986; Smallhood et al. 1995). The whole process strongly decreases solubility of HRGPs meaning that they lose their extractability by salts and SDS (Bradley et al. 1992). Finally, this leads to the formation of a cross-linked mesh of defined porosity interpenetrated by a cellulose microfibrilar wrap (Epstein and Lamport 1984).

Lignification renders the cell wall more resistant to mechanical pressure applied during penetration by fungal appressoria as well as more water resistant and thus less accessible to cell wall-degrading enzymes. Lignin also binds to hyphal tips and bacterial cells, preventing further growth and movement and restricting the diffusion of pathogen enzymes and toxins and the uptake of water and nutrients by the pathogen. For examples resistance of cucumber to *Cladosporium cucumerinum* and *Colletotrichum lagenarium* is due to deposition of lignin in cell wall (Hammerschmidt and Kuc 1995). It is mentioned previously that Trichoderma GT3-2, Fusarium GF18-3 and Phoma GS8-2 were able to induce resistance in melon plants against *Colletotrichum orbiculare*, the causal agent of cucumber anthracnose and found lignin deposition at the point of pathogen infection in the epidermal tissues of cucumber hypocotyls (Koike et al. 2001).

Furthermore, precursor molecules and free radicals produced during lignin biosynthesis are toxic to pathogens and inactivate pathogen enzymes, toxins, elicitors or suppressors. The effect of lignin can be further enhanced by the release of reactive oxygen species and the activation of phenol oxidase enzymes that convert phenolic compounds to more toxic complex polymerised phenolics and quinones during the defence response. The evidence that cell wall reinforcements are important components of plant disease resistance can be summarised as follows:

- Their deposition often coincides with failed penetration and sometimes precedes the cessation of pathogen growth.
- Reinforcements in resistant hosts are larger, form more quickly (often before penetration) and are more dense than those formed by susceptible hosts.
- Experimental attempts to re-penetrate induced reinforcements usually fail.
- Inhibition of lignin or callose biosynthesis enhances penetration efficiency.

However, the deposition of cell wall reinforcements is not always associated with disease resistance. Clearly, cell wall reinforcements contribute to resistance and cell repair but are not always sufficient on their own to prevent infection (David and John 1997).

Hypersensitive Cell Death

Cell death has a central role in innate immune responses in both plants and animals. Besides sharing striking convergences and similarities in the overall evolutionary organization of their innate immune systems, both plants and animals can respond to infection and pathogen recognition with programmed cell death. The fact that plant and animal pathogens have evolved strategies to subvert specific cell death modalities emphasizes the essential role of cell death during immune responses. The hypersensitive response (HR) cell death in plants displays morphological features, molecular architectures and mechanisms reminiscent of different inflammatory cell death types in animals (pyroptosis and necroptosis) (Coll et al. 2011). The term hypersensitivity indicates that the host cells are 'over- (hyper-) sensitive' to the presence of the pathogen. Host cells suicide in the presence of the pathogen, preventing further spread of the infection. The first observations of HR date back to 1902 in the wheat-Puccinia glumarum pathosystem (Ward 1902), and the counter-intuitive term 'hypersensitiveness' was coined in 1915 (Stakman 1915), to describe a pathogen-triggered cell death reaction that correlated with disease resistance in wheat infected with Puccinia graminis. Morphologically, HR is a specific and unique type of cell death. Its hallmarks, some of which are typical for different forms of animal cell death, include cytoplasmic shrinkage, chromatin condensation, mitochondrial swelling, combined with other characteristics that are plant specific, such as vacuolization and chloroplast disruption during the final stages (Mur et al. 2008).

The chloroplast has a central role in defense responses and HR in plants. First, it constitutes a very important source of defense signaling molecules such as reactive oxygen species (ROS), reactive nitrogen oxide intermediates (NOI) and the defense hormones salicylic acid (SA) and jasmonic acid (JA). Second, in many cases, light is required for HR development. Third, several pathogen effectors have chloroplast localization signals (Guttman et al. 2002), and in some cases they have been shown to suppress immunity (Fu et al. 2007; Jelenska et al. 2007).

In plants, the molecular events that lead to HR during effector-triggered immunity (ETI) are partly overlapping with those associated with (Microbial-associated molecular patterns) MAMP-triggered immunity (MTI), including accumulation of SA, ROS and NOI, activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase(MAPK) cascades, changes in intracellular calcium levels, transcriptional reprogramming and synthesis of antimicrobial compounds (Mur et al. 2008). Compared with MTI, ETI is typically an accelerated and amplified response, suggesting that quantitative rather than qualitative differences account for HR induction (Jones and Dangl 2006).

Increased ROS levels are a hallmark of necroptosis and may be one of the main causes of necroptotic cell death. Enhanced ROS production during necroptosis can be mediated by mitochondria, due to a RIP3-dependent increase in energy metabolism (Zhang et al. 2009), and/or by the NADPH oxidase NOX1, which is recruited to the plasma membrane by RIP1 (Kim et al. 2007). Hypersensitive cell death in plant cells shares many features in common with apoptosis, or programmed cell death, observed during development of defense against disease in animals. In plants, apoplastic ROS (superoxide) generated by the plasma membrane NADPH oxidases are essential for HR development and activation of systemic immunity (Torres and Dangl 2005), drawing a possible mechanistic connection between these two types of cell death. ROS produced in other plant organelles as the chloroplast, mitochondria and peroxisomes also contribute to the HR response and, in fact, compartmentalization might be essential for ROS signaling functions during defense (Torres 2010).

Necroptosis has a pivotal role in inflammation and immunity. Similar to pyroptotic cells, necroptotic cells secrete a broad array of pro-inflammatory molecules that signal through PRRs (Zitvogel et al. 2010). Necroptosis has been reported to occur in response to infection by certain viruses that block apoptosis in the host cell as a colonization strategy (Challa and Chan 2010). Because of the pro-inflammatory nature of necroptosis, it may constitute not only a backup mechanism for virus clearance when apoptosis is inhibited, but also a way to engage the immune system leading to a systemic response.

The emerging similarities between hypersensitive cell death in plants and apoptosis in animal cells suggest that cell suicide is an ancient defense response. It is not always easy to conclude from research data whether host cell death is a consequence of murder or suicide. Recent experiments have shown that in many host-parasite interactions hypersensitive cell death precedes pathogen death, regardless of whether biotrophic or necrotrophic pathogens were involved. In some interactions however, disease resistance does not depend on hypersensitive cell death. The success of hypersensitive cell death as a resistance mechanism in individual host-parasite interactions depends on the nutritional requirements of the pathogen and on the timing, location and magnitude of the host response in relation to pathogen development. In some interactions the rapid suicide of challenged host cells undoubtedly restricts pathogen development, contributing to the overall defence response (David and John 1997).

Phytoalexins

Phytoalexins are low molecular weight antimicrobial compounds that are produced by plants as a response to biotic and abiotic stresses. As such they take part in an intricate defense system which enables plants to control invading microorganisms. In the 1950s, research on phytoalexins started with progress in their biochemistry and bio-organic chemistry, resulting in the determination of their structure, their biological activity, as well as mechanisms of their synthesis and catabolism by microorganisms. Elucidation of the biosynthesis of numerous phytoalexins also permitted the use of molecular biology tools for the exploration of the genes encoding enzymes of their synthesis pathways and their regulators. This has led to potential applications for increasing plant resistance to diseases. Phytoalexins display an enormous diversity belonging to various chemical families such as for phenolics, terpenoids, furanoacetylenes, steroid glycoalkaloids, instance, sulfur-containing compounds and indoles (Jeandet 2015). An astonishing range of structures may be formed, as many as 25 substances in a single interaction. They are formed consistently within a given plant group; in a survey of 60 species of the legume tribe Vicieae, every member tested responded. Although phytoalexins have been most widely studied in the Leguminosae, they have been recorded in over 20 other families. These plants range from trees, through shrubs to herbs and from monocots to dicots. There may be limits to the distribution of this defense mechanism and results of exploring this response in further families will be presented (Harborne 1986). Between 1986, when the first cruciferous phytoalexins were reported, and 2011, the chemical structures, syntheses and antimicrobial activities of 44 cruciferous phytoalexins were reported (Pedras et al. 2011).

Phytoalexins are synthesized by either the cells adjacent to the infection site, the infected host cells or by the invading pathogen. It is thought that such infected cells produce some sort of signals which induces the adjacent cells to produce the phytoalexins, which are packaged in lipid vesicles and exported to the infected cell (Mogensen 2009). Consequently, the infected cell becomes a toxic microenvironment for the invading pathogen. Phytoalexin accumulation is often associated with hypersensitive cell death. Examples include medicarpin (alfalfa, Medicago sativa), rishitin (tomatoes and potatoes (the Solanaceae family), and camalexin, (*Arabidopsis thaliana*) (Jones and Dangl 2006; Cai et al. 2009).

Some plants, such as soybean and chickpea, synthesize phytoalexins upon infection, but convert a proportion into inactive sugar conjugates held in reserve in vacuoles. If the initial defense response fails to check pathogen growth, enzymes that cleave the sugar molecule are activated and the phytoalexin reserves are rapidly releases. Like other active defense responses, the success of phytoalexin accumulation depends on the speed, location and magnitude of the response. There is a good experimental correlation between resistance and rapid, localized phytoalexin accumulation in many host-parasite interactions. There is evidence that:

- Phytoalexins accumulate faster and to higher concentrations in resistant cultivars. In resistant plants, gene transcription begins within one hour of recognition, phytoalexins appear within four hours and concentrations peak to fungitoxic levels about 18–24 h after challenge. These events are delayed and more diffuse in susceptible plants.
- Phytoalexin biosynthesis is localized in cells immediately surrounding the infection court. There is no evidence that they disperse in the plant. Experiments using laser microprobe analysis, radioimmunoassay, hybridisation histochemistry and immunocytochemistry of the phytoalexin biosynthesis pathway have confirmed this in several host pathogen interactions.
- In a number of interactions, resistance is lost if phytoalexin biosynthesis is blocked by inhibitors of enzymes involved in the process of phytoalexin biosynthesis and is reduced in mutants that are slow to accumulate phytoalexins.
- Resistance is increased in plants transformed to express novel phytoalexins or if exogenous phytoalexins are applied. For example, although the biochemical precursor of resveratrol is widely distributed in the plant kingdom, only grapevine and peanut have the en4rme required to complete its synthesis. When the genes encoding this enzyme are transformed into tobacco, resveratrol is synthesized in response to infection.
- Phytoalexin synthesis is not universal among plants. Wheat and cucumber apparently do not produce phytoalexins, yet effectively resist most pathogenic fungi and bacteria. Nevertheless, in many interactions the rapid accumulation of toxic concentrations of phytoalexins at the infection court plays a decisive role in the expression of resistance (David and John 1997).

Delayed Active Defences

Pathogen containment and wound repair

While earlier responses retard the development of pathogens, later responses restrict their spread and contain the damage to host tissues. The ability of a plant to repair tissue damage may contribute to its ability to fight off-secondary infections by opportunistic pathogens. Infected areas of fleshy tissues, roots, fruits and bark are sealed by layers of cork cells with thick, suberised walls. Wound cork is produced by a secondary meristem, the cork cambium, formed from mature parenchyma tissue in response to the damage caused by infection. In some cases, such as in the response of potato tuber tissue to the powdery scab pathogen (*Spongospora sub-terranea*), cork barriers appear to seal the infected area and prevent further colonization by the pathogen. However in other interactions, including the response of brassicas to the leaf spot pathogen, *Alternaria brassicae*, cork layers do not restrict

infection. Some pathogens induce plants to form abscission layers in which cork cambium develops around the infected area and extends from the upper to lower surface of the infected leaf. The infected areas fall out, leaving the classical 'shothole' symptom. Such pathogens include *Stigmina carpophila* and *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. *morsprunorum* on plum and Cercospora *beticola* on silverbeet. Wounded tree trunks often secrete gums that effectively seal the wound from opportunistic pathogens (David and John 1997).

Tyloses are outgrowths of vessel-associated parenchyma cells which protrude into the xylem vessel through pits and block the spread of pathogens (Beckman 1964; Talboys 1972; Grimault et al. 1994; Agrios 2005). They are formed during both compatible and incompatible interactions between the host and vascular wilt pathogens, although the time and extent of tylose formation significantly differs. Tyloses form much faster and more extensively in resistant plants when compared to susceptible plants (Grimault et al. 1994; Fradin and Thomma 2006). The formation of tyloses involves a cost to the plant, as they not only block the spread of the pathogen, but reduce the translocation of water, possibly causing wilt symptoms.

Pathogenesis-Related Proteins

During the massive shift in cellular metabolism and gene expression referred to earlier, plants synthesize many novel proteins following infection. Some of these novel proteins may be enzymes involved in phytoalexin biosynthesis and some may have no role in disease resistance at all. However, the 'pathogenesis-related proteins have β -glucanase, chitinase or lysozyme activity. Some are related to plant defensins while others are proteinase inhibitors that disrupt pathogen nutrition. Pathogenesis-related proteins are sometimes present in low levels before infection and are induced following stress, wounding or flowering, indicating that they may have a wider function in plant growth and development than just disease resistance (David and John 1997).

PR proteins are categorised into structurally homologous families. Some of these PR-protein families have direct antimicrobial activities, whereas for others, no intrinsic antimicrobial effects have been found yet, suggesting that those without intrinsic antimicrobial effects might have different functions. An important common feature of most antimicrobial PR proteins is their antifungal activity, although some of them also have antibacterial, insecticidal and antiviral properties. Originally, five main groups of PR proteins (PR-1 to PR-5) were characterised in tobacco. Since then, the number of PR protein groups has increased up to PR-17 across many plant species (Table 1) (Buonaurio et al. 2009). It has also been reported that several genes could be induced after AMF colonisation in host plants and are involved in plant defence against pathogens. These genes encode pathogenesis related proteins

S. No.	Protein family	Protein activity	Targeted pathogen sites
1.	PR-1	Unknown	Active against oomycetes
2.	PR-2	1,3 β-glucanase	Cell wall glucan of fungi
3.	PR-3	Chitinases	Cell wall chitin of fungi
4.	PR-4	Chitinase type I, II	Active against oomycetes
5.	PR-5	Thaumatin	
6.	PR-6	Proteinase inhibitor	Active on nematodes and insects
7.	PR-7	endoproteinase	Microbial cell wall dissolution
8.	PR-8	Endochitinase with lysozyme activity	Cell wall chitin of fungi and mucopeptide cell wall of bacteria
9.	PR-9	Peroxidase	Strengthening of plant cell wall
10.	PR-10		
11.	PR-11	Endochitinase	Cell wall chitin of fungi
12.	PR-12	Defensin	Antifungal and antibacterial activity
13.	PR-13	Thionin	Antifungal and antibacterial activity
14.	PR-14	Lipid transfer proteins	Antifungal and antibacterial activity
15.	PR-15	Oxalate-oxidase	Produce H ₂ O ₂ that inhibits microbes and also stimulates host defence
16.	PR-16	Oxalate-oxidase-like with super dismutase activity	Produce H ₂ O ₂
17.	PR-17	Uncharacterized	Unknown

 Table 1
 Families of pathogenesis related proteins (PRPs)

Source Niderman et al. (1995), Van Loon et al. (1998), Sels et al. (2008), Okushima et al. (2000)

such as PR-1a, β -1,3 glucanase and PR-10 in tomato, pea and parsley (Haneef Khan et al. 2010).

Indeed, defence-related genes that are activated by AMF are key players in the defence against several root pathogens. Previous studies have identified a large number of defence-related genes in both compatible and incompatible plantpathogen interactions (Liu et al. 2007; Lehtonen et al. 2008). However, in potato plants challenged with Rhizoctonia solani, 24 induced genes related to cell defence were identified by microarray analysis (Lehtonen et al. 2008). These genes encode chitin-hydrolysing enzymes such as acidic chitinases of classes II, III and IV, members of the pathogenesis-related (PR) protein groups (including 1,3-bglucanase and lignin-catalysing peroxidases), osmotin-like proteins, defence-associated signalling kinases, host protein protecting substances and enzymes leading to phytoalexin accumulation (Van Loon et al. 1998; Lehtonen et al. 2008). In tobacco roots, AMF-induced defence genes encode isozymes catalysing to peroxidation and production of phytoalexins and phenolic compounds such as phenylalanine ammonia lyase (PAL) and peroxidase (Blilou et al. 2000). Recently, Liang et al. (2005) reported that foliar applied Si only produced physical barrier and osmotic effect, but root applied Si leaded to systemic acquired resistance when Cucumis sativus plants were infected by powdery mildew pathogen, Podosphaera xanthii (syn. *Sphaerotheca fuliginea*) and the production of pathogenesis-related proteins (PRs) (Ismail and Hijri 2012).

These novel proteins are accumulated maximally 7–10 days after infection, and indicate the attainment of the systemic acquired resistance by the plant. The PRPs accumulate in the intercellular spaces and in the vacuole. PRPs are recognized as markers of the systemic acquired resistance (SAR), and PR genes are involved in the list of the so-called SAR-genes. The term "SAR-genes" is used to collectively designate this family of nine genes whose expression is correlated with the onset of SAR. Seventeen families of PRPs have been officially recognized (Van Loon et al. 1998), most of which have enzymatic activities.

Systemic Acquired Resistance

Systemic acquired resistance (SAR) refers to a distinct signal transduction pathway that plays an important role in the ability of plants to defend themselves against pathogens. After the formation of a necrotic lesion, either as a part of the hypersensitive response (HR) or as a symptom of disease, the SAR pathway is activated. SAR activation results in the development of a broad-spectrum, systemic resistance (Hunt and Ryals 1996; Neuenschwander et al. 1996). Although SAR is interesting as a paradigm for signal transduction, it may have practical value as well. An understanding of the biochemical changes leading to the resistance state could enable the development of either genetically engineered plants with enhanced disease resistance or novel mode-of-action plant protection chemicals that act by stimulating the plant's inherent disease resistance mechanisms.

There are three steps involved in the development of systemic acquired resistance:

- The induction of systemic acquired resistance usually requires the development of a slowly expanding necrotic lesion. Induction of systemic resistance may be associated with other localised responses such as hypersensitive cell death, phytoalexin accumulation, papilla deposition and lignification.
- Two or three days after the inducing lesion first appears, a signal is released that is systemically translocated in the phloem. This signal is graft transmissible and is not cultivar, species or genus specific, but is not active once plants have begun flowering. All the signals originate from the induction site.
- The systemic signal primes the rest of the plant against further pathogen challenge. Defence responses such as the rapid release of reactive oxygen species, hypersensitive cell death, phytoalexin accumulation, and enhanced levels of pathogenesis-related proteins are expressed more rapidly and intensely than in uninduced plants.

The identity of the signal that triggers systemic acquired resistance is the subject of intense study, but remains unresolved. There are several molecules that can induce features characteristic of systemic acquired resistance, including salicylic acid, β -ionone and jasmonic acid. The entire response is, however, apparently mediated by a complex signal transduction pathway regulated by a number of stress signals.

Salicylic acid, a precursor of aspirin widely distributed in the plant kingdom, plays a key role in systemic acquired resistance. Salicylic acid binds to at least two proteins found in plant cell membranes. One salicylic acid-binding protein has catalase activity that is inhibited upon binding, causing a localised build-up of hydrogen peroxide. This form of reactive o4ygen, as previously mentioned, causes a number of changes in plant cells that increase their resistance to pathogens. A second, high affinity, salicylic acid-binding protein appears to directly activate gene expression. Levels of salicylic acid rise rapidly around necrotic lesions in plants and remain high in plants that have acquired resistance. However, a series of experiments show that it is a local, rather than a systemically translocated, signal. Although it must be present for systemic acquired resistance to be expressed, salicylic acid is not translocated over long distances in plants and presumably interacts with another systemic signal. Synthetic analogues of salicylic acid, such as dichloroisonicotinic acid (INA) and the benzothiazoles, induce similar responses to those induced by salicylic acid and have potential use as practical diseaseprotectants. Although INA induces resistance in field and glasshouse trials, the effective dose is sometimes phytotoxic and this risk will probably prevent its commercialization. A more promising benzothiazole, benzo(1,2,3) thiadiazole-7carbothioic acid S-methyl ester (BTH), is similarly effective but less phytotoxic (David and John 1997).

Insect Pests

Any organism that consumes plant tissue is an herbivore. Insect and plants have coevolved for millions of years. Plants respond to herbivory through various morphological, biochemicals, and molecular mechanisms to counter the effects of herbivore attack. These defence strategies against herbivores are wide-ranging, highly dynamic, and could be direct and/or indirect. Host plant defence against herbivores is a complex array of structural, chemical, and physiological traits intended to perceive the attacking organisms, and restrain them before they are able to cause extensive damage. Since plants lack the physical mobility, they have evolved a number of strategies which enable them to withstand insect pressure. Plant defence against insect pests is mediated through morphological (toughness, thorns, thickness, and hairiness) and biochemical (nutritional composition of the plant tissue, and the nature and amounts of secondary metabolites) factors. The defensive compounds are produced constitutively or in response to plant damage, and affect feeding, growth, and survival of herbivores. In addition, plants also release volatile organic compounds that attract the natural enemies of the herbivores. These strategies either act independently or in conjunction with each other. Direct defences are mediated by plant characteristics that affect the herbivore's biology such as mechanical protection on the surface of the plants (e.g., hairs, trichrome, thorns, spines, and thicker leaves) or production of toxic chemicals such as terpenoids, alkaloids, anthocyanins, phenols, and quinones) that either kill or retard the development of the herbivores. Indirect defences against insects are mediated by the release of a blend of volatiles that specifically attract natural enemies of the herbivores and/or by providing food (e.g., extra floral nectar) and housing to enhance the effectiveness of the natural enemies. Plants defence against herbivory or host-plant resistance (HPR) describes a range of adaptations evolved by plants which improve their survival and reproduction by reducing the impact of herbivores. Host plant resistance is one of the most effective tools for reducing insect damage. Phytophagous insects are often suppressed by plant defence mechanisms. Their mating, oviposition feeding, feeding ingestion, fertility and growth are interrupted.

Host plant resistance is the result of interactions between two biological entities, the plant and the insect under influence of various environmental factors (Dhaliwal and Singh 2004). Plants use several strategies to defend against damage caused by herbivores. Painter (1951) grouped mechanism of resistance into three main categories, Viz. Antixenosis (also called as non-preference), antibiosis and tolerance. Antixenosis is employed by the plant to deter or reduce colonization by insects. Plants that exhibit antixenotic resistance should have a reduced initial number of colonies early in the season. Antibiosis operates after the insect have colonized and have started utilizing the plant. Tolerance of the plant does not affect the rate of population increase of the target pest but does raise the threshold level.

Mechanism of Resistance

Antixenosis (Non Preference)

Antixenosis refers to the resistance mechanism employed by host plant to deter or reduce colonization by insects. It refers to plant characteristics that lead insects away from a particular host; it includes activities of both plant and insect. It is mainly the response of insect to the characteristics of host plant which make it unattractive to the insect for feeding, oviposition or shelter. It denotes the presence of morphological or allelochemicals in host plant factor that adversely alter insect behaviour resulting in poor establishment of the insect. Antixenosis may represent one or more breaks in the chain of responses leading to oviposition or feeding. These breaks may be due to (i) the absence of an arrestant or attractant, (ii) the presence of a repellent, or (iii) an unfavourable balance between an attractant and a repellent (Panda and Khush 1995).

Antixenosis is of 2 types: Morphological antixenosis and Allelochemic antixenosis.

Morphological antixenosis

Morphological characters of plant interfere with insect behaviour activities such as mating, oviposition, feeding and feeding ingestion. Various morphological characters are

- (a) Trichomes
- (b) Pubescence
- (c) Surface waxes
- (d) Thickness of cell wall and proliferation of plant tissues
- (e) Silica content
- (f) Solidness and other stem characters
- (g) Anatomical adoptions of organs
- (h) Colour and intensity of light.

Allelochemic nonpreference

Several chemical present in the plant affect the olfactory and gustatory stimuli in insects. These chemicals may attract or repel the insects and also inhibit feeding by the insects. Ex: In cucurbits, a compound called cucurbitacin acts as an attractant and feeding incitant to spotted cucumber beetles.

Antibiosis

Antibiosis refers to the adverse effect of the host plant on the biology (survival, development or reproduction) of the insects and their progeny infesting it. All these adverse physiological effects of permanent or temporary nature following ingestion of a plant by an insect are attributed to antibiosis. The insects feeding on resistant plants may manifest antibiotic symptoms varying from acute or lethal to sub chronic or very mild. The most commonly observed symptoms in insects include adverse effects on the nutritional physiology of the insect including consumption, assimilation, utilization and subsequent allocation for reproduction (Ananthakrishnan 1994). This is manifested by larval death in first few instars, abnormal growth rates, disruption in conversion of ingested food, decline in size and weight of larvae or nymphs, prolongation of the larval period, failure to pupate, failure of adults to emergence from pupae, abnormal adults, inability to concentrate food reserves followed by failure to hibernate, decreased fecundity, reduction in fertility, restlessness and abnormal behaviour (Panda and Khush 1995). These symptoms may appear due to various physiological processes such as presence of toxic substances, absence or insufficient amount of essential nutrients, nutrient imbalance or improper utilization of nutrients. This mechanism impairs an insect's metabolic processes and involves consumption of plant metabolites. Both insect and plant factors are involved in the antibiosis mechanism. The physiological explanations for antibiosis are

- a. Presence of toxins
- b. Absence/insufficiency of essential nutrients
- c. Unbalanced proportion of nutrients
- d. Presence of antibodies.

Tolerance

Tolerance refers to the ability of the host plant to withstand an insect population sufficient to damage severely the susceptible plants. It is generally attributable to plant vigour, regrowth of damaged tissues, resistance to lodging, ability to produce additional branches, utilization of non-vital parts by insects and compensation by growth of neighbouring plants. However, tolerance has no adverse effect on the insect infestation for longer periods without loss in yield or quality than the susceptible varieties and enables them to frequently escape insect damage through compensation by the plants. Tolerance is a plant response to an insect pest. Whereas, antibiosis, antixenosis, resistance cause an insect response when the insect attempts to use the resistant plant for food, oviposition or shelter. Tolerance is useful in pest management programmes due to certain distinct advantages (Panda and Khush 1995):

- (a) Tolerant varieties have a higher economic threshold level than the susceptible varieties and hence require less insecticide application and promote biocontrol.
- (b) Tolerant varieties do not depress insect populations nor do they provide any selection pressure on the insect and thus are useful in preventing the development of insect biotypes.
- (c) In varieties with a combination of thee mechanisms of resistance, tolerance increases yield stability by providing at least a moderate level of resistance, when vertical genes providing a high level of resistance through antixenosis and antibiosis succumb to the new biotype.

Conclusion

Plants are challenged by different types of environmental stresses during their life cycle. In order to avoid such stresses, plants develop various adaptation strategies and defense mechanisms at morphological, anatomical, physiological, biochemical and molecular levels. Having deep knowledge about the various mechanisms by which plants tolerate environmental stresses is necessary to improve the crop performance under stress conditions. The study of plant response to stress will let us know about the metabolism, various pathways and cascades involved during the stress condition. Further, the understanding about anatomical and molecular mechanisms of plant response to stress will help in development of genetically engineered plants possessing high tolerance to biotic and abiotic stresses. This will also provide better insights of the highly complex anatomical, molecular and
biochemical strategies adopted by the plants to adapt themselves under several environmental stresses (dos Reis et al. 2016).

Breeding for resistance to stress is challenging. Various novel techniques like genomics, proteomics and metabolomics can aid in identifying the genetics behind plant stress responses, enabling a direct and unbiased monitoring of the factors affecting crop growth, development and productivity. They also provide data that can be directly used to investigate the complex interplay between the plants, its metabolism and the environmental stress, both biotic and abiotic (Perez-Clemente et al. 2013). Moreover, the genome analysis of plants enable identification of DNA markers linked to stress tolerant/resistant genes, facilitating the crop improvement under climate change scenario.

References

- Abe H, Urao T, Ito T et al (2003) Arabidopsis AtMYC2 (bHLH) and AtMYB2 (MYB) function as transcriptional activators in abscisic acid signaling. Plant Cell 15:63–78
- Acosta-Motos JR, Ortuño MF, Bernal-Vicente A et al (2017) Plant responses to salt stress: adaptive mechanisms. Agronomy 7(18):1–38. doi:10.3390/agronomy7010018
- Agarwal PK, Jha B (2010) Transcription factors in plants and ABA dependent and independent abiotic stress signaling. Biol Plant 54(2):201–212
- Agarwal M, Hao Y, Kapoor A et al (2006) A R2R3 type MYB transcription factor is involved in the cold regulation of CBF genes and in acquired freezing tolerance. J Biol Chem 281 (49):37636–37645
- Agrawal AA, Fishbein M, Jetter R et al (2009) Phylogenetic ecology of leaf surface traits in the milkweeds (*Asclepias* spp.): chemistry, ecophysiology, and insect behavior. New Phytol 183:848–867
- Agrios GN (2005) Plant pathology. Elsevier Academic Press, Burlington
- Ahmed F, Ra M, Ismail MR et al (2012) Waterlogging tolerance of crops: breeding, mechanism of tolerance, molecular approaches, and future prospects. Biomed Res Int. doi:10.1155/2013/ 963525
- Ali S, Farooq MA, Yasmeen T et al (2013) The influence of silicon on barley growth, photosynthesis and ultra-structure under chromium stress. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 89:66–72
- Álvarez S, Sánchez-Blanco MJ (2014) Long-term effect of salinity on plant quality, water relations, photosynthetic parameters and ion distribution in *Callistemon citrinus*. Plant Biol 16:757–764
- Alves ES, Moura MB, Domingos M (2008) Structural analysis of *Tillandsia usneoides* L. exposed to air pollutants in São Paulo City-Brazil. Water Air Soil Pollut 189(1–4):61–68
- Amir HM, Lee Y, Cho JI et al (2010) The bZIP transcription factor OsABF1 is an ABA responsive element binding factor that enhances abiotic stress signaling in rice. Plant Mol Biol 72:557–566
- Ananthakrishnan TN (ed) (1994) Functional dynamics of phytophagous insects. Oxford & IBH Publishing Co. Pvt. Ltd., New Delhi
- Anon S, Fernandez JA, Franco JA et al (2004) Effects of water stress and night temperature preconditioning on water relations and morphological and anatomical changes of *Lotus creticus* plants. Sci Hortic 101:333–342
- Araus JL (2002) Physiological basis of the processes determining barley yield under potential and stress conditions: current research trends on carbon assimilation. In: Slafer GA, Molina Cano JL, Savin R, Araus JL, Romagosa I (eds) Barley science: recent advances from molecular

biology to agronomy of yield and quality. Food Product Press, The Harworth Press, New York, pp 269–306

- Arora A, Sairam RK, Sriuastava GC (2002) Oxidative stress and antioxidative system in plants. Curr Sci 82:1227–1238
- Aschi-Smiti S, Chaibi W, Brouquisse R, et al (2004) Assessment of enzyme induction and aerenchyma formation as mechanisms for flooding tolerance in *Trifolium subterraneum* 'Park'. Ann Bot 91:195–204
- Ashraf M, Harris JC (2004) Potential biochemical indicators of salinity tolerance in plants. Plant Sci 166:3–16
- Ashraf MA, Ahmad MSA, Ashraf M, Al-Qurainy F, Ashraf MY (2011) Alleviation of waterlogging stress in upland cotton (*Gossypium hirsutum* L.) by exogenous application of potassium in soil and as a foliar spray. Crop Pasture Sci 62(1):25–38
- Asselbergh B, Curvers K, Franca SC et al (2007) Resistance to Botrytis cinerea in sitiens, an abscisic acid-deficient tomato mutant, involves timely production of hydrogen peroxide and cell wall modifications in the epidermis. Plant Physiol 144:1863–1877
- Asthir B (2015) Mechanisms of heat tolerance in crop plants. Biol Plant 59(4):620-628
- Atkinson NJ, Urwin PE (2012) The interaction of plant biotic and abiotic stresses: from genes to field. J Exp Bot 63(10):3523–3544
- Bacanamwo M, Purcell LC (1999) Soybean root morphological and anatomical traits associated with acclimation to flooding. Crop Sci 39:143–149
- Bansal KC, Singh AK, Wani SH (2012) Plastid transformation for abiotic stress tolerance in plants. In: Shabala S, Cuin TA (eds) Plant salt tolerance: methods and protocols, methods in molecular biology, vol 913. Humana press, USA, pp 351–358
- Baralabai VC, Vivekanandan M (1996) Foliar application of electrostatic precipitator dust on growth, stomata and leaf biochemistry in certain legume crops. Rev Brasil Fisiol Veg 8:7-14
- Beck EH, Fettig S, Knake C, Hartig K, Bhattarai T (2007) Specific and unspecific responses of plants to cold and drought stress. J Biosci 32:501–510
- Beckman CH (1964) Host responses to vascular infection. Annu Rev Phytopathol 2:231-252
- Bestwick CS, Bennett MH, Mansfield JW (1995) Hrp mutant of *Pseudomonas syringae* pv *phaseolicola* induces cell wall alterations but not membrane damage leading to the hypersensitive reaction in lettuce. Plant Physiol 108:503–516
- Bender CL, Chaidez FA, Gross DC (1999) *Pseudomonas syringae* phytotoxins: mode of action, regulation, and biosynthesis by peptide and polyketide synthetases. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 63 (2):266–292 (Washington)
- Blilou I, Bueno P, Ocampo JA, García-Garrido JM (2000) Induction of catalase and ascorbate peroxidase activities in tobacco roots inoculated with the arbuscular mycorrhizal Glomus mosseae. Mycol Res 104:722–725
- Bindschedler LV, Whitelegge JP, Millar DJ, et al (2006) A two component chitin binding protein from French bean association of proline rich protein with a cysteine rich polypeptide. FEBS Lett 580:1541–1546
- Blum A (2005) Drought resistance, water-use efficiency, and yield potential—are they compatible, dissonant, or mutually exclusive? Aust J Agric Res 56:1159–1168
- Blumwald E, Anil G, Allen G (2004) New directions for a diverse planet. In: Proceedings 4th international crop science congress, 26 Sept–1 Oct 2004, Brisbane, Australia. CD-ROM; www. cropscience.org.au
- Bouaziz D, Charfeddine M, Jbir R et al (2015) Identification and functional characterization of ten AP2/ERF genes in potato. Plant Cell Tissue Organ Cult 123(1):155–172
- Bradley DJ, Kjellbom I, Lamb CJ (1992) Elicitor-and wound induced oxidative cross-linking of a plant cell wall proline-rich protein: A novel, rapid defense response. Cell 70:21–30
- Brian CF, Gwyn AB (2008) An overview of plant defenses against pathogens and herbivores. Plant Health Instructor. doi:10.1094/PHI-I-2008-0226-01
- Brisson LF, Tenhaken R, Lamb CJ (1994) Function of oxidative cross-linking of cell wall structural proteins in plant disease resistance. Plant Cell 6:1703–1712

- Brown I, Trethowan J, Kerry M, et al (1998) Localization of components of the oxidative cross-linking of glycoproteins and of callose synthesis in papillae formed during the interaction between non-pathogenic strains of *Xanthomonas campestris* and French bean mesophyll cells. Plant J 15:333–343
- Buonaurio R, Iriti M, Romanazzi G (2009) Review/Rassegna, Plant induced resistance to fungal diseases. Petria 19(3):130–148
- Cabuslay GS, Ito O, Alejal AA (2002) Physiological evaluation of responses of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) to water deficit. Plant Sci 63:815–827
- Cai K, Gao D, Chen J et al (2009) Probing the mechanisms of silicon-mediated pathogen resistance. Plant Signal Behav 4:1–3
- Cassab GI, Varner JE (1988) Cell wall proteins. Ann Rev Plant Physiol 39:321-353
- Challa S, Chan FK (2010) Going up in flames: necrotic cell injury and inflammatory diseases. Cell Mol Life Sci 67:3241–3253
- Chamarthi SK, Sharma HC, Sahrawat KL et al (2010) Physico-chemical mechanisms of resistance to shoot fly, Atherigona soccata in sorghum, Sorghum bicolor. J Appl Entomol 135:446–455
- Chang HC, Tang YC, Hayer-Hartl M, Hartl FU (2007) SnapShot: molecular chaperones, part I. Cell 128. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2007.01.001
- Ciais P, Reichstein M, Viovy N, Granier A, Oge J, Allard V, Aubinet M, Buchmann M et al (2005) Europe-wide reduction in primary productivity caused by the heat and drought in 2003. Nature 237:529–533
- Coll NS, Epple P, Dangl JL (2011) Programmed cell death in the plant immune system. Cell Death Differ 18:1247–1256. doi:10.1038/cdd.2011.37 (published online 8 Apr 2011)
- Colom MR, Vazzana C (2001) Drought stress effects on three cultivars of *Eragrostis curvula*: Photosynthesis and water relations. Plant Growth Regul 34:195–202
- Cooper JB, Varner JE (1984) Cross-linking of soluble extensin in isolated cell walls. Plant Physiol 76:414–417
- Cornic G (2000) Drought stress inhibits photosynthesis by decreasing stomatal aperture—not by affecting ATP synthesis. Trends Plant Sci 5:187–188
- Correia MJ, Coelho D, David MM (2001) Response to seasonal drought in three cultivars of Ceratonia siliqua; leaf growth and water relation. Tree Physiol 21:645–653
- Croser C, Renault S, Franklin J et al (2001) The effect of salinity on the emergence and seedling growth of *Picea mariana*, *Picea glauca*, and *Pinus banksiana*. Environ Pollut 115:9–16
- Cui W, Fang P, Zhu K et al (2014) Hydrogen-rich water confers plant tolerance to mercury toxicity in alfalfa seedlings. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 105:103–111
- Dang YP, Dalal RC, Buck SR et al (2010) Diagnosis, extent, impacts, and management of subsoil constraints in the northern grains cropping region of Australia. Aust J Soil Res 48:105–119
- Dar ZA, Lone AA, Alie BA, Makdoomi MI, Wani GA, Gazal SHA, Gulzar S (2016) Development of stress resilient maize cultivars for sustainability. Adv Life Sci 5(2):349–355
- Das SK, Patra JK, Thatoi H (2016) Antioxidative response to abiotic and biotic stresses in mangrove plants: a review. Int Rev Hydrobiol 101(1–2):3019
- Datta K, Baisakh N, Ganguly M et al (2012) Overexpression of Arabidopsis and rice stress genes inducible transcription factor confers drought and salinity tolerance to rice. Plant Biotech J 10 (5):579–586
- David G, John B (1997). Pathogenesis. https://www.ikbooks.com/home/samplechapter?filename= 201_Sample-Chapter.pdf
- Davis HA, Daniels MJ, Dow JW (1997). Induction of extracellular matrix glycoproteins in Brassica petioles by wounding and in response to Xanthomonas campestris. Mol Plant Microbe Interact 10:812–820
- De Lucca AJ, Cleveland TE, Wedge DE (2005) Plant-derived antifungal proteins and peptides. Can J Microbiol 51:1001–1014
- Deak KI, Malamy J (2005) Osmotic regulation of root system architecture. Plant J 43(1):17-28
- Demidchik Vadim, Straltsova Darya, Medvedev Sergey S et al (2014) Stress-induced electrolyte leakage: the role of K+-permeable channels and involvement in programmed cell death and metabolic adjustment. J Exp Bot 65(5):1259–1270. doi:10.1093/jxb/eru004

- Dhaliwal GS, Singh R (eds) (2004) Host plant resistance to insects: concepts and applications. Panima Publishing Corporation, New Delhi
- Ding Y, Fromm M, Avramova Z (2012) Multiple exposures to drought 'train' transcriptional responses in Arabidopsis. Nat Commun 3:740
- Djibril S, Mohamed OK, Diaga D, Diégane D, Abaye BF, Maurice S, Alain B (2005) Growth and development of date palm (*Phoenix dactylifera* L.) seedlings under drought and salinity stresses. Afr J Biotechnol 4:968–972
- dos Reis SP, Marques DN, Lima AM, de Souza CRB (2016) Plant molecular adaptations and strategies under drought stress. In: Hossain MA et al (eds) Drought stress tolerance in plants, vol 2. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-32423-4_4
- Dou D, Zhou JM (2012) Phytopathogen effectors subverting host immunity: different foes, similar battleground. Cell Host Microbe 12:484–495
- Eggli U, Nyffeler R (2009) Living under temporarily arid conditions—succulence as an adaptive strategy. Bradleya 27:13–36
- Ehleringer J, Björkman O, Mooney HA (1976) Leaf pubescence: effects on absorptance and photosynthesis in a desert shrub. Science 192:376–377
- Englishloeb GM (1990) Plant drought stress and outbreaks of spidermites—a field-test. Ecology 71:1401–1411
- Epstein L, Lamport DTA (1984) An intramolecular linkage involving isodityrosine in extensin. Phytochemistry 23:1241–1246
- Espelie KE, Kolattukudy PE (1985) Purification and characterization of an abscisic acid-inducible peroxidase associated with suberization in potato (*Solanum tuberosum*). Arch Biochem Biophys 240:539
- Espelie KE, Franceschi VR, Kolattukudy PE (1986) Immunocytochemical localization and time course of appearance of an anionic peroxidase associated with suberization in wound-healing potato tuber tissue. Plant Physiol 87:487
- Everdeen DS, Kiefer S, Willard JJ et al (1988) Enzymic cross-linkage of monomeric extensin precursors in vitro. Plant Physiol 87:616
- Fang Y, You J, Xie K et al (2008) Systematic sequence analysis and identification of tissue-specific or stress-responsive genes of NAC transcription factor family in rice. Mol Genet Genomics 280:547–563
- Farid M, Shakoor MB, Ehsan A, Ali S, Zubair M, Hanif MS (2013) Morphological, physiological and biochemical responses of different plant species to Cd stress. Int J Chem Biochem Sci 3:53–60
- Farooq M, Basra SMA, Wahid A, Cheema ZA, Cheema MA, Khaliq A (2008) Physiological role of exogenously applied glycinebetaine in improving drought tolerance of fine grain aromatic rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). J Agron Crop Sci 194:325–333
- Farooq M, Wahid A, Kobayashi N, Fujita D, Basra SMA (2009) Plant drought stress: effects, mechanisms and management. Agron Sustain Dev 29:185–212
- Flexas J, Bota J, Loreto F, Cornic G, Sharkey TD (2004) Diffusive and metabolic limitations to photosynthesis under drought and salinity in C3 plants. Plant Biol 6:1–11
- Fode B, Siemsen T et al (2008a) The Arabidopsis GRAS protein SCL14 interacts with class II TGA transcription factors and is essential for the activation of stress-inducible promoters. Plant Cell 20(11):3122–3135
- Fode B, Siemsen T, Thurow C et al (2008b) The Arabidopsis GRAS protein SCL14 interacts with class II TGA transcription factors and is essential for the activation of stress inducible promoters. PlantCell 20(11):3122–3135
- Fradin EF, Thomma BPHJ (2006) Physiology and molecular aspects of Verticillium wilt diseases caused by V. dahliae and V. albo-atrum. Mol. Plant Pathol 7:71–86
- Fraire-Velazquez S, Rodríguez-Guerra R, Sanchez Calderon L (2011) Abiotic and biotic stress response crosstalk in plants. In: Shanker A (ed) Abiotic stress response in plants physiological, biochemical and genetic perspectives. InTech, Rijeka, pp 3–26
- Franco JA, Fernandez JA, Banon S et al (1997) Relationship between the effects of salinity on seedling leaf area and fruit yield of six muskmelons cultivars. J Hortic Sci 32:642–647

- Franco JA, Bañón S, Vicente MJ et al (2011) Root development in horticultural plants grown under abiotic stress conditions—a review. J Hortic Sci Biotechnol 86:543–556
- Fry SC (1986) Cross-linking of matrix polymers in the growing cell walls of angiosperms. Annu Rev Plant Physiol 37:165
- Fu ZQ, Dong X (2013) Systemic acquired resistance: turning local infection into global defense. Annu Rev Plant Biol 64:839–863
- Fu ZQ, Guo M, Jeong BR et al (2007) A type III effector ADP-ribosylates RNA-binding proteins and quells plant immunity. Nature 447:284–288
- Fujimoto SY, Ohta M, Usui A et al (2000) Arabidopsis ethylene-responsive element binding factors act as transcriptional activators or repressors of GCC box-mediated gene expression. Plant Cell 12(3):393–404
- Fukao T, Yeung E, Bailey-Serres J (2011) The submergence tolerance regulator SUB1A mediates crosstalk between submergence and drought tolerance in rice. Plant Cell 23:412–427
- García-Muniz, N, Martinez-Izquierdo JA, Puigdomenech P (1998) Induction of mRNA accumulation corresponding to a gene encoding a cell wall hydroxyproline-rich glycoprotein by fungal elicitors. Plant Mol Biol 38:623–632
- Garrett KA, Dendy SP, Frank EE, et al (2006) Climate change effects on plant disease: genomes to ecosystems. Annu Rev Phytopathol 44:489–509
- Gilroy S, Suzuki N, Miller G et al (2014) A tidal wave of signals: calcium and ROS at the forefront of rapid systemic signaling. Trends Plant Sci 19:623–630
- Goel AK, Lundberg D, Torres MA, Matthews R, Akimoto Tomiyama C, Farmer L, Dangl JL, Grant SR (2008) The *Pseudomonas syringae* type III effector HopAM1 enhances virulence on water-stressed plants. Mol Plant Microbe Interact 21:361–370
- Gomes D, Agasse A, Thiebaud P et al (2009) Aquaporins are multifunctional water and solute transporters highly divergent in living organisms. Biochim Biophys Acta 1788:1213–1228
- Gomes MP, Marques TCLLDSM, Nogueira MDOG et al (2011) Ecophysiological and anatomical changes due to uptake and accumulation of heavy metal in *Brachiaria decumbens*. Sci Agric (Piracicaba, Braz) 68(5):566–573
- Gosal SS, Wani SH, Kang MS (2009) Biotechnology and drought tolerance. J Crop Improv 23 (1):19–54
- Gosal SS, Wani SH, Kang MS (2010) Biotechnology and drought tolerance. In: Kang MS (ed) Water and agricultural sustainability strategies. CRC Press, Bocca Raton, pp 229–259
- Gostin IN (2009) Air pollution effects on the leaf structure of some *Fabaceae* species. Notulae Bot Hort Agrobot Cluj 37(2):57–63
- Greco M, Chiappetta A, Bruno L et al (2012) Effects of combined drought and heavy metal stresses on xylem structure and hydraulic conductivity in red maple (*Acer rubrum* L.). J Exp Bot 63(16):5957–5966. doi:10.1093/jxb/ers241
- Grimault V, Gelie B, Lemattre M et al (1994) Comparative histology of resistant and susceptible tomato cultivars infected by *Pseudomonas solanacearum*. Physiol Mol Plant Pathol 44:105–123
- Grisebach, H (1981). Lignins. In: Conn EE (ed) The Biochemistry of Plants, vol 7. Academic Press, New York, pp 457–478
- Gross GG (1980) The biochemistry of lignification. Adv Bot Res 8:25
- Gudesblat GE, Torres PS, Vojnov AA (2009) Stomata and pathogens: warfare at the gates. Plant Signaling & Behavior 4(12):1114–1116
- Guest D, Brown J (1997) Plant defences against pathogens. In: Brown JF, Ogle HJ (eds) Plant pathogens and plant diseases. Rockvale Publications for the Division of Botany, Rockvale Publications for the Division of Botany, School of Rural Science and Natural Resources, University of New England, Armidale New South Wales, New England, UK
- Gunawardena AHLA, Pearce DM, Jackson MB et al (2001) Characterisation of programmed cell death during aerenchyma formation induced by ethylene or hypoxia in roots of maize (Zea mays L.). Planta 212:205–214
- Gupta S, Chakrabarti SK (2013) Effect of heavy metals on different anatomical structures of *Bruguiera sexangula*. Int J Bioresour Stress Manage 4(4):605–609

- Gupta B, Huang B (2014) Mechanism of salinity tolerance in plants: physiological, biochemical, and molecular characterization. Int J Genomics. doi:10.1155/2014/701596
- Guttman DS, Vinatzer BA, Sarkar SF et al (2002) A functional screen for the type III (Hrp) secretome of the plant pathogen *Pseudomonas syringae*. Science 295:1722–1726
- Hall AE (1992) Breeding for heat tolerance. Pland Breed Rev 10:129-168
- Hammerschmidt R, Kuc J (1995) Induced resistance to disease in plants. Kluwer, Dordrecht, The Netherlands
- Handley R, Ekbom B, Agren J (2005) Variation in trichome density and resistance against a specialist insect herbivore in natural populations of Arabidopsis thaliana. Ecol Entomol 30:284–292
- Haneef Khan M, Meghvansi MK, Panwar V, Gogoi HK, Singh L (2010) Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi-induced signalling in plant defence against phytopathogens. J Phycol 2(7):53–69
- Hanley ME, Lamont BB, Fairbanks MM et al (2007) Plant structural traits and their role in antiherbivore defense. Perspect Plant Ecol Evol Syst 8:157–178
- Harborne JB (1986) The role of phytoalexins in natural plant resistance. In: Natural Resistance of Plants to Pests (ed) ACS Symposium Series, vol 296, 16 Jan 1986, pp 22–35. doi:10.1021/bk-1986-0296.ch003
- Hare JD (2011) Ecological role of volatiles produced by plants in response to damage by herbivorous insects. Annu Rev Entomol 56:161–180
- Hasanuzzaman M, Hossain MA, da Silva JAT, Fujita M (2012) Plant responses and tolerance to abiotic oxidative stress: antioxidant defenses is a key factor. In: Bandi V, Shanker AK, Shanker C, Mandapaka M (eds) Crop stress and its management: perspectives and strategies. Springer, Berlin, pp 261–316
- Hasanuzzaman M, Nahar K, Fujita M (2013) Extreme temperatures, oxidative stress and antioxidant defense in plants. In: Vahdati K, Leslie C (eds) Abiotic stress—plant responses and applications in agriculture. InTech, Rijeka, pp 169–205
- Hattori Y, Nagai K, Furukawa S et al (2009) The ethylene response factors SNORKEL1 and SNORKEL2 allow rice to adapt to deep water. Nature 460(7258):1026–1030
- He J, Chen F, Lv Chen S et al (2011) Chrysanthemum leaf epidermal surface morphology and antioxidant and defense enzyme activity in response to aphid infestation. J Plant Physiol 168:687–693
- Hegedus N, Marx F (2013) Antifungial proteins: more than antimicrobials? Fungal Biol Rev 26:132-145
- Hodson MJ (2012) Metal toxicity and tolerance in plants. Biochemical Society, pp 28-32
- Hoque MA, Banu MNA, Nakamura Y et al (2008) Proline and glycinebetaine enhance antioxidant defense and methylglyoxal detoxification systems and reduce NaCl-induced damage in cultured tobacco cells. J Plant Physiol 165:813–824
- Hossain MA, Piyatida P, da Silva JAT, Fujita M (2012) Molecular mechanism of heavy metal toxicity and tolerance in plants: central role of glutathione in detoxification of reactive oxygen species and methylglyoxal and in heavy metal chelation. J Bot Article ID 872875:37
- Hossain MA, Wani SH, Bhattachajee S, Burritt DJ, Tran LSP (eds) (2016) Drought stress tolerance in plants, Vol 1: Physiology and biochemistry. Springer, Switzerland. ISBN 978-3-319-28897-0
- Howarth CJ (2005) Genetic improvements of tolerance to high temperature. In: Ashraf M, Harris PJC (eds) Abiotic stresses: plant resistance through breeding and molecular approaches. Howarth Press Inc., New York
- Howe GA, Jander G (2008) Plant immunity to insect herbivores. Annu Rev Plant Biol 59:41-66
- Hsieh TH, Li CW, Su RC et al (2010) A tomato bZIP transcription factor, SIAREB, is involved in water deficit and salt stress response. Planta 231:1459–1473
- Hu H, Dai M, Yao J et al (2006) Overexpressing a NAM, ATAF, CUC (NAC) transcription factor enhances drought resistance and salt tolerance in rice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:12987– 12992
- Hu R, Qi G, Kong Y et al (2010) Comprehensive analysis of NAC domain transcription factor gene family in *Populus trichocarpa*. BMC Plant Biol 10:145

- Hunt M, Ryals J (1996) Systemic acquired resistance signal transduction. Crit Rev Plant Sci 15:583–606
- Hussain K, Majeed A, Nawaz K et al (2009) Effect of different levels of salinity on growth and ion contents of black seeds (*Nigella sativa* L.). Curr Res J Biol Sci 1:135–138
- Ismail Y, Hijri M (2012) Arbuscular mycorrhisation with Glomus irregulare induces expression of potato PR homologues genes in response to infection by *Fusarium sambucinum*. Funct Plant Biol 39:236–245
- Iuchi S, Koyama H, Iuchi A et al (2007) Zinc finger protein STOP1 is critical for proton tolerance in Arabidopsis and coregulates a key gene in aluminum tolerance. PNAS 104:9900–9905
- Jan AT, Azam M, Ali A, Haq Q (2011) Novel approaches of beneficial *Pseudomonas* in mitigation of plant diseases—an appraisal. J Plant Interact 6:195–205
- Jaspers P, Kangasjarvi J (2010) Reactive oxygen species in abiotic stress signaling. Physiol Plant 138(4):405–413
- Jeandet P (2015) Phytoalexins: current progress and future prospects. Molecules 20:2770–2774. doi:10.3390/molecules20022770
- Jeffery LD, Jonathan DGJ (2001) Plant pathogens and integrated defence responses to infection. Nature 411(6839):826–833
- Jelenska J, Yao N, Vinatzer BA et al (2007) A J domain virulence effector of *Pseudomonas* syringae remodels host chloroplasts and suppresses defenses. Curr Biol 17:499–508
- Jeong JS, Kim YS, Baek KH et al (2010) Root-specific expression of OsNAC10 improves drought tolerance and grain yield in rice under field drought conditions. Plant Physiol 153(185):197
- Jones JD, Dangl JL (2006) The plant immune system. Nature 444:323-329
- Joshi R, Wani SH, Singh B, Bohra A, Dar ZA, Lone AA, Pareek A, Singla-Pareek SL (2016) Transcription factors and plants response to drought stress: current understanding and future directions. Front Plant Sci 7:1029
- Justin SHFW, Armstrong W (1991) Evidence for the involvement of ethene in aerenchyma formation in adventitious roots of rice (Oryza sativa L.). New Phytol 118:49–62
- Kang Z, Buchenauer H (2003) Immunocytochemical localizations of cell wall bound thionins and hydroxyproline-rich glycoproteins in Fusarium culmorum-infected wheat spikes. J Phytopathol 151:120–129
- Kang JY, Choi HI, Im M, Kim SY (2002) Arabidopsis basic leucine zipper proteins that mediate stress-responsive abscisic acid signaling. Plant Cell 14:343–357
- Kang HG, Kim J, Kim B et al (2011) Overexpression of FTL1/DDF1, an AP2 transcription factor, enhances tolerance to cold, drought, and heat stresses in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Plant Sci 180 (4):634–641
- Karim MA, Fracheboud Y, Stamp P (1997) Heat tolerance of maize with reference of some physiological characteristics. Ann Bangladesh Agric 7:27–33
- Kasim WA (2006) Changes induced by copper and cadmium stress in the anatomy and grain yield of *Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench. Int J Agric Biol 8(1):123–128
- Kavar T, Maras M, Kidric M, Sustar-Vozlic J, Meglic V (2007) Identification of genes involved in the response of leaves of Phaseolus vulgaris to drought stress. Mol Breed 21:159–172
- Kawano T, Bouteau F (2013) Salicylic acid-induced local and long-distance signaling models in plants. In: Baluska F (ed) Long-distance systemic signaling and communication in plants. Springer, Berlin, pp 23–52
- Kawasaki S, Borchert C, Deyholosetal M (2001) Gene expression profiles during the initial phase of salt stress in rice. Plant Cell 13(4):889–905
- Kaya MD, Okçub G, Ataka M, Çıkılıc Y, Kolsarıcıa O (2006) Seed treatments to overcome salt and drought stress during germination in sunflower (*Helianthus annuus* L.). Eur J Agron 24:291–295
- Khan MR, Khan MW (1996). Interaction of *Meloidogyne incognita* and coal-smoke pollutants on tomato. Nematropica 26:47–56
- Khan H, Wani SH (2014) Molecular approaches to enhance abiotic stresses tolerance. In: Wani SH, Malik CP, Hora A, Kaur R (eds) Innovations in plant science and biotechnology, pp 111–152. Agrobios (India). ISBN: 978-81-7754-553-1

- Khan K, Agarwal P, Shanware A, Sane VA (2015) Heterologous expression of two Jatropha aquaporins imparts drought and salt tolerance and improves seed viability in transgenic *Arabidopsis thaliana*. PLoS ONE. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0128866
- Kiani SP, Talia P, Maury P, Grieu P, Heinz R, Perrault A, Nishinakamasu V, Hopp E, Gentzbittel L, Paniego N, Sarrafi A (2007) Genetic analysis of plant water status and osmotic adjustment in recombinant inbred lines of sunflower under two water treatments. Plant Sci 172:773–787
- Kim YS, Morgan MJ, Choksi S, Liu ZG (2007) TNF-induced activation of the Nox1 NADPH oxidase and its role in the induction of necrotic cell death. Mol Cell 26:675–687
- Kinoshita T, Seki M (2014) Epigenetic memory for stress response and adaptation in plants. Plant Cell Physiol 55(11):1859–1863
- Kissoudis C, van de Wiel C, Visser RGF, van der Linden G (2014) Enhancing crop resilience to combined abiotic and biotic stress through the dissection of physiological and molecular crosstalk. Front Plant Sci. doi:10.3389/fpls.2014.00207
- Kochian LV, Miguel AP, Liu J et al (2015) Plant adaptation to acid soils: the molecular basis for crop aluminum resistance. Annu Rev Plant Biol 66:23.1–23.28
- Koike E, Noguchi S, Yamashita H, et al (2001) Ultrasonographic characteristics of thyroid nodules: prediction of malignancy. Arch Surg 136(3):334–337
- Korner C (2016) Plant adaptation to cold climates. F1000 Research. doi:10.12688/f1000research. 9107.1
- Kotak S, Larkindale J, Lee U et al (2007) Complexity of the heat stress response in plants. Curr Opin Plant Biol 10(3):310–316
- Krasensky J, Jonak C (2012) Drought, salt, and temperature stress-induced metabolic rearrangements and regulatory networks. J Exp Bot. doi:10.1093/jxb/err460
- Kumar V, Khare T, Sharma M, Wani SH (2017) ROS induced signaling and gene-expression in crops under salinity stress. In: Khan IR (ed) Reactive oxygen species and antioxidant systems: role and regulation under abiotic stress. Springer International Publishing, Switzerland (In Press)
- Lamb C, Dixon RA (1997) The oxidative burst in plant disease resistance. Annu Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol 48:251–275
- Larcher W (2003) Physiological plant ecology, 4th edn. Springer, Berlin
- Lay FT, Anderson MA (2005) Defensins—components of the innate immune system in plants. Curr Protein Pept Sci 6:85–101
- Leach JE, Cantrell MA, Sequeira L (1982). A hydroxyproline rich bacterial agglutinin from potato: Extraction, purification, and characterization. Plant Physiol 70:1353–1358
- Le DT, Nishiyama R, Watanabe Y et al (2011) Genome-wide survey and expression analysis of the plant-specific NAC transcription factor family in soybean during development and dehydration stress. DNA Res 18:263–276
- Lehtonen MJ, Somervuo P, Valkonen JPT (2008) Infection with Rhizoctonia solani induces defense genes and systemic resistance in potato sprouts grown without light. Phytopathology 98:1190–1198
- Liang S, Stroeve J, Box JE (2005) Mapping daily snow/ice shortwave broadband albedo from Moderate Resolution Imaging Spectroradiometer (MODIS): The improved direct retrieva algorithm and validation with Greenland in situ measurement. J of Geophys Res 110. ISSN: 0148-0227. doi: 10.1029/2004JD005493
- Licausi F, Giorgi FM, Zenoni S et al (2010) Genomic and transcriptomic analysis of the AP2/ERF superfamily in Vitis vinifera. BMC Genom 11(1):719
- Lima RB, Santosb TBD, Vieirab LGE et al (2013) Heat stress causes alterations in the cell-wall polymers and anatomy of coffee leaves (*Coffea arabica* L.). Carbohyd Polym 93:135–143
- Liu J, Ishitani M, Halfter U et al (2000) The *Arabidopsis thaliana* SOS2 gene encodes a protein kinase that is required for salt tolerance. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97(7):3730–3734
- Liu J, Maldonado-Mendoza I, Lopez-Meyer M, Cheung F, Town CD, Harrison MJ (2007) Arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis is accompanied by local and systemic alterations in gene expression and an increase in disease resistance in the shoots. Plant J 50:529–544

- Liu J, Magalhaes JV, Shaff J, Kochian LV (2009) Aluminum-activated citrate and malate transporters from the MATE and ALMT families function independently to confer Arabidopsis aluminum tolerance. Plant J 57:389–399
- Lone AA, Khan MH, Dar ZA, Wani SH (2016) Breeding strategies for improving growth and yield under waterlogging conditions in maize: a review. Maydica 61(1):1–11
- Ma S, Bohnert HJ (2007) Integration of Arabidopsis thaliana stress-related transcript profiles, promoter structures, and cell-specific expression. Genome Biol. doi:10.1186/gb-2007-8-4-r49
- Marques TCLLSM, Moreira FMS, Siqueira JO (2000) Growth and uptake of metals in tree seedlings in soil contaminated with heavy metals. Pesquisa Agropecuária Bras 35:121–132
- Masle J, Gilmore SR, Farquhar GD (2005) The *ERECTA* gene regulates plant transpiration efficiency in *Arabidopsis*. Nature 436:866–870
- Mazau D, Rumeau D, Esquerre-Tugaye MT (1987). Molecular approaches to understanding cell surface interactions between plants and fungal pathogens. Plant Physiol Biochem 25:337–343
- McCue KF, Hanson AD (1990) Drought and salt tolerance: towards understanding and application. Trends Biotechnol 8:358–362
- Micco VD, Aronne G (2002) Plant responses to drought stress. In: Aroca R (ed). Springer, Berlin
- Millar DJ, Slabas AR, Sidebottom C, et al (1992) A major stress inducible Mr-42Kda wall glycoprotien of French bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.). Planta 187:176–184
- Mishra SK, Tripp J, Winkelhaus S et al (2002) In the complex family of heat stress transcription factors, HsfA1 has a unique role as master regulator of thermotolerance in tomato. Genes Dev 16:1555–1567
- Mittler R (2002) Oxidative stress, antioxidants and stress tolerance. Trends Plant Sci 7:405-410
- Miyazawa S, Yoshimura S, Shinzaki Y et al (2008) Deactivation of aquaporins decreases internal conductance to CO₂ diffusion in tobacco leaves grown under long-term drought. Funct Plant Biol 35(7):553–564
- Mogensen TH (2009) Pathogen recognition and inflammatory signaling in innate immune defenses. Clin Microbiol Rev 22:240–273
- Moreno AA, Orellana A (2011) The physiological role of the unfolded protein response in plants. Biol Res 44:75–80
- Moura JCMS, Bonine CAV, de Oliveira Fernandes Viana J et al (2010) Abiotic and biotic stresses and changes in the lignin content and composition in plants. J Integr Plant Biol 52(4):360–376

Munns R (2002) Comparative physiology of salt and water stress. Plant Cell Environ 25:239–250

- Munns R, Tester M (2008) Mechanisms of salinity tolerance. Ann Rev Plant Biol 59:651–681 Mur LA, Kenton P, Lloyd AJ et al (2008) The hypersensitive response; the centenary is upon us
 - but how much do we know? J Exp Bot 59:501-520
- Murakami T, Matsuba S, Funatsuki H et al (2004) Overexpression of a small heat shock protein, sHSP17.7, confers both heat tolerance and UV-B resistance to rice plants. Mol Breed 13:165–175
- Nakano T, Suzuki K, Fujimura T, Shinshi H (2006) Genomewide analysis of the ERF gene family in Arabidopsis and rice. Plant Physiol 140(2):411–432
- Nakashima K, Ito Y, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K (2009) Transcriptional regulatory networks in response to abiotic stresses in Arabidopsis and grasses. Plant Physiol 149:88–95
- Neuenschwander U, Lawton K, Ryals J (1996) Systemic acquired resistance. In: Stacey G, Keen NT (eds) Plant-microbe interactions, vol 1. Chapman and Hall, New York, pp 81–106
- Niderman T, Genetet I, Bruyere T, et al (1995) Pathogenesis-related PR-1 proteins are antifungal. Isolation and characterization of three 14-kilodalton proteins of tomato and of a basic PR-1 of tobacco with inhibitory activity against Phytophthora infestans. Plant physiol 108(1):17–27
- Nuruzzaman M, Sharoni AM, Kikuchi S (2013) Roles of NAC transcription factors in the regulation of biotic and abiotic stress responses in plants. Front Microbiol. doi:10.3389/fmicb. 2013.00248
- Ogunkunle CO, Abdulrahaman AA, Fatoba PO (2013) Influence of cement dust pollution on leaf epidermal features of Pennisetum purpureum and Sida acuta. Environ Exp Biol 11:73–79

- Okushima Y, Koizumi N, Kusano T, Sano H (2000) Secreted proteins of tobacco cultured BY2 cells: identification of a new member of pathogenesis-related proteins. Plant Mol Biol 42:479–488
- Onate-Sanchez L, Singh KB (2002) Identification of Arabidopsis ethylene-responsive element binding factors with distinct induction kinetics after pathogen infection. Plant Physiol 128 (4):1313–1322
- Ooka H, Satoh K, Doi K et al (2003) Comprehensive analysis of NAC family genes in Oryza sativa and *Arabidopsis thaliana*. DNA Res 10:239–247
- Osbourn AE (1994) An oat species lacking avenacin is susceptible to infection by *Gaeumannomyces graminis* var. *tritici*. Physiol Mol Plant Pathol 45(6):457–467
- Osbourn AE (1996) Saponins and plant defence-a soap story. Trends Plant Sci 1(1):4-9
- Painter RH (1951) Insect resistance in crop plants. The Macmillan Co., New York
- Palmer DA, Bender CL (1995) Ultrastructure of tomato leaf tissue treated with the pseudomonad phytotoxin coronatine and comparison with methyl jasmonate. Mol Plant Microbe Interact 8:683–692 (St. Paul)
- Panda N, Khush GS (1995) Host plant resistance to insects. CAB International, Wallingford
- Park JM, Park CJ, Lee SB et al (2001) Overexpression of the tobacco Tsi1 gene encoding an EREBP/AP2-type transcription factor enhances resistance against pathogen attack and osmotic stress in tobacco. Plant Cell 13(5):1035–1046
- Pasquali G, Biricolti S, Locatelli F et al (2008) *Osmyb4* expression improves adaptive responses to drought and cold stress in transgenic apples. Plant Cell Rep 27:1677–1686
- Pasternak T, Rudas V, Potters G et al (2005) Morphogenic effects of abiotic stress: reorientation of growth in *Arabidopsis thaliana* seedlings. Environ Exp Bot 53:299–314
- Pastor V, Luna E, Mauch-Mani B et al (2013) Primed plants do not forget. Environ Exp Bot 94:46–56
- Pathak MR, Wani SH (2015) Salinity stress tolerance in relation to polyamine metabolism in plants. In: Managing salt tolerance in plants: molecular and genomic perspectives. CRC Press, pp 241–250
- Pathak MR, Teixeira da Silva JA, Wani SH (2014) Polyamines in response to abiotic stress tolerance through transgenic approaches. GM Crops 5(2):1–10
- Patra M, Bhowmik N, Bandopadhyay B et al (2004) Comparison of mercury, lead and arsenic with respect to genotoxic effects on plant systems and the development of genetic tolerance. Environ Exp Bot 3:199–223
- Pedras MSC, Yaya EE, Glawischnig E (2011) The phytoalexins from cultivated and wild crucifers: chemistry and biology. Nat Prod Rep 28:1381–1405
- Pelegrini PB, Franco OL (2005) Plant gamma-thionins: novel insights on the mechanism of action of a multi-functional class of defense proteins. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 37:2239–2253
- Perez-Alfocea F, Ghanem ME, Gomez-Cadenas A, Dodd I (2011) Omics of root-to-shoot signaling under salt stress and water deficit. OMICS 15(12):893–901
- Perez-Clemente RM, Vives V, Zandalinas SI et al (2013) Biotechnological approaches to study plant responses to stress. Biomed Res Int. doi:10.1155/2013/654120
- Pestana-Calsa MC, Calsa T (2011) In silico identification of plant-derived antimicrobial peptides. DOI:2011
- Plaxton WC (2004) Plant response to stress: biochemical adaptations to phosphate deficiency encyclopedia of plant and crop science. doi:10.1081/E-EPCS120010648
- Plaxton WC, Carswell MC (1999) Metabolic aspects of the phosphate starvation response in plants. In: Plant responses to environmental stresses: from phytohormones to genome reorganization. Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York, pp 349–372
- Pourkhabbaz A, Rastin N, Olbrich A et al (2010) Influence of environmental pollution on leaf properties of urban plane trees, *Platanus orientalis* L. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 85:251–255. doi:10.1007/s00128-010-0047-4
- Raffaele S, Vailleau F, Leger A et al (2008) A MYB transcription factor regulates very-long-chain fatty acid biosynthesis for activation of the hypersensitive cell death response in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell 20(3):752–767

- Raggi V (2000) Hydroxyproline-rich glycoprotein accumulation in tobacco leaves protected against Erysiphe cichoracearum by potato virus Y infection. Plant Pathology 49(2):179–186
- Rejeb IB, Victoria P, Brigitte MM (2014) Plant responses to simultaneous biotic and abiotic stress: molecular mechanisms. Plants 3(4):458–475. doi:10.3390/plants3040458
- Ribeiro JM, Perira CS, Soares NC et al (2006) The contribution of extensin network formation to rapid, hydrogen peroxide-mediated increase in grapevine callus wall resistance to fungal lytic enzymes. J Exp Bot 57:2025–2035
- Rodrigues LMR, Queiroz-Voltan RB, Guerreiro-Filho O (2015) Anatomical changes on coffee leaves infected by *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. Garcae. Summa Phytopathol 41(4):256–261
- Rodríguez P, Torrecillas A, Morales MA et al (2005) Effects of NaCl salinity and water stress on growth and leaf water relations of *Asteriscus maritimus* plants. Environ Exp Bot 53:113–123
- Romero-Aranda R, Moya JL, Tadeo FR et al (1998) Physiological and anatomical disturbances induced by chloride salts in sensitive and tolerant citrus: beneficial and detrimental effects of cations. Plant Cell Environ 21:1243–1253
- Roy D, Basu N, Bhunia A, Banerjee S (1993) Counteraction of exogenous L-proline with NaCl in salt-sensitive cultivar of rice. Biol Plant 35:69–72. doi:10.1007/BF02921122
- Rucker KS, Kvien CK, Holbrook CC et al (1995) Identification of peanut genotypes with improved drought avoidance traits. Peanut Sci 24:14–18
- Sah SK, Kaur G, Wani SH (2016) Metabolic engineering of compatible solute trehalose for abiotic stress tolerance in plants. In: Osmolytes and plants acclimation to changing environment: emerging omics technologies. Springer, pp 83–96
- Sairam RK, Kumutha D, Ezhilmathi K, Deshmukh PS, Srivastava GC (2008) Physiology and biochemistry of waterlogging tolerance in plants. Biol Plant 52:401–412
- Salleo S, Nardini A (2000) Sclerophylly: evolutionary advantage or mere epiphenomenon? Plant Biosyst 134:247–259
- Sanghera GS, Wani SH, Hussain W, Singh NB (2011) Engineering cold stress tolerance in crop plants. Curr Genomics 12(1):30
- Sanitá di Troppi L, Gabbrielli R (1999) Response to cadmium in higher plants. Environ Exp Bot 41:105–130
- Sawaki Y, Iuchi S, Kobayashi Y et al (2009) STOP1 regulates multiple genes that protect Arabidopsis from proton and aluminum toxicities. Plant Physiol 150:281–294
- Sayed OH (1996) Adaptational responses of Zygophyllum qatarense Hadidi to stress conditions in a desert environment. J Arid Environ 32:445–452
- Schmid PS, Feucht W (1980) Tissue-specific oxidative browning of polyphenols by peroxidase in cherry shoots. Gartenbauwissenschaft 45:68
- Schmidt R, Mieulet D, Hubberten HM et al (2013) SALT RESPONSIVE ERF1 regulates reactive oxygen species dependent signaling during the initial response to salt stress in rice. Plant Cell 25(6):2115–2131
- Sels J, Mathys J, De Coninck BMA, et al (2008). Plant pathogenesis-related (PR) proteins: a focus on PR peptides. Plant Physiol Biochem 46:941–950
- Seo PJ, Park CM (2010) MYB96-mediated abscisic acid signals induce pathogen resistance response by promoting salicylic acid biosynthesis in Arabidopsis. New Phytol 186(2):471–483
- Serrano Mario, Coluccia Fania, Torres Martha et al (2014) The cuticle and plant defense to pathogens. Front Plant Sci 5:274. doi:10.3389/fpls.2014.00274
- Shahid M, Dumat C, Pourrut B et al (2014) Assessing the effect of metal speciation on lead toxicity to *Vicia faba* pigment contents. J Geochem Explor 144:290–297
- Shaik R, Ramakrishna W (2013) Genes and co-expression modules common to drought and bacterial stress responses in *Arabidopsis* and rice. PLoS ONE 8:e77261. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0077261
- Shaik R, Ramakrishna W (2014) Machine learning approaches distinguish multiple stress conditions using stress-responsive genes and identify candidate genes for broad resistance in rice. Plant Physiol 164:481–495

- Shailasree S, Kini KR, Deepak S, et al (2004) Accumulation of hydroxyproline-rich glycoproteins in pearl millet seedlings in response to *Sclerospora graminicola* infection. Plant Sci 167:1227– 1234
- Shannon MC, Grieve CM, Francois LE (1994) Whole-plant response to salinity. In: Wilkinson RE (ed) Plant-environment interactions. Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York, pp 199–244
- Shao HB, Liang ZS, Shao MA et al (2005) Investigation on dynamic changes of photosynthetic characteristics of 10 wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) genotypes during two vegetative growth stages at water deficits. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces 43:221–227
- Shao HB, Chu LY, Jaleel CA et al (2008a) Water-deficit stress-induced anatomical changes in higher plants. C R Biol 331:215–225
- Shao HB, Chu LY, Shao MA et al (2008b) Higher plant antioxidants and redox signaling under environmental stresses. C R Biol 331:433-441
- Sharma I (2012) Arsenic induced oxidative stress in plants. Biologia 3:447-453
- Sharma HC, Sujana G, Rao DM (2009) Morphological and chemical components of resistance to pod borer, *Helicoverpa armigera* in wild relatives of pigeonpea. Arthropod Plant Interact 3:151–161
- Sharma P, Jha AB, Dubey RS, Pessarakli M (2012) Reactive oxygen species, oxidative damage and antioxidative defense mechanism in plants under stressful conditions. J Bot Article ID 217037:26. doi:10.1155/2012/217037
- Shields LM (1950) Leaf xeromorphy as related to physiological and structural influences. Bot Rev 16:399–447
- Shriram V, Kumar V, Devarumath RM, Khare TS, Wani SH (2016) MicroRNAs as potential targets for abiotic stress tolerance in plants. Front Plant Sci 7:817. doi:10.3389/fpls.2016.00817
- Silva LC, Oliva MA, Azevedo AA et al (2006) Responses of restinga plant species to pollution from an iron pelletization factory. Water Air Soil Pollut 175(1-4):241-256
- Singh S, Prasad SM (2014) Growth photosynthesis and oxidative responses of *Solanum melongena* L. seedlings to cadmium stress: mechanism of toxicity amelioration by kinetin. Sci Hortic 176:1–10
- Singh M, Kumar J, Singh S et al (2015) Adaptation strategies of plants against heavy metal toxicity: a short review. Biochem Pharmacol (Los Angel) 4:161. doi:10.4172/2167-0501. 1000161
- Smallhood M, Martin H, Knox JP (1995) An epitope of rice threonine and HRGP is common to cell wall and hydrophobic plasma membrane glycoproteins. Planta 196:510–522
- Sommer-Knudsen J, Bacic A, Clarke AE (1998) Hydroxyproline-rich glycoproteins, Phytochemistry 47:483–497
- Specht JE, Chase K, Macrander M, Graef GL, Chung J, Markwell JP, Germann M, Orf V, Lark KG (2001) Soybean response to water. A QTL analysis of drought tolerance. Crop Sci 41:493–509
- Sridhar BBM, Diehl SV, Han FX et al (2005) Anatomical changes due to uptake and accumulation of Zn and Cd in Indian mustard (*Brassica juncea*). Environ Exp Bot 54:131–141
- Stakman EC (1915) Relation between *Puccinia graminis* and plants highly resistant to its attack. J Agric Res 4:193–200
- Steinhorst L, Kudla J (2013) Calcium and reactive oxygen species rule the waves of signaling. Plant Physiol 163:471–485
- Stotz HU, Thomson JG, Wang Y (2009) Plant defensins defense, development and application. Plant Signal Behav 11:1010–1012
- Subbarao GV, Johansen C, Slinkard AE, Rao RCN, Saxena NP, Chauhan YS (1995) Strategies and scope for improving drought resistance in grain legumes. Crit Rev Plant Sci 14:469–523
- Surekha C, Aruna L, Hossain MA, Wani SH, Neelapu NRR (2015) Present status and future prospects of transgenic approaches for salt tolerance in plants/crop plants. In: Managing salt tolerance in plants: molecular and genomic perspectives. CRC Press, USA, p 329

Talbert CM, Holch AE (1957) A study of the lobing of sun and shade leaves. Ecology 38:655–658 Talboys PW (1972) Resistance to vascular wilt fungi. Proc R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 181:319–332

- Telem RS, Wani SH, Singh NB, Sadhukhan R, Mandal N (2016) Single Nucleotide Polymorphism (SNP) marker for abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants. In: Advances in plant breeding strategies: agronomic, abiotic and biotic stress traits. Springer International Publishing, pp 327–343
- Templeton MD, Dixon RA, Lamb CJ, Lawton MA (1990) Hydroxyproline rich glycoprotein transcripts exhibit different spatial patterns of accumulation in compatible and incompatible interactions between *Phaseolus vulgaris* and *Colletotrichum lindemuthianum*. Plant Physiol 94:1265–1269
- Tom Schultz (2006) Bacterial plant pathogens and symptomology. http://extension.wsu.edu/ sanjuan/wp-content/uploads/sites/9/2014/04/BacterialPlantPathogens_001.pdf
- Torres MA (2010) ROS in biotic interactions. Physiol Plant 138:414–429
- Torres MA, Dangl JL (2005) Functions of the respiratory burst oxidase in biotic interactions, abiotic stress and development. Curr Opin Plant Biol 8:397-403
- Tovkach A, Ryan PR, Richardson AE et al (2013) Transposon-mediated alteration of TaMATE1B expression in wheat confers constitutive citrate efflux from root apices. Plant Physiol 161:880–892
- Tran LS, Nakashima K, Sakuma Y et al (2004) Isolation and functional analysis of Arabidopsis stress-inducible NAC transcription factors that bind to a drought-responsive cis-element in the early responsive to dehydration stress 1 promoter. Plant Cell 16:2481–2498
- Underwood W (2012) The plant cell wall: a dynamic barrier against pathogen invasion. Front Plant Sci 3:85. doi:10.3389/fpls.2012.00085
- Van Baarlen P, Van Belkum A, Summerbell RC et al (2007) Molecular mechanisms of pathogenicity: how do pathogenic microorganisms develop cross-kingdom host jumps? FEMS Microbiol Rev 31(3):239–277
- Van Loon LC, Bakker PAHM, Pieterse CMJ (1998) Systemic resistance induced by rhizosphere bacteria. Annu Rev Phytopathol 36:453–483
- VanEtten HD, Mansfield JW, Bailey JA et al (1994) Two classes of plant antibiotics: phytoalexins versus "phytoanticipins". Plant Cell 6(9):1191–1192. doi:10.1105/tpc.6.9.1191
- Vannini C, Locatelli F, Bracale M et al (2004) Overexpression of the rice *Osmyb4* gene increases chilling and freezing tolerance of Arabidopsis thaliana plants. Plant J 37:115–127
- Vannini C, Campa M, Iriti M et al (2007) Evaluation of transgenic tomato plants ectopically expressing the rice *Osmyb4* gene. Plant Sci 173:231–239
- Verhage A, Wees Van, Pieterse SCM et al (2010) Plant immunity: it's the hormones talking, but what do they say? Plant Physiol 154:536–540
- Verma RB, Mahmooduzzafar TO, Siddiqi M et al (2006) Foliar response of *Ipomea pestigridis* L. to coal-smoke pollution. Turk J Bot 30(5):413–417
- Visser EJW, Colmer TD, Blom C et al (2000) Changes in growth, porosity, and radial oxygen loss from adventitious roots of selected mono and dicotyledonous wetland species with contrasting types of aerenchyma. Plant, Cell & Envi 23(11):1237–1245
- Wahid A, Gelani S, Ashraf M et al (2007) Heat tolerance in plants: an overview. Environ Exp Bot 61:199–223
- Walker RR, Sedgley M, Blesing MA et al (1984) Anatomy, ultrastructure and assimilate concentrations of roots of citrus genotypes differing in ability for salt exclusion. J Exp Bot 35:1481–1494
- Walter MH (1992) Regulation of lignification in defense. In Boller T, Meins F, (eds) Genes involved in plant defense. Springer Verlag, New York, pp 327–352
- Wani SH, Gosal SS (2010) Genetic engineering for osmotic stress tolerance in plants—role of proline. IUP J Genet Evol 3(4):14–25
- Wani SH, Gosal SS (2011) Introduction of OsglyII gene into Oryza sativa for increasing salinity tolerance. Biol Plant 55(3):536–540
- Wani SH, Hossain MA (eds) (2015) Managing salinity tolerance in plants: molecular and genomic perspectives. CRC Press, USA
- Wani SH, Kumar V (2015) Plant stress tolerance: engineering ABA: a potent phytohormone. Transcriptomics 3:113. doi:10.4172/2329-8936.1000113

Wani SH, Sah SK (2014) Biotechnology and abiotic stress tolerance in rice. J Rice Res 2:e105

- Wani SH, Sandhu JS, Gosal SS (2008) Genetic engineering of crop plants for abiotic stress tolerance. In: Malik CP, Kaur B, Wadhwani C (eds) Advanced topics in plant biotechnology and plant biology. MD Publications, New Delhi, pp 149–183
- Wani SH, Lone AA, Da Silva T, Gosal SS (2010) Effects of NaCl stress on callus induction and plant regeneration from mature seeds of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). Asian Australasian J Plant Sci Biotechnol 4(1):57–61
- Wani SH, Singh NB, Jeberson SM, Sanghera GS, Haribhushan A, Chaudhury BU, Bhat MA (2012) Molecular strategies for identification and deployment of gene(s) for abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants. LS Int J Life Sci 1(2):128–142
- Wani SH, Singh NB, Haribhushan A, Mir JI (2013a) Compatible solute engineering in plants for abiotic stress tolerance—role of glycine betaine. Curr Genomics 14(3):157–165
- Wani SH, Singh NB, Devi TR, Haribhushan A, Jeberson SM (2013b) Engineering abiotic stress tolerance in plants: extricating regulatory gene complex. In Malik CP, Sanghera GS, Wani SH (eds) Conventional and non-conventional approaches for crop improvement. MD Publications, New Delhi, pp 1–21
- Wani SH, Sah SK, Hossain MA, Kumar V, Balachandran SM (2016a) Transgenic approaches for abiotic stress tolerance in crop plants. In: Advances in plant breeding strategies: agronomic, abiotic and biotic stress traits. Springer International Publishing, pp 345–396
- Wani SH, Sah SK, Sanghera G, Hussain W, Singh NB (2016b) Genetic engineering for cold stress tolerance in crop plants. In: Atta-ur-Rahman (ed) Advances in genome science, vol 4. Bentham Science, UK, pp 173–201
- War AR, Paulraj MG, Ahmad T et al (2012) Mechanisms of plant defense against insect herbivores. Plant Signal Behav 7(10):1306–1320
- Ward HM (1902) On the relations between host and parasite in the bromes and their brown rust, puccinia dispersa (Erikss.). Ann Bot 16:233–316
- Watkin ELJ, Thomson CJ, Greenway H (1998) Root development in two wheat cultivars and one triticale cultivar grown in stagnant agar and aerated nutrient solution. Ann Bot 81:349–354
- Webber HA, Madramootoo CA, Bourgault M, Horst MG, Stulina G, Smith DL (2006) Water use efficiency of common bean and green gram grown using alternate furrow and deficit irrigation. Agric Water Manag 86:259–268
- Wijaya R, Neumann GM, Condron R et al (2000) Defense proteins from seed of *Cassia fistula* includes a lipid transfer protein homologue and a protease inhibitory plant defensin. Plant Sci 159:243–255
- Wild A, Schmitt V (1995) Diagnosis of damage to Norway spruce (*Picea abies*) through biochemical criteria. Physiol Plant 93:375–382
- Wu L, Chen X, Ren H et al (2007) ERF protein JERF1 that transcriptionally modulates the expression of abscisic acid biosynthesis-related gene enhances the tolerance under salinity and cold in tobacco. Planta 226(4):815–825
- Wu QS, Xia RX, Zou YN (2008) Improved soil structure and citrus growth after inoculation with three arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi under drought stress. Eur J Soil Biol 44:122–128
- Wullschleger SD, Yin TM, DiFazio SP, Tschaplinski TJ, Gunter LE, Davis MF, Tuskan GA (2005) Phenotypic variation in growth and biomass distribution for two advanced-generation pedigrees of hybrid poplar. Can J For Res 35:1779–1789
- Xu K, Mackill DJ (1996) A major locus for submergence tolerance mapped on rice chromosome 9. Mol Breed 2:219–224
- Xu D, Duan B, Wang B et al (1996) Expression of a late embryogenesis abundant protein gene, HVA1, from barley confers tolerance to water deficit and salt stress in transgenic rice. Plant Physiol 110:249–257
- Xu K, Xu X, Fukao T et al (2006) Sub1A is an ethylene responsive-factor like gene that confers submergence tolerance to rice. Nature 442:705–708
- Xu J, Yin H, Li X (2009) Protective effects of proline against cadmium toxicity in micropropagated hyperaccumulator, *Solanum nigrum* L. Plant Cell Rep 28:325–333

- Xu C, Wang M, Zhou L et al (2013) Heterologous expression of the wheat aquaporin gene TaTIP2;2 compromises the abiotic stress tolerance of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. PLoS ONE. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0079618
- Xu Y, Hu W, Liu J et al (2014) A banana aquaporin gene, MaPIP1;1, is involved in tolerance to drought and salt stresses. BMC Plant Biol. doi:10.1186/1471-2229-14-59
- Yadav G, Srivastava PK, Singh VP et al (2014) Light intensity alters the extent of arsenic toxicity in *Helianthus annuus* L. seedlings. Biol Trace Elem Res 158:410–421
- Yamaji N, Huang CF, Nagao S et al (2009) A zinc finger transcription factor ART1 regulates multiple genes implicated in aluminum tolerance in rice. Plant Cell 21:3339–3349
- Yang A, Dai X, Zhang WH (2012) A R2R3-type MYB gene, OsMYB2, is involved in salt, cold, and dehydration tolerance in rice. J Exp Bot 63:2541–2556
- Yang X, Wan X, Ji L et al (2015) Overexpression of a *Miscanthus lutarioriparius* NAC gene MINAC5 confers enhanced drought and cold tolerance in Arabidopsis. Plant Cell Rep 34 (6):943–958
- Yordanov I, Velikova V, Tsonev T (2000) Plant responses to drought, acclimation, and stress tolerance. Photosynthetica 38:171–186
- Zhang M, Duan LZ, Zhai J, Li X, Tian B, Wang Z, He, Li Z (2004) Effects of plant growth regulators on water deficit-induced yield loss in soybean. In: Proceedings of the 4th international crop science congress, Brisbane, Australia
- Zhang JH, Huang WD, Liu YP et al (2005) Effects of temperature acclimation pretreatment on the ultrastructure of mesophyll cells in young grape plants (*Vitis vinifera* L. cv. Jingxiu) under cross-temperature stresses. J Integr Plant Biol 47:959–970
- Zhang DW, Shao J, Lin J et al (2009) RIP3, an energy metabolism regulator that switches TNF-induced cell death from apoptosis to necrosis. Science 325:332–336
- Zhao FJ, Lombi E, Breedon T et al (2000) Zinc hyperaccumulation and cellular distribution in *Arabidopsis halleri*. Plant Cell Environ 23:507–514
- Zhao T, Liang D, Wang P et al (2012) Genome-wide analysis and expression profiling of the DREB transcription factor gene family in Malus under abiotic stress. Mol Genet Genomics 287 (5):423–436
- Zhou S, Hu W, Deng X et al (2012) Overexpression of the wheat aquaporin gene, TaAQP7, enhances drought tolerance in transgenic tobacco. PLoS ONE. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0052439
- Zhuang J, Chen JM, Yao QH et al (2011) Discovery and expression profile analysis of AP2/ERF family genes from *Triticum aestivum*. Mol Biol Rep 38(2):745–753
- Zitvogel L, Kepp O, Kroemer G (2010) Decoding cell death signals in inflammation and immunity. Cell 140:798-804

Biotechnological Approaches for In Vitro Conservation of *Picrorhiza kurroa* Royle ex Benth



Ritu Mahajan and Nisha Kapoor

Abstract Medicinal plants have been used by humans for the treatment of various diseases since ancient times. The plants being rich in secondary metabolites are exploited for their probable utility due to the presence of phytochemical properties. The pure compound can easily be obtained from the plants resulting in safer drugs. One of such important medicinal plant is *Picrorhiza kurroa* which is a principle source of iridoid glycosides, with a wide range of biological activities. Today the plant has become endangered due to restricted distribution and unskilled harvesting and is demanding to be conserved for its posterity. In order to safeguard and preserve such medicinally important plant species, certain biotechnological approaches are found to be very valuable for their conservation and further manipulation so as to augment their yield and quality traits.

Keywords *Picrorhiza kurroa* · In vitro · Conservation · Micropropagation Endangered · Secondary metabolites

Medicinal plants have been used by humans globally as a valuable source of drugs. The hunt for the medicines based on plants has always played a significant role for improving the quality and longetivity of life. The therapeutic utility of plants is traced from more than thousand years. The earliest known medical document is a 4000-year-old Sumerian clay tablet that recorded the use of plants as remedy for many popular diseases (Pan et al. 2014). In India, the earliest reference of use of plants in medicine was seen in Rig-Veda, and later the properties and therapeutic uses of medicinal plants was studied in detail by the ancient physicians which is a primary foundation of ancient medical science today itself (Hosseinzadeh et al. 2015).

R. Mahajan (🖂) · N. Kapoor

School of Biotechnology, University of Jammu, Jammu, J&K, India

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

The original version of this chapter was revised: New chapter has been included at the end. The erratum to this chapter is available at https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-68717-9_22

M. Ghorbanpour and A. Varma (eds.), *Medicinal Plants and Environmental Challenges*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-68717-9_21

This increased interest in natural medication has resulted in great challenge of meeting the demand of growing markets for plant-based medicines and at the same time protecting the medicinal biodiversity. Apart from this, these plant species have provided an important contribution to local economies and cultural integrity of both the rural poor and fragile social group (Padulosi et al. 2002). The development of effective cultivation practices cannot cope up with the ever increasing demand for the plant yield in terms of both biomass and active phytochemicals. Thus, it is enormously important for the long-term conservation of medicinal plants and also their sustainable use.

The increase in the demand of medicinal plants for the expansion of drug industry has threatened their natural habitats and put them in the brink of extinction (Bodeker et al. 2014). To manage up with this alarming situation, the use of modern biotechnology tools has come as a boon where they select and conserve the critical genotypes of medicinal plants using different approaches. The use of plant tissue culture has resulted in the aspects of protection, multiplication, conservation and preservation of the medicinal plants especially those that are in the verge of extinction (Chen et al. 2016). Similarly, elicitation and genetic transformation are employed as potent tools for enhanced production of secondary metabolites from these plants (Srivastava et al. 2016). Recently, different functional genomic strategies have been developed for differential gene expression analysis in plant cell culture towards production of designer secondary metabolites (Ochoa-Villarreal et al. 2016).

Importance of P. Kurroa

One of such highly valued herb is *Picrorhiza kurroa* Royle ex. Benth, that belongs to family Scrophulariaceae and is prevalent in the higher altitudes of Himalayan region. It grows from Kashmir to Sikkim, between altitudes of 3000–4500 m above mean sea level (Thakur et al. 1989; Arya et al. 2013). The rhizomes of the plant are the principle source of iridoid glycosides out of which the major is Picrosides and kutkosides (Patil et al. 2013).

These iridoids have abundant therapeutic uses like antihepatotoxic, choleretic, hypolipidemic, antiinflammatory, antispasmodic, antiallergic and antiasthamatic (Tiwari et al. 2012; Sultan et al. 2016). *P. kurroa* has been mentioned as a well known herb in the ancient Ayurvedic system of medicine (Kashyap 1970). The plant is also called as kutki which is derived from Sanskrit name 'Katuka' meaning bitter taste. The roots of this plant possess much bitterness and are used in purgative preparation. The dried extracts from the plant has a cure for liver disorders, fever, jaundice and allergies (Baruah et al. 1988). The herbal preparation of the plant plays a major role in antidiabetic and anticancerous activity (Pradhan 2011; Kumar and Ramesh 2014; Mallick et al. 2015).

The over exploitation of the rhizomes along with the poor cultivation and small population size of *P. kurroa* has depleted this species from its natural habitat, for the extraction of bioactive constituents (Verma et al. 2012; Chand et al. 2016). This has resulted in the plant to be enlisted in red data book by International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN). The conventional method of propagation using rhizomes and seeds restricts multiplication as seed germination is very poor in *P. kurroa*, so use of in vitro approaches are essential for its conservation (Rawat et al. 2013).

Conservation Using Biotechnological Techniques

In today's scenario, biotechnological techniques play an important role in conserving the plant biodiversity for rare and endangered plant species. In vitro cell culture techniques ensure the rapid production and multiplication of plant material without any seasonal constraint. Even for the long-term conservation of plant material, cryopreservation (i.e. storing in liquid nitrogen at -196 °C) allows the storing of plant material without modification, contamination or alteration in the genome for unlimited periods (Benson 2008; Vasava 2016). The major advantages of in vitro culture are the production of disease free plantlets throughout the year for germplasm exchange and storage and also rapid mass multiplication of genotypes which cannot be multiplied by conventional propagation methods.

Seed Germination

Germination from seeds is the most common method of propagation in most plant species (Khanna et al. 2013). The germination rate of *P. kurroa* seeds is poor (Chandra et al. 2006) as the seeds need a chilling treatment below subzero temperatures during winters to break their dormancy. Chandra et al. (2006) observed poor seed germination after presoaking treatment of seeds with different PGRs followed by subsequent incubation at 10 °C. However, addition of gibberellic acid (GA₃) increased the rate of seed germination as well as reduced the time taken for their germination. This is possibly due to dormancy, exhibited by many alpine seeds so as to overcome the harsh climatic conditions prevalent at high altitudes. However, Nautiyal (1988) observed up to 60% germination in *P. kurroa* seeds incubated at 20 °C in light. Even, in polyhouses use of moss covering the sandy loam soil without any chemical treatment resulted in 58% seed germination (Nautiyal et al. 2001). Thus, the use of GA₃ alone or in combination with BAP doubles germination as well as the time taken for germination in other alpine herbs (Nadeem et al. 2000).

Jan et al. (2009) observed highest rate of seed germination in *P. kurroa* by soaking seeds in sterile water for 10 days at 4 °C and then keeping them under continuous dark conditions at 25 ± 2 °C on moist absorbent cotton placed in the Petri plates till germination occurred.

Shoot Initiation and Multiplication

Lal et al. (1988) developed the first successful protocol for the clonal propagation of *P. kurroa* through shoot tip culture. He observed multiple shoots from the explants on MS (Murashige and Skoog 1962) medium supplemented with kinetin in different concentrations from 3.0 to 5.0 mg/l. Also, the addition of 1.0 mg/l Indole acetic acid (IAA) along with Kinetin (Kn) showed marked improvement in the growth of regenerated shoots while addition of auxin IAA in the medium did not vary the frequency of shoot multiplication.

Patial et al. (2012) observed shoot multiplication in the in vitro regenerated microshoots growing in MS medium containing Kn and Benzyl Amino Purine (BAP) in different concentrations. A three fold increase in shoot length and leaf size was observed when the explants were cultured in liquid medium but prolonged culturing resulted in vitrification. In 2016, Patial et al. (2016) studied the potential of thidiazuron (TDZ) on shoot multiplication after treating the nodal segments with 0.5 μ M TDZ for 15 days before transferring them to basal MS medium. They also observed that pretreatment with TDZ beyond 15 days resulted in browning and necrosis of the plants.

Sharma et al. (2010) multiplied shoot cultures on MS medium containing 0.2 mg/l BAP for shoot multiplication while Bhat et al. (2012) observed multiple shoots in Gamborg's B5 medium containing 3.0 mg/l Kn and 1.0 mg/l IBA. A 90% plant regeneration from leaf explants was observed.

In vitro shoot multiplication from nodal explants on MS medium without cytokinin was observed by Lal et al. (1988). They studied that the addition of NAA in the culture medium favours both shoots and root formation. They also compared the average number of shoots per explant on MS and B_5 media, which was highest on MS medium supplemented with 0.6 mg/l NAA while the maximum shoot length was observed in MS with 0.4 mg/l NAA.

Mahajan et al. (2016) tried ten different combinations of BAP and Kn in MS medium (Fig. 1). They observed 85.63% of shoots MS medium containing 1.0 mg/l BAP, 0.5 mg/l Kn and 1.0 mg/l GA₃. Also, the increase in concentration of kinetin to 1 mg/l, resulted in the decreased the shoot growth to 80.21%. It was observed that the MS medium supplemented with BAP only resulted in healthy shoots with long and thick leaves with less number of shoots was less while the number of shoots was more but thin in MS medium containing kinetin only.



Fig. 1 a Leaf proliferation from auxillary buds. b Shoot multiplication. c Shoot induction from the callus. d Root induction from the callus

Rooting and Hardening

MS basal medium without PGRs resulted in in vitro rooting in *P. kurroa* (Patial et al. 2012). They observed rooting on MS medium supplemented with kinetin while Helena et al. (2015) observed roots on ½ strength MS basal medium supplemented with different concentrations of 2,4-D, IAA, IBA and NAA. Root initiation was observed within 12–13 days of transferring the microshoots in rooting medium. However, profused rooting occurred on medium containing NAA at the concentration of 0.4 mg/l and 0.5 mg/l (2,4-Dichlorophenoxyacetic acid) 2-4,D while Lal et al. (1988) observed rooting on MS medium containing 1.0 mg/l of NAA.

Patial et al. (2012) observed that the rooted plantlets kept at 5 °C prior to hardening turned brown while those kept at 15 °C have thickened leaves where the leaf tissue was differentiated into distinct palisade layer and thick cuticle. Also the shoots treated with TDZ showed profused rooting and transfer of these rooted microshoots in sand under polyhouse conditions after incubating at 15 °C for 10 days resulted in 100% survival rate, as it improved the cellular differentiation and vascularization (Patial et al. 2016). Since stomatal regulation of transpiration and water loss is crucial for the survival of plants the stomata and chlorophyll content of the tissue culture-raised plantlets treated at 15 °C so was compared with the plants growing in the field conditions (Patial et al. 2016). They observed that the number of stomata and chlorophyll content was low in the plants that were not treated at 15 °C. The elongated shoots rooted within 15–25 days either on MS alone or supplemented with NAA (0.4 mg/l), IAA and IBA (0.1–0.5 mg/l).

Lal et al. (1988) also observed rooting from microshoots on MS with a combination of three auxins IBA, IAA and NAA. They achieved 81.5% of survival rate on transfer of in vitro grown plants to the greenhouse which when matured showed normal development as that of the mother plants while Mahajan et al. (2016) used a single growth regulator (IBA) in MS medium at different concentrations and observed direct, healthy and long roots with numerous root hairs but best rooting was observed on MS containing 2.5 mg/l IBA.

Biological hardening of in vitro grown *P. kurroa* plants was well studied by Trivedi and Pandey (2007). They inoculated micropropagated plants with three plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria viz. *Bacillus megaterium*, *B. subtilis* and Pseudomonas before transferring them to field conditions and this resulted in up to 94.5% survival rate when the plants were inoculated with *B. megaterium* with respect to the survival rate of 38.5% in control plants.

Callus Multiplication and Organogenesis

Lal and Ahuja (1996) observed callus from leaf and shoot explants in MS medium supplemented with 0.5–2.0 mg/l 2,4-D. The callus proliferation was studied in MS containing 4.0 mg/l NAA and 1.0 mg/l Kn and shoot organogenesis was observed in MS supplemented with 0.25 mg/l BAP. Rooting was observed in MS containing 0.2 mg/l NAA.

Sood and Chauhan (2009) used different explants of *P. kurroa* such as leaf discs, nodal and root segments for callus establishment. A high frequency of callus induction was observed in root segments (70%), followed by leaf discs (56.3%) and least in nodal segments (38.3%) when cultured on the MS medium supplemented with 0.2 mg/l and 0.5 mg/l IBA. The occurrence of high frequency callusing from root segments of *P. kurroa* is highly desirable as most of the phytopharmaceuticals accumulate in roots. Also the callus derived from root segments can be readily used

for cell suspension cultures for producing secondary metabolites on large scale. Multiple shoots in the callus cultures derived from different explants on MS medium containing different concentrations and combinations of BA, Kn and IBA were observed. The calli derived from root segments and leaf discs resulted in high frequency regeneration on MS supplemented with BA and Kn. From their observations they concluded that that root segments are the best explant for in vitro studies in P. kurroa. Sood and Chauhan (2010) determined picroside content from the different stages of the callus cultures and concluded that the biosynthesis and accumulation of Picroside-I started in callus cultures that differentiate into shoot primordia. They observed that the concentration of Picroside-I in the shoots formed from root-derived callus cultures was low as compared to shoots derived from callus cultures of leaf and stem segments. Their study concluded that the biosynthesis and accumulation of Picroside-I is developmentally regulated in different morphogenetic stages of *P. kurroa* tissue cultures. Even, Gupta et al. (2016) analyzed in vitro grown callus, leaf and roots for the presence of Picroside-I (P-I) using HPLC. They observed maximum P-I content (0.9/100 g) in leaves followed by roots (0.06/100 g) whereas no P-I content was detected in the callus.

Helena et al. (2015) cultured leaf explants and shoot explants on MS medium supplemented with different combinations and concentrations of 2,4-D, IAA, IBA and NAA and cytokinin TDZ to initiate callus. They observed best growth of callus on MS medium from both leaf and shoot explants medium containing two growth regulators viz. TDZ and IBA. The callus obtained from leaf explants were large in size as compared to shoot. This could be due to differential triggering of the cells in presence of different growth regulators.

A comparative study was made by Patial et al. (2012) using ex vitro and in vitro grown leaves of *P. kurroa*. They observed callus induction from ex vitro leaf explants in MS medium supplemented with TDZ which further resulted in shoot bud formation after transferring the calli to MS medium containing Kn. The in vitro grown leaves resulted in direct shoot formation in MS medium without PGRs, though the shoot number was low. They observed that the exposure of cultures to TDZ for 15 days interval enhanced the rate of shoot formation.

Mahajan et al. (2016) observed creamy white and friable callus from leaf explants on MS medium containing 2.0 and 3.0 mg/l 2,4-D. Increase in the concentration of 2,4-D to 4.0 mg/l resulted in the browning of explants with no callus formation. Similarly Gupta et al. (2016) reported 100% callus induction frequency from leaf and stem segments on MS medium supplemented with 0.5 mg/l TDZ and 0.3 mg/l IBA. Frequent subculturing was done to minimize the accumulation of phenolic compounds and by adding anti-phenolic substances, such as 0.5 mg/l ascorbic acid and 0.5 mg/l PVP. The callus derived from leaf explants resulted in 77.7% shoot formation when transferred on to the MS medium supplemented with 1.0 mg/l BA and 0.75 mg/l Kn. About 70% roots were observed on rooting media containing NAA.

Somatic Embryogenesis

There was no published report of somatic embryogenesis in *P. kurroa* till 2013 (Rawat et al. 2013). However, Mahajan et al. (2016) used cytokinins as promoters for the induction of somatic embryos in *P. kurroa*. They observed that the use of 2,4-D along with BAP and GA₃ in MS medium affected the number of embryo production. The callus when subcultured on MS medium containing 2,4-D resulted in the formation of different stages of somatic embryos. Mature somatic embryos when transferred to medium containing BAP and GA₃ turned green and differentiated into shoots on MS medium supplemented with 1.0 mg/l BAP and 1.0 mg/l GA₃.

Cryopreservation

Sharma and Sharma (2003) made the first attempt to cryopreserve the vitro grown shoot apices of *P. kurroa* using vitrification technique. They took about 1 mm long shoot tips and precultured them on MS medium supplemented with various osmotic which is an essential step for successful cryopreservation. They also observed that preculture at 4 °C for five days exhibited better growth of shoots as compared to those cultures without preculture treatment. Also, cold hardening at 4 °C enhanced the survival of explants prior to dehydration in PVS2. The dehydrated shoot tips were directly immersed in LN2 followed by rapid rewarming at 45 °C. The shoot tips turned green after 10 days without callus formation and produced multiple shoots on transfer to MS medium. The morphology of cryopreserved shoots of *P. kurroa* was comparable to that of non-frozen (control) in vitro grown shoots was also observed.

Mishra et al. (2011) reported the encapsulation of microshoots of *P. kurroa* in a 3% sodium alginate solution. The encapsulated microshoots were maintained by spraying with sterile distilled water in a flask for a period of 3 months at 25 ± 2 °C moist conditions (Rawat et al. 2016). These encapsulated microshoots on half strength MS basal medium grew into plantlets with a growth rate of 90%. These shoots further formed roots on half-strength MS medium supplemented with 1.0 M NAA.

Genetic Transformation

The use of in vitro techniques for generation of hairy root can prevent the indiscriminate up-rooting and exploitation of this commercially important plant by producing the desired bioactive molecules under in vitro conditions. Verma et al. (2012) developed the first successful establishment protocol for induction, establishment and growth of hairy root cultures of *P. kurroa* using *Agrobacterium rhizogenes* (LBA9402 strain) with the option of producing desired phyto-molecule. Use of appropriate explant and bacterial strain resulted in 66.7% relative transformation frequency. They studied nine independent, opine and TL-positive hairy root clones for their growth and production of specific glycoside at different growth phases. They observed the expression of active constituents were expressed by all the hairy root clones tested by them, even though different inter-clonal variations in terms of quantity could be noted. A yield potential in terms of biomass as well as individual glycoside contents with one of the clones tested was also observed. Thus the use of in vitro techniques for generation of hairy root can prevent the indiscriminate up-rooting and exploitation of this commercially important plant by producing the desired bioactive molecules under in vitro conditions.

Similarly, Bhat et al. (2012) observed efficient plant regeneration and genetic transformation using *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*. They used A. tumefaciens strain GV3101, harboring binary vector pCAMBIA1302 that contains a green fluorescent protein and hygromycin phosphotransferase genes. A protocol was generated genetic transformation using leaf explants and the putative transformants were selected using 15 mg/l hygromycin. They verified the transformation both by using fluorescence microscopy and polymerase chain reaction. They observed a transformation frequency of 56% with an average of 3.4 ± 0.4 transgenic plantlets per explant. This efficient developed transformation protocol can serve as a boon in the metabolic engineering of *P. kurroa*.

Conclusions and Future Prospects

Biotechnological tools are necessary for the conservation and improvement of the medicinally important plant species that have become endangered due to human intervention. Loss of genetic diversity of such plant species from their natural habitats has resulted in the decrease in their survival rate and also their ability to cope with changing environment conditions. Thus it is necessary to use the various biotechnological tools that could result in the conservation and improvement of such plant species. This further requires the integration of biotechnological approaches with the conventional methods to develop effective ways for conserving natural plant population. Use of hairy root cultures can be used as an efficient means of producing secondary metabolites. Also the use of biotic and abiotic elicitors can be used as a potential source for enhancing the production of secondary metabolites that can cope up the pressure from the various herbal industries. Further, the use of metabolic engineering can offer the over expression of single genes which can results in the accumulation of the target products.

Physiological Aspects of Heat Stress

In response to heat stress, certain physiological changes results in the enhanced level of metabolites like amino acids, sugars, peroxidases. This results in an increased antioxidant activity and resistance to biotic and abiotic stresses which is beneficial for the plants but at the same time also reduces the photosynthetic activity.

Acknowledgements The authors are thankful to National Medicinal Plant Board (NMPB), New Delhi for their financial support as a major project. The authors are also thankful to School of Biotechnology, University of Jammu, Jammu.

References

- Arya D, Bhatt D, Ravi Kumar R, Tewari LM, Kishor K, Joshi GC (2013) Studies on natural resources, trade and conservation of Kutki (*Picrorhiza kurroa* Royle ex Benth, Scrophulariaceae) from Kumaun Himalaya. Sci Res Essays 8:575–580
- Baruah CC, Gupta PP, Nath A, Patnaik LG, Dhawan BN (1988) Anti-allergic and anti-anaphylactic activity of picroliv—a standardised iridoid glycoside fraction of *Picrorhiza kurroa*. Pharma Res 36:487–492
- Benson EE (2008) Cryopreservation of phytodiversity: a critical appraisal of theory & practice. Crit Rev Plant Sci 27:141–219
- Bhat WW, Lattoo SK, Rana S, Razdan S, Dhar N, Dhar RS, Vishwakarma RA (2012) Efficient plant regeneration via direct organogenesis and *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*-mediated genetic transformation of *Picrorhiza kurroa*: An endangered medicinal herb of the alpine Himalayas. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Plant 48:295–303
- Bodeker G, Klooster VT, Weisbord E (2014) *Prunus africana* (Hook.f.) Kalkman: the overexploitation of a medicinal plant species and its legal context. J Altern Complement Med 20:810–822
- Chand D, Malik ZA, Nautiyal MC (2016) Conservation of *Picrorhiza kurrooa* through cultivation in Garhwal Himalaya: a review. Int J Herb Med 4:64–69
- Chandra B, Palni LMS, Nandi SK (2006) Propagation and conservation of *P. kurrooa* Royle ex Benth: an endangered Himalayan medicinal herb of high commercial value. Biodiver Conserv 15:2325–2328
- Chen SL, Yu H, Luo HM, Wu Q, Li CF, Steinmetz A (2016) Conservation and sustainable use of medicinal plants: problems, progress, and prospects. Chin Med 11:37
- Gupta S, Chaturvedi P, Joshi K. Micropropagation (2016) Bioaugmentation of Picroside I in Leaves of in vitro cultured plants of *Picrorhiza kurrooa* Royle ex Benth. Nat Acad Sci Lett 39. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40009-016-0443-3
- Helena DS, Kannojia G, Gaur AK (2015) In vitro regeneration of *Picrorhiza kurroa* Royal ex Benth. for ex situ conservation and sustainable utilization. Ann Biol Res 6:7–14
- Hosseinzadeh S, Jafarikukhdan A, Hosseini A, Armand R (2015) The application of medicinal plants in traditional and modern medicine: a review of *Thymus vulgaris*. Int J Clin Med 6:635–642
- Jan A, Phalisteen S, Thomas GT, Shawl AS (2009) Auxin prompted improved micropropagation protocol of *Picrorhiza kurroa*: an endangered medicinal plant. Plant Tissue Cult Biotech 19:161–167
- Kashyap SR (1970) Samhita or Vriddha Jivakiya Tantra. (Shastri IGM, trans). Bombey Sastu Sahitya

- Khanna PK, Kumar A, Chandra R, Verma V (2013) Germination behaviour of seeds of *Withania somnifera* (L.) Dunal: a high value medicinal plant. Physiol Mol Biol Plants 19:449–454
- Kumar HM, Ramesh C (2014) Anticancer activity of nano encapsulated formulation from the extracts of *Picrorhiza kurroa* against human cancer cell lines. J Pharmacognosy Phytochem 2:182–185
- Lal N, Ahuja PS (1996) Plantlet regeneration from callus in *Picrorhiza kurrooa* Royle ex Benth. an endangered medicinal plant. Plant Tissue Cult 6:127–134
- Lal N, Ahuja PS, Kukreja AK, Pandey B (1988) Clonal propagation of *Picrorhiza kurroa* royle ex Benth. by shoot tip culture. Plant Cell Rep 7:202–205
- Mahajan R, Kapoor N, Singh I (2016) Somatic embryogenesis and callus regeneration in *Picrorhiza kurroa* Royle ex Benth. J Exp Biol Agric Sci 4:201–209
- Mallick MN, Singh M, Parveen R, Khan W, Ahmad S, Najm MZ, Husain SA (2015) HPTLC analysis of bioactivity guided anticancer enriched fraction of hydroalcoholic extract of *Picrorhiza kurroa*. Biomed Res Int 2015:513875
- Mishra J, Bhandari H, Singh M, Rawat S, Agnihotri RK, Mishra S, Purohit S (2011) Hairy root culture of *Picrorhiza kurroa* Royle ex Benth.: a promising approach for the production of picrotin and picrotoxinin. Acta Physiol Plant 33:1841–1846
- Murashige T, Skoog F (1962) A revised medium for rapid growth and bioassays with tobacco tissue cultures. Physiol Plant 15:473
- Nadeem M, Palni LMS, Purohit AN, Pandey H, Nandi SK (2000) Propagation and conservation of *Podophyllum hexandrum* Royle: an important medicinal herb. Biol Conserv 92:121–129
- Nautiyal MC (1988) Germination studies on some high altitude medicinal plant species. In: Proceedings of indigenous medicinal plant symposium. Today and Tomorrows Printers and Publishers, New Delhi, 1988, pp 107–112
- Nautiyal BP, Prakash V, Chauhan RS, Purohit H, Nautiyal MC (2001) Assessment of germinability, productivity and cost benefit analysis of *Picrorhiza kurrooa* cultivated at lower altitudes. Curr Sci 81:579–585
- Ochoa-Villarreal M, Howat S, Hong S, Jang MO, Jin YW, Lee EK, Loake GJ (2016) Plant cell culture strategies for the production of natural products. BMB Rep 49:149–158
- Padulosi S, Leaman D, Quek P (2002) Challenges and opportunities in enhancing the conservation and use of medicinal and aromatic plants. J Herbs Spices Med Plants 9:243–267
- Pan SY, Litscher G, Gao SH, Zhou SF, Yu ZL, Chen HQ, Zhang SF, Tang MK, Sun JN, Ko KM (2014) Historical perspective of traditional indigenous medical practices: the current renaissance and conservation of herbal resources. Evid Based Complement Altern Med 2014:525340
- Patial V, Devi K, Sharma M, Bhattacharya A, Ahuja PS (2012) Propagation of *Picrorhiza kurroa* Royle ex Benth.: an important medicinal plant of Western Himalaya. J Med Plant Res 6:4848–4860
- Patial V, Sharma M, Bhattacharya A (2016) Potential of thidiazuron in improved micropropagation of *Picrorhiza kurroa*—an endangered medicinal herb of alpine Himalaya. Plant Biosyst 1–8
- Patil AA, Sachin BS, Shinde DB, Wakte PS (2013) Supercritical CO₂ assisted extraction and LC-MS identification of picroside I and picroside II from *Picrorhiza kurroa*. Phytochem Anal 24:97–104
- Pradhan S (2011) Antihyperglycemic effect of various medicinal plants of Sikkim Himalayas—a review. Int J Res Phytochem Pharma. 1:124–130
- Rawat B, Rawat JM, Mishra S, Mishra SN (2013a) *Picrorhiza kurrooa*: current status and tissue culture mediated biotechnological interventions. Acta Physiol Plant 35:1–12
- Rawat B, Rawat JM, Mishra S, Mishra SN (2013b) *Picrorhiza kurrooa*: current status and tissue culture mediated biotechnological interventions. Acta Physiol Plant 35:1–12
- Rawat JM, Rawat B, Mishra S, Bhandari A, Agnihotri RK, Chandra A (2016) Influence of Agrobacterium rhizogenes strains, acitosyringone, inoculum size and temperature on production of active ingredients from Picrorhiza kurrooa. Physiol Mol Biol Plants 22:423

- Sharma N, Sharma B (2003) Cryopreservation of shoot tips of *Picrorhiza kurrooa* Royle ex Benth., an indigenous endangered medicinal plant through vitrification. Cryo Lett 24:181–190
- Sharma S, Katoch V, Rathour R, Sharma TR (2010) In vitro propagation of endangered temperate Himalayan medicinal herb *Picrorhiza kurrooa* Royle ex Benth. using leaf explants and nodal segments. J Plant Biochem Biotechnol 19:111–114
- Sood H, Chauhan RS (2009) High frequency callus induction and plantlet regeneration from different explants of *Picrorhiza kurroa*—a medicinal herb of Himalayas. Afr J Biotech 8:1965–1972
- Sood H, Chauhan RS (2010) Biosynthesis and accumulation of a medicinal compound, Picroside-I, in cultures of *Picrorhiza kurroa* Royle ex Benth. Plant Cell Tiss 100:113–117
- Srivastava M, Sharma S, Misra P (2016) Elicitation based enhancement of secondary metabolites in *Rauwolfia serpentina* and *Solanum khasianum* hairy root cultures. Pharmacognosy Mag 12 (Suppl 3):S315–S320
- Sultan P, Jan A, Pervaiz Q (2016) Phytochemical studies for quantitative estimation of iridoid glycosides in *Picrorhiza kurroa* Royle. Bot Stud Int J 57:7
- Thakur RS, Puri HS, Hussain A (1989) Major medicinal plants of India. CIMAP, Lucknow, pp 404-407
- Tiwari SS, Pandey MM, Srivastava S, Rawat AK (2012) TLC densitometric quantification of picrosides (picroside-I and picroside-II) in *Picrorhiza kurroa* and its substitute *Picrorhiza scrophulariiflora* and their antioxidant studies. Biomed Chromatogr 26:61–68
- Trivedi P, Pandey A (2007) Biological hardening of micropropagated *Picrorhiza kurrooa* Royel ex Benth., an endangered species of medical importance. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 23:877–878
- Vasava DS (2016) Application of biotechnological techniques for medicinal plant research. Forest Res 5:4
- Verma P, Mathur AK, Jain SP, Mathur A (2012) In vitro conservation of twenty-three over exploited medicinal plants belonging to the Indian sub continent. SciI World J 2012:929650

Erratum to: Medicinal Plants and Environmental Challenges

Mansour Ghorbanpour and Ajit Varma

Erratum to: M. Ghorbanpour and A. Varma (eds.), *Medicinal Plants and Environmental Challenges*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-68717-9

In the original version of the book, a new chapter "Biotechnological Approaches for In Vitro Conservation of *Picrorhiza kurroa* Royle ex Benth" has been included at the end. The erratum book has been updated with the change.

The updated online version of this book can be found at https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-68717-9

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018 M. Ghorbanpour and A. Varma (eds.), *Medicinal Plants and Environmental Challenges*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-68717-9_22